# World Journal of *Gastroenterology*

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 779-993





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

WJG

## World Journal of VV01111 Juni Gastroenterology

### Contents

### Weekly Volume 30 Number 8 February 28, 2024

### **EDITORIAL**

- 779 Immunotherapy of gastric cancer: Present status and future perspectives Triantafillidis JK, Konstadoulakis MM, Papalois AE
- 794 Immune signature of small bowel adenocarcinoma and the role of tumor microenvironment Christodoulidis G, Kouliou MN, Koumarelas KE
- 799 Management of autoimmune hepatitis induced by hepatitis delta virus Gigi E, Lagopoulos V, Liakos A
- 806 Adjuvant therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma: Dilemmas at the start of a new era Zhong JH

### **OPINION REVIEW**

811 Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs before endoscopic ultrasound guided tissue acquisition to reduce the incidence of post procedural pancreatitis

de Jong M, van Delft F, Roozen C, van Geenen EJ, Bisseling T, Siersema P, Bruno M

### **REVIEW**

817 Autoimmune pancreatitis: Cornerstones and future perspectives

Gallo C, Dispinzieri G, Zucchini N, Invernizzi P, Massironi S

### **MINIREVIEWS**

833 Fecal microbiota transplantation for treatment of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: Mechanism, clinical evidence, and prospect

Qiu XX, Cheng SL, Liu YH, Li Y, Zhang R, Li NN, Li Z

### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

### **Retrospective Study**

843 Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization combined with PD-1 inhibitors and Lenvatinib for hepatocellular carcinoma with portal vein tumor thrombus

Wu HX, Ding XY, Xu YW, Yu MH, Li XM, Deng N, Chen JL

855 Immunoglobulin G-mediated food intolerance and metabolic syndrome influence the occurrence of reflux esophagitis in Helicobacter pylori-infected patients

Wang LH, Su BB, Wang SS, Sun GC, Lv KM, Li Y, Shi H, Chen QQ

863 Evaluating the influence of sarcopenia and myosteatosis on clinical outcomes in gastric cancer patients undergoing immune checkpoint inhibitor

Deng GM, Song HB, Du ZZ, Xue YW, Song HJ, Li YZ



### Contents

World Journal of Gastroenterology

### Weekly Volume 30 Number 8 February 28, 2024

### **Observational Study**

881 Mitochondrial dysfunction affects hepatic immune and metabolic remodeling in patients with hepatitis B virus-related acute-on-chronic liver failure

Zhang Y, Tian XL, Li JQ, Wu DS, Li Q, Chen B

### **Basic Study**

Metadherin promotes stem cell phenotypes and correlated with immune infiltration in hepatocellular 901 carcinoma

Wang YY, Shen MM, Gao J

919 Lipid metabolism-related long noncoding RNA RP11-817I4.1 promotes fatty acid synthesis and tumor progression in hepatocellular carcinoma

Wang RY, Yang JL, Xu N, Xu J, Yang SH, Liang DM, Li JZ, Zhu H

### SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

943 Quality of life after pancreatic surgery Li SZ, Zhen TT, Wu Y, Wang M, Qin TT, Zhang H, Qin RY

### **META-ANALYSIS**

956 Prevalence and clinical impact of sarcopenia in liver transplant recipients: A meta-analysis

Jiang MJ, Wu MC, Duan ZH, Wu J, Xu XT, Li J, Meng OH

### **SCIENTOMETRICS**

969 Bibliometrics analysis based on the Web of Science: Current trends and perspective of gastric organoid during 2010-2023

Jiang KL, Jia YB, Liu XJ, Jia QL, Guo LK, Wang XX, Yang KM, Wu CH, Liang BB, Ling JH

### **CASE REPORT**

984 Cronkhite-Canada syndrome with esophagus involvement and six-year follow-up: A case report Tang YC

### **LETTER TO THE EDITOR**

991 Monitoring of hepatocellular carcinoma Akkari I, Jaziri H



### Contents

Weekly Volume 30 Number 8 February 28, 2024

### **ABOUT COVER**

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Gastroenterology, Neal Shahidi, MD, FRCPC, PhD, Assistant Professor, Department of Medicine, Division of Gastroenterology, St Paul's Hospital, Vancouver V6Z 2K5, British Columbia, Canada. nshahidi@providencehealth.bc.ca

### **AIMS AND SCOPE**

The primary aim of World Journal of Gastroenterology (WJG, World J Gastroenterol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of gastroenterology and hepatology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online. WJG mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of gastroenterology and hepatology and covering a wide range of topics including gastroenterology, hepatology, gastrointestinal endoscopy, gastrointestinal surgery, gastrointestinal oncology, and pediatric gastroenterology.

### **INDEXING/ABSTRACTING**

The WJG is now abstracted and indexed in Science Citation Index Expanded (SCIE), MEDLINE, PubMed, PubMed Central, Scopus, Reference Citation Analysis, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2023 edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2022 impact factor (IF) for WJG as 4.3; Quartile category: Q2. The WJG's CiteScore for 2021 is 8.3.

### **RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE**

Production Editor: Yu-Xi Chen, Production Department Director: Xiang Li, Editorial Office Director: Jia-Ru Fan.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS		
World Journal of Gastroenterology	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204		
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS		
ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287		
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH		
October 1, 1995	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240		
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS		
Weekly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288		
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT		
Andrzej S Tarnawski	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208		
EXECUTIVE ASSOCIATE EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	Xian-Jun Yu (Pancreatic Oncology), Jian-Gao Fan (Chronic Liver Disease), Hou- Bao Liu (Biliary Tract Disease)		
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE		
http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242		
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS		
February 28, 2024	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239		
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION		
© 2024 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com		
PUBLISHING PARTNER	PUBLISHING PARTNER'S OFFICIAL WEBSITE		
Shanghai Pancreatic Cancer Institute and Pancreatic Cancer Institute, Fudan University Biliary Tract Disease Institute, Fudan University	https://www.shca.org.cn https://www.zs-hospital.sh.cn		

© 2024 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: office@baishideng.com https://www.wjgnet.com



WJG

### World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 779-793

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.779

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

EDITORIAL

### Immunotherapy of gastric cancer: Present status and future perspectives

John K Triantafillidis, Manousos M Konstadoulakis, Apostolos E Papalois

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Gao W, China; Lin W, China; Miao YD, China

Received: November 5, 2023 Peer-review started: November 6, 2023

First decision: December 4, 2023 Revised: December 14, 2023 Accepted: January 29, 2024 Article in press: January 29, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



John K Triantafillidis, Inflammatory Bowel Disease Unit, "Metropolitan General" Hospital, Holargos 15562, Attica, Greece. Hellenic Society for Gastrointestinal Oncology, 354 Iera Odos, Chaidari 12461, Attica, Greece

Manousos M Konstadoulakis, Second Department of Surgery, University of Athens School of Medicine, Aretaieion Hospital, Athens 11528, Attica, Greece

Apostolos E Papalois, Unit of Surgical Research and Training, Second Department of Surgery, University of Athens, School of Medicine, Aretaieion Hospital, Athens 11528, Attica, Greece

Corresponding author: Apostolos E Papalois, DPhil, Visiting Professor, Unit of Surgical Research and Training, Second Department of Surgery, University of Athens, School of Medicine, Aretaieion Hospital, 76 Vas Sophias Avenue, Athens 11528, Attica, Greece. apostolospapalois@gmail.com

### Abstract

In this editorial, we comment on the article entitled "Advances and key focus areas in gastric cancer immunotherapy: A comprehensive scientometric and clinical trial review (1999-2023)," which was published in the recent issue of the World Journal of Gastroenterology. We focused on the results of the authors' bibliometric analysis concerning gastric cancer immunotherapy, which they analyzed in depth by compiling the relevant publications of the last 20 years. Before that, we briefly describe the most recent data concerning the epidemiological parameters of gastric cancer (GC) in different countries, attempting to give an interpretation based on the etiological factors involved in the etiopathogenesis of the neoplasm. We then briefly discuss the conservative treatment (chemotherapy) of the various forms of this malignant neoplasm. We describe the treatment of resectable tumors, locally advanced neoplasms, and unresectable (advanced) cases. Special attention is given to modern therapeutic approaches with emphasis on immunotherapy, which seems to be the future of GC treatment, especially in combination with chemotherapy. There is also a thorough analysis of the results of the study under review in terms of the number of scientific publications, the countries in which the studies were conducted, the authors, and the scientific centers of origin, as well as the clinical studies in progress. Finally, an attempt is made to draw some conclusions and to point out possible future directions.

Key Words: Gastric cancer; Chemotherapy; Immunotherapy; Immune checkpoint inhibitors; Bibliometrics; Scientometrics



### ©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Gastric cancer (GC) remains a major cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide. Conservative treatment in the form of chemotherapy has recently made remarkable advances, particularly in the field of immunotherapy. Immunotherapy of GC represents one of the most important fields of research worldwide today, particularly in China, the United States, and Japan, as well as in some Western European countries. Several treatment regimens have been approved and are being implemented with satisfactory results. Also, several treatment regimens are currently under investigation, which are expected to improve the disappointing prognosis of this malignant neoplasm.

Citation: Triantafillidis JK, Konstadoulakis MM, Papalois AE. Immunotherapy of gastric cancer: Present status and future perspectives. World J Gastroenterol 2024; 30(8): 779-793 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/779.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.779

### INTRODUCTION

In this editorial, we comment on the article by Li et al[1] entitled "Advances and key focus areas in gastric cancer immunotherapy: A comprehensive scientometric and clinical trial review (1999-2023)" published in the recent issue of the World Journal of Gastroenterology[1]. Given the very interesting conclusions of the study regarding the number and type of publications, journals, centers, and countries of origin of the papers, the most recent data on the epidemiological parameters of gastric cancer (GC) and chemotherapy of the various types of this malignant neoplasm will be briefly described. Special attention is given to modern therapeutic approaches with particular emphasis on immunotherapy, which seems to be the future of GC treatment, mainly in combination with chemotherapy.

GC is a major cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide particularly in South and Central Asian countries. GC is a complex and heterogeneous disease whose etiopathogenesis includes many risk factors. Despite the recent trend of decreasing incidence, prevalence, and mortality in several countries, GC is one of the most common human malignancies with high mortality. This is particularly true for some Asian countries such as China in which it represents the third most common malignancy. The spatial differences in GC incidence and mortality are very evident, especially in developing regions of the world where the adoption of effective prevention and early diagnosis strategies is evident<sup>[2]</sup>. Its etiology is multifactorial including environmental, genetic, and infectious factors. The prognosis even today is still disappointing with an overall 5-year survival of less than 5%.

### Incidence-prevalence

GC remains one of the most important malignant causes of morbidity and mortality worldwide. The prevalence and incidence of the disease change over time. Thus, while in some countries and demographic groups there is a significant decrease, in other regions of the world epidemiological parameters remain stable or even increase such as in Asia. Changes have also been observed in GC incidence rates in the two main sites of occurrence (non-cardia and cardia), in countries where the rates of the disease are increasing[3]. The reasons why a decrease in GC incidence has been observed are primarily related to the introduction of the electric refrigerator through which good food preservation and subsequent inhibition of microbial proliferation, along with other factors such as the reduction in the consumption of smoked, salted, and canned foods, and an increase in the consumption of fresh fruits and vegetables, have reduced the dietary factors that promote gastric carcinogenesis, alongside with the reduction in smoking in Western countries. On the other hand, excessive consumption of antibiotics reduced Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) infection, a major contributor to gastric carcinogenesis. Nevertheless, GC is not only caused only by H. pylori as only 2%-5% of individuals with H. pylori infection develop GC[4].

Regarding the epidemiological parameters, it is estimated that about one million patients are diagnosed with GC every year worldwide[5]. It is the 7<sup>th</sup> most common cancer and the 6<sup>th</sup> most commonly diagnosed cancer in the world[5]. The countries with the highest GC incidence rates (more than 15 new cases/100000 population) are Mongolia, Japan, Korea, Tajikistan, and Kyrgyzstan. Countries with higher than average rates include Eastern European countries, Turkey, Mali, Portugal, Peru, Ecuador, and Colombia. Lower rates (less than 5 new cases/100000 population) are observed in Western countries such as France, United States, Canada, United Kingdom, Norway, Sweden, Norway, Sweden, Australia, and Central African countries, although this could partly be attributed to low diagnostic capacity. The disease mainly affects males. In total, 66% of new GC cases diagnosed in 2020 were male. The highest cumulative GC risk is observed in East Asia (2.64%) and the lowest in Southern Africa (0.42%)[6]. East Asia has the highest incidence of GC, followed by Eastern and Central Europe. Enteric type of GC is more common in Caucasians, while GC located in the gastric cardia is less frequent in Africa and Latin America. Tumor protein p53 (TP53), low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1B, and AT-rich interactive domain-containing protein 1A (ARID1A) are the genes that are most frequently altered in all population groups. Finally, African patients are younger, and the proportion of women is higher than men[7].

In China, 396500 new cases of GC were diagnosed (276300 men, 120200 women) in 2016, corresponding to 1086 newly diagnosed cases every day<sup>[8]</sup>. In recent years, it has become apparent that both the incidence and mortality of GC in

China have shown a downward trend, probably due to the implementation of effective governmental prevention strategies and changes in many aspects of individual life adopted by the Chinese people. As is the case in most countries of the world, *H. pylori* infection, poor dietary habits, smoking, and family history of GC are the main risk factors for GC in China[9]. The overall crude and age-standardized rates of incidence of GC by the standard Chinese population are 28.7 per 100000 and 17.6 per 100000, respectively. The incidence in males (25.1 per 100000) is 2.5 times higher than that in females (10.3 per 100000 population). The incidence of GC varies in different parts of this huge country as a result of different living conditions and environmental factors. For example, the age-standardized rate of GC is higher in Northwest China, lower in East and Central China, and even lower in South China. Apparently due to environmental factors the incidence of the disease was higher in rural compared to urban areas[10]. It would be of interest to compare the epidemiological parameters of two great Asian countries, namely Japan and China, where half of the world's GC cases are diagnosed. Epidemiological data suggest that there are divergent trends in GC incidence in the two countries, although without obvious or adequate explanation. It appears that the trends in age-standardized incidence rates for GC for both sexes decreased significantly but the decrease was greater in Japan. In both countries, the risk of GC increases with age. The two countries had divergent trends over the study period, with the risk of GC decreasing in Japanese men but increasing among Chinese men[11].

### Mortality-survival

GC is the fourth most common cause of cancer death worldwide, with 783793 deaths in 2020, of which 502788 were in men. Asia has the highest mortality (575206), followed by Europe (96997), Latin America, and the Caribbean (53392 deaths). The annual percentage change in GC mortality decreased between 1980 and 2005 at a rate of 3%-4% in Europe, Korea, Japan, and Australia[12]. In Latin America, the annual percentage change is lower but stable: (Brazil and Chile-1.6%, Argentina and Mexico-2.3%). Currently, the only country showing an increasing trend in male mortality is Thailand (annual percentage change + 3.92). In the United States, the 5-year survival rate for GC is 31% since the majority of patients already have metastases at the time of diagnosis. However, when there are no metastases at the time of diagnosis, the survival rate increases to 67%[13]. Disease prognosis and survival are better in Asian patients compared to Caucasians[14].

### **ETIOPATHOGENESIS**

### Genetics

It is known that the tumor suppressor gene *TP53* is the gene that shows the highest number of mutations in GC cases. Furthermore, significant mutations have been observed in the kirsten rats sarcomaviral oncogene homolog, beta-catenin, and phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase, catalytic subunit alpha oncogenes as well as in the tumor suppressor genes mothers against decapentaplegic homolog 4, and adenomatous polyposis coli. Somatic copy number alterations activate oncogenes and inactivate tumor suppressor genes in GC patients. Alterations of RTK/RAS/mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways including human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2), epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), mesenchymal epithelial transition, and fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR2) şi RAS are observed in 30%-40% of GC cases. Amplification of cell cycle regulatory genes *CCND1*, cyclin E1, and cyclin-dependent kinase 6 has also been observed[15].

Mutations in the *cadherin 1* (*CDH1*) gene encoding the cell adhesion protein E-cadherin are currently considered to be the cause of hereditary diffuse-type GC (HDGC), through disruption of cell-to-cell adhesion and activation of oncogenic signaling pathways. In carriers of this mutated gene with a positive history of HDGC, prophylactic gastrectomy is recommended, although the use of systematic protocols with multiple biopsies may be an alternative approach to the problem. Through animal models, molecular drivers have been established in the gastric epithelium of experimental animals with loss of E-cadherin. Based on the above, it is possible to adopt new prevention strategies as well as strategies for targeted treatment in patients with HDGC[16]. DNA methylation is another pathogenic factor that can cause genetic alterations. Methylation of CDH1, runt-related transcription factor 3, p16, and human mutL homolog 1 has been described in GC patients[17]. Finally, mutations in the tumor suppressor gene *ARID1A*, which encodes the SW1/SNF chromatin remodeling complex, have been described. Mutations in interleukin 17 (IL-17) and IL-10 have been described in Asian populations.

### Pre-existing conditions

Atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia: They are the most important precancerous conditions. Chronic inflammation induces the transcription factor nuclear factor kappa B, one of the most important mediators of inflammation. The inflammatory process promotes oxidative stress and the production of reactive oxygen species and nitrosamines by leukocytes and macrophages[18].

**Ménétrier's disease:** It is a hypertrophic gastropathy, characterized by the huge growth of mucus cells in the gastric mucosa. The risk of malignant potential exceeds 10%[19].

**Gastric remnant:** GC in the gastric remnant is defined as GC occurring at least 5 years after partial gastrectomy. The mechanism of carcinogenesis is related to postoperative hypochlorhydria, which results in bacterial overgrowth with the production of nitroso enzymes. Endoscopic monitoring is the best strategy for prevention and early diagnosis[20].

Raishideng® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

Gastric polyps: Gastric polyps are usually an incidental finding during gastroscopy. Polyps are removed endoscopically and tested histologically to exclude malignancy. Hyperplastic polyps may undergo carcinomatous transformation through the dysplasia/carcinoma sequence. The risk of malignancy is increased in sessile polyps and advanced polyps (polyps larger than 1 cm). It is estimated that 8%-59% of gastric adenomas occur concomitantly with GC[21].

### Microbes

Gastric microbiota: During the evolutionary course of GC, changes in the microbiota of the stomach are observed. Advances in next-generation sequencing and metagenomics have shown that the stomach microbiota is diverse and includes five major phyla. It appears that the positivity of *H. pylori* influences other bacterial communities in terms of richness and evenness. H. pylori is a fundamental risk factor for GC development, especially strains positive for Cag pathogenicity island and the CagA oncoprotein. Existing data support that there are differences in the microbiota of patients with GC and patients with precancerous conditions with a decrease in microbial diversity and an increase in the presence of microbes that can produce nitrite. Interestingly, the data support that in GC patients there is an increase in the oral microbiota. All of these data suggest that the gastric microbiota in addition to H. pylori plays a role in the latter stages of gastric carcinogenesis<sup>[22]</sup>. Furthermore, data derived from experiments in transgenic mouse models with insulingastrin transplantation and human gastric microbiome support the view linking the gastric microbiota to GC development[19,23]. Finally, it appears that the colonic microbiota favors GC development through various metabolites. Various antimicrobial therapies, probiotics, phages, dietary elements, and fecal transplantation are being studied regarding their role in GC[24].

H. pylori infection: The mechanisms of carcinogenesis associated with H. pylori infection are based, on the one hand, on the existence and maintenance of chronic inflammation and, on the other hand, on the presence of H. pylori-specific infectious agents, that have the potential to damage gastric epithelial cell DNA and promote genomic instability<sup>[25]</sup>. Neutrophil migration is triggered by *H. pylori*. Neutrophils induce nitric oxide synthase as well as reactive oxygen species which in turn lead to DNA damage[26]. DNA damage triggers the process of apoptosis, which manifests as gastric atrophy. Eradication of the infection normalizes the apoptosis rate.

Epstein-Barr virus infection: It is well established that a proportion of GC is etiologically related to Epstein-Barr virus (EBV). In a meta-analysis of 220 studies by Hirabayashi et al [27] that included more than 68000 GC cases, it was found that the frequency of virus detection in cancer cells exceeded 7.5% and was higher in males than females in the diffuse compared to the intestinal type and in the proximal compared to the distal region. Furthermore, EBV prevalence reached the level of 75.9% among lymphoepitheliomatous GC and 26.3% among GC cases in gastric remnant. Assuming that a causal relationship between EBV and GC does indeed exist and based on GLOBOCAN 2020 data, the authors estimated that primary prevention, with the development of an effective EBV vaccine, could prevent 81000 EBV-associated GC cases worldwide annually<sup>[27]</sup>. It has also been confirmed that EBV induces GC through DNA methylation<sup>[28]</sup>. EBV-associated GC cells are derived from an EBV-infected monocytic clone. In addition, the vast majority of GC patients have a history of H. pylori infection. It appears that H. pylori infection may influence the development of EBV-associated GC, a subtype of GC. Therefore, it remains unclear whether H. pylori infection is a cofactor for EBV-induced gastric carcinogenesis or whether H. pylori and EBV act independently in the development of GC. The possibilities are either that EBV infection participates in *H. pylori*-induced GC tumorigenesis, or that *H. pylori* infection accelerates EBV-initiated carcinogenesis[29].

### Other risk factors

Diet: Excessive salt in the daily diet has a direct carcinogenic effect[30]. There seems to be a synergistic effect of salt consumption and H. pylori infection in GC patients. The decrease in the incidence of GC has been attributed to efficient food preservation over the last 50 years, as the refrigerator replaced salt as the main method of preservation[31]. Nitrates are chemical compounds containing the NO group. These chemical compounds are not only ingested from food and smoking but also from endogenous sources. Processed meats and dairy products are rich in nitrates. After absorption, nitrates react with amines, amides, or amino acids to form N-nitro compounds. High levels of N-Nitro in the stomach have been associated with the presence of advanced precancerous lesions<sup>[32]</sup>. In 2015, the World Health Organization classified processed meats as a Group 1 carcinogen. It even appears that fried foods are etiopathogenetically associated with GC. In a meta-analysis of 18 studies, Zhang et al [33] compared the effects of fried food intake in GC patients (n =5739) and healthy adults (n = 70933). They found a significant positive association between GC risk and fried food intake in both non-East Asians and East Asians<sup>[33]</sup>.

Smoking: The association between smoking and GC has been demonstrated in several epidemiological and metanalysis studies. The European EPIC study showed an increased risk of GC, but this risk decreases after 10 years of smoking cessation. It is estimated that 18% of GC cases are associated with smoking[34].

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: These have been shown to reduce the risk of GC[35]. The effect is even more favorable in *H. pylori*-positive patients[36].

### PREVENTIVE STRATEGIES

One of the most important primary prevention strategies for GC involves early detection and elimination of H. pylori



infection through endoscopic and radiological screening of the asymptomatic population in countries with a high incidence of the disease. In countries with a low prevalence of infection, upper digestive endoscopy with biopsies for any evidence of precancerous lesions is recommended [37]. Therefore, H. pylori eradication and endoscopic surveillance are the most important methods aimed at reducing the incidence and prevalence of GC[38].

H. pylori eradication has been shown to actually reduce the risk of GC. A meta-analysis of 27 studies, with 48606 H. pylori-positive patients, of whom 715 developed GC, showed that patients cured of the infection had a lower incidence of GC[39]. Of note, a recent prospective, randomized, placebo-controlled study with 26.5 years of follow-up demonstrated that H. pylori eradication therapy can provide long-term protection against GC in high-risk populations, particularly those without advanced gastric lesions<sup>[40]</sup>. However, there is still no consensus on population control. Some guidelines recommend that it is beneficial in populations at increased risk for GC.

### TREATMENT MODALITIES

From the outset, it is emphasized that a multidisciplinary approach is the appropriate way to treat patients with GC to increase the survival rates of patients. Surgery remains the main treatment approach for cases of surgical GC, while chemotherapy serves as the basis of treatment for metastatic GC. Until recently, the two treatment modalities mentioned above along with radiotherapy and targeted therapy were the main available means of treating GC.

### Chemotherapy

For resectable GC, perioperative chemotherapy has become the standard treatment and ongoing investigations are exploring the potential benefits of targeted therapy or immunotherapy in the perioperative or adjuvant setting. However, differences in the extent of standard lymphadenectomy between Eastern and Western countries have led to different standard treatments: Perioperative (neoadjuvant) and adjuvant therapy[41]. Trastuzumab or pembrolizumab should be added to first-line chemotherapy but only in HER2-positive patients. The combination of immunotherapy with therapies targeting HER2 has shown synergistic effects in preclinical models, and clinical trials in locally advanced GC (AGC) and metastatic GC. In addition, disruption of antibody-drug conjugates (ADCs) and other agents targeting HER2 has resulted in numerous clinical trials with promising results[42]. Trastuzumab can be combined either with fluoropyrimidine and a platinum agent or in combination with capecitabine + oxaliplatin (XELOX)/PF[43]. In HER2-negative patients, treatment regimens include nivolumab, cindilimab, and tislelizumab in combination with first-line chemotherapy. Docetaxel, cisplatin, 5-fluorouracil (DCF), modified DCF, and paclitaxel/oxaliplatin/5-fluorouracil/leucovorin also shows satisfactory activity.

In cases of unresectable locally advanced, recurrent, or metastatic GC, combination anti-HER2 therapy with chemotherapy and possibly pembrolizumab in HER2-positive patients is preferred. HER2 is overexpressed in 10%-20% of patients with GC. The implementation of targeted anti-HER2 therapy as part of the standard of care treatment in metastatic disease improved the prognosis of patients. Of note, the addition of pembrolizumab achieves high objective response rates (ORRs). Regardless of whether or not HER2 is positive, nivolumab is recommended as part of systemic treatment regimens.

The choice of second-line regimen depends on the previous treatment and the performance status of the patients. Ramucirumab combined with paclitaxel is the preferred second-line therapy. The drugs docetaxel, paclitaxel, irinotecan, albumin-paclitaxel, pembrolizumab, nivolumab, vedicitumab, and apatinib mesylate have also been used as second-line therapies. In the large class of patients with metastatic or locally AGC, treatment is complex and involves a combination of agents. These combinations include S-1 + oxaliplatin, docetaxel + oxaliplatin + fluorouracil, docetaxel + oxaliplatin + S-1 (DOS), XELOX, and folinic acid/5-fluorouracil/oxaliplatin chemotherapy (FOLFOX). Administration of intilimab in combination with chemotherapy results in a significant degree of pathological complete response with a satisfactory safety profile. Other phase II studies showed that durvalumab combined with DOS as neoadjuvant chemotherapy gave satisfactory results. Equally satisfactory results were produced by the combination of tremelimumab and durvalumab as neoadjuvant therapy in patients with exceptional GC of high microsatellite instability (MSI).

### Immunotherapy

The significant advances made in recent years in the understanding of factors in the cancer microenvironment have resulted in significant progress in immunotherapy of AGC. Immunotherapy induces the generation of immune responses that destroy cancer cells, achieving satisfactory clinical outcomes with tolerable toxicity. Therefore, this novel strategy is becoming increasingly popular[44]. In healthy individuals, to maintain normal T cell functions, the normal immune checkpoint regulates and controls the actions of ligands and receptors. T cell activation results in the expression of many receptors such as programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) or cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4). Anti-PD-1/anti-programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) agents inhibit immune checkpoints and activate T cells. The results of monotherapy in GC are disappointing. Therefore, combination therapy is a practical treatment option for metastatic GC [45].

The main classes of immunotherapy are shown in Table 1. Currently, the following strategies are used: immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs), tumor vaccines, adoptive immunotherapy, and nonspecific immunomodulators (Figure 1). The increasingly used strategy of administering ICIs is due to their satisfactory efficacy and low toxicity compared to traditional therapies. The combination of immunotherapy and conventional therapy has been shown to achieve more satisfactory results because most GCs are resistant to the administration of a single drug. Nevertheless, many further studies are needed due to the inherent challenges of the complexity of the immune microenvironment and the hetero-

Table 1 Food and Drug Administration-approved immunotherapy options for gastric cancer				
	Target	Action	Approved for	
Targeted antibodies				
Ramucirumab (Cyramza <sup>®</sup> )	VEGF/VEGFR2 pathway	Inhibits tumor blood vessel growth	Subsets of patients with advanced GC	
Trastuzumab (Herceptin <sup>®</sup> )	HER2 pathway	Inhibition	Advanced HER2- + GC	
Trastuzumab deruxtecan (Enhertu <sup>®</sup> ): Antibody- drug conjugate	HER2 pathway	Inhibition	Subsets of patients with advanced GC	
Immunomodulators				
Dostarlimab (Jemperli)	PD-1/PD-L1 pathway	Checkpoint inhibitor	Advanced GC that has dMMR	
Nivolumab (Opdivo®)	PD-1/PD-L1 pathway	Checkpoint inhibitor	Subsets of patients with advanced GC	
Pembrolizumab (Keytruda <sup>®</sup> )	PD-1/PD-L1 pathway	Checkpoint inhibitor	Subsets of patients with advanced GC	

dMMR: DNA mismatch repair deficiency; GC: Gastric cancer; HER2: Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; PD-1: Programmed cell death protein 1; PD-L1: Programmed death-ligand 1; VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor.



#### Figure 1 Graphical abstract: Immunotherapy for gastric cancer.

geneity of immunogenicity.

The main individual components of immunotherapy are cytokines, immune checkpoints, monoclonal antibodies, bispecific antibodies, ADCs, and chimeric antigen receptors (CARs). Nivolumab is used as a third-line therapy. Ramucirumab and claudiximab are also effective, particularly as long as they are combined with other therapies[46]. Synergistic activity results primarily from the combination of anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4 antibodies, a combination that has been extensively investigated alongside the inclusion of anti-HER2 antibodies. The limitations and challenges of immunotherapy in GC are real and should be addressed shortly. For example, because GC is heterogeneous, the response to immunotherapeutic agents is affected. Therefore, universal targets should be identified such as identifying reliable biomarkers for personalized therapeutic approaches. Existing biomarkers (PD-L1 expression and MSI) do not accurately predict response to therapy. Immunotherapy has moderate efficacy in the advanced stages of GC. Finally, ICIs may cause autoimmune diseases. There is a lack of animal models of GC with all that this implies for the evaluation of therapeutic strategies.

The mode of action of these therapies is of particular interest since the growth of tumor is restricted by restarting the tumor-immune cycle and restoring the normal immune response of the patient. These strategies are discussed in brief

Raishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

### below[47].

**ICI treatment:** The use of ICIs is the most widespread treatment for GC since these inhibitors are particularly effective in solid tumors as well as hematological malignancies with long-term responses without significant toxicity. ICIs such as monoclonal antibodies against PD-1 or PD-L1 can prolong the survival of patients with AGC[48]. It is widely accepted that ICIs by inhibiting excessive activation of the immune response, prevent the occurrence of autoimmunity reactions and damage to autologous tissues. These actions of ICIs are used by cancer cells to inhibit T-cell activation to avoid their destruction. ICIs express their antitumor activity by binding monoclonal antibodies to ICIs on the surface of tumor or immune cells, thereby inhibiting pathological regulation and activating the immune system. ICIs can inhibit the interactions between PD-1 and PD-L1, keep T cells activated, activates natural killer (NK) cells, and prevent cancer cells from evading the destructive influence of immune cells. The most important ICIs are considered to be CTLA-4, PD-1, and PD-L1.

Existing data support that PD-L1 exhibits a significant correlation between its expression level and the benefit expected from ICI application in GC. However, its application is not without drawbacks, such as interobserver variability, the immunohistochemical assay used, and the effect of chemotherapy and radiation[49]. Currently, there are six Food and Drug Administration-approved immunotherapy options for GC (Table 1).

(1) PD-1 inhibitors

Nivolumab: Nivolumab is a humanized monoclonal immunoglobulin G4 (IgG4) PD-1 antibody that, upon binding to the PD-1 receptor, enhances the body's immune response by inhibiting the relation of PD-1 with PD-L1 and PD-L2 and inactivating the relevant pathway. Nivolumab in combination with chemotherapy is used as first-line therapy or nivolumab monotherapy as third- or later-line therapy. In the phase III ATTRACTION-2 trial, nivolumab as a third-line treatment improved overall survival (OS) in patients with AGC[50]. Also the combination of 5-fluorouracil and platinum as a first-line treatment improved OS in patients with HER2-negative AGC (global phase III CheckMate-649 study).

Pembrolizumab: Pembrolizumab is a monoclonal antibody directed against PD-1. It is active in tumors with high MSI or high tumor mutational load. Pembrolizumab acts by blocking the interaction between PD-1 and PD-L1. It activates and proliferates immune system T cells, as well as cytokine production. Pembrolizumab is used in previously treated patients with high-grade satellite instability or patients with tumor mutational burden-high AGC or in combination with trastuzumab and chemotherapy for HER2-positive AGC (United States). Pembrolizumab monotherapy, or combined with chemotherapy, has been used as first-line treatment for AGC. Pembrolizumab-based combination chemotherapy did now show better results.

Dostarlimab: Monoclonal antibody used in previously treated patients with MSI-H AGC (United States).

(2) PD-1 combined with chemotherapy

Treatment modalities that should be applied after ICI combination therapy, such as re-administration of ICI or the use of combination therapy with drugs that have a different mechanism of action, are the subject of intensive research. Several clinical studies are ongoing to apply this therapeutic strategy perioperatively and/or postoperatively in patients with early GC[51]. Satisfactory results are obtained from the combination of ICI and chemotherapy with tolerable toxicity. Thus, the combination of camrelizumab and capecitabine and oxaliplatin (CAPOX) has shown encouraging results in patients with metastatic or AGC in phase II clinical trials.

In the ATTRACTION-4 studies, nivolumab in combination with chemotherapy was shown to have satisfactory anticancer activity with an acceptable level of safety. Patients who received nivolumab in combination with s-1 and oxaliplatin and CapeOX experienced longer remission and objective remission rates[52].

Perioperative administration of ICI combined with chemotherapy in resectable locally AGC has shown encouraging results. However, a significant number of patients have shown resistance to ICIs, highlighting the importance of better patient selection or further combination immunotherapy[53,54]. As the number of available drugs increases, it is important to understand the target biomarkers and drug characteristics and select the optimal therapy for each patient;

(3) PD-L1 inhibitors

PD-L1 is a PD-1 Ligand expressed in various tumors that increases the immune-mediated tumor response by inhibiting the combination of PD-1 and PD-L1.

#### (4) Avelumab

Avelumab is a fully humanized PD-L1 IgG1 monoclonal antibody which, by binding to PD-L1, reduces the level of immunosuppression by blocking the reaction between PD-L1 and the PD-1 receptor[55]. The drug administered alone or as part of a combination therapy demonstrates satisfactory clinical results possibly in subsequent therapies;

(5) Atezolizumab

Atezolizumab is a monoclonal antibody that by binding to PD-L1 on tumor and immune cells infiltrating the tumor, can destroy cancer cells through the activation of T cells. However, in an earlier clinical trial in a small number of patients who were given the drug as a single treatment, the results were disappointing[56].

(6) Durvalumab

Durvalumab is a humanized monoclonal antibody that binds the PD-L1 protein by inhibiting its binding to the PD-1 protein on the T-cell surface. As a result, cancer cells cannot use the PD-L1/PD-1 pathway to avoid being destroyed by the immune cells. The existing data on its efficacy are largely conflicting[57].

**Nonspecific enhancer therapy:** This treatment involves various immune modifiers that enhance the immune response when given in combination with other therapies thus enhancing the final effect. These agents include cytokines (CKs), lentinan, *Streptococcus* preparation (OK-432), and Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG) vaccine.

(1) CKs

CKs are small molecular proteins produced by immune cells that have been stimulated by incubation with a mitogen. They include IL-2, interferon- $\gamma$ , tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$ , and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, among others. Their actions consist of activation, proliferation and differentiation of lymphocytes [58]. Of these, low-dose IL-2 has been used for the treatment of patients undergoing radical gastrectomy with postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy. The drug achieved an increase in CD4+ T and NK cells in both the periphery and around the tumor [59]. However, CKs have certain side effects and thus could be used as adjuvant molecules in cancer immunotherapy.

#### (2) Lentinan

Lentinan is quite often used as an immune adjuvant in the treatment of GC. Its actions are indirectly anticancer as it promotes the maturation, differentiation, and proliferation of immune cells[60]. The drug combined with chemotherapy in patients with AGC can significantly prolong the OS of the patients.

#### (3) BCG vaccine

The BCG vaccine, which is be prepared from attenuated bovine tuberculosis bacillus, enhances macrophage activity and boosts cellular immunity through activation of CD4+ and CD8+ cells[61]. BCG in combination with 5-fluorouracil, adriamycin, mitomycin C prolongs the survival of patients with AGC[62].

Oncolytic virus therapy: The treatment of malignant tumors using natural or genetically modified oncolytic viruses is a new and interesting type of immunotherapy[63]. Oncolytic viruses are divided into inherent oncolytic wild-type strains, which through their affinity with tumor cells, can proliferate and induce their lysis, and viruses in which by modification of the viral genome the virus becomes tumor-selective. Subsequently, through various processes, the virus loses its ability to replicate in normal cells, while its ability to infect cancer cells is enhanced [64].

In a recent study, Yang et al[65] investigated the effect of CF17, a new replication-competent chimeric poxvirus that they administered to intestinal and diffuse GC cell lines. They found that CF17 could infect, and kill cancer cells in doseand time-dependent manners in vitro. In parallel, in the in vivo experiments, CF17 treatment resulted in a reduction in tumor burden, prevention of ascites formation, and prolonged survival of the experimental animals. These experimental results suggest that CF17 may be used in future studies to treat patients with GC and malignant ascites[65]. In a very recent study, the same group of investigators demonstrated that CF33 oncolytic viruses are capable of delivering functional proteins and demonstrating effective antitumor activity in GCPM models when administered intraperitoneally, suggesting that similar studies in GC patients with peritoneal metastases can be designed and performed in the future<sup>[66]</sup>.

Hori et al[67] investigated the potential activity of adenoviral vectors expressing p53 against peritoneal metastases from diffuse-type GC. They found that the oncolytic adenovirus OBP-702 induced a significantly greater antitumor effect in GC cells compared with Ad-p53 adenovirus, through induction of p53-mediated apoptosis and autophagy and suppression of the tyrosine kinase receptor. The in vivo experiment showed that intraperitoneal administration of the oncolytic adenovirus OBP-702 suppressed peritoneal metastasis of NUGC-4 and GCIY cells compared to Ad-p53, and increased the survival of experimental animals[67]. Currently, the treatment of GC with oncolytic viruses is limited to in vitro research only. There have been no reports from clinical studies.

Tumor vaccine therapy: Treatment based on vaccine-derived elements of the malignant neoplasm relies on the specific immune response induced by the administration of the cancer antigen, which recognizes the cancer antigen on the surface of the antigen-presenting cells[68]. Tumor vaccines primarily involve dendritic cell vaccine (controversial efficacy), nucleic acid vaccine (satisfactory safety, no application in human GC), peptide/protein vaccine (activate the immune system by combining with MHC molecules or T cells of APC), and tumor-associated antigens vaccine. The latter is of particular interest concerning the future treatment of GC. Tumor-associated antigens are proteins produced by cancer cells. A characteristic of these proteins is that they do not show antigenicity under normal conditions. They may, however, elicit immune responses following the appearance of a mutation[69].

Of particular note is the vaccine against *H. pylori*. This bacterium has been classified as a class I carcinogen by the World Health Organization. Therefore, the development of a vaccine against *H. pylori* is expected to have a significant impact on the incidence of *H. pylori*-related GC. Potential antigens of the microbe for vaccine preparation are individual components of the microbe such as bacterial urease, various virulence factors, outer membrane protein, flagella, etc. At present, vaccines based on the microbial elements mentioned above are being tested in experimental models [70].

Neoantigen-based personalized vaccines: The use of personalized vaccines designed to induce de novo T-cell responses against neoantigens specific to individual patient malignancies has been an area of systematic research in recent years. Results have shown that these vaccines provide potent immunogenicity in many solid cancers. However, the research field contains many elements that need to be answered. A deeper evaluation of the phenotypes, functionality, and longterm memory potential of vaccine-induced CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells is required to achieve optimization of vaccination strategies. Their use is based on the fact that the mutations that occur in cancer cells generate new autoantigen epitopes called neoepitopes or neoantigens. Their advantages are that they are expressed exclusively by the cancer cells causing the generation of specific reactions and that they are derived from somatic mutations causing the generation of short and long-term reactions directed only towards the cancer cells thus preventing the possibility of recurrence of the neoplasm. Of course, this therapeutic method has some disadvantages related to high cost, time delays in vaccine generation, and inconsistency with the most suitable vaccine delivery platform. Results of clinical applications are expected soon[71].

Adoptive cellular immunotherapy: Adoptive immunotherapy consists of selectively isolating sensitized immune cells (T cells and NK cells) from patients or donors and re-administering them to patients to enhance the proliferation of various immune cells. The cells recognize specific tumor antigens and bind to and destroy them [72]. Adoptive immunotherapy includes the following categories: Cytokine-induced killer (CIK) cells, tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), NK cell



therapy, CAR T cells, and T cell receptor-gene engineered T cells[73].

### (1) NK cell therapy

NK cells play an important role in the body's defense processes against various viruses and cancer cells, making a decisive contribution to immune regulation processes[74]. NK cells show satisfactory efficacy against solid tumors while effectively preventing tumor metastasis.

(2) TIL cell therapy

TIL cell therapy is a treatment in which lymphocytes derived from the patient's tumor are cultured and amplified *in vitro* and then reintroduced into the patient's body[75].

All relevant studies have been conducted in cell lines and there are no clinical data.

**CTLA-4 inhibitors:** CTLA-4 is a small molecule expressed on the surface of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. Its inhibition by specific inhibitors results in the restoration of a normal immune response. CTLA-4 inhibitors currently include two monoclonal antibodies ipilimumab and tremelimumab. Ipilimumab is a fully humanized CTLA-4 antibody inhibitor that will probably find application as part of a combination therapy. Tremelimumab is also a fully humanized IgG2 monoclonal antibody against CTLA-4 which has demonstrated antitumor activity in a variety of solid tumors including gastro-esophageal junction cancer. It appears that this drug has satisfactory safety, which combined with satisfactory efficacy, may increase the survival of patients with AGC.

**CIK cells:** In recent years, the type of treatment-induced through the so-called "CIK" has been widely discussed. The term "CIK cells" has been increasingly used over the last decade. These cells include features that make them quite a promising therapeutic method for treating cancer due to the antitumor potential of NK cells[76]. Future research in this area will likely focus on the development of more potent antitumor CAR T cells.

**CAR T-cell therapy:** CAR T-cell therapy is a relatively new approach. CAR T cells, a subset of genetically modified T cells, can recognize specific antigens and their action is independent of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) interactions. Several potential targets for the treatment of GC patients have been identified including claudin 18.2 (CLDN18.2), mesothelin, anthrax toxin receptor 1, and mucin 3A. CAR therapy targets multiple tumor cell targets in GC patients. Among them, intercellular adhesion molecule 1, CAR T cells, and CLDN18.2 CAR T cells have shown good results. However, satisfactory therapeutic responses are not observed in all patients[77].

**NK cell therapy:** Treatment with NK cells continues to evolve[78]. This treatment is also combined with other forms of immunotherapy to achieve more satisfactory results.

**Other biomarker-targeted therapy:** Recent studies reporting on new potential molecular targets are investigating the following targeted therapies of AGC: CLDN18.2-targeted therapy, FGFR pathway inhibitors, and EGFR inhibitors. Data on the most important of these, CLDN18.2-targeted therapy, are reported below.

CLDN18.2-targeted therapy: CLDN18.2 is a component of intercellular junctions and is present only in the gastric mucosa. During the processes of carcinogenesis, CLDN18.2 maintains its expression at a rate of 14.1% to 72%, both in gastric adenocarcinoma mucosa and diffuse type cancer<sup>[79]</sup>.

Zolbetuximab is highly promising for the treatment of GC chimeric IgG1 monoclonal antibody that binds to CLDN18.2 thus inducing antibody-dependent cytotoxicity[80]. In several studies, mainly phase II, zolbetuximab showed very satisfactory results. In the MONO study, the drug had an ORR of 9% and a disease control rate of 23% in previously treated patients with GC or EC[81]. In the FAST study, zolbetuximab combined with first-line chemotherapy significantly improved progression-free survival (PFS) and OS in patients with CLDN18.2-positive GC[82]. In the SPOTLIGHT study, zolbetuximab administered with mFOLFOX6 significantly improved median PFS and median OS in patients with CLDN18.2-positive and HER-2-negative AGC[83]. The phase II GLOW study investigated the effect of zolbetuximab with CAPOX as first-line therapy in patients with CLDN18.2-positive, HER2-negative, locally advanced, unresectable, or metastatic GC. The zolbetuximab plus CAPOX combination significantly improved median PFS and median OS[84]. Another promising therapeutic approach targeting CLDN18.2 uses CAR T specific for CLDN18.2. Administration of these cells resulted in partial or complete tumor regression in CLDN18.2-positive patient-derived xenograft models[85]. Therefore, it appears that CLDN18.2 is a novel target for later-line treatment of GC. CLDN18.2 CAR T therapy is expected to become a cornerstone in cellular immunotherapy of solid tumors.

New drugs targeting CLDN18.2 are currently being developed, such as CLDN18.2 bispecific antibodies and ADC analogs. Some of them achieved satisfactory preclinical results representing the field of various clinical studies. The only concern concerning this type of therapy is the kind and severity of adverse effects that may occur since CLDN18.2 is expressed in the normal gastric mucosa.

**Tumor microenvironment:** The tumor microenvironment differs from that of normal tissues. The main characteristic of this microenvironment is the presence of an inflammatory response ,which favors the accumulation of immune cells and the activation of progenitor cells. The most important cells that promote gastric carcinogenesis through modulation of immune responses and secretion of soluble factors are macrophages. Furthermore, other elements of the stroma such as endothelial cells or blood vessels promote tumor growth through blood flow and secretion of cytokines and chemokines. The fundamental structural and functional changes of cancer-associated fibroblasts and blood vessels are caused by numerous interactions between cancer cells and other stromal components. Nerves and neurotransmitters are also involved in gastric carcinogenesis by acting in the tumor microenvironment[86].

Therefore, it appears that modification of the pro-tumorigenic stroma and creation of an antitumorigenic microenvironment will be promising therapeutic approaches in the future. Many cases of GC exhibit a significant degree of fibrosis due to cancer-associated fibroblasts through the secretion of IL-6, gremlin-1, and other factors. IL-6 activates signal transducer and activator of transcription signaling in cancer cells, inducing tumor growth and metastasis[87]. Therefore, targeting cancer-associated fibroblast-mediated cross-talk would be beneficial in GC. The above leads to the conclusion that a better understanding of all the interactions of the tumor microenvironment is expected to contribute decisively to the discovery of novel therapeutic targets[88].

### BIBLIOMETRICS

Bibliometrics is defined as the process of analyzing a large amount of data that aims to identify recent research points and explore cutting-edge trends, revealing the structure of knowledge in a scientific field and listing all data related to scientific productivity and advances achieved in a specific scientific field and a specific period.

In recent years, there has been a boom in bibliometric analysis of articles in various fields. Tools such as CiteSpace and VOSviewer allow visualization of raw data, thus offering comprehensive and intuitive data representation. So-called scientometrics has been applied to analyze literature related to certain fields to identify hotspots and predict future trends [89].

It is an indisputable fact that the scientific medical literature is growing at a rate of 6% per year, a rate that is impossible for even clinicians to keep track of. For example, the scientific articles registered to date in the PubMed database have exceeded 36 million. It is also an undeniable fact that a significant percentage of articles, mainly reviews but also original research articles, repeat the same knowledge published in different journals. The trend toward publication has also resulted in an explosion of biomedical journals that are either listed in PubMed or other databases. This rate of increase in the medical literature is a real challenge for modern doctors, a challenge related both to updating them on the basic data of their specialty and to their ability to review the data of the international bibliography, a necessary element of lifelong updating. Knowledge discovery in databases (KDD) in data analysis consists of a retrospective data analysis[90]. KDD refers to the fluent or automated extraction of knowledge stored in large databases.

CiteSpace II is a system that could be used by clinicians and medical librarians. For the case of clinical research, CiteSpace II proves to be particularly useful for the creation of ontologies, and for the development of evidence-based knowledge bases to support decisions. However, there are several limitations to its use, the most important of which is the learning curve required to define the imaging parameters and the need to provide specialized knowledge. However, despite the existence of some limitations, CiteSpace II is a valuable tool addressed to a variety of users[91].

In this issue of the *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, the article by Li *et al*[1], published through bibliometric analysis using the Web of Science Core Collection database, CiteSpace software (6.1.6) and VOSviewer (1.6.18)m assessed the current status and emerging trends regarding the application of immunotherapy in GC patients. Relevant publications from the period 1999 to January 2023 were analyzed. The countries where the studies were carried out, scientific institutions, scientific journals, authors of the articles, bibliographic references, and keywords used were evaluated. The study included 2013 articles by 11730 authors using 726 keywords, from 617 scientific institutions in 71 countries. In addition, 228 clinical trials on immunotherapy, 137 on cell therapy, 274 on ICIs, and 23 using vaccines against GC were evaluated. Finally, the Impact Index Per Article for the top 10 highly cited papers from Reference Citation Analysis was also presented.

The main finding of the bibliometric analysis of the studies was that the immunotherapy for GC has developed significantly during the last few years. China and the United States account for the highest volume of publications. Especially for China, it was found that it accounts for 53.2% of the publications (1070 research articles) with the most authors and scientific institutions. The 10 institutions with the highest number of publications were located in China. Perhaps the huge population of China, smoking habits, increased incidence of H. pylori infection, and increased incidence of GC in the country have led to the large production of related publications, including on immunotherapy. The second place is occupied by the United States with a publication rate of 16.0%. Environmental factors (high-fat diet, obesity, alcohol consumption) are implicated in the etiology of GC in the United States. Finally, Japan, with a publication rate of 11.3%, took third place. In this country, dietary habits (increased consumption of salt and nitrites) combined with genetic factors are probably responsible for the high incidence of the disease. Regarding the annual distribution of scientific articles, an explosive increase in citations was evident, from 22 publications in the year 1999 to 552 in the year 2022. Thirty authors had at least 10 relevant publications while 17 authors collected more than 400 citations. Seven of the ten most frequently cited articles in the international bibliography were published in the last 7 years. Most publications were in journals related to molecular biology, genetics, immunology, nursing, and medicine. As far as clinical trials are concerned, their annual distribution has shown a sharp rise in recent years, especially from the year 2019 onwards. Regarding scientific journals, Frontiers in Oncology took first place with 104 scientific publications, followed by Frontiers in Immunotherapy with 78 and Cancers with 69 publications. The Journal of Clinical Oncology collected the highest number of citations (5044 citations), followed by Cancer Research (3018 citations). The study also showed that the most important points of progress concerned vaccinations, immune checkpoint therapy, and cell therapy. In particular, ICIs, and CAR T, are the most modern options for the treatment of GC. It seems that MSI, tumor microenvironment, mismatch repair deficiency, dendritic cell functions, and adoptive immunotherapy together with ICIs, are the most important future research directions. It also appears that the combined administration of chemotherapy and immunotherapy constitutes the future of GC drug treatment.

Also in a recent study[92], bibliometric analysis was used to investigate the size and trends of scientific research regarding immunotherapy of all types of cancer from 2000 to 2021. In these 20 years, a total of 18778 articles were published with the number of articles skyrocketing. from 366 in 2000 to 3194 in 2021. The United States had the largest number of publications (35.9%). A total of 976 significant topics were identified and further classified into four different groups (immune mechanism, cancer biology, immunotherapy, and clinical trials). The most important search topics included the terms 'expression,' 'chemotherapy,' 'dendritic cells,' 'pembrolizumab,' and 'open-label.' Liver, breast, lung, and bladder cancer had the greatest number of studies. Of interest is the recent shift from the investigation of pathophysiological mechanisms to the clinical application of immunotherapies, a trend that is predicted to continue in the future.

From these data, it appears that the largest amount of research on immunotherapy of all cancer types is from the United States, although for GC, the data from China are significantly greater in volume compared to the United States counterparts.

### FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Currently, the advances achieved in anti-HER2 and anti-vascular endothelial growth factor receptor therapy are uninterrupted and with a stable outlook. Research efforts include ICIs as monotherapy or in combination with ADCs on which research is increasingly focused. ADCs are potential chemical drugs that selectively target cancer cells by binding specific cell surface receptors with antibodies. Currently, several ADCs are being investigated in GC patient clinical trials targeting receptors such as EGFR, HER-2, HER-3, CLDN18.2, and mucin 1. ADCs combine the specificity of monoclonal antibodies with the potency of cytotoxic agents. They are likely to be the immunotherapy of the future for GC by acting synergistically with chemotherapy.

For future research, the investigation of new prognostic immunotherapy biomarkers to achieve personalized treatment, the further improvement of the combination of immunotherapy with ADC, the application of bispecific immunotherapy antibodies, and the further development of CAR T therapy are suggested. The transmembrane protein CLDN18.2, is, as is well known, the main component of tight junctions, thus contributing to the integrity of the intestinal barrier. The special feature of tumors is the high expression of this protein in the malignant tissue. Its exposure as an extracellular anchor makes it an ideal target for immunotherapy in digestive system cancers[93]. Also, lymphocyte activation gene-3 is a type of immune checkpoint receptor protein. This gene (also known as cluster of differentiation 223), which is mainly expressed in activated immune cells, is highly associated with the appearance and growth of the tumor, thus being a target for the immunotherapy of GC[94].

### CONCLUSION

Current treatment modalities for GC include surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and molecular-targeted therapy. The trends in clinical trials today are the discovery of new biomarkers and the investigation of more specific treatment options. Immunotherapy has evolved into a very important therapeutic modality for GC, with several possibilities for clinical application such as anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibody being mainly part of combined therapy. The application of immunotherapy against PD-1/PD-L1 in GC also opens up great expectations. However, great caution is required as many issues related to GC immunotherapy are still unresolved. The mechanisms regulating the immune responses are extremely complex and obscure. For example, posttranslational modifications, such as glycosylation, acetylation, and phosphorylation, are involved in the direct regulation of PD-1/PD-L1 protein, as well as cross-talk between PD-1/PD-L1related signal pathways in GC. The application of ICIs is an important research approach in terms of efficacy and safety. It seems that the combination of several therapeutic agents (immunotherapy and surgery, radiotherapy and chemotherapy, combination of immunotherapies, and the discovery of new ICIs) will constitute future therapeutic strategies.

In conclusion, there are reasonable hopes for the development of safer and more effective immunotherapies in GC as well as hopes for the establishment of individualized evaluation of combination therapies.

### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: All authors contributed to the preparation of the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Greece

ORCID number: John K Triantafillidis 0000-0002-9115-232X; Manousos M Konstadoulakis 0000-0002-9999-5022; Apostolos E Papalois 0000-



### 0001-8339-7426.

S-Editor: Li L L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Yu HG

### REFERENCES

- 1 Li YN, Xie B, Zhang Y, He MH, Xing Y, Mu DM, Wang H, Guo R. Advances and key focus areas in gastric cancer immunotherapy: A comprehensive scientometric and clinical trial review (1999-2023). World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29: 5593-5617 [PMID: 37970478 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i40.5593]
- Yang WJ, Zhao HP, Yu Y, Wang JH, Guo L, Liu JY, Pu J, Lv J. Updates on global epidemiology, risk and prognostic factors of gastric cancer. 2 World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29: 2452-2468 [PMID: 37179585 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i16.2452]
- Thrift AP, Wenker TN, El-Serag HB. Global burden of gastric cancer: epidemiological trends, risk factors, screening and prevention. Nat Rev 3 Clin Oncol 2023; 20: 338-349 [PMID: 36959359 DOI: 10.1038/s41571-023-00747-0]
- Uemura N, Okamoto S, Yamamoto S, Matsumura N, Yamaguchi S, Yamakido M, Taniyama K, Sasaki N, Schlemper RJ. Helicobacter pylori 4 infection and the development of gastric cancer. N Engl J Med 2001; 345: 784-789 [PMID: 11556297 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa001999]
- Wang S, Zheng R, Li J, Zeng H, Li L, Chen R, Sun K, Han B, Bray F, Wei W, He J. Global, regional, and national lifetime risks of developing 5 and dying from gastrointestinal cancers in 185 countries: a population-based systematic analysis of GLOBOCAN. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2024 [PMID: 38185129 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(23)00366-7]
- Wong MCS, Huang J, Chan PSF, Choi P, Lao XQ, Chan SM, Teoh A, Liang P. Global Incidence and Mortality of Gastric Cancer, 1980-2018. 6 JAMA Netw Open 2021; 4: e2118457 [PMID: 34309666 DOI: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.18457]
- López MJ, Carbajal J, Alfaro AL, Saravia LG, Zanabria D, Araujo JM, Quispe L, Zevallos A, Buleje JL, Cho CE, Sarmiento M, Pinto JA, 7 Fajardo W. Characteristics of gastric cancer around the world. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2023; 181: 103841 [PMID: 36240980 DOI: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2022.103841]
- 8 Zheng R, Zhang S, Zeng H, Wang S, Sun K, Chen R, Li L, Wei W, He J. Cancer incidence and mortality in China, 2016. J the National Cancer Center 2022; 2: 1-9 [DOI: 10.1016/j.jncc.2022.02.002]
- Yan X, Lei L, Li H, Cao M, Yang F, He S, Zhang S, Teng Y, Li Q, Xia C, Chen W. Stomach cancer burden in China: Epidemiology and 9 prevention. Chin J Cancer Res 2023; 35: 81-91 [PMID: 37180831 DOI: 10.21147/j.issn.1000-9604.2023.02.01]
- He J, Wei W. China cancer registry annual report. Beijing: People's Medical Publishing House, 2022 10
- Li Y, Ren N, Zhang B, Yang C, Li A, Li X, Lei Z, Fei L, Fan S, Zhang J. Gastric cancer incidence trends in China and Japan from 1990 to 11 2019: Disentangling age-period-cohort patterns. Cancer 2023; 129: 98-106 [PMID: 36284481 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.34511]
- Bertuccio P, Chatenoud L, Levi F, Praud D, Ferlay J, Negri E, Malvezzi M, La Vecchia C. Recent patterns in gastric cancer: a global 12 overview. Int J Cancer 2009; 125: 666-673 [PMID: 19382179 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.24290]
- 13 Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, Miller D, Bishop K, Kosary CL, Yu M, Ruhl J, Tatalovich Z, Mariotto A, Lewis DR, Chen HS, Feuer EJ, Cronin KA (eds). SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2014. National Cancer Institute; Bethesda, MD: Based on November 2016 SEER data submission, posted to the SEER web site. April 4, 2017. [cited 3 January 2024]. Available from: https://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975\_2014/
- 14 Wang J, Sun Y, Bertagnolli MM. Comparison of gastric cancer survival between Caucasian and Asian patients treated in the United States: results from the Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) database. Ann Surg Oncol 2015; 22: 2965-2971 [PMID: 25631065 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-015-4388-4]
- Scaltriti M, Eichhorn PJ, Cortés J, Prudkin L, Aura C, Jiménez J, Chandarlapaty S, Serra V, Prat A, Ibrahim YH, Guzmán M, Gili M, 15 Rodríguez O, Rodríguez S, Pérez J, Green SR, Mai S, Rosen N, Hudis C, Baselga J. Cyclin E amplification/overexpression is a mechanism of trastuzumab resistance in HER2+ breast cancer patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2011; 108: 3761-3766 [PMID: 21321214 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1014835108]
- Gregory SN, Davis JL. CDH1 and hereditary diffuse gastric cancer: a narrative review. Chin Clin Oncol 2023; 12: 25 [PMID: 37303221 DOI: 16 10.21037/cco-23-36]
- 17 Nakamura J, Tanaka T, Kitajima Y, Noshiro H, Miyazaki K. Methylation-mediated gene silencing as biomarkers of gastric cancer: a review. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 11991-12006 [PMID: 25232236 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i34.11991]
- Almeida R, Silva E, Santos-Silva F, Silberg DG, Wang J, De Bolós C, David L. Expression of intestine-specific transcription factors, CDX1 18 and CDX2, in intestinal metaplasia and gastric carcinomas. J Pathol 2003; 199: 36-40 [PMID: 12474224 DOI: 10.1002/path.1246]
- 19 Rich A, Toro TZ, Tanksley J, Fiske WH, Lind CD, Ayers GD, Piessevaux H, Washington MK, Coffey RJ. Distinguishing Ménétrier's disease from its mimics. Gut 2010; 59: 1617-1624 [PMID: 20926644 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2010.220061]
- Tersmette AC, Offerhaus GJ, Tersmette KW, Giardiello FM, Moore GW, Tytgat GN, Vandenbroucke JP. Meta-analysis of the risk of gastric 20 stump cancer: detection of high risk patient subsets for stomach cancer after remote partial gastrectomy for benign conditions. Cancer Res 1990; 50: 6486-6489 [PMID: 2145061]
- Sharaf RN, Shergill AK, Odze RD, Krinsky ML, Fukami N, Jain R, Appalaneni V, Anderson MA, Ben-Menachem T, Chandrasekhara V, 21 Chathadi K, Decker GA, Early D, Evans JA, Fanelli RD, Fisher DA, Fisher LR, Foley KQ, Hwang JH, Jue TL, Ikenberry SO, Khan KM, Lightdale J, Malpas PM, Maple JT, Pasha S, Saltzman J, Dominitz JA, Cash BD; ASGE Standards of Practice Committee. Endoscopic mucosal tissue sampling. Gastrointest Endosc 2013; 78: 216-224 [PMID: 23867371 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.04.167]
- Bessède E, Mégraud F. Microbiota and gastric cancer. Semin Cancer Biol 2022; 86: 11-17 [PMID: 35533800 DOI: 22 10.1016/j.semcancer.2022.05.001
- Liao O, Ye G, Du Q, Ye J. Gastric microbiota in gastric cancer and precancerous stages: Mechanisms of carcinogenesis and clinical value. 23 Helicobacter 2023; 28: e12964 [PMID: 36880502 DOI: 10.1111/hel.12964]
- Wang Y, Han W, Wang N, Han M, Ban M, Dai J, Dong Y, Sun T, Xu J. The role of microbiota in the development and treatment of gastric 24 cancer. Front Oncol 2023; 13: 1224669 [PMID: 37841431 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2023.1224669]
- Salvatori S, Marafini I, Laudisi F, Monteleone G, Stolfi C. Helicobacter pylori and Gastric Cancer: Pathogenetic Mechanisms. Int J Mol Sci 25



2023; 24 [PMID: 36769214 DOI: 10.3390/ijms24032895]

- Garza-González E, Bosques-Padilla FJ, El-Omar E, Hold G, Tijerina-Menchaca R, Maldonado-Garza HJ, Pérez-Pérez GI. Role of the 26 polymorphic IL-1B, IL-1RN and TNF-A genes in distal gastric cancer in Mexico. Int J Cancer 2005; 114: 237-241 [PMID: 15540224 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.20718]
- Hirabayashi M, Georges D, Clifford GM, de Martel C. Estimating the Global Burden of Epstein-Barr Virus-Associated Gastric Cancer: A 27 Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2023; 21: 922-930.e21 [PMID: 35963539 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2022.07.042]
- Stanland LJ, Luftig MA. The Role of EBV-Induced Hypermethylation in Gastric Cancer Tumorigenesis. Viruses 2020; 12 [PMID: 33126718 28 DOI: 10.3390/v12111222]
- 29 lizasa H, Kartika AV, Fekadu S, Okada S, Onomura D, Wadi AFAA, Khatun MM, Moe TM, Nishikawa J, Yoshiyama H. Development of Epstein-Barr virus-associated gastric cancer: Infection, inflammation, and oncogenesis. World J Gastroenterol 2022; 28: 6249-6257 [PMID: 36504553 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i44.6249]
- Shikata K, Kiyohara Y, Kubo M, Yonemoto K, Ninomiya T, Shirota T, Tanizaki Y, Doi Y, Tanaka K, Oishi Y, Matsumoto T, Iida M. A 30 prospective study of dietary salt intake and gastric cancer incidence in a defined Japanese population: the Hisayama study. Int J Cancer 2006; 119: 196-201 [PMID: 16450397 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.21822]
- Peleteiro B, Lopes C, Figueiredo C, Lunet N. Salt intake and gastric cancer risk according to Helicobacter pylori infection, smoking, tumour 31 site and histological type. Br J Cancer 2011; 104: 198-207 [PMID: 21081930 DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6605993]
- Tricker AR. N-nitroso compounds and man: sources of exposure, endogenous formation and occurrence in body fluids. Eur J Cancer Prev 32 1997; 6: 226-268 [PMID: 9306073 DOI: 10.1097/00008469-199706000-00003]
- Zhang T, Song SS, Liu M, Park S. Association of Fried Food Intake with Gastric Cancer Risk: A Systemic Review and Meta-Analysis of 33 Case-Control Studies. Nutrients 2023; 15 [PMID: 37447308 DOI: 10.3390/nu15132982]
- Ladeiras-Lopes R, Pereira AK, Nogueira A, Pinheiro-Torres T, Pinto I, Santos-Pereira R, Lunet N. Smoking and gastric cancer: systematic 34 review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. Cancer Causes Control 2008; 19: 689-701 [PMID: 18293090 DOI: 10.1007/s10552-008-9132-y]
- Epplein M, Nomura AM, Wilkens LR, Henderson BE, Kolonel LN. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and risk of gastric adenocarcinoma: 35 the multiethnic cohort study. Am J Epidemiol 2009; 170: 507-514 [PMID: 19584132 DOI: 10.1093/aje/kwp162]
- Wu CY, Wu MS, Kuo KN, Wang CB, Chen YJ, Lin JT. Effective reduction of gastric cancer risk with regular use of nonsteroidal anti-36 inflammatory drugs in Helicobacter pylori-infected patients. J Clin Oncol 2010; 28: 2952-2957 [PMID: 20479409 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2009.26.0695]
- Huang RJ, Laszkowska M, In H, Hwang JH, Epplein M. Controlling Gastric Cancer in a World of Heterogeneous Risk. Gastroenterology 37 2023; 164: 736-751 [PMID: 36706842 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2023.01.018]
- Grad C, Grad S, Fărcaș RA, Popa S, Dumitrașcu DL. Changing trends in the epidemiology of gastric cancer. Med Pharm Rep 2023; 96: 229-38 234 [PMID: 37577012 DOI: 10.15386/mpr-2538]
- 39 Liou JM, Lee YC, El-Omar EM, Wu MS. Efficacy and Long-Term Safety of H. pylori Eradication for Gastric Cancer Prevention. Cancers (Basel) 2019; 11 [PMID: 31035365 DOI: 10.3390/cancers11050593]
- 40 Yan L, Chen Y, Chen F, Tao T, Hu Z, Wang J, You J, Wong BCY, Chen J, Ye W. Effect of Helicobacter pylori Eradication on Gastric Cancer Prevention: Updated Report From a Randomized Controlled Trial With 26.5 Years of Follow-up. Gastroenterology 2022; 163: 154-162.e3 [PMID: 35364066 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2022.03.039]
- Guan WL, He Y, Xu RH. Gastric cancer treatment: recent progress and future perspectives. J Hematol Oncol 2023; 16: 57 [PMID: 37245017 41 DOI: 10.1186/s13045-023-01451-3]
- Pous A, Notario L, Hierro C, Layos L, Bugés C. HER2-Positive Gastric Cancer: The Role of Immunotherapy and Novel Therapeutic 42 Strategies. Int J Mol Sci 2023; 24 [PMID: 37511163 DOI: 10.3390/ijms241411403]
- Triantafyllidi E, Triantafillidis JK. Systematic Review on the Use of Biosimilars of Trastuzumab in HER2+ Breast Cancer. Biomedicines 43 2022; 10 [PMID: 36009592 DOI: 10.3390/biomedicines10082045]
- Jin X, Liu Z, Yang D, Yin K, Chang X. Recent Progress and Future Perspectives of Immunotherapy in Advanced Gastric Cancer. Front 44 Immunol 2022; 13: 948647 [PMID: 35844558 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.948647]
- Fang X, Xu J, Jin K, Qian J. Combining of immunotherapeutic approaches with chemotherapy for treatment of gastric cancer: Achievements 45 and limitations. Int Immunopharmacol 2023; 118: 110062 [PMID: 36965367 DOI: 10.1016/j.intimp.2023.110062]
- Entezam M, Sanaei MJ, Mirzaei Y, Mer AH, Abdollahpour-Alitappeh M, Azadegan-Dehkordi F, Bagheri N. Current progress and challenges 46 of immunotherapy in gastric cancer: A focus on CAR-T cells therapeutic approach. Life Sci 2023; 318: 121459 [PMID: 36720453 DOI: 10.1016/j.lfs.2023.121459
- 47 Zhang Z, Liu N, Sun M. Research Progress of Immunotherapy for Gastric Cancer. Technol Cancer Res Treat 2023; 22: 15330338221150555 [PMID: 37042029 DOI: 10.1177/15330338221150555]
- Liu Y, Hu P, Xu L, Zhang X, Li Z, Li Y, Qiu H. Current Progress on Predictive Biomarkers for Response to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors in 48 Gastric Cancer: How to Maximize the Immunotherapeutic Benefit? Cancers (Basel) 2023; 15 [PMID: 37190201 DOI: 10.3390/cancers15082273
- Peixoto RD, Mathias-Machado MC, Jácome A, Gil M, Fogacci J, Sodré B, Passarini T, Chaves A, Diniz PH, Lino F, Palladino A, Souto M, de 49 Castro AC, Garicochea B. PD-L1 testing in advanced gastric cancer-what physicians who treat this disease must know-a literature review. J Gastrointest Oncol 2023; 14: 1560-1575 [PMID: 37435200 DOI: 10.21037/jgo-22-1133]
- Kang YK, Boku N, Satoh T, Ryu MH, Chao Y, Kato K, Chung HC, Chen JS, Muro K, Kang WK, Yeh KH, Yoshikawa T, Oh SC, Bai LY, 50 Tamura T, Lee KW, Hamamoto Y, Kim JG, Chin K, Oh DY, Minashi K, Cho JY, Tsuda M, Chen LT. Nivolumab in patients with advanced gastric or gastro-oesophageal junction cancer refractory to, or intolerant of, at least two previous chemotherapy regimens (ONO-4538-12, ATTRACTION-2): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2017; 390: 2461-2471 [PMID: 28993052 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31827-5]
- Yoon J, Kim TY, Oh DY. Recent Progress in Immunotherapy for Gastric Cancer. J Gastric Cancer 2023; 23: 207-223 [PMID: 36751000 DOI: 51 10.5230/jgc.2023.23.e10]
- Boku N, Ryu MH, Kato K, Chung HC, Minashi K, Lee KW, Cho H, Kang WK, Komatsu Y, Tsuda M, Yamaguchi K, Hara H, Fumita S, 52 Azuma M, Chen LT, Kang YK. Safety and efficacy of nivolumab in combination with S-1/capecitabine plus oxaliplatin in patients with previously untreated, unresectable, advanced, or recurrent gastric/gastroesophageal junction cancer: interim results of a randomized, phase II trial (ATTRACTION-4). Ann Oncol 2019; 30: 250-258 [PMID: 30566590 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdy540]



- Takei S, Kawazoe A, Shitara K. The New Era of Immunotherapy in Gastric Cancers (Basel) 2022; 14 [PMID: 35205802 DOI: 53 10.3390/cancers14041054]
- Li JX, Huang JM, Jiang ZB, Li RZ, Sun A, Lai-Han Leung E, Yan PY. Current Clinical Progress of PD-1/PD-L1 Immunotherapy and Potential 54 Combination Treatment in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Integr Cancer Ther 2019; 18: 1534735419890020 [PMID: 31838881 DOI: 10.1177/15347354198900201
- Sato Y, Okamoto K, Kida Y, Mitsui Y, Kawano Y, Sogabe M, Miyamoto H, Takayama T. Overview of Chemotherapy for Gastric Cancer. J 55 Clin Med 2023; 12 [PMID: 36835872 DOI: 10.3390/jcm12041336]
- Herbst RS, Soria JC, Kowanetz M, Fine GD, Hamid O, Gordon MS, Sosman JA, McDermott DF, Powderly JD, Gettinger SN, Kohrt HE, 56 Horn L, Lawrence DP, Rost S, Leabman M, Xiao Y, Mokatrin A, Koeppen H, Hegde PS, Mellman I, Chen DS, Hodi FS. Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. Nature 2014; 515: 563-567 [PMID: 25428504 DOI: 10.1038/nature14011]
- Bang YJ, Golan T, Dahan L, Fu S, Moreno V, Park K, Geva R, De Braud F, Wainberg ZA, Reck M, Goff L, Laing N, Mi G, Oliveira JM, 57 Wasserstrom H, Lin CC. Ramucirumab and durvalumab for previously treated, advanced non-small-cell lung cancer, gastric/gastrooesophageal junction adenocarcinoma, or hepatocellular carcinoma: An open-label, phase Ia/b study (JVDJ). Eur J Cancer 2020; 137: 272-284 [PMID: 32827847 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejca.2020.06.007]
- Spitzer JH, Meadows GG. Modulation of perforin, granzyme A, and granzyme B in murine natural killer (NK), IL2 stimulated NK, and 58 lymphokine-activated killer cells by alcohol consumption. Cell Immunol 1999; 194: 205-212 [PMID: 10383823 DOI: 10.1006/cimm.1999.1511]
- 59 Cesana GC, Romano F, Piacentini G, Scotti M, Brenna A, Bovo G, Vaghi M, Aletti G, Caprotti R, Kaufman H, Uggeri F. Low-dose interleukin-2 administered pre-operatively to patients with gastric cancer activates peripheral and peritumoral lymphocytes but does not affect prognosis. Ann Surg Oncol 2007; 14: 1295-1304 [PMID: 17225981 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-006-9239-x]
- Nakano H, Namatame K, Nemoto H, Motohashi H, Nishiyama K, Kumada K. A multi-institutional prospective study of lentinan in advanced 60 gastric cancer patients with unresectable and recurrent diseases: effect on prolongation of survival and improvement of quality of life. Kanagawa Lentinan Research Group. Hepatogastroenterology 1999; 46: 2662-2668 [PMID: 10522061]
- Jiang S, Redelman-Sidi G. BCG in Bladder Cancer Immunotherapy. Cancers (Basel) 2022; 14 [PMID: 35804844 DOI: 61 10.3390/cancers141330731
- Popiela T, Kulig J, Czupryna A, Szczepanik AM, Zembala M. Efficiency of adjuvant immunochemotherapy following curative resection in 62 patients with locally advanced gastric cancer. Gastric Cancer 2004; 7: 240-245 [PMID: 15616772 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-004-0299-y]
- Lawler SE, Speranza MC, Cho CF, Chiocca EA. Oncolytic Viruses in Cancer Treatment: A Review. JAMA Oncol 2017; 3: 841-849 [PMID: 63 27441411 DOI: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2016.2064]
- Howells A, Marelli G, Lemoine NR, Wang Y. Oncolytic Viruses-Interaction of Virus and Tumor Cells in the Battle to Eliminate Cancer. Front 64 Oncol 2017; 7: 195 [PMID: 28944214 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2017.00195]
- Yang A, Zhang Z, Chaurasiya S, Park AK, Lu J, Kim SI, Valencia H, Fong Y, Woo Y. Peritoneal-directed chimeric oncolytic virus CF17 65 prevents malignant ascites and improves survival in gastric cancer peritoneal metastases. Mol Ther Oncolytics 2023; 31: 100734 [PMID: 37915757 DOI: 10.1016/j.omto.2023.100734]
- Yang A, Zhang Z, Chaurasiya S, Park AK, Jung A, Lu J, Kim SI, Priceman S, Fong Y, Woo Y. Development of the oncolytic virus, CF33, and 66 its derivatives for peritoneal-directed treatment of gastric cancer peritoneal metastases. J Immunother Cancer 2023; 11 [PMID: 3701947] DOI: 10.1136/jitc-2022-006280]
- Hori N, Tazawa H, Li Y, Okura T, Kikuchi S, Kuroda S, Ohara T, Noma K, Nishizaki M, Urata Y, Kagawa S, Fujiwara T. Intraperitoneal 67 Administration of p53-armed Oncolytic Adenovirus Inhibits Peritoneal Metastasis of Diffuse-type Gastric Cancer Cells. Anticancer Res 2023; 43: 4809-4821 [PMID: 37909979 DOI: 10.21873/anticanres.16678]
- Pan RY, Chung WH, Chu MT, Chen SJ, Chen HC, Zheng L, Hung SI. Recent Development and Clinical Application of Cancer Vaccine: 68 Targeting Neoantigens. J Immunol Res 2018; 2018: 4325874 [PMID: 30662919 DOI: 10.1155/2018/4325874]
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science 2015; 348: 69-74 [PMID: 25838375 DOI: 69 10.1126/science.aaa4971]
- Zhang Y, Li K, Bi Y, Li X, Shan B, Hu D, Zhao L. [Research progress of Helicobacter pylori vaccine]. Xi Bao Yu Fen Zi Mian Yi Xue Za Zhi 70 2023; 39: 564-570 [PMID: 37340926]
- 71 Blass E, Ott PA. Advances in the development of personalized neoantigen-based therapeutic cancer vaccines. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2021; 18: 215-229 [PMID: 33473220 DOI: 10.1038/s41571-020-00460-2]
- Ramos CA, Heslop HE, Brenner MK. CAR-T Cell Therapy for Lymphoma. Annu Rev Med 2016; 67: 165-183 [PMID: 26332003 DOI: 72 10.1146/annurev-med-051914-021702]
- 73 Faghfuri E, Shadbad MA, Faghfouri AH, Soozangar N. Cellular immunotherapy in gastric cancer: adoptive cell therapy and dendritic cellbased vaccination. Immunotherapy 2022; 14: 475-488 [PMID: 35232264 DOI: 10.2217/imt-2021-0285]
- 74 Sagebiel AF, Steinert F, Lunemann S, Körner C, Schreurs RRCE, Altfeld M, Perez D, Reinshagen K, Bunders MJ. Tissue-resident Eomes(+) NK cells are the major innate lymphoid cell population in human infant intestine. Nat Commun 2019; 10: 975 [PMID: 30816112 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-018-08267-7
- Kumar A, Watkins R, Vilgelm AE. Cell Therapy With TILs: Training and Taming T Cells to Fight Cancer. Front Immunol 2021; 12: 690499 75 [PMID: 34140957 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.690499]
- Wang X, Tang S, Cui X, Yang J, Geng C, Chen C, Zhou N, Li Y. Cytokine-induced killer cell/dendritic cell-cytokine-induced killer cell 76 immunotherapy for the postoperative treatment of gastric cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2018; 97: e12230 [PMID: 30200148 DOI: 10.1097/MD.000000000012230]
- 77. Bębnowska D, Grywalska E, Niedźwiedzka-Rystwej P, Sosnowska-Pasiarska B, Smok-Kalwat J, Pasiarski M, Góźdź S, Roliński J, 77 Polkowski W. CAR-T Cell Therapy-An Overview of Targets in Gastric Cancer. J Clin Med. 2020; 9: 1894 [PMID: 32560392 DOI: 10.3390/jcm9061894]
- Mylod E, Lysaght J, Conroy MJ. Natural killer cell therapy: A new frontier for obesity-associated cancer. Cancer Lett 2022; 535: 215620 78 [PMID: 35283210 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2022.215620]
- Hong JY, An JY, Lee J, Park SH, Park JO, Park YS, Lim HY, Kim KM, Kang WK, Kim ST. Claudin 18.2 expression in various tumor types 79 and its role as a potential target in advanced gastric cancer. Transl Cancer Res 2020; 9: 3367-3374 [PMID: 35117702 DOI: 10.21037/tcr-19-1876]



- Singh P, Toom S, Huang Y. Anti-claudin 18.2 antibody as new targeted therapy for advanced gastric cancer. J Hematol Oncol 2017; 10: 105 80 [PMID: 28494772 DOI: 10.1186/s13045-017-0473-4]
- Türeci O, Sahin U, Schulze-Bergkamen H, Zvirbule Z, Lordick F, Koeberle D, Thuss-Patience P, Ettrich T, Arnold D, Bassermann F, Al-81 Batran SE, Wiechen K, Dhaene K, Maurus D, Gold M, Huber C, Krivoshik A, Arozullah A, Park JW, Schuler M. A multicentre, phase IIa study of zolbetuximab as a single agent in patients with recurrent or refractory advanced adenocarcinoma of the stomach or lower oesophagus: the MONO study. Ann Oncol 2019; 30: 1487-1495 [PMID: 31240302 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdz199]
- Sahin U, Türeci Ö, Manikhas G, Lordick F, Rusyn A, Vynnychenko I, Dudov A, Bazin I, Bondarenko I, Melichar B, Dhaene K, Wiechen K, 82 Huber C, Maurus D, Arozullah A, Park JW, Schuler M, Al-Batran SE. FAST: a randomised phase II study of zolbetuximab (IMAB362) plus EOX vs EOX alone for first-line treatment of advanced CLDN18.2-positive gastric and gastro-oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Ann Oncol 2021; 32: 609-619 [PMID: 33610734 DOI: 10.1016/j.annonc.2021.02.005]
- 83 Shitara K, Lordick F, Bang YJ, Enzinger PC, Ilson DH, Shah MA, Cutsem EV, Xu RH, Aprile G, Xu J, Chao J, Pazo-Cid R, Kang YK, Yang J, Moran DM, Bhattacharya PP, Arozullah A, Park JW, Ajani JA. Zolbetuximab + mFOLFOX6 as first-line (1L) treatment for patients (pts) with claudin-18.2+ (CLDN18.2+) / HER2- locally advanced (LA) unresectable or metastatic gastric or gastroesophageal junction (mG/GEJ) adenocarcinoma: primary results from phase 3 SPOTLIGHT study. J Clin Oncol 2023; 41: LBA292 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2023.41.4\_suppl.LBA292]
- Xu RH, Shitara K, Ajani JA, Bang YJ, Enzinger PC, Ilson DH, Lordick F, Cutsem EV, Plazas JG, Huang J, Shen L, Oh SC, Sunpaweravong P, 84 Hoo HFS, Turk HM, Park JW, Moran DM, Bhattacharya PP, Arozullah A, Shah MA. Zolbetuximab + CAPOX in 1L claudin-18.2+ (CLDN18.2+)/HER2- locally advanced (LA) or metastatic gastric or gastroesophageal junction (mG/GEJ) adenocarcinoma: Primary phase 3 results from GLOW. J Clin Oncol 2023; 41: 405736-405736 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2023.41.36 suppl.405736]
- Jiang H, Shi Z, Wang P, Wang C, Yang L, Du G, Zhang H, Shi B, Jia J, Li Q, Wang H, Li Z. Claudin 18.2-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor 85 Engineered T Cells for the Treatment of Gastric Cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2019; 111: 409-418 [PMID: 30203099 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djy134]
- Hayakawa Y, Sakitani K, Konishi M, Asfaha S, Niikura R, Tomita H, Renz BW, Tailor Y, Macchini M, Middelhoff M, Jiang Z, Tanaka T, 86 Dubeykovskaya ZA, Kim W, Chen X, Urbanska AM, Nagar K, Westphalen CB, Quante M, Lin CS, Gershon MD, Hara A, Zhao CM, Chen D, Worthley DL, Koike K, Wang TC. Nerve Growth Factor Promotes Gastric Tumorigenesis through Aberrant Cholinergic Signaling. Cancer Cell 2017; 31: 21-34 [PMID: 27989802 DOI: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.11.005]
- 87 Hata M, Kinoshita H, Hayakawa Y, Konishi M, Tsuboi M, Oya Y, Kurokawa K, Hayata Y, Nakagawa H, Tateishi K, Fujiwara H, Hirata Y, Worthley DL, Muranishi Y, Furukawa T, Kon S, Tomita H, Wang TC, Koike K. GPR30-Expressing Gastric Chief Cells Do Not Dedifferentiate But Are Eliminated via PDK-Dependent Cell Competition During Development of Metaplasia. Gastroenterology 2020; 158: 1650-1666.e15 [PMID: 32032583 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.01.046]
- Oya Y, Hayakawa Y, Koike K. Tumor microenvironment in gastric cancers. Cancer Sci 2020; 111: 2696-2707 [PMID: 32519436 DOI: 88 10.1111/cas.14521]
- 89 van Eck NJ, Waltman L. Software survey: VOSviewer, a computer program for bibliometric mapping. Scientometrics 2010; 84: 523-538 [PMID: 20585380 DOI: 10.1007/s11192-009-0146-3]
- Babic A. Knowledge discovery for advanced clinical data management and analysis. Stud Health Technol Inform 1999; 68: 409-413 [PMID: 90 10724916]
- Synnestvedt MB, Chen C, Holmes JH. CiteSpace II: visualization and knowledge discovery in bibliographic databases. AMIA Annu Symp 91 Proc 2005; 2005: 724-728 [PMID: 16779135]
- 92 Yao Z, Lin Z, Wu W. Global research trends on immunotherapy in cancer: A bibliometric analysis. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2023; 19: 2219191 [PMID: 37314453 DOI: 10.1080/21645515.2023.2219191]
- Chen J, Xu Z, Hu C, Zhang S, Zi M, Yuan L, Cheng X. Targeting CLDN18.2 in cancers of the gastrointestinal tract: New drugs and new 93 indications. Front Oncol 2023; 13: 1132319 [PMID: 36969060 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2023.1132319]
- Guo Y, Chu HZ, Xu JG. Research progress of immune heckpoint LAG-3 in gastric cancer: a narrative review. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 94 2023; 27: 248-255 [PMID: 36647874 DOI: 10.26355/eurrev 202301 30906]



WŨ

### World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 794-798

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.794

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

EDITORIAL

### Immune signature of small bowel adenocarcinoma and the role of tumor microenvironment

Grigorios Christodoulidis, Marina Nektaria Kouliou, Konstantinos Eleftherios Koumarelas

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Stan FG, Romania

Received: November 23, 2023 Peer-review started: November 23, 2023 First decision: January 5, 2024 Revised: January 13, 2024 Accepted: January 30, 2024 Article in press: January 30, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



Grigorios Christodoulidis, Marina Nektaria Kouliou, Konstantinos Eleftherios Koumarelas, Department of General Surgery, University Hospital of Larissa, Larissa 41110, Greece

Corresponding author: Grigorios Christodoulidis, PhD, Doctor, Editor-in-Chief, Department of General Surgery, University Hospital of Larissa, Mezourlo, Larissa 41110, Greece. gregsurg09@gmail.com

### Abstract

In this editorial we comment on the article published "Clinical significance of programmed cell death-ligand expression in small bowel adenocarcinoma is determined by the tumor microenvironment". Small bowel adenocarcinoma (SBA) is a rare gastrointestinal neoplasm and despite the small intestine's significant surface area, SBA accounts for less than 3% of such tumors. Early detection is challenging and the reason arises from its asymptomatic nature, often leading to late-stage discovery and poor prognosis. Treatment involves platinum-based chemotherapy with a 5-fluorouracil combination, but the lack of effective chemotherapy contributes to a generally poor prognosis. SBAs are linked to genetic disorders and risk factors, including chronic inflammatory conditions. The unique characteristics of the small bowel, such as rapid cell renewal and an active immune system, contributes to the rarity of these tumors as well as the high intratumoral infiltration of immune cells is associated with a favorable prognosis. Programmed cell death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) expression varies across different cancers, with potential discrepancies in its prognostic value. Microsatellite instability (MSI) in SBA is associated with a high tumor mutational burden, affecting the prognosis and response to immunotherapy. The presence of PD-L1 and programmed cell death 1, along with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, plays a crucial role in the complex microenvironment of SBA and contributes to a more favorable prognosis, especially in the context of high MSI tumors. Stromal tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes are identified as independent prognostic indicators and the association between MSI status and a favorable prognosis, emphasizes the importance of evaluating the immune status of tumors for treatment decisions.

Key Words: Programmed cell death 1; Programmed cell death-ligand 1; Programmed death ligand; Small bowel adenocarcinoma; Tumor infiltrating lymphocytes; Tumor microenvironment; Microsatellite instability

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



**Core Tip:** Small bowel adenocarcinoma (SBA) is an uncommon gastrointestinal tumor, accounting for fewer than 3% of all cases, even though it constitutes 95% of the gastrointestinal tract. SBA, which is mostly located in the duodenum, typically goes undetected for a long period of time, resulting to a late-stage discovery and a dismal prognosis. The immunological response, consisting of CD4+ and CD8+ T-lymphocytes, is critical in determining the prognosis. Programmed cell death 1/programmed cell death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) pathway, which is known to be involved in immune evasion in cancer, is implicated in SBA, with PD-L1 expression to a variety of prognostic consequences. The complicated interaction of immunological components, including as TILs and regulatory T cells, emphasizes the complexities of SBA.

Citation: Christodoulidis G, Kouliou MN, Koumarelas KE. Immune signature of small bowel adenocarcinoma and the role of tumor microenvironment. World J Gastroenterol 2024; 30(8): 794-798 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/794.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.794

### INTRODUCTION

Small bowel adenocarcinoma (SBA) is an uncommon condition, accounting for less than 3% of all gastrointestinal neoplasms. Its rarity comes in contrast with the facts that small intestine constitutes 95% of the surface area of the entire gastrointestinal tract. Adenocarcinomas, constituting around 40% of malignant small bowel tumors, predominantly manifest in the duodenum, with a notable prevalence of 50%-55% [1-4]. SBA presents a challenge in terms of early detection, as it is frequently asymptomatic for an extended period (2 to 8 months), leading to late-stage discovery and poor prognosis. Its detection often arises from complications such as intestinal perforation, ileus, and unbridled gastrointestinal hemorrhaging and by the time of the diagnosis, nearly one-third of individuals are presented with distant metastasis and an advances stage [1,2,5-7]. However, the advanced stage of the diagnosis and the lack of effective chemotherapy lead to a poor prognosis. In terms of treatment options, platinum-based combination chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil is commonly used and mostly palliatively, and five-year overall survival (OS) rate reaches as high as 30% for locally advanced tumors[3,8].

Malignant small bowel tumors, are often associated with genetic disorders such as familial adenomatous polyposis, Lynch syndrome, Peutz-Jeghers syndrome, and juvenile polyposis, or risk factors including chronic inflammatory conditions like Crohn's disease and coeliac disease, along with environmental factors like smoking, alcohol, and certain dietary habits [2,9-11]. The tumorigenesis of SBAs is believed to align with colorectal cancer (CRC), although chronic inflammation may lead to a distinct sequence of inflammation-dysplasia-adenocarcinoma in some cases [2,12]. The small bowel's unique characteristics, including rapid epithelial cell renewal, preventing the accumulation of genetic damage, an active immune surveillance as it is the largest organ of the immune system, contribute to the rarity of these tumors. High intratumoral infiltration of CD3+ and CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocytes, along with the presence of tertiary lymphoid structures, is associated with a favorable prognosis[1,2]. Moreover, microsatellite instability (MSI) in SBA, varies between 5% and 35%, exhibiting a high tumor mutational burden, potentially contributing to the unique characteristics of these cancers[2,3,9].

Evading immune surveillance through the Programmed cell death 1 (PD-1)/programmed cell death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) pathway is a hallmark of cancer. PD-L1, a key player in modulating the tumor microenvironment (TME), is upregulated in various solid tumors, including gastrointestinal cancers[1,2]. Studies have shown the efficacy of blocking the PD-1/PD-L1 signaling pathway in gastrointestinal cancers with high MSI (MSI-H), establishing a significant association between MSI-H and PD-L1 expression in SBA[1]. Interestingly, the relationship between PD-L1 expression and prognosis in gastric and CRC remains contentious. While some studies suggest a favorable prognosis associated with PD-L1 expression, others indicate a poorer prognosis in these cancers, with the effectiveness of anti-PD-L1/PD-1 therapy relying on tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), mainly composed of CD8+ T cells[1,2]. The abundance of TILs has been linked to improved survival, emphasizing the crucial role of the immune system in combating small bowel cancers[2]. However, the presence of regulatory T cells, characterized by the expression of FoxP3, within TILs introduces an immunosuppressive element, potentially hindering the efficacy of therapy. A high ratio of FoxP3+ to CD8+ T cells is correlated with poor clinical outcomes in digestive system cancers[1]. In this Editorial we elaborate on the TME, the infiltration of immune cells and the immune status of the tumor, stromal and immune cells.

### THE ROLE OF PD-1, PD-L1 AND TILS IN SMALL BOWEL ADENOCARCINOMA

PD-1 is an immunoinhibitory receptor expressed on the surface of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, B cells, natural killer cells, and monocytes. Its binding to PD-L1 Leads to the inhibition of immune suppression in these cells. Tumors expressing PD-L1 are considered immune-active, generating an immunosuppressive microenvironment. Consequently, PD-L1-positive tumors may be associated with a poor prognosis[1,13].

Given that the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway provides a potential immune escape route for tumors, an increase in PD-L1 expression is anticipated in advanced disease. Although PD-1/PD-L1 expression is expected to suppress the immune reaction against tumors, reports on the prognostic value of PD-L1 expression vary across different cancer types [2,3]. PD-



Paichidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

L1 expression has been shown to correlate with a poor prognosis in esophageal cancer, pancreatic carcinoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, renal cell carcinoma, and ovarian cancer. However, in breast cancer and Merkel cell carcinoma, PD-L1 has been found to correlate with a better patient outcome. For lung cancer, melanoma, gastric cancer, and CRC, both positive and negative prediction values have been reported [2,13,14]. One potential reason for this discrepancy in results may be attributed to the wide variation in the definition of PD-L1 positivity, with the cutoff for positive staining ranging from 1% to 50%. Nevertheless, the mere existence of PD-1/PD-L1 factors allows for the possibility of utilizing targeted immunotherapy in the context of precision medicine.

Microsatellite unstable tumors are characterized by an extensive mutational load, resulting in truncating mutations identified by immune surveillance due to misfolded proteins serving as neoantigens[2,15,16]. This leads to an enhanced antitumoral immune reaction and, consequently, improved survival. MSI status is linked to a high number of PD-1 positive immune cells and PD-L1 expression in immune cells[2,3].

PD-L1 can be expressed by tumor cells (PD-L1TC) or peritumoral inflammatory cells, predominantly histiocytes. PD-L1 expression in tumor cells ranges from 25% to 43%, while in tumor-infiltrating immune cells, it can reach as high as 54% [1,3,9,13]. PD-L1 expression is also increased in MSI tumors (86%) compared to those with microsatellite stable (MSS, 21%). Furthermore, PD-L1 expression is associated with the underlying cause of the tumor. Giuffrida *et al*[17] observed that when SBA is associated with coeliac disease or Crohn's disease, the expression is around 35%, while in sporadic cases of SBA, the expression is only 5%. Increased PD-L1TC is associated with a deeper depth of invasion (P < 0.005), increased infiltration of T-lymphocytes (CD3+, CD4+, and CD8+), and a 5-year OS of 74%, compared with PD-L1 negative SBAs[1,3, 13]. The appearance of PD-L1 in tumor-infiltrating immune cells leads to a better prognosis, reducing the probability of peritoneal metastasis (P < 0.05), increasing the 5-year Disease-Specific Survival to 81%, compared to 33%, and the OS to 74% *vs* 27% in PD-L1 negative cases[2]. Thota *et al*[3] observed that 72% of patients with PD-L1 expression in immune cells had necrosis in the invasion border[3]. Moreover, Klose *et al*[13] support that the absence of PD-L1 in SBAs is correlated with female gender, increased tumor recurrence, metastasis, higher staging, and higher rates of postoperative administration of chemotherapy[13].

PD-1 expression is also increased in SBAs, especially in MSI-H tumors. According to Wirta *et al*[2] and Thota *et al*[3], all MSI-H tumors showed increased expression of PD-1, whereas only 75% of MSS tumors did[2,3]. This is directly related to a smaller tumor-node-metastasis (TNM) staging, with only 9% of patients in stage IV and 42% reported to have stage I or II, positively affecting the OS of the patients[2,9]. However, MSI is present in around 32% of SBA patients, and MSI-H varies from 10% to 21.7%, altering the appearance of PD-1, as MSI, in general, is related to PD-1 expression only in 37.5% of cases[13,18,19]. The 5-year OS in patients with MSI is 60%, while in patients with MSS, it is 54%. Pedersen *et al*[19] in the second phase of their multicenter study, using Pembrolizumab in patients with advanced SBA, observed that 2 patients with MSI-H had a confirmed partial response (50%), while only one (3%) from the MSS/MSI-Low group had a confirmed partial response, and 1 had an unconfirmed response. The responders had an average duration of response of 28.5 months in the MSI-H group and 17.5% in the MSS/MSI-Low group[19]. MSI status, along with PD-1 and PD-L1 expression, may be a helpful predictor for the prognosis of patients and for treatment selection.

TILs play a crucial role in the complex microenvironment of SBA. These specialized immune cells are found within the tumor tissue and are integral components of the host's anti-tumor response. In SBA, the presence and activity of TILs are of particular interest, as they are implicated in both the progression and potential control of the disease. In particular, the appearance of CD8+ TILs in the tumor or the stroma is correlated with less lymph node (LN) metastasis, fewer distant metastases, less peritoneal seeding, and an earlier TNM stage (P < 0.005)[1]. Increased percentages of TILs are also correlated with the infiltration of B cells, dendritic cells, and natural killer cells, enhancing the immune response. Along those lines, T-reg and T-helper cells might also be present, regulating the immune response and leading to a worse prognosis[5,20,21]. FoxP3 T-reg cells are associated with deeper depth of invasion, but this association is not significant. However, the increased ratio of FoxP3 to CD8+ cells is significantly associated with a worse prognosis, peritoneal, LN, and distant metastasis (P < 0.005)[1]. Moreover, low percentages of CD8+ cells lead to peritoneal seeding (P = 0.003), worsening the prognosis[9]. Parkes *et al*[14] observed that infiltration of CD3+, CD4+, and CD8+ T-cells leads to a better progression-free survival rate (P < 0.005), and CD8+ cells are also associated with increased OS, although the *P*-value was more than 0.05[14]. According to the multicenter cohort of Noh *et al*[9], the best prognosis was observed in patients with high PD-L1 and high CD8+ TILs in SBA[9].

### CONCLUSION

The presence of PD-L1 and PD-1 in SBAs, in contrast to other cancer types, contributes to a more favorable prognosis. Patients with SBA and MSI-H tumors exhibit superior OS rates compared to those with MSS tumors. Similarly, individuals with elevated stromal tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte (sTIL) levels in SBA demonstrate extended OS times, establishing sTIL as a robust independent prognostic indicator. Furthermore, MSI status is closely associated with a favorable prognosis, particularly in the context of MSI-H tumors, and is directly correlated with PD-1 expression. The calculation of a Combined Positive Score is pivotal for evaluating the immune status of tumors and establishing a pertinent cut-off value for the treatment of patients with anti-PD-1/PD-L1 factors.

### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Christodoulidis G, Kouliou MN and Koumarelas KE contributed to this paper; Christodoulidis G designed the overall concept and outline of the manuscript; Christodoulidis G, Kouliou MN and Koumarelas KE contributed to the discussion and design of the manuscript; Christodoulidis G, Koumarelas KE and Kouliou MN contributed to the writing, editing the manuscript, and review of literature.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Greece

ORCID number: Grigorios Christodoulidis 0000-0003-3413-0666; Marina Nektaria Kouliou 0000-0002-2055-2297; Konstantinos Eleftherios Koumarelas 0000-0002-5614-4770.

S-Editor: Li L L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

### REFERENCES

- Hoshimoto A, Tatsuguchi A, Hamakubo R, Nishimoto T, Omori J, Akimoto N, Tanaka S, Fujimori S, Hatori T, Shimizu A, Iwakiri K. Clinical 1 significance of programmed cell death-ligand expression in small bowel adenocarcinoma is determined by the tumor microenvironment. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29: 5566-5581 [PMID: 37970475 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i40.5566]
- Wirta EV, Szeto S, Hänninen U, Ahtiainen M, Böhm J, Mecklin JP, Aaltonen LA, Seppälä TT. Prognostic Value of Immune Environment 2 Analysis in Small Bowel Adenocarcinomas with Verified Mutational Landscape and Predisposing Conditions. Cancers (Basel) 2020; 12 [PMID: 32718028 DOI: 10.3390/cancers12082018]
- Thota R, Gonzalez RS, Berlin J, Cardin DB, Shi C. Could the PD-1 Pathway Be a Potential Target for Treating Small Intestinal 3 Adenocarcinoma? Am J Clin Pathol 2017; 148: 208-214 [PMID: 28821192 DOI: 10.1093/AJCP/AQX070]
- 4 Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2015. CA Cancer J Clin 2015; 65: 5-29 [PMID: 25559415 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21254]
- Feng J, Tang X, Song L, Zhou Z, Jiang Y, Huang Y. Potential biomarkers and immune characteristics of small bowel adenocarcinoma. Sci Rep 5 2022; 12: 16204 [PMID: 36171259 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-022-20599-5]
- 6 Aparicio T, Pachev A, Laurent-Puig P, Svrcek M. Epidemiology, Risk Factors and Diagnosis of Small Bowel Adenocarcinoma. Cancers (Basel) 2022; 14 [PMID: 35565398 DOI: 10.3390/cancers14092268]
- Lech G, Korcz W, Kowalczyk E, Słotwiński R, Słodkowski M. Primary small bowel adenocarcinoma: current view on clinical features, risk 7 and prognostic factors, treatment and outcome. Scand J Gastroenterol 2017; 52: 1194-1202 [PMID: 28737049 DOI: 10.1080/00365521.2017.1356932]
- Gelsomino F, Balsano R, De Lorenzo S, Garajová I. Small Bowel Adenocarcinoma: From Molecular Insights to Clinical Management. Curr 8 Oncol 2022; 29: 1223-1236 [PMID: 35200603 DOI: 10.3390/curroncol29020104]
- 9 Noh BJ, Hong SM, Jun SY, Eom DW. Prognostic implications of immune classification in a multicentre cohort of patients with small intestinal adenocarcinoma. Pathology 2020; 52: 228-235 [PMID: 31685233 DOI: 10.1016/j.pathol.2019.09.004]
- Shenoy S. Genetic risks and familial associations of small bowel carcinoma. World J Gastrointest Oncol 2016; 8: 509-519 [PMID: 27326320 10 DOI: 10.4251/wjgo.v8.i6.509]
- Bennett CM, Coleman HG, Veal PG, Cantwell MM, Lau CC, Murray LJ. Lifestyle factors and small intestine adenocarcinoma risk: A 11 systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer Epidemiol 2015; 39: 265-273 [PMID: 25736860 DOI: 10.1016/j.canep.2015.02.001]
- 12 Maguire A, Sheahan K. Primary small bowel adenomas and adenocarcinomas-recent advances. Virchows Arch 2018; 473: 265-273 [PMID: 29998424 DOI: 10.1007/s00428-018-2400-7]
- Klose J, Lasitschka F, Horsch C, Strowitzki MJ, Bruckner T, Volz C, Schmidt T, Schneider M. Prognostic relevance of programmed death-13 ligand 1 expression and microsatellite status in small bowel adenocarcinoma. Scand J Gastroenterol 2020; 55: 321-329 [PMID: 32191146 DOI: 10.1080/00365521.2020.17340731
- Parkes EE, Savage KI, Lioe T, Boyd C, Halliday S, Walker SM, Lowry K, Knight L, Buckley NE, Grogan A, Logan GE, Clayton A, Hurwitz 14 J, Kirk SJ, Xu J, Sidi FA, Humphries MP, Bingham V; Neo-DDIR Investigators, James JA, James CR, Paul Harkin D, Kennedy RD, McIntosh SA. Activation of a cGAS-STING-mediated immune response predicts response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer. Br J Cancer 2022; 126: 247-258 [PMID: 34728791 DOI: 10.1038/s41416-021-01599-0]
- Tran E, Ahmadzadeh M, Lu YC, Gros A, Turcotte S, Robbins PF, Gartner JJ, Zheng Z, Li YF, Ray S, Wunderlich JR, Somerville RP, 15 Rosenberg SA. Immunogenicity of somatic mutations in human gastrointestinal cancers. Science 2015; 350: 1387-1390 [PMID: 26516200] DOI: 10.1126/science.aad1253]
- Schrock AB, Devoe CE, McWilliams R, Sun J, Aparicio T, Stephens PJ, Ross JS, Wilson R, Miller VA, Ali SM, Overman MJ. Genomic 16 Profiling of Small-Bowel Adenocarcinoma. JAMA Oncol 2017; 3: 1546-1553 [PMID: 28617917 DOI: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.1051]
- Giuffrida P, Arpa G, Grillo F, Klersy C, Sampietro G, Ardizzone S, Fociani P, Fiocca R, Latella G, Sessa F, D'Errico A, Malvi D, Mescoli C, 17 Rugge M, Nesi G, Ferrero S, Furlan D, Poggioli G, Rizzello F, Macciomei MC, Santini D, Volta U, De Giorgio R, Caio G, Calabrò A, Ciacci C, D'Armiento M, Rizzo A, Solina G, Martino M, Tonelli F, Villanacci V, Cannizzaro R, Canzonieri V, Florena AM, Biancone L, Monteleone



G, Caronna R, Ciardi A, Elli L, Caprioli F, Vecchi M, D'Incà R, Zingone F, D'Odorico A, Lenti MV, Oreggia B, Reggiani Bonetti L, Astegiano M, Biletta E, Cantoro L, Giannone AG, Orlandi A, Papi C, Perfetti V, Quaquarini E, Sandri G, Silano M, Usai P, Barresi V, Ciccocioppo R, Luinetti O, Pedrazzoli P, Pietrabissa A, Viglio A, Paulli M, Corazza GR, Solcia E, Vanoli A, Di Sabatino A. PD-L1 in small bowel adenocarcinoma is associated with etiology and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, in addition to microsatellite instability. Mod Pathol 2020; 33: 1398-1409 [PMID: 32066859 DOI: 10.1038/s41379-020-0497-0]

- Jun SY, Park ES, Lee JJ, Chang HK, Jung ES, Oh YH, Hong SM. Prognostic Significance of Stromal and Intraepithelial Tumor-Infiltrating 18 Lymphocytes in Small Intestinal Adenocarcinoma. Am J Clin Pathol 2020; 153: 105-118 [PMID: 31576398 DOI: 10.1093/ajcp/aqz136]
- Pedersen KS, Foster NR, Overman MJ, Boland PM, Kim SS, Arrambide KA, Jaszewski BL, Bekaii-Saab T, Graham RP, Welch J, Wilson RH, 19 McWilliams RR. ZEBRA: A Multicenter Phase II Study of Pembrolizumab in Patients with Advanced Small-Bowel Adenocarcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 2021; 27: 3641-3648 [PMID: 33883178 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-21-0159]
- 20 Aristin Revilla S, Kranenburg O, Coffer PJ. Colorectal Cancer-Infiltrating Regulatory T Cells: Functional Heterogeneity, Metabolic Adaptation, and Therapeutic Targeting. Front Immunol 2022; 13: 903564 [PMID: 35874729 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.903564]
- 21 Saleh R, Elkord E. FoxP3(+) T regulatory cells in cancer: Prognostic biomarkers and therapeutic targets. Cancer Lett 2020; 490: 174-185 [PMID: 32721551 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2020.07.022]



WŨ

### World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 799-805

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.799

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

EDITORIAL

### Management of autoimmune hepatitis induced by hepatitis delta virus

### Eleni Gigi, Vasileios Lagopoulos, Aris Liakos

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Wang K, China

Received: December 7, 2023 Peer-review started: December 7, 2023 First decision: December 21, 2023 Revised: January 2, 2024 Accepted: January 30, 2024 Article in press: January 30, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



Eleni Gigi, Hepatology Unit, The Second Internal Medicine Department, Aristotle University Medical School, Hippokrateio General Hospital, Thessaloniki 54642, Greece

Vasileios Lagopoulos, Department of Surgical, AHEPA General Hospital of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki 54636, Greece

Aris Liakos, Clinical Research and Evidence-Based Medicine Unit, Second Medical Department, Hippokratio General Hospital, Aristotle University Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki 54642, Greece

Corresponding author: Eleni Gigi, MD, PhD, Academic Research, Assistant Professor, Hepatology Unit, The Second Internal Medicine Department, Aristotle University Medical School, Hippokrateio General Hospital, 49 Konstantinoupoleos, Thessaloniki 54642, Greece. elengigi@auth.gr

### Abstract

Approximately 12-72 million people worldwide are co-infected with hepatitis B virus (HBV) and hepatitis delta virus (HDV). This concurrent infection can lead to several severe outcomes with hepatic disease, such as cirrhosis, fulminant hepatitis, and hepatocellular carcinoma, being the most common. Over the past few decades, a correlation between viral hepatitis and autoimmune diseases has been reported. Furthermore, autoantibodies have been detected in the serum of patients co-infected with HBV/HDV, and autoimmune features have been reported. However, to date, very few cases of clinically significant autoimmune hepatitis (AIH) have been reported in patients with HDV infection, mainly in those who have received treatment with pegylated interferon. Interestingly, there are some patients with HBV infection and AIH in whom HDV infection is unearthed after receiving treatment with immunosuppressants. Consequently, several questions remain unanswered with the challenge to distinguish whether it is autoimmune or "autoimmune-like" hepatitis being the most crucial. Second, it remains uncertain whether autoimmunity is induced by HBV or delta virus. Finally, we investigated whether the cause of AIH lies in the previous treatment of HDV with pegylated interferon. These pressing issues should be elucidated to clarify whether new antiviral treatments for HDV, such as Bulevirtide or immunosuppressive drugs, are more appropriate for the management of patients with HDV and AIH.

Key Words: Autoimmune hepatitis; Hepatitis delta virus; Bulevirtide; Prednisolone



### ©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** There are some pressing issues that should be elucidated in order to clarify whether new antiviral treatments for hepatitis delta virus (HDV), such as Bulevirtide, or immunosuppressive drugs, are more appropriate for the management of patients with HDV and autoimmune hepatitis (AIH). Firstly, several questions remain unanswered with the challenge to distinguish whether it is autoimmune or "autoimmune-like" hepatitis being the most crucial. Secondly, it yet remains uncertain whether autoimmunity is induced by the hepatitis B virus or the Delta virus. Finally, if the cause of AIH lies on the previous treatment of HDV with pegylated interferon.

Citation: Gigi E, Lagopoulos V, Liakos A. Management of autoimmune hepatitis induced by hepatitis delta virus. World J Gastroenterol 2024; 30(8): 799-805

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/799.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.799

### INTRODUCTION

Hepatitis delta virus (HDV) was first recognized back in late 1970s as new antigen in the serum of hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) positive patients, termed  $\delta$ , whilst subsequent clinical trials in chimpanzees proved its existence in 1980 [1]. HDV, the smallest pathogenic virus in human virology, consists of a circular single-stranded negative RNA genome and two types of hepatitis delta antigens, small and large (L-HDAg and S-HDAg, respectively), enveloped by HBsAg. Eight HDV genotypes with various geographical distributions were identified. With HBsAg on its surface, HDV enters hepatocytes via sodium taurocholate co-transporting polypeptide (NTCP). Genomic HDVRNA then moves to the nucleus, where it replicates via a rolling-circle mechanism. During replication, two species of HDAg (L-HDAg and S-HDAg) are formed: S-HDAg triggers further replication of the virus, while L-HDAg inhibits replication and promotes virion packaging through farnesylation<sup>[2]</sup>. Many clinical studies have shown that HDV infection most often causes progressive liver disease more rapidly than other viral hepatitis, leading to liver cirrhosis in 70% of cases within 5 to 10 years[3]. Furthermore, HDV is independently associated with an increased risk of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) than hepatitis B virus (HBV) monoinfection<sup>[4]</sup> and has been associated with the development of autoimmune hepatitis (AIH), as in the serum of HBV/HDV co-infected patients, positive autoantibodies have been detected, and autoimmune features have been reported[5].

### AIH

AIH is an immune-mediated inflammatory disease of the liver, characterized by circulating autoantibodies, increased concentrations of immunoglobulin G (IgG), and specific histological features [6]. The origin of the disease is presumed to be a loss of immunologic tolerance against hepatocytes induced by environmental factors, but also triggered by specific viral infections (Hepatitis B, C, E, A, and Epstein-Barr), genetic factors, exposure to certain drugs (e.g., nitrofurantoin, minocycline), and some individual risk factors (e.g., sex, age, hormonal status, and comorbidities)[7]. The clinical presentation can be extremely heterogeneous, ranging from asymptomatic disease to fulminant hepatitis, leading to acute liver failure, with the acute onset of AIH being the most frequent pattern worldwide[7]. AIH can be classified into two types according to the pattern of autoantibodies detected. AIH type 1 is characterized by the presence of antinuclear antibodies (ANA) and/or smooth muscle autoantibodies (SMA) and sometimes perinuclear anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies (p-ANCA). AIH type 2 is characterized by the presence of antibodies against kidney microsome-1 (anti-LKM1), anti-LKM 3, and/or liver cytosolic type 1[8].

### Diagnosis of AIH

AIH is diagnosed based on clinical, serological, and histological data. Clinical data may include nonspecific symptoms such as fatigue, arthralgia, malaise, amenorrhea, or symptoms and signs of hepatic cirrhosis. Laboratory findings included high concentrations of aminotransferases, detection of the specific autoantibodies mentioned above, and hypergammaglobulinemia (IgG). The histological features of AIH are not typical, as they are similar to those observed in active chronic hepatitis, mainly portal lymphoplasmacytic inflammation with interfacial activity and variable degrees of lobular hepatitis, emperipolesis, and hepatocyte rosettes [7,8]. Although imaging studies have a limited role in the diagnosis of AIH, they are useful for the assessment of liver complications, progression to cirrhosis, and screening for HCC. Currently, imaging is used worldwide to evaluate liver disease progression in patients with AIH. Ultrasound elastography is the most useful noninvasive tool for monitoring patients treated for AIH[9].

### Treatment of AIH

Once AIH is diagnosed, treatment is initiated. In most cases, untreated AIH may lead to liver failure and death within



five years of onset, whereas properly treated patients have an excellent prognosis. The aim of treatment for AIH is to achieve and maintain disease remission and symptom resolution, thus halting or even reversing liver damage and fibrosis. However, treatment may cause serious side effects and significant impairment of quality of life. Therefore, an individualized approach is required, taking into consideration not only disease-related factors (inflammatory activity and stage of fibrosis), but also patient characteristics and values (such as life expectancy, comorbidities, living conditions, and patients' personal preferences).

Steroids remain the cornerstone of AIH remission, which is defined as a full biochemical response (normalization of both transaminases and IgG concentrations). The recommended initial dosage varies depending mostly on the profile of the patient and/or the stage of AIH. Starting with a dose of 0.5 mg/kg/d seems to have comparable efficacy to the widely accepted initial dose of 1.0 mg/kg/d, with a slightly slower response rate but fewer side effects; thus, doses higher than 0.5 mg/kg/d of prednisolone should be reserved only for severe acute disease. The response to steroid therapy is usually rapid, as transaminase concentrations start falling within a week, while IgG levels subside more slowly due to their prolonged half-life. Steroid tapering should be started as soon as signs of a biochemical response are observed, usually in steps of 5 mg every week, down to 10 mg of prednisolone per day, until a complete biochemical response is achieved. Budesonide can be used as an alternative to prednisolone, showing a slightly slower response and fewer side effects[10, 11].

Although steroids are regarded as first-line treatment, azathioprine is used for maintenance as a corticosteroid-sparing regimen. Azathioprine can induce sustained remission while reducing the side effects of steroid therapy. Therefore, azathioprine should be administered as early as possible following the initial response, usually 7 d to 14 d after steroid treatment. Azathioprine should also be started at a low dose to avoid intolerance; the recommended dose is 50 mg/d, with careful monitoring of side effects, including full blood counts taken every 1 wk to 2 wk. If no side effect is observed, the dose of azathioprine should then be increased to 1-2 mg/kg/d. Once a complete biochemical response is achieved, immunosuppressive therapy should be titrated to the level required to retain the full response, with steroids preferably tapered out completely. In case of relapse during tapering, steroids should be reintroduced at slightly higher dose[12,13]. For patients who cannot tolerate azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) can be used as an alternative agent at the usual dose of 2 g/d[14]. Finally, if the response to MMF is inadequate, multiple salvage therapies have been described, including cyclosporine, tacrolimus, and other immunomodulatory agents (methotrexate, cyclophosphamide, rituximab, and infliximab). Nevertheless, none of the aforementioned agents have been assessed in controlled clinical trials. Therefore, evidence for third-line treatment options remains scarce, and these patients should be preferably managed in large-volume centers with sufficient expertise in AIH[6].

The treatment duration of for AIH is controversial. Considering that AIH is an idiopathic disease that develops in a background of genetic susceptibility, most patients require long-term, most likely lifelong, therapy. Only 10%-20% of patients with AIH can safely discontinue immunosuppressive therapy and maintain remission. Withdrawal of immunosuppressive agents can be attempted when a complete biochemical response has been achieved for more than two years on monotherapy, with alanine transaminase concentrations in the lower range of normal values and IgG concentrations below 12 g/L. As there is a high chance of relapse, patients with complete treatment withdrawal should be closely monitored, especially in the first six months. Late relapses can also occur decades after sustained remission, highlighting the need for lifelong surveillance in virtually all patients[13].

However, there are certain patients for whom immunosuppressive treatment is contraindicated, including cases of AIH with an acute onset and rapid progression to fulminant liver disease or patients who already have end-stage liver disease at the time of diagnosis. In both cases, liver transplantation was the only treatment option[7].

### AIH INDUCED BY HDV

The association of HDV with positive autoantibodies and autoimmune features has been suspected for years, although it was initially suggested that hepatitis delta is directly cytopathic and that liver injury is not immunologically mediated [15]. It remains debatable whether the autoimmune features derive from previous treatment with pegylated interferon or whether HDV induces autoimmunity through molecular mimicry and bystander activation. Considerable research has been conducted on the role of HBV in inducing autoimmunity[16]. Most antibodies used for viral hepatitis are nondisease-specific or non-organ-specific (NOSA). These antibodies include ANA, anti-SMA, anti-LKM1, anti-mitochondrial antibodies, and anti-soluble liver antigen/liver-pancreas antibodies. In a recent study, Hermanussen et al[16] identified and analyzed three different cohorts: Forty-six patients with AIH, 42 patients with HDV, and 70 patients with HBV. They found that positive NOSA titers were more frequent in AIH than in HDV (96% vs 69%) but more frequent in HDV than in HBV (69% vs 43%). With respect to individual antibodies, ANA titers were more frequent in patients with AIH than in those with HDV (89% vs 76%). In addition, higher titers  $\geq$  1:320 were noted in 63% of patients with AIH compared with 28% in the HDV cohort. Compared to patients with HBV, ANA titers were more commonly elevated in patients with HDV co-infection (HDV 67% vs HBV 43%). No difference was noted in ANA titers between patients with and without detectable HDV-RNA. The same trend was observed for SMA titers, which were more frequently encountered in AIH patients than in HDV and HBV patients (AIH 50% vs HDV 16% vs HBV 3%). Patients with detectable HDV-RNA RNAtested positive more frequently, and the titers were higher than those in patients with undetectable HDVRNA. Finally, IgG levels increased in 73%, 54% of patients with HDV and 12% of patients with AIH, HDV, and HBV[16]. In addition to this study, previous reports have shown a positive correlation between pegylated interferon treatment in HBV patients and the induction of AIH in approximately 25%-40% [17]. Furthermore, isolated cases of patients with hepatitis delta have shown that AIH is also observed after treatment with pegylated interferon[18]. In contrast, a case of HDV-

RNA flare has been reported in a previously negative patient who received immunosuppressive treatment for AIH[5].

### TREATMENT OF CHRONIC HEPATITIS DELTA

Until recently, the management of chronic hepatitis delta (CHD) was encompassed within the HBV guidelines, as CHD was recognized as an HBV-dependent rare disease. It has even been designated an orphan disease because it affects only a small fraction of hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg)-positive patients. Advancements in the knowledge of HDV pathogenesis and the HDV life cycle have led to the identification of new therapeutic targets. For the first time since the discovery of HDV in the 70's, HDV-specific antiviral agents have undergone Phase III clinical trials. Bulevirtide (BLV) was the first HDV-specific antiviral agent to receive marketing authorization from the EMA in July 2020. Owing to the complexity of CHD clinical management on the one hand and the newly available knowledge and therapeutic perspectives, the European Association for the Study of the Liver (EASL) commissioned the first international clinical practice guideline (CPG)[19] on the management of HDV-infected patients, which was first announced during the EASL meeting in June 2023.

### Pegylated Interferon a

According to the EASL CPG2023, pegylated interferon (PegIFNα) remains a therapeutic option and is recommended for all patients with CHD and compensated liver disease, irrespective of the presence of cirrhosis, for 48 wk (LoE 2, strong recommendation, consensus)[19]. PegIFN $\alpha$  is associated with a decline in both HBV and HDV markers, and recent studies have shown that it significantly reduces HDV-RNA when administered in the early stages of infection[20], suggesting an inhibitory effect on viral entry and suppression of cell division-mediated HDV spread[21]. In contrast, a recent metaanalysis of 13 studies reported a virological response at 24 wk post-treatment in only 29% of patients receiving PegIFNa, and that 50% of these patients developed virological relapse later, up to 10 years after the end of treatment[22,23].

### BLV

BLV is a synthetic myristoylated lipopeptide consisting of 47 amino acids in the preS1 domain of the HBV large surface protein that blocks the attachment of HBsAg to the cell entry receptor, NTCP[24]. It has recently been recommended for all patients with CHD and compensated liver disease (LoE 3, strong recommendation and consensus). The optimal dose and duration have not yet been established thus, until further data becomes available, long-term treatment with 2 mg BLV once daily may be considered safe and adequate (LoE 5, weak recommendation, consensus[19]. Real-world evidence from more than 500 patients treated in France, Germany, Austria, and Italy was presented at international meetings. In the French Early Access Cohort study, an increased rate of virological response from month 12 (33%) to month 24 (68%) was observed after BLV[25]. In the German real-world experience study including 114 patients BLV showed high rates of virological response ( $\geq$  2 Log HDV-RNA decline) in 74% of patients, in a mean intervention period of 38.0 wk ± 17.6 wk. Interestingly, BLV was well tolerated without major adverse effects even in five patients with decompensated cirrhosis at baseline who achieved virological and biochemical responses[26].

### Combination treatment with BLV plus PegIFNa

The rationale for combination therapy with BLV and PegIFNa relies on the fact that PegIFNa exhibits immunomodulatory and antiviral properties and is able to inhibit cell division-mediated HDV spread, whereas BLV inhibits HDV from entering hepatocytes, thus preventing further infection. This combination is also recommended by EASL CPG 2023 for patients without PegIFN $\alpha$  intolerance or contraindications (LoE 5, weak recommendation, consensus)[19], In the MYR203 study, the patients were treated for 48 wk with combination therapy. Twenty-four weeks after the end of treatment, HDVRNA was undetectable in 53% of the patients who received BLV 2 mg/d. The rates of sustained virological response were 27% and 7% in patients treated with 5 and 10 mg daily respectively [27]. In the ongoing MYR204 study, patients were randomized to receive combination treatment with BLV at a dose of 2 or 10 mg/d for 48 wk and then continued with BLV monotherapy for another 48 wk, or monotherapy with BLV at a dose of 10 mg for 96 wk. In the 24<sup>th</sup> wk of treatment, patients receiving combination therapy achieved a greater decline in HDV-RNA levels than those treated with bulevirtidine monotherapy (92% when administered PegIFNa + 10 mg BLV vs 88% PegIFNa + 2 mg BLV vs 72% in BLV 10 mg monotherapy). Although these data are promising, the number of patients was small and some points need to be clarified further[28].

### Future treatment options

Better understanding of the HDV life cycle and its interplay with hepatocytes has enabled the development of new antiviral agents as possible candidates for CHD treatment. Besides BLV, an NTCP inhibitor, other promising agents include prenylation inhibitors that inhibit the prenylation of large HDV antigens, which are essential for HDV virion morphogenesis<sup>[29]</sup>, and nucleic acid polymers, which interact with the hydrophobic surface of HBsAg and destabilize its assembly and secretion of subviral particles, leading to the degradation of intracellular HBsAg[30].

### DISCUSSION

Over the last few decades, the interaction between viral hepatitis and autoimmune diseases has received increasing





**Figure 1 Management of autoimmune hepatitis induced by hepatitis delta virus.** Assess all hepatitis B surface antigen (+) patients for anti-hepatitis delta virus (HDV). For anti-HDV positive patients evaluate HDV-RNA status and autoimmune hepatitis (AIH). Consider liver biopsy for patients with serologic evidence of AIH: (1) Initiate BLV for HDV-RNA (+) and AIH (+). If there is biochemical response continue bulevirtide (BLV); If there is partial or no biochemical response use AIH targeted therapies; and (2) If HDV-RNA (-) and AIH (+) initiate treatment for AIH. If there is biochemical response continue AIH treatment; if there is partial or no biochemical response check HDV-RNA and if positive add BLV, otherwise proceed to 2<sup>nd</sup> line treatment for AIH. HDV: Hepatitis delta virus; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; AIH: Autoimmune hepatitis; ANA: Antinuclear antibodies; SMA: Smooth muscle autoantibodies; BLV: Bulevirtide; ANCA: Anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies; IgG: Immunoglobulin G; HBsAG: Hepatitis B surface antigen.

attention, with special interest in hepatitis B and D virus co-infection. In some CHD cases, clinical AIH has been reported after treatment with pegylated interferon. Starting from this observation, several questions arise, mainly concerning the exact correlation between the onset of autoimmune disease and hepatitis band D and treatment with pegylated interferon. Since all possible scenarios have been described, and many different cases have been reported in the literature, some steps have been proposed to manage AIH in patients with chronic hepatitis delta. First, all the HBsAg-positive patients were screened for HDV antibodies (anti-HDV). Consequently, HDV-RNA should be tested in all anti-HDVpositive patients, and regardless of the results, all anti-HDV-positive patients should be screened for AIH by testing serological data, suchas ANA, SMA, p-ANCA, and IgG levels, as well as transaminase levels. If serological data indicate AIH, a liver biopsy should be performed. Nevertheless, in anti-HDV-positive patients with detectable HDV-RNA levels and laboratory tests compatible with AIH, treatment with BLV should be initiated as PegIFNa is contraindicated in these cases. If a biochemical response is achieved with transaminase normalization and decreased IgG levels, treatment with BLV should still be continued. If there is a partial or no biochemical response, first-line AIH treatment with prednisolone 0.5 mg/kg of body weight/day should be considered together with BLV. First-line treatment for AIH should be applied in anti-HDV-positive patients with undetectable HDV-RNA levels, positive serological data for AIH, and elevated transaminase levels. If a biochemical response is achieved, prednisolone should be continued in a tapered manner as described previously. If there is a partial or no biochemical response, HDV-RNA should be checked, and if detectable, BLV should be initiated immediately. If it remains undetectable, second-line AIH treatment, that is, MMF, should be considered, but with great caution due to side effects. Despite a satisfactory biochemical response, all anti-HDV patients with undetectable HDVRNA who are being treated for AIH should be closely monitored for HDV reactivation by examining HDVRNA levels at least every 12-24 wk. Moreover, all patients undergoing AIH therapy should receive treatment with nucleos(t)ide analogs to avoid reactivation or exacerbation of chronic hepatitis B (Figure 1).

Zaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

However, not all patients with CHD and AIH achieve biochemical and/or virological responses when treated with BLV and/or first- or second-line AIH therapy, particularly in patients with decompensated cirrhosis. In these patients, liver transplantation should be considered until new HDV anti-viral agents are available.

### CONCLUSION

Therefore, patients with Chronic Hepatitis Delta should be evaluated for AIH. Once AIH is diagnosed, treatment with BLV should be initially administered and continued as long as there is a biochemical response. In patients with partial or no biochemical response, autoimmune therapy with prednisolone should be considered.

### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Gigi E conceived the title, designed, and wrote the manuscript, and performed the final revision; Lagopoulos V contributed in the writing and the revision of the manuscript; Liakos A contributed in the writing and the revision of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

### Country/Territory of origin: Greece

**ORCID number:** Eleni Gigi 0000-0003-0021-348X; Vasileios Lagopoulos 0000-0002-2366-3283; Aris Liakos 0000-0003-3261-2979.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yu HG

### REFERENCES

- 1 Rizzetto M. Hepatitis D (DELTA). New Microbiol 2022; 45: 149-154 [PMID: 35920869 DOI: 10.1055/s-0032-1323625]
- 2 Taylor JM. Infection by Hepatitis Delta Virus. Viruses 2020; 12 [PMID: 32560053 DOI: 10.3390/v12060648]
- 3 Fattovich G, Giustina G, Christensen E, Pantalena M, Zagni I, Realdi G, Schalm SW. Influence of hepatitis delta virus infection on morbidity and mortality in compensated cirrhosis type B. The European Concerted Action on Viral Hepatitis (Eurohep). Gut 2000; 46: 420-426 [PMID: 10673308 DOI: 10.1136/gut.46.3.420]
- 4 Alfaiate D, Clément S, Gomes D, Goossens N, Negro F. Chronic hepatitis D and hepatocellular carcinoma: A systematic review and metaanalysis of observational studies. J Hepatol 2020; 73: 533-539 [PMID: 32151618 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.02.030]
- Cardoso MF, Carvalho R, Correia FP, Branco JC, Nuno Costa M, Martins A. Autoimmune hepatitis induced by hepatitis delta virus: A 5 conundrum. GE Port J Gastroenterol 2023; 1-6 [DOI: 10.1159/000531773]
- European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: Autoimmune hepatitis. J Hepatol 2015; 63: 971-1004 6 [PMID: 26341719 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2015.06.030]
- Muratori L, Lohse AW, Lenzi M. Diagnosis and management of autoimmune hepatitis. BMJ 2023; 380: e070201 [PMID: 36746473 DOI: 7 10.1136/bmj-2022-070201]
- Zhang X, Jain D. The many faces and pathologic diagnostic challenges of autoimmune hepatitis. Hum Pathol 2023; 132: 114-125 [PMID: 8 35753409 DOI: 10.1016/j.humpath.2022.06.019]
- Barr RG. Shear wave liver elastography. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2018; 43: 800-807 [PMID: 29116341 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-017-1375-1] 9
- Pape S, Gevers TJG, Belias M, Mustafajev IF, Vrolijk JM, van Hoek B, Bouma G, van Nieuwkerk CMJ, Hartl J, Schramm C, Lohse AW, 10 Taubert R, Jaeckel E, Manns MP, Papp M, Stickel F, Heneghan MA, Drenth JPH. Predniso(lo)ne Dosage and Chance of Remission in Patients With Autoimmune Hepatitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 17: 2068-2075.e2 [PMID: 30625402 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2018.12.035]
- Manns MP, Woynarowski M, Kreisel W, Lurie Y, Rust C, Zuckerman E, Bahr MJ, Günther R, Hultcrantz RW, Spengler U, Lohse AW, 11 Szalay F, Färkkilä M, Pröls M, Strassburg CP; European AIH-BUC-Study Group. Budesonide induces remission more effectively than prednisone in a controlled trial of patients with autoimmune hepatitis. Gastroenterology 2010; 139: 1198-1206 [PMID: 20600032 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.06.046]
- Johnson PJ, McFarlane IG, Williams R. Azathioprine for long-term maintenance of remission in autoimmune hepatitis. N Engl J Med 1995; 12 333: 958-963 [PMID: 7666914 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199510123331502]
- Kanzler S, Gerken G, Löhr H, Galle PR, Meyer zum Büschenfelde KH, Lohse AW. Duration of immunosuppressive therapy in autoimmune 13 hepatitis. J Hepatol 2001; 34: 354-355 [PMID: 11281572 DOI: 10.1016/s0168-8278(00)00095-7]
- Hennes EM, Oo YH, Schramm C, Denzer U, Buggisch P, Wiegard C, Kanzler S, Schuchmann M, Boecher W, Galle PR, Adams DH, Lohse 14 AW. Mycophenolate mofetil as second line therapy in autoimmune hepatitis? Am J Gastroenterol 2008; 103: 3063-3070 [PMID: 18853972 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2008.02180.x]



- Zauli D, Crespi C, Bianchi FB, Craxi A, Pisi E. Autoimmunity in chronic liver disease caused by hepatitis delta virus. J Clin Pathol 1986; 39: 15 897-899 [PMID: 3745480 DOI: 10.1136/jcp.39.8.897]
- Hermanussen L, Lampalzer S, Bockmann JH, Ziegler AE, Piecha F, Dandri M, Pischke S, Haag F, Lohse AW, Lütgehetmann M, Weiler-16 Normann C, Zur Wiesch JS. Non-organ-specific autoantibodies with unspecific patterns are a frequent para-infectious feature of chronic hepatitis D. Front Med (Lausanne) 2023; 10: 1169096 [PMID: 37387781 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1169096]
- Rathi C, Pipaliya N, Choksi D, Parikh P, Ingle M, Sawant P. Autoimmune Hepatitis Triggered by Treatment With Pegylated Interferon α-2a 17 and Ribavirin for Chronic Hepatitis C. ACG Case Rep J 2015; 2: 247-249 [PMID: 26203454 DOI: 10.14309/crj.2015.74]
- Enc F, Ulasoglu C. A case of autoimmune hepatitis following pegylated interferon treatment of chronic hepatitis delta. North Clin Istanb 2020; 18 7: 407-410 [PMID: 33043269 DOI: 10.14744/nci.2019.47701]
- 19 European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines on hepatitis delta virus. J Hepatol 2023; 79: 433-460 [PMID: 37364791 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2023.05.001]
- 20 Zhang Z, Filzmayer C, Ni Y, Sültmann H, Mutz P, Hiet MS, Vondran FWR, Bartenschlager R, Urban S. Hepatitis D virus replication is sensed by MDA5 and induces IFN-β/λ responses in hepatocytes. J Hepatol 2018; 69: 25-35 [PMID: 29524530 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.02.021]
- 21 Zhang Z, Ni Y, Lempp FA, Walter L, Mutz P, Bartenschlager R, Urban S. Hepatitis D virus-induced interferon response and administered interferons control cell division-mediated virus spread. J Hepatol 2022; 77: 957-966 [PMID: 35636579 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2022.05.023]
- Wranke A, Hardtke S, Heidrich B, Dalekos G, Yalçin K, Tabak F, Gürel S, Çakaloğlu Y, Akarca US, Lammert F, Häussinger D, Müller T, 22 Wöbse M, Manns MP, Idilman R, Cornberg M, Wedemeyer H, Yurdaydin C. Ten-year follow-up of a randomized controlled clinical trial in chronic hepatitis delta. J Viral Hepat 2020; 27: 1359-1368 [PMID: 32707605 DOI: 10.1111/jvh.13366]
- Heidrich B, Yurdaydın C, Kabaçam G, Ratsch BA, Zachou K, Bremer B, Dalekos GN, Erhardt A, Tabak F, Yalcin K, Gürel S, Zeuzem S, 23 Cornberg M, Bock CT, Manns MP, Wedemeyer H; HIDIT-1 Study Group. Late HDV RNA relapse after peginterferon alpha-based therapy of chronic hepatitis delta. Hepatology 2014; 60: 87-97 [PMID: 24585488 DOI: 10.1002/hep.27102]
- 24 Yan H, Zhong G, Xu G, He W, Jing Z, Gao Z, Huang Y, Qi Y, Peng B, Wang H, Fu L, Song M, Chen P, Gao W, Ren B, Sun Y, Cai T, Feng X, Sui J, Li W. Sodium taurocholate cotransporting polypeptide is a functional receptor for human hepatitis B and D virus. Elife 2012; 1: e00049 [PMID: 23150796 DOI: 10.7554/eLife.00049]
- Ledinghen V, Hermabessiere P, Metivier S, Bardou-Jacquet E, Hilleret MN, Loustaud-Ratti V. Bulevirtide, with or without peg-interferon, in 25 HDV infected patients in a real-life setting. Two-year results from the French multicenter early access program. 2022. [cited 12 January 2024]. Available from: https://www.natap.org/2022/AASLD/AASLD\_47.htm
- Dietz-Fricke C, Tacke F, Zöllner C, Demir M, Schmidt HH, Schramm C, Willuweit K, Lange CM, Weber S, Denk G, Berg CP, Grottenthaler 26 JM, Merle U, Olkus A, Zeuzem S, Sprinzl K, Berg T, van Bömmel F, Wiegand J, Herta T, Seufferlein T, Zizer E, Dikopoulos N, Thimme R, Neumann-Haefelin C, Galle PR, Sprinzl M, Lohse AW, Schulze Zur Wiesch J, Kempski J, Geier A, Reiter FP, Schlevogt B, Gödiker J, Hofmann WP, Buggisch P, Kahlhöfer J, Port K, Maasoumy B, Cornberg M, Wedemeyer H, Deterding K. Treating hepatitis D with bulevirtide - Real-world experience from 114 patients. JHEP Rep 2023; 5: 100686 [PMID: 37025462 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhepr.2023.100686]
- Edemeyer H, Schöneweis K, Bogomolov PO, Voronkova N, ChulanovV, Stepanova T, Bremer B, Allweiss L, Dandri M, Burhenne J, Haefeli 27 W, Ciesek S, Dittmer U, Alexandrov A, Urban S. Final results of a multicenter, open-label phase 2 clinical trial (MYR203) to assess safety and efficacy of myrcludex B in cwith PEG-interferon Alpha 2a in patients with chronic HBV/HDV co-infection. J Hepatol 2019; 70: e81 [DOI: 10.1016/s0618-8278(19)30141-0]
- 28 Wedemeyer H, Schöneweis K, Bogomolov P, Blank A, Voronkova N, Stepanova T, Sagalova O, Chulanov V, Osipenko M, Morozov V, Geyvandova N, Sleptsova S, Bakulin IG, Khaertynova I, Rusanova M, Pathil A, Merle U, Bremer B, Allweiss L, Lempp FA, Port K, Haag M, Schwab M, Zur Wiesch JS, Cornberg M, Haefeli WE, Dandri M, Alexandrov A, Urban S. Safety and efficacy of bulevirtide in combination with tenofovir disoproxil fumarate in patients with hepatitis B virus and hepatitis D virus coinfection (MYR202): a multicentre, randomised, parallel-group, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Infect Dis 2023; 23: 117-129 [PMID: 36113537 DOI: 10.1016/S1473-3099(22)00318-8]
- Glenn JS, Watson JA, Havel CM, White JM. Identification of a prenylation site in delta virus large antigen. Science 1992; 256: 1331-1333 29 [PMID: 1598578 DOI: 10.1126/science.1598578]
- 30 Boulon R, Blanchet M, Lemasson M, Vaillant A, Labonté P. Characterization of the antiviral effects of REP 2139 on the HBV lifecycle in vitro. Antiviral Res 2020; 183: 104853 [PMID: 32585322 DOI: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2020.104853]



WŨ

# World Journal of *Gastroenterology*

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 806-810

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.806

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

EDITORIAL

# Adjuvant therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma: Dilemmas at the start of a new era

### Jian-Hong Zhong

**Specialty type:** Gastroenterology and hepatology

**Provenance and peer review:** Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

**P-Reviewer:** Jackson T, United States

Received: December 10, 2023 Peer-review started: December 10, 2023 First decision: December 27, 2023 Revised: December 27, 2023 Accepted: January 31, 2024 Article in press: January 31, 2024

Published online: February 28, 2024



Jian-Hong Zhong, Department of Hepatobiliary Surgery, Guangxi Medical University Cancer Hospital, Nanning 530021, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, China

**Corresponding author:** Jian-Hong Zhong, Doctor, PhD, Academic Editor, Doctor, Professor, Surgeon, Department of Hepatobiliary Surgery, Guangxi Medical University Cancer Hospital, No. 71 Hedi Road, Nanning 530021, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, China. zhongjianhong@gxmu.edu.cn

### Abstract

Approximately 50%-70% of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma experience recurrence within five years after curative hepatic resection or ablation. As a result, many patients receive adjuvant therapy after curative resection or ablation in order to prolong recurrence-free survival. The therapy recommended by national guidelines can differ, and guidelines do not specify when to initiate adjuvant therapy or how long to continue it. These and other unanswered questions around adjuvant therapies make it difficult to optimize them and determine which may be more appropriate for a given type of patient. These questions need to be addressed by clinicians and researchers.

**Key Words:** Adjuvant therapy; Hepatocellular carcinoma; Tumor recurrence; Unanswered questions

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Several questions need to be addressed by clinical researchers about the use of adjuvant therapy to prolong recurrence-free survival of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma following potentially curative treatment.

**Citation**: Zhong JH. Adjuvant therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma: Dilemmas at the start of a new era. *World J Gastroenterol* 2024; 30(8): 806-810 **URL**: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/806.htm **DOI**: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.806

Raishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

### INTRODUCTION

Primary or recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in certain patients can be treated through potentially curative hepatic resection or local ablation[1,2], which is typically defined as complete resection of the tumor, return of alpha fetoprotein levels to normal, and no sign of recurrence 4-8 wk later on contrast-enhanced computed tomography or magnetic resonance imaging[3]. Unfortunately, 50%-70% of patients experience intra- or extrahepatic metastases within five years after such procedures, and these metastases are the most frequent cause of HCC-related death[1,2]. For example, patients with primary HCC in the "very early" or "early" stages according to the Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer staging system show 5-year recurrence rates of 40.7% after hepatectomy and 29.3% after local ablation[4], and the rate after hepatectomy falls to 18%-25% if the HCC is "intermediate" or "advanced" [5].

Therefore many patients are given adjuvant therapy after curative resection or ablation in order to prolong recurrencefree survival. However, international consensus is lacking about many aspects of adjuvant therapy, including which is the best type for a given type of patient, when it should be performed, and how long it should last. The question has even been raised whether adjuvant therapy is effective at all in certain contexts. These are important questions that need to be addressed through well-designed research and informed discussion.

### Who can benefit from adjuvant therapy?

Adjuvant therapy increases treatment costs and risks of adverse events, so it should not be administered routinely to all patients whose tumors have been completely removed by resection or ablation. Instead, national guidelines recommend it for certain types of patients. The Chinese Liver Cancer staging system[3] and the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases[1] recommend it for patients with factors associated with high risk of recurrence, such as tumor size > 5 cm, presence of > 3 tumors, micro- or macrovascular invasion, or poor tumor differentiation.

Whether these guidelines are optimal is questionable, in light of evidence identifying additional potential risk factors, such as the absence of a tumor capsule, tumor rupture, narrow resection margin ( $\leq 2$  cm) and alpha fetoprotein  $\geq 400$  ng/ mL[1,3]. In addition, the risk factors in guidelines have been associated primarily with recurrence within 6 months after curative treatment, meaning that the guidelines neglect liver cirrhosis and chronic hepatitis, which have been linked primarily to late recurrence[6,7]. The evidence base for all these risk factors should be expanded to the point that they can be taken into account in future versions of guidelines. Another question that should be addressed is whether adjuvant therapy is effective for all etiologies of HCC: For example, immune checkpoint inhibitors may offer limited benefit to patients with HCC linked to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis[8].

### Which adjuvant therapies work best?

Based on extensive evidence from randomized controlled trials, Chinese Liver Cancer guidelines mention several adjuvant therapies as effective: Transarterial chemoembolization, hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy, molecular targeted drugs, and adoptive immunotherapy[3]. In contrast, guidelines from South Korea[9] and the United States[1] do not recommend adjuvant transarterial chemoembolization or hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy, although the South Korean guidelines do recommend adoptive immunotherapy based on strong evidence, while the United States guidelines mention immune checkpoint inhibition for the first time in the latest revision. Guidelines from the United States and China, but not South Korea, recommend adjuvant antiviral therapy with tenofovir or entecavir for patients with HCC related to chronic infection with hepatitis B virus[1,3].

The evidence base for the efficacy of some adjuvant therapies remains to be solidified. Only one randomized controlled trial has explored adjuvant use of the tyrosine kinase inhibitor sorafenib[10], reporting no significant benefit on recurrence-free or overall survival relative to placebo, and randomized trials of other molecular targeted drugs are ongoing. For example, an evaluation of the adjuvant combination of atezolizumab and bevacizumab has yet to reach the endpoint of median recurrence-free survival<sup>[11]</sup>, although one study suggested that the two therapeutic antibodies may synergize to inhibit tumor angiogenesis, regulatory T proliferation and myeloid cell inflammation[12]. One study has suggested that molecular targeted drugs can potentiate adjuvant immune checkpoint blockade[11]. The current landscape of clinical evidence does not provide multiple, clearly effective treatments based on molecular targeted drugs, which makes it difficult to identify which ones may be optimal for given types of patient. Several network meta-analyses have examined the landscape but failed to converge on clear recommendations for clinical practice because of heterogeneity among patient populations and treatment protocols.

### When should adjuvant therapy begin?

This is a key consideration given the inevitable side effects of adjuvant therapy, yet no major guidelines recommend a particular start time. Most randomized controlled trials initiate it 4-8 wk after curative resection. This question should be explored in clinical trials, which should consider that the optimal timing of initiation likely depends on perioperative complications, wound healing, residual liver function, and patient characteristics such as performance status and comorbidities.

### How long should adjuvant therapy last?

The evidence base around immune checkpoint blockade and molecular targeted drugs does not clearly indicate minimal or maximal duration of adjuvant treatment. In one trial, sorafenib therapy was scheduled for 48 months, but it lasted closer to 12-13 months because of the lack of efficacy and high frequency of adverse events [10]. In another trial, the combination of atezolizumab and bevacizumab was scheduled for 12 months, and it lasted a median of 11 months<sup>[11]</sup>. This duration may be too long, at least for certain types of patients: Immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy for 6 months



Zhong JH. Unanswered questions about adjuvant therapy



Figure 1 Unanswered questions about adjuvant therapy for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma following potentially curative resection or local ablation. Questions appear within the pie, and evidence-based responses are written around it. AIT: Adoptive immunotherapy; HAIC: Hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy; ICI: Immune checkpoint inhibitor; RFS: Recurrence-free survival; TACE: Transarterial chemoembolization; Vp1: Segmental portal vein invasion; Vp2: Right anterior or posterior portal vein invasion.

was sufficient to prolong recurrence-free survival in one prospective study [13], and median progression-free survival was shorter than 12 months among patients with unresectable HCC who were treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors alone or together with molecular targeted drugs[14,15].

These observations suggest that 12 months of immune checkpoint inhibition may be excessive and, in any case, that the duration of adjuvant therapy will need to be determined based on its mechanism(s) of action. The indications for transarterial therapy, molecular targeted drugs, adoptive immunotherapy and immune checkpoint inhibition were originally formulated for patients with unresectable HCC, so they may not be optimal for patients whose disease is in an early, resectable stage and who are likely to survive long enough for late recurrence to be a concern. For example, patients with resectable disease who are chronically infected with hepatitis B virus should probably continue antiviral therapy for the long term, perhaps even the rest of their lives [16-18].

### CONCLUSION

The costs and adverse effects of adjuvant therapy dictate that clinical researchers better define what therapies should be administered to which patients when and for how long (Figure 1), and that the best evidence be integrated into the next versions of consensus guidelines. This task becomes more urgent as more medical centers administer molecular targeted drugs and immune checkpoint inhibitors to HCC patients[19,20]. Eventually guidelines will also need to take stock of the growing use of neoadjuvant and "conversion" therapies, which promise to make potentially curative treatment accessible to patients with traditionally unresectable HCC.

### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Zhong JH wrote and revised the manuscript.

Supported by the Specific Research Project of Guangxi for Research Bases and Talents, No. GuiKe AD22035057; and the National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 82060510 and No. 82260569.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** The author reports no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

### Country/Territory of origin: China



ORCID number: Jian-Hong Zhong 0000-0002-1494-6396.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YX

### REFERENCES

- 1 Singal AG, Llovet JM, Yarchoan M, Mehta N, Heimbach JK, Dawson LA, Jou JH, Kulik LM, Agopian VG, Marrero JA, Mendiratta-Lala M, Brown DB, Rilling WS, Goyal L, Wei AC, Taddei TH. AASLD Practice Guidance on prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 2023; 78: 1922-1965 [PMID: 37199193 DOI: 10.1097/HEP.00000000000466]
- 2 Federica C, Gianluca F, Margherita R, Federica P, Federica I, Andrea CG, Francesco De C, Massimo C, Luca A. Surgery for hepatocellular carcinoma and intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: milestone changes in the last two decades potentially affecting current guidelines. Hepatoma Res 2023; 9: 13 [DOI: 10.20517/2394-5079.2022.80]
- Zhou J, Sun H, Wang Z, Cong W, Zeng M, Zhou W, Bie P, Liu L, Wen T, Kuang M, Han G, Yan Z, Wang M, Liu R, Lu L, Ren Z, Zeng Z, 3 Liang P, Liang C, Chen M, Yan F, Wang W, Hou J, Ji Y, Yun J, Bai X, Cai D, Chen W, Chen Y, Cheng S, Dai C, Guo W, Guo Y, Hua B, Huang X, Jia W, Li Q, Li T, Li X, Li Y, Liang J, Ling C, Liu T, Liu X, Lu S, Lv G, Mao Y, Meng Z, Peng T, Ren W, Shi H, Shi G, Shi M, Song T, Tao K, Wang J, Wang K, Wang L, Wang X, Xiang B, Xing B, Xu J, Yang J, Yang Y, Ye S, Yin Z, Zeng Y, Zhang B, Zhang L, Zhang S, Zhang T, Zhang Y, Zhao M, Zhao Y, Zheng H, Zhou L, Zhu J, Zhu K, Shi Y, Xiao Y, Yang C, Wu Z, Dai Z, Cai J, Cai X, Shen F, Qin S, Teng G, Dong J, Fan J. Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Primary Liver Cancer (2022 Edition). Liver Cancer 2023; 12: 405-444 [PMID: 37901768 DOI: 10.1159/000530495]
- Wang JH, Wang CC, Hung CH, Chen CL, Lu SN. Survival comparison between surgical resection and radiofrequency ablation for patients in 4 BCLC very early/early stage hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2012; 56: 412-418 [PMID: 21756858 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.05.020]
- 5 Zhong JH, Ke Y, Wang YY, Li LQ. Liver resection for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and macrovascular invasion, multiple tumours, or portal hypertension. Gut 2015; 64: 520-521 [PMID: 25187522 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-308139]
- Li Z, Tan C, Liu X, Feng Z, Li K. Early and late recurrence after hepatectomy in patients with low-level HBV-DNA hepatocellular carcinoma 6 under antiviral therapy. Infect Agent Cancer 2022; 17: 56 [PMID: 36397089 DOI: 10.1186/s13027-022-00468-6]
- Nevola R, Ruocco R, Criscuolo L, Villani A, Alfano M, Beccia D, Imbriani S, Claar E, Cozzolino D, Sasso FC, Marrone A, Adinolfi LE, 7 Rinaldi L. Predictors of early and late hepatocellular carcinoma recurrence. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29: 1243-1260 [PMID: 36925456 DOI: 10.3748/wig.v29.i8.12431
- Kara W, Anna Mae D, Cynthia AM. Challenges and barriers in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) surveillance for patients with non-alcoholic 8 fatty liver disease (NAFLD). Hepatoma Res 2023; 9: 11 [DOI: 10.20517/2394-5079.2022.92]
- 9 Korean Liver Cancer Association (KLCA) and National Cancer Center (NCC) Korea. 2022 KLCA-NCC Korea Practice Guidelines for the Management of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Korean J Radiol 2022; 23: 1126-1240 [PMID: 36447411 DOI: 10.3348/kjr.2022.0822]
- Bruix J, Takayama T, Mazzaferro V, Chau GY, Yang J, Kudo M, Cai J, Poon RT, Han KH, Tak WY, Lee HC, Song T, Roayaie S, Bolondi L, 10 Lee KS, Makuuchi M, Souza F, Berre MA, Meinhardt G, Llovet JM; STORM investigators. Adjuvant sorafenib for hepatocellular carcinoma after resection or ablation (STORM): a phase 3, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 2015; 16: 1344-1354 [PMID: 26361969 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00198-9]
- Qin S, Chen M, Cheng AL, Kaseb AO, Kudo M, Lee HC, Yopp AC, Zhou J, Wang L, Wen X, Heo J, Tak WY, Nakamura S, Numata K, 11 Uguen T, Hsiehchen D, Cha E, Hack SP, Lian Q, Ma N, Spahn JH, Wang Y, Wu C, Chow PKH; IMbrave050 investigators. Atezolizumab plus bevacizumab versus active surveillance in patients with resected or ablated high-risk hepatocellular carcinoma (IMbrave050): a randomised, open-label, multicentre, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2023; 402: 1835-1847 [PMID: 37871608 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(23)01796-8]
- Zhu AX, Abbas AR, de Galarreta MR, Guan Y, Lu S, Koeppen H, Zhang W, Hsu CH, He AR, Ryoo BY, Yau T, Kaseb AO, Burgoyne AM, 12 Dayyani F, Spahn J, Verret W, Finn RS, Toh HC, Lujambio A, Wang Y. Molecular correlates of clinical response and resistance to atezolizumab in combination with bevacizumab in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Med 2022; 28: 1599-1611 [PMID: 35739268 DOI: 10.1038/s41591-022-01868-21
- Li L, Wu PS, Liang XM, Chen K, Zhang GL, Su QB, Huo RR, Xie RW, Huang S, Ma L, Zhong JH. Adjuvant immune checkpoint inhibitors 13 associated with higher recurrence-free survival in postoperative hepatocellular carcinoma (PREVENT): a prospective, multicentric cohort study. J Gastroenterol 2023; 58: 1043-1054 [PMID: 37452107 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-023-02018-2]
- Finn RS, Qin S, Ikeda M, Galle PR, Ducreux M, Kim TY, Kudo M, Breder V, Merle P, Kaseb AO, Li D, Verret W, Xu DZ, Hernandez S, Liu 14 J, Huang C, Mulla S, Wang Y, Lim HY, Zhu AX, Cheng AL; IMbrave150 Investigators. Atezolizumab plus Bevacizumab in Unresectable Hepatocellular Carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 1894-1905 [PMID: 32402160 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1915745]
- Kelley RK, Rimassa L, Cheng AL, Kaseb A, Qin S, Zhu AX, Chan SL, Melkadze T, Sukeepaisarnjaroen W, Breder V, Verset G, Gane E, 15 Borbath I, Rangel JDG, Ryoo BY, Makharadze T, Merle P, Benzaghou F, Banerjee K, Hazra S, Fawcett J, Yau T. Cabozantinib plus atezolizumab versus sorafenib for advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (COSMIC-312): a multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2022; 23: 995-1008 [PMID: 35798016 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(22)00326-6]
- Massimo F, Mariacristina P, Michele M, Francesco Rosario Paolo I, Marianna C, Bruno C, Teresa Antonia S. Risk of hepatocellular carcinoma 16 development in long-term nucles(t)ide analog suppressed patients with chronic hepatitis B. Hepatoma Res 2023; 9: 3 [DOI: 10.20517/2394-5079.2022.51]
- 17 Zhou J, Wang FD, Li LQ, Li YJ, Wang SY, Chen EQ. Antiviral Therapy Favors a Lower Risk of Liver Cirrhosis in HBeAg-negative Chronic Hepatitis B with Normal Alanine Transaminase and HBV DNA Positivity. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2023; 11: 1465-1475 [PMID: 38161505 DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2023.00272]
- Huang DQ, Hoang JK, Kamal R, Tsai PC, Toyoda H, Yeh ML, Yasuda S, Leong J, Maeda M, Huang CF, Won Jun D, Ishigami M, Tanaka Y, 18 Uojima H, Ogawa E, Abe H, Hsu YC, Tseng CH, Alsudaney M, Yang JD, Yoshimaru Y, Suzuki T, Liu JK, Landis C, Dai CY, Huang JF, Chuang WL, Schwartz M, Dan YY, Esquivel C, Bonham A, Yu ML, Nguyen MH. Antiviral Therapy Utilization and 10-Year Outcomes in Resected Hepatitis B Virus- and Hepatitis C Virus-Related Hepatocellular Carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2024; JCO2300757 [PMID: 38175991



Zhong JH. Unanswered questions about adjuvant therapy

DOI: 10.1200/JCO.23.00757]

- Mandlik DS, Mandlik SK, Choudhary HB. Immunotherapy for hepatocellular carcinoma: Current status and future perspectives. World J 19 Gastroenterol 2023; 29: 1054-1075 [PMID: 36844141 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i6.1054]
- Llovet JM, Kudo M, Merle P, Meyer T, Qin S, Ikeda M, Xu R, Edeline J, Ryoo BY, Ren Z, Masi G, Kwiatkowski M, Lim HY, Kim JH, 20 Breder V, Kumada H, Cheng AL, Galle PR, Kaneko S, Wang A, Mody K, Dutcus C, Dubrovsky L, Siegel AB, Finn RS; LEAP-002 Investigators. Lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab versus lenvatinib plus placebo for advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (LEAP-002): a randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2023; 24: 1399-1410 [PMID: 38039993 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(23)00469-2]



Boishideng® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com
WÜ

# World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 811-816

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.811

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

OPINION REVIEW

## Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs before endoscopic ultrasound guided tissue acquisition to reduce the incidence of post procedural pancreatitis

Mike de Jong, Foke van Delft, Christine Roozen, Erwin-Jan van Geenen, Tanya Bisseling, Peter Siersema, Marco Bruno

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Hou XH, China

Received: November 24, 2023 Peer-review started: November 24, 2023 First decision: December 15, 2023 Revised: December 22, 2023 Accepted: January 22, 2024 Article in press: January 22, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



Mike de Jong, Foke van Delft, Christine Roozen, Erwin-Jan van Geenen, Tanya Bisseling, Peter Siersema, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen 6525 GA, Netherlands

Peter Siersema, Marco Bruno, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam 3015 GD, Netherlands

Corresponding author: Mike de Jong, MD, MSc, Research Fellow, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Radboud University Medical Center, 10 Geert Grooteplein Zuid, Nijmegen 6525 GA, Netherlands. mike.dejong@radboudumc.nl

## Abstract

Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) with fine needle aspiration or fine needle biopsy is the gold standard for sampling tissue to diagnose pancreatic cancer and autoimmune pancreatitis or to analyze cyst fluid. The most common reported adverse event of fine needle aspiration and/or fine needle biopsy is acute pancreatitis, which is likely induced by the same pathophysiological mechanisms as after endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP). According to the current European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy guideline, nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs are administered prior to ERCP as a scientifically proven treatment to reduce post-ERCP pancreatitis incidence rate. A single suppository of diclofenac or indomethacin prior to EUS guided tissue acquisition (TA) is harmless in healthy adults. Since it is associated with low costs and, most important, may prevent a dreadsome complication, we strongly recommend the administration of 100 mg diclofenac rectally prior to EUS-TA. We will explain this recommendation in more detail in this review as well as the risk and pathophysiology of post-EUS TA pancreatitis.

Key Words: Pancreatitis; Endoscopic ultrasound; Tissue acquisition; Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs; Pancreatic cancer

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

**Core Tip:** Post-endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) pancreatitis has an incidence of 1%-2%. Literature on the effectiveness of diclofenac in preventing a post-EUS-tissue acquisition (TA) pancreatitis is scarce. Based on the pathophysiological mechanism, which is nearly the same in both post-endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography and post-EUS pancreatitis, diclofenac could be effective as prophylaxis of post-EUS-TA pancreatitis. There are several arguments in favor of administration, such as the cost-effective prevention of post-EUS-TA pancreatitis, which could have potentially disastrous consequences. A single suppository of diclofenac has limited side effects. In conclusion, administration of diclofenac prior to EUS-TA procedure should be strongly advised to prevent post-EUS-TA pancreatitis.

Citation: de Jong M, van Delft F, Roozen C, van Geenen EJ, Bisseling T, Siersema P, Bruno M. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs before endoscopic ultrasound guided tissue acquisition to reduce the incidence of post procedural pancreatitis. World J Gastroenterol 2024; 30(8): 811-816

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/811.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.811

#### INTRODUCTION

Since its introduction in the early 1990s[1], endoscopic ultrasound guided tissue acquisition (EUS-TA) by fine needle aspiration (FNA) or fine needle biopsy (FNB) is the gold standard for obtaining a tissue specimen for diagnosing pancreatic cancer, with a reported sensitivity and specificity of 77% and 98%, respectively [2,3]. To confirm the diagnosis before deciding on further treatment, EUS-TA of the pancreatic lesion is often indicated [4,5]. Besides being golden standard in obtaining cytology and histology of pancreatic solid masses, EUS-FNA/FNB is also used for cyst fluid analysis[6] and evaluation of autoimmune pancreatitis[7].

A variety of needles with different diameters and needle tip designs are available. Most recent data about the efficacy of EUS-TA recommend the use of a 22-gauge FNB needle in solid masses. In case of an unfavorable position of the endoscope with a sharp angulation of the tip, the more flexible 25-gauge needle can be chosen. For aspiration of cystic fluid, the 22-gauge FNA needles are the preferred ones[8].

Multiple publications have reported the risk of developing post procedural pancreatitis after EUS-TA[9-11]. Diagnosis of pancreatitis is usually based on the revised Atlanta criteria in which two of the following three features are required for the diagnosis of acute pancreatitis: Hyperlipasemia (> 3 times the upper limit of normal); acute abdominal pain; and/or signs of pancreatitis on computed tomography scan[12]. In some publications including EUS-FNA (not EUS-FNB), the reported post-EUS pancreatitis incidence was around 2% [9,10]. To date the most comprehensive approximation of the post-EUS pancreatitis rate is provided by a systematic review and meta-analysis by Tian et al[11]. They showed a pooled incidence of pancreatitis of 0.7% [11]. However, this meta-analysis was mainly based on publications from before 2010, and only 30 publications after 2010 were analyzed in this meta-analysis. Table 1 shows seven retrospective and/or prospective trials that were all published after the screening period of the meta-analysis [13-19]. Incidence of post-EUS-TA pancreatitis is comparable to the incidence described in the meta-analysis. Data about post-EUS pancreatitis in relation to the EUS-TA techniques are still scarce though.

The development of acute pancreatitis following a diagnostic EUS-TA may have major consequences for the patient, particularly when there is a suspicion of pancreatic cancer. Delay or even annulment of further diagnostic work-up or treatment drastically reduces the chance of cure, while the survival rate is already low in these patients[20,21].

Acute pancreatitis is also a complication reported after endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP). Rectal nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) (i.e. diclofenac) are administered as prophylaxis to reduce the post procedural ERCP pancreatitis rate by 39% [22]. Assuming a comparable pathophysiological mechanism with the activation of the same inflammatory cascade inside the pancreas as during an ERCP, the preventive effect of diclofenac in EUS-TA could be relevant. Although the reported incidence of post-EUS-TA pancreatitis is lower compared to that after ERCP, the one-time administration of diclofenac post-EUS-TA may make it a worthwhile strategy as it has little to no side effects and is associated with limited costs while potentially avoiding a devastating complication.

Limited literature is available on the preventive value of rectal administration of diclofenac prior to an EUS-TA procedure to protect against post-EUS pancreatitis. In this review we will focus on the clinical consequence of post-EUS pancreatitis and the potential role and impact of diclofenac in its prevention.

## PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF POST-EUS PANCREATITIS

Mechanical injury of the pancreas is multifactorial in origin. It can be caused by manipulation of the ampulla of Vater and pancreatic duct, possibly in combination with increased pressure and overfilling of the ductal system with contrast agents in case of ERCP or direct puncture of the pancreatic parenchyma in case of EUS-TA. In the latter, pancreatitis is most often the result of direct cell damage, while in the former also the development of tissue edema may temporarily hamper the secretion of pancreatic enzymes causing increased ductal and intraparenchymal pressure. These events induce premature activation of pancreatic enzymes causing acute intracellular injury[23]. Both prostaglandins and phospholipase A2 play a key role in the early phase of inflammation[24].



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Incidence of post endoscopic ultrasound tissue acquisition pancreatitis					
Ref.	n	Type of study	FNA or FNB	Incidence	
Ribeiro <i>et al</i> [17], 2018	712	Prospective cohort	FNA and FNB	16/712 (2.2%)	
Thomsen <i>et al</i> [18], 2022	852	Retrospective cohort	FNB	20/852 (2.3%)	
Kandel et al[16], 2021	50	Prospective RCT	FNA and FNB	2/50 (4.0%)	
van Riet <i>et al</i> [19], 2019	608	Prospective RCT	FNA and FNB	2/608 (0.3%)	
Gonzalez <i>et al</i> [14], 2022	105	Retrospective cohort	FNA and FNB	0/105 (0.0%)	
Ishigaki <i>et al</i> [ <b>15</b> ], 2020	154	Retrospective cohort	FNA and FNB	2/154 (1.3%)	
Chen <i>et al</i> [13], 2022	235	Prospective RCT	FNA and FNB	2/235 (0.9%)	

FNA: Fine needle aspiration; FNB: Fine needle biopsy; RCT: Randomized controlled trial.

#### THE ROLE OF DICLOFENAC IN PREVENTING POST-EUS PANCREATITIS

The use of NSAIDs, either 100 mg diclofenac or 100 mg indomethacin rectally, is recommended by the European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy and the American Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy as prophylaxis of a post procedural pancreatitis in patients undergoing ERCP[25,26]. The most optimal timing for the administration of a rectal suppository of diclofenac or indomethacin is just prior to the ERCP[27]. NSAIDs inhibit prostaglandins, phospholipase A2, and neutrophil-endothelial interactions, which will decrease the inflammatory reaction[24]. Both diclofenac and indomethacin reach the maximum concentration between 1-2 h after administration. Both these NSAIDs are mainly bound to albumin (90% vs 99%, respectively)[28] and subsequently excreted via the hepatobiliary-fecal and kidney pathway. Two hours after administration half of the level of diclofenac has been metabolized[29], while the biological halflife of indomethacin is 5-10 h. In addition, diclofenac is very cheap (\$0.19 per supp 100 mg)[30], and a single dose is harmless in healthy adults[31].

However, the use of NSAIDs has limitations. NSAIDs are contraindicated during pregnancy after a gestational age of 30 wk[32], if the glomerular filtration rate is less than 30 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>, or in case of liver cirrhosis[33,34]. Renal blood flow will be reduced by inhibition of prostaglandins, which can lead to hepatorenal syndrome in patients with liver cirrhosis[34]. If there is a documented allergy to NSAIDs, these should obviously be avoided.

#### **RISK FACTORS FOR POST-EUS PANCREATITIS**

Several risk factors are associated with the development of post-EUS pancreatitis. Lee et al [35] showed that performing more EUS-guided punctures within one procedure increases the risk of adverse events [odds ratio (OR): 1.24 (1.02-1.50)]. This also applies to performing more than 15 to-and-fro movements per punction [OR: 2.25 (1.07-4.73)]. Performing ERCP on the same day as EUS-guided TA was the greatest risk factor for post procedural pancreatitis [OR: 2.82 (1.31-6.10)]. The excess risk of doing both procedures successively on the same day rather than on separate days however was not discerned. A history of recent acute pancreatitis was also found to be a risk factor for post-EUS pancreatitis (26.6% vs 3.3%) [17]. Additionally, the location of the biopsy contributes to the risk of developing post procedural pancreatitis.

Pancreatitis is more common after needle biopsies taken from the uncinate process or the pancreatic head as compared to the body or tail, possibly because in some cases the needle passes a thicker layer of healthy pancreatic parenchyma [36]. Tissue sampling through normal pancreatic parenchyma or through the wall of the main pancreatic duct also increases the risk of post-EUS pancreatitis compared to passage through minimal parenchyma (9.20% vs 0.18%). Lastly, patients with pancreatic cancer are less likely to develop post-EUS pancreatitis compared to patients with benign pancreatic diseases, while puncture of solid lesions had a higher overall rate of pancreatitis compared to puncture of cystic lesions (60% of the pancreatitis occurred after puncture of a solid lesion)[17]. In conclusion, both patients with solid lesions and patients with cystic lesions of the pancreas are susceptible to post-EUS pancreatitis. In both cases, there is a similar risk of puncturing through normal parenchyma and/or damaging the pancreatic duct.

## FNA VS FNB IN RELATION TO PANCREATITIS

Currently, new advances in FNB techniques and increased yield compared to FNA will gradually phase out the use of FNA needles. The advantage of FNB is that fewer needle passes are required to obtain a representative specimen[37,38]. Despite the fact that greater tissue cores are obtained, which could cause hypothetically more damage, a meta-analysis showed that adverse events between FNA and FNB were not significantly different[37]. Rapid on-site evaluation (ROSE) has been advised during an FNA procedure to increase the diagnostic adequacy and thereby reduce the number of repeat procedures[39]. To perform ROSE however, cytopathological evaluation needs to be immediately available, is time con-

WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

suming, and adds to the cost of the procedure. Meta-analysis showed that FNB without ROSE has a similar diagnostic adequacy compared to FNA with ROSE[38].

## FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

The only way to answer the question whether diclofenac is useful as a prophylaxis against the development of post-EUS pancreatitis is to conduct a randomized controlled trial (RCT). Ideally, this should be a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial in which one arm receives an NSAID suppository and the other arm receives a rectal placebo prior to the EUS-TA procedure. Patients, researchers, endoscopists, and nurses should be blinded.

Conducting such an RCT has several limitations. Since the incidence of post-EUS pancreatitis is probably between 1% and 2%, many patients need to be included. Aiming to reduce the incidence of post-EUS pancreatitis by 50% from 2% to 1%, with a significance of 5%, a power of 80%, and a 10% drop-out, 2550 patients are required in each arm. Suppose this hypothetically designed trial shows that administration of diclofenac can halve the incidence of post-EUS pancreatitis, then the number needed to treat is 1/100. In other words, 100 patients must receive diclofenac to prevent one post-EUS pancreatitis case. For risk analysis, all known risk factors should be noted and registered.

Therefore, it does not seem to be practically feasible to conduct such a trial. The question is whether such proof is necessary, as the indirect evidence for the protection of post-ERCP pancreatitis is strong and the mechanism of how post-EUS-TA pancreatitis develops seems identical to post-ERCP pancreatitis. Even though post-EUS-TA pancreatitis is a relatively rare event, a cheap and relatively safe diclofenac suppository can lower the incidence and prevent a potentially dreadsome complication that may cause a serious delay in the further work-up and treatment of a patient with a pancreatic mass. Therefore, in our opinion, the associated costs of managing preventable post-EUS-TA pancreatitis are disproportionate compared to standardized prophylactic diclofenac administration prior to EUS-TA.

### CONCLUSION

Post-EUS pancreatitis is a rare complication of EUS-FNA/FNB with an incidence of 1%-2%. Despite its low incidence, it may have a significant clinical impact as pancreatitis may run a severe disease course causing delay in further diagnostics or therapy or even worse. Diclofenac suppository is effective as prophylaxis against pancreatitis after ERCP. Literature on the effectiveness of diclofenac in preventing post-EUS-TA pancreatitis is scarce. Based on the pathophysiological mechanism, which is nearly the same in both types of pancreatitis, diclofenac could be effective as prophylaxis for post-EUS-TA pancreatitis.

Unfortunately, an RCT with unfeasible numbers of patients is the only way to answer the question whether there is a significant benefit to the administration of diclofenac. In our opinion, further attempts to investigate the use of NSAIDS in post-EUS-TA pancreatitis prevention have limited added value. There are several arguments in favor of administration, such as the cost-effective prevention of post-EUS-TA pancreatitis, which could have potentially disastrous consequences for the patient. In addition, a single suppository of diclofenac has limited side effects. In conclusion, administration of diclofenac prior to the EUS-TA procedure of a solid or cystic pancreatic lesion should be strongly advised to prevent developing post-EUS-TA pancreatitis.

#### FOOTNOTES

**Author contributions:** de Jong M drafted the manuscript; van Delft F, Roozen C, van Geenen EJ, Bisseling T, Siersema P, and Bruno M edited the manuscript to the final version.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Netherlands

**ORCID number:** Mike de Jong 0009-0007-7738-7206; Tanya Bisseling 0000-0001-7976-7949; Marco Bruno 0000-0001-9181-5499.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Xu ZH

Zaisbideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

## REFERENCES

- 1 Vilmann P, Jacobsen GK, Henriksen FW, Hancke S. Endoscopic ultrasonography with guided fine needle aspiration biopsy in pancreatic disease. Gastrointest Endosc 1992; 38: 172-173 [PMID: 1568614 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5107(92)70385-x]
- Lisotti A, Frazzoni L, Fuccio L, Serrani M, Cominardi A, Bazzoli F, Fusaroli P. Repeat EUS-FNA of pancreatic masses after nondiagnostic or 2 inconclusive results: systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc 2020; 91: 1234-1241.e4 [PMID: 32006546 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2020.01.034]
- 3 O'Reilly D, Fou L, Hasler E, Hawkins J, O'Connell S, Pelone F, Callaway M, Campbell F, Capel M, Charnley R, Corrie P, Elliot D, Goodburn L, Jewell A, Joharchi S, McGeeney L, Mukherjee S, Oppong K, Whelan P, Primrose J, Neoptolemos J. Diagnosis and management of pancreatic cancer in adults: A summary of guidelines from the UK National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Pancreatology 2018; 18: 962-970 [PMID: 30292643 DOI: 10.1016/j.pan.2018.09.012]
- 4 Specialisten FM. Richtlijn Pancreascarcinoom 2019. 2020. [cited 10 December 2023]. Available from: https://richtlijnendatabase.nl/richtlijn/ pancreascarcinoom/startpagina.html
- 5 Springfeld C, Jäger D, Büchler MW, Strobel O, Hackert T, Palmer DH, Neoptolemos JP. Chemotherapy for pancreatic cancer. Presse Med 2019; 48: e159-e174 [PMID: 30879894 DOI: 10.1016/j.lpm.2019.02.025]
- European Study Group on Cystic Tumours of the Pancreas. European evidence-based guidelines on pancreatic cystic neoplasms. Gut 2018; 6 67: 789-804 [PMID: 29574408 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2018-316027]
- Akshintala VS, Singh VK. Management of Autoimmune Pancreatitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 17: 1937-1939 [PMID: 31042584 7 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2019.04.052]
- 8 Kovacevic B, Karstensen JG, Vilmann P. EUS-FNA vs EUS-FNB for Pancreatic Lesions: Which Needle When to Use? Curr Treat Options Gastro 2021; 19: 295-307 [DOI: 10.1007/s11938-021-00340-3]
- Mizuide M, Ryozawa S, Fujita A, Ogawa T, Katsuda H, Suzuki M, Noguchi T, Tanisaka Y. Complications of Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided 9 Fine Needle Aspiration: A Narrative Review. Diagnostics (Basel) 2020; 10 [PMID: 33213103 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics10110964]
- 10 Gress F, Michael H, Gelrud D, Patel P, Gottlieb K, Singh F, Grendell J. EUS-guided fine-needle aspiration of the pancreas: evaluation of pancreatitis as a complication. Gastrointest Endosc 2002; 56: 864-867 [PMID: 12447299 DOI: 10.1067/mge.2002.129602]
- Tian G, Ye Z, Zhao Q, Jiang T. Complication incidence of EUS-guided pancreas biopsy: A systematic review and meta-analysis of 11 11 thousand population from 78 cohort studies. Asian J Surg 2020; 43: 1049-1055 [PMID: 31974051 DOI: 10.1016/j.asjsur.2019.12.011]
- Banks PA, Bollen TL, Dervenis C, Gooszen HG, Johnson CD, Sarr MG, Tsiotos GG, Vege SS; Acute Pancreatitis Classification Working 12 Group. Classification of acute pancreatitis--2012: revision of the Atlanta classification and definitions by international consensus. Gut 2013; 62: 102-111 [PMID: 23100216 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302779]
- 13 Chen YI, Chatterjee A, Berger R, Kanber Y, Wyse J, Lam E, Gan I, Auger M, Kenshil S, Telford J, Donnellan F, Quinlan J, Lutzak G, Alshamsi F, Parent J, Waschke K, Alghamdi A, Barkun J, Metrakos P, Chaudhury P, Martel M, Dorreen A, Candido K, Miller C, Adam V, Barkun A, Zogopoulos G, Wong C. Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)-guided fine needle biopsy alone vs. EUS-guided fine needle aspiration with rapid onsite evaluation in pancreatic lesions: a multicenter randomized trial. Endoscopy 2022; 54: 4-12 [PMID: 33506455 DOI: 10.1055/a-1375-9775]
- Gonzalez A, Wadhwa V, Singh H, Khan S, Gupta K, Liang H, Hussain I, Vargo J, Jang S, Chahal P, Bhatt A, Siddiki H, Erim T, Sanaka MR. 14 Endoscopic ultrasound with combined fine needle aspiration plus biopsy improves diagnostic yield in solid pancreatic masses. Scand J Gastroenterol 2022; 57: 610-617 [PMID: 34991430 DOI: 10.1080/00365521.2021.2024249]
- 15 Ishigaki K, Nakai Y, Oyama H, Kanai S, Suzuki T, Nakamura T, Sato T, Hakuta R, Saito K, Saito T, Takahara N, Hamada T, Mizuno S, Kogure H, Tada M, Isayama H, Koike K. Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Tissue Acquisition by 22-Gauge Franseen and Standard Needles for Solid Pancreatic Lesions. Gut Liver 2020; 14: 817-825 [PMID: 32457276 DOI: 10.5009/gn119171]
- Kandel P, Nassar A, Gomez V, Raimondo M, Woodward TA, Crook JE, Fares NS, Wallace MB. Comparison of endoscopic ultrasound-guided 16 fine-needle biopsy versus fine-needle aspiration for genomic profiling and DNA yield in pancreatic cancer: a randomized crossover trial. Endoscopy 2021; 53: 376-382 [PMID: 32767288 DOI: 10.1055/a-1223-2171]
- Ribeiro A, Goel A. The Risk Factors for Acute Pancreatitis after Endoscopic Ultrasound Guided Biopsy. Korean J Gastroenterol 2018; 72: 17 135-140 [PMID: 30270595 DOI: 10.4166/kjg.2018.72.3.135]
- 18 Thomsen MM, Larsen MH, Di Caterino T, Hedegaard Jensen G, Mortensen MB, Detlefsen S. Accuracy and clinical outcomes of pancreatic EUS-guided fine-needle biopsy in a consecutive series of 852 specimens. Endosc Ultrasound 2022; 11: 306-318 [PMID: 35708361 DOI: 10.4103/EUS-D-21-00180
- van Riet PA, Larghi A, Attili F, Rindi G, Nguyen NQ, Ruszkiewicz A, Kitano M, Chikugo T, Aslanian H, Farrell J, Robert M, Adeniran A, 19 Van Der Merwe S, Roskams T, Chang K, Lin F, Lee JG, Arcidiacono PG, Petrone M, Doglioni C, Iglesias-Garcia J, Abdulkader I, Giovannini M, Bories E, Poizat F, Santo E, Scapa E, Marmor S, Bucobo JC, Buscaglia JM, Heimann A, Wu M, Baldaque-Silva F, Moro CF, Erler NS, Biermann K, Poley JW, Cahen DL, Bruno MJ. A multicenter randomized trial comparing a 25-gauge EUS fine-needle aspiration device with a 20-gauge EUS fine-needle biopsy device. Gastrointest Endosc 2019; 89: 329-339 [PMID: 30367877 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2018.10.026]
- Integraal Kankercentrum Nederland. NKR-cijfers, dataselectie alvleesklierkanker. 2020. [cited 1 January 2024]. Available from: https:// 20 iknl.nl/nkr-cijfers
- 21 Puckett Y, Garfield K. Pancreatic Cancer. 2022 Sep 26. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 Jan-[PMID: 30085538]
- Lyu Y, Cheng Y, Wang B, Xu Y, Du W. What is impact of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in the prevention of post-endoscopic 22 retrograde cholangiopancreatography pancreatitis: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. BMC Gastroenterol 2018; 18: 106 [PMID: 29973142 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-018-0837-4]
- Pezzilli R, Romboli E, Campana D, Corinaldesi R. Mechanisms involved in the onset of post-ERCP pancreatitis. JOP 2002; 3: 162-168 23 [PMID: 12432182]
- Pezzilli R, Morselli-Labate AM, Corinaldesi R. NSAIDs and Acute Pancreatitis: A Systematic Review. Pharmaceuticals (Basel) 2010; 3: 558-24 571 [PMID: 27713268 DOI: 10.3390/ph3030558]
- Dumonceau JM, Kapral C, Aabakken L, Papanikolaou IS, Tringali A, Vanbiervliet G, Beyna T, Dinis-Ribeiro M, Hritz I, Mariani A, Paspatis 25 G, Radaelli F, Lakhtakia S, Veitch AM, van Hooft JE. ERCP-related adverse events: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline. Endoscopy 2020; 52: 127-149 [PMID: 31863440 DOI: 10.1055/a-1075-4080]



- ASGE Standards of Practice Committee, Chandrasekhara V, Khashab MA, Muthusamy VR, Acosta RD, Agrawal D, Bruining DH, 26 Eloubeidi MA, Fanelli RD, Faulx AL, Gurudu SR, Kothari S, Lightdale JR, Qumseya BJ, Shaukat A, Wang A, Wani SB, Yang J, DeWitt JM. Adverse events associated with ERCP. Gastrointest Endosc 2017; 85: 32-47 [PMID: 27546389 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2016.06.051]
- 27 Sperna Weiland CJ, Smeets XJNM, Verdonk RC, Poen AC, Bhalla A, Venneman NG, Kievit W, Timmerhuis HC, Umans DS, van Hooft JE, Besselink MG, van Santvoort HC, Fockens P, Bruno MJ, Drenth JPH, van Geenen EJM; Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group. Optimal timing of rectal diclofenac in preventing post-endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography pancreatitis. Endosc Int Open 2022; 10: E246-E253 [PMID: 35295242 DOI: 10.1055/a-1675-2108]
- Helleberg L. Clinical Pharmacokinetics of indomethacin. Clin Pharmacokinet 1981; 6: 245-258 [PMID: 7249487 DOI: 28 10.2165/00003088-198106040-00001]
- 29 Todd PA, Sorkin EM. Diclofenac sodium. A reappraisal of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties, and therapeutic efficacy. Drugs 1988; 35: 244-285 [PMID: 3286213 DOI: 10.2165/00003495-198835030-00004]
- 30 Nicolás-Pérez D, Castilla-Rodríguez I, Gimeno-García AZ, Romero-García R, Núñez-Díaz V, Quintero E. Prevention of post-endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography pancreatitis: a cost-effectiveness analysis. Pancreas 2015; 44: 204-210 [PMID: 25406954 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.00000000000245]
- Derry S, Wiffen PJ, Moore RA. Single dose oral diclofenac for acute postoperative pain in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015; 2015: 31 CD004768 [PMID: 26151766 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004768.pub3]
- Padberg S, Tissen-Diabaté T, Dathe K, Hultzsch S, Meixner K, Linsenmeier V, Meister R, Schaefer C. Safety of diclofenac use during early 32 pregnancy: A prospective observational cohort study. Reprod Toxicol 2018; 77: 122-129 [PMID: 29477808 DOI: 10.1016/j.reprotox.2018.02.007
- Eknoyan G, Lameire N, Eckardt K. KDIGO 2012 Clinical Practice Guidelinefor the Evaluation and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease. 33 Kidney int 2013; 3: 5-14
- Chandok N, Watt KD. Pain management in the cirrhotic patient: the clinical challenge. Mayo Clin Proc 2010; 85: 451-458 [PMID: 20357277 34 DOI: 10.4065/mcp.2009.0534]
- Lee KH, Kim EY, Cho J, Kang D, Bang S, Kim HK, Kim GH, Choi HJ, Han JH, Jeon SW, Ryu JK, Moon JS, Lee TH, Cho JW, Kim TH, 35 Cheon YK, Park CH, Lee JK, Moon JH, Cho CM. Risk factors associated with adverse events during endoscopic ultrasound-guided tissue sampling. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0189347 [PMID: 29236743 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0189347]
- O'Toole D, Palazzo L, Arotçarena R, Dancour A, Aubert A, Hammel P, Amaris J, Ruszniewski P. Assessment of complications of EUS-guided 36 fine-needle aspiration. Gastrointest Endosc 2001; 53: 470-474 [PMID: 11275888 DOI: 10.1067/mge.2001.112839]
- Li Z, Liu W, Xu X, Li P. A Meta-Analysis Comparing Endoscopic Ultrasound-guided Fine-needle Aspiration With Endoscopic Ultrasound-37 guided Fine-needle Biopsy. J Clin Gastroenterol 2022; 56: 668-678 [PMID: 35470294 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.00000000001702]
- Khan MA, Grimm IS, Ali B, Nollan R, Tombazzi C, Ismail MK, Baron TH. A meta-analysis of endoscopic ultrasound-fine-needle aspiration 38 compared to endoscopic ultrasound-fine-needle biopsy: diagnostic yield and the value of onsite cytopathological assessment. Endosc Int Open 2017; 5: E363-E375 [PMID: 28497108 DOI: 10.1055/s-0043-101693]
- 39 Matynia AP, Schmidt RL, Barraza G, Layfield LJ, Siddiqui AA, Adler DG. Impact of rapid on-site evaluation on the adequacy of endoscopicultrasound guided fine-needle aspiration of solid pancreatic lesions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014; 29: 697-705 [PMID: 24783248 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.12431]



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

WJC

# World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 817-832

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.817

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

REVIEW

## Autoimmune pancreatitis: Cornerstones and future perspectives

Camilla Gallo, Giulia Dispinzieri, Nicola Zucchini, Pietro Invernizzi, Sara Massironi

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

## Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Liu C, China

Received: November 15, 2023 Peer-review started: November 15, 2023 First decision: December 15, 2023 Revised: December 18, 2023 Accepted: January 25, 2024

Article in press: January 25, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



Camilla Gallo, Giulia Dispinzieri, Pietro Invernizzi, Sara Massironi, Division of Gastroenterology and Center for Autoimmune Liver Diseases, Department of Medicine and Surgery, Fondazione IRCCS San Gerardo dei Tintori; University of Milano-Bicocca, Monza 20900, Italy

Nicola Zucchini, Department of Pathology, Fondazione IRCCS San Gerardo dei Tintori, Monza 20900, Italy

Corresponding author: Sara Massironi, MD, PhD, Chief Physician, Doctor, Medical Assistant, Research Scientist, Division of Gastroenterology and Center for Autoimmune Liver Diseases, Department of Medicine and Surgery, Fondazione IRCCS San Gerardo dei Tintori; University of Milano-Bicocca, 33 Via Pergolesi, Monza 20900, Italy. sara.massironi@libero.it

## Abstract

Autoimmune pancreatitis (AIP) is an autoimmune subtype of chronic pancreatitis resulting from the aberrant immune response against the pancreas, leading to inflammation and fibrosis. Although AIP is rare, its incidence is increasing and is often misdiagnosed as other pancreatic diseases. AIP is commonly classified into two types. Type 1 AIP (AIP-1) is typically associated with elevated serum immunoglobulin G4 (IgG4) levels and systemic manifestations, while type 2 AIP is typically a more localized form of the disease, and may coexist with other autoimmune disorders, especially inflammatory bowel diseases. Additionally, there is emerging recognition of a third type (type 3 AIP), which refers to immunotherapy-triggered AIP, although this classification is still gaining acceptance in medical literature. The clinical manifestations of AIP mainly include painless jaundice and weight loss. Elevated serum IgG4 levels are particularly characteristic of AIP-1. Diagnosis relies on a combination of clinical, laboratory, radiological, and histological findings, given the similarity of AIP symptoms to other pancreatic disorders. The mainstay of treatment for AIP is steroid therapy, which is effective in most cases. Severe cases might require additional immunosuppressive agents. This review aims to summarize the current knowledge of AIP, encompassing its epidemiology, etiology, clinical presentation, diagnosis, and treatment options. We also address the challenges and controversies in diagnosing and treating AIP, such as distinguishing it from pancreatic cancer and managing long-term treatment, highlighting the need for increased awareness and knowledge of this complex disease.

Key Words: Autoimmunity; Pancreatitis; Autoimmune pancreatitis; Immunoglobulin G4; Steroids; Relapse

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



MJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

**Core Tip:** Autoimmune pancreatitis (AIP) is rare and often misdiagnosed. The lymphoplasmacytic sclerosing form, type 1 AIP (AIP-1), represents the pancreatic manifestation of immunoglobulin G4-related disease, while the idiopathic ductal centric form, type 2 AIP (AIP-2), is often associated with inflammatory bowel disease. AIP-1 presents with obstructive jaundice or abnormalities in exocrine and endocrine pancreatic function; AIP-2 usually shows abdominal pain and acute pancreatitis. The atypical mass-forming abnormality of the pancreas implies the need to histologically distinguish AIP form pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Steroids are the first-line therapy for both AIP-1 and AIP-2, rituximab is a good alternative for AIP-1. Given the high relapse rate, long-term maintenance therapy is recommended. Scientific efforts are focusing on target therapies.

**Citation:** Gallo C, Dispinzieri G, Zucchini N, Invernizzi P, Massironi S. Autoimmune pancreatitis: Cornerstones and future perspectives. *World J Gastroenterol* 2024; 30(8): 817-832 **URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/817.htm

**DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.817

#### INTRODUCTION

#### Definition

Autoimmune pancreatitis (AIP) is a relatively rare, specific form of chronic benign pancreatic disease characterized by obstructive jaundice, with or without pancreatic masses, histologic evidence of a specific lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate and fibrosis, and a dramatic response to steroid therapy[1].

Two main forms of AIP have been described: Type 1 AIP (AIP-1), known as lymphoplasmacytic sclerosing pancreatitis, and type 2 AIP (AIP-2), known as idiopathic ductal centric pancreatitis[2], which differ mainly in epidemiology, pathogenesis, clinical presentation, histologic pattern, and natural history.

AIP-1 predominantly affects men in their sixth to seventh decade of life, and is usually painless, although mild epigastric pain may occur in about one third of patients[3]. It represents the pancreatic manifestation of immunoglobulin G4 (IgG4)-related disease (IgG4-RD), a rare, immune-mediated, systemic fibro-inflammatory multi-organ disease that often determines the growth of inflammatory pseudotumors in the affected organs. IgG4-RD usually affects two or more organs, with AIP-1 and IgG4-related cholangitis (IRC) being the most common manifestations (45% of cases overall). However, other possible typical localizations of the disease include retroperitoneal fibrosis, sialadenitis and dacryoad-enitis (Mikulicz disease), Riedel's thyroiditis, mediastinal lymphadenopathy, aortic and/or renal involvement, and interstitial lung disease[4]. Based on the distribution of organ involvement, four characteristic IgG4-RD phenotypes can be distinguished: Pancreatic-hepatobiliary disease, which is the most common; retroperitoneal fibrosis and/or aortitis; disease confined to the head and neck; Mikulicz syndrome with systemic involvement[5]. IgG4-RD is characterized by the following histologic features: lymphoplasmacytic infiltrates rich in IgG4+ plasma cells [> 10 per high-power field (HPF)], storiform fibrosis, and obliterative phlebitis. Circulating IgG4 levels may vary, but the ratio of circulating IgG4 to IgG levels is typically > 10%[6].

AIP-2 usually affects younger subjects without sex differences. It manifests as acute symptomatic pancreatitis, with specific involvement of a single organ. AIP-2 is caused by dysimmune fibro-inflammatory infiltration of the middle and small pancreatic ducts (PDs) and pancreatic acini, leading to the formation of pathognomonic granulocytic epithelial lesions (GELs)[7]. In 15%-30% of cases, AIP-2 is associated with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), typically ulcerative colitis (UC). For this reason, anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies (p-ANCA and c-ANCA) can often be detected in patients with AIP-2[8], although no specific serological markers are currently available: Serum IgG4 Levels are usually normal or only slightly elevated.

A third type of AIP has recently been described: Type 3 AIP (AIP-3) is a mostly asymptomatic or rarely paucisymptomatic form of pancreatic injury that exclusively affects patients with advanced malignancies. It is an iatrogenic entity caused by a non-specific, inflammatory T-cell mediated immune response against PDs and acini, triggered by immune checkpoint inhibitors (often anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA4). The disease typically occurs 4-6 months, rarely more than 12 months, after the start of therapy. It is not characterized by pathognomonic histopathologic lesions, and it is usually seronegative, although elevated IgG4 levels have been occasionally described[9].

#### Epidemiology

Few data are available on the overall prevalence and incidence of AIPs. Among the possible immune-mediated pancreatic disorders, AIP-1 is the most common and accounts for the vast majority of cases[10]; it is more common in Asia than in the United States and European Union[11]. Regarding AIP-1, thanks to the increasing awareness of IgG4-RD and the dissemination of diagnostic guidelines, large-scale epidemiological data have recently been published, mainly from Japan. According to a nationwide epidemiological survey conducted in 2016, AIP-1 showed an incidence of 1-3 cases per 100,000 adults and a prevalence of approximately 10 cases per 100000 adults; compared with previously published data, these results have more than doubled in less than 5 years. The reported male-to-female sex ratio was 2.94:1, and the mean age at diagnosis was 64.8 years[12]. The first raw data published in Italy showed that AIP-1 affects approximately 6% of the general population, and accounts for 61% of AIP cases[3].

On the other hand, AIP-2 is more prevalent in Western countries than in Asia[13], with an estimated prevalence rate of 4.6-6% in acute and chronic pancreatitis and about 1-4 cases per 100000 adults in the general population [2-14]. Only two Asian studies investigated the epidemiology of AIP-2 in IBD patients and reported a prevalence of 0.3%-0.5% [15,16], which is approximately 100-fold higher than in the general population, and may even be underestimated due to the difficulty of diagnosing AIP-2, which often requires histological confirmation. On the other hand, 49%-67% of AIP-2 patients have concomitant IBD, which means that AIP-2 patients have a 12-15-fold higher risk of having a concurrent IBD compared to the general population[17]. According to an Italian multicenter study, AIP-2 accounts for 28% of all AIP cases. Compared to AIP-1, younger people are more likely to be affected, with no significant gender difference between men and women[3].

According to a recent American review on AIP-3, the incidence of AIP-3 among all immune-mediated adverse events with immune checkpoint inhibitors is between 0.6% and 4% [9].

#### Etiopathogenesis

Despite numerous attempts, the pathogenesis of AIP-1 is still unclear. As it is the pancreatic manifestation of IgG4-RD, it is a multifactorial disease in which both genetic and environmental factors play a pivotal role. Genome-wide association studies in IgG4-RD-affected patients revealed a significant association between mutations in human leukocyte antigen DRB1 genes encoding macrophage-type toll-like receptors (TLRs) II major histocompatibility complex (MHC)[4]. The overexpression of certain types of TLRs in the pancreas highlights the central role of the innate immune system in the development of AIP-1. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) may also play a key role in the pathogenesis of AIP: They are involved in host defense against microbial infections and are the major source of type 1 interferons (IFN-I)[18]. The unregulated production of IFN-I and, consequently, of interleukine (IL)-33 by pDCs could underlie AIP-1. IL-33, which is also produced by overexpression of certain types of TLRs, may promote activation of mainly Th2 cells and regulatory T cells that produce IL-4 and IL-10, respectively, which in turn are responsible for switching immunoglobulins to the IgG4 subclass[19]. The role of IgG4 in the development of AIP-1 and IgG4- RD is still unclear, but it is hypothesized that IgG4 may play a role in the activation of the complement system after the presence of immune complexes has been demonstrated in IgG4-RD-affected tissues<sup>[20]</sup>.

In addition to the activation of T helper and T reg CD4+ lymphocytes that follows the interaction between TLRs and MHC-II, also the interaction between T follicular helper (Tfh) cells, especially circulating type 1 Tfh cells, and SLAMF7, a member of the Signaling Lymphocyte Activation Molecule family receptors, promotes IgG4 release[21]. SLAMF7 is implicated in homotypic interactions with activated B cells and, thus, it is involved in disease immunopathogenesis. SLAMF7+ CD4+ cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) are unusual CD4+ cells, which have been shown to express cytotoxic mediators that are typically expressed by CD8+ cells, and have been shown to have the potential to both stimulate fibroblast activation and interact with antigen-presenting B cells[22]. Recent studies have shown that SLAMF7+ CD4+ CTLs are increased in the peripheral blood of subjects with active IgG4-RD, and thus represent a key pathological factor in the disease<sup>[23]</sup>.

Furthermore, cellular components that form the fibro-inflammatory pancreatic aggregate include eosinophils, which are attracted to the pancreatic site primarily by the chemotactic action of eotaxin. It is noteworthy that elevated levels of circulating eotaxin-1 and 3 have been detected in AIP-1 patients[24]. The presence of elevated levels of circulating IgE and IgG4 in IgG4-RD and AIP-1 and the presence of eosinophilic infiltrates in the pancreas suggest that, in addition to genetic predisposition, environmental factors play an important role in the development of AIP-1. Prolonged exposure to certain exogenous antigens and molecular mimicry between these antigens and some autoantigens may lead to overactivity of specific types of TLRs that trigger a dysimmune response directed against the endogenous autoantigens[4].

Regarding the pathogenesis of AIP-2, the Th-17 subset of CD4+ effector T cells plays a crucial role in infiltrating the periductal pancreatic tissue, where they release inflammatory cytokines, mainly IL-17, IL-21, IL-22, and IL-23[25]. The reasons leading to this hyperactivation of Th-17 cells and their migration into pancreatic tissue are not yet clear. However, there may be a link with genetic mutations in the genes for multiple endocrine neoplasia 1 and polycystic kidney and liver disease 1, which are frequently found in AIP-2 patients[26]. Moreover, the pathognomonic AIP-2 GELs consist not only of lymphocytes but mainly of neutrophils that migrate and aggregate in the periductal pancreatic tissue, attracted by the chemotactic function of IL-8, which in turn is stimulated by IL-17[27]. IL-8 was overexpressed not only in AIP-2 cases but also in UC patients, suggesting that it is an immunological biomarker for the coincidence of AIP-2 and UC[28].

The increasing awareness of the relationship between specific alterations in the composition of the gut microbiota and the innate immunological response, and thus the development of autoimmune diseases, led to the hypothesis of a possible role of the microbiota in the etiopathogenesis of AIP, particularly K. Pneumoniae[29]. This possible gut-pancreas axis could apply not only to AIP-2, for which the correlation data between IBD and changes in the gut microbiota are strong but also to AIP-1[30].

Finally, the etiopathogenesis of AIP-3 is closely related to the administration of checkpoint inhibitors, which trigger a non-specific inflammatory immune response mediated by T cells, mainly CD8+ T cells, resulting in an increased ratio of CD8+/CD4+ T lymphocytes[31,32]. In Figure 1, a concise overview of the etiopathogenetic mechanisms underlying AIP-1, AIP-2, and AIP-3 is provided.

#### CLINICAL AND SEROLOGICAL FEATURES

The two main forms of AIP described, AIP-1 and AIP-2, have two distinct clinical phenotypes. AIP-1 occurs mainly in older men and is usually painless. According to an international multicenter study, the most common symptom is



WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

Gallo C. et al. State-of-the-art and upcoming scenario on AIP



Figure 1 Ethiopathology of different types of autoimmune pancreatitis. Ethiopathological mechanisms of type 1 autoimmune pancreatitis, type 2 autoimmune pancreatitis, and type 3 autoimmune pancreatitis. AIP: Autoimmune pancreatitis; IFN: Interferon; IL: Interleukine; TLRs: Toll-like receptors; pDCs: Plasmacytoid dendritic cells; IgG4: Immunoglobulin G4; AIP-1: Type 1 autoimmune pancreatitis; AIP-2: Type 2 autoimmune pancreatitis; AIP-4: Type 3 autoimmune pancreatitis

obstructive jaundice, which occurs in 75% of cases [10] and is thought to be due to compression of the common bile duct by the mass/swelling of the pancreatic head or by direct infiltration of biliary wall with lymphocytes and plasma cells [33]. Less commonly, AIP-1 manifests with abdominal symptoms (in nearly 40% of patients), such as abdominal pain or malaise, and more rarely with acute pancreatitis. Other clinical manifestations include weight loss and abnormalities of exocrine and endocrine pancreatic function, with diabetes mellitus that may occur before (33%), concurrently (52%), or after steroid treatment[6]. It may also manifest as diffuse, focal, or segmental enlargement of the pancreas, mimicking PD adenocarcinoma (PDAC), from which it must be differentiated. As it is the pancreatic manifestation of IgG4-RD, AIP-1 usually occurs with the involvement of other organs, such as biliary stricture, renal involvement, orbital pseudotumor, extensive lymphadenopathy, and retroperitoneal fibrosis. The most common clinical presentation of IgG4-RD sees the involvement of the bilio-pancreatic district, such that AIP-1 and IRC occur together in 80% of cases. It should be noted that although the involvement of other organs supports the diagnosis of AIP, the absence of involvement of other organs does not exclude AIP-1, and isolated pancreatic involvement is seen in approximately 50% of patients [34]. IgG4-RD is a multisystemic fibroinflammatory disease characterized by elevated serum concentration of IgG4 and accumulation of IgG4-expressing plasma cells in the affected organs<sup>[35]</sup>. However, serum IgG4 plays an increasingly minor role in the diagnosis of AIP-1 and IgG4-RD. Recent studies have shown that up to half of patients with biopsy-proven and clinically active IgG4-RD may have normal serum IgG4 concentrations[36]. Furthermore, only 10% of patients with elevated serum IgG4 levels were diagnosed with IgG4-RD, underscoring the lack of specificity of this test[37].

While AIP-1 has a mostly asymptomatic clinical course, AIP-2 manifests more frequently with abdominal pain and acute pancreatitis. Acute pancreatitis occurs in nearly 50% of patients[28]. Other manifestations include painless obstructive jaundice, focal pancreatic masses, and symptomatic PD strictures[38], similar to AIP-1 patients. Compared with AIP-1, AIP-2 typically affects younger patients, with an average age of 40 years, and has no gender predilection. Although AIP-2 can also occur with exclusive pancreatic involvement, a strong association between AIP-2 and concurrent IBD, especially UC, has been reported, as mentioned previously[17]. In most cases, the diagnosis of IBD precedes the diagnosis of AIP-2, but it is unclear whether active IBD plays a role in the development of AIP-2. According to an Italian retrospective study at IBD-AIP, 68% of patients had a prior or concomitant diagnosis of UC, but only 44% had active disease[39]. However, a French study with a similar group of patients shows that 80% of patients had a previous or concomitant diagnosis of IBD, and about 70% had active disease at the onset of AIP[40]. Table 1 resembles the differential characteristics between AIP-1 and AIP-2.

## RADIOLOGICAL PRESENTATION

Contrast-enhanced (CE)-computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MR) (MRI) have proven useful in the imaging diagnosis of AIP. Imaging abnormalities of the pancreas are virtually indistinguishable between AIP-1, AIP-



Table 1 Differential characteristics between type 1 and type 2 autoimmune pancreatitis					
	AIP-1	AIP-2			
Gender (M:F)	3:1	1:1			
Mean age at disease onset	60-70 yr	40-60 yr			
Epidemiology	Asia > Western Countries	Western Countries > Asia			
Main clinical manifestations	Painless jaundice (75%); Abdominal symptoms (40%)	Abdominal pain and acute pancreatitis (50%)			
	Weight loss				
	Diabetes and exocrine pancreatic insufficiency				
Extrapancreatic manifestations	IgG4-related disease extrapanceeatic manifestations (50%) $$	IBD (49%-67%)			
	Hepatobiliary disease				
	Retroperitoneal fibrosis and/or aortitis				
	Head and neck involvement				
	Mikulicz syndrome				
Serum IgG4 levels	Elevated (circulating IgG4 to IgG levels typically > 10%) (50%)	Normal (p-ANCA and c-ANCA autoantibodies often positive)			
Histologic features	Lymphoplasmacytic infiltrates rich in IgG4+ plasma cells	Granulocytic epithelial lesions			
	Storiform fibrosis				
	Obliterative phlebitis				
Steroid therapy	Responsive	Responsive			
Relapse	High rate (39%)	Rare			

AIP: Autoimmune pancreatitis; IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease; ANCA: Anti-neutrophil cytoplasmatic antibodies; IgG: Immunoglobulin G; AIP-1: Type 1 autoimmune pancreatitis; AIP-2: Type 2 autoimmune pancreatitis.

2, and AIP-3[9,41]. The differential diagnosis between these three different nosographic entities is mainly based on the combination of history, clinical presentation, histopathologic findings, and, in the case of IgG4-RD-involvement of the pancreas, the possible presence of combined characteristic radiologic findings reflecting coexisting pathologies in other affected organs[42]. Furthermore, CE-CT and MRI scans do not always allow a correct differential diagnosis between mass-forming AIP and PDAC, which is challenging because of their common epidemiologic and clinical manifestations [43].

Typical CT features of AIP include focal or diffuse sausage-like swellings of the parenchyma with straight margins, rectangular shape of the tail (cut-tail sign), and consequent loss of the typical lobular structure[44] (Figure 2). An exception is elderly patients, in whom the age-related reduction in pancreatic volume may mask the presence of inflammatory swelling of the organ[45].

Due to the presence of fibrosis, the arterial or pancreatic phase of the CE-CT scan typically shows a homogeneous reduced enhancement of the affected areas compared with the normal pancreatic parenchyma, whereas a gradually increasing enhancement is detectable in the delayed phases of the dynamic scan[46,47]. Small areas of normal pancreatic parenchyma may remain focal in association with the affected lesions: such areas maintain normal arterial blood flow and may therefore be visualized as punctate, speckled, or dotted contrast enhancement in the arterial phase[45]. These findings help to distinguish AIP from PDAC[48].

As a result of the physio-pathological accumulation of the fibrotic component at the periphery of the inflammatory areas (be it the pancreas as a whole or the intrapancreatic pseudotumor lesions), a capsular rim demarcates the swollen pancreas and/or the pseudotumoral affected areas, with a typical reduced enhancement in the arterial phase and a progressively increasing enhancement in the delayed phases[49]. PDAC may sometimes have a peripheral rim, but unlike the rim detectable in AIP, it is usually early enhanced in the arterial phase[50]; therefore, the CE behavior of the perilesional rim of AIP with mass-forming AIP may help distinguish AIP from PDAC.

As a consequence of inflammatory involvement of the main PD (MPD), the arterial phase of the CE-CT scan may show a marked hyperdense demarcation of the MPD walls, which are often also thickened (enhanced duct sign)[51].

In particular, the capsular rim and thickened and hyper-enhanced MPD are usually less common in AIP-2, but these differences are not sufficient to make a differential diagnosis with AIP-1 based on radiologic presentation alone[41].

The typical appearance of AIP at CE-MRI is characterized by a diffuse or focal signal of lower intensity on unenhanced T1-weighted MRI images, with an even more hypointense signal in line with the border delineating the entire pancreas or the affected pseudotumoral areas, which are heavily composed of fibrosis. On T2-weighted images, the areas affected by AIP show moderately higher signal intensity, still demarcated by a low-intensity fibrotic rim (Figure 3). The contrastographic behavior of AIP on MRI is the same as that described for CE-CT (Figure 2)[46,47].



Figure 2 Radiological appearance of autoimmune pancreatitis-part 1. A: Unenhanced computed tomography scan appearance of a diffuse autoimmune pancreatitis (AIP): Sausage-like swelling of the parenchyma, with straight margins, and consequent loss of the typical lobular structure. A hypodense fibrotic capsulelike rim demarcates the swollen pancreas (blue arrow); B: Unenhanced T1 weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) appearance of a diffuse AIP: Sausage-like swelling of the parenchyma, with straight margins, and rectangular shape of the tail (cut-tail sign) (orange arrow); C: Arterial phase of the contrast-enhanced T1 weighted MRI: Homogeneous reduced enhancement of the pancreatic parenchyma, with a more hypointense fibrotic capsule-like rim that demarcates the swollen pancreas (orange arrow).



Figure 3 Radiological appearance of autoimmune pancreatitis-part 2. A: Unenhanced T1 weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) images of autoimmune pancreatitis (AIP): Diffuse hypointense pancreas, with an even more hypointense fibrotic capsule-rim; B: Unenhanced T2 weighted MRI images of diffuse AIP: The affected parenchyma shows a moderately higher intensity signal, with a persistently low-intensity fibrotic rim.

On diffusion-weighted images, the presence of highly cellular plasmocyte proliferation is reflected in a homogeneously hyperintense signal of the affected areas, with the mean apparent diffusion coefficient of the lesions being significantly lower in mass-forming AIP than in PDAC[52-54].

Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography images show typical multiple and long MPD skip narrowings without upstream dilatation but with prominent side branches of the PD[55], producing a characteristic radiological sign (icicle sign). In the case of mass-forming AIP, the MPD may penetrate the lesion without complete occlusion (the sign of ductal penetration)[56].

MR elastography results vary considerably depending on the pathological phases of AIP: Recent edematous inflammation is associated with lower stiffness values, whereas chronic fibrotic inflammation is associated with higher stiffness values. However, AIP is generally associated with lower median pancreatic stiffness values than PDAC[57,58].

Concerning the MRI differential diagnosis between mass-forming AIP and PDAC, a multicenter nationwide study highlighted the following features of AIP as the most reliable among all those mentioned above: The presence of long and multiple MPD strictures, the absence of upstream dilatation of the stricture, and the detection of PD side branches originating from a strictured segment (sensitivity 44%-71%, specificity 92%-P < 0.05)[50]. According to a recent Korean meta-analysis, the absence of MPD dilation has the highest pooled sensitivity (87%, 95%CI = 68%-96%), whereas the presence of a peripancreatic rim has the highest pooled specificity (100%, 95%CI = 88%-100%) in distinguishing the two diseases<sup>[43]</sup>.

According to the results of a recent comparative meta-analysis between CT and MRI in terms of diagnostic accuracy in AIP, MRI had significantly higher summary sensitivity than CT (84% vs 59%, P = 0.02) but similar specificity (97% vs 99%, P = 0.18). In the subgroup analysis for mass-forming AIP, sensitivity for discriminating between mass-forming AIP and PDAC was higher for MRI than CT (76% vs 50%, P = 0.28), but specificity was similar for both methods (97% vs 98%, P = 0.07)[59].

On 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) positron emission tomography (PET)-CT, AIP usually shows markedly increased diffuse uptake, which is different from the typical focal PDAC uptake[60]. Some other 18F-FDG parameters, including the SUV<sub>max</sub> ratio between the pancreatic lesion and liver and uptake outside the pancreas in other organs, might help to distinguish the two diseases. Indeed, the SUV<sub>max</sub> ratio between the pancreas and liver in delayed scans is usually higher in PDAC. On the contrary, the presence of increased uptake in the salivary glands, prostate (with a typical "V" shape), and mediastinal, hilar, and para-pancreatic lymph nodes are likely concomitant signs of IgG4- RD with pancreatic



Baishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### involvement[61,62].

Furthermore, since fibrosis is an important feature of IgG4-RD, 68Ga-fibroblast activation protein inhibitor-PET, which uses a recently introduced agent targeting fibroblast activation protein, proved to have high sensitivity in detecting IgG4-related pancreatic, biliary and lacrimal gland involvement, with significantly higher uptake than 18F-FDG-PET[63].

According to a very recent study focusing on the radiological appearance of AIP-3[32], it is consistently associated with acinar injury and pancreatic volume loss. The parenchymal loss is directly proportional to pancreatic enzyme elevation: higher pancreatic enzymes correspond to major parenchymal loss, while near-normal pancreatic enzymes are associated with near-normal radiological pancreatic aspect. These distinct radiological features suggest AIP-3 to be sustained by a novel mechanism of chronic pancreatic injury.

## ENDOSCOPIC ULTRASOUND PRESENTATION AND ENDOSCOPIC ULTRASOUND-GUIDED TISSUE SAMPLING

In the complex scenario of AIP diagnosis, the role of endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) so far can be seen mainly in its ability to biopsy the affected pancreatic parenchyma and thus make a definite AIP diagnosis, which is also different from PDAC. The endoscopic approach of first choice for obtaining pancreatic specimens for histopathological evaluation should be EUS fine-needle biopsy (FNB): According to a recent meta-analysis, FNB needles seem to be more accurate than fine-needle aspiration (FNA) needles in diagnosing AIP, as they guarantee a core biopsy[64,65]. However, the diagnosis of AIP is challenging, even by using EUS and FNA/FNB. The sonographic and cross-sectional findings of AIP closely mimic PDAC, and tissue sampling techniques for diagnosis of AIP still remain suboptimal[66]. Although the diagnostic consistency of histologic diagnosis of type 1 AIP based on the findings obtained by an EUS-guided FNA/FNB is feasible, it remains a challenge and not conclusive[67].

The main EUS findings may be divided into diffuse and focal pictures of AIP. EUS characteristics suggestive of diffuse AIP included diffuse pancreatic enlargement with echo-poor echo texture, hyperechoic foci/stands or lobularity (parenchymal heterogeneity), loss of connection to the splenic vein, hyperechoic MPD walls thickening and peripancreatic hypoechoic margin; stones and cysts similar to those described in chronic alcoholic pancreatitis may occur in the late stages of AIP. In mass-forming AIP, EUS features included focal hypoechoic mass, absence of parenchymal heterogeneity, eventually PD dilation, and vessel involvement. In a recent retrospective study, these pictures were used to construct a prediction diagnostic model, that showed an area under the receiver operating characteristic curve of more than 0.95, with a good capability to distinguish focal AIP from PDAC. By using the optimal cutoff value, the efficacy of the model for diagnosing PDAC showed 83.7%-91.8% sensitivity and 93.3%-95.6% specificity[68]. It is likely that the use of EUS-based convolutional neural networks can help, showing in a recent study, a sensitivity of 99% and a specificity of 98% for distinguishing AIP from normal pancreas, a sensitivity of 94% and a specificity of 71% for distinguishing AIP from chronic pancreatitis, and a sensitivity of 90% and a specificity of 93% for distinguishing AIP from PDAC[66].

EUS elastography may show increased stiffness of the parenchyma. EUS is extremely useful in detecting other typical findings of IgG4- RD AIP, such as changes in the common bile duct and lymphoadenomegaly (Figure 4)[69].

Finally, regarding the natural history of the disease, the typical picture of AIP described above usually improves after steroid treatment: the swelling of the pancreas decreases, the capsular rim disappears, the multiple MPD stenoses improve, and the enhanced duct sign also disappears. Nevertheless, the global CE of the previously affected parenchyma may not completely normalize[54,70]. Table 2 resembles the main radiological features of AIP.

#### HISTOPATHOLOGICAL CHARACTERISTICS

The main morpho-histological features of AIP-1 are dense lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate of the affected areas, distributed mainly lobule-centered but sometimes involving the periductal areas with a resulting slit-like obstruction of the PD; storiform fibrosis composed of spindle-shaped cells and inflammatory cells on a background of delicate collagen; luminal obliteration of the interlobular vein by the lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate, forming obliterative phlebitis. Interobserver variability in the interpretation of storiform fibrosis and obliterative phlebitis is not negligible; additional elastic staining, such as Elastica van Gieson staining, should be considered because it may help reduce interobserver variability[71]. In contrast to the findings typical of AIP-2, organs affected by AIP-1 do not usually show neutrophilic infiltration or abscess formation.

In addition to these typical morphologic features, which have historically been the primary histologic diagnostic criteria for AIP-1, biopsy or resection specimens of AIP-1 exhibit a highly pathognomonic immunohistochemical pattern: Diffuse and massive IgG4+ plasma cell infiltration with > 10 per HPF in biopsy specimens and > 50 per HPF in surgical specimens. For diagnostic purposes, to date, minimally invasive small biopsies have largely replaced surgical resections, and although this development is an achievement for the field, it represents a major challenge for the surgical pathologist. In fact, according to recent studies, around one-half of all small biopsies do not usually meet the pathological criteria for IgG4-RD, being the lack of both storiform-type fibrosis and obliterative phlebitis the most common reason for diagnostic failure. However, despite the lower pathological quality of biopsy samples, which is mainly due to their smaller size, the IgG4/total IgG ratio on biopsy samples proved the same high diagnostic accuracy when compared to the one on resection specimens. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) for IgG4 and total IgG, and the evaluation of IgG4-RD[72]. According to a recent

Table 2 Main radiological features of autoimmune pancreatitis				
CT scan	Diffuse or focal sausage-like swelling			
	Cut-tail sign			
	Homogeneous reduced enhancement with dotted contrast enhancements of normal parenchyma			
	Hypo-enhanced capsule-like rim with delayed enhancement			
	Thickened hyperdense MPD walls			
MRI	Diffuse or focal lower intensity signal on T1-weighted MRI images, with an even more hypointense capsule-rim			
	Moderately higher intensity signal on T2-weighted images, still with a low-intensity fibrotic rim			
	DWI homogeneously hyperintensity			
MRCP	Multiple and long MPD skip narrowings			
	No upstream dilatation			
	Side PD branches (icicle sign)			
	Duct-penetrating sign, in case of mass-forming AIP			
18F-FDG PET-CT	Diffused or focal increased uptake			
EUS	Diffuse pancreatic enlargement, with echopoor echotexture, loss of interface with the splenic vein, concomitant intraparenchymal hyperechoic foci and strands			
	Hyperechoic MPD walls			
	Solitary, irregular, hypoechoic mass, in case of mass-forming AIP, generally in the head of the pancreas, without upstream dilatation of the MPD			
Elastography	Magnified parenchymal stiffness			

AIP: Autoimmune pancreatitis; CT: Computed tomography; MPD: Main pancreatic duct; MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging; MRCP: Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography; FDG: Fluorodeoxyglucose; PET: Positron emission tomography; EUS: Endoscopic ultrasound.



Figure 4 Endoscopic ultrasound appearance of autoimmune pancreatitis. Endoscopic ultrasound aspect of a mass-forming autoimmune pancreatitis: Solitary, irregular hypoechoic mass, located in the head of the pancreas, without upstream dilatation of the main pancreatic duct.

meta-analysis, in fact, the use of IHC for IgG4 in the diagnosis of AIP-1 has a sensitivity and specificity of approximately 70% and 92%, respectively<sup>[73]</sup>.

Although the IgG4/total IgG ratio is emphasized in most diagnostic algorithms, the optimal cutoff has not yet been shared univocally; to date, most studies have utilized a cutoff ranging from 30% to 40% with a higher cutoff corresponding to higher specificity, but proportionally lower sensitivity[74,75].

Of note, treatment can interfere with histological findings and cell counts; on the other hand, also prolonged disease can lead to possible false negative immunohistochemical patterns.

Currently, there are no specific serological markers for AIP-2, so the diagnosis is made based on histology[7]. AIP-2 is characterized by a large inflammatory infiltrate in the pancreas composed mainly of neutrophils but also containing lymphocytes and plasma cells. This inflammation occurs primarily in the PD area, where it forms structures known as GELs[7,76]. AIP-2 can also cause clusters of neutrophils to form inside the ducts. Unlike AIP-1, which is characterized by obliterative phlebitis and storiform fibrosis, these features are less common in AIP-2. In addition, the number of IgG4+ plasma cells is usually not significantly increased in AIP-2, although small pockets of these cells may be present[74].

Baishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

The absence of established histologic patterns for AIP-3 raises questions about its categorization, even if it is important to consider that the field of AIP is still evolving, and our understanding of the disease continues to expand. Therefore, at this stage, referring to this subtype as AIP-3 allows for the recognition of a distinct subgroup within the spectrum of AIP, even in the absence of well-defined histologic patterns. However, it is crucial to continue research efforts to establish clearer diagnostic criteria and classification systems for AIP-3 and other potential subtypes to improve the accuracy of diagnosis and guide appropriate treatment strategies. Figure 5 Histological samples of AIP-1.

## DIAGNOSIS

According to the International Consensus Diagnostic Criteria for AIP, a definitive diagnosis of AIP-1 can be made in diffuse pancreatitis based on clinical, radiological, and serological features. In the presence of atypical mass-forming imaging and concomitant absence of other diagnostic criteria (mainly IgG4-RD extrapancreatic involvement or elevated IgG4+ plasma cells count), histologic evaluation by surgical or EUS-FNB tissue sampling is mandatory to make the definitive diagnosis and differentiate AIP from PDAC. In the latter scenario, the AIP-1 diagnosis can be definitively established if three or more of the following four histologic features are present: lymphoplasmacytic cell infiltration, > 10 per HPF IgG4+ plasma cells (in case of biopsy sampling, otherwise > 50 per HPF in case of surgical specimen), storiform fibrosis, or obliterative phlebitis. In the presence of fewer than three of these histologic features, increased plasma IgG4 cell counts, along with typical imaging features, may help determine the diagnosis: (1) Serum IgG4 level has proven to be a valuable tool in the diagnosis of AIP and it is one of the five cardinal features of Mayo's HISORt criteria for the diagnosis of AIP-1[77], which are based on 5 main diagnostic criteria: Histologic findings, imaging, serology, involvement of other organs, and response to steroid therapy. Indeed, in most cases, AIP patients exhibit significantly elevated levels of serum IgG4, typically exceeding a defined threshold of 135 mg/dL. However, it is important to note that elevated IgG4 levels alone are not sufficient for an AIP diagnosis, as they may also be observed in other conditions, such as IgG4-RD involving multiple organ systems. Therefore, a comprehensive diagnostic approach combining clinical presentation, radiologic imaging, serologic markers (including IgG4 levels), and histopathologic evaluation is critical for accurate diagnosis and differentiation of AIP from mimicking diseases.

With the exact purpose of excluding disease mimics, in 2019 the ACR/EULAR diagnostic criteria were developed. They consist of a three-step classification process: first, at least one of 11 possible organs must be involved in a manner consistent with IgG4-RD; second, 32 clinical, serological, radiological, and pathological exclusion criteria must be verified; third, eight weighted inclusion criteria domains, addressing clinical findings, serological results, radiological assessments, and pathological interpretations, have to be applied. A case meets the classification criteria for IgG4-RD if the entry criteria are met, no exclusion criteria are present, and the total points is  $\geq 20[5]$ .

In the case of an uncertain histologic diagnosis, systems for grading the likelihood of AIP (highly suggestive, probable, inconclusive) based on various combinations of features have been proposed, but they remain to be clinically validated [78-81]. A biopsy showing little or no evidence of AIP cannot exclude AIP with certainty unless a positive alternative diagnosis can be made [75].

Ongoing research in the field of AIP is investigating potential future markers for diagnosis. These markers include subclass analysis of IgG4, serum cytokines [such as IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-alpha], serum microRNAs (*e.g.*, miR-21 and miR-375), autoantibodies targeting pancreatic antigens and advanced imaging techniques (*e.g.*, EUS and MRI). However, further research is needed to validate their clinical utility in routine AIP diagnosis. Integration of these markers with existing diagnostic criteria may improve accuracy in diagnosing AIP.

Definitive AIP-2 diagnosis is histologic and requires the presence of GELs; lobular neutrophil infiltration strengthens the diagnosis[41].

AIP-3 can be diagnosed in the presence of a compatible drug history and by excluding other causes of pancreatitis.

#### INDUCTION THERAPY FOR AIP

According to recent literature data, approximately 25% of cases of AIP show spontaneous resolution of symptoms without medical treatment, with some case series reporting resolution rates up to 55%[82]. Nevertheless, experts from different countries have proposed detailed treatment criteria for acute AIP. A consensus statement published in 2016 stated that therapy is recommended for symptomatic disease (abdominal pain, back pain, fever, obstructive jaundice) or in the case of AIP-1, for asymptomatic patients with persistent pancreatic mass on imaging or persistent liver test abnormalities in case of concomitant IRC[82]. In addition to the above criteria, following the latest United European Gastroenterology (UEG) recommendations, treatment is indicated for subclinical conditions that may lead to severe or irreversible organ failure[75].

Steroids are the first-line therapy for patients with active AIP-1 and 2[75,82]. They inhibit dendritic cell maturation and downstream signal transduction of TLRs; they also inhibit the expression of many proinflammatory cytokines involved in AIP pathogenesis. Based on UEG and Swedish Society of Gastroenterology recommendations, the initial dose of prednisone should be 0.6-0.8 mg/kg per day (typically 30-40 mg/d). The treatment duration at the full dose is one month, with an initial assessment of response to treatment approximately 2 wk after initiation (especially in cases of a diagnostic steroid study). Thereafter, treatment should be gradually tapered by 5 mg/wk to a maintenance dose of 2.5-5 mg/d over 2-3 months[83].



Figure 5 Histology of autoimmune pancreatitis. A: Histological samples of type 1 autoimmune pancreatitis. Hematoxylin eosin (HE) 4, Duct centric lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate; B: HE 10, storiform fibrosis with intense lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate and obliterative phlebitis (arrow); C: HE 4, lobule complete effacement by inflammatory cells and fibrosis; D: Immunoglobulin G4 (IgG4) IIC 20, moderate increase of IgG4+ plasma cells.

Up to 97%-100% of AIP, patients respond to steroid treatment[84,85]. Clinical complete remission is defined as the disappearance of symptoms, normalization of IgG or IgG4 serum levels, and disappearance of typical AIP features on imaging, *i.e.*, mainly shrinkage of the enlarged pancreatic parenchyma and regression of the narrowing of the multistrictured MPD. Incomplete remission is achieved only when one or 2 of these 3 categories are met. Imaging response to steroids is an optional diagnostic criterion, as mentioned earlier. In a small proportion of cases, AIP patients do not show any steroid response[84,85]. Furthermore, some comorbidities may contraindicate long-term steroid treatment[86]. In such cases, rituximab, a monoclonal antibody directed against CD20 B-cell-specific antigen, is the second-line good alternative therapeutic choice for acute AIP-1[75,87], whether monotherapy with immunomodulators (such as azathioprine, 6-mercaptopurine, mycophenolate mofetil, cyclosporine A, tacrolimus, methotrexate, and cyclophosphamide) did not prove sufficient efficacy, but reliable data specifically on AIP-2 are lacking[88].

If rituximab therapy is required for induction remission, the most common regimen includes 1 g of intravenous rituximab on days 0 and 14[75], and it has been shown to guarantee complete remission in up to 83% of patients[89,90]. On the other hand, given their low efficacy as monotherapy, immunomodulators steroid-sparing agents are used mainly in combination with low-dose steroids in steroid-refractory conditions[91].

Minipulse steroid therapy (two administrations of methylprednisolone 500 mg/day for three days with an interval of four days) was described in several Japanese protocols[92].

Specifically concerning AIP-2, colchicine has recently been reported to be a successful treatment option: it inhibits neutrophils and thus reduces the formation of the pathognomonic GELs[93]. There is also emerging evidence suggesting the potential use of biologic medications in the treatment of AIP-2. While corticosteroids remain the first-line therapy for AIP-2, there have been reports of cases where biologic agents, such as anti-TNF-alpha and ustekinumab, have shown promise in managing steroid-refractory or steroid-dependent AIP-2. These patients have often been effectively treated with anti-TNF-alpha agents, which are also indicated for frequent concomitant IBD[7]. In a recent letter by Lauri, two cases of AIP-2 were reported to have been safety and successfully treated with ustekinumab, a monoclonal antibody that targets interleukin-12 and interleukin-23, used for concomitant IBD. This treatment option highlights the potential efficacy of ustekinumab in managing AIP-2, although further research and clinical trials are needed to validate its effectiveness in a larger patient population[94].

AIP-3 therapy is essentially based on the discontinuation of immune checkpoint inhibitors and supportive therapy. Indeed, the role of corticosteroids and immunosuppressants is not well understood. A retrospective study of 82 patients with AIP-3 found no statistically significant differences in the duration of symptoms or hospitalization between patients treated with corticosteroids and patients not treated with them[95]. Furthermore, steroid use in these immunocompromised patients with advanced malignancies carries a significantly increased risk of infectious events[96].

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### DISEASE RELAPSES

Relapses are significantly more common with AIP-1 (nearly 60% of cases) than with AIP-2 (9%-25%); the relapse rate in AIP-IBD patients appears to be similar to that of isolated AIP-2[97].

The main factors predicting relapse are young age, high serum IgG4 levels at disease onset, persistently high serum levels after treatment, diffuse enlargement of the pancreas, concurrent evidence of IRC, especially if proximal, or extensive multiorgan involvement [98]. Also, elevated levels of circulating IgE and/or eosinophils, and the presence of rich-in-eosinophils pancreatic infiltrate at histology represent other risk factors for disease relapse that need to be considered. Lastly, prolonged exposure to certain exogenous antigens may lead to overactivity of specific types of TLRs that may perpetuate a dysimmune response[4].

Given the high relapse rate in AIP-1, long-term maintenance therapy is recommended, especially for patients with a known high risk of relapse. Current guidelines recommend low-dose (5 mg/d) maintenance treatment with steroids for 2-3 years[99]. To reduce the risk of adverse events and lifetime cumulative steroid dose, the use of steroid-sparing agents is an alternative treatment strategy. According to a recent meta-analysis, nearly 40% of the cases relapse on immunosuppressive agents (azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil, methotrexate, tacrolimus, and cyclophosphamide). To date, no study that compares the efficacy of different immunosuppressive has been published and the interpretation of the efficacy of conventional immunosuppressive medications is hampered by concomitant glucocorticoid use[100]. Also in the case of maintenance therapy, rituximab with the same induction scheme proved to be superior to immunomodulatory drugs in terms of efficacy[101]: 100% rituximab vs 81% azathioprine vs 72% other immunosuppressant[100].

In AIP-2, maintenance therapy is unnecessary in most patients unless certified risk factors are present; in the latter case, anti-TNF-alpha agents have been shown to be effective[7].

In cases of proven recurrent AIP, re-administration of a high dose of glucocorticoids with a slow steroid taper is effective[99].

Concerning AIP-3, it is not appropriate to refer to the risk of disease recurrence but rather to emphasize that after the acute event has resolved, the disease evolves in up to 36% of cases to a treatment-emergent stage of glandular atrophy with endocrine and exocrine insufficiency, associated with markedly reduced overall survival [102].

#### CONCLUSION

Given the multitude of mechanisms that explain the etiopathogenesis of AIP, great scientific efforts are being made to find new effective target therapies. As mentioned earlier, given the chemotactic role of eotaxin on inflammatory cells, attention is being paid to the development of targeted anti-eotaxin therapy<sup>[24]</sup>. Because increased production of IFN-I and IL-33 by pDCs promotes the chronic inflammation and fibrosis characteristic of AIP and IgG4- RD, neutralization of IFN-I and IL-33 may represent a new therapeutic option for these diseases. The anti-IFN-I therapeutics anifrolumab and sifalimumab and the anti-IL-33 therapeutic etokimab have been successfully used in systemic lupus erythematosus, but reliable data are not yet available for AIP in humans[35].

In addition, targeted therapies against B-cell lineage plasmablasts and CD4+ T cells (such as anti-CD19 inebilizumab, an inhibitor of B-cell activating factor ianalumab, anti-CD80/86 abatacept, anti-LOX2 simtuzumab, anti-SLAMF7 elotuzumab, or anti-CD38 daratumumab) have recently been proposed[103].

Finally, regarding the possible role of the microbiota in the etiopathogenesis of AIP, manipulation of the gut microbiota through prebiotics, probiotics, symbiotics, and fecal microbiota transplantation may represent a future prophylactic perspective, possibly targeting IgG4-RD and/or IBD patients. Indeed, early studies in mice have shown that sterilization of the gut leads to a significant reduction in the accumulation of pDCs in the pancreas that produce IFN-I and IL-33[104].

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Gallo C writing and supervising; Dispinzieri G writing; Zucchini N writing and figures editing; Massironi S coordinationg and supervising; Invernizzi P supervising.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** Authors declare no conflict of interests for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Camilla Gallo 0000-0002-7598-7220; Pietro Invernizzi 0000-0003-3262-1998; Sara Massironi 0000-0003-3214-8192.

S-Editor: Qu XL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YX



## REFERENCES

- Shimosegawa T, Chari ST, Frulloni L, Kamisawa T, Kawa S, Mino-Kenudson M, Kim MH, Klöppel G, Lerch MM, Löhr M, Notohara K, 1 Okazaki K, Schneider A, Zhang L; International Association of Pancreatology. International consensus diagnostic criteria for autoimmune pancreatitis: guidelines of the International Association of Pancreatology. Pancreas 2011; 40: 352-358 [PMID: 21412117 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e3182142fd2
- Sah RP, Chari ST, Pannala R, Sugumar A, Clain JE, Levy MJ, Pearson RK, Smyrk TC, Petersen BT, Topazian MD, Takahashi N, Farnell MB, 2 Vege SS. Differences in clinical profile and relapse rate of type 1 versus type 2 autoimmune pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2010; 139: 140-8; quiz e12 [PMID: 20353791 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.03.054]
- Barresi L, Tacelli M, Crinò SF, Attili F, Petrone MC, De Nucci G, Carrara S, Manfredi G, Capurso G, De Angelis CG, Crocellà L, Fantin A, 3 Dore MF, Garribba AT, Tarantino I, De Pretis N, Pagliari D, Rossi G, Manes G, Preatoni P, Barbuscio I, Tuzzolino F, Traina M, Frulloni L, Costamagna G, Arcidiacono PG, Buscarini E, Pezzilli R; Italian Association of Hospital Gastroenterologists and Endoscopists (AIGO), Italian Association for the Study of the Pancreas (AISP). Multicentric Italian survey on daily practice for autoimmune pancreatitis: Clinical data, diagnosis, treatment, and evolution toward pancreatic insufficiency. United European Gastroenterol J 2020; 8: 705-715 [PMID: 32397913 DOI: 10.1177/2050640620924302]
- 4 Löhr JM, Vujasinovic M, Rosendahl J, Stone JH, Beuers U. IgG4-related diseases of the digestive tract. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; **19**: 185-197 [PMID: 34750548 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-021-00529-y]
- 5 Wallace ZS, Naden RP, Chari S, Choi HK, Della-Torre E, Dicaire JF, Hart PA, Inoue D, Kawano M, Khosroshahi A, Lanzillotta M, Okazaki K, Perugino CA, Sharma A, Saeki T, Schleinitz N, Takahashi N, Umehara H, Zen Y, Stone JH; Members of the ACR/EULAR IgG4-RD Classification Criteria Working Group. The 2019 American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism classification criteria for IgG4-related disease. Ann Rheum Dis 2020; 79: 77-87 [PMID: 31796497 DOI: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2019-216561]
- Khandelwal A, Inoue D, Takahashi N. Autoimmune pancreatitis: an update. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2020; 45: 1359-1370 [PMID: 31650376 DOI: 6 10.1007/s00261-019-02275-x]
- de Pretis N, Frulloni L. Autoimmune pancreatitis type 2. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2020; 36: 417-420 [PMID: 32618613 DOI: 10.1097/MOG.00000000000655]
- Zen Y, Grammatikopoulos T, Hadzic N. Autoimmune pancreatitis in children: insights into the diagnostic challenge. J Pediatr Gastroenterol 8 Nutr 2014; 59: e42-e45 [PMID: 25347159 DOI: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e3182994559]
- 9 Sayed Ahmed A, Abreo M, Thomas A, Chari ST. Type 3 autoimmune pancreatitis (immune checkpoint inhibitor-induced pancreatitis). Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2022; 38: 516-520 [PMID: 35881977 DOI: 10.1097/MOG.00000000000873]
- Kamisawa T, Chari ST, Giday SA, Kim MH, Chung JB, Lee KT, Werner J, Bergmann F, Lerch MM, Mayerle J, Pickartz T, Lohr M, 10 Schneider A, Frulloni L, Webster GJ, Reddy DN, Liao WC, Wang HP, Okazaki K, Shimosegawa T, Kloeppel G, Go VL. Clinical profile of autoimmune pancreatitis and its histological subtypes: an international multicenter survey. Pancreas 2011; 40: 809-814 [PMID: 21747310 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e3182258a15]
- 11 Hardacre JM, Iacobuzio-Donahue CA, Sohn TA, Abraham SC, Yeo CJ, Lillemoe KD, Choti MA, Campbell KA, Schulick RD, Hruban RH, Cameron JL, Leach SD. Results of pancreaticoduodenectomy for lymphoplasmacytic sclerosing pancreatitis. Ann Surg 2003; 237: 853-8; discussion 858 [PMID: 12796582 DOI: 10.1097/01.SLA.0000071516.54864.C1]
- Masamune A, Kikuta K, Hamada S, Tsuji I, Takeyama Y, Shimosegawa T, Okazaki K; Collaborators. Nationwide epidemiological survey of 12 autoimmune pancreatitis in Japan in 2016. J Gastroenterol 2020; 55: 462-470 [PMID: 31872350 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-019-01658-7]
- 13 Hart PA, Kamisawa T, Brugge WR, Chung JB, Culver EL, Czakó L, Frulloni L, Go VL, Gress TM, Kim MH, Kawa S, Lee KT, Lerch MM, Liao WC, Löhr M, Okazaki K, Ryu JK, Schleinitz N, Shimizu K, Shimosegawa T, Soetikno R, Webster G, Yadav D, Zen Y, Chari ST. Longterm outcomes of autoimmune pancreatitis: a multicentre, international analysis. Gut 2013; 62: 1771-1776 [PMID: 23232048 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303617]
- Kanno A, Masamune A, Okazaki K, Kamisawa T, Kawa S, Nishimori I, Tsuji I, Shimosegawa T; Research Committee of Intractable Diseases 14 of the Pancreas. Nationwide epidemiological survey of autoimmune pancreatitis in Japan in 2011. Pancreas 2015; 44: 535-539 [PMID: 25815647 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.000000000000325]
- 15 Ueki T, Kawamoto K, Otsuka Y, Minoda R, Maruo T, Matsumura K, Noma E, Mitsuyasu T, Otani K, Aomi Y, Yano Y, Hisabe T, Matsui T, Ota A, Iwashita A. Prevalence and clinicopathological features of autoimmune pancreatitis in Japanese patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Pancreas 2015; 44: 434-440 [PMID: 25469544 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.000000000000261]
- 16 Park SH, Kim D, Ye BD, Yang SK, Kim JH, Yang DH, Jung KW, Kim KJ, Byeon JS, Myung SJ, Kim MH. The characteristics of ulcerative colitis associated with autoimmune pancreatitis. J Clin Gastroenterol 2013; 47: 520-525 [PMID: 23426453 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.0b013e31827fd4a2
- Massironi S, Fanetti I, Viganò C, Pirola L, Fichera M, Cristoferi L, Capurso G, Invernizzi P, Danese S. Systematic review-pancreatic 17 involvement in inflammatory bowel disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2022; 55: 1478-1491 [PMID: 35505465 DOI: 10.1111/apt.16949]
- Swiecki M, Colonna M. The multifaceted biology of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Nat Rev Immunol 2015; 15: 471-485 [PMID: 26160613 18 DOI: 10.1038/nri3865]
- Kurimoto M, Watanabe T, Kamata K, Minaga K, Kudo M. IL-33 as a Critical Cytokine for Inflammation and Fibrosis in Inflammatory Bowel 19 Diseases and Pancreatitis. Front Physiol 2021; 12: 781012 [PMID: 34759844 DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2021.781012]
- Kawa S. The Immunobiology of Immunoglobulin G4 and Complement Activation Pathways in IgG4-Related Disease. Curr Top Microbiol 20 Immunol 2017; 401: 61-73 [PMID: 27726003 DOI: 10.1007/82\_2016\_39]
- Higashioka K, Ota Y, Maehara T, Moriyama M, Ayano M, Mitoma H, Akahoshi M, Arinobu Y, Horiuchi T, Nakamura S, Akashi K, Niiro H. 21 Association of circulating SLAMF7(+)Tfh1 cells with IgG4 levels in patients with IgG4-related disease. BMC Immunol 2020; 21: 31 [PMID: 32487061 DOI: 10.1186/s12865-020-00361-0]
- 22 Mattoo H, Mahajan VS, Maehara T, Deshpande V, Della-Torre E, Wallace ZS, Kulikova M, Drijvers JM, Daccache J, Carruthers MN, Castelino FV, Stone JR, Stone JH, Pillai S. Clonal expansion of CD4(+) cytotoxic T lymphocytes in patients with IgG4-related disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2016; 138: 825-838 [PMID: 26971690 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.12.1330]
- Della-Torre E, Bozzalla-Cassione E, Sciorati C, Ruggiero E, Lanzillotta M, Bonfiglio S, Mattoo H, Perugino CA, Bozzolo E, Rovati L, 23 Arcidiacono PG, Balzano G, Lazarevic D, Bonini C, Falconi M, Stone JH, Dagna L, Pillai S, Manfredi AA. A CD8a- Subset of CD4+SLAMF7+ Cytotoxic T Cells Is Expanded in Patients With IgG4-Related Disease and Decreases Following Glucocorticoid Treatment. Arthritis Rheumatol 2018; 70: 1133-1143 [PMID: 29499100 DOI: 10.1002/art.40469]



- Mari A, Kadah A, Mahamid M, Sbeit W, Khoury T. IgG4 Related Autoimmune Pancreatitis: An Overview and the Emerging Role of Serum 24 Eotaxin as a Potential Treatment Target. Isr Med Assoc J 2019; 21: 620-623 [PMID: 31542909]
- Loos M, Lauffer F, Schlitter AM, Kleeff J, Friess H, Klöppel G, Esposito I. Potential role of Th17 cells in the pathogenesis of type 2 25 autoimmune pancreatitis. Virchows Arch 2015; 467: 641-648 [PMID: 26427656 DOI: 10.1007/s00428-015-1850-4]
- Dong F, Chen QQ, Zhuang ZH, He QL, Wang FQ, Liu QC, Liu HK, Wang Y. Multiple gene mutations in patients with type 2 autoimmune 26 pancreatitis and its clinical features. Cent Eur J Immunol 2014; 39: 77-82 [PMID: 26155104 DOI: 10.5114/ceji.2014.42129]
- Ku Y, Hong SM, Fujikura K, Kim SJ, Akita M, Abe-Suzuki S, Shiomi H, Masuda A, Itoh T, Azuma T, Kim MH, Zen Y. IL-8 Expression in 27 Granulocytic Epithelial Lesions of Idiopathic Duct-centric Pancreatitis (Type 2 Autoimmune Pancreatitis). Am J Surg Pathol 2017; 41: 1129-1138 [PMID: 28614208 DOI: 10.1097/PAS.00000000000891]
- Hart PA, Levy MJ, Smyrk TC, Takahashi N, Abu Dayyeh BK, Clain JE, Gleeson FC, Pearson RK, Petersen BT, Topazian MD, Vege SS, 28 Zhang L, Chari ST. Clinical profiles and outcomes in idiopathic duct-centric chronic pancreatitis (type 2 autoimmune pancreatitis): the Mayo Clinic experience. Gut 2016; 65: 1702-1709 [PMID: 26085439 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309275]
- 29 Kamata K, Watanabe T, Minaga K, Hara A, Sekai I, Otsuka Y, Yoshikawa T, Park AM, Kudo M. Gut microbiome alterations in type 1 autoimmune pancreatitis after induction of remission by prednisolone. Clin Exp Immunol 2020; 202: 308-320 [PMID: 32880930 DOI: 10.1111/cei.13509]
- 30 Schepis T, De Lucia SS, Nista EC, Manilla V, Pignataro G, Ojetti V, Piccioni A, Gasbarrini A, Franceschi F, Candelli M. Microbiota in Pancreatic Diseases: A Review of the Literature. J Clin Med 2021; 10 [PMID: 34945216 DOI: 10.3390/jcm10245920]
- 31 Liu Y, Zhang H, Zhou L, Li W, Yang L, Li K, Liu X. Immunotherapy-Associated Pancreatic Adverse Events: Current Understanding of Their Mechanism, Diagnosis, and Management. Front Oncol 2021; 11: 627612 [PMID: 33732647 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2021.627612]
- 32 Thomas AS, Abreo M, Sayed SA, Sireesha Yedururi YW, Chari ST. Autoimmune Pancreatitis Secondary to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitor Therapy (Type 3 AIP): Insights Into a New Disease From Serial Pancreatic Imaging. Gastroenterology 2023; 164: 154-155 [PMID: 36220459 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2022.09.042]
- 33 Adsay NV, Basturk O, Thirabanjasak D. Diagnostic features and differential diagnosis of autoimmune pancreatitis. Semin Diagn Pathol 2005; 22: 309-317 [PMID: 16939059 DOI: 10.1053/j.semdp.2006.04.008]
- Nagpal SJS, Sharma A, Chari ST. Autoimmune Pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2018; 113: 1301 [PMID: 29910463 DOI: 34 10.1038/s41395-018-0146-0
- Minaga K, Watanabe T, Hara A, Yoshikawa T, Kamata K, Kudo M. Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells as a New Therapeutic Target for 35 Autoimmune Pancreatitis and IgG4-Related Disease. Front Immunol 2021; 12: 713779 [PMID: 34367181 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.713779]
- Wallace ZS, Deshpande V, Mattoo H, Mahajan VS, Kulikova M, Pillai S, Stone JH. IgG4-Related Disease: Clinical and Laboratory Features 36 in One Hundred Twenty-Five Patients. Arthritis Rheumatol 2015; 67: 2466-2475 [PMID: 25988916 DOI: 10.1002/art.39205]
- Bledsoe JR, Della-Torre E, Rovati L, Deshpande V. IgG4-related disease: review of the histopathologic features, differential diagnosis, and 37 therapeutic approach. APMIS 2018; 126: 459-476 [PMID: 29924455 DOI: 10.1111/apm.12845]
- Majumder S, Takahashi N, Chari ST. Autoimmune Pancreatitis. Dig Dis Sci 2017; 62: 1762-1769 [PMID: 28365915 DOI: 38 10.1007/s10620-017-4541-y]
- 39 Conti Bellocchi MC, Marconato E, Lamonaca L, Cattani Mottes M, Ciccocioppo R, Carrara S, de Pretis N, Gabbrielli A, Crinò SF, Frulloni L. The features and clinical outcomes of inflammatory bowel disease associated with autoimmune pancreatitis: A greater awareness is needed. Medicine (Baltimore) 2022; 101: e28602 [PMID: 35089195 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000028602]
- Lorenzo D, Maire F, Stefanescu C, Gornet JM, Seksik P, Serrero M, Bournet B, Marteau P, Amiot A, Laharie D, Trang C, Coffin B, Bellaiche 40 G, Cadiot G, Reenaers C, Racine A, Viennot S, Pauwels A, Bouguen G, Savoye G, Pelletier AL, Pineton de Chambrun G, Lahmek P, Nahon S, Abitbol V; GETAID-AIP study group. Features of Autoimmune Pancreatitis Associated With Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 16: 59-67 [PMID: 28782667 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.07.033]
- Zen Y. Type 2 Autoimmune Pancreatitis: Consensus and Controversies. Gut Liver 2022; 16: 357-365 [PMID: 34670874 DOI: 41 10.5009/gn12102411
- Negrelli R, Boninsegna E, Avesani G, Zamboni GA, Brozzi L, Frulloni L, Manfredi R, Pozzi Mucelli R. Type 1 and Type 2 Autoimmune 42 Pancreatitis: Distinctive Clinical and Pathological Features, But Are There Any Differences at Magnetic Resonance? Experience From a Referral Center. Pancreas 2018; 47: 1115-1122 [PMID: 30141780 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.000000000001142]
- 43 Ha J, Choi SH, Kim KW, Kim JH, Kim HJ. MRI features for differentiation of autoimmune pancreatitis from pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Dig Liver Dis 2022; 54: 849-856 [PMID: 34903501 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2021.11.013]
- Haaga JR, Alfidi RJ, Zelch MG, Meany TF, Boller M, Gonzalez L, Jelden GL. Computed tomography of the pancreas. Radiology 1976; 120: 44 589-595 [PMID: 781727 DOI: 10.1148/120.3.589]
- Ogawa H, Takehara Y, Naganawa S. Imaging diagnosis of autoimmune pancreatitis: computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging. 45 J Med Ultrason (2001) 2021; 48: 565-571 [PMID: 34698963 DOI: 10.1007/s10396-021-01145-8]
- Rehnitz C, Klauss M, Singer R, Ehehalt R, Werner J, Büchler MW, Kauczor HU, Grenacher L. Morphologic patterns of autoimmune 46 pancreatitis in CT and MRI. Pancreatology 2011; 11: 240-251 [PMID: 21625195 DOI: 10.1159/000327708]
- 47 Takahashi N, Fletcher JG, Hough DM, Fidler JL, Kawashima A, Mandrekar JN, Chari ST. Autoimmune pancreatitis: differentiation from pancreatic carcinoma and normal pancreas on the basis of enhancement characteristics at dual-phase CT. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2009; 193: 479-484 [PMID: 19620446 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.08.1883]
- Wakabayashi T, Kawaura Y, Satomura Y, Watanabe H, Motoo Y, Okai T, Sawabu N. Clinical and imaging features of autoimmune 48 pancreatitis with focal pancreatic swelling or mass formation: comparison with so-called tumor-forming pancreatitis and pancreatic carcinoma. Am J Gastroenterol 2003; 98: 2679-2687 [PMID: 14687817 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2003.08727.x]
- Suzuki K, Itoh S, Nagasaka T, Ogawa H, Ota T, Naganawa S. CT findings in autoimmune pancreatitis: assessment using multiphase contrast-49 enhanced multisection CT. Clin Radiol 2010; 65: 735-743 [PMID: 20696301 DOI: 10.1016/j.crad.2010.06.002]
- Sugumar A, Levy MJ, Kamisawa T, Webster GJ, Kim MH, Enders F, Amin Z, Baron TH, Chapman MH, Church NI, Clain JE, Egawa N, 50 Johnson GJ, Okazaki K, Pearson RK, Pereira SP, Petersen BT, Read S, Sah RP, Sandanayake NS, Takahashi N, Topazian MD, Uchida K, Vege SS, Chari ST. Endoscopic retrograde pancreatography criteria to diagnose autoimmune pancreatitis: an international multicentre study. Gut 2011; 60: 666-670 [PMID: 21131631 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2010.207951]
- 51 Kawai Y, Suzuki K, Itoh S, Takada A, Mori Y, Naganawa S. Autoimmune pancreatitis: assessment of the enhanced duct sign on multiphase contrast-enhanced computed tomography. Eur J Radiol 2012; 81: 3055-3060 [PMID: 22613506 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2012.04.023]



- Muhi A, Ichikawa T, Motosugi U, Sou H, Sano K, Tsukamoto T, Fatima Z, Araki T. Mass-forming autoimmune pancreatitis and pancreatic 52 carcinoma: differential diagnosis on the basis of computed tomography and magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography, and diffusionweighted imaging findings. J Magn Reson Imaging 2012; 35: 827-836 [PMID: 22069025 DOI: 10.1002/jmri.22881]
- Choi SY, Kim SH, Kang TW, Song KD, Park HJ, Choi YH. Differentiating Mass-Forming Autoimmune Pancreatitis From Pancreatic Ductal 53 Adenocarcinoma on the Basis of Contrast-Enhanced MRI and DWI Findings. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2016; 206: 291-300 [PMID: 26797355 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.15.14974]
- 54 Sekito T, Ishii Y, Serikawa M, Tsuboi T, Kawamura R, Tsushima K, Nakamura S, Hirano T, Fukiage A, Mori T, Ikemoto J, Kiyoshita Y, Saeki S, Tamura Y, Miyamoto S, Chayama K. The role of apparent diffusion coefficient value in the diagnosis of localized type 1 autoimmune pancreatitis: differentiation from pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma and evaluation of response to steroids. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2021; 46: 2014-2024 [PMID: 33386451 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-020-02907-7]
- 55 Hur BY, Lee JM, Lee JE, Park JY, Kim SJ, Joo I, Shin CI, Baek JH, Kim JH, Han JK, Choi BI. Magnetic resonance imaging findings of the mass-forming type of autoimmune pancreatitis: comparison with pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J Magn Reson Imaging 2012; 36: 188-197 [PMID: 22371378 DOI: 10.1002/jmri.23609]
- Kim HJ, Kim YK, Jeong WK, Lee WJ, Choi D. Pancreatic duct "Icicle sign" on MRI for distinguishing autoimmune pancreatitis from 56 pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma in the proximal pancreas. Eur Radiol 2015; 25: 1551-1560 [PMID: 25501271 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-014-3548-4]
- 57 Shi Y, Cang L, Zhang X, Cai X, Wang X, Ji R, Wang M, Hong Y. The use of magnetic resonance elastography in differentiating autoimmune pancreatitis from pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: A preliminary study. Eur J Radiol 2018; 108: 13-20 [PMID: 30396645 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2018.09.001]
- Ohno E, Hirooka Y, Kawashima H, Ishikawa T, Tanaka H, Sakai D, Ishizu Y, Kuzuya T, Nakamura M, Honda T. Feasibility and usefulness of 58 endoscopic ultrasonography-guided shear-wave measurement for assessment of autoimmune pancreatitis activity: a prospective exploratory study. J Med Ultrason (2001) 2019; 46: 425-433 [PMID: 30993580 DOI: 10.1007/s10396-019-00944-4]
- 59 Ha J, Choi SH, Byun JH, Kim KW, Kim SY, Kim JH, Kim HJ. Meta-analysis of CT and MRI for differentiation of autoimmune pancreatitis from pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Eur Radiol 2021; 31: 3427-3438 [PMID: 33146798 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-020-07416-1]
- 60 Lee TY, Kim MH, Park DH, Seo DW, Lee SK, Kim JS, Lee KT. Utility of 18F-FDG PET/CT for differentiation of autoimmune pancreatitis with atypical pancreatic imaging findings from pancreatic cancer. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2009; 193: 343-348 [PMID: 19620430 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.08.2297]
- Zhang J, Jia G, Zuo C, Jia N, Wang H. (18)F-FDG PET/CT helps differentiate autoimmune pancreatitis from pancreatic cancer. BMC Cancer 61 2017; 17: 695 [PMID: 29061130 DOI: 10.1186/s12885-017-3665-y]
- Cheng MF, Guo YL, Yen RF, Chen YC, Ko CL, Tien YW, Liao WC, Liu CJ, Wu YW, Wang HP. Clinical Utility of FDG PET/CT in Patients 62 with Autoimmune Pancreatitis: a Case-Control Study. Sci Rep 2018; 8: 3651 [PMID: 29483544 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-018-21996-5]
- 63 Luo Y, Pan Q, Yang H, Peng L, Zhang W, Li F. Fibroblast Activation Protein-Targeted PET/CT with (68)Ga-FAPI for Imaging IgG4-Related Disease: Comparison to (18)F-FDG PET/CT. J Nucl Med 2021; 62: 266-271 [PMID: 32513902 DOI: 10.2967/jnumed.120.244723]
- de Pretis N, Crinò SF, Frulloni L. The Role of EUS-Guided FNA and FNB in Autoimmune Pancreatitis. Diagnostics (Basel) 2021; 11 [PMID: 64 34573995 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics11091653]
- Kanno A, Tamada K, Fukushima N, Lefor AK, Yamamoto H. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided tissue acquisition for the histopathological 65 diagnosis of autoimmune pancreatitis. J Med Ultrason (2001) 2021; 48: 555-563 [PMID: 34669069 DOI: 10.1007/s10396-021-01144-9]
- Marya NB, Powers PD, Chari ST, Gleeson FC, Leggett CL, Abu Dayyeh BK, Chandrasekhara V, Iyer PG, Majumder S, Pearson RK, Petersen 66 BT, Rajan E, Sawas T, Storm AC, Vege SS, Chen S, Long Z, Hough DM, Mara K, Levy MJ. Utilisation of artificial intelligence for the development of an EUS-convolutional neural network model trained to enhance the diagnosis of autoimmune pancreatitis. Gut 2021; 70: 1335-1344 [PMID: 33028668 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322821]
- Notohara K, Kamisawa T, Furukawa T, Fukushima N, Uehara T, Kasashima S, Iwasaki E, Kanno A, Kawashima A, Kubota K, Kuraishi Y, 67 Motoya M, Naitoh I, Nishino T, Sakagami J, Shimizu K, Tomono T, Aishima S, Fukumura Y, Hirabayashi K, Kojima M, Mitsuhashi T, Naito Y, Ohike N, Tajiri T, Yamaguchi H, Fujiwara H, Ibuki E, Kobayashi S, Miyaoka M, Nagase M, Nakashima J, Nakayama M, Oda S, Taniyama D, Tsuyama S, Watanabe S, Ikeura T, Kawa S, Okazaki K. Concordance of the histological diagnosis of type 1 autoimmune pancreatitis and its distinction from pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma with endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle biopsy specimens: an interobserver agreement study. Virchows Arch 2022; 480: 565-575 [PMID: 34820715 DOI: 10.1007/s00428-021-03236-w]
- Guo T, Xu T, Zhang S, Lai Y, Wu X, Wu D, Feng Y, Jiang Q, Wang Q, Qian J, Yang A. The role of EUS in diagnosing focal autoimmune 68 pancreatitis and differentiating it from pancreatic cancer. Endosc Ultrasound 2021; 10: 280-287 [PMID: 34213428 DOI: 10.4103/EUS-D-20-00212]
- Buscarini E, De Lisi S, Arcidiacono PG, Petrone MC, Fuini A, Conigliaro R, Manfredi G, Manta R, Reggio D, De Angelis C. Endoscopic 69 ultrasonography findings in autoimmune pancreatitis. World J Gastroenterol 2011; 17: 2080-2085 [PMID: 21547126 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v17.i16.2080
- Manfredi R, Frulloni L, Mantovani W, Bonatti M, Graziani R, Pozzi Mucelli R. Autoimmune pancreatitis: pancreatic and extrapancreatic MR 70 imaging-MR cholangiopancreatography findings at diagnosis, after steroid therapy, and at recurrence. Radiology 2011; 260: 428-436 [PMID: 21613442 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.11101729]
- 71 Yoon SB, Moon SH, Song TJ, Kim JH, Kim MH. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration versus biopsy for diagnosis of autoimmune pancreatitis: Systematic review and comparative meta-analysis. Dig Endosc 2021; 33: 1024-1033 [PMID: 33030283 DOI: 10.1111/den.13866]
- Arora K, Rivera M, Ting DT, Deshpande V. The histological diagnosis of IgG4-related disease on small biopsies: challenges and pitfalls. 72 Histopathology 2019; 74: 688-698 [PMID: 30408214 DOI: 10.1111/his.13787]
- Yoon SB, Moon SH, Kim JH, Song TJ, Kim MH. The use of immunohistochemistry for IgG4 in the diagnosis of autoimmune pancreatitis: A 73 systematic review and meta-analysis. Pancreatology 2020; 20: 1611-1619 [PMID: 33060017 DOI: 10.1016/j.pan.2020.10.028]
- Deshpande V, Zen Y, Chan JK, Yi EE, Sato Y, Yoshino T, Klöppel G, Heathcote JG, Khosroshahi A, Ferry JA, Aalberse RC, Bloch DB, 74 Brugge WR, Bateman AC, Carruthers MN, Chari ST, Cheuk W, Cornell LD, Fernandez-Del Castillo C, Forcione DG, Hamilos DL, Kamisawa T, Kasashima S, Kawa S, Kawano M, Lauwers GY, Masaki Y, Nakanuma Y, Notohara K, Okazaki K, Ryu JK, Saeki T, Sahani DV, Smyrk TC, Stone JR, Takahira M, Webster GJ, Yamamoto M, Zamboni G, Umehara H, Stone JH. Consensus statement on the pathology of IgG4related disease. Mod Pathol 2012; 25: 1181-1192 [PMID: 22596100 DOI: 10.1038/modpathol.2012.72]
- Löhr JM, Beuers U, Vujasinovic M, Alvaro D, Frøkjær JB, Buttgereit F, Capurso G, Culver EL, de-Madaria E, Della-Torre E, Detlefsen S, 75



Dominguez-Muñoz E, Czubkowski P, Ewald N, Frulloni L, Gubergrits N, Duman DG, Hackert T, Iglesias-Garcia J, Kartalis N, Laghi A, Lammert F, Lindgren F, Okhlobystin A, Oracz G, Parniczky A, Mucelli RMP, Rebours V, Rosendahl J, Schleinitz N, Schneider A, van Bommel EF, Verbeke CS, Vullierme MP, Witt H; UEG guideline working group. European Guideline on IgG4-related digestive disease - UEG and SGF evidence-based recommendations. United European Gastroenterol J 2020; 8: 637-666 [PMID: 32552502 DOI: 10.1177/2050640620934911]

- Zhang L, Chari S, Smyrk TC, Deshpande V, Klöppel G, Kojima M, Liu X, Longnecker DS, Mino-Kenudson M, Notohara K, Rodriguez-Justo 76 M, Srivastava A, Zamboni G, Zen Y. Autoimmune pancreatitis (AIP) type 1 and type 2: an international consensus study on histopathologic diagnostic criteria. Pancreas 2011; 40: 1172-1179 [PMID: 21975436 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e318233bec5]
- 77 Chari ST, Smyrk TC, Levy MJ, Topazian MD, Takahashi N, Zhang L, Clain JE, Pearson RK, Petersen BT, Vege SS, Farnell MB. Diagnosis of autoimmune pancreatitis: the Mayo Clinic experience. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2006; 4: 1010-6; quiz 934 [PMID: 16843735 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2006.05.017]
- Culver EL, Sadler R, Bateman AC, Makuch M, Cargill T, Ferry B, Aalberse R, Barnes E, Rispens T. Increases in IgE, Eosinophils, and Mast 78 Cells Can be Used in Diagnosis and to Predict Relapse of IgG4-Related Disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017; 15: 1444-1452.e6 [PMID: 28223204 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.02.007]
- Yan T, Ke Y, Chen Y, Xu C, Yu C, Li Y. Serological characteristics of autoimmune pancreatitis and its differential diagnosis from pancreatic 79 cancer by using a combination of carbohydrate antigen 19-9, globulin, eosinophils and hemoglobin. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0174735 [PMID: 28369140 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0174735]
- van Heerde MJ, Buijs J, Hansen BE, de Waart M, van Eijck CH, Kazemier G, Pek CJ, Poley JW, Bruno MJ, Kuipers EJ, van Buuren HR. 80 Serum level of Ca 19-9 increases ability of IgG4 test to distinguish patients with autoimmune pancreatitis from those with pancreatic carcinoma. Dig Dis Sci 2014; 59: 1322-1329 [PMID: 24385012 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-013-3004-3]
- Chang MC, Liang PC, Jan S, Yang CY, Tien YW, Wei SC, Wong JM, Chang YT. Increase diagnostic accuracy in differentiating focal type 81 autoimmune pancreatitis from pancreatic cancer with combined serum IgG4 and CA19-9 levels. Pancreatology 2014; 14: 366-372 [PMID: 25278306 DOI: 10.1016/j.pan.2014.07.010]
- 82 Okazaki K, Chari ST, Frulloni L, Lerch MM, Kamisawa T, Kawa S, Kim MH, Lévy P, Masamune A, Webster G, Shimosegawa T. International consensus for the treatment of autoimmune pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2017; 17: 1-6 [PMID: 28027896 DOI: 10.1016/j.pan.2016.12.003
- Kamisawa T, Okazaki K, Kawa S, Shimosegawa T, Tanaka M; Research Committee for Intractable Pancreatic Disease and Japan Pancreas 83 Society. Japanese consensus guidelines for management of autoimmune pancreatitis: III. Treatment and prognosis of AIP. J Gastroenterol 2010; **45**: 471-477 [PMID: 20213336 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-010-0221-9]
- 84 Kamisawa T, Shimosegawa T, Okazaki K, Nishino T, Watanabe H, Kanno A, Okumura F, Nishikawa T, Kobayashi K, Ichiya T, Takatori H, Yamakita K, Kubota K, Hamano H, Okamura K, Hirano K, Ito T, Ko SB, Omata M. Standard steroid treatment for autoimmune pancreatitis. Gut 2009; 58: 1504-1507 [PMID: 19398440 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2008.172908]
- Matsubayashi H, Yoneyama M, Nanri K, Sugimoto S, Shinjo K, Kakushima N, Tanaka M, Ito S, Takao M, Ono H. Determination of steroid 85 response by abdominal ultrasound in cases with autoimmune pancreatitis. Dig Liver Dis 2013; 45: 1034-1040 [PMID: 23906519 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2013.06.006
- Kamisawa T, Okazaki K, Kawa S, Ito T, Inui K, Irie H, Nishino T, Notohara K, Nishimori I, Tanaka S, Nishiyama T, Suda K, Shiratori K, 86 Tanaka M, Shimosegawa T; Working Committee of the Japan Pancreas Society and the Research Committee for Intractable Pancreatic Disease supported by the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare of Japan. Amendment of the Japanese Consensus Guidelines for Autoimmune Pancreatitis, 2013 III. Treatment and prognosis of autoimmune pancreatitis. J Gastroenterol 2014; 49: 961-970 [PMID: 24639058 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-014-0945-z]
- Akiyama M, Takeuchi T. IgG4-Related Disease: Beyond Glucocorticoids. Drugs Aging 2018; 35: 275-287 [PMID: 29546609 DOI: 87 10.1007/s40266-018-0534-6]
- Hart PA, Topazian MD, Witzig TE, Clain JE, Gleeson FC, Klebig RR, Levy MJ, Pearson RK, Petersen BT, Smyrk TC, Sugumar A, Takahashi 88 N, Vege SS, Chari ST. Treatment of relapsing autoimmune pancreatitis with immunomodulators and rituximab: the Mayo Clinic experience. Gut 2013; 62: 1607-1615 [PMID: 22936672 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302886]
- 89 Blaho M, Dítě P, Kunovský L, Kianička B. Autoimmune pancreatitis - An ongoing challenge. Adv Med Sci 2020; 65: 403-408 [PMID: 32805624 DOI: 10.1016/j.advms.2020.07.002]
- 90 Lanzillotta M, Della-Torre E, Wallace ZS, Stone JH, Karadag O, Fernández-Codina A, Arcidiacono PG, Falconi M, Dagna L, Capurso G. Efficacy and safety of rituximab for IgG4-related pancreato-biliary disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Pancreatology 2021; 21: 1395-1401 [PMID: 34244040 DOI: 10.1016/j.pan.2021.06.009]
- 91 Buechter M, Klein CG, Kloeters C, Schlaak JF, Canbay A, Gerken G, Kahraman A. Tacrolimus as a reasonable alternative in a patient with steroid-dependent and thiopurine-refractory autoimmune pancreatitis with IgG4-associated cholangitis. Z Gastroenterol 2014; 52: 564-568 [PMID: 24905108 DOI: 10.1055/s-0034-1366331]
- Sugimoto M, Takagi T, Suzuki R, Konno N, Watanabe K, Nakamura J, Kikuchi H, Waragai Y, Asama H, Takasumi M, Hikichi T, Watanabe 92 H, Obara K, Ohira H. Efficacy of Steroid Pulse Therapy for Autoimmune Pancreatitis Type 1: A Retrospective Study. PLoS One 2015; 10: e0138604 [PMID: 26381760 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0138604]
- Chiabrando F, Lanzillotta M, Palumbo D, Pedica F, Caruso M, Capurso G, Della-Torre E. Treating Type 2 Autoimmune Pancreatitis With 93 Colchicine: A Case Series. Ann Intern Med 2021; 174: 1775-1776 [PMID: 34633831 DOI: 10.7326/L21-0281]
- Lauri G, D'Amico F, Allocca M, Palumbo D, Della-Torre E, De Cobelli F, Doglioni C, Giorgio Arcidiacon P, Capurso G, Danese S. 94 Ustekinumab as Induction and Maintenance Therapy in Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease and Type II Autoimmune Pancreatitis: Report of Two Cases. J Crohns Colitis 2023; 17: 1552-1554 [PMID: 37086207 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjad072]
- Abu-Sbeih H, Tang T, Lu Y, Thirumurthi S, Altan M, Jazaeri AA, Dadu R, Coronel E, Wang Y. Clinical characteristics and outcomes of 95 immune checkpoint inhibitor-induced pancreatic injury. J Immunother Cancer 2019; 7: 31 [PMID: 30728076 DOI: 10.1186/s40425-019-0502-71
- Abu-Sbeih H, Tang T, Ali FS, Johnson DH, Qiao W, Diab A, Wang Y. The Impact of Immune Checkpoint Inhibitor-Related Adverse Events 96 and Their Immunosuppressive Treatment on Patients' Outcomes. J Immunother Precis Oncol 2018; 1: 7-18 [DOI: 10.4103/JIPO.JIPO 12 18]
- Sandanayake NS, Church NI, Chapman MH, Johnson GJ, Dhar DK, Amin Z, Deheragoda MG, Novelli M, Winstanley A, Rodriguez-Justo M, 97 Hatfield AR, Pereira SP, Webster GJ. Presentation and management of post-treatment relapse in autoimmune pancreatitis/immunoglobulin G4associated cholangitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009; 7: 1089-1096 [PMID: 19345283 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2009.03.021]



- Tacelli M, Celsa C, Magro B, Barresi L, Guastella S, Capurso G, Frulloni L, Cabibbo G, Cammà C. Risk Factors for Rate of Relapse and 98 Effects of Steroid Maintenance Therapy in Patients With Autoimmune Pancreatitis: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 17: 1061-1072.e8 [PMID: 30312787 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2018.09.051]
- Kubota K, Kamisawa T, Okazaki K, Kawa S, Hirano K, Hirooka Y, Uchida K, Shiomi H, Ohara H, Shimizu K, Arakura N, Kanno A, 99 Sakagami J, Itoi T, Ito T, Ueki T, Nishino T, Inui K, Mizuno N, Yoshida H, Sugiyama M, Iwasaki E, Irisawa A, Shimosegawa T, Takeyama Y, Chiba T. Low-dose maintenance steroid treatment could reduce the relapse rate in patients with type 1 autoimmune pancreatitis: a long-term Japanese multicenter analysis of 510 patients. J Gastroenterol 2017; 52: 955-964 [PMID: 28062947 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-016-1302-1]
- Brito-Zerón P, Kostov B, Bosch X, Acar-Denizli N, Ramos-Casals M, Stone JH. Therapeutic approach to IgG4-related disease: A systematic 100 review. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016; 95: e4002 [PMID: 27368010 DOI: 10.1097/MD.000000000004002]
- Soliman H, Vullierme MP, Maire F, Hentic O, Ruszniewski P, Lévy P, Rebours V. Risk factors and treatment of relapses in autoimmune 101 pancreatitis: Rituximab is safe and effective. United European Gastroenterol J 2019; 7: 1073-1083 [PMID: 31662864 DOI: 10.1177/2050640619862459
- Das JP, Postow MA, Friedman CF, Do RK, Halpenny DF. Imaging findings of immune checkpoint inhibitor associated pancreatitis. Eur J 102 Radiol 2020; 131: 109250 [PMID: 32905952 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2020.109250]
- 103 Okazaki K, Ikeura T, Uchida K. Recent progress on the treatment of type 1 autoimmune pancreatitis and IgG4-related disease. Mod Rheumatol 2023; 33: 237-241 [PMID: 35737955 DOI: 10.1093/mr/roac054]
- Kamata K, Watanabe T, Minaga K, Hara A, Yoshikawa T, Okamoto A, Yamao K, Takenaka M, Park AM, Kudo M. Intestinal dysbiosis 104 mediates experimental autoimmune pancreatitis via activation of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Int Immunol 2019; 31: 795-809 [PMID: 31287532 DOI: 10.1093/intimm/dxz050]



WJG

# World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 833-842

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.833

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

## Fecal microbiota transplantation for treatment of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: Mechanism, clinical evidence, and prospect

Xiao-Xia Qiu, Sheng-Li Cheng, Yan-Hui Liu, Yu Li, Rui Zhang, Nan-Nan Li, Zheng Li

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Snyder AM, United States

Received: December 26, 2023 Peer-review started: December 26, 2023 First decision: January 4, 2024 Revised: January 8, 2024 Accepted: January 23, 2024

Article in press: January 23, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



Xiao-Xia Qiu, Research and Education Department, Shulan (Hangzhou) Hospital Affiliated to Zhejiang Shuren University Shulan International Medical College, Hangzhou 310022, Zhejiang Province, China

Sheng-Li Cheng, Anhui Provincial Hospital, The First Affiliated Hospital of University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei 230000, Anhui Province, China

Yan-Hui Liu, Department of Clinical Pharmacy, Anhui Provincial Children's Hospital, Hefei 230000, Anhui Province, China

Yu Li, Department of Pharmacy, Taihe County People's Hospital of Anhui Province, Fuyang 236600, Anhui Province, China

Rui Zhang, Department of Pharmacy, The Second People's Hospital of Hefei, Hefei Hospital Affiliated to Anhui Medical University, Hefei 230000, Anhui Province, China

Nan-Nan Li, University of Science and Technology of China, The First Affiliated Hospital of University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei 230001, Anhui Province, China

Zheng Li, Jiangsu Engineering Research Center of Cardiovascular Drugs Targeting Endothelial Cells, College of Health Sciences, School of Life Sciences, Jiangsu Normal University, Xuzhou 221000, Jiangsu Province, China

Corresponding author: Zheng Li, PhD, Pharmacist, Jiangsu Engineering Research Center of Cardiovascular Drugs Targeting Endothelial Cells, College of Health Sciences, School of Life Sciences, Jiangsu Normal University, No. 101 Shanghai Road, Xuzhou 221000, Jiangsu Province, China. lizhengcpu@163.com

## Abstract

The population of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) patients along with relevant advanced liver disease is projected to continue growing, because currently no medications are approved for treatment. Fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) is believed a novel and promising therapeutic approach based on the concept of the gut-liver axis in liver disease. There has been an increase in the number of pre-clinical and clinical studies evaluating FMT in NAFLD treatment, however, existing findings diverge on its effects. Herein, we briefly summarized the mechanism of FMT for NAFLD treatment, reviewed randomized controlled trials for evaluating its efficacy in NAFLD, and proposed the prospect of future trials on FMT.



**Key Words**: Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; Fecal microbiota transplantation; Randomized controlled trial; Mechanism; Efficacy

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** There are several reviews contributing to the role of gut microbiome in the pathophysiology, therapeutic potential and clinical trials for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). However, no consensus is available in the literature about the clinical efficacy of fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) on NAFLD. This is the first review to summarize recent randomized controlled trials for evaluating the effects of FMT on blood lipid profile, liver function, histological changes and other parameters in patients with NAFLD. We also discuss its therapeutic mechanism and propose the obstacles and prospect of FMT in future trials.

Citation: Qiu XX, Cheng SL, Liu YH, Li Y, Zhang R, Li NN, Li Z. Fecal microbiota transplantation for treatment of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: Mechanism, clinical evidence, and prospect. *World J Gastroenterol* 2024; 30(8): 833-842 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/833.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.833

#### INTRODUCTION

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), recently proposed as metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD), is a chronic liver disease with a global prevalence of about 25% in adult population[1]. NAFLD has a bidirectional association with components of obesity and metabolic syndrome. In view of the ongoing obesity epidemic worldwide, the rise in metabolic syndrome, and other factors, the population of NAFLD along with advanced liver disease is projected to sustain its growth[2]. Although patients with NAFLD at early stages have no self-conscious symptoms, those with advanced NAFLD are at a markedly increased risk of adverse outcomes, such as an increased overall and liver-specific mortality[3]. Due to its large population base, NAFLD is emerging as a rapidly increasing cause of liver-related mortality worldwide[4] and an important cause of end-stage liver disease[5], thus leading to a substantial health economic burden.

The pathophysiology of NAFLD is extremely complicated and involves multiple pathogenic pathways that are not completely elucidated. On the other hand, there is currently no approved therapy for NAFLD, although several drugs are reserved for patients with biopsy-proven non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH). In search of potential novel therapeutic options, the manipulation of the gut microbiome has attracted a lot of attention. Evidence from human observational studies and animal experiments have found the alterations in gut microbiome in NAFLD and indicated numerous pathophysiologic mechanisms relating the gut microbiome to NAFLD[6-9]. In brief, gut dysbiosis damages the intestinal barrier integrity, leading to increased gut permeability to bacterial products and hepatic exposure to harmful substances, thus triggering fat accumulation, hepatic inflammation and fibrosis[10-12].

Considering the close link between the gut microbiome and NAFLD, many therapeutic approaches targeting gut microbiota, such as probiotic, prebiotic or fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) have been tested for whether they could provide the clinical benefit of alleviation of NAFLD. FMT is the latest mode of gut microbiota manipulation for the treatment of NAFLD[13], which seems to be more effective than other existing approaches of microbiota manipulation. FMT from a healthy donor to the host is aimed to quickly re-establish a healthy gut microbial community, which can help treat gastrointestinal diseases. As evidenced by several animal-based studies, FMT could effectively improve the manifestations of NAFLD[14-16]. On the other hand, there has been an increase in the number of clinical trials evaluating the role of FMT in NAFLD treatment[17-19]. Herein, we briefly summarized the mechanism, randomized controlled trials (RCTs), and prospect of FMT in the treatment of NAFLD.

#### **MECHANISM OF FMT FOR NAFLD**

#### Structure and function of gut-liver axis

The functioning of the gut-liver axis is established on the interaction between the gut, along with its microbiota, and the liver, through the portal vein. The gut microbiota is a complex community consisting of over 100 trillion microbes, prevalently bacteria[20]. The interface between the microbiome and intestinal epithelial cells is the gut mucus barrier, physically separating the microbiota from the epithelial lining, thus providing protection against an exaggerated inflammatory response[21] (Figure 1). Thus, the mucus barrier serves as a first line of defense. Underneath the mucus layer is the intestinal barrier, which is formed by a monolayer of epithelial cells. Adjacent epithelial cells are sealed together by tight junctions[22], and they function as a physical shield preventing bacteria from crossing the gut into the portal circulation. In addition, some mucosal immune cells patrol the epithelium, and cooperate to protect against strikes arising from the microbiota and infectious agents[23]. In case the epithelium is breached, there is another barrier, the gut vascular



Figure 1 Homeostatic and disrupted gut-liver crosstalk, and mechanism of fecal microbiota transplantation for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease treatment. Left: Healthy/homeostatic condition; Middle: In non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), the intestinal barrier can be disrupted, which facilitates the translocation of microbes and microbial metabolites to the liver, thus promoting hepatic steatosis, inflammation and fibrosis; Right: Fecal microbiota transplantation is used to recover microbial diversity and abundance and restore homeostatic gut-liver crosstalk, and consequently attenuate the symptoms of NAFLD; FMT: Fecal microbiota transplantation.

barrier that prevents bacteria from entering the portal circulation and disseminating systemically[24].

Due to the multiple barriers as mentioned above, most bacteria cannot directly interact with the host, but through the mediation by the bacterial products and metabolites. With the aid of this indirect mediation, the gut microbiota participate in nutrient digestion and absorption, host metabolism, and mucosal and systemic immunity[25]. For instance, gut microbiota breaks down dietary fibers into short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), which could provide energy support for the host cells. More notably, they also have been shown to regulate lipid metabolism, protect intestinal mucosal barrier, control the differentiation of several immune cells, and participate in the microbicidal activity of macrophages[26-28]. In addition, gut microbiota transform the primary bile acids into secondary bile acids, which act as the natural agonists of intestinal farnesoid X receptor (FXR). FXR engagement can regulate its downstream defense genes to enhance epithelial barrier properties[29], reduce lipogenesis in the liver[30], and improve insulin sensitivity[31]. In summary, the homeostasis constructed by the balance of gut microbiome and the intact physiological barriers is critical for controlling the reciprocal interaction between the gut and the liver to maintain health.

#### Disruption patterns of gut-liver axis in NAFLD

Current data indicate that altered gut microbiome, along with bacterial components, impair the intestinal barrier and vascular barrier, and facilitate the influx of bacterial products into the portal vein in NAFLD[11,29]. Noticeably, the liver is especially vulnerable to the insults from these bacterial products, which consequently aggravate the hepatic metabolic abnormalities and inflammation (Figure 1).

Several clinical studies have shown that patients with NAFLD have remarkable gut dysbiosis, generally characterized by the over-growth of bacteria and changes in microbiota composition[32]. For instance, recent research has found an increased abundance of *Escherichia coli* and *Bacteriodes vulgatus* in patients with NAFLD[9]. Abnormalities in intestinal microbiota have established a link with the reduced thickness of the mucous layer, as well as the increased intestinal permeability, in patients with NAFLD[33,34]. The damage of intestinal barriers loses control of the passage of bacterial components and metabolites, which can reach the liver *via* the portal vein. Some of these components are agonists of Toll-like receptor (TLR) signal pathway, which results in enhanced hepatic expression of inflammatory cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ), thus promoting inflammation and fibrosis[32,35]. The altered gut microbiome has also likely contributed to a decreased production of SCFAs, which promotes lipogenesis and lipid deposition in NAFLD[36]. In addition, gut dysbiosis reduces bioavailability of choline and increases the portal influx of trimethylamine, which also contributes to hepatic steatosis in NAFLD[37]. Disruptive bile acid pool is another consequence of microbiota abnormalities, and it suppresses FXR-mediated signaling in the intestine and the liver, leading to increased lipid accumulation, oxidative stress and inflammation[38,39].

#### FMT for remoulding gut-liver crosstalk to treat NAFLD

Given these attacks induced by gut dysbiosis which promotes liver steatosis, inflammation and fibrosis, the manipulation of the gut microbiota is being explored as a therapeutic target for NAFLD. Probiotics, prebiotics and symbiotics have been explored for treating patients with NAFLD[40-42]. However, it does not come to a clear and substantial conclusion whether these agents generate significant clinical improvement in NAFLD patients. Moreover, data on adverse effects links to the use of probiotics[43]. These issues have paved the road for FMT application in NAFLD treatment, which is expected to yield better clinical efficacy and less side effects.

The fecal material for FMT contains distal gut microbiota from a healthy donor and is processed into an odorless and tasteless preparation. In clinical practice, the approaches for FMT include oral administration of microflora liquid or capsule, transplanting to the middle digestive tract by endoscopic biopsy hole, and threading through the colonic pathway to the lower digestive tract[44]. FMT is used to replenish a healthy gut microbial environment and restore physiological colonization, leading to the recovery of microbial diversity and abundance[12] (Figure 1). The repair of gut dysbiosis can elevate intestinal permeability through the rebuilding of physiological barriers (*i.e.* mucus barrier, epithelial barrier)[17], and suspending the uncontrolled influx of bacterial products to the liver. The restoration of intestinal structure and function can improve lipid metabolism, decrease insulin resistance, suppress inflammatory response, and consequently attenuate the symptoms of NAFLD (i.e. reduction of fat content, liver steatosis, serum transaminase levels and inflammatory infiltrates)[16,45,46]. Finally, FMT has been demonstrated well tolerated and safe over long-term use [47,48].

## EVIDENCE FROM RCTS ON FMT IN NAFLD TREATMENT

To review RCTs for NAFLD treatment using FMT, references indexed in databases (PubMed, EMBASE, the Cochrane Library, and Web of Science) were searched with the combination of the following keywords: 'non-alcoholic fatty liver disease/NAFLD/fatty liver/non-alcoholic steatohepatitis/metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease/MAFLD/ steatohepatitis/Liver steatosis/hepatic steatosis', and 'fecal microbiota transplantation/ fecal microbiota transplant/fecal microbiome transplantation/fecal microbiome transplant/FMT'. The eligibility criteria was determined based on PICOS principle (population, interventions, comparisons, outcomes, study designs). The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Study design was RCT; (2) participants were diagnosed with NAFLD by either liver histology or noninvasive imaging; and (3) study results included one of the following outcomes: serum cholesterol, triglycerides, alanine aminotransferase (ALT), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR), body mass index (BMI), or assessment of histological change by any of the following modalities: Liver biopsy, MRI or elastography. Specifically, liver biopsy outcomes included determination of NAFLD activity score (NAS), necro inflammation score, fibrosis score, or steatosis score. MRI outcomes included estimated fibrosis stage, and elastography outcomes included fat attenuation degree or fibrosis stage. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Participants were under 18 years; (2) participants had severe diseases except NAFLD; and (3) study reported incomplete data. As a result, a total of 2778 references were initially identified, and finally, 3 published RCTs that had undergone full-text assessment were included in this review. The detail of study selection was recorded in Figure 2.

#### Evidence from Included RCTs

The three RCTs were conducted between 2013 and 2021, and were comprised of 117 adult participants with NAFLD. Two trials[17,18] were double-blind while one[19] was open-label. Regarding FMT intervention, two studies performed allogenic FMT through duodenal infusion, while one adopted colonic infusion. Among the outcomes, serum levels of cholesterol, triglycerides, HDL-C and LDL-C were reported in all trials, while only one trial[18] reported the histological change (NAS score, necro inflammation score, fibrosis score, steatosis score) in patients between baseline and endpoint. In all trials, adverse effects of FMT were not reported. Details of the general characteristics of all included RCTs were given in Table 1.

A double-blind RCT conducted by Craven et al [17] included 21 patients to compare allogenic with autologous FMT. As a result, no significant changes were found in total triglycerides, cholesterol, HDL-C, LDL-C, HOMA-IR, weight, waist-tohip ratio, BMI or hepatic proton density fat fraction in patients after FMT. However, patients experienced a significant increase in small intestinal permeability after FMT. The changes in fecal microbiota composition varied by individuals in both groups after FMT. Moreover, a trend toward an increase in the fecal microbiota diversity was found in patients who had improvement in intestinal permeability, although changes in specific taxa were hardly discerned in allogenic transplant. It is noteworthy that the investigators only deployed FMT one time but evaluated its efficacy after 24 wk, and it was difficult to expect one session of FMT to achieve a long-lasting therapeutic effect, which could be one reason for the unsatisfactory results of most outcomes. In addition, this study was also limited by small sample size and lack of histological findings.

In another double-blind RCT conducted by Witjes et al [18], 21 participants with hepatic steatosis received either allogenic or autologous FMT. FMT administration was performed using duodenal infusion three times at 8-wk intervals, with a duration of 24 wk. The results indicated a trend toward improvement in the necro-inflammation score, but finally no significant improvement in liver histology following allogenic FMT. Similarly, there was no significant improvement in biochemical parameters. However, significant changes in the expression of some hepatic genes associated with inflammation and lipid metabolism were found in the allogenic FMT group, compared with autologous FMT. The findings from fecal microbiota analysis suggested no significant changes in fecal microbiota diversity and composition between baseline and endpoint, in either group.

Xue et al[19] carried out an open-label 4-wk RCT including 75 patients with NAFLD. Participators randomly received allogenic FMT or oral probiotics. The fecal microbiota preparation was administered to patients by colonic infusion per day, for 3 d in total. The results showed no significant difference in blood lipid (i.e. triglycerides, cholesterol, LDL-C, HDL-C) and liver function tests before and after treatment in either group. However, a significant decrease in liver fat attenuation degrees was found in the FMT group, while a significant increase was found in the non-FMT group. Microbiota analysis indicated that certain bacterial contents had a trend toward healthy individuals after FMT. Furthermore,

WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Characteristics of included randomized controlled trials								
Ref.	Patient population	Diagnosis	Study design	Fecal donor	Intervention	Sample size	Duration in wk	Outcomes
Craven et al[17], 2020	Adults, NAFLD	Biopsy, fibroscan, MRI	Double- blind, parallel, RCT	3 donors, healthy, BMI < 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	Treatment: Allogenic FMT	15	24	HOMA-IR, hepatic PDFF, small intestine permeability, NEFA, cholesterol, HDL-C, LDL-C, trigly- cerides, glucose, BMI, weight, waist-to-hip ratio
					Control: Autologous FMT	6		
					FMT: Duodenal infusion			
Witjes <i>et al</i> [18], 2020	Adults, NAFLD	Ultrasound	Double- blind, parallel, RCT	3 donors, healthy, BMI < 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> , 8- weekly vegan	Treatment: Allogenic FMT	10	24	Histological change (NAS score, necro inflammation score, fibrosis score, steatosis score), intestinal microbiota composition, plasma
					Control: Autologous FMT	11		LDL-C, triglycerides, glucose, ALT, AST, monocytes
					FMT: Duodenal infusion			
Xue <i>et al</i> [19], 2022	Adults, NAFLD	Fibroscan	Open- label, parallel, RCT	Healthy undergraduate donors	Treatment: Allogenic FMT	47	4	ALT, AST, cholesterol, HDL-C, LDL-C, triglycerides, total bilirubin, Albumin, hepatic fat attenuation, changes in the gut
				Control: Oral probiotics	28		nicionali, nominin, pull	
					FMT: Colonic infusion			

ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; BMI: Body mass index; FMT: Fecal microbiota transplantation; HDL-C: High-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HOMA-IR: Homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance; MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging; NAFLD: Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; NAS score: NAFLD activity score; NEFA: Non-esterified fatty acids; PDFF: Proton density fat fraction; RCT: Randomized controlled trial.

FMT had a greater impact on the microbial community structure in lean NAFLD than in obese NAFLD patients.

#### Pooled analysis of selected outcomes

The outcomes reported in more than two RCTs were selected for pooled analysis. The mean and/or standard deviation (SD) values of cholesterol, triglycerides, LDL-C, HDL-C, AST, ALT, BMI and HOMA-IR were extracted for assessment. Data were processed to obtain the changes between baseline and endpoint. The pooled effects were reported as weighted mean differences (WMD) with 95% confidence intervals (95%CI). Statistical analysis was performed using STATA 16.0 software (Stata Corp LLC, TX, United States) using a random-effects model. A *P* value of < 0.05 was considered significant for the test for overall effect.

All three included RCTs[17-19] reported the changes of serum lipid profile (triglycerides, cholesterol, LDL-C and HDL-C) in patients between baseline and endpoint. The pooled results suggested that FMT failed to cause significant improvement of triglycerides (WMD -0.07, 95%CI: -0.47 to 0.33, P = 0.74; Figure 3A), cholesterol (WMD -0.27, 95%CI: -0.75 to 0.21, P = 0.27; Figure 3B), LCL-C (WMD 0.05, 95%CI: -0.31 to 0.42, P = 0.78; Figure 3C), and HDL-C (WMD -0.05, 95%CI: -0.22 to 0.15, P = 0.54; Figure 3D), as compared with control. There was no significant heterogeneity between studies. Two RCTs[18,19] reported the outcomes of ALT and AST, and the pooled analysis suggested that FMT caused no significant reduction in ALT (WMD -0.51, 95%CI: -22.57 to 21.55, P = 0.96; Figure 3E) and AST (WMD -2.78, 95%CI: -10.26 to 4.71, P = 0.47; Figure 3F). Likewise, two RCTs[17,19] reported the outcomes of HOMA-IR and BMI, and pooled analysis found no improvement in them after FMT (HOMA-IR: WMD -1.09, 95%CI: -2.43 to 0.25, P = 0.11, Figure 3G; BMI: WMD -0.64, 95%CI: -2.73 to 1.44, P = 0.54, Figure 3H).

Although these negative results might challenge the potential of FMT in the treatment of NAFLD, their reliability could be attenuated by several limitations. Firstly, only a very small number of RCTs was retrieved, as well as a very small sample size. Moreover, the available data of histological outcome which is the major prognostic index of NAFLD, was insufficient for pooled analysis. Finally, the management of FMT administration to patients varied among studies, which might influence the efficacy of FMT. Therefore, future studies including standardized FMT sessions in more patients with robust outcome measures are still needed.



Figure 2 Flow diagram for the process of study selection. ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; BMI: Body mass index; HDL-C: High-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HOMA-IR: Homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance; LDL-C: Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol.

## PROSPECT

The only recommended treatment for NAFLD is weight loss. However, it is hard to adhere to lifestyle modifications for achieving it, making the need for effective and safe medications more urgent. In past years, numerous pharmacological therapies have been investigated, such as medications targeting the glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) and intestinal microbiota. There is considerable evidence that the composition of the gut microbials in NAFLD patients changes significantly from control individuals[9,11,49], which contribute to obesity, insulin resistance and liver steatosis[12,16,50]. FMT is an emerging tool for manipulating intestinal microbiota, which is considered as a potential therapeutic approach for NAFLD. Although current outcomes on FMT therapy for NAFLD vary between RCTs and most are gloomy, aforementioned RCTs still demonstrate that patients might benefit from FMT due to improvement of small intestinal permeability, alleviation of hepatic necro-inflammation, and liver fat attenuation. Furthermore, the results from the three RCTs and pooled analysis are hardly considered as robust due to apparent limitations. Therefore, FMT is still expected to be promising in NAFLD treatment, but there are a series of obstacles that still need to be resolved.

Firstly, the alterations of gut microbiota could be variable by each individual with NAFLD, or/and by the stage of NAFLD, and sometimes the results are contradictory [51,52]. Thus, the significant heterogeneity lying in gut microbiota makes the restoring of varied gut microbiomes by a fixed FMT difficult to be achieved, and also hinders the transforming of the success of one FMT directly to another population. Moreover, the characteristics of donor feces, in particular fecal microbiota richness, diversity, and compatibility, have considerable influence on the efficacy of FMT, while the rigorous criteria for donor selection has not yet been determined. Furthermore, repetitive FMT should be required to maintain the improvement of the gut microbiome, however, the management of FMT is still casual across trials. Although the safety of FMT is evidenced, long-term consequences of FMT are unknown as FMT still has rare risks. Therefore, the practice guidelines of FMT still need to be extensively investigated. Finally, FMT combined with other pharmacological therapies are worth considering in future trials since NAFLD involves multiple pathogenic factors.

## CONCLUSION

In summary, our work highlighted disruption patterns of the gut-liver structure and function in NAFLD, and how FMT remolds the homeostasis of the gut-liver crosstalk to alleviate NAFLD. Since FMT is suggested as a therapeutic of great potential, increasing the number of clinical trials that are carried out and evaluating its efficacy in NAFLD needs to be a priority. We reviewed the published RCTs to analyze the evidence on the clinical efficacy of FMT in NAFLD patients. FMT failed to yield clinical benefit in blood lipid (i.e. triglycerides, cholesterol, LDL-C, HDL-C), and liver function (i.e. ALT, AST) parameters. By contrast, the improvement of small intestinal permeability and the alleviation of hepatic necroinflammation in patients after FMT could be encouraging. Whereas the reliability of the above results is challenged by several limitations, especially small sample size and casual FMT administration protocols, it is believed that some obstacles still need to be resolved before fully inspiring the potential of FMT in the treatment of NAFLD. Future highquality trials in more patients adopting more scientific management of FMT are essential to further validate the clinical benefit of FMT.

WJG https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Pooled analysis depicting the effects of fecal microbiota transplantation on serum triglycerides, cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, alanine aminotransferase, aspartate aminotransferase, homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance and body mass index measured by weighted mean difference in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. A: Serum triglycerides; B: Cholesterol; C: Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C); D: High-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C); E: Alanine aminotransferase (ALT); F: Aspartate aminotransferase (AST); G: Homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR); H: Body mass index (BMI). FMT: Fecal microbiota transplantation; NAFLD: Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; WMD: Weighted mean difference.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Authors are grateful to the scholars who participated in this study for their contributions.

## FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Xiao-Xia Qiu and Sheng-Li Cheng.

Co-corresponding authors: Nan-Nan Li and Zheng Li.

Author contributions: Qiu XX and Cheng SL contributed to the acquisition of data; Qiu XX, Cheng SL, Liu YH, Li Y, and Zhang R contributed to the analysis and interpretation of data; Qiu XX, Cheng SL, Liu YH, Li NN, and Li Z drafted the article; Liu YH, Li Y, Zhang R, Li NN, and Li Z revised the article; Li NN and Li Z contributed to the conception and design of the study, and critical revision;

Baishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Qiu XX et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation for NAFLD

all authors contributed to the final approval of the article. Qiu XX and Cheng SL contributed equally to this work as co-first authors; Li NN and Li Z contributed equally to this work as co-corresponding authors. The reasons for designating co-first or co-corresponding authors are as follows: (1) The research was performed as a collaborative effort, and the designation of co-first/co-corresponding authorship accurately reflects the distribution of responsibilities and contribution to the study; (2) the designation reflects the diversity of expertise and skills of the overall research team; and (3) these authors contributed efforts of equal substance throughout the research process. In summary, we believe that this designation is fitting for our manuscript as it accurately reflects our team's collaborative spirit, equal contributions, and diversity.

Supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 82104525; the Natural Science Foundation of the Jiangsu Higher Education Institutions of China, No. 21KJB360009; and Health Commission of Zhejiang Province Scientific Research Foundation, No. 2024KY247.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report having no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Nan-Nan Li 0009-0007-8740-5201; Zheng Li 0000-0002-2882-6600.

S-Editor: Yan JP L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Xu ZH

## REFERENCES

- Powell EE, Wong VW, Rinella M. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Lancet 2021; 397: 2212-2224 [PMID: 33894145 DOI: 1 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32511-3
- 2 Cotter TG, Rinella M. Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease 2020: The State of the Disease. Gastroenterology 2020; 158: 1851-1864 [PMID: 32061595 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.01.052]
- 3 Chalasani N, Younossi Z, Lavine JE, Charlton M, Cusi K, Rinella M, Harrison SA, Brunt EM, Sanyal AJ. The diagnosis and management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Practice guidance from the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology 2018; 67: 328-357 [PMID: 28714183 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29367]
- Paik JM, Golabi P, Younossi Y, Mishra A, Younossi ZM. Changes in the Global Burden of Chronic Liver Diseases From 2012 to 2017: The 4 Growing Impact of NAFLD. Hepatology 2020; 72: 1605-1616 [PMID: 32043613 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31173]
- Estes C, Razavi H, Loomba R, Younossi Z, Sanyal AJ. Modeling the epidemic of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease demonstrates an exponential 5 increase in burden of disease. Hepatology 2018; 67: 123-133 [PMID: 28802062 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29466]
- Hoozemans J, de Brauw M, Nieuwdorp M, Gerdes V. Gut Microbiome and Metabolites in Patients with NAFLD and after Bariatric Surgery: 6 A Comprehensive Review. Metabolites 2021; 11 [PMID: 34072995 DOI: 10.3390/metabo11060353]
- 7 Jadhav K, Cohen TS. Can You Trust Your Gut? Implicating a Disrupted Intestinal Microbiome in the Progression of NAFLD/NASH. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2020; 11: 592157 [PMID: 33193105 DOI: 10.3389/fendo.2020.592157]
- Shen F, Zheng RD, Sun XQ, Ding WJ, Wang XY, Fan JG. Gut microbiota dysbiosis in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. 8 Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int 2017; 16: 375-381 [PMID: 28823367 DOI: 10.1016/S1499-3872(17)60019-5]
- 9 Loomba R, Seguritan V, Li W, Long T, Klitgord N, Bhatt A, Dulai PS, Caussy C, Bettencourt R, Highlander SK, Jones MB, Sirlin CB, Schnabl B, Brinkac L, Schork N, Chen CH, Brenner DA, Biggs W, Yooseph S, Venter JC, Nelson KE. Gut Microbiome-Based Metagenomic Signature for Non-invasive Detection of Advanced Fibrosis in Human Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Cell Metab 2017; 25: 1054-1062.e5 [PMID: 28467925 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.04.001]
- Saltzman ET, Palacios T, Thomsen M, Vitetta L. Intestinal Microbiome Shifts, Dysbiosis, Inflammation, and Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver 10 Disease. Front Microbiol 2018; 9: 61 [PMID: 29441049 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.00061]
- Boursier J, Mueller O, Barret M, Machado M, Fizanne L, Araujo-Perez F, Guy CD, Seed PC, Rawls JF, David LA, Hunault G, Oberti F, Calès 11 P, Diehl AM. The severity of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is associated with gut dysbiosis and shift in the metabolic function of the gut microbiota. Hepatology 2016; 63: 764-775 [PMID: 26600078 DOI: 10.1002/hep.28356]
- Le Roy T, Llopis M, Lepage P, Bruneau A, Rabot S, Bevilacqua C, Martin P, Philippe C, Walker F, Bado A, Perlemuter G, Cassard-Doulcier 12 AM, Gérard P. Intestinal microbiota determines development of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in mice. Gut 2013; 62: 1787-1794 [PMID: 23197411 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303816]
- 13 Kelly CR, Kahn S, Kashyap P, Laine L, Rubin D, Atreja A, Moore T, Wu G. Update on Fecal Microbiota Transplantation 2015: Indications, Methodologies, Mechanisms, and Outlook. Gastroenterology 2015; 149: 223-237 [PMID: 25982290 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.05.008]
- Soderborg TK, Clark SE, Mulligan CE, Janssen RC, Babcock L, Ir D, Young B, Krebs N, Lemas DJ, Johnson LK, Weir T, Lenz LL, Frank 14 DN, Hernandez TL, Kuhn KA, D'Alessandro A, Barbour LA, El Kasmi KC, Friedman JE. The gut microbiota in infants of obese mothers increases inflammation and susceptibility to NAFLD. Nat Commun 2018; 9: 4462 [PMID: 30367045 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-018-06929-0]
- García-Lezana T, Raurell I, Bravo M, Torres-Arauz M, Salcedo MT, Santiago A, Schoenenberger A, Manichanh C, Genescà J, Martell M, 15 Augustin S. Restoration of a healthy intestinal microbiota normalizes portal hypertension in a rat model of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology 2018; 67: 1485-1498 [PMID: 29113028 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29646]
- 16 Zhou D, Pan Q, Shen F, Cao HX, Ding WJ, Chen YW, Fan JG. Total fecal microbiota transplantation alleviates high-fat diet-induced



steatohepatitis in mice via beneficial regulation of gut microbiota. Sci Rep 2017; 7: 1529 [PMID: 28484247 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-01751-y]

- Craven L, Rahman A, Nair Parvathy S, Beaton M, Silverman J, Qumosani K, Hramiak I, Hegele R, Joy T, Meddings J, Urquhart B, Harvie R, 17 McKenzie C, Summers K, Reid G, Burton JP, Silverman M. Allogenic Fecal Microbiota Transplantation in Patients With Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease Improves Abnormal Small Intestinal Permeability: A Randomized Control Trial. Am J Gastroenterol 2020; 115: 1055-1065 [PMID: 32618656 DOI: 10.14309/ajg.00000000000661]
- Witjes JJ, Smits LP, Pekmez CT, Prodan A, Meijnikman AS, Troelstra MA, Bouter KEC, Herrema H, Levin E, Holleboom AG, Winkelmeijer 18 M, Beuers UH, van Lienden K, Aron-Wisnewky J, Mannisto V, Bergman JJ, Runge JH, Nederveen AJ, Dragsted LO, Konstanti P, Zoetendal EG, de Vos W, Verheij J, Groen AK, Nieuwdorp M. Donor Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Alters Gut Microbiota and Metabolites in Obese Individuals With Steatohepatitis. Hepatol Commun 2020; 4: 1578-1590 [PMID: 33163830 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.1601]
- 19 Xue L, Deng Z, Luo W, He X, Chen Y. Effect of Fecal Microbiota Transplantation on Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2022; 12: 759306 [PMID: 35860380 DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2022.759306]
- Dabke K, Hendrick G, Devkota S. The gut microbiome and metabolic syndrome. J Clin Invest 2019; 129: 4050-4057 [PMID: 31573550 DOI: 20 10.1172/JCI129194]
- Paone P, Cani PD. Mucus barrier, mucins and gut microbiota: the expected slimy partners? Gut 2020; 69: 2232-2243 [PMID: 32917747 DOI: 21 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322260]
- Groschwitz KR, Hogan SP. Intestinal barrier function: molecular regulation and disease pathogenesis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2009; 124: 3-22 20; quiz 21 [PMID: 19560575 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.05.038]
- Kawano Y, Edwards M, Huang Y, Bilate AM, Araujo LP, Tanoue T, Atarashi K, Ladinsky MS, Reiner SL, Wang HH, Mucida D, Honda K, 23 Ivanov II. Microbiota imbalance induced by dietary sugar disrupts immune-mediated protection from metabolic syndrome. Cell 2022; 185: 3501-3519.e20 [PMID: 36041436 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2022.08.005]
- Pabst O, Hornef MW, Schaap FG, Cerovic V, Clavel T, Bruns T. Gut-liver axis: barriers and functional circuits. Nat Rev Gastroenterol 24 Hepatol 2023; 20: 447-461 [PMID: 37085614 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-023-00771-6]
- 25 Maynard CL, Elson CO, Hatton RD, Weaver CT. Reciprocal interactions of the intestinal microbiota and immune system. Nature 2012; 489: 231-241 [PMID: 22972296 DOI: 10.1038/nature11551]
- Rauf A, Khalil AA, Rahman UU, Khalid A, Naz S, Shariati MA, Rebezov M, Urtecho EZ, de Albuquerque RDDG, Anwar S, Alamri A, Saini 26 RK, Rengasamy KRR. Recent advances in the therapeutic application of short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs): An updated review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 2022; 62: 6034-6054 [PMID: 33703960 DOI: 10.1080/10408398.2021.1895064]
- Park JH, Eberl G. Type 3 regulatory T cells at the interface of symbiosis. J Microbiol 2018; 56: 163-171 [PMID: 29492873 DOI: 27 10.1007/s12275-018-7565-x
- 28 Schulthess J, Pandey S, Capitani M, Rue-Albrecht KC, Arnold I, Franchini F, Chomka A, Ilott NE, Johnston DGW, Pires E, McCullagh J, Sansom SN, Arancibia-Cárcamo CV, Uhlig HH, Powrie F. The Short Chain Fatty Acid Butyrate Imprints an Antimicrobial Program in Macrophages. Immunity 2019; 50: 432-445.e7 [PMID: 30683619 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.12.018]
- 29 Albillos A, de Gottardi A, Rescigno M. The gut-liver axis in liver disease: Pathophysiological basis for therapy. J Hepatol 2020; 72: 558-577 [PMID: 31622696 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2019.10.003]
- Fiorucci S, Distrutti E. The Pharmacology of Bile Acids and Their Receptors. Handb Exp Pharmacol 2019; 256: 3-18 [PMID: 31201555 DOI: 30 10.1007/164\_2019\_238]
- 31 Han X, Cui ZY, Song J, Piao HQ, Lian LH, Hou LS, Wang G, Zheng S, Dong XX, Nan JX, Wu YL. Acanthoic acid modulates lipogenesis in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease via FXR/LXRs-dependent manner. Chem Biol Interact 2019; 311: 108794 [PMID: 31421115 DOI: 10.1016/j.cbi.2019.108794]
- Kapil S, Duseja A, Sharma BK, Singla B, Chakraborti A, Das A, Ray P, Dhiman RK, Chawla Y. Small intestinal bacterial overgrowth and toll-32 like receptor signaling in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016; 31: 213-221 [PMID: 26212089 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.13058]
- Kobayashi T, Iwaki M, Nakajima A, Nogami A, Yoneda M. Current Research on the Pathogenesis of NAFLD/NASH and the Gut-Liver Axis: 33 Gut Microbiota, Dysbiosis, and Leaky-Gut Syndrome. Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23 [PMID: 36232990 DOI: 10.3390/ijms231911689]
- Schroeder BO, Birchenough GMH, Ståhlman M, Arike L, Johansson MEV, Hansson GC, Bäckhed F. Bifidobacteria or Fiber Protects against 34 Diet-Induced Microbiota-Mediated Colonic Mucus Deterioration. Cell Host Microbe 2018; 23: 27-40.e7 [PMID: 29276171 DOI: 10.1016/j.chom.2017.11.004]
- 35 Khanmohammadi S, Kuchay MS. Toll-like receptors and metabolic (dysfunction)-associated fatty liver disease. Pharmacol Res 2022; 185: 106507 [PMID: 36252773 DOI: 10.1016/j.phrs.2022.106507]
- 36 Park JH, Kotani T, Konno T, Setiawan J, Kitamura Y, Imada S, Usui Y, Hatano N, Shinohara M, Saito Y, Murata Y, Matozaki T. Promotion of Intestinal Epithelial Cell Turnover by Commensal Bacteria: Role of Short-Chain Fatty Acids. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0156334 [PMID: 27232601 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0156334]
- 37 Jiao N, Baker SS, Chapa-Rodriguez A, Liu W, Nugent CA, Tsompana M, Mastrandrea L, Buck MJ, Baker RD, Genco RJ, Zhu R, Zhu L. Suppressed hepatic bile acid signalling despite elevated production of primary and secondary bile acids in NAFLD. Gut 2018; 67: 1881-1891 [PMID: 28774887 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314307]
- Luck H, Tsai S, Chung J, Clemente-Casares X, Ghazarian M, Revelo XS, Lei H, Luk CT, Shi SY, Surendra A, Copeland JK, Ahn J, Prescott 38 D, Rasmussen BA, Chng MH, Engleman EG, Girardin SE, Lam TK, Croitoru K, Dunn S, Philpott DJ, Guttman DS, Woo M, Winer S, Winer DA. Regulation of obesity-related insulin resistance with gut anti-inflammatory agents. Cell Metab 2015; 21: 527-542 [PMID: 25863246 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.03.001]
- Kuang J, Wang J, Li Y, Li M, Zhao M, Ge K, Zheng D, Cheung KCP, Liao B, Wang S, Chen T, Zhang Y, Wang C, Ji G, Chen P, Zhou H, Xie 39 C, Zhao A, Jia W, Zheng X. Hyodeoxycholic acid alleviates non-alcoholic fatty liver disease through modulating the gut-liver axis. Cell Metab 2023; **35**: 1752-1766.e8 [PMID: 37591244 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2023.07.011]
- Mohamad Nor MH, Ayob N, Mokhtar NM, Raja Ali RA, Tan GC, Wong Z, Shafiee NH, Wong YP, Mustangin M, Nawawi KNM. The Effect 40 of Probiotics (MCP(®) BCMC(®) Strains) on Hepatic Steatosis, Small Intestinal Mucosal Immune Function, and Intestinal Barrier in Patients with Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Nutrients 2021; 13 [PMID: 34579068 DOI: 10.3390/nu13093192]
- Scorletti E, Afolabi PR, Miles EA, Smith DE, Almehmadi A, Alshathry A, Childs CE, Del Fabbro S, Bilson J, Moyses HE, Clough GF, Sethi 41 JK, Patel J, Wright M, Breen DJ, Peebles C, Darekar A, Aspinall R, Fowell AJ, Dowman JK, Nobili V, Targher G, Delzenne NM, Bindels LB, Calder PC, Byrne CD. Synbiotics Alter Fecal Microbiomes, But Not Liver Fat or Fibrosis, in a Randomized Trial of Patients With



WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Gastroenterology 2020; 158: 1597-1610.e7 [PMID: 31987796 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.01.031]

- Escouto GS, Port GZ, Tovo CV, Fernandes SA, Peres A, Dorneles GP, Houde VP, Varin TV, Pilon G, Marette A, Buss C. Probiotic 42 Supplementation, Hepatic Fibrosis, and the Microbiota Profile in Patients with Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Nutr 2023; 153: 1984-1993 [PMID: 37225124 DOI: 10.1016/j.tjnut.2023.05.019]
- Abenavoli L, Maurizi V, Rinninella E, Tack J, Di Berardino A, Santori P, Rasetti C, Procopio AC, Boccuto L, Scarpellini E. Fecal Microbiota 43 Transplantation in NAFLD Treatment. Medicina (Kaunas) 2022; 58 [PMID: 36363516 DOI: 10.3390/medicina58111559]
- Zheng L, Ji YY, Wen XL, Duan SL. Fecal microbiota transplantation in the metabolic diseases: Current status and perspectives. World J 44 Gastroenterol 2022; 28: 2546-2560 [PMID: 35949351 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i23.2546]
- Kelly CJ, Zheng L, Campbell EL, Saeedi B, Scholz CC, Bayless AJ, Wilson KE, Glover LE, Kominsky DJ, Magnuson A, Weir TL, Ehrentraut 45 SF, Pickel C, Kuhn KA, Lanis JM, Nguyen V, Taylor CT, Colgan SP. Crosstalk between Microbiota-Derived Short-Chain Fatty Acids and Intestinal Epithelial HIF Augments Tissue Barrier Function. Cell Host Microbe 2015; 17: 662-671 [PMID: 25865369 DOI: 10.1016/j.chom.2015.03.005]
- Vrieze A, Van Nood E, Holleman F, Salojärvi J, Kootte RS, Bartelsman JF, Dallinga-Thie GM, Ackermans MT, Serlie MJ, Oozeer R, Derrien 46 M, Druesne A, Van Hylckama Vlieg JE, Bloks VW, Groen AK, Heilig HG, Zoetendal EG, Stroes ES, de Vos WM, Hoekstra JB, Nieuwdorp M. Transfer of intestinal microbiota from lean donors increases insulin sensitivity in individuals with metabolic syndrome. Gastroenterology 2012; 143: 913-6.e7 [PMID: 22728514 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.06.031]
- Bajaj JS, Salzman NH, Acharya C, Sterling RK, White MB, Gavis EA, Fagan A, Hayward M, Holtz ML, Matherly S, Lee H, Osman M, 47 Siddiqui MS, Fuchs M, Puri P, Sikaroodi M, Gillevet PM. Fecal Microbial Transplant Capsules Are Safe in Hepatic Encephalopathy: A Phase 1, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial. Hepatology 2019; 70: 1690-1703 [PMID: 31038755 DOI: 10.1002/hep.30690]
- Bajaj JS, Fagan A, Gavis EA, Kassam Z, Sikaroodi M, Gillevet PM. Long-term Outcomes of Fecal Microbiota Transplantation in Patients 48 With Cirrhosis. Gastroenterology 2019; 156: 1921-1923.e3 [PMID: 30664879 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.01.033]
- Hoyles L, Fernández-Real JM, Federici M, Serino M, Abbott J, Charpentier J, Heymes C, Luque JL, Anthony E, Barton RH, Chilloux J, 49 Myridakis A, Martinez-Gili L, Moreno-Navarrete JM, Benhamed F, Azalbert V, Blasco-Baque V, Puig J, Xifra G, Ricart W, Tomlinson C, Woodbridge M, Cardellini M, Davato F, Cardolini I, Porzio O, Gentileschi P, Lopez F, Foufelle F, Butcher SA, Holmes E, Nicholson JK, Postic C, Burcelin R, Dumas ME. Molecular phenomics and metagenomics of hepatic steatosis in non-diabetic obese women. Nat Med 2018; 24: 1070-1080 [PMID: 29942096 DOI: 10.1038/s41591-018-0061-3]
- 50 Knudsen C, Neyrinck AM, Lanthier N, Delzenne NM. Microbiota and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: promising prospects for clinical interventions? Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2019; 22: 393-400 [PMID: 31219825 DOI: 10.1097/MCO.00000000000584]
- Aron-Wisnewsky J, Vigliotti C, Witjes J, Le P, Holleboom AG, Verheij J, Nieuwdorp M, Clément K. Gut microbiota and human NAFLD: 51 disentangling microbial signatures from metabolic disorders. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 17: 279-297 [PMID: 32152478 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-020-0269-9
- Lanthier N, Delzenne N. Targeting the Gut Microbiome to Treat Metabolic Dysfunction-Associated Fatty Liver Disease: Ready for Prime 52 Time? Cells 2022; 11 [PMID: 36078124 DOI: 10.3390/cells11172718]



WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

WŰ

# World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 843-854

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.843

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

## **Retrospective Study**

# Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization combined with PD-1 inhibitors and Lenvatinib for hepatocellular carcinoma with portal vein tumor thrombus

Hong-Xiao Wu, Xiao-Yan Ding, Ya-Wen Xu, Ming-Hua Yu, Xiao-Mi Li, Na Deng, Jing-Long Chen

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Beenet L, United States

Received: September 27, 2023 Peer-review started: September 27, 2023 First decision: December 4, 2023 Revised: December 18, 2023 Accepted: January 25, 2024

Article in press: January 25, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



Hong-Xiao Wu, Xiao-Yan Ding, Ya-Wen Xu, Ming-Hua Yu, Xiao-Mi Li, Na Deng, Jing-Long Chen, Cancer Center, Beijing Ditan Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing 100015, China

Corresponding author: Jing-Long Chen, Doctor, Chief Doctor, Cancer Center, Beijing Ditan Hospital, Capital Medical University, No. 8 Jingshun East Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing 100015, China. cjl6412@ccmu.edu.cn

## Abstract

## BACKGROUND

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) patients complicated with portal vein tumor thrombus (PVTT) exhibit poor prognoses and treatment responses.

## AIM

To investigate efficacies and safety of the combination of PD-1 inhibitor, transcatheter arterial chemoembolization (TACE) and Lenvatinib in HCC subjects comorbid with PVTT.

## **METHODS**

From January 2019 to December 2020, HCC patients with PVTT types I-IV were retrospectively enrolled at Beijing Ditan Hospital. They were distributed to either the PTL or TACE/Lenvatinib (TL) group. The median progression-free survival (mPFS) was set as the primary endpoint, while parameters like median overall survival, objective response rate, disease control rate (DCR), and toxicity level served as secondary endpoints.

## RESULTS

Forty-one eligible patients were finally recruited for this study and divided into the PTL (n = 18) and TL (n = 23) groups. For a median follow-up of 21.8 months, the DCRs were 88.9% and 60.9% in the PTL and TL groups (P = 0.046), respectively. Moreover, mPFS indicated significant improvement (HR = 0.25; P < 0.001) in PTL-treated patients (5.4 months) compared to TL-treated (2.7 months) patients. There were no treatment-related deaths or differences in adverse events in either group.

## CONCLUSION

A triplet regimen of PTL was safe and well-tolerated as well as exhibited



favorable efficacy over the TL regimen for advanced-stage HCC patients with PVTT types I-IV.

Key Words: Hepatocellular carcinoma; Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization; Lenvatinib; PD-1 inhibitor; Portal vein tumor thrombus

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) with portal vein tumor thrombus (PVTT) has a poor prognosis and treatment responses. Assessment of its survival has important clinical implications. Through our research, we discovered that a triplet regimen of PD-1 inhibitor/transcatheter arterial chemoembolization/Lenvatinib was safe and well-tolerated as well as exhibited favorable efficacy over the transcatheter arterial chemoembolization/Lenvatinib regimen for advanced-stage HCC comorbid with PVTT.

Citation: Wu HX, Ding XY, Xu YW, Yu MH, Li XM, Deng N, Chen JL. Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization combined with PD-1 inhibitors and Lenvatinib for hepatocellular carcinoma with portal vein tumor thrombus. World J Gastroenterol 2024; 30(8): 843-854

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/843.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.843

## INTRODUCTION

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is one of the most frequently diagnosed primary malignancies of the liver that leads to high morbidity and mortality rates in adults, especially those with chronic liver diseases and hepatitis infections. In 2020, HCC ranked sixth among all cancers concerning 4.7% of all new cancer cases, and third for 8.3% of all cancer-related deaths[1]. The portal vein tumor thrombus (PVTT) is a commonly occurring complication in at least 16%-30% of HCC patients<sup>[2]</sup>, contributes to poor prognosis, and increases the susceptibility to cancer recurrence, with the median survival of about 2.7-4 months without any interventions[3]. Although both European Association for the Study of the Liver and American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases guidelines suggested that HCC patients complicated with PVTT should be classified as Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer-C stage and receive systemic treatments[4,5]. However, there is currently no optimal treatment strategy for such patients. Tyrosine kinase and immune checkpoint inhibitors (TKI and ICI, respectively) are generally applied in systemic therapies of HCC, while the combination of transcatheter arterial chemoembolization (TACE) with systemic therapeutics has substantially improved treatment outcomes in advancedstage patients.

TACE is recommended for treating unresectable HCC[6-8], and its safety and effectiveness have been demonstrated in several clinical trials[9-12]. Despite this, in clinical practices, tumor recurrence and distant metastasis are often encountered in post-TACE HCC patients<sup>[13]</sup>. Several studies have confirmed better treatment responses when TACE is combined with TKI over TACE alone [14-16]. In the era of rapidly advancing immunotherapy research, studies suggest that ICI and TKI together can promote the recovery of cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) from exhaustion [17], thereby enhancing antitumor responses [18,19]. Retrospective studies suggest that a triplet regimen of TACE or a combination of hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy (HAIC), Lenvatinib, and PD-1 inhibitor could be superior to dual therapy in advanced HCC cases[20-22]. However, there is limited data on highly complicated HCC patients, and the success rate of Atezolizumab plus Bevacizumab therapy has not yet been established for this subset of HCC patients[23]. Therefore, we hypothesized that the triplet regimen of TACE plus targeted drugs and ICIs might introduce better prognoses for HCC patients with PVTT. Here, we aimed to compare the safety and efficacy of the triplet regimen of Lenvatinib, PD-1 inhibitor, and TACE vs Lenvatinib plus TACE in advanced-stage HCC with type I- IV PVTT.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Patient selection

Eligible patients were retrospectively enrolled at Beijing Ditan Hospital affiliated with Capital Medical University, between January 2019 and December 2020. Participants were distributed into two treatment groups: The PD-1 inhibitor/ TACE/Lenvatinib (PTL) and TACE/Lenvatinib (TL) groups. HCC patients had different stages of PVTT without obstructing the major vein lumen or inferior vena cava. The Chinese Society of Clinical Oncology guidelines for liver carcinoma were followed to confirm the histological and clinical diagnoses of HCC[24]. The diagnosis of PVTT was confirmed either by radiological (e.g., CT and MRI) or pathological methods. As per Cheng's classification, the PVTT could be staged in four types. Type I tumor thrombus involves portal vein branches in segments; type II includes left and right branches of the hepatic portal vein; type III involves the main portal vein, and type IV affects the superior mesenteric vein or inferior vena cava[25].



Baichidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

The inclusion criteria comprised the following: (1) Ages ranged from 18 to 75 years; (2) life expectancy  $\ge$  3 months; (3) having at least one typical enhanced measurable target lesion of  $\geq 1$  cm, according to the modified Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors (mRECIST); (4) Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group-performance status (ECOG-PS) score 0-1; (5) Child-Pugh classification A or B ( $\leq$  7 points); (6) non-surgical indications or refusal of surgical treatment; (7) not receiving radiofrequency ablation, TACE, and any other locoregional treatments 4 wk before the admission; (8) no limit on several liver tumors; and (9) might or might not have extrahepatic metastasis. The exclusion criteria included: (1) A history of other cancers; (2) any contraindications for therapies with TACE, Lenvatinib, and/or PD-1 inhibitor; (3) simultaneous ongoing treatment with other drugs; (4) incomplete patient record data; and (5) other conditions considered unsuitable for inclusion in the study by the investigators. Additionally, patients treated with any locoregional therapies e.g., radiofrequency ablation and radiotherapy) for intrahepatic lesions of HCC 4 wk before the study enrollment were eliminated.

#### Treatments

TACE: TACE was carried out by 2 professional radiologists (Cai L and Guo J). First, the feeding artery of the tumor was determined by angiography, then a super-selective 5-F catheter was inserted. Then, a mixture of Lipiodol (5-20 mL; Lipiodol Ultra-Fluide; André Guerbet Laboratories) and Lobaplatin (20mg/m<sup>2</sup>; Changan Hainan International Pharmaceutical Co., China) was prepared for embolization using absorbable embospheres (300-500mm; Biosphere Medical Inc). The entire intrahepatic tumor burden was treated by TACE. Conventional TACE (cTACE) was repeated on demand if the patient's subsequent follow-ups revealed incomplete necrosis or insufficient Lipiodol uptake.

**Systemic therapy:** Patients with  $\ge 60$  kg and < 60 kg (or Child-Pugh class B) of body weights, respectively, received 12 mg and 8 mg of Lenvatinib orally once daily until the day of cTACE. In the absence of any post-TACE symptoms (fever, nausea, vomiting, etc.), the medication was resumed after each TACE treatment. Patients in the PTL group received intravenous doses of 200 mg of PD-1 inhibitor (Sintilimab, Camrelizumab, Nivolumab, or Tislelizumab), every 3 wk starting from one to two weeks after TACE. When participants experienced adverse events (AEs) of grade 3 or more, dose modification or temporary interruption of medication was performed, according to the drug labels, until AEs were relieved to grade 1 or none. The drug was discontinued in case of uncontrolled tumor progression or unacceptable AEs.

#### Follow-up visits

Post-TACE assessments were performed by chest, abdominal, or enhanced CT, MRI, and/or laboratory tests during the follow-up visits every 4-8 wk intervals. Laboratory tests included blood routine, hepatic and kidney function tests, quantitation of urine protein, serum α-fetoprotein, and myocardial enzymes, etc. AEs records were retrieved for analysis from the hospital's electronic record system, following the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (v5.0) guidelines. Transient post-TACE AEs, such as elevated live enzymes, abdominal discomforts, and fever, were not recorded. The end-point of the follow-up study was December 1, 2021.

#### Endpoints

According to mRECIST criteria, median progression-free survival (mPFS) was the primary endpoint, while secondary endpoints included median overall survival (mOS), objective response rate (ORR), disease control rate (DCR), and safety. The mPFS was defined as the duration from the first TACE intervention to the first tumor progression and all-cause death. The mOS was the time from the first TACE to all-cause death. The ORR was the percentage of participants with complete remission (CR) and partial remission (PR). The DCR was referred to as the sum of CR, PR, and stable disease (SD). Tumor progression (20% increase from baseline examination, mRECIST) and transient hepatic dysfunction to Child-Pugh C or emerging extrahepatic metastases were conceived as markers of disease progression[26].

#### Statistical analysis

Continuous data are presented as median ± interquartile range or mean ± SD. The baseline characteristics of the two groups were evaluated by independent samples *t*-test or chi-squared ( $\chi^2$ ) test. The Kaplan-Meier and log-rank tests were employed to estimate survival curves and corresponding *P* values. Based on the Cox regression models, multivariate and univariate analyses were performed to identify independent prognostic factors related to mPFS. Any survival-related variables with P < 0.10 from univariate analyses were combined into a multivariate Cox proportional hazards model. A two-tailed P value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. The SPSS v 22.0 (IBM, Inc., New York, NY, United States) was exploited for all analyses.

## RESULTS

#### Patient demographics

A total of 502 HCC cum PVTT cases were diagnosed in Beijing Ditan Hospital, of which 424 patients were not treated with Lenvatinib, 22 subjects were not treated with TACE, and 15 patients had incomplete follow-up data. Finally, 41 of these patients were enrolled in the study, of which 23 were allotted to the TL group and the rest (n = 18) patients to the PTL group (Figure 1). The baseline data of 41 patients are outlined in Table 1. The median age of the patients was  $57.6 \pm$ 8.8 years. Thirty-six percent (n = 15) of patients in both groups had extrahepatic metastases, and most patients presented PVTT types III-IV (63.4%, n = 26). All patients had a Child-Pugh classification of A-B ( $\leq 7$  points) and an ECOG score of 0-1. In the majority of cases (92.7%, *n* = 38), the etiopathology was hepatitis B virus infection. The baseline characteristics



Table 1 Baseline clinical characteristics of patients				
Characteristic	PTL ( <i>n</i> = 18)	TL ( <i>n</i> = 23)	<i>P</i> value	
Mean age, yr ± SD	56.9 ± 8.1	58.1 ± 9.4	0.307	
Gender, n ()			0.690	
Male	15 (83.3)	18 (78.3)		
Female	3 (16.7)	5 (21.7)		
Weight, <i>n</i> (%)			0.794	
< 60 kg	7 (38.9)	8 (34.8)		
≥ 60 kg	11 (61.1)	15 (65.2)		
Etiology, n (%)			0.447	
HBV	16 (88.9)	22 (95.7)		
Others	2 (11.1)	1 (4.3)		
ECOG-PS, n (%)			0.586	
0	7 (38.9)	7 (30.4)		
1	11 (61.1)	16 (69.6)		
Child-Pugh class, n (%)			0.209	
А	18 (100)	21 (91.3)		
В	0 (0)	2 (8.7)		
AFP, <i>n</i> (%)			0.273	
< 400 ng/mL	7 (38.9)	13 (56.5)		
≥400 ng/mL	11 (61.1)	10 (43.5)		
Liver cirrhosis, <i>n</i> (%)			0.328	
Absent	0 (0)	1 (4.3)		
Present	18 (100)	22 (95.7)		
Extrahepatic metastasis, $n$ (%)			0.096	
Absent	14 (77.8)	12 (52.2)		
Present	4 (22.2)	11 (47.8)		
Size of largest nodule, $n$ (%)			0.855	
< 5 cm	2 (11.1)	3 (13.0)		
≥ 5 cm	16 (88.9)	20 (87.0)		
Tumor thrombus			0.373	
Branch of portal vein	8 (44.4)	7 (30.4)		
Main portal vein and vena cava	10 (55.6)	16 (69.6)		
Tumor number			0.415	
Solitary	1 (5.6)	3 (13.0)		
Multiple	17 (94.4)	20 (87.0)		
ALB			0.740	
> 3.5 g/dL	8 (44.4)	9 (39.1)		
≤3.5 g/dL	10 (55.6)	14 (60.9)		
Treatment history				
Surgery	0 (0)	0 (0)	-	
RFA	2 (11.1)	3 (13.0)	0.856	
TACE			0.123	
1-2	15 (83.3)	14 (60.9)		
--------------	----------------	-----------------	-------	
>2	3 (16.7)	9 (39.1)		
ALT (U/L)	$65.8\pm80.6$	$45.2 \pm 26.6$	0.835	
AST (U/L)	73.6 ± 74.5	$68.5\pm46.5$	0.386	
TBIL (mg/dl)	$18.8 \pm 7.0$	$17.2 \pm 8.9$	0.780	
PT(s)	$12.7 \pm 1.2$	$13.1 \pm 1.3$	0.988	
PTA(s)	83.2 ± 12.6	83.7 ± 11.3	0.640	

PTL: PD-1 inhibitor/transcatheter arterial chemoembolization/Lenvatinib; TL: Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization/Lenvatinib; HBV: Hepatitis B Virus; ECOG-PS: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group-performance status; AFP: Alpha fetoprotein; ALB: Albumin; TACE: Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization; ATL: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; TBIL: Total bilirubin; PT: Prothrombin time; PTA: Prothrombin activity.



Figure 1 Trial flowchart. Flowchart illustration of patient selection strategy. A total of 41 patients were finally selected, of which 18 patients received treatments with the PD-1 inhibitor/transcatheter arterial chemoembolization (TACE)/Lenvatinib, and 23 patients with the TACE/Lenvatinib regimen. TACE: Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization; AE: Adverse event; PFS: Progression-free survival; OS: Overall survival; ORR: Objective response rate; DCR: Disease control rate.

between the two groups were highly comparable in terms of liver function, demographics, and disease characteristics.

## Treatment efficacy

The median follow-up was 21.8 months (95%CI = 14.7-28.8). Patients in the PTL group had significantly longer mPFS (5.4 months; 95%CI = 3.6-7.3) than those in the TL (2.7 months; 95%CI = 1.7-3.6) group (HR 0.25; 95%CI = 0.12-0.52; P < 0.001; Figure 2A and B). However, there was no significant difference in mOS between the PTL (9.0 months; 95%CI = 7.07-10.93) and TL (8.27 months; 95%CI = 7.65-8.89) for groups (P = 0.108); Figure 2A and B). When stratified by ECOG-PS scores, the patients with ECOG score 0 exhibited a longer mPFS than those with ECOG score 1 (Figure 2C). However, no statistical difference in PFS was demonstrated between patients with  $\leq$  3 tumors *vs* those with > 3 tumors (5.4 months *vs* 4.0 months, P = 0.178).

Table 2 Therapeutic efficacy of response and conversion therapy, n (%)									
	PTL ( <i>n</i> = 18) TL ( <i>n</i> = 23) <i>P</i> value								
CR	1 (5.6)	0 (0)							
PR	2 (11.1)	3 (13.0)							
SD	13 (72.2)	11 (47.8)							
PD	2 (11.1)	9 (39.1)							
ORR	3 (16.7)	3 (13.0)	0.752						
DCR	16 (88.9)	14 (60.9)	0.046						

PTL: PD-1 inhibitor/transcatheter arterial chemoembolization/Lenvatinib; TL: Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization/Lenvatinib; CR: Complete response; PR: Partial response; SD: Stable disease; PD: Progressive disease; ORR: Objective response rate; DCR: Disease control rate.



Figure 2 Kaplan-Meier curves estimate prognosis. A: Kaplan-Meier curves estimate median progression free survival by treatment modality; B: Kaplan-Meier curves estimate median progression free survival for patients with different Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group scores. TACE: Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization; ECOG: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group; PFS: Progression-free survival; OS: Overall survival.



Figure 3 Waterfall plot of maximum tumor response to triple therapy by investigator using the modified Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors. Waterfall plots showing the maximum level tumor responses to triple therapy by investigators using the mRECIST approach. mRECIST: Modified Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors; PD: Progressive disease; SD: Stable disease; PR: Partial remission; CR: Complete remission.

The DCR was superior (P = 0.046) in the PTL group (88.9%; 1 CR, 2 PR, and 13 SD) than that in the TL (60.9%; 0 CR, 3 PR, and 11 SD) groups (Table 2). However, the difference in the ORR was not significant (P = 0.752) between the PTL (16.7%; 1 CR, and 2 PR) and TL (13%; 0 CR and 3 PR) groups. Waterfall analysis revealed a reduction in tumor sizes in 70.7% (29/41) of patients as per the investigator's assessment (Figure 3).

Table 3 presents independent prognostic factors related to mPFS. In univariate analysis, age, gender, cirrhosis, Child-Pugh grade, ECOG performance status, tumor thrombus, bilirubin, prothrombin time, and the intervention method were

Table 3 Univariate and multivariate cox proportional hazard model for Median progression-free survival									
		Univariate	Univariate			Multivariate			
Characteristic	N	mPFS	95%CI	P value	HR	95%CI	P value		
Treatment				0.000	0.25	0.12-0.52	< 0.001		
PTL group	18	5.4	3.61-7.25						
TL group	23	2.7	1.73-3.61						
Gender				0.162	-	-	0.947		
Male	33	4.00	2.70-5.31						
Female	8	3.37	2.44-4.30						
Age				0.902	-	-	0.740		
≥ 55 yr	26	3.70	3.13-4.28						
< 55 yr	15	3.63	1.96-5.30						
Liver cirrhosis				0.015	-	-	-		
Yes	40	3.7	3.39-4.01						
No	1	1.17	-						
Weight				0.537	-	-	-		
< 60 kg	15	3.73	3.48-3.98						
≥ 60 kg	26	3.27	1.87-4.67						
Etiology				0.729	-	-	-		
HBV	38	3.7	3.16-4.24						
Others	3	4.47	0.36-8.58						
PVTT				0.389	-	-	0.704		
I-II types	15	3.7	0.76-6.64						
III-IV types	26	3.7	2.95-4.45						
TACE				0.214	-	-	-		
1-2 times	29	3.83	3.18-4.48						
≥2 times	12	3.37	2.57-4.17						
ECOG-PS				0.036	2.82	1.29-6.16	0.009		
<1	14	5.43	2.55-8.31						
≥1	27	3.27	2.69-3.85						
Child-Pugh grade				0.027	0.10	0.01-1.11	0.061		
А	39	3.73	3.28-4.18						
В	2	1.83	-						
AFP				0.177	-	-	-		
< 40 0 ng/mL	20	3.63	2.94-4.32						
≥400 ng/mL	21	4.43	2.79-6.08						
Extrahepatic spread				0.233	-	-	-		
Yes	40	3.7	2.82-4.58						
No	1	3.7	2.54-4.86						
Tumor diameter				0.959	-	-	-		
< 5 cm	5	4.43	1.94-6.92						
≥ 5 cm	36	3.70	3.17-4.23						
Anti-viral therapy				0.714	-	-	-		

Yes	38	3.7	3.01-4.40				
No	3	3.7	0.82-6.58				
ALB				0.840	-	-	-
> 3.5 g/dL	17	3.37	2.21-4.53				
$\leq$ 3.5 g/dL	24	3.73	3.17-4.30				
Family history of HBV				0.099	-	-	-
Yes	28	4.43	3.60-5.26				
No	13	2.67	1.03-4.28				
PT				0.561	-	-	0.915
< 13 s	25	4.00	2.69-5.31				
≥ 13 s	16	2.53	0.04-5.02				
TBIL				0.964	-	-	0.392
< 1.5 mg/dL	31	3.73	2.86-4.60				
$\geq$ 1.5 mg/dL	10	2.67	1.90-3.45				
ALT				0.907	-	-	-
< 40 µg/mL	22	3.73	2.11-5.35				
$\geq 40 \ \mu g/mL$	19	3.70	3.24-4.16				
AST				0.849	-	-	-
< 40 µg/mL	12	3.23	1.43-5.03				
$\geq 40 \ \mu g/mL$	29	3.70	3.12-4.28				

PTL: PD-1 inhibitor/transcatheter arterial chemoembolization/Lenvatinib; TL: Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization/Lenvatinib; PVTT: Portal vein tumor thrombus; TACE: Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization; ECOG-PS: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group-performance status; AFP: Alpha fetoprotein; ALB: Albumin; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; PT: Prothrombin time; TBIL: Total bilirubin; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate transaminase.

significantly associated with mPFS (P < 0.05). Finally, we found that the PTL regimen (95%CI = 0.12-0.52; HR = 0.25; P < 0.001), and a lower ECOG score (95%CI = 1.29-6.16; HR = 2.82; P = 0.009) were favorable factors for prolonged PFS.

## Safety

Since post-TACE symptoms of transient AEs disappeared in a short time in most patients, these did not affect the subsequent treatment. We did not summarize these transient AEs related to TACE. Thirty-two patients (78.0) in the two groups experienced treatment-related AEs, including 12 patients (37.5) with high-grade AEs ( $\geq$  grade 3; Table 4). The most frequent treatment-related AEs were asthenia, hand-foot skin reaction, proteinuria, hypertension, decreased white blood cell and platelet counts, hypoproteinemia, ascites, nausea, and decreased weight, and most of these AEs were mild to moderate in severity. The incidence of AEs of  $\geq$  grade 3 was similar between the two groups. Immune-related AEs included myocarditis (1 patient, grade 2) and hypothyroidism (2 patients, grade 2). The incidence of dose reduction/ discontinuation during treatment was 30.4% (7/23) in the TL group and 27.8% (5/18) in the PTL group.

## DISCUSSION

HCC patients complicated with PVTT have a short life expectancy. Due to a high susceptibility toward intravascular and extrahepatic metastases, increased risk of other serious complications, including bleeding from esophageal varices, and impaired liver function caused by primary hepatic occlusion and worsening hypertension[27]. The updated recommendations of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network for advanced-stage HCC refer to systemic therapy[28]. In the era of combination drug therapies, TKIs combined with ICIs, such as Lenvatinib combined with Pembrolizumab or Nivolumab, Cabozantinib combined with Nivolumab or Atezolizumab, have been proven to offer higher efficacy and longer overall survival in HCC patients[29]. The addition of TACE further improves the response of this combination (TKI plus ICI) therapy for advanced-stage HCC subjects[21,22,30]. However, there are no head-to-head studies on the efficacy of TACE or HAIC added with Lenvatinib/PD-1 inhibitor *vs* TACE plus Lenvatinib in a subset of advanced HCC patients complicated with PVTT. Our study identified an advantage of triplet therapy in terms of mPFS (5.4 months *vs* 2.7 months, *P* < 0.001) as well as DCR (88.9% *vs* 60.9%, *P* = 0.046) in HCCs with PVTT types I-IV. And no new additional toxicities were found. These results were complementary to the previous findings[21,22,30], suggesting the triplet

Table 4 Adverse events, n (%)									
A	Any grades			High grades (≥ 3)	High grades (≥ 3)				
Adverse events	PTL ( <i>n</i> = 18)	TL ( <i>n</i> = 23)	P value	PTL ( <i>n</i> = 18)	TL ( <i>n</i> = 23)	P value			
Asthenia	7 (38.9)	5 (21.7)	0.186	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	-			
ALT elevation	14 (77.8)	18 (78.3)	0.665	2 (11.1)	3 (13.0)	0.851			
AST elevation	13(72.2)	18 (78.3)	0.971	2 (11.1)	3 (13.0)	0.851			
Hand-foot skin reaction	1 (5.6)	3 (13.0)	0.435	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	-			
Hypertension	2 (11.1)	3 (13.0)	0.856	1 (5.6)	1 (4.3)	0.863			
Hypothyroidism	2 (11.1)	0 (0.0)	0.163	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	-			
Proteinuria	2 (11.1)	3 (13.0)	0.856	0 (0.0)	1 (4.3)	0.383			
Dysphonia	0 (0.0)	1 (4.3)	0.383	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	-			
Decreased WBC	5 (27.8)	4 (17.4)	0.438	1 (5.6)	0 (0.0)	0.264			
Decreased PLT	6 (33.3)	4 (17.4)	0.249	0 (0.0)	1 (4.3)	0.383			
Hypoproteinemia	4 (22.2)	3 (13.0)	0.451	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	-			
Infection	1 (5.6)	1 (4.3)	0.863	0 (0.0)	1 (4.3)	0.383			
Diarrhea	3 (16.7)	2 (8.7)	0.452	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	-			
Hepatic encephalopathy	0 (0.0)	1 (4.3)	0.383	0 (0.0)	1 (4.3)	0.383			
Myocarditis	1 (5.6)	0 (0.0)	0.264	1 (5.6)	0 (0.0)	0.264			
Anorexia	3 (16.7)	4 (17.4)	0.953	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	-			
Ascites	4 (22.2)	3 (13.0)	0.451	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	-			
Acute kidney injury	1 (5.6)	1 (4.3)	0.863	1 (5.6)	1 (4.3)	0.863			
Nausea	3 (16.7)	5 (21.7)	0.693	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	-			
Decreased weight	2 (11.1)	4 (17.4)	0.584	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	-			
Elevated bilirubin	1 (5.6)	1 (4.3)	0.863	1 (5.6)	0 (0.0)	0.264			
Alimentary tract hemorrhage	0 (0.0)	1 (4.3)	0.383	0 (0.0)	1 (4.3)	0.383			

PTL: PD-1 inhibitor/transcatheter arterial chemoembolization/Lenvatinib; TL: Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization/Lenvatinib; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate transaminase; WBC: White blood cell; PLT: Platelet.

regimen could be utilized in advanced HCC cases, including those with PVTT types I-IV.

The probable mechanism underlying the superiority of the triplet regimen over the dual regimen in treating PVTT in terms of prognosis could be as follows: TACE-induced release of inflammatory factors might have activated the adaptive immunity, or TACE might induce spontaneous T cell responses to regulate the immune environment in the tumor microenvironment. Simultaneously, its combination with ICIs may be more effective in promoting antitumor immune reconstitution[31]. Previous findings have highlighted that tumor immune escape mainly occurs when CTLs are depleted. The immune-promoting activities of anti-VEGF drugs can suppress the expression of PD-1 as well as TIM-3 (mucin domain-containing protein 3) on CTLs, thereby rescuing the CTL population from the depleted state and forming a newly balanced immune environment during treatments[17]. A single-arm investigation has indicated that the PTL regimen could achieve an ORR of 80.6% with manageable toxicity[29].

Although our study demonstrated the superiority of the PTL regimen over the TL, the mPFS was shorter in our study than in the previous study [21]. The following two reasons were considered: (1) This study used advanced-stage HCC patients (63.4% with types III-IV PVTT) with poor prognoses as a sample, while the previous study using a triple regimen did not include all patients with PVTT; and (2) the small sample size used in this study might have caused some variations in the results. We noticed that the mOS of patients treated with PTL was not statistically different compared to that of TL-treated patients. We speculated that the second-line treatment after progression might have exerted a certain impact on the overall survival of patients. For example, the combination with PD-1 inhibitors of patients in the dual group after progression further prolonged the survival time of patients. At the same time, for more accurate and reliable results, randomized controlled trials (RCTs) are needed in the future.

Furthermore, we analyzed the prognostic factors of PFS of the whole cohort and concluded that the treatment mode and the ECOG-PS score were independent factors that could modulate the prognosis of HCC patients. When the ECOG-PS score was lower, the mPFS of patients was better. Moreover, the triplet therapy of the PTL regimen could provide better mPFS to patients than the dual therapy with the TL regimen.

Diskidena® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

Consistently, the PTL regimen has been shown to offer a similar safety profile in this study[21]. The incidences of treatment-related AEs did not differ considerably between the two treatment modalities. Notably, the triplet therapy regimen was not associated with any recurrences of liver injuries, as well as no grade 3 ir-AEs in our study. A recent study has demonstrated that transient transaminase elevation (e.g., 52% in ALT, or 46% in AST) after TACE could be associated with objective responses[32], which can guide clinical practice. It means that patients with severe liver injury may have limited efficacy from TACE, maybe the severe liver injuries induce liver function deterioration which can hinder the administration of systemic drugs. However, due to limited data sources, no such association was investigated in this study.

Some critical limitations of this study are as follows. First, it was a single-center, small-sample, retrospective, and investigator-biased study. Second, the variability in TACE frequency might have affected the results of this study. Third, the cohort size was too small to obtain reliable statistical power for this study. And lastly, the use of different PD-1 blockers could have influenced the consistency of treatment procedures.

## CONCLUSION

In conclusion, we found that the triple therapy with PTL could not only significantly improve mPFS and DCR in advanced HCC patients with PVTT but also prove to be better safety and tolerability. Therefore, based on the previous as well as current findings, it may be concluded that the PTL regimen has powerful potential in obtaining satisfactory treatment outcomes in advanced-stage HCC patients complicated with PVTT types I-IV. Prospective multi-center RCTs are warranted to further confirm the clinical efficacy of the triplet regimen over conventional procedures for HCC with PVTT.

## **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

The incidence and mortality of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) are among the highest in the world. There are a large number of advanced liver cancer patients with portal vein cancer embolus, and the prognosis is worse. Therefore, it is necessary to explore the treatment plan that can prolong the survival of liver cancer patients with portal vein cancer embolus.

## Research motivation

To compare the efficacies and safety levels of the PD-1 inhibitor/TACE/Lenvatinib (PTL) regimen and TACE/Lenvatinib (TL) regimen for HCC subjects comorbid with portal vein tumor thrombus (PVTT), providing a choice for exploring the combination drug regimen that can prolong the survival of HCC with PVTT.

## Research objectives

Our research aims to compare the efficacies and safety levels of the PTL regimen and TL regimen for HCC subjects comorbid with PVTT. We found a triplet regimen of PTL was safe and well-tolerated as well as exhibited favorable efficacy over the TL regimen for advanced-stage HCC patients with PVTT types I-IV. The triple therapy regimen may better improve the prognosis of advanced liver cancer patients with portal vein cancer suppository and extend their survival time, which is of great significance.

#### Research methods

We selected HCC patients with PVTT type I-IV, TACE was carried out by 2 professional radiologists.

## Research results

The triple therapy regimen may better improve the prognosis of advanced liver cancer patients with portal vein cancer suppository and extend their survival time. Large-scale prospective studies are needed to further validate the efficacy and safety of the triple therapy regimen in the future.

## **Research conclusions**

A triplet regimen of PTL was safe and well-tolerated as well as exhibited favorable efficacy over the TL regimen for advanced-stage HCC patients with PVTT types I-IV. The combination therapy of TACE, TKI and PD-1 inhibitor was used for advanced liver cancer patients with portal vein cancer embolus.

#### Research perspectives

Large-scale prospective studies are needed to further validate the efficacy and safety of the triple therapy regimen in the future

WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank all patients for their endeavors and unparalleled contributions to this study.

## FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Hong-Xiao Wu and Xiao-Yan Ding.

Author contributions: Chen JL and Ding XX designed the research; Wu HX, Xu YW, Yu MH, Li XM and Deng N contributed data collection; Chen JL, Ding XX, Wu HX, Xu YW, Yu MH, Li XM and Deng N contributed manuscript review; Wu HX and Ding XY performed the research, wrote the paper, and completed data collection, data analysis and manuscript revision, so we consider these two authors to have equal contributions and can be regarded as a co-first author; all authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the Beijing Ditan Hospital, Capital Medical University Institutional Review Board (Approval No. JDLC 2021-003 -02).

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors certify that there is no conflict of interest related to the manuscript.

Data sharing statement: The dataset used for this study is available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Hong-Xiao Wu 0000-0003-4425-7214; Jing-Long Chen 0000-0003-1640-7115.

S-Editor: Lin C L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YX

## REFERENCES

- International Agency for Research on Cancer. Global Cancer Observatory. [cited 3 October 2021]. Available from: https://gco.iarc.fr/ 1
- Khan AR, Wei X, Xu X. Portal Vein Tumor Thrombosis and Hepatocellular Carcinoma The Changing Tides. J Hepatocell Carcinoma 2021; 2 8: 1089-1115 [PMID: 34522691 DOI: 10.2147/JHC.S318070]
- Lu J, Zhang XP, Zhong BY, Lau WY, Madoff DC, Davidson JC, Qi X, Cheng SQ, Teng GJ. Management of patients with hepatocellular 3 carcinoma and portal vein tumour thrombosis: comparing east and west. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 4: 721-730 [PMID: 31387735 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30178-5]
- European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: Management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 4 2018; 69: 182-236 [PMID: 29628281 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.03.019]
- 5 Marrero JA, Kulik LM, Sirlin CB, Zhu AX, Finn RS, Abecassis MM, Roberts LR, Heimbach JK. Diagnosis, Staging, and Management of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: 2018 Practice Guidance by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology 2018; 68: 723-750 [PMID: 29624699 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29913]
- Korean Liver Cancer Association (KLCA); National Cancer Center (NCC), Goyang, Korea. 2018 Korean Liver Cancer Association-National 6 Cancer Center Korea Practice Guidelines for the Management of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Korean J Radiol 2019; 20: 1042-1113 [PMID: 31270974 DOI: 10.3348/kjr.2019.0140]
- 7 Cheng S, Chen M, Cai J, Sun J, Guo R, Bi X, Lau WY, Wu M. Chinese Expert Consensus on Multidisciplinary Diagnosis and Treatment of Hepatocellular Carcinoma with Portal Vein Tumor Thrombus (2018 Edition). Liver Cancer 2020; 9: 28-40 [PMID: 32071907 DOI: 10.1159/000503685
- Kokudo N, Takemura N, Hasegawa K, Takayama T, Kubo S, Shimada M, Nagano H, Hatano E, Izumi N, Kaneko S, Kudo M, Iijima H, Genda 8 T, Tateishi R, Torimura T, Igaki H, Kobayashi S, Sakurai H, Murakami T, Watadani T, Matsuyama Y. Clinical practice guidelines for hepatocellular carcinoma: The Japan Society of Hepatology 2017 (4th JSH-HCC guidelines) 2019 update. Hepatol Res 2019; 49: 1109-1113 [PMID: 31336394 DOI: 10.1111/hepr.13411]
- Choi JW, Kim HC, Lee JH, Yu SJ, Kim YJ, Yoon JH, Jae HJ, Hur S, Lee M, Chung JW. Transarterial chemoembolization of hepatocellular 9 carcinoma with segmental portal vein tumour thrombus. Eur Radiol 2017; 27: 1448-1458 [PMID: 27516356 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-016-4511-3
- Chung GE, Lee JH, Kim HY, Hwang SY, Kim JS, Chung JW, Yoon JH, Lee HS, Kim YJ. Transarterial chemoembolization can be safely 10 performed in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma invading the main portal vein and may improve the overall survival. Radiology 2011; 258:



627-634 [PMID: 21273524 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.10101058]

- Silva JP, Berger NG, Tsai S, Christians KK, Clarke CN, Mogal H, White S, Rilling W, Gamblin TC. Transarterial chemoembolization in hepatocellular carcinoma with portal vein tumor thrombosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *HPB (Oxford)* 2017; 19: 659-666 [PMID: 28552299 DOI: 10.1016/j.hpb.2017.04.016]
- 12 Xiang X, Lau WY, Wu ZY, Zhao C, Ma YL, Xiang BD, Zhu JY, Zhong JH, Li LQ. Transarterial chemoembolization versus best supportive care for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma with portal vein tumor thrombus: a multicenter study. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 2019; **45**: 1460-1467 [PMID: 31005471 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejso.2019.03.042]
- 13 Lin W, Wang H, Zhong M, Yu S, Zhao S, Liang S, Du J, Cheng B, Gu W, Ling C. Effect and Molecular Mechanisms of Jiedu Recipe on Hypoxia-Induced Angiogenesis after Transcatheter Arterial Chemoembolization in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med* 2021; 2021: 6529376 [PMID: 33505496 DOI: 10.1155/2021/6529376]
- 14 Yang B, Jie L, Yang T, Chen M, Gao Y, Zhang T, Zhang Y, Wu H, Liao Z. TACE Plus Lenvatinib Versus TACE Plus Sorafenib for Unresectable Hepatocellular Carcinoma With Portal Vein Tumor Thrombus: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Front Oncol* 2021; 11: 821599 [PMID: 35004336 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2021.821599]
- 15 Fu Z, Li X, Zhong J, Chen X, Cao K, Ding N, Liu L, Zhang X, Zhai J, Qu Z. Lenvatinib in combination with transarterial chemoembolization for treatment of unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma (uHCC): a retrospective controlled study. *Hepatol Int* 2021; 15: 663-675 [PMID: 33877527 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-021-10184-9]
- 16 Ding X, Sun W, Li W, Shen Y, Guo X, Teng Y, Liu X, Zheng L, Chen J. Transarterial chemoembolization plus lenvatinib versus transarterial chemoembolization plus sorafenib as first-line treatment for hepatocellular carcinoma with portal vein tumor thrombus: A prospective randomized study. *Cancer* 2021; 127: 3782-3793 [PMID: 34237154 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.33677]
- 17 Zhu J, Fang P, Wang C, Gu M, Pan B, Guo W, Yang X, Wang B. The immunomodulatory activity of lenvatinib prompts the survival of patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Med* 2021; 10: 7977-7987 [PMID: 34605616 DOI: 10.1002/cam4.4312]
- 18 Wang Y, Jiang M, Zhu J, Qu J, Qin K, Zhao D, Wang L, Dong L, Zhang X. The safety and efficacy of lenvatinib combined with immune checkpoint inhibitors therapy for advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. *Biomed Pharmacother* 2020; 132: 110797 [PMID: 33068935 DOI: 10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110797]
- 19 Liu Z, Lin Y, Zhang J, Zhang Y, Li Y, Liu Z, Li Q, Luo M, Liang R, Ye J. Molecular targeted and immune checkpoint therapy for advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2019; 38: 447 [PMID: 31684985 DOI: 10.1186/s13046-019-1412-8]
- 20 Mei J, Tang YH, Wei W, Shi M, Zheng L, Li SH, Guo RP. Hepatic Arterial Infusion Chemotherapy Combined With PD-1 Inhibitors Plus Lenvatinib Versus PD-1 Inhibitors Plus Lenvatinib for Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Front Oncol* 2021; 11: 618206 [PMID: 33718175 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2021.618206]
- 21 Chen S, Wu Z, Shi F, Mai Q, Wang L, Wang F, Zhuang W, Chen X, Chen H, Xu B, Lai J, Guo W. Lenvatinib plus TACE with or without pembrolizumab for the treatment of initially unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma harbouring PD-L1 expression: a retrospective study. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* 2022; **148**: 2115-2125 [PMID: 34453221 DOI: 10.1007/s00432-021-03767-4]
- 22 Cao F, Yang Y, Si T, Luo J, Zeng H, Zhang Z, Feng D, Chen Y, Zheng J. The Efficacy of TACE Combined With Lenvatinib Plus Sintilimab in Unresectable Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Multicenter Retrospective Study. *Front Oncol* 2021; 11: 783480 [PMID: 34988019 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2021.783480]
- Qin S, Ren Z, Feng YH, Yau T, Wang B, Zhao H, Bai Y, Gu S, Li L, Hernandez S, Xu DZ, Mulla S, Wang Y, Shao H, Cheng AL. Atezolizumab plus Bevacizumab versus Sorafenib in the Chinese Subpopulation with Unresectable Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Phase 3 Randomized, Open-Label IMbrave150 Study. *Liver Cancer* 2021; 10: 296-308 [PMID: 34414118 DOI: 10.1159/000513486]
- 24 Xie DY, Ren ZG, Zhou J, Fan J, Gao Q. 2019 Chinese clinical guidelines for the management of hepatocellular carcinoma: updates and insights. *Hepatobiliary Surg Nutr* 2020; 9: 452-463 [PMID: 32832496 DOI: 10.21037/hbsn-20-480]
- Shuqun C, Mengchao W, Han C, Feng S, Jiahe Y, Guanghui D, Wenming C, Peijun W, Yuxiang Z. Tumor thrombus types influence the prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma with the tumor thrombi in the portal vein. *Hepatogastroenterology* 2007; 54: 499-502 [PMID: 17523307]
- 26 Kudo M, Ueshima K, Ikeda M, Torimura T, Tanabe N, Aikata H, Izumi N, Yamasaki T, Nojiri S, Hino K, Tsumura H, Kuzuya T, Isoda N, Yasui K, Aino H, Ido A, Kawabe N, Nakao K, Wada Y, Yokosuka O, Yoshimura K, Okusaka T, Furuse J, Kokudo N, Okita K, Johnson PJ, Arai Y; TACTICS study group. Randomised, multicentre prospective trial of transarterial chemoembolisation (TACE) plus sorafenib as compared with TACE alone in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: TACTICS trial. *Gut* 2020; 69: 1492-1501 [PMID: 31801872 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-318934]
- Zane KE, Makary MS. Locoregional Therapies for Hepatocellular Carcinoma with Portal Vein Tumor Thrombosis. *Cancers (Basel)* 2021; 13
  [PMID: 34771593 DOI: 10.3390/cancers13215430]
- 28 National Comprehensive Cancer Network. Hepatobiliary Carcinoma (Version 2.2023). Sep 14, 2023. [cited 3 August 2022]. Available online. Available at: https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician\_gls/pdf/hcc.pdf
- 29 Stefanini B, Ielasi L, Chen R, Abbati C, Tonnini M, Tovoli F, Granito A. TKIs in combination with immunotherapy for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* 2023; 23: 279-291 [PMID: 36794716 DOI: 10.1080/14737140.2023.2181162]
- 30 Wu JY, Yin ZY, Bai YN, Chen YF, Zhou SQ, Wang SJ, Zhou JY, Li YN, Qiu FN, Li B, Yan ML. Lenvatinib Combined with Anti-PD-1 Antibodies Plus Transcatheter Arterial Chemoembolization for Unresectable Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Multicenter Retrospective Study. J Hepatocell Carcinoma 2021; 8: 1233-1240 [PMID: 34676181 DOI: 10.2147/JHC.S332420]
- **Pinato DJ**, Murray SM, Forner A, Kaneko T, Fessas P, Toniutto P, Mínguez B, Cacciato V, Avellini C, Diaz A, Boyton RJ, Altmann DM, Goldin RD, Akarca AU, Marafioti T, Mauri FA, Casagrande E, Grillo F, Giannini E, Bhoori S, Mazzaferro V. Trans-arterial chemoembolization as a loco-regional inducer of immunogenic cell death in hepatocellular carcinoma: implications for immunotherapy. J Immunother Cancer 2021; 9 [PMID: 34593621 DOI: 10.1136/jitc-2021-003311]
- 32 Granito A, Facciorusso A, Sacco R, Bartalena L, Mosconi C, Cea UV, Cappelli A, Antonino M, Modestino F, Brandi N, Tovoli F, Piscaglia F, Golfieri R, Renzulli M. TRANS-TACE: Prognostic Role of the Transient Hypertransaminasemia after Conventional Chemoembolization for Hepatocellular Carcinoma. J Pers Med 2021; 11 [PMID: 34683182 DOI: 10.3390/jpm11101041]

Raisbideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

WŨ

# World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 855-862

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.855

**Retrospective Study** 

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

## Immunoglobulin G-mediated food intolerance and metabolic syndrome influence the occurrence of reflux esophagitis in Helicobacter pylori-infected patients

Li-Hui Wang, Bin-Bin Su, Sheng-Shu Wang, Guan-Chao Sun, Kun-Ming Lv, Yi Li, Hui Shi, Qian-Qian Chen

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

## Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Ushiku T, Japan

Received: December 8, 2023 Peer-review started: December 8, 2023 First decision: December 27, 2023 Revised: January 4, 2024 Accepted: January 29, 2024 Article in press: January 29, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



Li-Hui Wang, Guan-Chao Sun, Kun-Ming Lv, Medical College, Chinese PLA General Hospital, Beijing 100853, China

Li-Hui Wang, Bin-Bin Su, Guan-Chao Sun, Kun-Ming Lv, Hui Shi, Department of Gastroenterology, Second Medical Center of Chinese PLA General Hospital, Beijing 100853, China

Sheng-Shu Wang, Institute of Geriatrics, The 2nd Medical Center, Beijing Key Laboratory of Aging and Geriatrics, National Clinical Research Center for Geriatrics Diseases, Second Medical Center of Chinese PLA General Hospital, Beijing 100853, China

Yi Li, Qian-Qian Chen, Department of Gastroenterology, First Medical Center of Chinese PLA General Hospital, Beijing 100853, China

Corresponding author: Qian-Qian Chen, MD, Associate Chief Physician, Associate Professor, Department of Gastroenterology, First Medical Center of Chinese PLA General Hospital, No. 28 Fuxing Road, Haidian District, Beijing 100853, China. qian qian chen@163.com

## Abstract

## BACKGROUND

Reflux esophagitis has an increasing prevalence and complex and diverse symptoms. Identifying its risk factors is crucial to understanding the etiology, prevention, and management of the disease. The occurrence of reflux esophagitis may be associated with food reactions, Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) infection, and metabolic syndromes.

## AIM

To investigate the risk factors for reflux esophagitis and analyze the effects of immunoglobulin (Ig) G-mediated food intolerance, H. pylori infection, and metabolic syndrome on reflux esophagitis.

## **METHODS**

Outpatients attending the Second Medical Center of the PLA General Hospital between 2017 and 2021 were retrospectively enrolled. The patients' basic information, test results, gastroscopy results, H. pylori test results, and IgGmediated food intolerance results were collected. Multivariate logistic regression analysis was used to analyze risk factors for reflux esophagitis. Statistical



mediation analysis was used to evaluate the effects of IgG-mediated food intolerance and metabolic syndrome on H. pylori infection affecting reflux esophagitis.

## RESULTS

A total of 7954 outpatients were included; the prevalence of reflux esophagitis, IgG-mediated food intolerance, H. pylori infection, and metabolic syndrome were 20.84%, 61.77%, 35.91%, and 60.15%, respectively. Multivariate analysis showed that the independent risk factors for reflux esophagitis included IgG-mediated food intolerance (OR = 1.688, 95%CI: 1.497-1.903, *P* < 0.00001) and metabolic syndrome (OR = 1.165, 95%CI: 1.030-1.317, *P* = 0.01484), and the independent protective factor for reflux esophagitis was H. pylori infection (OR = 0.400, 95% CI: 0.351-0.456, *P* < 0.00001). IgG-mediated food intolerance had a partially positive mediating effect on *H. pylori* infection as it was associated with reduced occurrence of reflux esophagitis (P = 0.0200). Metabolic syndrome had a partially negative mediating effect on *H. pylori* infection and reduced the occurrence of reflux esophagitis (P = 0.0220).

## **CONCLUSION**

Patients with IgG-mediated food intolerance and metabolic syndrome were at higher risk of developing reflux esophagitis, while patients with *H. pylori* infection were at lower risk. IgG-mediated food intolerance reduced the risk of reflux esophagitis pathogenesis in patients with H. pylori infection; however, metabolic syndrome increased the risk of patients with *H. pylori* infection developing reflux esophagitis.

Key Words: Gastroesophageal reflux; Esophagitis; Food intolerance; Metabolic syndrome; Helicobacter pylori; Chemokines

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: This retrospective study investigated the effects of IgG-mediated food intolerance, Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) infection, and metabolic syndrome on reflux esophagitis. In 7954 outpatients, the prevalence of reflux esophagitis was 20.84%. Patients with IgG-mediated food intolerance and metabolic syndrome are at higher risk of developing reflux esophagitis, while patients with H. pylori infection are at lower risk. IgG-mediated food intolerance reduces the risk of reflux esophagitis pathogenesis in patients with H. pylori infection; however, metabolic syndrome increases the risk of patients with H. pylori infection developing reflux esophagitis.

Citation: Wang LH, Su BB, Wang SS, Sun GC, Lv KM, Li Y, Shi H, Chen QQ. Immunoglobulin G-mediated food intolerance and metabolic syndrome influence the occurrence of reflux esophagitis in Helicobacter pylori-infected patients. World J Gastroenterol 2024; 30(8): 855-862

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/855.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.855

## INTRODUCTION

Gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) is a range of diseases arising from the reflux of gastroduodenal content, and its pathogenesis is related to the immuno-inflammatory cascade<sup>[1]</sup>. Reflux esophagitis (RE), a phenotype of GERD, is defined as a visible mucosal rupture in the distal esophagus<sup>[2]</sup>. RE accounts for 30% of GERD cases, with an increasing prevalence and complex and diverse symptoms which greatly affect the quality of life; its long-term treatment requirements consume significant healthcare resources and create a socioeconomic burden[3]. Identifying the risk factors for RE is crucial to understanding the etiology, prevention, and management of the disease.

Food intolerance (FI) refers to the discomfort caused by a food or food component at a dose that is normally tolerated; this is responsible for most adverse food reactions. FI can be asymptomatic and manifest only as a high immunoglobulin (Ig) G response to stimulation by specific food antigens[4]. Certain foods can cause an imbalance between pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines, which is conducive to the production of an inflammatory environment and activation of the immune system[5]; this phenomenon may affect the development of RE. Metabolic syndrome is a risk factor for RE[6,7]. The effects of Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) infection on reflux remain controversial[8-10]. This study aimed to explore the risk factors for RE and analyze the effects of IgG-mediated FI, H. pylori infection, and metabolic syndrome on RE.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## Research methods

This was a retrospective cross-sectional study. Outpatients attending the Second Medical Center of PLA General Hospital between 2017 and 2021 were enrolled.



Zaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Successful gastroscopy at our hospital; (2) successful completion of the IgGmediated FI test; and (3) successful completion of the H. pylori test.

The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Missing test results; and (2) severe cardiovascular, cerebrovascular, or consciousness impairment preventing completion of the examination.

## **Basic information**

The data collected from outpatient records included the following: (1) Basic information: age, sex, systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, smoking history, and drinking history; (2) test results: white blood cell count, hemoglobin, Creactive protein, folic acid, homocysteine, brain natriuretic peptide precursor, total cholesterol, fasting blood glucose, creatinine, total protein, and 25-hydroxyvitamin D3; (3) diseases: metabolic syndrome and H. pylori infection; (4) gastroscopy results: presence of RE; and (5) IgG-mediated FI results.

#### Diagnostic criteria

Diagnostic criteria for reflux esophagitis: RE, diagnosed by the presence of mucosal rupture, was detected by gastroscopy and classified according to the current international common Los Angeles grading (LA) standard. LA-A type is categorized by the presence of one or more mucosal breakages  $\leq 5$  mm in length, LA-B type is categorized by the presence of one or more mucosal breakages > 5 mm in length with no fusion lesion, LA-C type is categorized by the presence of mucosal breakages with fusion lesions < 75% of the esophageal circumference, and LA-D type is categorized by the presence of mucosal breakages with fusion lesions  $\geq 75\%$  of the esophageal circumference[3].

Diagnostic criteria for IgG-mediated FI: ELISA was performed to detect delayed allergens, namely, specific IgG antibodies for 21 foods (beef, chicken, cod, corn, crab, egg, mushroom, milk, pork, rice, shrimp, soybean, tomatoes, wheat, brewer's yeast, garlic, ginger, onion, cottage cheese, red pepper, and sesame). All reagents were equilibrated to room temperature (20 °C-28 °C) and a standard curve was drawn. The absorbance value of each microwell was read with a microplate reader and the concentration of IgG antibodies was evaluated based on the absorbance of each well and the standard curve. IgG-positive food was defined as IgG antibody concentrations ≥ 50 U/mL. IgG-mediated FI was diagnosed when there was  $\geq 1$  IgG-positive food[11].

Diagnostic criteria for metabolic syndrome: Metabolic syndrome was diagnosed by the presence of at least three of the following: (1) Abdominal obesity (namely, central obesity): waist circumference  $\ge$  90 cm for men and  $\ge$  85 cm for women; (2) hyperglycemia: fasting blood glucose  $\geq$  6.1 mmol/L or blood glucose  $\geq$  7.8 mmol/L obtained 2 h after sugar loading or patients diagnosed with diabetes who were receiving treatment; (3) hypertension: blood pressure  $\geq$  130/85 mmHg (1 mmHg = 0.133 kPa) or patients diagnosed with hypertension who were receiving treatment; (4) fasting triacylglycerol  $\geq$ 1.70 mmol/L; and (5) fasting high-density lipoprotein cholesterol < 1.04 mmol/L[12].

Diagnostic criteria for H. pylori infection: The diagnostic criteria for H. pylori infection included the use of a <sup>13</sup>C-urea breath test or the histologic examination of gastric biopsy specimens as diagnostic tools[13].

## Statistical analysis

Normally distributed continuous variables are presented as means ± SD, and independent *t*-tests were used for betweengroup comparisons. Categorical variables are presented as numbers or percentages, and  $\chi^2$  tests were used for betweengroup comparisons. Multivariate logistic regression analysis was used to analyze risk factors for RE. Mediation effect analysis was used to evaluate the effects of IgG-mediated FI and metabolic syndrome on the occurrence of RE caused by H. pylori infection. In this study, SPSS (version 26.0; IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, United States) was applied to organize and statistically analyze the data; a *P*-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

## RESULTS

#### **Baseline characteristics**

A total of 7954 outpatients were included; 1658 (20.84%) had RE. Notably, RE had a high prevalence among older patients, men, and patients with smoking and alcohol consumption histories. Furthermore, comparing the diseases and test results between the non-RE and RE groups, the RE group demonstrated higher positive IgG-mediated FI, metabolic syndrome, white blood cell count, hemoglobin, homocysteine, fasting blood glucose, and creatinine levels and a lower rate of *H. pylori* infection; all *P*-values were < 0.05 (Table 1).

#### Multivariate analysis of influencing factors in reflux esophagitis

Multivariate analysis showed that the risk factors for RE included IgG-mediated FI and metabolic syndrome and that H. *pylori* infection was a protective factor for RE (Figure 1).

## Mediation effect analysis of IgG-mediated FI on H. pylori infection affecting reflux esophagitis

The  $x^2$  test was used to analyze IgG-mediated FI and *H. pylori* infection. The incidence of IgG-mediated FI was significantly lower in the H. pylori-infected group (1700/2856, 59.52%) than in the H. pylori-non-infected group (3213/ 5098, 63.02%; P = 0.002). The exposure variable was *H. pylori* infection, the outcome variable was RE, and IgG-mediated FI was used as the mediating variable in the mediation effect analysis. The results showed that the total effect of *H. pylori* 



#### Wang LH et al. FI, MS, and Hp affect RE

Table 1 Baseline characteristics			
Characteristics	Non-reflux esophagitis ( <i>n</i> = 6296)	Reflux esophagitis ( <i>n</i> = 1658)	P value
Basic information			
Age (yr), mean ± SD	$49.76 \pm 8.00$	$50.81 \pm 7.83$	< 0.001
Sex (male) [ <i>n</i> (%)]	4177 (66.34)	1504 (90.71)	< 0.001
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg), mean ± SD	$123.40 \pm 137.49$	$126.12 \pm 16.78$	0.421
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg), mean ± SD	$80.58 \pm 11.57$	82.63 ± 11.06	< 0.001
Drinking history $[n (\%)]$			< 0.001
No	2567 (40.77)	387 (23.34)	
Yes	3592 (57.05)	1231 (74.25)	
Abstain	137 (2.17)	40 (2.41)	
Smoking history [n (%)]			< 0.001
No	4073 (64.69)	788 (47.53)	
Yes	1777 (28.22)	720 (43.43)	
Abstain	446 (7.08)	150 (9.05)	
Test results			
White blood cell count ( $10^9/L$ ), mean ± SD	$5.87 \pm 1.44$	$6.21 \pm 1.55$	< 0.001
Hemoglobin (g/L), mean $\pm$ SD	143.31 ± 15.33	$150.17 \pm 12.61$	< 0.001
C-reactive protein (mg/L), mean $\pm$ SD	$0.16 \pm 0.36$	$0.16 \pm 0.31$	0.999
Folic acid (ng/mL), mean ± SD	$9.50 \pm 4.39$	$8.58 \pm 4.05$	< 0.001
Homocysteine ( $\mu$ mol/L), mean ± SD	12.35 ± 9.38	13.46 ± 6.96	< 0.001
Brain natriuretic peptide precursor (pg/mL), mean $\pm$ SD	34.59 ± 41.53	$30.29 \pm 49.06$	< 0.001
Total cholesterol (mmol/L), mean ± SD	$4.76\pm0.90$	$4.72\pm0.95$	0.103
Fasting blood glucose (mmol/L), mean ± SD	$5.50 \pm 1.17$	$5.68 \pm 1.20$	< 0.001
Creatinine (µmol/L), mean ± SD	67.92 ± 13.97	72.21 ± 12.79	< 0.001
Total protein (g/L), mean ± SD	$70.14 \pm 5.39$	69.82 ± 5.25	0.031
25-hydroxyvitamin D3 (ng/mL), mean ± SD	$19.79\pm6.01$	$20.13 \pm 6.14$	0.040
Diseases [n (%)]			
IgG-mediated food intolerance	3781 (60.05)	1132 (68.28)	< 0.001
Helicobacter pylori infection	2478 (39.36)	378 (22.80)	< 0.001
Metabolic syndrome	3671 (58.31)	1113 (67.13)	< 0.001

Ig: Immunoglobulin.

infection on RE was -0.122064, the direct effect of *H. pylori* infection on RE was -0.119349, the mediation effect of *H. pylori* infection on RE through IgG-mediated FI was -0.002715, and the mediation effect accounted for 0.022242 of the total effect; the effects showed statistically significant differences (all *P* values < 0.05) (Table 2). IgG-mediated FI had a partially positive mediating effect on *H. pylori* infection in reducing the occurrence of RE.

#### Mediation effect analysis of metabolic syndrome on H. pylori infection affecting reflux esophagitis

The  $x^2$  test was used to analyze metabolic syndrome and *H. pylori* infection; the incidence of metabolic syndrome was significantly higher in the *H. pylori*-infected group (1767/2856, 61.87%) than in the *H. pylori*-non-infected group (3017/ 5098, 59.18%; P = 0.019). The exposure variable was *H. pylori* infection, the outcome variable was RE, and metabolic syndrome was used as the mediating variable for the mediation effect analysis. The results showed that the total effect of *H. pylori* infection on RE was -0.121571, the direct effect of *H. pylori* infection on RE was -0.122715, the mediation effect of *H. pylori* infection on RE through metabolic syndrome was 0.001144, and the mediation effect accounted for -0.009413 in the total effect; the effects showed statistically significant differences (all *P*-values < 0.05) (Table 3). Metabolic syndrome had a partially negative mediating effect on *H. pylori* infection in reducing the occurrence of RE.

Table 2 Mediation effect analysis: Immunoglobulin G-mediated food intolerance									
Indicators	Effect value	95%CI	P value						
Total effect	-0.122064	-0.138193, -0.104456	< 0.0001						
Average direct effect	-0.119349	-0.135905, -0.102256	< 0.0001						
Average mediation effect	-0.002715	-0.004145, -0.000316	0.0200						
Average mediation effect percentage	0.022242	0.002679, 0.034859	0.0200						

Table 3 Mediation effect analysis: Metabolic syndrome									
Indicators	Effect value	95%CI	P value						
Total effect	-0.121571	-0.138064, -0.104781	< 0.0001						
Average direct effect	-0.122715	-0.139268, -0.105907	< 0.0001						
Average mediation effect	0.001144	0.000182, 0.002307	0.0220						
Average mediation effect percentage	-0.009413	-0.018807, -0.001479	0.0220						



Figure 1 Multivariate analysis of influencing factors in reflux esophagitis. A: Model I was adjusted for age and sex; B: Model II was adjusted for age, sex, white blood cell count, hemoglobin, C-reactive protein, homocysteine, brain natriuretic peptide precursor, total protein, creatinine, 25-hydroxyvitamin D3, smoking history, and drinking history. Ig: Immunoglobulin.

## DISCUSSION

RE, also known as erosive esophagitis, is a type of GERD with a complex etiology and an increasing prevalence. Research on its pathogenesis has progressed in recent years, ranging from the invasion of reflux and the destruction of the antireflux barrier to immunity, inflammation and biomarkers on a systemic scale[14]. RE demonstrates a high rate of relapse after treatment and is associated with esophageal strictures, bleeding, carcinogenesis, and other complications, which affect the quality of life and long-term prognosis of patients. Therefore, it is critical to explore the risk factors for RE and implement early clinical interventions. The population prevalence of FI is 20%[4], resulting from reactions to food components, non-celiac gluten sensitivity, or defects in enzymes and transport[15]. Furthermore, food may induce inflammatory responses, which are crucial in the development of RE. Metabolic syndrome and its associated components are also risk factors for RE[6], and H. pylori infection plays an essential role in RE[8,10]. Therefore, the occurrence of RE may be associated with food reactions, H. pylori infection, and metabolic syndromes. This study focused on three relatively common clinical diseases, evaluated risk factors associated with the occurrence of RE, and explored the pathogenic effects of IgG-mediated FI, H. pylori infection, and metabolic syndrome on RE to provide a clinical basis for the etiology of the disease; this is crucial knowledge to prevent the occurrence of reflux and improve patients' quality of life.

Our study is the first to investigate the effects of IgG-mediated FI on RE in a large population and confirm that IgGmediated FI contributes to the development of RE. Studies have suggested that diet may activate the immune system and alter the levels of inflammatory markers in the blood; increased pro-inflammatory cytokines and decreased anti-inflam-

Baishidena® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

matory cytokines have been linked to diet-associated immune system activation[16]. Furthermore, the promotion and release of inflammatory cytokines and cells during inflammatory reactions involve continuous interdependent cellular communication, which is crucial in the pathogenesis of GERD[1,17]. When FI occurs, a decrease in anti-inflammatory cytokines and the release of inflammatory cells and factors cause reflux; however, further studies are necessary to better understand this phenomenon. Most patients with FI are asymptomatic, which results in such patients receiving less attention[18]. In this study, the prevalence of IgG-mediated FI, which is crucial in the development of RE, was 61.77%; therefore, it is imperative to critically evaluate IgG-mediated FI. Screening for IgG-mediated FI in patients diagnosed with RE or in high-risk groups and avoiding related foods that induce FI in daily life may be crucial in reducing the occurrence of reflux.

This study suggests that metabolic syndrome is a risk factor for RE, consistent with other studies [6,7]. The pathological commonality between the diseases associated with metabolic syndrome is a chronic low-grade inflammation state, which activates various inflammatory signal cascades and leads to the activation of NF-kB, Jun amino-terminal kinase, and inflammatory processes; this results in the recruitment of immune cells, which further aggravates inflammation [19,20]. The mechanism by which metabolic syndrome promotes the development of RE may be associated with the mechanical effect of increased abdominal pressure caused by a large amount of adipose tissue. Furthermore, substances secreted by adipose tissue, such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, leptin, and insulin-like growth factor-1, significantly contribute to the occurrence, development, and carcinogenesis of GERD[6]. Therefore, controlling metabolic factors such as blood glucose, blood pressure, lipid levels, and body weight can significantly reduce the occurrence of RE.

In this study, H. pylori infection was considered a protective factor against RE. The possible mechanism has been analyzed: H. pylori infection causes gastric mucosal atrophy and acid production damage, and bacterial ammonia production neutralizes acidic substances and reduces acid reflux. Additionally, it leads to the activation of vagal receptors on the fundus and cardia, consequently increasing serum gastrin secretion, improving lower esophageal sphincter pressure, reducing reflux of gastric contents, and protecting the esophageal mucosa. The effect of H. pylori infection on reflux is controversial; some studies have suggested that H. pylori infection is a risk factor for RE, while others suggested that there is no relationship between them [8-10]. The possible reasons for the controversy between this study and other studies could be that other studies mostly assessed the impact of *H. pylori* eradication on RE through quality of life and reflux symptoms, and the drugs used to eradicate H. pylori significantly reduced the symptoms of reflux, which affected accuracy and confidence in the results. Therefore, screening for H. pylori infection is not routinely required for the clinical treatment of RE, and the treatment options for *H. pylori* infection are not indicated as anti-reflux therapy; this is consistent with the recommendations of the 2013 guidelines of the American College of Gastroenterology[21].

This study confirmed the effect of IgG-mediated FI and metabolic syndrome in reducing the occurrence of RE caused by H. pylori infection. A study conducted in southwest China revealed that H. pylori infection was negatively associated with food-specific IgG in eggs, milk, and wheat; this is consistent with the results of this study[22]. H. pylori infection stimulates the production of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells, which have strong immunosuppressive properties, control the degree of self and non-autoantigen reactions, and produce immune tolerance, consequently protecting against H. pylori infection. Immune tolerance suppresses the immune response caused by FI, which reduces the occurrence of RE. In people with FI, increased intestinal permeability allows food substances to enter the circulation; concurrently, the immune system recognizes certain food molecules as harmful substances and initiates an immune response to these substances, resulting in food-specific IgG[23], which further activates the immune effect and enhances the protective effect of H. pylori infection against the occurrence of RE. Therefore, IgG-mediated FI reduces the incidence of RE in patients with H. pylori infection. In addition, the results showed that H. pylori infection increased the incidence of metabolic syndrome. H. pylori infection can upregulate the expression of various inflammatory factors (including Creactive protein, tumor necrosis factor, and various interleukins), promote insulin resistance, and initiate metabolic syndromes[24]. Metabolic syndrome results in chronic over-nutrition and excess energy, exceeding the metabolic capacity of tissues, which leads to metabolic stress and weakens the protective effect of *H. pylori* infection against reflux. Therefore, metabolic syndrome increases the incidence of RE in patients with H. pylori infection.

Lifestyle modification, dietary control, and pharmacotherapy are the primary treatment options for RE; however, the complex pathogenesis of RE and the critical role of the immuno-inflammatory cascade in its development may complicate the management of symptoms and increase susceptibility to relapse after treatment. This study evaluated the risk factors for RE and explored the effects of IgG-mediated FI, H. pylori infection, and metabolic syndrome on RE. Patients with IgGmediated FI and metabolic syndrome were at a higher risk of RE; however, patients with H. pylori infection had a lower risk of RE. IgG-mediated FI reduced the risk of RE in patients with H. pylori infection; however, metabolic syndrome increased the risk of RE in patients with H. pylori infection. Therefore, in the management of RE, preventing the induction of IgG-mediated FI and optimal diagnosis and treatment of metabolic syndrome may reduce the occurrence of RE; this represents a strategy to achieve prevention and early treatment of RE in the future.

This was a single-center retrospective clinical study, and the test results showed certain deviations. Therefore, prospective and multicenter studies should be conducted to evaluate the factors influencing RE. The mechanisms underlying the effects of IgG-mediated FI, H. pylori infection, and metabolic syndrome in RE should be evaluated regarding the molecular perspective and the associated pathways.

## CONCLUSION

Patients with IgG-mediated FI and metabolic syndrome are at a higher risk of RE; however, patients with H. pylori infection have a lower risk of RE. IgG-mediated FI reduces the risk of RE in patients with H. pylori infection; however,



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

metabolic syndrome increases the risk of RE in patients with H. pylori infection.

## **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Reflux esophagitis has an increasing prevalence and complex and diverse symptoms. Identifying its risk factors is crucial to understanding the etiology, prevention, and management of the disease.

#### Research motivation

The occurrence of reflux esophagitis may be associated with food reactions, Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) infection, and metabolic syndromes.

#### Research objectives

To investigate the risk factors for reflux esophagitis and analyze the effects of IgG-mediated food intolerance, H. pylori infection, and metabolic syndrome on reflux esophagitis.

#### Research methods

This retrospective study analyzed endoscopic images of outpatients attending the Second Medical Center of PLA General Hospital between 2017 and 2021, classified them into non-RE and RE groups, and further explored the differences in IgGmediated food intolerance, H. pylori infection, and metabolic syndrome of the different groups.

#### Research results

In 7954 outpatients, the prevalence of reflux esophagitis was 20.84%.

#### Research conclusions

Patients with IgG-mediated food intolerance and metabolic syndrome are at higher risk of developing reflux esophagitis, while those with H. pylori infection are at lower risk. IgG-mediated FI reduces the risk of RE in patients with H. pylori infection, while metabolic syndrome increases the risk of RE in these patients.

#### Research perspectives

In the management of RE, preventing the induction of IgG-mediated FI and optimal diagnosis and treatment of metabolic syndrome may reduce the occurrence of RE.

## FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Li-Hui Wang and Bin-Bin Su.

Co-corresponding authors: Qian-Qian Chen and Hui Shi.

Author contributions: Su BB, Lv KM, Li Y, Shi H, and Chen QQ are gastroenterologists; Wang SS is a statistician; Wang LH and Sun GC are master degree candidates; Shi H and Chen QQ performed the disease diagnosis; Wang LH, Su BB, Shi H, and Chen QQ designed the research study; Su BB and Wang SS performed the primary literature and data extraction; Wang LH, Su BB, and Wang SS analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; Sun GC, Lv KM, Li Y, Shi H, and Chen QQ revised the manuscript for important intellectual content; and all authors read and approved the final version.

Institutional review board statement: This study was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the PLA General Hospital (Ethics audits No. S2022-414-01).

Informed consent statement: Patients were not required to provide informed consent to the study because the analysis used anonymous clinical data that were obtained after each patient agreed to test by written consent.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Li-Hui Wang 0009-0007-8726-9166; Hui Shi 0009-0008-9300-5308; Qian-Qian Chen 0009-0006-9078-5711.



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yu HG

## REFERENCES

- Huo X, Agoston AT, Dunbar KB, Cipher DJ, Zhang X, Yu C, Cheng E, Zhang Q, Pham TH, Tambar UK, Bruick RK, Wang DH, Odze RD, Spechler SJ, Souza RF. Hypoxia-inducible factor-2α plays a role in mediating oesophagitis in GORD. *Gut* 2017; 66: 1542-1554 [PMID: 27694141 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-312595]
- Fass R, Boeckxstaens GE, El-Serag H, Rosen R, Sifrim D, Vaezi MF. Gastro-oesophageal reflux disease. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2021; 7: 55 [PMID: 34326345 DOI: 10.1038/s41572-021-00287-w]
- 3 Maret-Ouda J, Markar SR, Lagergren J. Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease: A Review. JAMA 2020; 324: 2536-2547 [PMID: 33351048 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2020.21360]
- 4 Tuck CJ, Biesiekierski JR, Schmid-Grendelmeier P, Pohl D. Food Intolerances. Nutrients 2019; 11 [PMID: 31336652 DOI: 10.3390/nu11071684]
- 5 Giugliano D, Ceriello A, Esposito K. The effects of diet on inflammation: emphasis on the metabolic syndrome. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2006; **48**: 677-685 [PMID: 16904534 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2006.03.052]
- 6 Fu S, Xu M, Zhou H, Wang Y, Tan Y, Liu D. Metabolic syndrome is associated with higher rate of gastroesophageal reflux disease: a metaanalysis. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* 2022; 34: e14234 [PMID: 34378835 DOI: 10.1111/nmo.14234]
- 7 Niigaki M, Adachi K, Hirakawa K, Furuta K, Kinoshita Y. Association between metabolic syndrome and prevalence of gastroesophageal reflux disease in a health screening facility in Japan. J Gastroenterol 2013; 48: 463-472 [PMID: 22976934 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-012-0671-3]
- 8 **Zhao T**, Liu F, Li Y. Effects of Helicobacter pylori eradication on esophageal motility, esophageal acid exposure, and gastroesophageal reflux disease symptoms. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* 2023; **13**: 1082620 [PMID: 36968099 DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2023.1082620]
- 9 Hirata K, Suzuki H, Matsuzaki J, Masaoka T, Saito Y, Nishizawa T, Iwasaki E, Fukuhara S, Okada S, Hibi T. Improvement of reflux symptom related quality of life after Helicobacter pylori eradication therapy. J Clin Biochem Nutr 2013; 52: 172-178 [PMID: 23524980 DOI: 10.3164/jcbn.12-107]
- 10 Yucel O. Interactions between Helicobacter pylori and gastroesophageal reflux disease. *Esophagus* 2019; 16: 52-62 [PMID: 30151653 DOI: 10.1007/s10388-018-0637-5]
- 11 **Coucke F.** Food intolerance in patients with manifest autoimmunity. Observational study. *Autoimmun Rev* 2018; **17**: 1078-1080 [PMID: 30213697 DOI: 10.1016/j.autrev.2018.05.011]
- 12 Alberti KG, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ, Cleeman JI, Donato KA, Fruchart JC, James WP, Loria CM, Smith SC Jr; International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; Hational Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; International Association for the Study of Obesity. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation; Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. Circulation 2009; 120: 1640-1645 [PMID: 19805654 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192644]
- 13 Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, O'Morain CA, Gisbert JP, Kuipers EJ, Axon AT, Bazzoli F, Gasbarrini A, Atherton J, Graham DY, Hunt R, Moayyedi P, Rokkas T, Rugge M, Selgrad M, Suerbaum S, Sugano K, El-Omar EM; European Helicobacter and Microbiota Study Group and Consensus panel. Management of Helicobacter pylori infection-the Maastricht V/Florence Consensus Report. *Gut* 2017; 66: 6-30 [PMID: 27707777 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-312288]
- 14 **Hu JY**, Lv M, Zhang KL, Qiao XY, Wang YX, Wang FY. Evaluating the causal relationship between human blood metabolites and gastroesophageal reflux disease. *World J Gastrointest Oncol* 2023; **15**: 2169-2184 [PMID: 38173433 DOI: 10.4251/wjgo.v15.i12.2169]
- Lomer MC. Review article: the aetiology, diagnosis, mechanisms and clinical evidence for food intolerance. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2015; 41: 262-275 [PMID: 25471897 DOI: 10.1111/apt.13041]
- 16 Ohtsuka Y. Food intolerance and mucosal inflammation. Pediatr Int 2015; 57: 22-29 [PMID: 25442377 DOI: 10.1111/ped.12546]
- 17 Hait EJ, McDonald DR. Impact of Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease on Mucosal Immunity and Atopic Disorders. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* 2019; **57**: 213-225 [PMID: 30206783 DOI: 10.1007/s12016-018-8701-4]
- 18 Turnbull JL, Adams HN, Gorard DA. Review article: the diagnosis and management of food allergy and food intolerances. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2015; 41: 3-25 [PMID: 25316115 DOI: 10.1111/apt.12984]
- 19 Catrysse L, van Loo G. Inflammation and the Metabolic Syndrome: The Tissue-Specific Functions of NF-κB. *Trends Cell Biol* 2017; 27: 417-429 [PMID: 28237661 DOI: 10.1016/j.tcb.2017.01.006]
- 20 Grandl G, Wolfrum C. Hemostasis, endothelial stress, inflammation, and the metabolic syndrome. *Semin Immunopathol* 2018; 40: 215-224 [PMID: 29209827 DOI: 10.1007/s00281-017-0666-5]
- Katz PO, Gerson LB, Vela MF. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of gastroesophageal reflux disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2013; 108: 308-28; quiz 329 [PMID: 23419381 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2012.444]
- 22 Liu Y, Shuai P, Liu YP, Li DY. Association between Helicobacter pylori infection and food-specific immunoglobulin G in Southwest China. World J Clin Cases 2021; 9: 9815-9824 [PMID: 34877320 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v9.i32.9815]
- 23 Shakoor Z, AlFaifi A, AlAmro B, AlTawil LN, AlOhaly RY. Prevalence of IgG-mediated food intolerance among patients with allergic symptoms. Ann Saudi Med 2016; 36: 386-390 [PMID: 27920409 DOI: 10.5144/0256-4947.2016.386]
- 24 Cheng DD, He C, Ai HH, Huang Y, Lu NH. The Possible Role of Helicobacter pylori Infection in Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. *Front Microbiol* 2017; 8: 743 [PMID: 28539915 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00743]

Saishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

WJG

# World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 863-880

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.863

**Retrospective Study** 

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

## Evaluating the influence of sarcopenia and myosteatosis on clinical outcomes in gastric cancer patients undergoing immune checkpoint inhibitor

Gui-Ming Deng, Hai-Bin Song, Zhong-Ze Du, Ying-Wei Xue, Hong-Jiang Song, Yuan-Zhou Li

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

## Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Taghizadeh-Hesary F, Iran

Received: December 20, 2023 Peer-review started: December 20, 2023 First decision: January 6, 2024 Revised: January 16, 2024 Accepted: February 1, 2024 Article in press: February 1, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



Gui-Ming Deng, Hai-Bin Song, Zhong-Ze Du, Ying-Wei Xue, Hong-Jiang Song, Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, Harbin Medical University Cancer Hospital, Harbin 150081, Heilongjiang Province, China

Yuan-Zhou Li, Department of Radiology, Harbin Medical University Cancer Hospital, Harbin 150081, Heilongjiang Province, China

Corresponding author: Yuan-Zhou Li, PhD, Professor, Department of Radiology, Harbin Medical University Cancer Hospital, No. 150 Haping Road, Nangang District, Harbin 150081, Heilongjiang Province, China. 830667@hrbmu.edu.cn

## Abstract

## BACKGROUND

The development and progression of gastric cancer (GC) are closely linked to the nutritional status of patients. Although immunotherapy has been demonstrated to be clinically effective, the relationships of sarcopenia and myosteatosis with the use of immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) in patients with gastric cancer remain to be characterized.

## AIM

To assess the effects of sarcopenia and myosteatosis on the clinical outcomes of patients with GC undergoing treatment with an ICI.

## **METHODS**

We performed a retrospective study of patients who were undergoing immunotherapy for GC. For the evaluation of sarcopenia, the optimal cut-off value for the skeletal muscle index was established using receiver operating characteristic analysis of data obtained from pre-treatment computed tomography images at the L3 vertebral level. Myosteatosis was defined using the mean skeletal muscle density (SMD), with a threshold value of < 41 Hounsfield units (HU) for patients with a body mass index (BMI) <  $25 \text{ kg/m}^2$  and < 33 HU for those with a BMI  $\ge 25$ kg/m<sup>2</sup>. The log-rank test was used to compare progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS), and a Cox proportional hazard model was used to identify prognostic factors. Nomograms were developed to predict the PFS and OS of patients on the basis of the results of multivariate analyses.



#### RESULTS

We studied 115 patients who were undergoing ICI therapy for GC, of whom 27.4% had sarcopenia and 29.8% had myosteatosis. Patients with sarcopenia or myosteatosis had significantly shorter PFS and OS than those without these conditions. Furthermore, both sarcopenia and myosteatosis were found to be independent predictors of PFS and OS in patients with GC administering an ICI. The prediction models created for PFS and OS were associated with C-indexes of 0.758 and 0.781, respectively.

#### CONCLUSION

The presence of sarcopenia or myosteatosis is a reliable predictor of the clinical outcomes of patients with GC who are undergoing treatment with an ICI.

**Key Words:** Gastric cancer; Sarcopenia; Myosteatosis, Immune checkpoint inhibitor; Prognostic factor; Overall survival; Progression-free survival

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** We performed a retrospective study to evaluate the use of sarcopenia and myosteatosis for the prediction of the prognosis of patients with gastric cancer who are being treated with an immune checkpoint inhibitor (ICI). We studied 115 patients with complete sets of clinical data and imaging information and analyzed their muscle cross-sectional area at the L3 Level. We determined the optimal cut-off area value to identify sarcopenia, and myosteatosis was defined using mean skeletal muscle densities of < 41 Hounsfield units (HU) for patients with a body mass index (BMI) < 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and < 33 HU for those with a BMI  $\ge$  25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. We found that muscle loss and muscle steatosis are independent predictors of the outcomes of patients with gastric cancer being treated with an ICI.

Citation: Deng GM, Song HB, Du ZZ, Xue YW, Song HJ, Li YZ. Evaluating the influence of sarcopenia and myosteatosis on clinical outcomes in gastric cancer patients undergoing immune checkpoint inhibitor. *World J Gastroenterol* 2024; 30(8): 863-880 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/863.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.863

## INTRODUCTION

Gastric cancer (GC) is the fifth most prevalent cancer globally and is a major global health concern[1]. Although the global incidence and mortality rate associated with GC are decreasing, particularly because of advancements in preventive measures, such as a reduction in the prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* and improvements in food preservation and storage, East Asia retains high incidence and mortality rates[2-7]. The therapeutic options for GC are expanding, with the inclusion of immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) alongside conventional chemotherapy and targeted agents[8]. For instance, navulizumab in combination with chemotherapy is now a first-line treatment for GC, and pembrolizumab in combination with trastuzumab and chemotherapy is the first-line treatment for patients with HER2-positive GC[9,10]. The advent of ICIs has prompted extensive research aimed at identifying prognostic factors for the success of ICI therapy, and parameters including programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1)/programmed death ligand 1 (PD-L1) expression, microsatellite instability (MSI), tumor mutational load (TMB), and Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection status, have been considered. However, the assessment of these parameters is often expensive and complex[11-13]. Consequently, there is a compelling need for straightforward, cost-effective predictors of the prognosis of patients with advanced GC who are undergoing ICI therapy.

Sarcopenia, which is commonly recognized in patients with cancer, is characterized by the gradual depletion of skeletal muscle and its degeneration. This condition has detrimental effects on metabolism and immunity, resulting in compromised tolerance of, and a poor prognosis associated with, various cancer treatments, including chemotherapy, targeted therapy, and immunotherapy[14,15]. Skeletal muscle mass represents a quantitative and objective measure of the nutritional status of a patient and has been shown to be of prognostic value in patients with a range of cancers, such as GC, hepatocellular carcinoma, and esophageal carcinoma[16-21].

In addition to muscle loss, the presence of myosteatosis, which is characterized by increases in inter- and intramuscular fat content, is also of relevance[22]. This pathological change often accompanies excessive muscle loss and is exacerbated by factors such as aging and obesity, which lead to metabolic abnormalities that can affect the outcomes of treatments[23, 24]. Myosteatosis has been shown to be associated with inferior overall survival (OS) in patients with several types of cancer, including hepatocellular carcinoma, GC, and colorectal cancer[25].

In the present study, we used cross-sectional computed tomography (CT) images obtained at the level of the third lumbar vertebra (L3) to evaluate the sarcopenia and myosteatosis of patients with GC who were undergoing immunotherapy, with the aim of investigating the prognostic value of the presence of these conditions with respect to the clinical outcomes of the patients.



Figure 1 Example of a computed tomography image used for skeletal muscle measurements.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Participants

Patients diagnosed with GC who underwent immunotherapy with an ICI between February 2016 and October 2022 at our institution were eligible for inclusion in the study. A comprehensive set of data, including demographics, clinical attributes, tumor characteristics (tumor size and stage), laboratory parameters, L3 skeletal muscle area, and mean CT radiodensities, were extracted from the medical records of each participant. The institutional review board provided approval for this analysis, and the requirement for informed consent was waived owing to its retrospective nature. Patients undergoing ICI immunotherapy with a PD-1 blocking antibody, including anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 antibodies, with combination therapy including one of these, or with an ICI in conjunction with chemotherapy and/or other agents in phase III clinical trials, were included in the study. The exclusion criteria comprised prior immunotherapy and the inability to undergo pre-treatment CT examination.

#### Data collection

The primary endpoints of the study were progression-free survival (PFS) and OS. The timing of these endpoints was determined through telephone follow-up, and the final follow-up consultation was held in December 2022. PFS was defined as the difference between the timing of random assignment to a clinical trial and that of disease progression, which was primarily assessed using enhanced CT. If no evidence of disease progression was identified, the final date of follow-up was used to calculate PFS. OS was calculated as the difference between the timing of the commencement of immunotherapy and the death of the patient.

#### Evaluation of sarcopenia and myosteatosis

Sarcopenia and myosteatosis were evaluated by a radiologist with over a decade of experience and no knowledge of the clinical outcomes of the participants. The CT data for the participants were imported into 3D Slicer (version 4.10.2, www. slicer.org) to measure the cross-sectional area of the skeletal muscle at the L3 level and the mean skeletal muscle density [SMD, in Hounsfield units (HU)] across the entire muscle region. Skeletal muscle was identified and quantified using HU thresholds ranging from -29 to 150[26]. The L3 muscle region included the psoas major, erector spinae, quadratus lumborum, transversus abdominis, internal and external abdominal oblique muscles, and rectus abdominis. The crosssectional area was automatically calculated by adding the data for each tissue pixel together and multiplying this by the pixel surface area (Figure 1). Skeletal muscle index (SMI) was calculated as the total L3 skeletal muscle area (cm<sup>2</sup>) divided by the square of the participant's height (m<sup>2</sup>). Given the lack of established diagnostic criteria for sarcopenia, the optimal cut-off value was determined using receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis, and participants with an SMI below this threshold were classified as having sarcopenia. The optimal cut-off value for SMI was calculated to be 27.36 for men and 31.10 for women. Myosteatosis was defined using a mean SMD < 41 HU for participants with a BMI <  $25 \text{ kg/m}^2$  and < 33 HU for those with a BMI  $\ge$  25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>[27].

#### Statistical analysis

Data are presented as mean ± SD for normally distributed continuous data or median for non-normally distributed continuous data. Categorical data were analyzed using Pearson's chi-square or Fisher's exact tests, and continuous datasets for participants with or without sarcopenia and myosteatosis were compared using Student's t-test or the Mann-Whitney U-test, as appropriate. Kaplan-Meier survival curves were used to evaluate survival outcomes, and Cox's regression analysis was used to identify potential prognostic factors for PFS and OS in univariate analyses. Cox's regression analysis and the parameters that were significant on univariate analysis were then used to identify



WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

independent prognostic factors associated with OS and PFS. Multivariate logistic regression analyses were then performed to construct models for the prediction of 1-, 3-, and 5-year OS and PFS. We used the R statistical package (version 4.1.3, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) and SPSS (version 25.0, IBM, Inc., Armonk, NY, United States) to analyze the data. A two-sided *P*-value < 0.05 was considered to represent statistical significance.

## RESULTS

#### Characteristics and laboratory parameters of participants with or without sarcopenia and myosteatosis

A total of 115 patients with GC who were undergoing ICI treatment were included in the study [89 (77.4%) men and 26 (32.6%) women]. Of these, 29 (25.2%) had stage III GC and 86 (74.8%) had stage IV GC. When we compared the participants with or without sarcopenia, we found that the former were significantly older (P < 0.001), had a lower BMI (P< 0.001), and were predominantly male (P < 0.001). The participants with myosteatosis tended to be older than those without (P = 0.001) (Table 1).

Analysis of the laboratory indices showed that participants with sarcopenia had lower creatinine (Crea) concentrations (P = 0.004) than those without. In addition, the participants with myosteatosis had higher globulin (GLOB) concentrations (P = 0.047), lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activities (P = 0.012), and D-dimer (DDi) concentrations (P = 0.002), and lower pre-albumin (PALB) concentrations (P = 0.010) than those without (Table 2).

#### Results of the univariate and multivariate Cox's regression analyses

Univariate analysis identified BMI, total protein (TP), PALB, eosinophil count (Eosi), carbohydrate antigen 724 (CA724) concentration, carbohydrate antigen 125II (CA125II) concentration, sarcopenia, and myosteatosis as potential prognostic factors for OS. Similarly, BMI, alkaline phosphatase (ALP) activity, total bilirubin (TBIL) concentration, indirect bilirubin (IDBIL) concentration, PALB, lymphocyte count (Lym), Eosi, CA724, CA125, TNM stage, sarcopenia, and myosteatosis were identified as potential prognostic factors for PFS. All these potential prognostic factors were then included in multivariate analyses. In these, TP, Eosi, CA724, CA125, sarcopenia, and myosteatosis were found to be independent prognostic factors for OS; ALP, Eosi, CA724, CA125, TNM stage, sarcopenia, and myosteatosis were found to be independent prognostic factors for PFS (Table 3).

#### Effects of sarcopenia and myosteatosis on survival

The participants with sarcopenia had significantly shorter PFS (median, 15.40 months vs 26.20 months, P < 0.001) and OS (median, 25.97 months vs 38.78 months, P < 0.001) than those without (Figure 2). Similarly, the participants with myosteatosis had shorter PFS (median, 16.43 months vs 24.30 months, P = 0.011) and OS (median, 21.43 months vs 33.57 months, P = 0.001) than those without (Figure 3).

Given that 74.8% of the participants had stage IV GC, a subgroup analysis was conducted, and this yielded results that confirmed the adverse effects of sarcopenia and myosteatosis on both PFS (P = 0.002 vs P = 0.011, respectively) and OS (P< 0.001 vs P = 0.005, respectively) in this subset of participants (Figures 4 and 5).

#### Nomograms

We used multivariate Cox regression analysis to construct an optimized prediction model for PFS. In addition to the presence of sarcopenia and myosteatosis, ALP, Eosi, CA724, CA125, and TNM stage were identified to be predictors of PFS, and we used these variables to construct a nomogram for PFS (Figure 6A). Similarly, for OS, the predictive model constructed included sarcopenia and myosteatosis, as well as TP, Eosi, CA724, and CA125 (Figure 7A). Both the predictive models for PFS and OS exhibited good C-indexes of 0.758 and 0.781, respectively. First-year calibration curves showed a close alignment of the observed outcomes and those predicted using the presence of sarcopenia or myosteatosis (Figures 6B and 7B). To validate the predictive utility of these parameters, the nomograms were subjected to area under the curve (AUC) analysis for 1- and 3-year intervals, yielding AUC values of 0.769 and 0.850 for PFS, and 0.843 and 0.904 for OS, respectively (Figures 6C and 7C). In addition, decision curve analysis (DCA) including diverse threshold probabilities demonstrated that the net benefit for the prediction of PFS was maximal within the range 0.040–0.978, peaking at 0.282. Similarly, for OS, the optimal DCA threshold was within the range 0.022–0.900, peaking at 0.260 (Figures 6D and 7D). This meticulous analysis affirmed the robustness and clinical utility of the predictive models for the outcomes of patients undergoing ICI therapy.

## DISCUSSION

GC is highly prevalent but often presents with non-specific clinical features, resulting in a delay to diagnosis and the administration of ineffective treatments, especially in older patients [28,29]. Systemic chemotherapy has been the primary approach to the treatment of advanced GC, but it yields limited survival benefits, with a median survival of approximately 1 year [30,31]. In recent years, ICIs have emerged as promising therapeutic options for patients with advanced cancer, showing efficacy and safety in clinical trials. Some ICIs, such as pembrolizumab, avelumab, sindilizumab, tirilizumab, and ipilimumab, have been approved for administration in combination with targeted therapies for advanced GCs[32-34]. Notably, nabulizumab in combination with chemotherapy yielded excellent outcomes in the Chinese subgroup of the CheckMate 649 clinical trial[12]. To date, parameters such as PD-1/PD-L1 expression, MSI, TMB, and

Baishidena® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Survival curves for (A) progression-free survival and (B) overall survival in the presence or absence of sarcopenia. PFS: Progression-free survival; OS: Overall survival.

Carishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Survival curves for (A) progression-free survival and (B) overall survival in the presence or absence of myosteatosis. PFS: Progression-free survival; OS: Overall survival.

Jaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 4 Survival curves for (A) progression-free survival and (B) overall survival in participants with gastric cancer in the presence or absence of sarcopenia. PFS: Progression-free survival; OS: Overall survival.

Caisbideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 5 Survival curves for (A) progression-free survival and (B) overall survival in participants with advanced gastric cancer in the presence or absence of myosteatosis. PFS: Progression-free survival; OS: Overall survival.

Carishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 6 Nomogram for progression-free survival. A: Nomogram for progression-free survival (PFS); B: One-year and 3-year area under the curves for PFS; C: Calibration curves for PFS; D: Decision curve analysis for PFS. AUC: Area under the curve; PFS: Progression-free survival; OS: Overall survival; ALP: Alkaline phosphatase; Eosi: Eosinophil count; CA724: Carbohydrate antigen 724; CA125: Carbohydrate antigen 125.

Zaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Deng GM et al. Sarcopenia and myosteatosis in gastric cancer



Figure 7 Nomogram for overall survival. A: Nomogram for overall survival (OS); B: One-year and 3-year area under the curves for OS; C: Calibration curves for OS; D: Decision curve analysis for OS. AUC: Area under the curve; OS: Overall survival; TP: Total protein; Eosi: Eosinophil count; CA724: Carbohydrate antigen 724; CA125: Carbohydrate antigen 125.

Saishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Participant characteristics								
	Sarcopenia			Myosteatosis				
	Yes ( <i>n</i> = 32)	No ( <i>n</i> = 83)	P value	Yes ( <i>n</i> = 32)	No ( <i>n</i> = 83)	P value		
Item, mean (SD)								
Age	57.44 (11.18)	57.40 (8.57)	< 0.001	62.31 (7.69)	55.52 (9.24)	0.001		
BMI	19.88 (4.39)	22.75 (3.07)	< 0.001	22.04 (3.85)	21.91 (3.85)	0.986		
Sex, n (%)			< 0.001			0.703		
Male	15 (46.9)	74 (89.2)		24 (75.0)	65 (78.3)			
Female	17 (53.1)	9 (10.8)		8 (25.0)	18 (21.7)			
Primary tumor site, <i>n</i> (%)			0.900			0.640		
Upper 1/3	6 (18.8)	13 (15.7)		5 (15.6)	14 (16.9)			
Middle 1/3	7 (21.9)	23 (27.7)		6 (18.8)	24 (28.9)			
Low 1/3	18 (56.2)	45 (54.2)		20 (62.5)	43 (51.8)			
Whole	1 (3.1)	2 (2.4)		1 (3.1)	2 (2.4)			
Pathology, $n$ (%)			0.166			0.344		
Adenocarcinoma	6 (18.8)	22 (26.5)		5 (15.6)	23 (27.7)			
Others <sup>1</sup>	5 (15.6)	4 (4.8)		2 (6.3)	7 (8.4)			
Unknown	21 (65.6)	57 (68.7)		25 (78.1)	53 (63.9)			
TNM stage, $n$ (%)			0.608			0.141		
III	7 (21.9)	22 (26.5)		5 (15.6)	24 (28.9)			
IV	25 (78.1)	61 (73.5)		27 (84.4)	59 (71.1)			
PD-1, n (%)			0.281			0.698		
Positive	5 (15.6)	5 (6.1)		4 (12.5)	6 (7.2)			
Negative	2 (6.3)	7 (8.4)		2 (6.3)	7 (8.4)			
Unknown	25 (78.1)	71 (85.5)		26 (81.2)	70 (84.4)			
PD-L1, n (%)			0.281			0.710		
Positive	5 (15.6)	5 (6.1)		4 (12.5)	6 (7.2)			
Negative	2 (6.3)	8 (8.4)		2 (6.3)	8 (9.6)			
Unknown	25 (78.1)	70 (85.5)		26 (81.2)	69 (83.2)			
AFP, <i>n</i> (%)			0.702			0.221		
< 2.92 ng/mL	19 (59.4)	46 (55.4)		21 (65.6)	44 (53.0)			
≥ 2.92 ng/mL	13 (40.6)	37 (44.6)		11 (34.4)	39 (47.0)			
CEA, n (%)			0.933			0.315		
< 4.24 ng/mL	9 (28.1)	24 (28.9)		7 (21.9)	26 (31.3)			
≥ 4.24 ng/mL	23 (71.9)	59 (71.1)		25 (78.1)	57 (68.7)			
CA199, n (%)			0.859			0.295		
< 17.63 U/L	21 (65.6)	53 (63.9)		23 (71.9)	51 (61.4)			
≥ 17.63 U/L	11 (34.4)	30 (36.1)		9 (28.1)	32 (38.6)			
CA724, n (%)			0.704			0.955		
< 4.40 U/L	20 (62.5)	55 (66.3)		21 (65.6)	54 (65.1)			
≥4.40 U/L	12 (37.5)	28 (33.7)		11 (34.4)	29 (34.9)			
CA125II, n (%)			0.811			0.756		
< 21.94 U/L	26 (81.3)	69 (83.1)		27 (81.9)	68 (84.4)			

#### Deng GM et al. Sarcopenia and myosteatosis in gastric cancer

≥21.94 U/L	6 (18.8)	14 (16.9)		5 (18.1)	15 (15.6)	
Sarcopenia, n (%)						0.057
Yes				13 (59.4)	19 (22.9)	
No				19 (40.6)	64 (77.1)	
Myosteatosis, n (%)			0.057			
Yes	13 (40.6)	19 (22.9)				
NO	19 (59.4)	64 (77.1)				

<sup>1</sup>Others comprised mucinous carcinoma, signet ring cell carcinoma, and mixed carcinoma. BMI: Body mass index; CEA: Carcinoembryonic antigen; CA199: Carbohydrate antigen 199; CA724: Carbohydrate antigen 724; CA125II: Carbohydrate antigen 125II; PD-1: Programmed cell death protein 1; PD-L1: Programmed death ligand 1.

EBV infection status have been used to identify suitable candidates for ICI therapy, but the nutritional status of the patients has a significant effect on their treatment outcomes[11-13]. Malnutrition and the related symptoms negatively affect the prognosis and the quality of life of patients with cancer. Therefore, we conducted a study using CT-derived data to assess the muscle status of patients with GC undergoing immunotherapy, and especially of those who were negative for prognostic markers such as PD-1 and PD-L1.

Sarcopenia, which reflects malnutrition and involves chronic inflammation, is common in patients with cancer, and features muscle loss and a decrease in fat mass[35]. It significantly impacts quality of life, induces anxiety and depression, and results in poorer clinical outcomes[36,37]. Furthermore, patients with sarcopenia may experience more severe toxic side effects during chemotherapy, owing to alterations in body composition and muscle loss caused by tumor-specific therapy[38-40]. In the present study, sarcopenia in patients with GC who were undergoing ICI therapy was shown to be associated with both PFS and OS. A previous study similarly showed that sarcopenia is associated with shorter PFS and OS in patients with microsatellite-stable GC being treated with a PD-1 inhibitor[41]. In 2021, Kim *et al*[42] also studied patients with advanced GC who were being treated with navulizumab and pabolizumab. They divided the patients into those with or without sarcopenia and discussed the prognostic value of the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio between the groups[42], but did not evaluate the relationship between sarcopenia and prognosis.

Myosteatosis is characterized by excessive fat accumulation in skeletal muscle and is often used to describe low muscle mass in patients[43]. It has predictive value in patients with various diseases and is consistently associated with poor prognoses, including for colon, liver, and pancreatic cancer[44-47]. Several previous studies of the relationship between immunotherapy and myosteatosis have generated important findings. In patients with metastatic melanoma who were being treated with nivolumab, low SMD was found to be associated with shorter OS[48], and another study of patients being treated with ipilimumab revealed that patients with high SMD experienced more immunity-related adverse events but superior objective responses to treatment, whereas low SMD was found to be associated with a worse prognosis[49]. The skeletal muscle microenvironment plays a critical role in skeletal muscle repair, and this involves monocytes, neutrophils, and lymphocytes. Myosteatosis, which reflects low muscle mass, is associated with impaired muscle repair, leading to compromised immunity[50]. This, in turn, may result in poorer responsiveness to immunotherapy, a higher risk of toxic side effects, and poorer clinical outcomes. However, the specific mechanisms involved and the variations in the effects of myosteatosis in patients with various types of cancer warrant further investigation.

Accumulating evidence indicates the involvement of immune cell mitochondria in the effects of ICIs, as well as in the development of sarcopenia and myosteatosis. Previous studies have shown that cancer cells can appropriate the mitochondria of immune cells, thereby facilitating their survival within the immune microenvironment, the evasion of immune surveillance, and resistance to therapeutic interventions[51]. The commandeering of mitochondria from immune cells, and particularly T cells, has been shown to increase the expression of PD-1, which contributes to its anti-tumor effects[52]. Moreover, compromised mitochondrial function can lead to the overexpression of PD-1 in T cells[53], and the inhibition of the hijacking of mitochondria by immune cells has been demonstrated to improve anti-tumor responses in mice with mammary cancer that were treated with an anti-PD-1 antibody[54]. Notably, a previous study has also shown that muscle loss and muscle fat degeneration are indicative of poor mitochondrial function in muscle cells, which can be extrapolated to other normal human cells, including immune cells[55]. Consequently, the presence of sarcopenia and muscle steatosis may present challenges for successful therapy with ICIs.

There are several important considerations regarding studies of the prognostic implications of sarcopenia and myosteatosis. For instance, there is no well-established value of SMI that can be used in the diagnosis of sarcopenia, and therefore in most studies, ROC-derived cut-off values have been used[22]. This approach, in combination with the use of differing cut-off values in patients with different types of cancer, may affect the identified relationships between musclerelated conditions and clinical outcomes. In the case of myosteatosis, mean SMD is an objective index, but some studies have shown variations in mean SMD according to whether measurements were made using unenhanced contrastenhanced CT images or those obtained during the arterial or portal venous phases of enhancement. Thus, the CT protocol used can introduce bias into SMD measurements. To minimize such bias, we consistently obtained images during the portal-venous phase. In future investigations of the relationships between muscle conditions and cancer, two key challenges should be addressed: The standardization of CT protocols and the optimal diagnostic criteria for sarcopenia and myosteatosis.

Table 2 Laboratory data for the participants, n (%)											
Item mean (CD)	Sarcopenia		Duchus	Myosteatosis	Durahua						
item, mean (SD)	Yes ( <i>n</i> = 32)	No ( <i>n</i> = 83)	Pvalue	Yes ( <i>n</i> = 32)	No ( <i>n</i> = 83)	P value					
ALT (U/L)	20.31 (16.87)	22.89 (21.41)	0.404	20.07 (15.82)	22.98 (21.70)	0.660					
AST (U/L)	27.41 (23.12)	25.99 (18.25)	0.954	29.84 (28.16)	25.05 (15.15)	0.831					
γ-GGT (U/L)	66.22 (159.76)	60.37 (88.60)	0.378	97.19 (174.69)	48.43 (72.81)	0.067					
ALP (U/L)	115.02 (109.27)	114.35 (67.34)	0.216	116.33 (66.18)	113.84 (85.98)	0.651					
TBIL (µmol/L)	14.47 (9.57)	14.44 (8.10)	0.584	14.56 (9.70)	14.40 (8.04)	0.350					
DBIL (µmol/L)	3.69 (4.51)	3.18 (2.43)	0.476	3.49 (3.51)	3.26 (3.00)	0.627					
IDBIL (µmol/L)	10.79 (5.90)	11.26 (6.19)	0.554	11.08 (6.65)	11.15 (5.90)	0.438					
TP (g/L)	70.80 (7.83)	68.31 (7.55)	0.077	69.42 (7.63)	68.84 (7.74)	0.798					
ALB (g/L)	39.45 (4.70)	38.61 (6.41)	0.189	37.44 (4.50)	39.38 (6.40)	0.053					
GLOB (g/L)	31.30 (4.86)	30.15 (5.00)	0.184	31.93 (4.76)	29.91 (4.96)	0.047					
PALB (g/L)	200.44 (66.25)	210.51 (65.47)	0.640	182.16 (59.81)	217.55 (65.33)	0.010					
Urea (mmol/L)	5.75 (1.89)	5.94 (1.63)	0.501	6.31 (1.98)	5.73 (1.56)	0.182					
CREA (µmol/L)	72.00 (15.17)	79.40 (16.50)	0.013	78.78 (15.45)	76.78 (16.83)	0.375					
UA (µmol/L)	297.28 (88.63)	316.28 (92.69)	0.169	318.66 (92.09)	308.04 (91.78)	0.636					
LDH (U/L)	229.03 (204.48)	233.55 (213.03)	0.836	301.75 (274.39)	205.52 (173.55)	0.012					
WBC (109/L)	7.28 (3.82)	7.59 (5.32)	0.769	7.58 (3.60)	7.48 (5.39)	0.280					
NEU (109/L)	4.91 (3.57)	4.72 (2.17)	0.658	5.26 (3.36)	4.59 (2.26)	0.208					
Lym (109/L)	1.69 (0.58)	1.60 (0.56)	0.476	1.57 (0.53)	1.65 (0.58)	0.493					
Mono (109/L)	0.47 (0.22)	0.53 (0.21)	0.150	0.55 (0.18)	0.49 (0.22)	0.113					
Eosi (109/L)	0.12 (0.13)	0.13 (0.11)	0.173	0.13 (0.10)	0.12 (0.12)	0.364					
Baso (109/L)	0.03 (0.02)	0.02 (0.01)	0.145	0.03 (0.02)	0.02 (0.01)	0.276					
Hb (g/L)	124.03 (21.17)	126.69 (27.63)	0.575	121.03 (30.31)	127.85 (23.97)	0.245					
RBC (1012/L)	4.19 (0.66)	4.45 (0.73)	0.103	4.26 (0.80)	4.42 (0.68)	0.363					
Plt (109/L)	255.41 (98.83)	256.23 (91.47)	0.967	279.75 (110.41)	246.84 (84.53)	0.213					
Fbg (g/L)	3.67 (0.98)	4.04 (2.78)	0.902	4.78 (4.13)	3.61 (1.14)	0.051					
DDi (mg/L)	1.54 (2.90)	1.28 (2.14)	0.135	1.83 (3.18)	1.17 (1.96)	0.002					

ALT: Alanine transaminase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; γ-GGT: γ-glutamyl transferase; ALP: Alkaline phosphatase; TBIL: Total bilirubin; DBIL: Direct bilirubin; IDBIL: Indirect bilirubin; TP: Total protein; ALB: Albumin; GLOB: Globulin; PALB: Pre-albumin; Urea: Urea nitrogen; CREA: Creatinine; UA: Uric acid; LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase; WBC: White blood cell count; NEU: Neutrophil count; Lym: Lymphocyte count; Mono: Monocyte count; Eosi: Eosinophil count; Baso: Basophil count; Hb: Hemoglobin; RBC: Red blood cell count; Plt: Platelet count; Fbg: Fibrinogen; DDi: D-dimer.

In the present study, we found that 27.4% of patients with GC who were undergoing ICI treatment had sarcopenia, 29.8% had myosteatosis, and 10.5% of those with sarcopenia also had concurrent myosteatosis. Furthermore, Kaplan-Meier analysis demonstrated that patients with sarcopenia and/or myosteatosis had shorter PFS and OS. Multivariate analysis identified TP, Eosi, CA724, CA125, sarcopenia, and myosteatosis as independent prognostic factors for OS; and TBIL, DBIL, Eosi, CA125, sarcopenia, and myosteatosis were found to independently affect PFS. We were able to develop models that can accurately predict the prognosis of patients undergoing ICI treatment, with C-indexes of 0.758 for PFS and 0.781 for OS. In the future, the accuracy of the prediction may be improved by using multidimensional integrated analyses based on CT radiomics, body composition, markers of inflammation, and gene expression.

Although valuable insights have been provided by the present study, certain limitations should also be acknowledged. First, it was a retrospective, single-center study, and therefore the results require corroboration by multicenter prospective studies. Second, the inclusion of patients treated with a range of ICI regimens introduced variability regarding treatment efficacy, and therefore the results may need validation using a cohort undergoing a uniform treatment regimen. However, to date, there have been few studies of the prognostic implications of sarcopenia and myosteatosis in patients with GC who are undergoing ICI therapy, and the present study has provided novel insight into the prediction of the prognosis of such patients and has improved understanding of the relevance of these muscle

## Table 3 Results of the univariate and multivariate analyses to identify parameters predictive of progression-free survival and overall survival

	OS				PFS				
Parameters	Univariate anal	ysis	Multivariate an	alysis	Univariate anal	Univariate analysis Multivariate analysis			
i didiletero	Hazard ratio (95%CI)	P value	Hazard ratio (95%CI)	P value	Hazard ratio (95%CI)	P value	Hazard ratio (95%CI)	P value	
ALT (U/L)	1.191 (0.680- 2.088)	0.541			1.312 (0.748- 2.301)	0.343			
AST (U/L)	3.316 (0.457- 24.065)	0.236			4.063 (0.560- 29.469)	0.165			
γ-GGT (U/L)	0.914 (0.522- 1.601)	0.753			0.907 (0.511- 1.610)	0.739			
ALP (U/L)	1.673 (0.933- 2.998)	0.084			1.962 (1.096- 3.513)	0.023	1.540 (0.722- 3.282)	0.264	
TBIL (µmol/L)	1.578 (0.861- 2.893)	0.140			2.108 (1.155- 3.848)	0.015	3.752 (1.104- 12.750)	0.034	
DBIL (µmol/L)	1.245 (0.705- 2.197)	0.450			1.337 (0.763- 2.343)	0.310			
IDBIL (µmol/L)	1.383 (0.785- 2.434)	0.261			1.870 (1.066- 3.281)	0.029	0.847 (0.276- 2.603)	0.772	
TP (g/L)	0.389 (0.165- 0.917)	0.031	0.310 (0.126- 0.765)	0.011	0.502 (0.214- 1.179)	0.114			
ALB (g/L)	0.985 (0.542- 1.791)	0.961			1.212 (0.667- 2.201)	0.528			
GLOB (g/L)	0.380 (0.118- 1.223)	0.105			0.345 (0.107- 1.114)	0.075			
PALB (g/L)	0.518 (0.293- 0.915)	0.024	0.757 (0.414- 1.384)	0.366	0.524 (0.299- 0.919)	0.024	0.560 (0.288- 1.088)	0.087	
Urea (mmol/L)	0.693 (0.362- 1.328)	0.269			0.711 (0.369- 1.368)	0.307			
CREA (µmol/L)	0.882 (0.486- 1.600)	0.679			1.007 (0.557- 1.822)	0.981			
UA (µmol/L)	0.571 (0.256- 1.275)	0.172			0.641 (0.284- 1.446)	0.284			
LDH (U/L)	1.094 (0.556- 2.152)	0.794			1.056 (0.543- 2.051)	0.873			
WBC (10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	1.500 (0.835- 2.696)	0.175			1.450 (0.809- 2.598)	0.212			
NEU (10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	1.352 (0.728- 2.512)	0.339			1.334 (0.719- 2.475)	0.360			
Lym (10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	0.581 (0.323- 1.043)	0.069			0.555 (0.308- 0.998)	0.049	0.692 (0.345- 1.391)	0.301	
Mono (10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	0.727 (0.418- 1.262)	0.257			0.730 (0.421- 1.267)	0.264			
Eosi (10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	3.205 (1.520- 6.758)	0.002	2.398 (1.116- 5.153)	0.025	2.856 (1.374- 5.936)	0.005	3.022 (1.341- 6.809)	0.008	
Baso (10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	1.151 (0.656- 2.019)	0.625			1.408 (0.797- 2.489)	0.239			
Hb (g/L)	1.062 (0.604- 1.866)	0.835			1.010 (0.576- 1.772)	0.973			
RBC (10 <sup>12</sup> /L)	0.951 (0.542- 1.667)	0.860			0.946 (0.538- 1.666)	0.849			
Plt (10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	0.578 (0.308- 1.085)	0.088			0.590 (0.314- 1.110)	0.102			
Fbg (g/L)	0.044 (0.000-	0.282			0.44 (0.000-	0.238			



	12.949)				7.917)			
DDi (mg/L)	1.906 (0.978- 3.715)	0.058			1.883 (0.978- 3.627)	0.058		
AFP ng/mL	0.830 (0.473- 1.454)	0.514			0.871 (0.496- 1.529)	0.631		
CEA ng/mL	1.507 (0.796- 2.855)	0.208			1.175 (0.622- 2.219)	0.620		
CA199 U/L	1.605 (0.927- 2.780)	0.091			1.756 (1.015- 3.037)	0.044	1.395 (0.719- 2.706)	0.325
CA724 U/L	2.051 (1.176- 3.578)	0.011	2.459 (1.334- 4.534)	0.004	1.846 (1.055- 3.228)	0.032	1.951 (1.056- 3.606)	0.033
CA125 II U/L	2.408 (1.294- 4.482)	0.006	2.763 (1.302- 5.862)	0.008	2.735 (1.445- 5.179)	0.002	2.419 (1.094- 5.348)	0.029
BMI (kg/m²)	0.533 (0.309- 0.921)	0.024	1.165 (0.584- 2.322)	0.665	0.467 (0.268- 0.815)	0.007	1.232 (0.581- 2.610)	0.586
Age (< 53.50 <i>vs</i> ≥ 53.50)	0.978 (0.550- 1.737)	0.939			1.276 (0.721- 2.256)	0.403		
Sex (Male <i>vs</i> Female)	1.288 (0.689- 2.410)	0.428			1.275 (0.682- 2.385)	0.447		
TNM stage (III vs IV)	1.586 (0.820- 3.067)	0.170			2.044 (1.031- 4.052)	0.041	2.313 (1.007- 5.317)	0.048
Sarcopenia (Yes <i>vs</i> No)	2.896 (1.670- 5.021)	< 0.001	3.569 (1.808- 7.045)	< 0.001	3.021 (1.737- 5.253)	< 0.001	4.036 (1.959- 8.316)	< 0.001
Myosteatosis (Yes <i>vs</i> No)	2.662 (1.357- 5.225)	0.004	3.172 (1.471- 6.839)	0.003	2.104 (1.118- 3.962)	0.021	2.624 (1.256- 5.483)	0.010

ALT: Alanine transaminase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; γ-GGT: γ-glutamyl transferase; ALP: Alkaline phosphatase; TBIL: Total bilirubin; DBIL: Direct bilirubin; IDBIL: Indirect bilirubin; TP: Total protein; ALB: Albumin; GLOB: Globulin; PALB: Pre-albumin; Urea: Urea nitrogen; CREA: Creatinine; UA: Uric acid; LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase; WBC: White blood cell count; NEU: Neutrophil count; Lym: Lymphocyte count; Mono: Monocyte count; Eosi: Eosinophil count; Baso: Basophil count; Hb: Hemoglobin; RBC: Red blood cell count; Plt: Platelet count; Fbg: Fibrinogen; DDi: D-dimer; PFS: Progressionfree survival; OS: Overall survival.

conditions to the outcomes of immunotherapy.

## CONCLUSION

Sarcopenia and myosteatosis, which reflect the body's response to trophic inflammation, are useful predictors of the prognosis of patients with GC who are undergoing treatment with ICI. The clinical course of patients with sarcopenia and myosteatosis has the potential to involve a number of unfavorable outcomes, including shorter PFS and OS. In summary, the evaluation of muscle mass by CT imaging has the potential to yield robust predictors of the prognosis of patients with GC being treated with ICIs.

## **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

The evolution and progression of gastric cancer (GC) is closely associated with the nutritional status of patients. The laboratory indices currently used to assess the nutritional status of patients have limitations.

#### Research motivation

The presence or absence of sarcopenia and myosteatosis are objective indicators of the nutritional status of patients, and muscle mass status influences the effectiveness of immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) therapy.

#### Research objectives

This study aims to investigate the effects of sarcopenia and sarcopenia on the clinical prognosis of patients with GC being treated with ICIs.

Brishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

## Research methods

We studied 115 patients with GC who underwent ICI therapy between 2016 and 2022. The third lumbar vertebrae skeletal muscle cross-sectional area and the mean skeletal muscle density were assessed using 3D Slicer. We then analyzed the relationships of sarcopenia and myosteatosis with the prognosis of the patients.

## **Research results**

Patients exhibiting sarcopenia and/or myosteatosis demonstrated poorer clinical outcomes, and nomograms formulated on the basis of these conditions had substantial prognostic value.

## Research conclusions

The presence of sarcopenia and/or myosteatosis was validated for the prediction of the clinical outcomes of patients with GC undergoing ICI therapy.

## Research perspectives

Screening for sarcopenia and myosteatosis should help identify patients with advanced GC who would benefit from treatment with ICIs.

## FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Gui-Ming Deng and Hai-Bin Song.

Co-corresponding authors: Hong-Jiang Song and Yuan-Zhou Li.

Author contributions: Deng GM and Song HB contributed equally to this work; Deng GM, Song HB, Du ZZ, Xue YW, Song HJ and Li YZ designed the research study; Deng GM, Song HB, Du ZZ and Li YZ performed the research; Xue YW, Song HJ and Li YZ provided data and funding for the experiment; Deng GM and Song HB analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; all authors have read and approve the final manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Harbin Medical University Cancer Hospital.

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no competing financial interests.

Data sharing statement: The material supporting the conclusion of this article has been included within the article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

**ORCID** number: Gui-Ming Deng 0000-0003-1415-5356; Ying-Wei Xue 0000-0002-8427-9736; Yuan-Zhou Li 0009-0004-1792-2332.

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yu HG

## REFERENCES

- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2018; 68: 394-424 [PMID: 30207593 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21492]
- Luo G, Zhang Y, Guo P, Wang L, Huang Y, Li K. Global patterns and trends in stomach cancer incidence: Age, period and birth cohort 2 analysis. Int J Cancer 2017; 141: 1333-1344 [PMID: 28614909 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.30835]
- Arnold M, Karim-Kos HE, Coebergh JW, Byrnes G, Antilla A, Ferlay J, Renehan AG, Forman D, Soerjomataram I. Recent trends in incidence of five common cancers in 26 European countries since 1988: Analysis of the European Cancer Observatory. Eur J Cancer 2015; 51: 1164-1187 [PMID: 24120180 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejca.2013.09.002]
- Ferro A, Peleteiro B, Malvezzi M, Bosetti C, Bertuccio P, Levi F, Negri E, La Vecchia C, Lunet N. Worldwide trends in gastric cancer 4 mortality (1980-2011), with predictions to 2015, and incidence by subtype. Eur J Cancer 2014; 50: 1330-1344 [PMID: 24650579 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejca.2014.01.029]
- Howson CP, Hiyama T, Wynder EL. The decline in gastric cancer: epidemiology of an unplanned triumph. Epidemiol Rev 1986; 8: 1-27 5 [PMID: 3533579 DOI: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.epirev.a036288]



- López MJ, Carbajal J, Alfaro AL, Saravia LG, Zanabria D, Araujo JM, Quispe L, Zevallos A, Buleje JL, Cho CE, Sarmiento M, Pinto JA, 6 Fajardo W. Characteristics of gastric cancer around the world. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2023; 181: 103841 [PMID: 36240980 DOI: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2022.103841]
- 7 Thrift AP, El-Serag HB. Burden of Gastric Cancer. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 18: 534-542 [PMID: 31362118 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2019.07.045]
- 8 Azadeh P, Gholizadeh Pasha S, Yaghobi Joybari A, Abiar Z, Alahyari S, Taghizadeh-Hesary F. Survival Benefit of Induction Chemotherapy with Paclitaxel and Carboplatin Followed by Chemoradiation Versus Postoperative Treatment in Locally Advanced Gastric Cancer: A Retrospective Cohort Study. J Gastrointest Cancer 2023 [PMID: 38010493 DOI: 10.1007/s12029-023-00991-8]
- 9 Kang YK, Chen LT, Ryu MH, Oh DY, Oh SC, Chung HC, Lee KW, Omori T, Shitara K, Sakuramoto S, Chung IJ, Yamaguchi K, Kato K, Sym SJ, Kadowaki S, Tsuji K, Chen JS, Bai LY, Oh SY, Choda Y, Yasui H, Takeuchi K, Hirashima Y, Hagihara S, Boku N. Nivolumab plus chemotherapy vs placebo plus chemotherapy in patients with HER2-negative, untreated, unresectable advanced or recurrent gastric or gastrooesophageal junction cancer (ATTRACTION-4): a randomised, multicentre, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2022; 23: 234-247 [PMID: 35030335 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(21)00692-6]
- Shah MA, Kennedy EB, Alarcon-Rozas AE, Alcindor T, Bartley AN, Malowany AB, Bhadkamkar NA, Deighton DC, Janjigian Y, Karippot 10 A, Khan U, King DA, Klute K, Lacy J, Lee JJ, Mehta R, Mukherjee S, Nagarajan A, Park H, Saeed A, Semrad TJ, Shitara K, Smyth E, Uboha NV, Vincelli M, Wainberg Z, Rajdev L. Immunotherapy and Targeted Therapy for Advanced Gastroesophageal Cancer: ASCO Guideline. J Clin Oncol 2023; 41: 1470-1491 [PMID: 36603169 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.22.02331]
- Li K, Zhang A, Li X, Zhang H, Zhao L. Advances in clinical immunotherapy for gastric cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer 2021; 1876: 11 188615 [PMID: 34403771 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2021.188615]
- Takei S, Kawazoe A, Shitara K. The New Era of Immunotherapy in Gastric Cancers (Basel) 2022; 14 [PMID: 35205802 DOI: 12 10.3390/cancers14041054]
- 13 Eso Y, Shimizu T, Takeda H, Takai A, Marusawa H. Microsatellite instability and immune checkpoint inhibitors: toward precision medicine against gastrointestinal and hepatobiliary cancers. J Gastroenterol 2020; 55: 15-26 [PMID: 31494725 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-019-01620-7]
- 14 Bozzetti F. Forcing the vicious circle: sarcopenia increases toxicity, decreases response to chemotherapy and worsens with chemotherapy. Ann Oncol 2017; 28: 2107-2118 [PMID: 28911059 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdx271]
- 15 Renehan AG, Tyson M, Egger M, Heller RF, Zwahlen M. Body-mass index and incidence of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. Lancet 2008; 371: 569-578 [PMID: 18280327 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60269-X]
- Wagner D, DeMarco MM, Amini N, Buttner S, Segev D, Gani F, Pawlik TM. Role of frailty and sarcopenia in predicting outcomes among 16 patients undergoing gastrointestinal surgery. World J Gastrointest Surg 2016; 8: 27-40 [PMID: 26843911 DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v8.i1.27]
- Zheng ZF, Lu J, Xie JW, Wang JB, Lin JX, Chen QY, Cao LL, Lin M, Tu RH, Zheng CH, Huang CM, Li P. Preoperative skeletal muscle 17 index vs the controlling nutritional status score: Which is a better objective predictor of long-term survival for gastric cancer patients after radical gastrectomy? Cancer Med 2018; 7: 3537-3547 [PMID: 29953752 DOI: 10.1002/cam4.1548]
- 18 Wang S, Zhang X, Chen Q, Jin ZC, Lu J, Guo J. A Novel Neutrophil-to-Lymphocyte Ratio and Sarcopenia Based TACE-Predict Model of Hepatocellular Carcinoma Patients. J Hepatocell Carcinoma 2023; 10: 659-671 [PMID: 37113464 DOI: 10.2147/JHC.S407646]
- Fang P, Zhou J, Xiao X, Yang Y, Luan S, Liang Z, Li X, Zhang H, Shang Q, Zeng X, Yuan Y. The prognostic value of sarcopenia in 19 oesophageal cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2023; 14: 3-16 [PMID: 36415154 DOI: 10.1002/icsm.13126
- 20 Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, Parkin DM, Piñeros M, Znaor A, Bray F. Cancer statistics for the year 2020: An overview. Int J Cancer 2021 [PMID: 33818764 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.33588]
- Van Cutsem E, Sagaert X, Topal B, Haustermans K, Prenen H. Gastric cancer. Lancet 2016; 388: 2654-2664 [PMID: 27156933 DOI: 21 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30354-3
- Ahn H, Kim DW, Ko Y, Ha J, Shin YB, Lee J, Sung YS, Kim KW. Updated systematic review and meta-analysis on diagnostic issues and the 22 prognostic impact of myosteatosis: A new paradigm beyond sarcopenia. Ageing Res Rev 2021; 70: 101398 [PMID: 34214642 DOI: 10.1016/j.arr.2021.101398]
- Kuk JL, Saunders TJ, Davidson LE, Ross R. Age-related changes in total and regional fat distribution. Ageing Res Rev 2009; 8: 339-348 23 [PMID: 19576300 DOI: 10.1016/j.arr.2009.06.001]
- 24 Goodpaster BH, Theriault R, Watkins SC, Kelley DE. Intramuscular lipid content is increased in obesity and decreased by weight loss. Metabolism 2000; 49: 467-472 [PMID: 10778870 DOI: 10.1016/s0026-0495(00)80010-4]
- Aleixo GFP, Shachar SS, Nyrop KA, Muss HB, Malpica L, Williams GR. Myosteatosis and prognosis in cancer: Systematic review and meta-25 analysis. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2020; 145: 102839 [PMID: 31877534 DOI: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2019.102839]
- 26 Peng YC, Wu CH, Tien YW, Lu TP, Wang YH, Chen BB. Preoperative sarcopenia is associated with poor overall survival in pancreatic cancer patients following pancreaticoduodenectomy. Eur Radiol 2021; 31: 2472-2481 [PMID: 32974690 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-020-07294-7]
- Lee CM, Kang J. Prognostic impact of myosteatosis in patients with colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cachexia 27 Sarcopenia Muscle 2020; 11: 1270-1282 [PMID: 32483936 DOI: 10.1002/jcsm.12575]
- Pennathur A, Gibson MK, Jobe BA, Luketich JD. Oesophageal carcinoma. Lancet 2013; 381: 400-412 [PMID: 23374478 DOI: 28 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60643-6
- 29 Qiu H, Cao S, Xu R. Cancer incidence, mortality, and burden in China: a time-trend analysis and comparison with the United States and United Kingdom based on the global epidemiological data released in 2020. Cancer Commun (Lond) 2021; 41: 1037-1048 [PMID: 34288593] DOI: 10.1002/cac2.12197]
- 30 Wagner AD, Syn NL, Moehler M, Grothe W, Yong WP, Tai BC, Ho J, Unverzagt S. Chemotherapy for advanced gastric cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017; 8: CD004064 [PMID: 28850174 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004064.pub4]
- Högner A, Moehler M. Immunotherapy in Gastric Cancer. Curr Oncol 2022; 29: 1559-1574 [PMID: 35323331 DOI: 31 10.3390/curroncol29030131]
- Muro K, Chung HC, Shankaran V, Geva R, Catenacci D, Gupta S, Eder JP, Golan T, Le DT, Burtness B, McRee AJ, Lin CC, Pathiraja K, 32 Lunceford J, Emancipator K, Juco J, Koshiji M, Bang YJ. Pembrolizumab for patients with PD-L1-positive advanced gastric cancer (KEYNOTE-012): a multicentre, open-label, phase 1b trial. Lancet Oncol 2016; 17: 717-726 [PMID: 27157491 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)00175-3]
- Kang YK, Boku N, Satoh T, Ryu MH, Chao Y, Kato K, Chung HC, Chen JS, Muro K, Kang WK, Yeh KH, Yoshikawa T, Oh SC, Bai LY, 33 Tamura T, Lee KW, Hamamoto Y, Kim JG, Chin K, Oh DY, Minashi K, Cho JY, Tsuda M, Chen LT. Nivolumab in patients with advanced



gastric or gastro-oesophageal junction cancer refractory to, or intolerant of, at least two previous chemotherapy regimens (ONO-4538-12, ATTRACTION-2): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2017; 390: 2461-2471 [PMID: 28993052 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31827-5]

- Janjigian YY, Kawazoe A, Yañez P, Li N, Lonardi S, Kolesnik O, Barajas O, Bai Y, Shen L, Tang Y, Wyrwicz LS, Xu J, Shitara K, Qin S, 34 Van Cutsem E, Tabernero J, Li L, Shah S, Bhagia P, Chung HC. The KEYNOTE-811 trial of dual PD-1 and HER2 blockade in HER2-positive gastric cancer. Nature 2021; 600: 727-730 [PMID: 34912120 DOI: 10.1038/s41586-021-04161-3]
- Janjigian YY, Shitara K, Moehler M, Garrido M, Salman P, Shen L, Wyrwicz L, Yamaguchi K, Skoczylas T, Campos Bragagnoli A, Liu T, 35 Schenker M, Yanez P, Tehfe M, Kowalyszyn R, Karamouzis MV, Bruges R, Zander T, Pazo-Cid R, Hitre E, Feeney K, Cleary JM, Poulart V, Cullen D, Lei M, Xiao H, Kondo K, Li M, Ajani JA. First-line nivolumab plus chemotherapy vs chemotherapy alone for advanced gastrie, gastro-oesophageal junction, and oesophageal adenocarcinoma (CheckMate 649): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2021; 398: 27-40 [PMID: 34102137 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00797-2]
- Evans WJ, Morley JE, Argilés J, Bales C, Baracos V, Guttridge D, Jatoi A, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Lochs H, Mantovani G, Marks D, Mitch WE, 36 Muscaritoli M, Najand A, Ponikowski P, Rossi Fanelli F, Schambelan M, Schols A, Schuster M, Thomas D, Wolfe R, Anker SD. Cachexia: a new definition. Clin Nutr 2008; 27: 793-799 [PMID: 18718696 DOI: 10.1016/j.clnu.2008.06.013]
- Nipp RD, Fuchs G, El-Jawahri A, Mario J, Troschel FM, Greer JA, Gallagher ER, Jackson VA, Kambadakone A, Hong TS, Temel JS, 37 Fintelmann FJ. Sarcopenia Is Associated with Quality of Life and Depression in Patients with Advanced Cancer. Oncologist 2018; 23: 97-104 [PMID: 28935775 DOI: 10.1634/theoncologist.2017-0255]
- Davis MP, Panikkar R. Sarcopenia associated with chemotherapy and targeted agents for cancer therapy. Ann Palliat Med 2019; 8: 86-101 38 [PMID: 30525762 DOI: 10.21037/apm.2018.08.02]
- Kodera Y. More than 6 months of postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy results in loss of skeletal muscle: a challenge to the current standard of 39 care. Gastric Cancer 2015; 18: 203-204 [PMID: 24820695 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-014-0381-z]
- Daly LE, Ní Bhuachalla ÉB, Power DG, Cushen SJ, James K, Ryan AM. Loss of skeletal muscle during systemic chemotherapy is prognostic 40 of poor survival in patients with foregut cancer. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2018; 9: 315-325 [PMID: 29318756 DOI: 10.1002/jcsm.12267]
- Ryan AM, Power DG, Daly L, Cushen SJ, Ní Bhuachalla Ē, Prado CM. Cancer-associated malnutrition, cachexia and sarcopenia: the skeleton 41 in the hospital closet 40 years later. Proc Nutr Soc 2016; 75: 199-211 [PMID: 26786393 DOI: 10.1017/S002966511500419X]
- Kim YY, Lee J, Jeong WK, Kim ST, Kim JH, Hong JY, Kang WK, Kim KM, Sohn I, Choi D. Prognostic significance of sarcopenia in 42 microsatellite-stable gastric cancer patients treated with programmed death-1 inhibitors. Gastric Cancer 2021; 24: 457-466 [PMID: 32970267 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-020-01124-x]
- Kim N, Yu JI, Lim DH, Lee J, Kim ST, Hong JY, Kang WK, Jeong WK, Kim KM. Prognostic Impact of Sarcopenia and Radiotherapy in 43 Patients With Advanced Gastric Cancer Treated With Anti-PD-1 Antibody. Front Immunol 2021; 12: 701668 [PMID: 34305941 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.701668]
- Lee K, Shin Y, Huh J, Sung YS, Lee IS, Yoon KH, Kim KW. Recent Issues on Body Composition Imaging for Sarcopenia Evaluation. Korean 44 J Radiol 2019; 20: 205-217 [PMID: 30672160 DOI: 10.3348/kjr.2018.0479]
- 45 Stretch C, Aubin JM, Mickiewicz B, Leugner D, Al-Manasra T, Tobola E, Salazar S, Sutherland FR, Ball CG, Dixon E, Vogel HJ, Damaraju S, Baracos VE, Bathe OF. Sarcopenia and myosteatosis are accompanied by distinct biological profiles in patients with pancreatic and periampullary adenocarcinomas. PLoS One 2018; 13: e0196235 [PMID: 29723245 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0196235]
- Chen WZ, Shen ZL, Zhang FM, Zhang XZ, Chen WH, Yan XL, Zhuang CL, Chen XL, Yu Z. Prognostic value of myosteatosis and sarcopenia 46 for elderly patients with colorectal cancer: A large-scale double-center study. Surgery 2022; 172: 1185-1193 [PMID: 35868905 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2022.05.031]
- Lattanzi B, Nardelli S, Pigliacelli A, Di Cola S, Farcomeni A, D'Ambrosio D, Gioia S, Ginanni Corradini S, Lucidi C, Mennini G, Rossi M, 47 Merli M, Riggio O. The additive value of sarcopenia, myosteatosis and hepatic encephalopathy in the predictivity of model for end-stage liver disease. Dig Liver Dis 2019; 51: 1508-1512 [PMID: 31601536 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2019.09.004]
- Youn S, Reif R, Chu MP, Smylie M, Walker J, Eurich DT, Ghosh S, Sawyer MB. Myosteatosis is prognostic in metastatic melanoma treated 48 with nivolumab. Clin Nutr ESPEN 2021; 42: 348-353 [PMID: 33745604 DOI: 10.1016/j.clnesp.2021.01.009]
- Chu MP, Li Y, Ghosh S, Sass S, Smylie M, Walker J, Sawyer MB. Body composition is prognostic and predictive of ipilimumab activity in 49 metastatic melanoma. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2020; 11: 748-755 [PMID: 32053287 DOI: 10.1002/jcsm.12538]
- 50 Vander Veen BN, Murphy EA, Carson JA. The Impact of Immune Cells on the Skeletal Muscle Microenvironment During Cancer Cachexia. Front Physiol 2020; 11: 1037 [PMID: 32982782 DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2020.01037]
- Behnam B, Taghizadeh-Hesary F. Mitochondrial Metabolism: A New Dimension of Personalized Oncology. Cancers (Basel) 2023; 15 [PMID: 51 37627086 DOI: 10.3390/cancers15164058]
- Akbari H, Taghizadeh-Hesary F, Bahadori M. Mitochondria determine response to anti-programmed cell death protein-1 (anti-PD-1) 52 immunotherapy: An evidence-based hypothesis. *Mitochondrion* 2022; 62: 151-158 [PMID: 34890822 DOI: 10.1016/j.mito.2021.12.001]
- Houshyari M, Taghizadeh-Hesary F. Is Mitochondrial Metabolism a New Predictive Biomarker for Antiprogrammed Cell Death Protein-1 53 Immunotherapy? JCO Oncol Pract 2023; 19: 123-124 [PMID: 36469835 DOI: 10.1200/OP.22.00733]
- 54 Saha T, Dash C, Jayabalan R, Khiste S, Kulkarni A, Kurmi K, Mondal J, Majumder PK, Bardia A, Jang HL, Sengupta S. Intercellular nanotubes mediate mitochondrial trafficking between cancer and immune cells. Nat Nanotechnol 2022; 17: 98-106 [PMID: 34795441 DOI: 10.1038/s41565-021-01000-4]
- Chen X, Ji Y, Liu R, Zhu X, Wang K, Yang X, Liu B, Gao Z, Huang Y, Shen Y, Liu H, Sun H. Mitochondrial dysfunction: roles in skeletal 55 muscle atrophy. J Transl Med 2023; 21: 503 [PMID: 37495991 DOI: 10.1186/s12967-023-04369-z]



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

WŰ

# World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 881-900

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.881

**Observational Study** 

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

## Mitochondrial dysfunction affects hepatic immune and metabolic remodeling in patients with hepatitis B virus-related acute-onchronic liver failure

Yu Zhang, Xiao-Ling Tian, Jie-Qun Li, Dong-Sheng Wu, Qiang Li, Bin Chen

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

## Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Venegas M, Chile

Received: October 8, 2023 Peer-review started: October 8, 2023 First decision: December 8, 2023 Revised: December 15, 2023 Accepted: January 23, 2024 Article in press: January 23, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



Yu Zhang, Xiao-Ling Tian, Bin Chen, Department of Hepatology, Institute of Hepatology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Hunan University of Chinese Medicine, Changsha 410021, Hunan Province, China

Jie-Qun Li, Qiang Li, Department of Liver Transplant, Transplant Medical Research Center, The Second Xiangya Hospital of Central South University, Changsha 410011, Hunan Province, China

Dong-Sheng Wu, Department of Surgery, The First Affiliated Hospital of Hunan University of Chinese Medicine, Changsha 410021, Hunan Province, China

Corresponding author: Bin Chen, PhD, Chief Physician, Department of Hepatology, Institute of Hepatology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Hunan University of Chinese Medicine, No. 95 Middle Shaoshan Road, Yuhua District, Changsha 410021, Hunan Province, China. chenbin0410@126.com

## Abstract

## BACKGROUND

Immune dysregulation and metabolic derangement have been recognized as key factors that contribute to the progression of hepatitis B virus (HBV)-related acuteon-chronic liver failure (ACLF). However, the mechanisms underlying immune and metabolic derangement in patients with advanced HBV-ACLF are unclear.

## AIM

To identify the bioenergetic alterations in the liver of patients with HBV-ACLF causing hepatic immune dysregulation and metabolic disorders.

## **METHODS**

Liver samples were collected from 16 healthy donors (HDs) and 17 advanced HBV-ACLF patients who were eligible for liver transplantation. The mitochondrial ultrastructure, metabolic characteristics, and immune microenvironment of the liver were assessed. More focus was given to organic acid metabolism as well as the function and subpopulations of macrophages in patients with HBV-ACLF.

## RESULTS

Compared with HDs, there was extensive hepatocyte necrosis, immune cell infilt-



ration, and ductular reaction in patients with ACLF. In patients, the liver suffered severe hypoxia, as evidenced by increased expression of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 $\alpha$ . Swollen mitochondria and cristae were observed in the liver of patients. The number, length, width, and area of mitochondria were adaptively increased in hepatocytes. Targeted metabolomics analysis revealed that mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation decreased, while anaerobic glycolysis was enhanced in patients with HBV-ACLF. These findings suggested that, to a greater extent, hepatocytes used the extra-mitochondrial glycolytic pathway as an energy source. Patients with HBV-ACLF had elevated levels of chemokine C-C motif ligand 2 in the liver homogenate, which stimulates peripheral monocyte infiltration into the liver. Characterization and functional analysis of macrophage subsets revealed that patients with ACLF had a high abundance of CD68<sup>+</sup> HLA-DR<sup>+</sup> macrophages and elevated levels of both interleukin-1 $\beta$  and transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 1 in their livers. The abundance of CD206<sup>+</sup> CD163<sup>+</sup> macrophages and expression of interleukin-10 decreased. The correlation analysis revealed that hepatic organic acid metabolites were closely associated with macrophage-derived cytokines/chemokines.

## CONCLUSION

The results indicated that bioenergetic alteration driven by hypoxia and mitochondrial dysfunction affects hepatic immune and metabolic remodeling, leading to advanced HBV-ACLF. These findings highlight a new therapeutic target for improving the treatment of HBV-ACLF.

Key Words: Acute-on-chronic liver failure; Hypoxia-inducible factor-1a; Mitochondria; Metabolic phenotype; Immune cells

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Our data were obtained from liver of patients with hepatitis B virus (HBV)-related acute-on-chronic liver failure (ACLF), whose mitochondrial function, metabolites, and immune microenvironment were less susceptible to any confounding factors caused by other failing organs. Widely infiltrating macrophages were originated from peripheral circulating monocytes in the liver of patients with HBV-ACLF. Mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation was decreased, and anaerobic glycolysis was enhanced in patients with HBV-ACLF. Liver of patients made greater use of the extra-mitochondrial glycolytic pathway for providing energy. Bioenergetic alteration driven by hypoxia and mitochondrial dysfunction contribute to hepatic immune and metabolic remodeling, may leading to organ failure and poor clinical prognosis in patients with advanced HBV-ACLF.

**Citation:** Zhang Y, Tian XL, Li JQ, Wu DS, Li Q, Chen B. Mitochondrial dysfunction affects hepatic immune and metabolic remodeling in patients with hepatitis B virus-related acute-on-chronic liver failure. *World J Gastroenterol* 2024; 30(8): 881-900 **URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/881.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.881

## INTRODUCTION

Acute-on-chronic liver failure (ACLF) is a syndrome characterized by acute decompensation of chronic liver disease associated with organ failure and high short-term mortality. Hepatitis B virus (HBV)-related ACLF is the most common type of liver failure in the Asia-Pacific region[1]. It is characterized by excessive immune response due to HBV reactivation. HBV-ACLF leads to acute hepatic decompensation in patients with chronic liver disease or cirrhosis[2]. The excessive immune response is caused by molecular patterns that are associated with bacterial pathogens and damage, which activate pattern recognition receptors of the innate immune system. The core immune mechanisms in HBV-ACLF involve the activation of the innate immune system and impaired adaptive immune response[2].

The interactions between HBV reactivation, immune dysregulation, and inflammatory response form an intricate network that iad the pathogenesis of ACLF. Each of these processes has a tremendous demand for energy and nutrients. Therefore, the liver needs to adjust its metabolic patterns to generate sufficient energy for supporting viral replication, inflammatory response, and immune cell activation. Dysregulation of this process causes metabolic disturbance and energy crisis, which might result in organ failure. Recent transcriptome and metabolomics studies have shown that there are significant changes in metabolic pathways, including lipid metabolism, fatty acid metabolism, and oxygen homeostasis, in all stages of HBV-ACLF[2]. Decreased oxidative phosphorylation and increased fatty acid β-oxidation were also observed in HBV-ACLF[3]. Mitochondria are the central hubs of energy production and metabolic processes that mainly regulate oxidative phosphorylation and produce ATP. Remodeling mitochondrial metabolism is essential for regulating innate immunity and inflammatory response. Mitochondrial dysfunction is a hallmark of ACLF, which controls the metabolism of leukocytes in patients with acute decompensated cirrhosis and ACLF[4]. Profound alterations in metabolic pathways have been observed in patients with HBV-ACLF. It has also been noted that mitochondrial dysfunction might reprogram energy metabolism in ACLF.
We hypothesized that mitochondrial structure and function are altered in patients with HBV-ACLF, causing a shift in cellular energy metabolism, metabolic patterns, and immune response in patients with ACLF. In this study, the tissue levels of organic acid metabolites and innate immune cells in patients with advanced HBV-ACLF were measured. The mitochondrial ultrastructure was assessed using transmission electron microscopy (TEM). Biomarkers of mitochondrial dysfunction were measured to monitor mitochondrial impairment.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Patients

The study used liver tissue samples from 17 patients with HBV-ACLF (a group hereafter called "ACLF") and 16 healthy donors (HDs) at The Second Xiangya Hospital of Central South University. Patients with HBV-ACLF met the diagnostic criteria for ACLF suggested by the China Medical Association<sup>[5]</sup>. Based on this criterion, reactivation of hepatitis B virus causes progressive acute jaundice and coagulation dysfunction, which can be accompanied by hepatic encephalopathy, ascites, electrolyte imbalance, infection, hepatorenal syndrome, and the hepatopulmonary syndrome. Other symptoms and complications, such as extrahepatic organ failure, may also exist. The jaundice rapidly progresses, with a serum total bilirubin (TBIL)  $\ge 10 \times$  upper limit of normal or a daily increase of  $\ge 17.1 \mu$ mol/L. Hemorrhagic manifestations present with prothrombin time (PT) activity (PTA)  $\leq 40\%$  [or international normalized ratio (INR)  $\geq 1.5$ ]. The inclusion criteria used in this study were as follows: (1) Patients with HBV-ACLF eligible for liver transplantation; (2) model for end-stage liver disease (MELD) score more than or equal to 15[5]; and (3) 18-70-year-old male or female. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Super-infection or co-infection with other hepatotropic and non-hepatotropic viruses; (2) previous application of any immunomodulatory agents or cytotoxic/immunosuppressive drugs within the last three months; (3) hepatocellular carcinoma or extrahepatic malignancies; and (4) co-existence of other liver diseases, such as alcoholic liver disease, Wilson disease, drug-induced liver injury, or autoimmune hepatitis.

All liver tissues were obtained after liver transplantation. Donor livers were lavaged and trimmed before transplantation. The native liver tissues were collected after trimming, before they were washed with an ice-cold PBS solution. The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of the First Hospital of Hunan University of Chinese Medicine (No. HN-LL-SWST-15), and written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

#### Clinical data collection

Demographic and laboratory data were collected, including age, gender, white blood cell (WBC), neutrophil count, platelet count (PLT), TBIL, aspartate transaminase (AST), alanine transaminase (ALT), albumin (ALB), creatinine, blood urea nitrogen, PT, INR, PTA, hypersensitive C-reactive protein (hs-CRP), procalcitonin (PCT), lactate (LAC), and erythrocyte sedimentation rate. ACLF risk scores were calculated. All laboratory data were collected from the most recent examinations before surgery.

#### Collection of liver tissue homogenate and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

To collect tissue homogenate, surgically excised liver tissues were freshly harvested and cut into small pieces after PBS (0.01 M, pH 7.4) flushing. The 0.1 g liver tissues were transferred into a glass homogenizer with 0.9 mL of pre-cooled PBS. After the liver tissues were thoroughly ground to homogenization, the supernatant was collected and filtered through a 0.22-µm filter to remove any impurities before detection.

Following the manufacturers' instructions (Adsbio, Jiangsu, China), ELISA kits were used to detect the concentrations of growth differentiation factor 15 (GDF15; 2305H16), fibroblast growth factor 21 (FGF21; 2305H22), interleukin-1β (IL-1β; 2305H19), tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ; 2305H12), interleukin-10 (IL-10; 2305H25), transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGFβ; 2305H33), and chemokine C-C motif ligand 2 (CCL2; 2305H36) in liver tissue homogenate.

#### Histopathology

Surgically excised liver tissues were kept in 4% paraformaldehyde. Fixed liver tissues were embedded in paraffin, cut into 3 µm sections, and stained with H&E. The samples were finally imaged and scored under light microscopy. The histopathological scores were assessed based on the "Guideline for diagnosis and treatment of liver failure (2018)." The ACLF pathological score was given according to the extent of liver tissue necrosis. Normal liver tissue structure received a score of 0; spotty necrosis, fusion necrosis, and bridging necrosis received a score of 2; submassive hepatic necrosis affecting approximately 1/2-2/3 of hepatic parenchyma received a score of 3; and massive hepatic necrosis affecting more than 2/3 of the hepatic parenchyma received a score of 4.

#### Immunohistochemical staining

Immunohistochemical staining of liver sections was performed. Several 3-µm sections were prepared from paraffinembedded blocks of tissue. Sections were dewaxed, rehydrated by fractionated alcohol series, and heated in a microwave oven for 5 min in 10 mm sodium citrate (pH 6.0) to recover antigens. After antigen retrieval, paraffin sections were placed in 3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and blocked for 10 min to eliminate endogenous peroxidase activity. Then, the samples were blocked and incubated with 10% goat serum for 30 min. The rabbit anti-human HIF-1α (1:200, Bioss, Beijing, China) was added as the primary antibody and incubation was done overnight at 4 °C, in a humidified box. Then, the secondary antibody was added dropwise before incubation at 37°C for 30 min. DAB was added as the substrate to enhance color development. When the color change was observed, the staining solution was immediately washed off with tap water. Hematoxylin



WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

was counterstained for 3 min, differentiated with 1% hydrochloric acid and alcohol, and rinsed with tap water for 10 min. Gradient alcohol dehydration was performed. Xylene was transparent, and the film was mounted with a neutral gum. The number of HIF-1α positive cells was quantified, and images were captured under a microscope. The Image J software (NIH Image, Bethesda, MD, United States) was used for analysis.

#### Immunofluorescence staining

For double immunofluorescence staining, paraffin-embedded tissues were cut into 3.5 mm sections. Each section was deparaffinized and blocked with EDTA (pH 8.0) antigen repair solution (1:49, Aifang, Changsha, China) at 96°C for 20 min. Then, the sections were incubated overnight at 4°C with the following primary antibodies: Mouse anti-human CD68 (1:200, Aifang, Changsha, China), mouse anti-human Ki67 (1:200, Boster, Wuhan, China), rabbit anti-human HLA-DR (1:300, Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom), rabbit anti-human CD206 (1:200, Aifang, Changsha, China), and mouse anti-human CD163 (1:150, Aifang, Changsha, China). The samples were then incubated with FITC tag goat-anti-rabbit IgG (1:500), FITC tag goat-anti-mouse IgG (1:500), cy3 tag goat-anti-rabbit IgG (1:500), and cy3 tag goat-anti-mouse IgG (1:500) for 1 h. The sections were slightly dried and incubated with the DAPI staining solution (Solarbio, Beijing, China) at room temperature and in the dark, for 10 min. After DAPI staining for 5 min, the sections were washed with PBS three times. Each of the three washing procedureswas done for 5 min. The washed sections were then sealed with an antifluorescence attenuated sealing solution that contained DAPI. Fluorescence images were scanned using a digital pathology scanner (KF-FL-020, Zhejiang, China) and images were captured. The results were analyzed using the Image J software (NIH Image, Bethesda, MD, United States).

#### TEM

The liver tissue was dissected into 1-mm pieces and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and 0.1 M sodium cacodylate buffer (pH 7.2) containing 2% glutaraldehyde, at 4°C overnight. After three times of washing in buffer, the samples were postfixed in 2% osmium tetroxide and 1% uranyl acetate for 2 h, rinsed in water, dehydrated in ascending ethanol series and 100% acetone, before it was infiltrated and embedded in eponate. Ultrathin sections were cut using a Leica EM UC7. The sections were exposed to the primary stain (5% aqueous uranyl acetate). They were then exposed to the secondary stain (lead citrate) and visualized using a 120 kv TEM HT7800 (Hitachi, Japan). Five random fields of view were imaged per group to quantify the size and number of mitochondria. Mitochondria were identified based on their morphology. Mitochondrial length, width, and cross-sectional area were measured using Image Pro-Plus 6.0 software (Media Cybernetics, Silver Spring, MD, United States). Mitochondrial count analysis was performed at the original magnification of 7000.

#### Targeted metabolomics

Ultra-high performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (UPLC-MS/MS) system (Waters XEVO TQ-S Micro, Waters Corporation) was used for targeted metabolomics analysis of 16 organic acids in liver samples. Briefly, 17 liver samples from patients with HBV-ACLF and 12 liver samples from HDs were collected and stored in an Eppendorf Safelock microcentrifuge tube. The centrifuge tube was placed in a low-temperature centrifuge and centrifuged at 12000 rpm at 4 °C for 5 min. Then, 50 µL of supernatant were taken and 50 µL of propionic acid isotope internal standard (IS; 5 µg/mL) and 50 µL of 3-nitrophenylhydrazine (250 mmol/L, prepared with 50% methanol/aqueous solution) were added to it. Thereafter, 50 µL of 1-Ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl) carbodiimide (150 mmol/L, prepared with 75% methanol/ aqueous solution (containing 7.5% pyridine)) was added and placed in a shock mixer at 30°C for 30 min. The supernatant was extracted by adding 50 µL of 2, 6-di-tert-butyl-p-cresol methanol solution (2 mg/mL) and 250 µL of 75% methanol solution at 12000 rpm for 5 min, and then used for LC-MS analysis.

Chromatographic separation was performed using Waters ACQUITY UPLC I-CLASS ultra-high performance liquid chromatography with a Waters UPLC BEH C18 column (2.1 mm × 100 mm I.D., 1.7 µm; Waters Corp., Milford, MA, United States) at a column temperature of 40°C. The mobile phase was composed of 0.1% formic acid aqueous solution (A). The methanol: Isopropyl alcohol ratio was 8:2 (B). The flow rate was 0.30 mL/min, and the injection volume was 5 μL.

Multireaction monitoring of 16 organic acids (IS) was performed using the Waters XEVO TQ-S Micro series four-bar mass spectrometry system. The optimal Mass Spectrometric parameters were as follows: Ion source voltage was 3.0 kV, temperature was 150°C; desolvation temperature was 450°C, desolvation gas flow rate was 1000 L/h; cone-hole gas flow rate was 10 L/h.

Data acquisition and processing were conducted using the MassLynx 4.1 software (Waters Corp., Milford, MA, United States), and the concentration of each metabolite was calculated based on the standard curve. The calculated concentrations of organic acids were imported into the SIMCA software (v. 14.1, Umetrics, Sweden) for multivariate analyses, including orthogonal partial least squares-discriminant analysis (OPLS-DA) and replacement test. Finally, differential metabolites were used for pathway enrichment analysis.

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS software (ver. 21.0; IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, United States), and the figures were produced using Prism 8.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, United States). All values are presented as mean ± SE of mean, median (interquartile range), or numbers (%). For single comparisons, the unpaired Student's t-test was used for data with normal distribution, and the Mann-Whitney test was used for data with non-normal distribution. Categorical variables were compared using chi-squared tests. The Pearson test was used for determining the correlations for normally distributed variables. The Spearman test was applied to measure the correlations of non-normal variables. A



WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

P value of less than 0.05 indicated statistical significance.

# RESULTS

#### **Baseline characteristics**

Table 1 summarizes the baseline characteristics, demographic, and laboratory features of patients. The two groups were comparable with regard age and sex, and all patients in the ACLF group were male. All patients with ACLF had liver cirrhosis, and five cases in the HD group had metabolic associated fatty liver disease. Compared with the HD group, the ACLF group had lower levels of WBC, PLT, ALB, sodium, and PT, but higher levels of TBIL, AST, ALT, and INR. Moreover, the PTA of the ACLF group was lower than the lower limit of normal, and the hs-CRP, PCT, LAC, and NH3 were more than the upper limit of normal. The mean MELD score of patients in the ACLF group was 28.65, with each individual having a MELD score of greater or equal to 19, suggesting a high risk of end-stage liver disease. In the ACLF group, the mean MELD-Na score was 32.83, and the mean COSSH-ACLF II score was 7.69. More than 65% of patients with ACLF were exposed to an intermediate to high risk of end-stage liver disease (Table 1).

#### Liver histopathology

Under the light microscope, the following observations were made: the structure of the liver tissue of some HDs was complete and clear; the structure of liver lobules was clear and normal; the volume of hepatocytes was uniform; the nuclei were in the middle; and the cytoplasm was red-stained. The hepatocytes were arranged radially around the central vein, and there was no sign of necrosis, steatosis, fibroplasia, and inflammatory infiltration. The liver of the others showed diffuse fatty lesions, disordered lobular structure, deranged hepatic cords, ballooned or swollen hepatocytes, loose cytoplasm, diffuse lipid droplets of different sizes in the cytoplasm, and a small number of punctate necrosis. Pathologic assessment of the liver in patients with ACLF showed destruction of the normal structure as well as collapse or incomplete collapse of reticular scaffolds. The liver tissue showed massive or submassive necrosis, along with abundant inflammatory cell infiltration. The percentage of normal hepatocytes significantly decreased. Hepatic sinusoids were significantly dilated, congested, and even hemorrhagic. Circular or triangular portal areas were observed around necrosis. Massive bile ducts, in the form of tubes or branches, were observed around the edge of the necrotic zone and the confluence area. Cholestasis and bile plugs were seen in some of the lumens. The hepatic lobules were structurally disorganized, with massive extracellular matrix hyperplasia. Residual hepatocytes were wrapped and segmented into nodules of varying sizes by fibrous septae. Hepatocytes in the residual nodules showed various degrees of hepatocyte ballooning. Some hepatocytes were eosinophilic, and apoptotic bodies and binucleated hepatocytes were visible (Figure 1A). Histopathological scoring showed that hepatocyte necrosis markedly increased in the liver of patients with ACLF compared with the HDs, and the difference was statistically significant (Figure 1B).

#### Upregulated hypoxia markers in patients with ACLF

The transcription factor HIF-1 $\alpha$  mediates the adaptive response to hypoxia. In normoxic conditions, HIF-1 $\alpha$  is hydroxylated and rapidly degraded. Hypoxia upregulates HIF-1 $\alpha$  and promotes its translocation to the nucleus to form a complex with HIF-1 $\beta$ . This promotes the transcription of genes that are essential for hypoxic adaptation[6]. The expression of key mediators of hypoxia in the liver samples was examined through immunohistochemistry to assess whether patients with ACLF suffered from anoxia whammy. The results from immunohistochemical staining demonstrated that the expression of HIF-1 $\alpha$  was elevated in the cytoplasm and nucleus of hepatocytes in patients with ACLF compared with the HDs. This showed significant hypoxic injury in patients with ACLF (Figure 2).

#### Altered mitochondrial ultrastructure in the liver of patients with ACLF

TEM images with different magnifications are shown in Figure 3A. In HDs, mitochondrial morphology, cristae, and matrix were intact and orderly arranged. Compared to normal mitochondrial conformation in HDs, mitochondrial ultrastructure was severely disorganized in the liver of patients with ACLF. Some mitochondria were severely swollen and transformed into vacuolated structures with abnormal mitochondrial morphology. The mitochondrial outer membrane was mostly incomplete, while the cristae were sparse, disorganized, or absent. The density of the mitochondrial matrix was lower and filled with an electron-dense material in patients with ACLF, suggesting extensive mitochondrial degeneration. A small number of autophagosomes and autophagic lysosomes were seen in the liver of patients with ACLF (Figure 3A). Compared with HDs, the liver of patients had an increased number of mitochondria in each microscopic field. The length, width, and area of the mitochondria also increased (Figure 3B and C), as part of the repair response after liver injury.

#### Mitochondrial dysfunction in patients with ACLF

TEM showed severe ultrastructural damage of mitochondria in the livers of patients with ACLF. GDF15 and FGF21 Levels in tissue homogenates were examined to reveal mitochondrial dysfunction. GDF15 and FGF21 are circulating markers for mitochondrial disorders and are widely used in diagnosis of mitochondrial diseases[7-9] and other serious diseases, such as liver failure[4,10,11], heart failure[12,13], and sepsis[14,15]. Their expression levels positively correlated with disease severity. The expression of GDF15 in liver homogenates of patients with ACLF increased compared to the HD group (Figure 3D). This revealed mitochondrial dysfunction in patients with ACLF. Nevertheless, FGF21 Levels were significantly lower in patients with ACLF compared to the HDs (Figure 3E). In contrast, plasma FGF21 levels were higher

Table 1 Baseline characteristics of the included patients						
Variable	HD ( <i>n</i> = 16)	ACLF ( <i>n</i> = 17)	P value			
Age (yr)	$47.24 \pm 2.01$	52.18 ± 4.16	0.2964			
Gender [male, n (%)]	14 (87.5)	17 (100)	0.227			
Other liver disorders, $n$ (%)						
Cirrhosis	0 (0)	17 (100)	< 0.0001			
MAFLD	5 (31.25)	0 (0)	0.044			
None	11 (68.75)	0 (0)	< 0.0001			
Laboratory measurements						
WBC (× 10 <sup>9</sup> )	14.01 (7.69)	$7.86 \pm 1.07$	< 0.0001			
NEUT (%)	78.20 (19.50)	71.90 (14.95)	0.1705			
PLT (× 10 <sup>9</sup> )	199.44 ± 26.26	$70.00 \pm 8.80$	0.0002			
TBIL (µmol/L)	$10.16\pm1.01$	$332.05 \pm 51.60$	< 0.0001			
AST (IU/L)	36.00 (35.55)	94.50 (83.15)	0.0106			
ALT (IU/L)	24.00 (41.05)	67.50 (67.8)	0.0281			
ALB (g/L)	$42.98 \pm 0.86$	37.25 ± 1.26	0.0007			
Sodium (mmol/L)	$142.32 \pm 1.43$	$135.40 \pm 1.48$	0.0023			
CREA (µmol/L)	71.00 (28.40)	64.00 (39.50)	0.8717			
BUN (mmol/L)	5.69 (3.24)	5.40 (6.30)	0.8094			
PT (S)	$12.29 \pm 0.36$	27.36 ± 2.28	< 0.0001			
INR	$1.02\pm0.04$	2.56 ± 0.26	< 0.0001			
PTA (%)	ND	28.00 (31.00)	ND			
hs-CRP (mg/L)	ND	8.41 (8.73)	ND			
PCT (ng/mL)	ND	0.51 (0.37)	ND			
LAC (mmol/L)	ND	$2.78 \pm 0.21$	ND			
NH <sub>3</sub> (µmol/L)	ND	$84.9 \pm 10.19$	ND			
ESR (mm/h)	ND	10.00 (9.5)	ND			
ACLF risk scores						
MELD score	ND	$28.65 \pm 1.42$	ND			
MELD category, n (%)						
1:≥40	ND	1 (5.9)	ND			
2: 30-39	ND	8 (47.1)	ND			
3: 20-29	ND	7 (41.1)	ND			
4: 15-19	ND	1 (5.9)	ND			
MELD-Na (score)	ND	32.83 ± 2.42	ND			
COSSH-ACLF II score	ND	$7.69 \pm 0.30$	ND			

All values are expressed as mean ± SEM, median (IQR), or number (percentages). Data with normal distribution were compared using unpaired student's *t* -test, and the Mann-Whitney test was used for data without non-normal. Categorical variables were compared using chi-squared tests.

MAFLD: Metabolic associated fatty liver disease; NEUT: Neutrophilic granulocyte; PLT: Platelet; TBIL: Total bilirubin; AST: Aspartate transaminase; ALT: Alanine transaminase; ALB: Albumin; CREA: Creatinine; BUN: Blood urea nitrogen; PT: Prothrombin time; INR: International normalized ratio; PTA: Prothrombin time activity; hs-CRP: Hypersensitive C-reactive protein; PCT: Procalcitonin; LAC: Lactate; ESR: Erythrocyte sedimentation rate; MELD: Model for end-stage liver disease; MELD-Na: Model for end-stage liver disease includes serum sodium; COSSH-ACLF II: Chinese group on the study of severe hepatitis B- acute-on-chronic liver failure II; HD: Healthy donor; ACLF: Acute-on-chronic liver failure; ND: Not determined.

Boishideng® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Liver histopathology in healthy donors and patients with acute-on-chronic liver failure. A: HE staining of the liver tissue from healthy donors (n = 10) and patients with acute-on-chronic liver failure (n = 12); B: Histopathological Scoring. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney test. ACLF: Acuteon-chronic liver failure; HD: Healthy donor.

in patients with ACLF in some studies[6,11]. Some studies reported that plasma levels of FGF21 were not associated with the severity of ACLF[11].

#### Metabolic profiles of liver in patients with ACLF

Mitochondria drive metabolic adaption to environments. This study investigated whether mitochondrial dysfunction in patients with ACLF was accompanied by metabolic change. Therefore, the levels of organic acid metabolites in tissues of HDs and ACLF patients were determined through targeted metabolomics. A total of 16 different types of organic acids were quantified. The concentrations of the 16 organic acids were imported into the SIMCA software for OPLS-DA. The results are shown in the OPLS-DA scatter diagram (Figure 4A). The OPLS-DA model effectively differentiated between HD and ACLF samples, suggesting that there were differences in total organic acid metabolites between HDs and patients with ACLF, with lower inter-sample variability among patients with ACLF. The 200 permutation tests of our data demonstrated no overfitting in the OPLS-DA model [Q2 = (0.0, -0.474); Figure 4B]. The hierarchical cluster analysis showed that the 16 organic acids could differentiate between ACLF patients and HDs (Figure 4C). Volcano plots were used to identify fumarate, methylmalonic acid, succinate,  $\alpha$ -ketoglutaric acid, LAC, phenylacetic acid, and ethylmalonic acid as differential metabolites (Figure 4D).

Statistical analysis of data from targeted metabolomics revealed seven differential organic acids. Compared with HDs, fumarate and methylmalonic acid levels decreased in patients with ACLF, whereas succinate, α-ketoglutaric acid, LAC, phenylacetic acid, and ethylmalonic acid levels increased in these patients (Figure 4E). The LAC / pyruvate ratio, a surrogate marker for the cytosolic NADH/NAD<sup>+</sup> ratio and a hallmark of the redox state[16] was also calculated. The LAC /pyruvate ratio was significantly elevated in patients with ACLF compared to HDs (Figure 4E), suggesting enhanced anaerobic glycolysis. The liver in patients with ACLF patients used the extra-mitochondrial pathways to generate ATP. The seven differential organic acids were imported into the MetaboAnalyst website (https://www.metaboanalyst.ca/) for metabolic pathway enrichment analysis. The pathway enrichment analysis identified six pathways (P < 0.05) enriched

Raishideng® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Expression of hypoxia-inducible factor-1α increased in the liver tissues of patients with acute-on-chronic liver failure. A: Immunohistochemical staining of hypoxia-inducible factor-1a (HIF-1a); B: Semi-quantitative analysis of HIF-1a expression. Data were compared using unpaired student's t-test. ACLF: Acute-on-chronic liver failure; HD: Healthy donor; HIF-1a: Hypoxia-inducible factor-1a.

in ACLF (Figure 4F). These pathways play key roles in glucose metabolism, fatty acid metabolism, and amino acid metabolism.

# Widespread macrophages activation in the liver of patients with ACLF

Mitochondrial dysfunction affected liver metabolism in patients with ACLF. Double immunofluorescence staining with anti-ki67 and anti-CD68 antibodies was used to label proliferating macrophages and determine whether metabolic transformation affected hepatic macrophages (Figure 5A). There was no statistically significant difference in cell proliferation (Ki67<sup>+</sup>) between HDs and patients with ACLF (Figure 5B). However, there was significant macrophage (CD68<sup>+</sup>) infiltration in the liver of ACLF patients (Figure 5C). Double immunofluorescence staining with Ki67 and CD68 showed no significant differences in the number of proliferating macrophages between the groups (Figure 5D), suggesting that the infiltrating macrophages originated from peripheral circulating monocytes rather than liver-resident macrophages (*i.e.*, Kupffer cells). CCL2, a key chemokine that regulates monocyte/macrophage migration and infiltration, was overexpressed in the liver of patients with ACLF (Figure 5E), suggesting an increased capacity of circulating monocytes for hepatic infiltration in patients with ACLF.

# Impaired macrophage polarization in the liver of patients with ACLF

Macrophages can acquire different phenotypes depending on environmental and immune signals. They are mainly classified into two major groups: (1) Classically activated macrophages endowed with pro-inflammatory and microbicidal functions and (2) alternatively activated macrophages with anti-inflammatory and tissue remodeling properties. The classically activated macrophages (CD68+ HLA-DR+) and alternatively activated macrophages (CD163+ CD206<sup>+</sup>) were labeled via double immunofluorescence staining (Figure 6A and B) to determine whether there was a phenotypic change in hepatic macrophages. The results showed that the abundance of CD68<sup>+</sup> HLA-DR<sup>+</sup> macrophages increased (Figure 6C), while the abundance of CD163<sup>+</sup> CD206<sup>+</sup> macrophages decreased in patients with ACLF compared to HDs (Figure 6D). Macrophages were polarized toward the classically activated phenotype (Figure 6E). The results from



Zaishidena® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Mitochondrial morphology and function in the liver of patients with acute-on-chronic liver failure. A: Representative electron microscopy images of hepatic mitochondria from 3 patients with acute-on-chronic liver failure (ACLF) and 3 healthy donors (HDs). Orange arrows indicate autophagosome; the blue arrow indicates autophagic lysosome; B: Length, width, and area of each mitochondrion; C: Number of mitochondria at original magnification of 7000 ; D: Growth differentiation factor 15 levels in liver homogenates of 12 HDs and 17 patients with ACLF; E: Fibroblast growth factor 21 levels in liver homogenates. Data with normal distribution were compared using unpaired student's t-test, and the Mann-Whitney test was used for non-normal data. ACLF: Acute-on-chronic liver failure; HD: Healthy donor; GDF15: Growth differentiation factor 15; FGF21: Fibroblast growth factor 21.

the cytokine assay were consistent with those from immunofluorescence. Compared with HDs, patients with ACLF exhibited elevated expression of IL-1β and TGF-β1 (Figure 6F). IL-1β is a CD68<sup>+</sup> HLA-DR<sup>+</sup> macrophage-derived proinflammatory cytokine and TGF-β1 is a potent pro-fibrotic factor. As a CD163<sup>+</sup> CD206<sup>+</sup> macrophage-derived anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10 was downregulated in patients with ACLF (Figure 6F). There was no significant difference in TNF- $\alpha$  levels between the groups (Figure 6F).

#### The relationship between metabolic remodeling and macrophage activation

Macrophages undergo extensive metabolic rewiring upon activation, increasing the abundance of specific metabolites [17]. They act as co-factors for enzymes and posttranslationally modify histones. They also affect the function of transcription factors, enzymes, and other key proteins, thereby regulating cellular phenotypes[18]. The correlation between 16 organic acid metabolites and macrophage-derived cytokines/chemokines was analyzed to investigate whether the metabolic changes affected the immune inflammatory response in patients with ACLF (Figure 7A). The results showed that IL-1β levels positively correlated with those of pyruvate, fumarate, malate, ethyl malonic acid, glyoxylic acid, and  $\beta$ -Hydroxybutyric acid, while negatively correlating with those of citrate (P < 0.05). The correlation

Baishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com





Baishideng®

WJG https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 4 Metabolic profiles of the liver of patients with acute-on-chronic liver failure. A: Orthogonal partial least squares-discriminant analysis scatter plot; B: Permutation tests; C: Hierarchical clustergram of organic acid metabolites; D: Volcano plot comparing organic acid metabolites between patients with acute-on-chronic liver failure (n = 17) and healthy donors (n = 12); E: Quantitative analysis of differentially expressed organic acid metabolites; F: Kyoto Encylopedia of Genes and Genomes pathway enrichment analysis. Data with normal distribution were compared using unpaired student's *t*-test, and the Mann-Whitney test was used for non-normal data. ACLF: Acute-on-chronic liver failure; HD: Healthy donor.

coefficients were 0.671, 0.671, 0.738, 0.603, 0.736, 0.559, and -0.644, respectively (Figure 7B). TNF-α levels positively correlated with those of LAC (P < 0.05), with a correlation coefficient of 0.665 (Figure 7B). IL-10 levels negatively correlated with those of pyruvate, fumarate, malate, and methyl malonic acid (P < 0.05), and the correlation coefficients were -0.635, -0.612, -0.535, and -0.621, respectively (Figure 7B). TGF-β1 Levels positively correlated with those of fumarate, malate, methyl malonic acid, ethyl malonic acid, and glyoxylic acid, while negatively correlating with citrate (P < 0.05). The correlation coefficients were 0.568, 0.618, 0.589, 0.544, 0.557, and -0.518, respectively (Figure 7B). CCL2 levels positively correlated with those of glycolic acid (P < 0.05), with a correlation coefficient of 0.665 (Figure 7B). Organic acid metabolites strongly and positively correlated with pro-inflammatory cytokines and negatively correlated with anti-inflammatory cytokines. IL-1β was strongly associated with tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle intermediates. Succinate is a novel driver of inflammation, which can be sensed by succinate receptor 1[19,20]. The intracellular succinate in macrophages stabilizes HIF-1α, thereby enhancing IL-1β production in normoxic conditions[21]. Lactate not only provides energy for cell growth but also acts as an important signaling molecule for regulating the function of immune cells[22]. In hypoxic conditions, macrophages exhibit enhanced migratory capacity partly through HIF-1α signaling to redirect pyruvate from the TCA cycle to LAC production, thereby enhancing localized energy generation[23].

# DISCUSSION

Viral, immune, and metabolic processes are involved in the development and progression of HBV-ACLF. The metabolic characteristics of patients with HBV-ACLF profoundly change, mainly due to hyperammonemia and hypoxia[3]. Severe systemic inflammation in ACLF is associated with the accumulation of metabolites in the body, along with profound metabolic alterations, such as mitochondrial dysfunction[24]. Mitochondrial dysfunction governs immunometabolism in

Raisbideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 5 Macrophages were widely activated in the liver of patients with acute-on-chronic liver failure. A: Representative microscopic images of the double immunofluorescence staining of Ki67 and CD68 in the liver (400 fold). The red fluorescence signal represented Ki67; the green fluorescence signal represented CD68; and the blue fluorescence signal represented DAPI; B: Ki67 immunofluorescence intensity in the liver of healthy donors (n = 10) and patients with acute-on-chronic liver failure (n = 12); C: CD68 immunofluorescence intensity in the liver; D: The mean number of Ki67\* CD68\*-positive cells in five × 200 fields; E: Chemokine C-C motif ligand 2 levels in liver homogenates. Data with normal distribution were compared using unpaired student's t-test, and the Mann-Whitney test was used for non-normal data. ACLF: Acute-on-chronic liver failure; HD: Healthy donor.

the leukocytes of patients with ACLF[4]. This study is the first to describe changes in the bioenergetics of the liver in patients with advanced HBV-ACLF. Bioenergetic alteration driven by hypoxia and mitochondrial dysfunction contribute to hepatic immune and metabolic remodeling, which may cause organ failure and poor clinical prognosis in patients with advanced HBV-ACLF. In this study, the data were obtained from the liver of patients with HBV-ACLF, whose mitochondrial function, metabolites, and immune microenvironment were less susceptible to any confounding factors caused by other failing organs.

Massive inflammatory cell infiltration was observed in the liver tissue of HBV-ACLF patients in histopathological assessment. CCL2 levels were elevated in the liver tissue of HBV-ACLF, indicating increased chemotaxis of peripheral monocytes. Consistent with our findings, a multicenter, prospective cohort study showed an increased activation of the innate immune system in HBV-ACLF[2]. Immunofluorescence further confirmed that circulating monocyte-derived macrophages widely infiltrated the liver of patients with HBV-ACLF. Moreover, extensive ductular reactions (DR) were noted around the necrotic zone of the liver and around portal areas. DR is pathologically recognized as bile duct hyperplasia and is associated with trans-differentiation of hepatocytes. DR may play an important role in hepatic regeneration<sup>[25]</sup>, though it does not exist in all hepatobiliary diseases. Extracellular matrix, inflammatory cell infiltration, and activated myofibroblasts are also involved in the pathogenesis of DR[26-28]. This implies that DR is closely associated with liver regeneration after severe or prolonged injury.

Mitochondria, which are the main oxygen consumers in cells, are the primary organelles that are affected by hypoxia. In this study, hypoxia significantly changed the ultrastructure of mitochondria as evidenced by mitochondrial swelling and ridge destruction. The number of mitochondria increases as an adaptive response to chronic non-specific cellular damage. FGF21 and GDF15 levels were also determined as biomarkers for the severity of mitochondrial dysfunction. For the first time, a reduction in FGF21 levels was noted in patients with HBV-ACLF. FGF21 and GDF15 levels increase in patients with ACLF as independent predictors of adverse clinical events [6,14]. It's important to note that these data were obtained from peripheral blood.

FGF21 levels may be affected by mitochondrial dysfunction in other damaged organs. A series of different models demonstrated that FGF21 has differential tissue-specific effects and might be a modulator of stress signaling in mild-tomoderate mitochondrial dysfunction. However, the effects of FGF21 are dispensable in severe mitochondrial dysfunction [8]. FGF21 is mainly synthesized and secreted by hepatocytes. Decreased FGF21 levels may be attributed to hepatic

WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Zhang Y et al. Mitochondrial dysfunction affects immune and metabolism







Figure 6 Generalized macrophages activation showed a classically activated phenotype in the liver of patients with acute-on-chronic liver failure. A: Representative microscopic images of double immunofluorescence staining of CD68 and HLA-DR in the liver (400 fold). The red fluorescence signal

Baishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

F

February 28, 2024 Volume 30 Issue 8

represented CD68; the green fluorescence signal represented HLA-DR; and the blue fluorescence signal represented DAPI; B: Representative microscopic images of the double immunofluorescence staining of CD206 and CD163 in the liver (400 fold). The red fluorescence signal represented CD206; the green fluorescence signal represented CD163; and the blue fluorescence signal represented DAPI; C: The mean number of CD206\* CD163\*-positive cells in five × 200 fields; E: The ratio of CD68\* HLA-DR\*/CD206\* CD163\*-positive cells in healthy donors and patients with acute-on-chronic liver failure; F: The levels of macrophage-derived cytokines (interleukin-1β, tumor necrosis factor-α, interleukin-10, and transforming growth factor-β1) in liver homogenates. Data with normal distribution were compared using unpaired student's *t*-test, and the Mann-Whitney test was used for non-normal data. ACLF: Acute-on-chronic liver failure; HD: Healthy donor; IL-1β: Interleukin-1β; IL-10: Interleukin-10; TNF-α: Tumor necrosis factor-α; TGF-β1: Transforming growth factor.

insufficiency and massive hepatocyte necrosis in patients with ACLF. GDF15 is a protein that is mainly secreted by activated macrophages[29]. The extensive hepatic infiltration of inflammatory cells was consistent with increased levels of GDF15. A meta-analysis showed that GDF15, which is a biomarker of mitochondrial dysfunction, has higher diagnostic accuracy than FGF21[30]. In conclusion, the FGF21 Levels in the serum do not have diagnostic and prognostic significance in patients with advanced HBV-ACLF. More studies are needed to carefully assess the role of serum biomarkers in predicting serious adverse events in patients with ACLF.

Mitochondrial dysfunction in ACLF severely impairs ATP production so the liver of patients with ACLF provides more energy via glycolysis<sup>[4]</sup>. Decreased fumarate levels and increased succinate levels may be attributed to the inhibition of the TCA cycle. Selective impairments were observed in the conversion of succinate into fumarate in the TCA cycle of leukocytes obtained from patients with ACLF[4]. Similar impairments were observed between isocitric acid and  $\alpha$ -ketoglutaric acid [4], and  $\alpha$ -ketoglutaric acid accumulation may be due to glutamine supplementation [3]. These results illuminate the metabolic characteristics of the liver of patients with ACLF. These characteristics include enhanced glycolysis and glutamine anaplerosis, inhibited oxidative phosphorylation, and TCA cycle disruption. In contrast, another clinical study found that glycolysis was repressed in the liver of patients with HBV-ACLF[3]. In the same study, patients with ACLF were only admitted to combined medicine. The severity and clinical characteristics of patients were different from those of patients with advanced HBV-ACLF. We hypothesized that glycolysis undergoes a dynamic transition during HBV-ACLF progression. In addition, enhanced glycolysis may not be only a passive transition after mitochondrial dysfunction but also an active choice in hypoxia. In hypoxic conditions, stably expressed HIF-1α mediates glucose metabolism reprogramming via multiple pathways, thereby transforming energy production from oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis. For example, HIF-1α increases glucose conversion into LAC by increasing the expression of glucose transporters and glycolytic enzymes[31,32]. HIF-1α decreases mitochondrial oxidation and promotes glycolysis in macrophages[33].

Macrophage activation is characterized by pronounced metabolic adaptation. Classically activated macrophages secrete proinflammatory mediators. A shift from impaired TCA cycle and oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis also takes place. In contrast, alternatively activated macrophages secrete anti-inflammatory cytokines and are characterized by enhanced oxidative phosphorylation and fatty acid oxidation[34]. Notably, organic acid metabolites strongly correlated with macrophage-derived cytokines/chemokines, linking metabolism to immunity in ACLF. This study was not designed to elucidate whether metabolic remodeling is the underlying cause or the consequence of immune activation, but there is enough evidence supporting that impaired TCA cycle and enhanced glycolysis reinforce inflammatory responses. High levels of succinate in cells have been shown to stabilize and activate the HIF-1α and its downstream targets by inhibiting prolyl hydroxylases. This pathway induces IL-1β secretion in macrophages[35,36]. Accelerated glycolysis may guarantee a competitive bioenergetic state and provide energy for classically activated macrophages to release proinflammatory cytokines[37]. We demonstrated that imbalanced macrophage polarization existed in the pathogenesis of HBV-ACLF. Classically activated macrophages release high amounts of cytokines, leading to tissue damage and organ failure. It can be a new immunometabolic therapeutic strategy to regulate macrophage polarization by inhibiting the glycolysis pathway.

In summary, our findings provided direct mechanistic evidence of tissue hypoxia, mitochondrial dysfunction, metabolic remodeling, and imbalanced immune homeostasis in patients with advanced HBV-ACLF. The interaction between these pathophysiological mechanisms forms an interconnected complex network. HIF-1α may be the core target in this network. Regulating liver metabolism reprogramming and promoting the polarization of alternatively activated macrophages may attenuate liver inflammation and promote tissue repair. This provides insights to treatment strategies that are worth exploring.

#### CONCLUSION

The results indicated that bioenergetic alteration driven by hypoxia and mitochondrial dysfunction affects hepatic immune and metabolic remodeling, leading to advanced HBV-ACLF. These findings highlight a new therapeutic target for improving the treatment of HBV-ACLF.

Zaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com





Figure 7 Correlation plot between the 16 organic acid metabolites and macrophage-derived cytokines/chemokines in patients with acuteon-chronic liver failure (n = 17). A: Correlation plot between the 16 organic acid metabolites and cytokines/chemokines; B: Linear correlation scatter plot between the organic acid metabolites and cytokines/chemokines (P = 0.05). The Spearman test was used to measure the correlations of non-normally distributed variables. IL-1 $\beta$ : Interleukin-1 $\beta$ ; IL-10: Interleukin-10; TNF- $\alpha$ : Tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ ; TGF- $\beta$ 1: Transforming growth factor. CCL-2: Chemokine C-C motif ligand 2.

# **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Immune dysregulation and metabolic derangement have been recognized as key factors that contribute to the progression of hepatitis B virus (HBV)-related acute-on-chronic liver failure (ACLF).

#### **Research motivation**

Currently, the mechanisms underlying immune and metabolic derangement in patients with advanced HBV-ACLF are unclear.

#### Research objectives

To identify the bioenergetic alterations in the liver of patients with HBV-ACLF causing hepatic immune dysregulation and metabolic disorders.

#### **Research methods**

This study evaluated the mitochondrial ultrastructure, metabolic characteristics, and immune microenvironment of the liver of the subjects.

#### **Research results**

There was extensive hepatocyte necrosis, immune cell infiltration, and ductular reaction in the liver of patients with ACLF. Hypoxia significantly changed the ultrastructure of mitochondria as evidenced by mitochondrial swelling and ridge destruction. Mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation decreased, while anaerobic glycolysis was enhanced in patients with HBV-ACLF. Circulating monocyte-derived macrophages widely infiltrated the liver of patients with HBV-ACLF. Patients with ACLF had a high abundance of CD68<sup>+</sup> HLA-DR<sup>+</sup> macrophages and elevated levels of both interleukin-1 $\beta$  and transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 1 in their livers. The abundance of CD206<sup>+</sup> CD163<sup>+</sup> macrophages and expression of interleukin-10 decreased.

#### **Research conclusions**

Bioenergetic alteration driven by hypoxia and mitochondrial dysfunction affects hepatic immune and metabolic remodeling, leading to advanced HBV-ACLF.

#### Research perspectives

Regulating liver metabolism reprogramming and promoting the polarization of alternatively activated macrophages may attenuate liver inflammation and promote tissue repair. This provides insights to treatment strategies that are worth exploring.

WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

# FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Zhang Y and Tian XL performed experiments, analysed data and wrote the paper; Wu DS and Li Q performed experiments and analysed data; Li JQ and Chen B designed experiments, performed experiments and edited the paper.

Supported by the Domestic First-class Construction Disciplines of the Hunan University of Chinese Medicine; Postgraduate Research Innovation Program of Hunan Province, No. CX20220771; and Clinical MedTech Innovation Project of Hunan Province, No. 2021SK51415.

Institutional review board statement: The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of the First Hospital of Hunan University of Chinese Medicine (No. HN-LL-SWST-15), and written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflicts of interest that pertain to this work.

Data sharing statement: All data generated or analyzed during this study are included in this published article.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement - checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement - checklist of items.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

**ORCID number:** Yu Zhang 0000-0002-1692-6698; Dong-Sheng Wu 0000-0001-7137-7954; Bin Chen 0000-0002-5485-2263.

S-Editor: Lin C L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao YQ

#### REFERENCES

- Sarin SK, Choudhury A, Sharma MK, Maiwall R, Al Mahtab M, Rahman S, Saigal S, Saraf N, Soin AS, Devarbhavi H, Kim DJ, Dhiman RK, Duseja A, Taneja S, Eapen CE, Goel A, Ning Q, Chen T, Ma K, Duan Z, Yu C, Treeprasertsuk S, Hamid SS, Butt AS, Jafri W, Shukla A, Saraswat V, Tan SS, Sood A, Midha V, Goyal O, Ghazinyan H, Arora A, Hu J, Sahu M, Rao PN, Lee GH, Lim SG, Lesmana LA, Lesmana CR, Shah S, Prasad VGM, Payawal DA, Abbas Z, Dokmeci AK, Sollano JD, Carpio G, Shresta A, Lau GK, Fazal Karim M, Shiha G, Gani R, Kalista KF, Yuen MF, Alam S, Khanna R, Sood V, Lal BB, Pamecha V, Jindal A, Rajan V, Arora V, Yokosuka O, Niriella MA, Li H, Qi X, Tanaka A, Mochida S, Chaudhuri DR, Gane E, Win KM, Chen WT, Rela M, Kapoor D, Rastogi A, Kale P, Sharma CB, Bajpai M, Singh V, Premkumar M, Maharashi S, Olithselvan A, Philips CA, Srivastava A, Yachha SK, Wani ZA, Thapa BR, Saraya A, Shalimar, Kumar A, Wadhawan M, Gupta S, Madan K, Sakhuja P, Vij V, Sharma BC, Garg H, Garg V, Kalal C, Anand L, Vyas T, Mathur RP, Kumar G, Jain P, Pasupuleti SSR, Chawla YK, Chowdhury A, Song DS, Yang JM, Yoon EL; APASL ACLF Research Consortium (AARC) for APASL ACLF working Party. Acute-on-chronic liver failure: consensus recommendations of the Asian Pacific association for the study of the liver (APASL): an update. Hepatol Int 2019; 13: 353-390 [PMID: 31172417 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-019-09946-3]
- Li J, Liang X, Jiang J, Yang L, Xin J, Shi D, Lu Y, Li J, Ren K, Hassan HM, Zhang J, Chen P, Yao H, Wu T, Jin L, Ye P, Li T, Zhang H, Sun 2 S, Guo B, Zhou X, Cai Q, Chen J, Xu X, Huang J, Hao S, He J, Xin S, Wang D, Trebicka J, Chen X; Chinese Group on the Study of Severe Hepatitis B (COSSH). PBMC transcriptomics identifies immune-metabolism disorder during the development of HBV-ACLF. Gut 2022; 71: 163-175 [PMID: 33431576 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-323395]
- Yu Z, Li J, Ren Z, Sun R, Zhou Y, Zhang Q, Wang Q, Cui G, Li A, Duan Z, Xu Y, Wang Z, Yin P, Piao H, Lv J, Liu X, Wang Y, Fang M, 3 Zhuang Z, Xu G, Kan Q. Switching from Fatty Acid Oxidation to Glycolysis Improves the Outcome of Acute-On-Chronic Liver Failure. Adv Sci (Weinh) 2020; 7: 1902996 [PMID: 32274306 DOI: 10.1002/advs.201902996]
- 4 Zhang IW, Curto A, López-Vicario C, Casulleras M, Duran-Güell M, Flores-Costa R, Colsch B, Aguilar F, Aransay AM, Lozano JJ, Hernández-Tejero M, Toapanta D, Fernández J, Arroyo V, Clària J. Mitochondrial dysfunction governs immunometabolism in leukocytes of patients with acute-on-chronic liver failure. J Hepatol 2022; 76: 93-106 [PMID: 34450236 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.08.009]
- 5 Liver Failure and Artificial Liver Group, Chinese Society of Infectious Diseases; Chinese Medical Association; Severe Liver Disease and Artificial Liver Group, Chinese Society of Hepatology, Chinese Medical Association. [Guideline for diagnosis and treatment of liver failure]. Zhonghua Gan Zang Bing Za Zhi 2019; 27: 18-26 [PMID: 30685919 DOI: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1007-3418.2019.01.006]
- Schofield CJ, Ratcliffe PJ. Signalling hypoxia by HIF hydroxylases. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005; 338: 617-626 [PMID: 16139242 6 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.08.111]
- Riley LG, Nafisinia M, Menezes MJ, Nambiar R, Williams A, Barnes EH, Selvanathan A, Lichkus K, Bratkovic D, Yaplito-Lee J, 7 Bhattacharya K, Ellaway C, Kava M, Balasubramaniam S, Christodoulou J. FGF21 outperforms GDF15 as a diagnostic biomarker of mitochondrial disease in children. Mol Genet Metab 2022; 135: 63-71 [PMID: 34991945 DOI: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2021.12.001]



WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

- Croon M, Szczepanowska K, Popovic M, Lienkamp C, Senft K, Brandscheid CP, Bock T, Gnatzy-Feik L, Ashurov A, Acton RJ, Kaul H, 8 Pujol C, Rosenkranz S, Krüger M, Trifunovic A. FGF21 modulates mitochondrial stress response in cardiomyocytes only under mild mitochondrial dysfunction. Sci Adv 2022; 8: eabn7105 [PMID: 35385313 DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.abn7105]
- 9 Lehtonen JM, Forsström S, Bottani E, Viscomi C, Baris OR, Isoniemi H, Höckerstedt K, Österlund P, Hurme M, Jylhävä J, Leppä S, Markkula R, Heliö T, Mombelli G, Uusimaa J, Laaksonen R, Laaksovirta H, Auranen M, Zeviani M, Smeitink J, Wiesner RJ, Nakada K, Isohanni P, Suomalainen A. FGF21 is a biomarker for mitochondrial translation and mtDNA maintenance disorders. Neurology 2016; 87: 2290-2299 [PMID: 27794108 DOI: 10.1212/WNL.00000000003374]
- Wu L, Pan Q, Wu G, Qian L, Zhang J, Zhang L, Fang Q, Zang G, Wang Y, Lau G, Li H, Jia W. Diverse Changes of Circulating Fibroblast 10 Growth Factor 21 Levels in Hepatitis B Virus-Related Diseases. Sci Rep 2017; 7: 16482 [PMID: 29184085 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-16312-6]
- 11 Ruiz-Margáin A, Pohlmann A, Ryan P, Schierwagen R, Chi-Cervera LA, Jansen C, Mendez-Guerrero O, Flores-García NC, Lehmann J, Torre A, Macías-Rodríguez RU, Trebicka J. Fibroblast growth factor 21 is an early predictor of acute-on-chronic liver failure in critically ill patients with cirrhosis. Liver Transpl 2018; 24: 595-605 [PMID: 29476704 DOI: 10.1002/lt.25041]
- Wu G, Wu S, Yan J, Gao S, Zhu J, Yue M, Li Z, Tan X. Fibroblast Growth Factor 21 Predicts Short-Term Prognosis in Patients With Acute 12 Heart Failure: A Prospective Cohort Study. Front Cardiovasc Med 2022; 9: 834967 [PMID: 35369322 DOI: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.834967]
- Gu L, Jiang W, Xu Z, Li W, Zhang H. Elevated serum FGF21 levels predict heart failure during hospitalization of STEMI patients after 13 emergency percutaneous coronary intervention. PeerJ 2023; 11: e14855 [PMID: 36778154 DOI: 10.7717/peerj.14855]
- Fujita Y, Ito M, Ohsawa I. Mitochondrial stress and GDF15 in the pathophysiology of sepsis. Arch Biochem Biophys 2020; 696: 108668 14 [PMID: 33188737 DOI: 10.1016/j.abb.2020.108668]
- Li H, Tang D, Chen J, Hu Y, Cai X, Zhang P. The Clinical Value of GDF15 and Its Prospective Mechanism in Sepsis. Front Immunol 2021; 15 12: 710977 [PMID: 34566964 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.710977]
- Lin Y, Wang Y, Li PF. Mutual regulation of lactate dehydrogenase and redox robustness. Front Physiol 2022; 13: 1038421 [PMID: 36407005 16 DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2022.1038421]
- Mehla K, Singh PK. Metabolic Regulation of Macrophage Polarization in Cancer. Trends Cancer 2019; 5: 822-834 [PMID: 31813459 DOI: 17 10.1016/j.trecan.2019.10.007
- de Goede KE, Harber KJ, Gorki FS, Verberk SGS, Groh LA, Keuning ED, Struys EA, van Weeghel M, Haschemi A, de Winther MPJ, van 18 Dierendonck XAMH, Van den Bossche J. d-2-Hydroxyglutarate is an anti-inflammatory immunometabolite that accumulates in macrophages after TLR4 activation. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis 2022; 1868: 166427 [PMID: 35526742 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2022.166427]
- He W, Miao FJ, Lin DC, Schwandner RT, Wang Z, Gao J, Chen JL, Tian H, Ling L. Citric acid cycle intermediates as ligands for orphan G-19 protein-coupled receptors. Nature 2004; 429: 188-193 [PMID: 15141213 DOI: 10.1038/nature02488]
- Rubic T, Lametschwandtner G, Jost S, Hinteregger S, Kund J, Carballido-Perrig N, Schwärzler C, Junt T, Voshol H, Meingassner JG, Mao X, 20 Werner G, Rot A, Carballido JM. Triggering the succinate receptor GPR91 on dendritic cells enhances immunity. Nat Immunol 2008; 9: 1261-1269 [PMID: 18820681 DOI: 10.1038/ni.1657]
- Eltzschig HK, Carmeliet P. Hypoxia and inflammation. N Engl J Med 2011; 364: 656-665 [PMID: 21323543 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra0910283] 21
- Chen L, Huang L, Gu Y, Cang W, Sun P, Xiang Y. Lactate-Lactylation Hands between Metabolic Reprogramming and Immunosuppression. 22 Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23 [PMID: 36233246 DOI: 10.3390/ijms231911943]
- 23 Semba H, Takeda N, Isagawa T, Sugiura Y, Honda K, Wake M, Miyazawa H, Yamaguchi Y, Miura M, Jenkins DM, Choi H, Kim JW, Asagiri M, Cowburn AS, Abe H, Soma K, Koyama K, Katoh M, Sayama K, Goda N, Johnson RS, Manabe I, Nagai R, Komuro I. HIF-1α-PDK1 axisinduced active glycolysis plays an essential role in macrophage migratory capacity. Nat Commun 2016; 7: 11635 [PMID: 27189088 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms11635]
- Moreau R, Clària J, Aguilar F, Fenaille F, Lozano JJ, Junot C, Colsch B, Caraceni P, Trebicka J, Pavesi M, Alessandria C, Nevens F, Saliba F, 24 Welzel TM, Albillos A, Gustot T, Fernández J, Moreno C, Baldassarre M, Zaccherini G, Piano S, Montagnese S, Vargas V, Genescà J, Solà E, Bernal W, Butin N, Hautbergue T, Cholet S, Castelli F, Jansen C, Steib C, Campion D, Mookerjee R, Rodríguez-Gandía M, Soriano G, Durand F, Benten D, Bañares R, Stauber RE, Gronbaek H, Coenraad MJ, Ginès P, Gerbes A, Jalan R, Bernardi M, Arroyo V, Angeli P; CANONIC Study Investigators of the EASL Clif Consortium; Grifols Chair; European Foundation for the Study of Chronic Liver Failure (EF Clif). Blood metabolomics uncovers inflammation-associated mitochondrial dysfunction as a potential mechanism underlying ACLF. J Hepatol 2020; 72: 688-701 [PMID: 31778751 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2019.11.009]
- Sato K, Marzioni M, Meng F, Francis H, Glaser S, Alpini G. Ductular Reaction in Liver Diseases: Pathological Mechanisms and Translational 25 Significances. Hepatology 2019; 69: 420-430 [PMID: 30070383 DOI: 10.1002/hep.30150]
- Roskams TA, Theise ND, Balabaud C, Bhagat G, Bhathal PS, Bioulac-Sage P, Brunt EM, Crawford JM, Crosby HA, Desmet V, Finegold MJ, 26 Geller SA, Gouw AS, Hytiroglou P, Knisely AS, Kojiro M, Lefkowitch JH, Nakanuma Y, Olynyk JK, Park YN, Portmann B, Saxena R, Scheuer PJ, Strain AJ, Thung SN, Wanless IR, West AB. Nomenclature of the finer branches of the biliary tree: canals, ductules, and ductular reactions in human livers. Hepatology 2004; 39: 1739-1745 [PMID: 15185318 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20130]
- Gadd VL, Skoien R, Powell EE, Fagan KJ, Winterford C, Horsfall L, Irvine K, Clouston AD. The portal inflammatory infiltrate and ductular 27 reaction in human nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology 2014; 59: 1393-1405 [PMID: 24254368 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26937]
- Lorenzini S, Bird TG, Boulter L, Bellamy C, Samuel K, Aucott R, Clayton E, Andreone P, Bernardi M, Golding M, Alison MR, Iredale JP, 28 Forbes SJ. Characterisation of a stereotypical cellular and extracellular adult liver progenitor cell niche in rodents and diseased human liver. Gut 2010; 59: 645-654 [PMID: 20427399 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2009.182345]
- Wollert KC, Kempf T, Wallentin L. Growth Differentiation Factor 15 as a Biomarker in Cardiovascular Disease. Clin Chem 2017; 63: 140-29 151 [PMID: 28062617 DOI: 10.1373/clinchem.2016.255174]
- Lin Y, Ji K, Ma X, Liu S, Li W, Zhao Y, Yan C. Accuracy of FGF-21 and GDF-15 for the diagnosis of mitochondrial disorders: A meta-30 analysis. Ann Clin Transl Neurol 2020; 7: 1204-1213 [PMID: 32585080 DOI: 10.1002/acn3.51104]
- 31 Semenza GL. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1: regulator of mitochondrial metabolism and mediator of ischemic preconditioning. Biochim Biophys Acta 2011; 1813: 1263-1268 [PMID: 20732359 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2010.08.006]
- Semenza GL. HIF-1: upstream and downstream of cancer metabolism. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2010; 20: 51-56 [PMID: 19942427 DOI: 32 10.1016/j.gde.2009.10.009]
- 33 Wang T, Liu H, Lian G, Zhang SY, Wang X, Jiang C. HIF1a-Induced Glycolysis Metabolism Is Essential to the Activation of Inflammatory Macrophages. Mediators Inflamm 2017; 2017: 9029327 [PMID: 29386753 DOI: 10.1155/2017/9029327]



- Liu Y, Xu R, Gu H, Zhang E, Qu J, Cao W, Huang X, Yan H, He J, Cai Z. Metabolic reprogramming in macrophage responses. Biomark Res 34 2021; 9: 1 [PMID: 33407885 DOI: 10.1186/s40364-020-00251-y]
- Tannahill GM, Curtis AM, Adamik J, Palsson-McDermott EM, McGettrick AF, Goel G, Frezza C, Bernard NJ, Kelly B, Foley NH, Zheng L, 35 Gardet A, Tong Z, Jany SS, Corr SC, Haneklaus M, Caffrey BE, Pierce K, Walmsley S, Beasley FC, Cummins E, Nizet V, Whyte M, Taylor CT, Lin H, Masters SL, Gottlieb E, Kelly VP, Clish C, Auron PE, Xavier RJ, O'Neill LA. Succinate is an inflammatory signal that induces IL-1β through HIF-1α. *Nature* 2013; **496**: 238-242 [PMID: 23535595 DOI: 10.1038/nature11986]
- Majmundar AJ, Wong WJ, Simon MC. Hypoxia-inducible factors and the response to hypoxic stress. Mol Cell 2010; 40: 294-309 [PMID: 36 20965423 DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel.2010.09.022]
- Freemerman AJ, Johnson AR, Sacks GN, Milner JJ, Kirk EL, Troester MA, Macintyre AN, Goraksha-Hicks P, Rathmell JC, Makowski L. 37 Metabolic reprogramming of macrophages: glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1)-mediated glucose metabolism drives a proinflammatory phenotype. J Biol Chem 2014; 289: 7884-7896 [PMID: 24492615 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M113.522037]



WĴ

# World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 901-918

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.901

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# **Basic Study** Metadherin promotes stem cell phenotypes and correlated with immune infiltration in hepatocellular carcinoma

# Yi-Ying Wang, Mei-Mei Shen, Jian Gao

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Reshkin SJ, Italy

Received: October 8, 2023 Peer-review started: October 8, 2023 First decision: December 6, 2023 Revised: December 18, 2023 Accepted: January 24, 2024 Article in press: January 24, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



Yi-Ying Wang, Mei-Mei Shen, Department of Gastroenterology, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing 400010, China

Jian Gao, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing 400010, China

Corresponding author: Jian Gao, PhD, Doctor, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, No. 76 Linjiang Road, Yuzhong District, Chongqing 400010, China. 982213482@qq.com

# Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Metadherin (MTDH) is a key oncogene in most cancer types, including hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Notably, MTDH does not affect the stemness phenotype or immune infiltration of HCC.

#### AIM

To explore the role of *MTDH* on stemness and immune infiltration in HCC.

# **METHODS**

MTDH expression in HCC tissues was detected using TCGA and GEO databases. Immunohistochemistry was used to analyze the tissue samples. MTDH was stably knocked down or overexpressed by lentiviral transfection in the two HCC cell lines. The invasion and migration abilities of HCC cells were evaluated using Matrigel invasion and wound healing assays. Next, we obtained liver cancer stem cells from the spheroids by culturing them in a serum-free medium. Gene expression was determined by western blotting and quantitative reverse transcription PCR. Flow cytometry, immunofluorescence, and tumor sphere formation assays were used to characterize stem-like cells. The effects of MTDH inhibition on tumor growth were evaluated in vivo. The correlation of MTDH with immune cells, immunomodulators, and chemokines was analyzed using ssGSEA and TISIDB databases.

# RESULTS

HCC tissues expressed higher levels of MTDH than normal liver tissues. High MTDH expression was associated with a poor prognosis. HCC cells overexpressing MTDH exhibited stronger invasion and migration abilities, exhibited a stem cell-like phenotype, and formed spheres; however, MTDH inhibition



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

attenuated these effects. MTDH inhibition suppressed HCC progression and CD133 expression in vivo. MTDH was positively correlated with immature dendritic, T helper 2 cells, central memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T, memory B, activated dendritic, natural killer (NK) T, NK, activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T, and central memory CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. MTDH was negatively correlated with activated CD8+ T cells, eosinophils, activated B cells, monocytes, macrophages, and mast cells. A positive correlation was observed between the MTDH level and CXCL2 expression, whereas a negative correlation was observed between the MTDH level and CX3CL1 and CXCL12 expression.

#### CONCLUSION

High levels of MTDH expression in patients with HCC are associated with poor prognosis, promoting tumor stemness, immune infiltration, and HCC progression.

Key Words: Metadherin; Hepatocellular carcinoma; Cancer stem cells; Immune infiltration

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** This study demonstrated that high metadherin (*MTDH*) expression is associated with poor prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). High MTDH expression increased the invasion and migration abilities of HCC cells and promoted stemness and self-renewal. Moreover, MTDH influenced immune cell infiltration and chemokine levels. These results provide additional evidence for the potential role of MTDH as a molecular marker for HCC.

Citation: Wang YY, Shen MM, Gao J. Metadherin promotes stem cell phenotypes and correlated with immune infiltration in hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol 2024; 30(8): 901-918 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/901.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.901

#### INTRODUCTION

Primary liver cancer is one of the six most common cancers and the third leading cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide. About 75%-85% of primary liver cancer cases are caused by hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)[1]. The treatment of liver tumors, is limited by its complex pathogenesis, postoperative recurrence, and drug resistance[2]. The poor prognosis of patients with this disease is attributable to metastasis and high recurrence rates. Therefore, it is crucial to understand the relevant mechanisms underlying HCC and identify new therapeutic approaches and targets.

According to several studies, a small proportion of tumor cells, including those in HCC and colorectal cancer, are capable of self-renewal, proliferation, and differentiation, and they are referred to as cancer stem cells (CSCs)[3,4]. The surface markers of CSCs in HCC include CD133, CD90, and EpCAM. High expression levels of CSC markers of CSCs increase stem cell characteristics and tumor sphere-forming capacity [5-7]. An infiltration of multiple immune cells occurs in HCC, including T lymphocytes[8], B cells[9], dendritic cells (DCs)[10], and natural killer (NK) cells[11]. The HCC consists of these tumor-infiltrating immune cells. The type and number of immune cells have prognostic value and can influence the response to immunotherapy.

Metadherin (MTDH), also known as astrocyte elevated gene-1 or lysine-rich CEACAM1, is a key oncogenic gene in most cancer types<sup>[12]</sup>. In malignant tumors, *MTDH* promotes proliferation capacity<sup>[13]</sup>, migration<sup>[14]</sup>, cell survival, and angiogenesis<sup>[15]</sup>, as well as poor prognosis, in lung, prostate, and breast cancers. The importance of *MTDH* in HCC has been demonstrated in numerous studies [16,17]; however, the effects of the expression of MTDH on stem cell characteristics and immune cell infiltration in HCC remain unclear.

Compared with normal liver tissues, liver cancer tissues showed higher levels of MTDH expression. Notably, MTDH expression was associated with poor prognosis. Our findings showed that MTDH was expressed at higher levels in tumor spheres than in adherent cells. MTDH expression in HCC cells positively correlated with CD133, Oct4, and Nanog expression in stem cells. Furthermore, the inhibition of *MTDH* expression inhibited tumor growth. Our study confirmed that MTDH is associated with immune cell infiltration, as confirmed by the analysis of the ssGSEA and TISIDB databases.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### HCC Samples

All the gene expression profile files and the clinical information were obtained from two public databases. TCGA (The Cancer Genome Atlas database, https://portal.gdc.cancer.gov/) contains information on transcriptional gene expression in human cancer and healthy tissues. After removing samples with incomplete clinical information, 369 liver tumor tissues and 50 healthy liver tissues were analyzed. In the GEO (Gene Expression Omnibus, www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/), incompletely annotated samples were excluded from the dataset of GSE14520 (sequencing platform: GPL3921). The



analysis included 210 samples, comprising both tumor samples and their corresponding non-cancer pairs. The clinical information of all the samples is presented in Table 1. Liver tumor tissue microarrays of nine paired samples (HLiv-H030PG03) were purchased from Shanghai Xinchao (Shanghai, China).

#### Differential expression and survival analyses

TCGA data were converted to TPM (transcripts per million) values for subsequent analyses. For GSE14520, data normalization and log2 transformation were performed. Probe IDs were converted to gene symbols using a platform annotation file. Genes with multiple probes are represented by their maximum expression values. Data pre-processing was performed, followed by differential expression and statistical analyses using R software. A survival curve analysis was performed using the R packages "Survival" and "Survminer" with the best cut-off value for *MTDH* calculated for both datasets. R packages "ggstatsplot" and "corrplot" were used for data visualization.

#### Cell culture

Huh7 cells were purchased from the Chinese Academy of Sciences Cell Bank and, MHCC-97H cells were obtained from the Liver Cancer Institute at Fudan University Zhongshan Hospital. All the cells were cultured in DMEM medium [10% fetal bovine serum (FBS)], 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100 U/mL streptomycin in an incubator with 5%  $CO_2$ .

#### Sphere formation assay

Tumor spheres were cultured in serum-free medium (SFM) consisting of 20 ng/mL EGF (PeproTech), DMEM/F12 (HyClone), 20 ng/mL bFGF (PeproTech), and 20  $\mu$ L/mL B27 (Gibco). Single cells (1 × 10<sup>4</sup>) were seeded in a 6-well ultralow adsorption plate (Corning) containing 1.5 mL of serum-free culture medium. All the cells were incubated for 14 d in incubators with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C. Inverted microscopes were used to count tumor spheres larger than 50 mm.

#### Extraction of proteins and western blotting

To prepare proteins from the cells, the cells were lysed in RIPA solution (CWBIO) containing a protease inhibitor cocktail solution. The protein concentration in the solution was determined using a BCA kit (Beyotime). Proteins were separated by using sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (Beyotime Millipore) and transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes (Millipore). PVDF membranes were closed with 5% skim milk at room temperature (RT) for 1 h, followed by overnight incubation with primary antibody at 4°C. The membranes were washed thrice with TBST containing 0.1% Tween-20, followed by incubation with secondary antibodies (EarthOx) (1:5000) for 1 h. After washing thrice with TBST, for 5 min, the blots were visualized with chemiluminescence reagents (Beyotime). The antibodies used were anti-MTDH (CST, 14065T), anti-CD133 (YT5192, ImmunoWay), anti-NANOG (CST, 4903T), and anti-GAPDH (YM3215, ImmunoWay).

#### Total RNA extraction and real-time quantitative reverse transcription PCR

TRIzol (Takara) was used to extract RNA from the cells, and the cDNA (complementary DNA) composition was determined using the PrimeScript<sup>™</sup> RT Reagent Kit (TaKaRa). Real-time quantitative reverse transcription PCR (qRT-PCR) was performed using SYBR Premix Ex Taq (TaKaRa Bio). A CFX96 Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad) was used for qRT-PCR analysis. PCR was performed using the primers purchased from Sangon Biotechnology (Shanghai, China). The <sup>2-ΔΔ</sup>Ct method was used to calculate the data. Table 2 shows primer sequences.

#### **Cell transfection**

To establish a cell line with stable overexpression and suppression of *MTDH*, the cell were infected with a lentivirus. MTDH-overexpressing lentiviral vectors, MTDH-RNAi lentiviral vectors, and blank control lentiviral vectors were acquired from GeneChem (Shanghai, China). On the previous day,  $3 \times 10^4$  cells were grown in each well of a six-well plate. When the cells reached 30% confluence, they were transfected according to the manufacturer's protocols at Multiplicity of Infection of 5. After 96 h, fluorescence microscopy and western blotting were used to verify the transfection efficiency. Puromycin screening was then performed for 2 wk (GeneChem).

#### Immunofluorescence

The cells were seeded in a 24-well plate. Paraformaldehyde solution (4%) was used to fix the cells for 20 min after 24 h of incubation. For cell membrane permeabilization, the cells were treated with 0.3% TritonX-100 (Sigmautes) for 15 min. The cells were incubated overnight with anti-NANOG antibody at 4°C after 120 min incubation in 5% BSA in TBST. Next, the cells were washed thrice with PBS and incubated with DyLight 649 AffiniPure Goat Anti-Rat IgG (1:200, Abbkine) for 1 h in a dark humidified box. The final counterstaining was done using DAPI (4',6-diamino-2-phenylindole) for 10 min. Images were captured using a fluoresce microscope (Nikon).

#### Wound healing assay

MHCC-97H and Huh7 cells were cultured in six-well plates. Subsequent experiments were performed when the cell density in the wells reached 90%. After scratching the cells with a 200-mL pipette, 2% FBS cell culture medium was used for continued culture. All the cells were incubated with 5% carbon dioxide in an incubator at 37°C. A microscope was used to photograph the wounded areas.

Raisbideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Description of the datasets used in this study						
	GSE14520		TCGA			
Clinical characteristics	Total ( <i>n</i> = 210)	%	Total ( <i>n</i> = 369)	%		
Age						
< 60	169	80.48	168	45.53		
≥60	41	19.52	200	54.20		
Unknown	-	-	1	0.27		
Gender						
Female	26	12.38	120	32.52		
Male	184	87.62	249	67.48		
T stage						
T1	-	-	179	48.51		
T2	-	-	94	25.47		
Т3	-	-	80	21.68		
T4	-	-	13	3.52		
Unknown	-		3	0.81		
N stage						
N0	-	-	250	67.75		
N1	-	-	4	1.08		
Nx	-		114	30.89		
Unknown	-	-	1	0.27		
M stage						
M0	-	-	264	71.55		
M1	-	-	4	1.08		
Mx	-	-	101	27.37		
Stage						
I	90	42.86	169	45.80		
п	75	35.71	86	23.31		
ш	43	20.48	85	23.04		
IV	0	0.00	5	1.36		
Unknown	2	0.95	24	6.50		
Status						
Alive	130	61.90	241	65.31		
Dead	80	38.10	128	34.69		
Unknown	-	-	0	0.00		
HBV status						
AVR-CC	52	24.76	-	-		
СС	152	72.38	-	-		
Unknown	6	2.86	-	-		

HBV: Hepatitis B virus; AVR: Active viral replication chronic carrier; CC: Chronic carrier.

Baisbideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Invasion and migration assays

The migration and invasion abilities of the cells were assessed using 24-well transwell chambers with or without Matrigel (BD Biosciences). The supplements were kept in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C for 12 h. Next, 2 × 10<sup>5</sup> cells were re-suspended in 200 µL of SFM and placed in transwell cups with an 8-micron pore membrane (BD). Simultaneously, cell culture medium containing 10% FBS was added to the lower layer to make a total volume of 600 µL. The chambers were maintained in 5% CO, for 24 h at 37°C. The cells that failed to pass through the pores and remained in the upper chamber were carefully wiped off with a cotton swab. Migrating cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde solution for 20 min. Next, the cells remaining in the chambers were stained in 200 µL 0.1% crystal violet for 30 min, followed by counting with a microscope in five random areas.

#### Flow cytometry

The cells were washed with PBS after trypsin digestion. Next, they were suspended in 80 µL of PBS, followed by the addition of 2 µL PE-CD133 antibody (Miltenyi Biotec) and 20 µL of FcR Blocking Reagent (Miltenyi Biotec). Under lightproof conditions, the mixture was incubated at 4°C for 10 min. Next, all the cells were washed thrice in PBS, followed by resuspension with 500 µL of PBS. The mixture was analyzed using a FACS Calibur Flow cytometer (BD Biosciences).

#### Animal experiments

BALB/c-nu mice were obtained from the Animal Experiment Center of Chongqing Medical University. The experiments were conducted in the animal facilities of the Animal Experiment Center of Chongging Medical University (12-h light/ dark cycle,  $27 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C,  $50\% \pm 10\%$  humidity). Nude mice were randomly divided into two groups of three mice each. MHCC-MTDH-LV cells (2 × 10<sup>6</sup> cells) were re-suspended in a complete culture medium. Next, 100 µL of cell suspension were subcutaneously injected into nude mouse (female, 4-6 wk old). The tumors were detached after 4 wk. Next, the tumor volume was calculated using the following formula: Length × width<sup>2</sup>/2. Tumor tissues were subjected to immunohistochemical staining (IHC) analysis. This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Second Hospital of Chongqing Medical University.

#### IHC

All the slides were dewaxed and gradually hydrated. Antigen extraction was performed using citrate buffer under high pressure and temperature conditions. All the slides were rinsed with PBS and incubated with goat serum for 10 min at RT. Next, the slides were exposed to anti-MTDH and anti-CD133 at 4°C overnight. Subsequently, horseradish peroxidaselabeled streptavidin was added, followed by the addition of DAB reagent. Tap water was dehydrated using an ethanol gradient. The slides were then washed twice with xylene and wrapped in neutral balsam. Protein expression levels were assessed using the ImageJ software. The average optical density was calculated by measuring the integrated optical density and the area of each image, which reflected the concentration per unit area of the target protein.

#### ssGSEA

The infiltration abundances of 28 immune cell species in TCGA samples were quantified using ssGSEA. The gene set data for the immune cells were downloaded from the website (https://www.cell.com/cms/10.1016/j.celrep.2016.12.019/). Box plots were constructed to compare immune cell differences between the groups. The R package used was "GSVA" [18], "ggplot2."

#### **TISIDB** database

TISIDB is an online analysis site for the analysis of tumor-immune interactions (http://cis.hku.hk/TISIDB/)[19]. To further investigate the immunological impact of MTDH in cancer, we analyzed and evaluated the TISIDB database through the "Immunomodulators" and "chemokine modules".

#### Statistical analysis

All the experiments were conducted at least thrice. Data were analyzed using R 4.1.2 and GraphPad Prism software. Student's t-test was used to compare two groups of continuous variables. The Kruskal-Wallis and Wilcox tests were used for non-parametric tests. A *P* value < 0.05 indicated statistical significance.

# RESULTS

#### MTDH is upregulated in HCC and positively associated with poor prognosis

To identify aberrant MTDH expression in HCC, we downloaded microarray gene profiling data from GEO (GSE14520/ GPL3921) and TCGA. In 50 normal liver tissues and 369 Liver cancer tissues from TCGA, MTDH mRNA expression was upregulated in liver tumor tissues. Similarly, MTDH expression was increased in the tumor in GSE14520 (n = 420; Figure 1A and B). MTDH expression was examined in human HCC (n = 9) and paracancerous tissues (n = 9) using IHC. According to these results, HCC tissues overexpressed *MTDH*, compared with the para-cancerous tissues (Figure 1C). Furthermore, we constructed the Kaplan-Meier curve of HCC using "Survival" and "Survminer" R packages. Shorter survival times were associated with higher MTDH (Figure 1D and E). A higher expression of MTDH was observed in liver cancer tissues than in normal liver tissues or para-cancerous tissues, which had impact on the prognosis of patients with liver cancer.



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Wang YY et al. Role of MTDH in HCC

Table 2 Primers used in this study					
Gene	Forward	Reverse			
Metadherin	5'-CCAGGCTCCTTCATCAACTT-3'	5'-AthAAGCAGCCACCAGAGATTG-3'			
CD133	5'-TGGATGCAGACCTTGACAACGT-3'	5'-ATACCTGCTACGACAGTCGTGGT-3'			
Nanog	5'-AATACCTCAGCCTCCAGCAGATG-3'	5'- TGCGTCACACCATTGCTATTCTTC -3'			
Oct4	5'-CAGGAGGCATTGCTGATGAT-3'	5'-GAAGGCTGGGGCTCATTT-3'			
GAPDH	5'-CAGGAGGCATTGCTGATGAT-3'	5'- GAAGGCTGGGGCTCATTT -3'			



**Figure 1 Metadherin overexpression has been linked to a worse prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma.** A and B: Metadherin (*MTDH*) mRNA expression in normal liver tissues compared with liver cancer tissues; C: Images of para-carcinoma (n = 9) and cancer tissues (n = 9) stained with *MTDH* by Immunohistochemical staining (scale bar = 200 µm); D and E: Patient's overall survival curves according to *MTDH* expression. <sup>a</sup>P < 0.001, <sup>b</sup>P < 0.01. Normal: Normal liver tissues; Cancer: Liver cancer tissues; Para-carcinoma: Para-cancerous tissue; MTDH: Metadherin; IHC: Immunohistochemical staining.

# MTDH promotes HCC cell migration and invasion

Two cell lines, Huh7 and MHCC-97H, were transfected with the related lentiviruses. Specifically, we used a blank control (LV-NC) *vs* overexpression (LV-OE) and a blank control (LV-NC) *vs* knockdown (LV-RNAi), to obtain stable overexpression and suppression of *MTDH*. Western blotting was performed to verify MTDH protein expression after transfection (Figure 2A). The migration and invasion assays showed that *MTDH* overexpression significantly accelerated the migration and invasion of MHCC-97H and Huh7 cells (Figure 2B). Conversely, *MTDH* knockdown cells exhibited lower potential for migration and invasion (Figure 2C). The wound healing assay confirmed that *MTDH* overexpression significantly promoted wound healing, whereas *MTDH* knockdown suppressed scratch wound healing in HCC cells (Figure 2D). These results indicate that high *MTDH* expression correlates positively with the migration and invasive abilities of HCC cells.

#### MTDH is associated with the CSCs phenotypes in HCC

To determine whether *MTDH* is related to the stem cell phenotype, we examined *MTDH* and HCC stemness using TCGA database. TCGA data showed a significant positive correlation between *MTDH* expression in HCC tissues and *CD133*, *NANOG*, and *Oct4* expression (*n* = 369; Figure 3A). Our previous research confirmed that liver CSCs (LCSCs) can be enriched using a serum-free stem cell medium to promote tumor sphere formation. Next, we performed SFM on MHCC-97H and Huh7 cells, followed by western blotting and qRT-PCR to determine MTDH expression in stem cell spheres and attached cells. Compared with liver cancer-adherent cells, LCSCs expressed increased mRNA levels of MTDH and the stem cell markers (*CD133*, *Oct4*, and *Nanog*; Figure 3B). The results showed that the protein expression levels of MTDH, CD133, and NANOG were higher than those in liver cancer adherent cells (Figure 3C). These results showed that MTDH was highly expressed in LCSCs.

Zaishideng® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Metadherin promotes proliferation, migration, and invasion of hepatocellular carcinoma cells. A: In Huh7 and MHCC-97H cells, Western blotting revealed the efficacy of Metadherin overexpression and knockdown; B and C: Characteristic images of trans-well invasion assays 24 h after culture; D: Images depicting scratch width at 0 h and 48 h post-scratch in cells captured using inverted microscopy.  $^{a}P < 0.05$ ,  $^{b}P < 0.01$ ,  $^{c}P < 0.001$ ,  $^{d}P < 0.0001$ . OE: Metadherin overexpression group; NC: Overexpression control group; RNAi: Metadherin knockdown group; RNAi-NC: MTDH knockdown control group.

# **Overexpression of MTDH enhances the LCSCs phenotypes**

TTo confirm that MTDH maintained stem-like phenotypes in HCC cells, stem cell markers were detected in MHCC-97H and Huh7 cell lines overexpressing MTDH (CD133, Oct4, Nanog). Through PCR experiments, we demonstrated that the markers of CSCs markers were higher in MTDH-overexpressing cells than in the NC groups (Figure 4A). MTDH-overexpressing Huh7 and MHCC-97H cells also expressed high levels of CD133 and Nanog protein (Figure 4B). A The sphere culture assay showed the formation of more spheres in MTDH-overexpressing Huh7 and MHCC-97H cells than in control cells (Figure 4C). Flow cytometry revealed that MTDH overexpression effectively increased the number of CD133+ HCC cells (Figure 4D). In addition, MTDH overexpression effectively enhanced CSCs phenotypes in HCC cells.

#### MTDH knockdown inhibits LCSCs phenotypes

The PCR results demonstrated that the mRNA expression of stem cell markers in MTDH-RNAi cells was lower than that in the NC group (Figure 5A). In contrast to the NC group, MTDH-RNAi cells showed lower expression of CD133 and

Raishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Metadherin correlates with the stemness properties in hepatocellular carcinoma. A: Correlation between Metadherin (MTDH) and CD133, Nanog, Oct4 in TCGA; B: Through quantitative reverse transcription PCR, the expression levels of MTDH, CD133, Nanog, Oct4 were measured in attached cells and tumor spheres in 97H and Huh7 cell lines. In tumor spheres, all the four genes were expressed at increased levels; C: MTDH, CD133, and Nanog were higher in attached cells than in tumor spheres. Gene GAPDH served as the internal reference. <sup>a</sup>P < 0.05, <sup>b</sup>P < 0.01, <sup>c</sup>P < 0.001, <sup>d</sup>P < 0.0001.CSC: Cancer stem cells; CC: Cancer cells.

Nanog (Figure 5B). The downregulation of MTDH reduced the numbers of both MHCC-97H and Huh7 cell spheres, compared with those in the control LV-NC group, as indicated by the results of the sphere culture assay (Figure 5C). The results of the immunofluorescence showed that Nanog fluorescence intensity was greater in the NC group than in the MTDH-RNAi group (Figure 5D). Taken together, these results confirm that the inhibition of MTDH expression attenuates the acquisition of the HCC stem cell phenotype.

# MTDH knockdown reduces tumor growth and CD133 expression in vivo

Male BALB/c nude mice were injected with LV-NC or LV-MTDH-RNAi MHCC-97H cells to evaluate the effect of MTDH on tumor growth. The MTDH-RNAi group exhibited a smaller tumor volume than the 97H-NC group, confirming that MTDH promotes tumor growth (Figure 6A and B). Images of hematoxylin and eosin-stained tumor tissues of nude mice are shown in Figure 6C. To further clarify the role of MTDH in the tumor stem cell phenotype, CD133 and MTDH proteins were detected by IHC in the tumor tissues of nude mice. We found that CD133 expression decreased with reduced MTDH expression (Figure 6D). Therefore, these results further suggest that MTDH overexpression promotes liver tumor growth and the CSCs phenotype.

# MTDH expression and immune cell infiltration

A significant association was observed between immune cell infiltration and survival in patients with HCC. Using ssGSEA, we quantified immune cell infiltration scores in HCC samples from TCGA to understand the relationship



Baishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 4 Metadherin overexpression promotes stem cell phenotypes and self- renewal in hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines. A and B: Through quantitative reverse transcription PCR polymerase chain reaction and Western blot, we determined Metadherin expression and stemness markers; C: The typical pictures of sphere formation assays from 97H-overexpression and Huh7-overexpression cells; D: Flow cytometric analysis of CD133<sup>+</sup> cells in 97H-overexpressing and Huh7-overexpressing roup; NC: Overexpression control group; MTDH: Metadherin.

between *MTDH* and infiltration. Firstly, the results demonstrated a significantly higher infiltration of activated B cell, immature B, memory B, activated CD8 T, gamma delta T, effector memory CD8 T, central memory CD8 T, and effector memory CD4 T cells in healthy tissue than in HCC. Similarly, higher infiltration of eosinophils, immature DCs, myeloid-derived suppressor cells, monocytes, macrophages, mast cells, monocytes, neutrophils, NK cells, NK T cells, and T helper (Th) cells were observed in healthy tissue than in HCC (Figure 7A). These findings suggest that immune cells are essential in the progression of HCC. Based on the median *MTDH* expression, we divided the liver cancer samples in TCGA into high and low *MTDH* expression groups and assessed immune cell infiltration in both groups. Notably, the levels of memory B (P < 0.0001), immature dendritic (P < 0.001), Th2 (P < 0.001), and central memory CD4<sup>+</sup> T (P < 0.01) cells were higher in the high *MTDH* expression group than that in the low group. In the low *MTDH* expression group, activated CD8 T cells (P < 0.0001), macrophages (P < 0.01), activated B cells (P < 0.01), effector memory CD8 T cells (P < 0.01), mast cells (P < 0.05), monocytes (P < 0.05), and Th1 cells (P < 0.05) were significantly increased



**Figure 5 Metadherin downregulation inhibits hepatocellular carcinoma stem cell phenotypes.** A: mRNA expression of Metadherin (*MTDH*), *CD133*, *Nanog*, and *Oct4* in 97H and Huh7-RNAi; B: In comparison with that of MTDH-LV-RNAi, the protein expression of CD133 and Nanog was elevated in MHCC-97H-NC and Huh7-NC cells; C: Images depicting sphere formation by 97H-RNAi and Huh7-RNAi cells; D: Immunofluorescence images of *Nanog* (red) in 97H-LV and Huh7-LV samples. DAPI (blue) was used to stain the nuclei. <sup>a</sup>P < 0.05, <sup>b</sup>P < 0.01, <sup>c</sup>P < 0.001. RNAi: Metadherin knockdown group; RNAi-NC: Metadherin knockdown control group.

#### (Figure 7B).

We examined the relationship between immune cells and *MTDH* expression (Figure 8A). Immature dendritic (r = 0.28, P < 0.0001; Figure 8B), Th2 (r = 0.26, P < 0.0001; Figure 8C), memory B (r = 0.25, P < 0.0001; Figure 8D), central memory CD4 T (r = 0.22, P < 0.0001; Figure 8E), central memory CD8 T, NK T, activated dendritic, activated CD4 T, and NK cells also showed a positive relationship with *MTDH*. Activated CD8 T cells (r = -0.23, P < 0.0001; Figure 8F), eosinophils (r = -0.13, P < 0.05; Figure 8G), activated B cells (r = -0.12, P < 0.05; Figure 8H), monocytes (r = -0.12, P < 0.05; Figure 8I), macrophages, and mast cells showed a negative correlation with *MTDH*.

#### Correlation of MTDH expression with immunomodulators and chemokines

ICIs (immune checkpoint inhibitors) are gaining increasing attention as tumor immunotherapy strategies for different types of cancers, facilitating improved prognosis in some patients. *MTDH* and the various immunosuppressive agents in the TISIDB database did not show significant correlation, as indicated by our online analysis (Figure 9A). However, in the analysis of correlation with immunostimulants (Figure 9B), a positive correlation was found between *MTDH* and *MICB* (r = 0.207,  $P = 5.76 \times 10^{-5}$ ; Figure 9C), *NT5E* (r = 0.201,  $P = 9.8 \times 10^{-5}$ ; Figure 9D), and *TNFSF14* (r = 0.143, P = 0.00576; Figure 9E). Based on these results, *MTDH* may be involved in the regulation of tumor immunity.

Chemokines and their receptors induce cell migration. The expression of *MTDH* correlated with that of chemokines and receptors in immune cells, based on the data from the TISIDB database (Figure 10A and B). In HCC, *MTDH* expression positively correlated with *CXCL2* (r = 0.224,  $P = 1.34 \times 10^{-5}$ ; Figure 10C) and negatively correlated with *CX3CL1* (r = 0.245,  $P = 1.73 \times 10^{-6}$ ; Figure 10D) and *CXCL12* (r = 0.208,  $P = 5.4 \times 10^{-5}$ ; Figure 10E). However, *MTDH* expression was not significantly correlated with chemokine receptor expression.



**Figure 6 Metadherin stimulates tumorigenesis** *in vivo.* A: Tumors derived from nude mice injected with 97H-RNAi (n = 3), 97H-NC cell (n = 3); B: Tumor volume showed that the inhibition of Metadherin (*MTDH*) significantly inhibited tumor growth; C and D: Representative immunohistochemical staining (IHC) images of tumors from nude mice stained with CD133 and MTDH. Histograms show the IHC score. Histograms show the IHC score (scale bars = 200 µm). <sup>a</sup>P < 0.01, <sup>b</sup>P < 0.001, <sup>c</sup>P < 0.0001. RNAi: Metadherin knockdown group; RNAi-NC: Metadherin knockdown control group.

# DISCUSSION

This study demonstrated that *MTDH* expression was higher in HCC tissues than in normal liver tissues and was associated with shorter survival time, stronger migration, and invasive ability. This study also focused on the effects of *MTDH* on stemness acquisition and immune infiltration of HCC cells. *MTDH* promotes stemness in HCC cells and high *MTDH* expression may impede the effectiveness of cancer immunotherapy. The findings of this study will provide additional information that can enhance the understanding of the prognosis and treatment of HCC patients.

It has been reported that the expression level of *MTDH* correlates with serum alpha-fetoprotein level[20], microvascular infiltration, tumor differentiation, and TNM stage[21]. In addition, the 1-year, 3-year and 5-year overall survival (OS) rates of the high-expression group were significantly lower than those of the low-expression group, and the cumulative recurrence rate was significantly higher than that of the low-expression group[21]. Univariate and multivariate analyses identified AEG-1 as an independent prognostic factor for OS and recurrence[22]. The findings of Yoo *et al*[22] showed that *MTDH* expression gradually increased in phases I-IV and from high differentiation to low differentiation. Differential expression, immunohistochemistry, and survival analysis showed similar results. The findings indicate that *MTDH* is closely associated with poor clinical prognosis of HCC. Additional studies have revealed that *MTDH* participates in proliferation, tumor progression, invasiveness[23], and metastasis[13]. We performed invasion, migration, and scratch assays on HCC cell lines with overexpressed and under-expressed *MTDH*. The results suggest that *MTDH* plays a role in HCC progression, which is consistent with the report of Yoo *et al*[22].

CSCs are capable of promoting metastasis and enhancing resistance to tumor therapies, including liver cancer therapy [24]. *CD133, NANOG, Oct4,* and several other molecular markers related to stemness maintenance in human CSCs have been reported[25,26]. Notably, *CD133* is a surface marker for LCSCs. The co-expression of *Nanog* and *OCT4* is associated with aggressive tumor behavior and worse clinical outcomes in HCC cells. A study by Hu *et al*[27] found strong correlations among *MTDH, CD133,* and *SOX2* Levels in gliomas. However, the contribution of *MTDH* to the tumor stem cell phenotype in HCC remains unclear. We explored the correlation between *MTDH* and stem cell markers in HCC using correlation analysis and experimental studies. The three stemness markers in the TCGA LIHC dataset exhibited positive correlation with *MTDH* expression. Additionally, MTDH expression increased in HCC spheres. The overexpression of *MTDH* in HCC cells enhanced their self-renewal ability, increased the proportion of CD133<sup>+</sup> cells, and promoted the expression of tumor stemness markers. However, after *MTDH* knockdown, stem cell markers were less expressed, and self-renewal was suppressed. The tumorigenic experiments were performed using nude mice. The primary tumor size was reduced in the *MTDH*-suppressed group, with decreased CD133 protein expression. These results confirm that *MTDH* plays a regulatory role in HCC stem cells Therefore, in this study, we demonstrated that *MTDH* promoted an increase in tumor stem cells in HCC cells, which could lead to a worse prognosis.

Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



**Figure 7 Infiltration of immune cells in TCGA samples using ssGSEA.** A: Immune cell infiltration between LIHC samples and normal samples; B: Different immune cell infiltration patterns in high and low expression samples of Metadherin. ns: Not significant.  $^{\circ}P < 0.05$ ;  $^{\circ}P < 0.01$ ;  $^{\circ}P < 0.001$ .

MTDH can influence the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin, Ha-ras, and PI3K/Akt pathways. The Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway maintains the CSCs phenotype[28]. In gastric cancer, MTDH forms a complex with  $\beta$ -Catenin and LEF1, facilitating the promotion of  $\beta$ -catenin protein translocation and activation of genes downstream of Wnt signaling[29]. CD133 glioma cells overexpressing MTDH maintain stemness and drug resistance through Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin protein signaling[27]. The precise mechanism through which MTDH regulates CSCs in HCC should be further elucidated in the future.

MTDH increases the expression of PD-L1 and up-regulates the transcriptional activity of PD-L1 through the  $\beta$ -catenin/ lev-1 signaling pathway. Patients with HCC and high MTDH and PD-L1 expression may benefit more from PD-1 monoclonal therapy. This suggests that MTDH is associated with immunity against HCC[30]. Immunotherapy resistance in tumor cells is related to components outside the tumor cells in the tumor microenvironment. Mature DCs can induce specific immune responses in the body, acting as anti-infection and anti-tumor agents. Conversely, immature DCs can inhibit the function of antigen-specific effector T cells in the body to further induce immune tolerance. There are different



Figure 8 Immune infiltration and Metadherin expression levels. A: Metadherin (MTDH) expression levels correlated with infiltration of immune cells; B:

WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

**Raishideng**®

Correlations between *MTDH* and immature dendritic cells (r = 0.28, P < 0.0001); C: Correlations between *MTDH* and T helper 2 cells (r = 0.26, P < 0.0001); D: Correlations between *MTDH* and memory B cells (r = 0.25, P < 0.0001); E: Correlations between *MTDH* and central memory CD4 T cells (r = 0.22, P < 0.0001); F: Correlations between *MTDH* and activated CD8 T cell (r = -0.23, P < 0.0001); G: Correlations between *MTDH* and eosinophils (r = -0.13, P < 0.05); H: Correlations between *MTDH* and activated B cells (r = -0.12, P < 0.05); H: Correlations between *MTDH* and activated B cells (r = -0.23, P < 0.0001); G: Correlations between *MTDH* and eosinophils (r = -0.13, P < 0.05); H: Correlations between *MTDH* and activated B cells (r = -0.12, P < 0.05); I: Correlations between *MTDH* and monocytes (r = -0.12, P < 0.05). MTDH: Metadherin.



Figure 9 Correlation between Metadherin expression and immunomodulators. A and B: Heat map showing the correlation between Metadherin ( *MTDH*) and immunosuppressive agents and immunostimulants in hepatocellular carcinoma; C: Correlations between *MTDH* and *MICB*; D: Correlations between *MTDH* and *NT5E*; E: Correlations between *MTDH* and *TNFSF14*. MTDH: Metadherin.

subpopulations of CD4<sup>+</sup> Th cells, which include Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells. It has been shown that Th2 cytokines (IL-4 and IL-10) promote tumor growth and metastasis, while Th1 cytokines (IL-2 and TNF- $\alpha$ ) are associated with a good prognosis in HCC[31,32]. We found that a high level of *MTDH* expression positively correlated with an increase in Th2 cells and immature DCs. We speculated that *MTDH* may increase immune tolerance and metastasis of tumor cells by regulating the infiltration level of immature DC or Th2 cells, which in turn leads to poor prognosis in patients. In contrast, *MTDH* exhibited negative correlation with the infiltration levels of activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, eosinophils, activated B cells, and monocytes. These findings suggest that *MTDH* plays a critical role in regulating tumor immune infiltration in HCC.

*MTDH* significantly correlated with the immunostimulants (*MICB*, *NT5E*, and *TNFSF14*). Chemokines initiate lymphocyte infiltration early in the development of malignancies to enhance the activities of antitumor agents. Chemokines reduce apoptosis, promote proliferation, enrich CSCs in tumors, and increase the resistance of tumor cells to therapy[33]. Analyzing the TISIB database revealed a positive correlation between *MTDH* and *CXCL2* expression levels and a negative correlation between *MTDH*, *CXCL12*, and *CX3CL1* expression levels. *CXCL2* promotes the invasion and migration of HCC cells[34]. The recurrence rate of intrahepatic or extrahepatic metastases is lower in patients with HCC expressing high levels of *CX3CL1* and its receptor, *CX3CR1*[35]. HPMEC (human lung microvascular endothelial cells) exhibit an MTDH-mediated attraction towards suspension-cultured cells through the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis, suggesting that MTDH promotes HCC cell metastasis through the CXCR4/CXCL12 pathway[36]. Our analysis showed that MTDH expression negatively correlated with *CCXCL12* and *CXCR4*, but not significantly with *CXCR4*. This finding was



Figure 10 Chemokines and chemokine receptor correlates with Metadherin. A and B: A correlation analysis of Metadherin (MTDH) and chemokines and the receptors in LIHC is presented as a heat map; C: Correlations between MTDH and CXCL2; D: Correlations between MTDH and CX3CL1; E: Correlations between MTDH and CXCL12. MTDH: Metadherin.

inconsistent with our anticipated results. Exploring the interactions and the associated mechanisms between CCXCL12 and MTDH will further elucidate the role of MTDH in HCC.

This study had some limitations. The exact mechanism through which MTDH influences HCC stem cells needs further investigation both in vivo and in vitro. Additionally, although we found that MTDH expression was closely associated with immune infiltration and prognosis, a more in-depth investigation is essential to elucidate the exact mechanism of MTDH-mediated immune infiltration.

# CONCLUSION

High MTDH expression is associated with poor prognosis in HCC. MTDH may influence HCC progression through the regulation of tumor stemness and immune infiltration, providing additional evidence for the possible role of MTDH as a potential molecular marker of HCC.

# **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Metadherin (MTDH) is a key oncogene in most cancer types, including hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Tumor stem cells are associated with tumorigenesis, metastasis, cell proliferation, and postoperative recurrence. The type and number



Raishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

of immune cells in the HCC microenvironment have prognostic value and can influence the response to immunotherapy. The impacts of MTDH expression on stem cell characteristics and immune cell infiltration in HCC remain unclear.

#### Research motivation

MTDH is a key oncogene in most cancers. It is important to explore the impact of MTDH on the prognosis of HCC patients and determine whether it affects tumor progression by influencing stem cell phenotype and immune infiltration.

#### Research objectives

This study aimed to investigate the effects of MTDH on tumor stemness and immunity in HCC.

#### Research methods

Differential expression of MTDH in tissues was detected using TCGA and GEO databases, and immunohistochemistry was performed on HCC and para-cancerous tissue samples. MTDH was stably downregulated or overexpressed by lentiviral transfection in both HCC cell types. Invasiveness and migration were assessed using stromal infiltration and wound healing assays. HCC stem cells were obtained by culturing spheroids in a serum-free medium. Flow cytometry, immunofluorescence, and sphere formation assays were used to identify stem-like cells. Relevant gene expression was detected through western blotting and real-time quantitative reverse transcription-PCR. The effect of MTDH inhibition on tumor growth was investigated using in vivo tumor formation assays. Correlations between MTDH and immune cells, immunomodulators, and chemokines were analyzed using ssGSEA and the TISIDB database.

#### Research results

This study confirmed that the expression of MTDH in HCC tissues was higher than that in normal liver tissues and that the high expression of MTDH resulted in poor prognosis of patients with HCC. HCC cells overexpressing MTDH exhibited stronger invasion and migration abilities, exhibited a stem cell-like phenotype, and formed spheres, whereas MTDH inhibition attenuated these effects. MTDH inhibition suppressed tumor growth and CD133 expression in vivo. Correlation analysis showed that MTDH exhibited positive correlation with immature dendritic cells (DCs), T helper (Th)2 cells, central memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, memory B cells, activated DCs, natural killer (NK) T cells, NK cells, activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, and central memory CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. The results also showed that MTDH exhibited negative correlation with activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, eosinophils, activated B cells, monocytes, macrophages, and mast cells. Correlation analysis of MTDH expression with immunomodulators and chemokines showed that MTDH levels positively correlated with CXCL2 expression and negatively correlated with CX3CL1 and CXCL12 expression.

#### Research conclusions

In HCC, MTDH expression is increased, leading to poor prognosis. MTDH promotes the acquisition of tumor cell stemness and tumor growth in HCC, influencing immune infiltration and immunotherapy.

#### Research perspectives

Through database analysis, as well as in vivo and in vitro experiments, we confirmed that MTDH leads to poor prognosis in patients with HCC, promotes the acquisition of the tumor stem cell phenotype, and influences immune infiltration. The exact mechanism through which MTDH influences HCC stem cell and immune cell infiltration requires further exploration. This may provide a scientific basis for further understanding of the prognosis and treatment of patients with HCC.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Institute of Life Sciences, Chongqing Medical University for technical support.

# FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Wang YY and Shen MM performed the experiments and wrote the manuscript; Gao J revised the manuscript; all the authors have approved the final manuscript.

Supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 82173359; Basic Research and Frontier Exploration Project of Chongqing and Technology Commission, No. cstc2018jcyjAX0181; and Kuanren Talents Program of The Second Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University.

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: All procedures involving animals were reviewed and approved by The Ethics Committee of the Second Hospital of Chongqing Medical University [Protocol No. 2023(4)].

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** No conflict of interest has been declared by any of the authors.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.



ARRIVE guidelines statement: The authors have read the ARRIVE Guidelines, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the ARRIVE Guidelines.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Yi-Ying Wang 0000-0001-7550-4826; Jian Gao 0000-0002-9799-160X.

S-Editor: Lin C L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YX

# REFERENCES

- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, Bray F. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of 1 Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2021; 71: 209-249 [PMID: 33538338 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21660]
- Kim M, Lee SJ, Shin S, Park KS, Park SY, Lee CH. Novel natural killer cell-mediated cancer immunotherapeutic activity of anisomycin 2 against hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Sci Rep 2018; 8: 10668 [PMID: 30006566 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-018-29048-8]
- Wang T, Wu H, Liu S, Lei Z, Qin Z, Wen L, Liu K, Wang X, Guo Y, Liu Q, Liu L, Wang J, Lin L, Mao C, Zhu X, Xiao H, Bian X, Chen D, 3 Xu C, Wang B. SMYD3 controls a Wnt-responsive epigenetic switch for ASCL2 activation and cancer stem cell maintenance. Cancer Lett 2018; 430: 11-24 [PMID: 29746925 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2018.05.003]
- 4 Rhee H, Chung T, Yoo JE, Nahm JH, Woo HY, Choi GH, Han DH, Park YN. Gross type of hepatocellular carcinoma reflects the tumor hypoxia, fibrosis, and stemness-related marker expression. Hepatol Int 2020; 14: 239-248 [PMID: 31993941 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-020-10012-6]
- Cao J, Zhao M, Liu J, Zhang X, Pei Y, Wang J, Yang X, Shen B, Zhang J. RACK1 Promotes Self-Renewal and Chemoresistance of Cancer 5 Stem Cells in Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma through Stabilizing Nanog. Theranostics 2019; 9: 811-828 [PMID: 30809310 DOI: 10.7150/thno.29271]
- Liu F, Kong X, Lv L, Gao J. TGF-B1 acts through miR-155 to down-regulate TP53INP1 in promoting epithelial-mesenchymal transition and 6 cancer stem cell phenotypes. Cancer Lett 2015; 359: 288-298 [PMID: 25633840 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2015.01.030]
- Xu N, Li X, Watanabe M, Ueki H, Hu H, Li N, Araki M, Wada K, Xu A, Liu C, Nasu Y, Huang P. Induction of cells with prostate cancer 7 stem-like properties from mouse induced pluripotent stem cells via conditioned medium. Am J Cancer Res 2018; 8: 1624-1632 [PMID: 30210930]
- 8 Barsch M, Salié H, Schlaak AE, Zhang Z, Hess M, Mayer LS, Tauber C, Otto-Mora P, Ohtani T, Nilsson T, Wischer L, Winkler F, Manne S, Rech A, Schmitt-Graeff A, Bronsert P, Hofmann M, Neumann-Haefelin C, Boettler T, Fichtner-Feigl S, van Boemmel F, Berg T, Rimassa L, Di Tommaso L, Saeed A, D'Alessio A, Pinato DJ, Bettinger D, Binder H, John Wherry E, Schultheiss M, Thimme R, Bengsch B. T-cell exhaustion and residency dynamics inform clinical outcomes in hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2022; 77: 397-409 [PMID: 35367533 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2022.02.032]
- 9 Garnelo M, Tan A, Her Z, Yeong J, Lim CJ, Chen J, Lim KH, Weber A, Chow P, Chung A, Ooi LL, Toh HC, Heikenwalder M, Ng IO, Nardin A, Chen Q, Abastado JP, Chew V. Interaction between tumour-infiltrating B cells and T cells controls the progression of hepatocellular carcinoma. Gut 2017; 66: 342-351 [PMID: 26669617 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-310814]
- Suthen S, Lim CJ, Nguyen PHD, Dutertre CA, Lai HLH, Wasser M, Chua C, Lim TKH, Leow WO, Loh TJ, Wan WK, Pang YH, Soon G, 10 Cheow PC, Kam JH, Iyer S, Kow A, Tam WL, Shuen TWH, Toh HC, Dan YY, Bonney GK, Chan CY, Chung A, Goh BKP, Zhai W, Ginhoux F, Chow PKH, Albani S, Chew V. Hypoxia-driven immunosuppression by Treg and type-2 conventional dendritic cells in HCC. Hepatology 2022; 76: 1329-1344 [PMID: 35184329 DOI: 10.1002/hep.32419]
- Ducimetière L, Lucchiari G, Litscher G, Nater M, Heeb L, Nuñez NG, Wyss L, Burri D, Vermeer M, Gschwend J, Moor AE, Becher B, van 11 den Broek M, Tugues S. Conventional NK cells and tissue-resident ILC1s join forces to control liver metastasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2021; 118 [PMID: 34183415 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.2026271118]
- Sarkar D, Fisher PB. AEG-1/MTDH/LYRIC: clinical significance. Adv Cancer Res 2013; 120: 39-74 [PMID: 23889987 DOI: 12 10.1016/B978-0-12-401676-7.00002-4]
- Chen J, Jia Y, Jia ZH, Zhu Y, Jin YM. Silencing the expression of MTDH increases the radiation sensitivity of SKOV3 ovarian cancer cells 13 and reduces their proliferation and metastasis. Int J Oncol 2018; 53: 2180-2190 [PMID: 30226587 DOI: 10.3892/ijo.2018.4541]
- Zhu K, Dai Z, Pan Q, Wang Z, Yang GH, Yu L, Ding ZB, Shi GM, Ke AW, Yang XR, Tao ZH, Zhao YM, Qin Y, Zeng HY, Tang ZY, Fan J, 14 Zhou J. Metadherin promotes hepatocellular carcinoma metastasis through induction of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Clin Cancer Res 2011; 17: 7294-7302 [PMID: 21976539 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-1327]
- 15 Emdad L, Lee SG, Su ZZ, Jeon HY, Boukerche H, Sarkar D, Fisher PB. Astrocyte elevated gene-1 (AEG-1) functions as an oncogene and regulates angiogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009; 106: 21300-21305 [PMID: 19940250 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0910936106]
- Zhang W, Zhangyuan G, Wang F, Jin K, Shen H, Zhang L, Yuan X, Wang J, Zhang H, Yu W, Huang R, Xu X, Yin Y, Zhong G, Lin A, Sun 16 B. The zinc finger protein Miz1 suppresses liver tumorigenesis by restricting hepatocyte-driven macrophage activation and inflammation. Immunity 2021; 54: 1168-1185.e8 [PMID: 34038747 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2021.04.027]
- Jin C, Han-Hua D, Qiu-Meng L, Deng N, Peng-Chen D, Jie M, Lei X, Xue-Wu Z, Hui-Fang L, Yan C, Xiao-Ping C, Bi-Xiang Z. MTDH-17 stabilized DDX17 promotes tumor initiation and progression through interacting with YB1 to induce EGFR transcription in Hepatocellular



Carcinoma. Oncogene 2023; 42: 169-183 [PMID: 36385375 DOI: 10.1038/s41388-022-02545-x]

- Hänzelmann S, Castelo R, Guinney J. GSVA: gene set variation analysis for microarray and RNA-seq data. BMC Bioinformatics 2013; 14: 7 18 [PMID: 23323831 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2105-14-7]
- 19 Yu G, Wang LG, Han Y, He QY. clusterProfiler: an R package for comparing biological themes among gene clusters. OMICS 2012; 16: 284-287 [PMID: 22455463 DOI: 10.1089/omi.2011.0118]
- Al-sheikh NM, El-Hefnway SM, Abuamer AM, Dala AG. Metadherin mRNA expression in hepatocellular carcinoma. Egypt J Medical Hum 20 Genet 2018; 19: 391-397 [DOI: 10.1016/j.ejmhg.2018.02.002]
- Jung HI, Ahn T, Bae SH, Chung JC, Kim H, Chin S, Jeong D, Cho HD, Lee MS, Kim HC, Kim CH, Baek MJ. Astrocyte elevated gene-1 21 overexpression in hepatocellular carcinoma: an independent prognostic factor. Ann Surg Treat Res 2015; 88: 77-85 [PMID: 25692118 DOI: 10.4174/astr.2015.88.2.77]
- 22 Yoo BK, Emdad L, Su ZZ, Villanueva A, Chiang DY, Mukhopadhyay ND, Mills AS, Waxman S, Fisher RA, Llovet JM, Fisher PB, Sarkar D. Astrocyte elevated gene-1 regulates hepatocellular carcinoma development and progression. J Clin Invest 2009; 119: 465-477 [PMID: 19221438 DOI: 10.1172/JCI36460]
- Tokunaga E, Nakashima Y, Yamashita N, Hisamatsu Y, Okada S, Akiyoshi S, Aishima S, Kitao H, Morita M, Maehara Y. Overexpression of 23 metadherin/MTDH is associated with an aggressive phenotype and a poor prognosis in invasive breast cancer. Breast Cancer 2014; 21: 341-349 [PMID: 22903204 DOI: 10.1007/s12282-012-0398-2]
- Chen P, Hsu WH, Han J, Xia Y, DePinho RA. Cancer Stemness Meets Immunity: From Mechanism to Therapy. Cell Rep 2021; 34: 108597 24 [PMID: 33406434 DOI: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.108597]
- Vlashi E, Pajonk F. Cancer stem cells, cancer cell plasticity and radiation therapy. Semin Cancer Biol 2015; 31: 28-35 [PMID: 25025713 DOI: 25 10.1016/j.semcancer.2014.07.001]
- Liu F, Kong X, Lv L, Gao J. MiR-155 targets TP53INP1 to regulate liver cancer stem cell acquisition and self-renewal. FEBS Lett 2015; 589: 26 500-506 [PMID: 25601564 DOI: 10.1016/j.febslet.2015.01.009]
- Hu B, Emdad L, Kegelman TP, Shen XN, Das SK, Sarkar D, Fisher PB. Astrocyte Elevated Gene-1 Regulates β-Catenin Signaling to Maintain 27 Glioma Stem-like Stemness and Self-Renewal. Mol Cancer Res 2017; 15: 225-233 [PMID: 27903708 DOI: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-16-0239]
- Mao J, Fan S, Ma W, Fan P, Wang B, Zhang J, Wang H, Tang B, Zhang Q, Yu X, Wang L, Song B, Li L. Roles of Wnt/β-catenin signaling in 28 the gastric cancer stem cells proliferation and salinomycin treatment. Cell Death Dis 2014; 5: e1039 [PMID: 24481453 DOI: 10.1038/cddis.2013.515
- Pandit H, Li Y, Li X, Zhang W, Li S, Martin RCG. Enrichment of cancer stem cells via β-catenin contributing to the tumorigenesis of 29 hepatocellular carcinoma. BMC Cancer 2018; 18: 783 [PMID: 30075764 DOI: 10.1186/s12885-018-4683-0]
- 30 Wan JL, Wang B, Wu ML, Li J, Gong RM, Song LN, Zhang HS, Zhu GQ, Chen SP, Cai JL, Xing XX, Wang YD, Yang Y, Cai CZ, Huang R, Liu H, Dai Z. MTDH antisense oligonucleotides reshape the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment to sensitize Hepatocellular Carcinoma to immune checkpoint blockade therapy. Cancer Lett 2022; 541: 215750 [PMID: 35609735 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2022.215750]
- Zhou L, Chong MM, Littman DR. Plasticity of CD4+ T cell lineage differentiation. Immunity 2009; 30: 646-655 [PMID: 19464987 DOI: 31 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.05.001]
- Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Balkwill F. Cancer-related inflammation. Nature 2008; 454: 436-444 [PMID: 18650914 DOI: 32 10.1038/nature07205]
- Morein D, Erlichman N, Ben-Baruch A. Beyond Cell Motility: The Expanding Roles of Chemokines and Their Receptors in Malignancy. 33 Front Immunol 2020; 11: 952 [PMID: 32582148 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00952]
- Lu Y, Li S, Ma L, Li Y, Zhang X, Peng Q, Mo C, Huang L, Qin X, Liu Y. Type conversion of secretomes in a 3D TAM2 and HCC cell co-34 culture system and functional importance of CXCL2 in HCC. Sci Rep 2016; 6: 24558 [PMID: 27117207 DOI: 10.1038/srep24558]
- Matsubara T, Ono T, Yamanoi A, Tachibana M, Nagasue N. Fractalkine-CX3CR1 axis regulates tumor cell cycle and deteriorates prognosis 35 after radical resection for hepatocellular carcinoma. J Surg Oncol 2007; 95: 241-249 [PMID: 17323338 DOI: 10.1002/jso.20642]
- Zhou Z, Deng H, Yan W, Luo M, Tu W, Xia Y, He J, Han P, Fu Y, Tian D. AEG-1 promotes anoikis resistance and orientation chemotaxis in 36 hepatocellular carcinoma cells. PLoS One 2014; 9: e100372 [PMID: 24941119 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0100372]



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com
WŨ

# World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 919-942

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.919

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

## **Basic Study** Lipid metabolism-related long noncoding RNA RP11-817I4.1 promotes fatty acid synthesis and tumor progression in hepatocellular carcinoma

Ren-Yong Wang, Jia-Ling Yang, Ning Xu, Jia Xu, Shao-Hua Yang, Dao-Ming Liang, Jin-Ze Li, Hong Zhu

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

## Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Bredt LC, Brazil

Received: November 2, 2023 Peer-review started: November 2, 2023 First decision: December 6, 2023 Revised: December 24, 2023 Accepted: January 27, 2024 Article in press: January 27, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



Ren-Yong Wang, Ning Xu, Shao-Hua Yang, Dao-Ming Liang, Hong Zhu, Second Affiliated Hospital of Kunming Medical University, Kunming 650106, Yunnan Province, China

Jia-Ling Yang, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing 211166, Jiangsu Province, China

Jia Xu, Wuhan Blood Center, Wuhan 430030, Hubei Province, China

Jin-Ze Li, Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, The Third People's Hospital of Hubei Province, Wuhan 430071, Hubei Province, China

Corresponding author: Hong Zhu, PhD, Professor, Second Affiliated Hospital of Kunming Medical University, No. 374 Dian-Mian Avenue, Wuhua District, Kunming 650106, Yunnan Province, China. zhuhong@kmmu.edu.cn

## Abstract

## BACKGROUND

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is one of the most common types of tumors. The influence of lipid metabolism disruption on the development of HCC has been demonstrated in published studies.

## AIM

To establish an HCC prognostic model for lipid metabolism-related long noncoding RNAs (LMR-lncRNAs) and conduct in-depth research on the specific role of novel LMR-lncRNAs in HCC.

## **METHODS**

Correlation and differential expression analyses of The Cancer Genome Atlas data were used to identify differentially expressed LMR-lncRNAs. Quantitative realtime polymerase chain reaction analysis was used to evaluate the expression of LMR-IncRNAs. Nile red staining was employed to observe intracellular lipid levels. The interaction between RP11-817I4.1, miR-3120-3p, and ATP citrate lyase (ACLY) was validated through the performance of dual-luciferase reporter gene and RIP assays.

RESULTS



Wang RY et al. RP11-817I4.1 promotes fatty-acid synthesis in HCC

Three LMR-lncRNAs (negative regulator of antiviral response, RNA transmembrane and coiled-coil domain family 1 antisense RNA 1, and RP11-817I4.1) were identified as predictive markers for HCC patients and were utilized in the construction of risk models. Additionally, proliferation, migration, and invasion were reduced by RP11-817I4.1 knockdown. An increase in lipid levels in HCC cells was significantly induced by RP11-817I4.1 through the miR-3120-3p/ACLY axis.

#### CONCLUSION

LMR-lncRNAs have the capacity to predict the clinical characteristics and prognoses of HCC patients, and the discovery of a novel LMR-lncRNAs, RP11-817I4.1, revealed its role in promoting lipid accumulation, thereby accelerating the onset and progression of HCC.

Key Words: Hepatocellular carcinoma; Lipid metabolism; Immune microenvironment; Prognostic markers; Metabolic reprogramming

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** In the current study, we investigated the functions of lipid metabolism-related long noncoding RNAs (LMR-lncRNAs) in assessing and forecasting the prognosis of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), and established an accurate and reliable lipid metabolism-related risk score model for prediction. In particular, we focused on a novel LMR-lncRNA, RP11-817I4.1, which proved its important regulatory role in HCC lipid metabolism and tumor progression and showed therapeutic potential. Our findings will be extremely beneficial in understanding the probable molecular biological processes of HCC and discovering novel prognostic indicators and molecular targets.

**Citation:** Wang RY, Yang JL, Xu N, Xu J, Yang SH, Liang DM, Li JZ, Zhu H. Lipid metabolism-related long noncoding RNA RP11-817I4.1 promotes fatty acid synthesis and tumor progression in hepatocellular carcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol* 2024; 30(8): 919-942

**URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/919.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.919

## INTRODUCTION

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is among the most common malignant tumors and ranks as the fourth leading cause of cancer-related fatalities globally[1]. Although surgical resection is an effective therapy for HCC, even patients in the early stages experience higher recurrence rates[2]. HCC is characterized by its rarity, poor prognosis, and frequent recurrence. Despite significant advancements in improving the prognosis of HCC patients, the 5-year survival rate remains low[3]. Therefore, further exploration of the pathogenesis and development of HCC, along with the discovery of novel diagnostic and prognostic indicators, is essential to identify potential therapeutic targets for enhancing patient survival and achieving precision treatment.

Mounting evidence underscores the significance of metabolic reprogramming in both the initiation and progression of carcinomas[4,5]. Due to their rapid growth and adaptability to changes in the tumor microenvironment (TME), cancer cells necessitate metabolic reprogramming to meet their high-energy demands[6]. One of the most prominent metabolic dysregulations observed in tumor cells is lipid metabolic reprogramming, a phenomenon that has garnered increasing attention[7]. HCC serves as a significant site for lipid metabolism and is associated with various lipid metabolic abnormalities[8]. Previous studies have established a connection between HCC and abnormal metabolic alterations, including increased de novo fatty acid synthesis, reduced oxidation, and modified phosphatidylcholine metabolic activity [9]. These metabolic pathways generate intermediate energy sources that facilitate HCC cell growth, proliferation, and metastasis[10]. An in-depth examination of the alterations in the TME is imperative for assessing the prognostic and therapeutic implications for HCC patients, as the proliferation of HCC cells in the body is intricately linked to the support provided by the tumor milieu[11]. Emerging evidence suggests that the TME of HCC may include numerous metabolic irregularities, with altered lipid metabolism being the most prominent among them, which has been gaining significant attention in recent years.

Noncoding RNAs longer than 200 nucleotides are long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs)[12]. Recent studies suggest that lncRNAs may modulate fatty acid metabolism and affect tumor development[13]. Moreover, the sterol regulatory element binding protein (SREBP) transcription factor, apolipoprotein, triglyceride (TG) metabolism, and macrophage cholesterol absorption and efflux are other pathways through which lncRNAs impact lipid metabolism[14,15]. For example, it has been revealed that metastasis associated lung adenocarcinoma transcript 1 binds to SREBP-1c in hepatoma carcinoma and can maintain the stability of nuclear SREBP-1c protein through the ubiquitin-protease pathway, leading to lipid metabolism abnormalities in HepG2 hepatocytes[16]. In general, lncRNAs participate in the regulation of numerous genes associated with lipid metabolism in tumor cells[17,18].

The objective of this research was to assess the potential predictive value of lipid metabolism-related lncRNAs (LMRlncRNAs) in HCC patients by integrating clinical data with the expression levels of relevant lncRNAs. Subsequently, three lncRNAs [negative regulator of antiviral response (NRAV), RNA transmembrane and coiled-coil domain family 1 antisense RNA 1 (TMCC1-AS1), and RP11-817I4.1] that were differentially expressed in the The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) cohort and among lipid metabolism-related genes were used to establish the lipid metabolism-related risk score model (LMRRSM) for predicting the prognosis of HCC using univariate and multivariate Cox regression and Least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression analyses. Receiver Operating Characteristic Curve (ROC) were generated to assess the specificity and sensitivity of the models. We developed a personalized prognostic characteristic model for patients with HCC by comprehensively analyzing the expression status and prognostic landscape of LMR lncRNAs. Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) confirmed the differential expression of RP11-817I4.1 between HCC cells and adjacent normal tissues. Loss-of-function assays revealed the biological characteristics of the lncRNA RP11-817I4.1 in hepatoma cell lines. According to these results, a prognostic model and crucial LMR-IncRNAs might be developed as potential biomarkers and serve as indices for HCC prognosis.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## Data source and preprocessing

Normalized RNA-seq data from 50 normal and 374 HCC samples were obtained from the TCGA[19]. Furthermore, the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) and Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) databases yielded a list of eight lipid metabolism-related pathways and 323 lipid metabolism-related genes. One study of clinical relevance omitted 135 patients from the TCGA cohort because of inadequate clinical information.

## Identification of differentially expressed LMR-IncRNAs

With the conditions of a | coefficient of correlation | > 0.6 and P < 0.001, Pearson's correlation analyses were conducted to investigate the coexpression of lipid metabolism-related genes and lncRNAs. The "limma" package of R was used to search for lncRNAs that were differentially expressed between tumor and normal tissues. We defined the lncRNA difference analysis data as follows: "false discovery rate (FDR) < 0.05,  $\log 2$  | fold change (FC) | > 1, and P < 0.05."

## Construction of the LMRRSM

To identify LMR-lncRNAs associated with survival, we employed the R package "survival" to conduct univariate Cox regression analysis of the differentially expressed lncRNAs and overall survival (OS) in HCC patients. Subsequently, to mitigate overfitting and select the optimal LMR-lncRNAs, we applied a LASSO regression model. Following collinearity assessment, stepwise multivariate Cox regression analysis was employed to establish the LMR-lncRNA-derived risk signature in HCC patients. The following algorithm, which was based on the combination of Cox coefficients and lncRNA expression data, was used to calculate risk scores for the TCGA cohort. The risk score was calculated as follows: risk score = expression of lncRNA 1  $\alpha$ 1 + expression of lncRNA 2  $\alpha$ 2 + expression of the lncRNA  $n\alpha$ n. The regression coefficient of the LMR-lncRNAs is represented by the symbol  $\alpha$  in the risk signature. Using the median values of the risk scores, HCC patients in the TCGA cohort were categorized into either high-risk or low-risk groups. Survival analysis was subsequently performed to evaluate the survival rates of the high- and low-risk groups. Further investigation was conducted to analyze the differences in prognosis between the two risk groups. A reasonable cutoff threshold was defined as a P value < 0.05. The prediction accuracy and reliability were also assessed using ROC curves.

To validate the association between LMR-lncRNAs and clinical characteristics, we evaluated the associations between the risk scores and clinical features. In the univariate Cox regression analysis, factors, including age, sex, grade, stage, T stage, N stage, M stage, and the risk scores derived from the lipid metabolism-related signature were all taken into account to assess the prognostic relationship of LMRRSM within the TCGA cohort. Subsequently, through multivariate analysis, we assessed the independent prognostic potential of the risk scores. Next, we investigated the association between the risk score and clinicopathological features to determine the significance of the predictive models for the progression of HCC.

## Analysis of the GeneExpression Profiling Interactive Analysis database

The GeneExpression Profiling Interactive Analysis (GEPIA) database (http://gepia.cancer-pku.cn/) can be used for cancer or normal gene expression profiling and interaction analyses. We used the GEPIA database to evaluate LMR-IncRNA expression in HCC and normal tissue samples. Furthermore, GEPIA was used to evaluate the survival of patients with HCC stratified by the lipid metabolism-related. A *P* value less than 0.05 was used.

## GO and KEGG enrichment analysis

Functional enrichment analyses were performed using the clusterProfiler package. A P-value < 0.05 indicated significant enrichment. We employed the R packages "GOplot" and "ggplot2" to visualize the most prominently enriched GO terms and KEGG pathways, respectively. GSEA was used to investigate the connection between the expression of RP11-817I4.1 and signaling pathway activity.

## Evaluation of immune environment characteristics

To further illustrate the potential impact of the predictive risk score on the tumor immune microenvironment, immune-



related scores for different risk groups were calculated using the R software tool ESTIMATE. Single sample gene set enrichment analysis (ssGSEA), which measures the enrichment levels of 29 immune characteristics for every HCC patient through the form of ssGSEA scores, was carried out using the R package "GSVA." Previous studies have furnished evidence regarding immune cell signatures[20,21]. Subsequently, in the high- and low-risk groups, we explored the relationship between immune cell infiltration and immune-related pathways.

The TIMER online database (https://cistrome.shinyapps.io/timer/) was used to reanalyze gene expression data from the TCGA to assess the abundance of six subtypes of tumor-infiltrating immune cells[22]. As a result, we determined the extent of immune infiltration in HCC patients and examined the relationship between the risk score and immune cell infiltration.

## Patients and tissue samples

Between June 2021 and July 2022, we obtained 80 pairs of HCC samples and their corresponding nontumor tissues with explicit consent from HCC patients at the Second Affiliated Hospital in Kunming, China. None of the participants in this study received preoperative chemotherapy or radiation. The diagnosis of HCC was independently confirmed by two pathologists. The ethical committee of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Kunming Medical University approved this study, which was conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration.

## Cell lines and cell culture

HCC cell lines (Hep-G2, Hep-3B, Li-7, Huh-7, and HCC-LM3) and the normal human hepatic cell line L02 were sourced from the Chinese Academy of Sciences Cell Bank in Shanghai, China. Li-7, Huh-7, HCC-LM3, Hep-G2, Hep-3B, and L02 cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS). All cell culture media were supplemented with penicillin (100 U/mL) and streptomycin (100 U/mL) and maintained at 37 °C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator.

## qRT-PCR

TRIzol reagent was used to collect and lyse the cells (Invitrogen, CA, United States). A PrimeScript RT Kit (TaKaRa, Osaka, Japan) and RNA (1 μg) were used to generate reverse-transcribed complementary DNA (cDNA). For real-timequantitative polymerase chain reaction, Fast SYBR Green Master Mix was used (Bio-Rad, CA, United States). The reaction cycle conditions were as follows: 95 °C for 30 s, followed by 40 cycles of 95 °C for 5 s and 60 °C for 34 s. GAPDH served as the internal loading control, and the relative quantification 2<sup>-ΔΔCT</sup> technique was employed to calculate the relative levels. The primer sequences used in this study were as follows: RP11-817I4.1: Forward: 5'-*GTAGTGGCTGCTGCTGTTAGG-3'* Reverse: 5'-*TTCAACGGTGGCAAACTCAAAG-3'* Actin sequence: Forward: 5'-*ATCATGTTTGAGACCTTCAACA-3'* Reverse: 5'-*CATCTCTTGCTCGAAGTCCA-3*'-Actin was utilized as the internal control.

#### Western blot

Sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis is commonly used to separate extracted proteins. The samples were loaded into the wells of the gel, and an electric current was applied to separate the proteins based on their size and charge, resulting in the formation of distinct bands. Subsequently, the separated proteins were transferred onto a PVDF membrane by applying an electric current to the membrane. The transferred membrane was treated with a protein-blocking agent (bovine serum albumin) to prevent nonspecific binding. ATP citrate lyase (ACLY) recombinant rabbit monoclonal antibody (702731; Thermo Scientific) was added to a mixture containing the blocking agent, after which the proteins were allowed to bind to the transferred membrane. The antibody specifically binds to the target protein, leading to the formation of an immune complex. To remove unbound antibodies and other non-specific binding substances, the transferred membrane underwent multiple TBST washes. Images were captured using a chemiluminescence imaging system, and quantitative analysis was conducted. The expression levels of the target proteins in the samples were quantified based on optical density or fluorescence intensity.

#### Subcellular fractionation assay

Nuclear and cytoplasmic RNA was separated from each fraction using a PARIS Kit (Life Technologies, United States). Next, the nuclear and cytoplasmic RNA molecules isolated from each sample were identified *via* qRT-PCR. The nuclear and cytoplasmic markers GAPDH and Neat1 were identified.

## **Cell transfection**

To downregulate RP11-817I4.1, three human small interfering RNAs (RP11-817I4.1-sh1, UAAAUCAUUACCA-CUUUGGUU; RP11-817I41-sh2, AUUAUCACUACCAAUUUCCUU; RP11-817I41-sh3, UUGUUUGCCACUUCUGCCCUU; and control shRNA (si-NC, TTCTCCGAACGTGTCACGT) were manufactured by Qingke (SL100568, SignaGen, United States). Lipofectamine® 3000 (Sigma, United States) was employed for all cell transfections, which were carried out for 48 h at 37 °C. The cells were then utilized for subsequent experiments 48 h after transfection.

#### Cell colony formation assays

After 24 h of transfection, 500 tumor cells/well were plated into 6-well plates and cultivated for colony formation at 37 °C with 5%  $CO_2$ . The cells were fixed for 5 min with 10% formaldehyde and stained for 1 h with 0.1% crystal violet. The count of colonies was conducted after a 2-wk period. Each experiment was performed in triplicate, and the means of the results were computed.

Raisbideng® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

## Wound healing assay

Cell migration was assessed via wound healing assays. Transfected cells were placed in 6-well plates  $[5 \times 10^5 \text{ cells/well}]$ containing 5% (v/v) FBS]. Subsequently, a 200  $\mu$ L pipette tip was employed to gently scrape the cell monolayer that had reached 95%-100% confluence. Using a light inverted microscope, the wound was inspected at 0 and 24 h, and the results were recorded as W0 and 24, respectively (magnification, 40 ×). Cell migration (%) was estimated using the following formula: (W024)/W0 × 100.

## Transwell migration and invasion experiments

The transfected cells were centrifuged and suspended before being introduced into the upper layer of the Transwell system for use in the Transwell migration test. Following that, 600 µL of complete medium containing 20% FBS was added to the lower compartment. After 24-48 h of incubation, the transplanted membranes were stained with 0.1% crystal violet and preserved in methanol. Subsequently, the stained cells were counted and photographed under a microscope, and the average value was determined. Similarly, in the Transwell invasion test, the Matrigel was removed, and the top chamber was precoated for the migration experiment. The migration assay was carried out in the following stages.

## Nile red staining

After the tissues were homogenized, the cells were placed in 6-well plates with 4% paraformaldehyde solution, washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), and stained with Nile red solution (7385-67-3; Solarbio, Beijing, China) in the dark. Images were acquired using IF microscopy after the samples had been subjected to two PBS washes and stained with 4',6diamidino-2-phenylindole.

## Dual-luciferase reporter assay

We designed and synthesized a dual-luciferase reporter vector containing these gene sequences. This vector typically includes genes for two luciferases (firefly luciferase and green fluorescent protein), along with the promoter and terminator sequences of RP11-817I4.1 and ACLY. The constructed dual-luciferase reporter vector was transfected into liver cancer cells. After the addition of miRNA mimics or miRNA inhibitors, luciferase activity was assessed using a luciferase assay kit (16186, Thermo Scientific) following the manufacturer's instructions. This involved separately measuring the activities of firefly luciferase and green fluorescent protein. The competitive relationship between miRNAs and mRNAs was evaluated by comparing the differences in luciferase activity among the various groups.

## RNA immunoprecipitation

Cell lysates were harvested and prepared from liver cancer cells. Then, the specific anti-AGO2 antibody (MA5-23515; Thermo Scientific) was added to the protein A/G agarose beads to form antigen-antibody complexes. The cell lysate was coprecipitated with antigen-antibody complexes to enrich the complex containing AGO2. The coprecipitated complexes were washed and dissolved, followed by colloidal sol/colloidal removal. The proteins were removed, and the remaining RNA was extracted by proteinase treatment. The isolated RNA was reverse-transcribed into cDNA using reverse transcriptase (RT), and quantitative polymerase chain reaction was employed to detect the presence and quantification of the target mRNA and miRNA within the AGO2 complex. Specific primers and probes were used to quantitatively measure the expression levels of the target mRNAs, lncRNAs, and miRNAs.

## Transcriptomics

The samples (cells or tissues) were prepared, and RNA was extracted. The isolated RNA was transcribed to synthesize cDNA using RT and random primers. This conversion process allowed the mRNA to be transformed into cDNA. An RNA library suitable for sequencing was subsequently constructed by adding adapter sequences and performing PCR amplification. The prepared RNA library was subjected to high-throughput sequencing (via the Illumina HiSeq platform). Afterward, we carried out preprocessing of the sequencing data, which involved the elimination of low-quality reads and adapter sequences. Bioinformatic tools were employed to align and quantify the preprocessed sequencing data against a reference genome or transcriptome. Significantly differentially expressed genes were determined through differential expression analysis (log-fold change > 1, FDR value < 0.05).

## Subcutaneous tumor model

We chose 6-wk-old male BALB/c mice from the Animal Experimental Center of Kunming Medical University, ensuring that the animals were purebred, healthy, and met the experimental criteria. Tumor cell lines were transfected with the RP11-817I4.1-sh1 plasmid for in vitro cultivation, ensuring the health and purity of the cells. The cultured tumor cells were harvested, and an appropriate cell suspension was obtained through washing and centrifugation. The sterile operating room was filled, and the operating area and tools were prepared in advance. Isoflurane was used to anesthetize the mice, ensuring that they were painless. The tumor cell suspension was subcutaneously injected into the left axilla of each animal. After a period of 3 wk, the mice were humanely euthanized, and specimens were collected. All procedures and steps related to animal experiments were subject to rigorous review and approval by the Ethics Review Committee for Animal Experiments at Kunming Medical University (Approval Number: kmmu20211188).

## Statistical analysis

For all the statistical studies, GraphPad Prism 8.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, United States) and SPSS 24.0 (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, United States) were used. At least three separate experiments were conducted for each group.



Continuous data are reported as the mean ± SD. For statistical analysis, the unpaired Student's t-test was employed to compare continuous variables. Variations across experimental groups were assessed using either Student's t-test or oneway ANOVA. Survival times across groups were evaluated using Kaplan-Meier (K-M) survival analysis or univariate Cox regression analysis. P-values were calculated for both sides, and a confidence threshold of 0.05 was considered statistically significant. <sup>a</sup>*P* < 0.05, <sup>b</sup>*P* < 0.01, <sup>c</sup>*P* < 0.001.

## RESULTS

The study's workflow is depicted in Figure 1A, with each step elaborated upon in the subsequent sections.

## Differential expression of LMR-IncRNAs

Using RNA sequencing data from HCC patients and 323 lipid metabolism-related genes, we identified 31 differentially expressed LMR-lncRNAs via the R "limma" package; 29 of these lncRNAs were upregulated, and 2 were downregulated. The results are shown as heatmaps and volcano plots (Figure 1B and C).

## Construction of the LMRRSM and analysis

To further understand the connection between LMR-IncRNAs and patient prognosis, we constructed a three-IncRNA model based on LMR-lncRNAs to predict disease prognosis and survival in patients with HCC. The expression of ten LMR-lncRNAs was found to be strongly correlated with OS via univariate Cox regression analysis. A forest plot of the hazard ratio (HR) revealed that, whereas one lncRNA was protective, nine lncRNAs were risk factors (Figure 1D). Subsequently, LASSO regression analysis of the LMR lncRNAs associated with OS was performed to evaluate the predictive ability of the model (Figure 1E and F). Thus, after LASSO regression, only four lncRNAs were found among the 10 significant LMR-IncRNAs in the univariate Cox regression model. Ultimately, a predictive signature consisting of three LMR-IncRNAs, NRAV, TMCC1-AS1, and RP11-817I4.1 was chosen to construct a prognostic model via multivariate Cox regression analysis (Figure 1G). Similarly, the coefficients of the three lncRNAs were 0.134336124, 0.663916403, and 0.703331257. The three lncRNAs had HRs of 1.143777206, 1.942384618, and 2.020472221. The total risk score was calculated as follows: (0.134336124 × expression level of NRAV) + (0.663916403 × expression level of TMCC1-AS1) + (0.703331257 × expression level of RP11-817I4.1). Figure 1H-J shows that the expression of the three lncRNAs was upregulated in HCC tissues according to the GEPIA database. Additionally, GEPIA revealed that HCC patients with higher NRAV, TMCC1-AS1, or RP11-817I4.1 expression had worse prognoses (Figure 1K-M).

## Relationships between clinical characteristics and risk scores

Through univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses, we established that risk scores could serve as independent prognostic factors. As illustrated in Figure 2A, the univariate Cox regression analysis demonstrated significant associations between OS and stage, T stage, M stage, and risk score. However, according to our multivariate analysis, only the risk score was significantly associated with OS (Figure 2B). We observed that the advanced-stage (Figure 2C) and T-stage (Figure 2D) tumors had higher expression levels of NRAV; the expression levels of TMCC1-AS1 increased in the advanced-stage tumors (Figure 2E); and the advanced-stage (Figure 2F) and T-stage (Figure 2G) tumors had higher expression levels of RP11-817I4.1. In addition, we determined that the risk score could be used as an independent prognostic factor. Additionally, correlation analysis revealed strong associations between risk score and disease stage (Figure 2H), grade (Figure 2I), and T stage (Figure 2J) (P < 0.05).

## Clinical outcomes of the different risk groups

Based on the median risk scores, HCC patients were divided into low- and high-risk groups. The prognostic risk scores for each HCC sample were computed using the formula mentioned above. Figure 3A-C show the dispersion of the survival status, risk score, and matching heatmap of the expression of the three lncRNAs in the TCGA cohort. As the risk score increased, the expression levels of NRAV, TMCC1-AS1, and RP11-817I4.1 increased (Figure 3A). Figure 3C demonstrates that patients with a higher risk score had a considerably greater mortality rate than those with a lower risk score. In addition, K-M survival curve analysis revealed that patients with HCC in the high-risk subgroup had poorer outcomes than those in the low-risk subgroup (Figure 3D). Subsequently, we evaluated the time-dependent ROC curves to confirm the accuracy of the LMRRSM. At 1, 2, and 3 years, the AUC values of the prognostic model in the TCGA cohort were 0.757, 0.713, and 0.666, respectively (Figure 3E). Overall, our findings indicate that the LMRRSM can accurately predict the occurrence and progression of HCC.

## Identification of potential pathways and biological functions of DEGs between risk score groups

To further explore the biological processes and pathways associated with the risk score, GO and KEGG analyses were performed on the differentially expressed genes (DEGs) between the high- and low-risk groups. According to the GO-BP analysis, the genes with differential expression were mostly enriched in extracellular matrix organization, extracellular structure organization, and nuclear division (Figure 3F). The DEGs identified via KEGG analysis were mostly related to the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway, the cell cycle, and focal adhesion (Figure 3G).

## The immune landscape of the high- and low-risk groups

We assessed the activity or enrichment levels of immune cells, functions, or pathways in the different risk score groups



WJG https://www.wjgnet.com



Saishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com





G

-	<i>P</i> value	Hazard ratio
NRAV	0.018	1.144(1.023-1.278)
TMCC1-AS1	0.002	1.942(1.267-2.979)
RP11-81714.1	0.067	2.020(0.952-4.286)



Н









*WJG* https://www.wjgnet.com



**Figure 1 Differentially expressed lipid metabolism-related and prognosis-related long non-coding RNAs.** A: Flow chart of the analysis process in our study; B and C: Heatmap and volcano plot demonstrating differentially expressed lipid metabolism-related long non-coding RNAs (IncRNAs) between Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) tissues and nontumor tissues. Red, positive regulation; green, negative regulation; D: Forest plot of hazard ratios (HR) constrating the prognostic value of IncRNAs. The dashed line indicates that the location of the HR was 1; E: Construction and analysis of the prognostic risk model. Plots for Least absolute shrinkage and selection operator expression coefficients of 10 Lipid metabolism-related IncRNAs; F: Cross-validation plot for the penalty terr; G: The HRs and *P* values from the multivariate Cox regression analysis are shown in the forest plot; H-J: Three differentially expressed IncRNAs between HCC and nontumor tissues in the GeneExpression Profiling Interactive Analysis database; K-M: Survival curves of patients with differential expression of three IncRNAs in GEPIA. HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; Lasso: Least absolute shrinkage and selection operator; KEGG: Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes; NRAV: Negative regulator of antiviral response; TMCC1-AS1: RNA transmembrane and coiled-coil domain family 1 antisense RNA 1; FC: Fold change; FDR: False discovery rate; TPM: Transcripts Per Kilobase of exon model per Million mapped reads; TCGA: The Cancer Genome Atlas; ROC: Receiver operating characteristic.

using ssGSEA scores, which were derived from the analysis of 29 immune-associated gene sets (Figure 4A). We effectively calculated scores for immune cell infiltration, stromal content, and tumor purity using the ESTIMATE methodology (Figure 4B). By comparing stromal content, tumor purity, and immune cell infiltration scores, we elucidated the relationship between distinct risk groups and immune cell infiltration. The results showed that there were no significant differences in stromal scores, estimated scores, ESTIMATE scores, tumor purity, or immune scores between the high-risk and low-risk patients (Figure 4C-F). According to the ssGSEA results, the percentages of aDCs, iDCs, macrophages, Tfhs, Th2 cells, and Tregs were significantly greater in the high-risk group than in the control group, whereas the percentages of infiltrating B cells, mast cells, and NK cells were significantly lower. Additionally, we found that when risk scores improved, some immunological traits (such as antigen presenting cell costimulatory, C-C chemokine receptor, checkpoint, and major histocompatibility complex class I classes) were significantly more active, whereas others [such as cytolytic activity and interferon (IFN) classes I and II] were repressed (Figure 4G and H). We conducted a further analysis of the relationship between the risk score and immune cell infiltration. Correlation analysis revealed that the risk score exhibited strong associations with CD8+ T cells (r = 0.236; P = 4.3e-6), macrophages (r = 0.359; P = 1.038e-12), neutrophils (r = 0.339; P = 2.034e-11), dendritic cells (r = 0.315; P = 5.43e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139; P = 2.034e-11), dendritic cells (r = 0.315; P = 5.43e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139; P = 2.034e-11), dendritic cells (r = 0.315; P = 5.43e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139; P = 2.034e-11), dendritic cells (r = 0.315; P = 5.43e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139; P = 2.034e-11), dendritic cells (r = 0.315; P = 5.43e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139; P = 2.034e-11), dendritic cells (r = 0.139; P = 2.034e-11), dendritic cells (r = 0.139; P = 5.43e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139; P = 2.034e-11), dendritic cells (r = 0.139; P = 5.43e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139; P = 2.034e-11), dendritic cells (r = 0.139; P = 5.43e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139; P = 5.43e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139; P = 5.43e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139; P = 5.43e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139; P = 5.43e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139; P = 5.43e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139; P = 5.43e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139; P = 5.43e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139; P = 5.43e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139e-10), CD4+ T cells (r = 0.139e-100.008), and B cells (r = 0.213; P = 3.675e-05) (Figure 41-N). These findings suggest that risk signatures based on the LMRRSM may provide new insights into the TME, immune responses, and immune infiltration in HCC patients.

#### RP11-817I4.1 affects the biological behaviors of HCC cells

qRT-PCR was employed to assess the expression of RP11-817I4.1 in human HCC tissues and HCC cell lines. The qRT-PCR analysis revealed that RP11-817I4.1 exhibited upregulation in HCC tissues compared to adjacent normal tissues (Figure 5A). Additionally, we separated the HCC patients into two groups based on the median RP11-817I4.1 expression level: High- and low-expression groups. K-M survival analysis revealed that the high-expression group had a considerably worse OS than the low-expression group (Figure 5B). And RP11-817I4.1 was overexpressed in HCC cell lines (Hep-3B, Li-7, HCC-LM3, and Huh-7) but not in the normal hepatic cell line L02 (Figure 5C). Among the six cell lines, RP11-817I4.1 displayed significantly higher expression in HCC-LM3 and Huh-7 cells; consequently, these cell lines were selected for subsequent experiments. To further investigate the potential function of RP11-817I4.1 in HCC development, we evaluated the subcellular localization of RP11-817I4.1 in HCC cells. Figure 5D demonstrates that RP11-817I4.1 was primarily localized in the cytoplasm of Huh-7 and HCC-LM3 cells.

To further explore the role of RP11-817I4.1 in the occurrence and development of HCC, we used three shRNAs to specifically inhibit the expression of RP11-817I4.1 in Huh-7 and HCC-LM3 cells. The efficiency of RP11-817I4.1 transfection in Huh-7 and HCC-LM3 cells was confirmed by qRT-PCR, and RP11-817I4.1-sh1 and RP11-817I4.1-sh2 were confirmed to be the most efficient (Figure 5E). Colony formation assays demonstrated that the silencing of RP11-817I4.1 inhibited HCC cell growth and colony formation (Figure 5F). Subsequently, RP11-817I4.1 silencing significantly reduced the migratory and invasive capabilities of Huh-7 and HCC-LM3 cells (Figure 5G and H). The subcutaneous tumor experiment further provided evidence that RP11-817I4.1 knockdown led to a suppression of tumor size and weight *in vivo* (Figure 5I and J). Immunostaining with Ki67 revealed that RP11-817I4.1 knockdown significantly restrained the *in vivo* proliferative capacity of HCC cells (Figure 5K). Taken together, these findings confirmed the involvement of RP11-817I4.1 in the progression of HCC both *in vitro* and in *vivo*.

Raishideng® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

	<b>P</b> value	Hazard ratio
age	0.591	1.005(0.987-1.023)
gender	0.301	0.780(0.487-1.249)
rade	0.914	1.017(0.746-1.387)
stage	<0.001	1.865(1.456-2.388)
Т	<0.001	1.804(1.434-2.270)
М	0.023	3.850(1.207-12.281)
Ν	0.328	2.022(0.494-8.276)
riskScore	<0.001	1.381(1.197-1.593)



В

A

	<i>P</i> value	Hazard ratio
stage	0.696	1.192(0.495-2.871)
Т	0.360	1.457(0.650-3.266)
М	0.569	1.454(0.401-5.267)
riskScore	<0.001	1.295(1.117-1.502)

















Figure 2 Analysis of the prognostic risk model. A: Univariate regression analysis of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) incidence and the relationships between age, sex, grade, stage, T stage, M stage and the riskscore; B: Multiple regression analysis of HCC and the relationships between stage, T stage, M stage, and the riskscore; C-J: Correlation of the prognostic lipid metabolism-related signature with clinicopathological characteristics. NRAV: Negative regulator of antiviral response; TMCC1-AS1: RNA transmembrane and coiled-coil domain family 1 antisense RNA 1; NRAV: Negative regulator of antiviral response; TMCC1-AS1: RNA transmembrane and coiled-coil domain family 1 antisense RNA 1.

#### RP11-817I4.1 silencing suppressed lipid anabolism in HCC cells

Patients with HCC were divided into high- and low-expression groups according to the expression of RP11-817I4.1. Using GSEA, we detected enrichment pathways for genes that were coexpressed with high- or low-expression groups in HCC. The results indicated a negative correlation between the activity of fatty acid metabolism signaling pathways and the expression of RP11-817I4.1. A heatmap showed that the genes related to the signaling pathway of fatty acid metabolism were considerably active in the low-expression groups (Figure 6A). To gain further insight into the function of RP11-817I4.1, we conducted transcriptomic analysis on HCC-LM3 cells transfected with shNC or RP11-817I4.1-sh1 plasmids and subsequently conducted KEGG enrichment analysis of the DEG. As shown in Figure 6B, these genes were enriched mainly for fatty acid degradation and fatty acid metabolism. These pathways indicate a crucial role for RP11-817I4.1 in the regulation of lipid metabolism. Consequently, we assessed the intracellular TG content in HCC cell lines transfected with siRP11-817I4.1. The results demonstrated that the levels of intracellular TGs and free fatty acids (FFA) were significantly lower in the RP11-817I4.1-silenced cells compared to the control cells (Figure 6C and D). Nile red staining also revealed that the suppression of RP11-817I4.1 Led to reduced cellular lipid accumulation in Huh7 and HCC-LM3 cells (Figure 6E), the same changes were found in intracellular cholesterol (Figure 6F). According to the correlation analysis of mRNA expression profiles based on TCGA data, RP11-817I4.1 and ACLY, the key genes involved in lipid synthesis, exhibited the highest correlation (r = 0.46) (Figure 6G). These findings were further substantiated by the analysis of 80 patient samples from the Second Affiliated Hospital of Kunming Medical University, where the correlation between RP11-817I4.1 and ACLY was even more pronounced (r = 0.55) (Figure 6H). We then observed that both the mRNA and protein expression of ACLY were inhibited by RP11-817I4.1 knockdown (Figure 6I and J). In summary, our findings indicate that RP11-817I4.1 fosters lipid accumulation in HCC cells.

#### RP11-817I4.1 regulates ACLY expression by sponging miR-3120-3p

Through nucleocytoplasmic fractionation, we previously established that RP11-817I4.1 is primarily located in the cytoplasm (Figure 5D), suggesting its potential role in regulating ACLY expression through a ceRNA mechanism[23]. Subsequently, utilizing the miRDB and TargetScan databases, we identified miR-3120-3p as a potential interacting miRNA that binds to both RP11-817I4.1 and ACLY mRNAs (Figure 7A). qRT-PCR demonstrated that knockdown of RP11-817I4.1 Led to an upregulation in the expression of miR-3120-3p, while overexpression of RP11-817I4.1 had the opposite effect (Figure 7B and C). Moreover, analysis of clinical specimens unveiled a strong negative correlation between the expression levels of RP11-817I4.1 and miR-3120-3p (Figure 7D). Subsequently, we designed luciferase reporter gene plasmids based on the binding sites of RP11-817I4.1 and miR-3120-3p to validate their interactions (Figure 7E). The results indicated that the miR-3120-3p mimic significantly reduced the luciferase activity of RP11-817I4.1-WT cells, whereas the miR-3120-3p inhibitor had the opposite effect (Figure 7F). Neither the miR-3120-3p mimic nor the miR-3120-3p inhibitor had the opposite effect (Figure 7F). These findings collectively demonstrated that RP11-817I4.1 binds to miR-3120-3p and inhibits its expression.

Subsequently, we assessed the regulatory role of miR-3120-3p in ACLY. We observed that the miR-3120-3p mimic significantly reduced the protein level of ACLY mRNA, while the miR-3120-3p inhibitor had the opposite effect (Figure 7G-I). Following this, we designed luciferase reporter gene plasmids based on the binding sites of ACLY and miR-3120-3p (Figure 7J). Luciferase reporter gene assays revealed that the miR-3120-3p mimic significantly diminished the luciferase activity of ACLY-WT cells, whereas the miR-3120-3p inhibitor had the opposite effect (Figure 7K). Neither the miR-3120-3p mimic nor the miR-3120-3p inhibitor impacted the luciferase activity of the ACLY-MUT cells (Figure 7K). Additionally, we conducted RNA immunoprecipitation (RIP) experiments with the Argonaute 2 protein, the binding partner of miRNAs, which confirmed the direct interaction between RP11-81714.1, miR-3120-3p, and ACLY (Figure 7L). These findings collectively demonstrated that RP11-81714.1 regulates ACLY expression by acting as a sponge for miR-3120-3p.

Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



G



Baishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



40

30



## Figure 3 Lipid metabolism-related long noncoding RNAs in hepatocellular carcinoma patients from the The Cancer Genome Atlas cohort.

A: The distribution of patients in the high-risk group and low-risk group; B: Heatmap demonstrating the distribution of the expression of the three long non-coding RNAs in the The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) cohort; C: Survival status of the high-risk and low-risk groups; D: Kaplan-Meier survival curve of overall survival in HCC patients in the TCGA cohort according to the median cutoff value; E: Receiver Operating Characteristic Curves at 1, 2, and 3 years in the TCGA cohort; F and G: Functional enrichment analysis of the lipid metabolism-related risk signatures: Gene Ontology-biological process analysis, Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes analysis. NRAV: Negative regulator of antiviral response; TMCC1-AS1: RNA transmembrane and coiled-coil domain family 1 antisense RNA 1; AUC: Area under curve.

## The RP11-817I4.1/miR-3120-3p/ACLY axis regulates HCC lipid metabolism and tumor progression

To confirm the functional role of the RP11-817I4.1/miR-3120-3p/ACLY axis in HCC, functional rescue experiments were conducted. Clonogenic assays demonstrated that the decreased proliferation capacity of HCC cells due to RP11-817I4.1 knockdown could be rescued by a miR-3120-3p inhibitor or overexpression of ACLY (Figure 8A). Furthermore, the reduced invasion and migration abilities of HCC cells resulting from RP11-817I4.1 knockdown could be rescued by the miR-3120-3p inhibitor or ACLY overexpression (Figure 8B and C). In terms of lipid metabolism, the decreases in the intracellular TG, FFA, and total cholesterol levels caused by RP11-817I4.1 knockdown were reversed by the miR-3120-3p inhibitor or ACLY overexpression (Figure 8D-F). Moreover, Nile red staining illustrated that the decrease in neutral lipids resulting from RP11-817I4.1 knockdown could be reversed by the miR-3120-3p inhibitor or ACLY overexpression (Figure 8D-F). Subcutaneous tumor assays provided evidence that the reduced *in vivo* proliferation capability of HCC cells upon RP11-817I4.1 knockdown could be rescued by a miR-3120-3p inhibitor or ACLY overexpression (Figure 8D) a miR-3120-3p inhibitor or ACLY overexpression (Figure 8D).



Low



Figure 4 Lipid metabolism-related risk signatures are closely related to tumor environment characteristics and immune infiltration in hepatocellular carcinoma. A: Immune-related risk signature component expression; B: The correlations between risk groups and the level of tumor immune infiltration are shown based on the immune score, stromal score, and tumor purity score; C-F: Comparison of the ESTIMATE score, stromal score, immune score, and tumor purity between the high-risk group and low-risk group; G: Comparison of immune cell abundances between the high-risk and low-risk groups of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) patients; H: Comparison of immune-related functions between the high-risk and low-risk groups of HCC patients; I-N: Relationships between the risk score and infiltration abundances of six types of immune cells. Cor: Correlation.

## DISCUSSION

HCC is a type of primary liver tumor that is common worldwide and has a poor prognosis. Research on the molecular etiology and biological features of this disease is critical[8]. A growing body of research suggests that metabolic reprogramming linked to lipid metabolism is a characteristic feature of malignant tumors<sup>[24]</sup>. Cancer cells employ lipid metabolism pathways to proliferate, survive, invade, and metastasize, as well as to obtain nutrients, biofilm constituents, and signaling molecules essential for the TME<sup>[25]</sup>. IncRNAs regulate various biological processes through intricate interactions among multiple mechanisms. Previous studies have identified several lncRNAs as crucial regulatory factors in lipid metabolism and signaling processes [16]. Therefore, lipid metabolism-related markers hold significant potential as

Raishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com





Figure 5 RP11-817I4.1 is overexpressed in hepatocellular carcinoma tissues and cell lines and is correlated with poor survival. A: Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) evaluation of RP11-817I4.1 expression in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) tissue samples compared with that in matched adjacent normal tissue samples; B: Kaplan-Meier analysis showed that high RP11-817I4.1 expression was associated with poor overall survival in HCC patients; C: Expression levels of RP11-817I4.1 in different HCC cell lines Hep-G2, Hep-3B, Li-7, Huh-7, and HCC-LM3: compared with those in the normal human hepatic cell line L02; D: The localization of RP11-817I4.1 was identified in Huh-7 and HCC-LM3 cells *via* a subcellular fractionation assay; E: RP11-817I4.1 expression levels were determined *via* qRT-PCR assays after Huh-7 and HCC-LM3 cells were transfected with empty vector, shNC, RP11-817I4.1-sh1, RP11-817I4.1-sh2, or RP11-817I4.1-sh3; F: The effects of RP11-817I4.1 knockdown on Huh-7 and HCC-LM3 cell proliferation were assessed *via* colony formation assays; G: A wound healing assay was performed to evaluate cell mobility; H: Cell invasion was assessed and quantified by performing Transwell invasion assays; I: HCC-LM3 cells were transfected with either shRNA or the RP11-817I4.1-sh1 plasmid to establish an HCC subcutaneous tumor model; J: We measured the weight of the HCC subcutaneous tumor model; K: Ki67 staining was performed in the HCC subcutaneous tumor model. The data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SD and are representative of three independent experiments. <sup>a</sup>P < 0.05, <sup>b</sup>P < 0.01, <sup>c</sup>P < 0.001. HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma.

prognostic indicators. Research has shown that lipid metabolism-related lncRNA signatures can serve as independent prognostic markers in various solid tumors[26-29]. However, the prognostic significance and relationship between lipid metabolism status and risk signatures in HCC patients have not been determined. Hence, it is imperative to conduct additional fundamental and clinical investigations to establish the clinical applications of LMR-lncRNAs in diagnosis and treatment. This research aims to elucidate the link between lipid metabolism and HCC development and lay the foundation for utilizing LMR-lncRNAs as novel targets for HCC treatment and prognosis in the future.

In this study, LMR-lncRNAs were identified *via* bioinformatic analysis of HCC data from TCGA, and a lipid metabolism-related prognostic model was established. Following the analysis, 31 LMR-lncRNAs were identified. Among them, three LMR-lncRNAs (NRAV, TMCC1-AS1, and RP11-81714.1) were validated as components of the risk signature through Cox regression and LASSO regression analysis. This risk signature effectively stratified HCC patients into low-and high-risk groups. Furthermore, the risk score displayed significant predictive value for OS in both univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses. Furthermore, the risk signature based on three lncRNAs performed well in classifying the risk groups of HCC patients in the TCGA cohort, according to KM, ROC curve, and risk diagram analyses.

Recent research has shown that risk signatures based on lncRNAs linked to lipid metabolism can serve as a dependable indicator for categorizing risk groups in various types of tumors. Similar to our study, Wu et al[30] revealed that lncRNA signatures connected to lipid metabolism may stratify patients with colon cancer into various risk categories. Similarly, another study demonstrated that LMR-lncRNA signatures could effectively categorize patients with human lung adenocarcinoma into different response groups, where the risk scores from these signatures emerged as the most substantial predictors of pathological remission[31]. In our investigation, a prognostic model built with LMR-lncRNAs, referred to as LMRRSM, displayed the capability to accurately forecast the prognosis of HCC patients. According to these findings, individuals with HCC who fell into the high-risk score category had a worse prognosis than those with HCC in the low-risk score category (P < 0.001). Additionally, according to univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses, the risk score maintained its independent predictive significance in comparison to well-established clinicopathological prognostic markers. In the TCGA cohort, the prognostic model had a high level of accuracy for 1-, 2-, and 3-year OS. According to our biological function analysis, the genes associated with the DEGs among the risk score groups were enriched mainly in the PI3K-Akt signaling pathway. This indirectly indicated that the risk score was closely related to the PI3K-Akt signaling pathway. It is worth noting that the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway plays a crucial role in the proliferation and survival of cancer cells. According to previous reports, the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway is abnormally activated in 30%-50% of patients with HCC[32].

Our focus was directed towards the TME, a vital component in the context of cancer. The TME has been recognized as a significant factor in tumor biology[33]. Variations in the lipid metabolism of tumors, which comprises an abundance of metabolites and lipid metabolic products, may be responsible for both local immunosuppression in the TME and tumor progression[34]. Zhang *et al*[35] conducted an *in vitro* assay to mimic the interaction between tumor-associated macrophages and HCC within the TME. Their research revealed that M2 monocyte-derived macrophages promoted HCC cell migration in a manner dependent on fatty acid oxidation, which was linked to increased interleukin-1β secretion. Notably, immune checkpoint protein PD-L1, along with other immunosuppressive signals such as Toll-like receptor 4 and CD48/2B4, are expressed by macrophages and impact local immunity by deactivating CD8+ T cells, facilitating the recruitment of Tregs, and suppressing NK cell activity[36,37]. These findings align with our own results. The patients



**Figure 6 RP11-817I4.1 is associated with fatty acid metabolism in hepatocellular carcinoma.** A: Gene set enrichment analysis showed that the activity of the fatty acid metabolism signaling pathway was negatively correlated with the expression of RP11-817I4.1; B: Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes analysis of the transcriptomic analysis of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)-LM3 cells transfected with shNC or the RP11-817I4.1-sh1 plasmid revealed that the differentially expressed genes were enriched mainly in fatty acid degradation and fatty acid metabolism; C: Free fatty acid; D: Levels were measured in Huh7 and HCC-LM3 cells expressing shNC, RP11-817I4.1-sh1, or RP11-817I4.1-sh2; E: Cellular neutral lipids were measured in Huh7 and HCC-LM3 cells expressing shNC, RP11-817I4.1-sh2 by double staining with Nile red and DAPI. Magnification,  $320 \times$ ; F: Cellular cholesterol levels were measured in Huh7 and HCC-LM3 cells expressing shNC, RP11-817I4.1-sh1, or RP11-817I4.1-sh2; G: Correlation analysis between RP11-817I4.1 and ATP citrate lyase (ACLY) in the The Cancer Genome Atla database; H: Correlation analysis between RP11-817I4.1 and ACLY at the Second Affiliated Hospital of Kunming Medical University; I: Changes in ACLY mRNA levels after RP11-817I4.1 knockdown; J: Changes in the ACLY protein level after RP11-817I4.1 knockdown. The data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SD and are representative of three independent experiments. <sup>a</sup>P < 0.05, <sup>b</sup>P < 0.01, <sup>c</sup>P < 0.001. ACLY: ATP citrate lyase; TPM: Transcripts Per Kilobase of exon model per Million mapped reads.

WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

- inhideng®

February 28, 2024 Volume 30 Issue 8



**Figure 7 RP11-817I4.1 promotes ATP citrate lyase expression by sponging miR-3120-3p.** A: MiRNA analysis based on the miRDB and TargetScan databases; B: Changes in the expression of miR-3120-3p after knockdown of RP11-817I4.1; C: Changes in the expression of miR-3120-3p after the overexpression of RP11-817I4.1; D: Correlation analysis between RP11-817I4.1 and ATP citrate lyase (ACLY) at the Second Affiliated Hospital of Kunming Medical University; E: Design of the luciferase reporter gene plasmid for the binding site of RP11-817I4.1 and miR-3120-3p; F: Luciferase reporter gene experiment using the plasmid designed in E; G: The impact of miR-3120-3p expression intervention on ACLY mRNA levels; H and I: The impact of miR-3120-3p silencing on ACLY protein levels; J: Design of the luciferase reporter gene plasmid for the binding site of ACLY and miR-3120-3p; K: Luciferase reporter gene experiment using the plasmid designed in J; L: Immunoprecipitation of RP11-817I4.1, miR-3120-3p, and ACLY mRNA using an AGO-2 antibody. The data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SD and are representative of three independent experiments. <sup>a</sup>P < 0.05, <sup>b</sup>P < 0.01, <sup>c</sup>P < 0.001. WT: Wild-type; MUT: Mutant; ACLY: ATP citrate lyase.



- RP11-817I4.1-sh1+ACLY
- - RP11-817I4.1-sh1+ACLY
- RP11-817I4.1-sh1+ACLY



**Figure 8 The RP11-817I4.1/miR-3120-3p/ATP citrate lyase axis promotes lipid synthesis and tumor progression in HCC.** A: Colony formation experiment showing the effect of miR-3120-3p and ATP citrate lyase (ACLY) on the change in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) proliferation caused by RP11-817I4.1; B: Transwell experiment showing the effect of miR-3120-3p and ACLY on HCC invasion caused by changes in RP11-817I4.1 cell ability; C: Scratch experiments showing the effect of miR-3120-3p and ACLY on the change in HCC cell migration caused by RP11-817I4.1; D-F: The effects of miR-3120-3p and ACLY on the changes in triglyceride; free fatty acid and cholesterol; levels in HCC cells caused by RP11-817I4.1; G: Nile red staining showing the effects of miR-3120-3p and ACLY on the changes in HCC growth caused by RP11-817I4.1; H: The subcutaneous tumor model shows the effects of miR-3120-3p and ACLY on the changes in HCC growth caused by RP11-817I4.1 *in vivo*; I: Weight detection of HCC cells in the subcutaneous tumorigenesis model. The data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SD and are representative of three independent experiments. <sup>a</sup>P < 0.05, <sup>b</sup>P < 0.01, <sup>c</sup>P < 0.001. ACLY: ATP citrate lyase; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma.

were typically divided into two groups according to LMRRSM. We then examined the connection between immune infiltration and LMRRSM. There were more aDCs, iDCs, macrophages, Tfh cells, Th2 cells, and Tregs in the high-risk group. In the low-risk group, there were significantly higher numbers of B cells, mast cells, and NK cells. Consequently, LMRRSM is closely connected to the immunological condition of patients with HCC.

In this study, three lncRNAs were identified as risk signatures: NRAV, TMCC1-AS1, and RP11-817I4.1. Previous reports have linked certain molecular components of this signature to the development and regulation of tumor growth. NRAV, for instance, is primarily found in the cytoplasm and plays a role in regulating vesicle-transporting protein activity[38]. NRAV reduction is part of the human antiviral innate immune response to viral infections and is achieved through the control of IFN-stimulated gene transcription[39]. Additionally, the lncRNA NRAV is elevated in HCC and may promote cell growth and migration by suppressing miR-199a-3p, thereby enhancing the expression of CISD2 and activating the Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway[40]. In patients with HCC, the lncRNA TMCC1-AS1 has been repeatedly associated with prognosis. Elevated expression of TMCC1-AS1 is strongly correlated with poor OS and disease-free survival in HCC patients. At the molecular level, epithelial-mesenchymal transition is activated by upregulating the expression of TMCC1AS1 in HCC cell lines, which decreases E-cadherin expression and elevates Ki67, proliferating cell nuclear antigen, Ncadherin, and vimentin expression[41].

Currently, there are no studies on the lncRNA RP11-817I4.1, and its biological function and potential mechanism in HCC remain unclear. However, this study has provided insights into RP11-817I4.1. It revealed that the expression of RP11-817I4.1 was significantly increased in HCC tissues and cell lines, suggesting that RP11-817I4.1 may play a role in promoting the progression of HCC. Notably, Kaplan-Meier survival curves were generated for RP11-817I4. The expression of RP11-817I4.1 was found to be strongly correlated with OS and has the potential to serve as a standalone predictive biomarker for patients with HCC. Additionally, this study showed that RP11-817I4.1 enhanced the proliferation, migration, and invasion of HCC-LM3 and Huh-7 cells, indicating that RP11-817I4.1 plays a critical role in the regulation of hepatocellular tumorigenesis. The present study focused on the signaling pathway involved in fatty acid metabolism to investigate the potential mechanism by which RP11-817I4.1 promotes abnormalities in lipid metabolism in HCC cells. The present study showed that RP11-817I4.1 positively regulates the expression of ACLY, a key gene involved in lipid synthesis, by sponging miR-3120-3p, thereby promoting lipid synthesis.

## CONCLUSION

In the present study, we investigated the functions of LMR-lncRNAs in assessing and predicting the prognosis of patients with HCC and established an accurate and reliable LMRRSM for prediction. In particular, we focused on a novel LMR-lncRNA, RP11-817I4.1, which has been proven to play an important regulatory role in HCC lipid metabolism and tumor progression and has therapeutic potential. Our findings will be extremely beneficial for understanding the probable molecular biological processes involved in HCC and discovering novel prognostic indicators and molecular targets.

Zaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

## **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

## Research background

Published studies have demonstrated the impact of disturbances in lipid metabolism on the progression of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), which is a prevalent form of cancer.

## **Research motivation**

Long noncoding RNAs (IncRNAs) modulate fatty acid metabolism and influence HCC development through pathways involving transcription factors and lipid-related processes. Understanding the role of metabolic reprogramming and IncRNAs in HCC may lead to novel diagnostic markers and therapeutic targets.

## Research objectives

This study aims to investigate a novel lncRNA, RP11-817I4.1, revealed its role in promoting lipid accumulation, thereby accelerating the onset and progression of HCC.

## Research methods

The study identified three lipid metabolism-related lncRNAs (LMR-lncRNAs), negative regulator of antiviral response (NRAV), RNA transmembrane and coiled-coil domain family 1 antisense RNA 1 (TMCC1-AS1), and RP11-817I4.1, as predictive markers for HCC and used them to construct risk models. Knockdown of RP11-81714.1 decreased proliferation, migration, and invasion in HCC cells. RP11-817I4.1 was found to increase lipid levels in HCC cells through the miR-3120-3p/ATP citrate lyase (ACLY) axis, highlighting its role in lipid metabolism and HCC progression.

## **Research results**

The study identified three LMR-IncRNAs, NRAV, TMCC1-AS1, and RP11-817I4.1, as predictive markers for HCC patients and utilized them in constructing risk models. Knockdown of RP11-817I4.1 resulted in reduced proliferation, migration, and invasion of HCC cells. Moreover, RP11-817I4.1 was found to significantly increase lipid levels in HCC cells through the miR-3120-3p/ACLY axis. These findings provide valuable insights into the molecular processes of HCC, uncover novel prognostic indicators and molecular targets, and highlight the therapeutic potential of RP11-817I4.1 in the context of HCC treatment.

## Research conclusions

In this study, the functions of LMR-lncRNAs were investigated for their role in assessing and predicting the prognosis of HCC patients, leading to the establishment of an accurate and reliable lipid metabolism-related risk score model for prediction. Of particular interest was the novel LMR-IncRNA, RP11-817I4.1, which was found to regulate HCC lipid metabolism and tumor progression, showing potential as a therapeutic target. The findings hold significant promise for understanding the molecular processes in HCC, identifying novel prognostic indicators, and uncovering molecular targets for potential therapeutic interventions.

#### Research perspectives

Lipid metabolism-related lncRNA RP11-817I4.1 may be a potential therapeutic target, and the development of small molecule drugs targeting RP11-817I4.1 may help improve the prognosis of HCC patients.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We appreciate and acknowledge our colleagues for their feedback, opinions, and technical support for this project.

## FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Ren-Yong Wang and Jia-Ling Yang

Co-corresponding authors: Jin-Ze Li and Hong Zhu.

Author contributions: Wang RY, Yang JL, Xu N, Liang DM, Li JZ and Zhu H designed research; Wang RY, Yang JL, Xu J and Yang SH performed research; Wang RY and Yang JL contributed new reagents or analytic tools; Wang RY, Yang JL, Li JZ and Zhu H analyzed data; Wang RY, Yang JL, Li JZ and Zhu H wrote the paper. All authors contributed to the study design, interpretation of the investigations, data analysis, and manuscript review. Wang RY and Yang JL are listed as co-first authors because they made equal and significant contributions throughout the research process, being jointly responsible for key aspects such as experimental design and data analysis. On the other hand, Li JZ and Zhu H are designated as co-corresponding authors due to their crucial roles in the research design and experimental processes, overseeing the entire study's planning and supervision, as well as being responsible for interpreting the data and publishing the results. In summary, the authorship order reflects their actual contributions and roles in the research.

Supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 81460132; and Yunnan Pacific Department of Science, Technology-Kunming Medical University Applied Basic Research Joint Special Fund Project, No. 2018FE001 (-224).



WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

Institutional review board statement: This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Kunming Medical University (2021128).

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: All animal experimental procedures and steps were strictly reviewed by the Ethics Review Committee for Animal Experiments at Kunming Medical University (Approval Number: kmmu20211188).

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** There are no conflicts of interest to disclose in this article.

Data sharing statement: The data supporting the conclusions of this study can be obtained from the corresponding author under reasonable requirements. Normalized RNA-seq data of 50 normal and 374 HCC samples were obtained from TCGA (https://www. cancer.gov/ccg/research/genome-sequencing/tcga).

ARRIVE guidelines statement: The authors have read the ARRIVE guidelines, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the ARRIVE guidelines.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Hong Zhu 0000-0002-4866-6683.

S-Editor: Qu XL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YX

## REFERENCES

- Dai Y, Qiang W, Lin K, Gui Y, Lan X, Wang D. An immune-related gene signature for predicting survival and immunotherapy efficacy in 1 hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2021; 70: 967-979 [PMID: 33089373 DOI: 10.1007/s00262-020-02743-0]
- 2 Famularo S, Di Sandro S, Giani A, Lauterio A, Sandini M, De Carlis R, Buscemi V, Uggeri F, Romano F, Gianotti L, De Carlis L. Recurrence Patterns After Anatomic or Parenchyma-Sparing Liver Resection for Hepatocarcinoma in a Western Population of Cirrhotic Patients. Ann Surg Oncol 2018; 25: 3974-3981 [PMID: 30244421 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-018-6730-0]
- 3 Ingle PV, Samsudin SZ, Chan PQ, Ng MK, Heng LX, Yap SC, Chai AS, Wong AS. Development and novel therapeutics in hepatocellular carcinoma: a review. Ther Clin Risk Manag 2016; 12: 445-455 [PMID: 27042086 DOI: 10.2147/TCRM.S92377]
- Crunkhorn S. Targeting cancer cell metabolism in glioblastoma. Nat Rev Cancer 2019; 19: 250 [PMID: 30944412 DOI: 4 10.1038/s41568-019-0139-3]
- 5 Rosario SR, Long MD, Affronti HC, Rowsam AM, Eng KH, Smiraglia DJ. Pan-cancer analysis of transcriptional metabolic dysregulation using The Cancer Genome Atlas. Nat Commun 2018; 9: 5330 [PMID: 30552315 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-018-07232-8]
- Boroughs LK, DeBerardinis RJ. Metabolic pathways promoting cancer cell survival and growth. Nat Cell Biol 2015; 17: 351-359 [PMID: 6 25774832 DOI: 10.1038/ncb3124]
- Currie E, Schulze A, Zechner R, Walther TC, Farese RV Jr. Cellular fatty acid metabolism and cancer. Cell Metab 2013; 18: 153-161 [PMID: 7 23791484 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.05.017]
- Hu B, Lin JZ, Yang XB, Sang XT. Aberrant lipid metabolism in hepatocellular carcinoma cells as well as immune microenvironment: A 8 review. Cell Prolif 2020; 53: e12772 [PMID: 32003505 DOI: 10.1111/cpr.12772]
- Nakagawa H, Hayata Y, Kawamura S, Yamada T, Fujiwara N, Koike K. Lipid Metabolic Reprogramming in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. 9 Cancers (Basel) 2018; 10 [PMID: 30445800 DOI: 10.3390/cancers10110447]
- 10 Wu JM, Skill NJ, Maluccio MA. Evidence of aberrant lipid metabolism in hepatitis C and hepatocellular carcinoma. HPB (Oxford) 2010; 12: 625-636 [PMID: 20961371 DOI: 10.1111/j.1477-2574.2010.00207.x]
- Fu Y, Liu S, Zeng S, Shen H. From bench to bed: the tumor immune microenvironment and current immunotherapeutic strategies for 11 hepatocellular carcinoma. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2019; 38: 396 [PMID: 31500650 DOI: 10.1186/s13046-019-1396-4]
- Schmitt AM, Chang HY. Long Noncoding RNAs in Cancer Pathways. Cancer Cell 2016; 29: 452-463 [PMID: 27070700 DOI: 12 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.03.010]
- Shang C, Wang W, Liao Y, Chen Y, Liu T, Du Q, Huang J, Liang Y, Liu J, Zhao Y, Guo L, Hu Z, Yao S. LNMICC Promotes Nodal 13 Metastasis of Cervical Cancer by Reprogramming Fatty Acid Metabolism. Cancer Res 2018; 78: 877-890 [PMID: 29229603 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-2356
- van Solingen C, Scacalossi KR, Moore KJ. Long noncoding RNAs in lipid metabolism. Curr Opin Lipidol 2018; 29: 224-232 [PMID: 14 29553997 DOI: 10.1097/MOL.000000000000503]
- Eberlé D, Hegarty B, Bossard P, Ferré P, Foufelle F. SREBP transcription factors: master regulators of lipid homeostasis. Biochimie 2004; 86: 15 839-848 [PMID: 15589694 DOI: 10.1016/j.biochi.2004.09.018]
- Duan J, Huang Z, Nice EC, Xie N, Chen M, Huang C. Current advancements and future perspectives of long noncoding RNAs in lipid 16 metabolism and signaling. J Adv Res 2023; 48: 105-123 [PMID: 35973552 DOI: 10.1016/j.jare.2022.08.007]
- Chen Y, Wu X, Chen X, Guo D, Ma W, Guo Y, Xu K, Ma S, Yuan Y, Zhu Q. LncRNA TGFB2-OT1 Promotes Progression and Angiogenesis 17



in Hepatocellular Carcinoma by Dephosphorylating β-Catenin. J Hepatocell Carcinoma 2023; 10: 429-446 [PMID: 36941998 DOI: 10.2147/JHC.S404008]

- Xu K, Xia P, Liu P, Zhang X. A six lipid metabolism related gene signature for predicting the prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma. Sci Rep 18 2022; 12: 20781 [PMID: 36456877 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-022-25356-2]
- Song K, Li L, Zhang G. Bias and Correction in RNA-seq Data for Marine Species. Mar Biotechnol (NY) 2017; 19: 541-550 [PMID: 28884399 19 DOI: 10.1007/s10126-017-9773-5]
- Bindea G, Mlecnik B, Tosolini M, Kirilovsky A, Waldner M, Obenauf AC, Angell H, Fredriksen T, Lafontaine L, Berger A, Bruneval P, 20 Fridman WH, Becker C, Pagès F, Speicher MR, Trajanoski Z, Galon J. Spatiotemporal dynamics of intratumoral immune cells reveal the immune landscape in human cancer. Immunity 2013; 39: 782-795 [PMID: 24138885 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.10.003]
- 21 He Y, Jiang Z, Chen C, Wang X. Classification of triple-negative breast cancers based on Immunogenomic profiling. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2018; **37**: 327 [PMID: 30594216 DOI: 10.1186/s13046-018-1002-1]
- 22 Li T, Fan J, Wang B, Traugh N, Chen Q, Liu JS, Li B, Liu XS. TIMER: A Web Server for Comprehensive Analysis of Tumor-Infiltrating Immune Cells. Cancer Res 2017; 77: e108-e110 [PMID: 29092952 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-0307]
- Xia P, Zhang H, Lu H, Xu K, Jiang X, Jiang Y, Gongye X, Chen Z, Liu J, Chen X, Ma W, Zhang Z, Yuan Y. METTL5 stabilizes c-Myc by 23 facilitating USP5 translation to reprogram glucose metabolism and promote hepatocellular carcinoma progression. Cancer Commun (Lond) 2023; 43: 338-364 [PMID: 36602428 DOI: 10.1002/cac2.12403]
- Shang C, Huang J, Guo H. Identification of an Metabolic Related Risk Signature Predicts Prognosis in Cervical Cancer and Correlates With 24 Immune Infiltration. Front Cell Dev Biol 2021; 9: 677831 [PMID: 34249930 DOI: 10.3389/fcell.2021.677831]
- Bian X, Liu R, Meng Y, Xing D, Xu D, Lu Z. Lipid metabolism and cancer. J Exp Med 2021; 218 [PMID: 33601415 DOI: 25 10.1084/jem.20201606
- Lin Y, Xiao Y, Liu S, Hong L, Shao L, Wu J. Role of a lipid metabolism-related lncRNA signature in risk stratification and immune 26 microenvironment for colon cancer. BMC Med Genomics 2022; 15: 221 [PMID: 36280825 DOI: 10.1186/s12920-022-01369-8]
- Xu K, Dai C, Yang J, Xu J, Xia C, Li J, Zhang C, Xu N, Wu T. Disulfidptosis-related lncRNA signatures assess immune microenvironment 27 and drug sensitivity in hepatocellular carcinoma. Comput Biol Med 2024; 169:107930 [PMID: 38199215 DOI: 10.1016/j.compbiomed.2024.107930]
- Wang H, Zhang Y, Guan X, Li X, Zhao Z, Gao Y, Zhang X, Chen R. An Integrated Transcriptomics and Proteomics Analysis Implicates 28 IncRNA MALAT1 in the Regulation of Lipid Metabolism. Mol Cell Proteomics 2021; 20: 100141 [PMID: 34478876 DOI: 10.1016/j.mcpro.2021.100141]
- Xu K, Xia P, Gongye X, Zhang X, Ma S, Chen Z, Zhang H, Liu J, Liu Y, Guo Y, Yao Y, Gao M, Chen Y, Zhang Z, Yuan Y. A novel lncRNA 29 RP11-386G11.10 reprograms lipid metabolism to promote hepatocellular carcinoma progression. Mol Metab 2022; 63: 101540 [PMID: 35798238 DOI: 10.1016/j.molmet.2022.101540]
- 30 Wu S, Gong Y, Chen J, Zhao X, Qing H, Dong Y, Li S, Li J, Wang Z. Identification of fatty acid metabolism-related lncRNAs in the prognosis and immune microenvironment of colon adenocarcinoma. Biol Direct 2022; 17: 19 [PMID: 35902970 DOI: 10.1186/s13062-022-00332-y]
- Zhao J, Li G, Zhao G, Wang W, Shen Z, Yang Y, Huang Y, Ye L. Prognostic signature of lipid metabolism associated LncRNAs predict 31 prognosis and treatment of lung adenocarcinoma. Front Oncol 2022; 12: 986367 [PMID: 36387240 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2022.986367]
- Mikhail S, Cosgrove D, Zeidan A. Hepatocellular carcinoma: systemic therapies and future perspectives. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 2014; 32 14: 1205-1218 [PMID: 25199765 DOI: 10.1586/14737140.2014.949246]
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011; 144: 646-674 [PMID: 21376230 DOI: 33 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- 34 Hao Y, Li D, Xu Y, Ouyang J, Wang Y, Zhang Y, Li B, Xie L, Qin G. Investigation of lipid metabolism dysregulation and the effects on immune microenvironments in pan-cancer using multiple omics data. BMC Bioinformatics 2019; 20: 195 [PMID: 31074374 DOI: 10.1186/s12859-019-2734-4]
- Zhang Q, Wang H, Mao C, Sun M, Dominah G, Chen L, Zhuang Z. Fatty acid oxidation contributes to IL-1ß secretion in M2 macrophages 35 and promotes macrophage-mediated tumor cell migration. Mol Immunol 2018; 94: 27-35 [PMID: 29248877 DOI: 10.1016/j.molimm.2017.12.011]
- Wu Y, Kuang DM, Pan WD, Wan YL, Lao XM, Wang D, Li XF, Zheng L. Monocyte/macrophage-elicited natural killer cell dysfunction in 36 hepatocellular carcinoma is mediated by CD48/2B4 interactions. Hepatology 2013; 57: 1107-1116 [PMID: 23225218 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26192]
- 37 Wu K, Kryczek I, Chen L, Zou W, Welling TH. Kupffer cell suppression of CD8+ T cells in human hepatocellular carcinoma is mediated by B7-H1/programmed death-1 interactions. Cancer Res 2009; 69: 8067-8075 [PMID: 19826049 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-0901]
- Li J, Li M, Wang X, Sun M, Ma C, Liang W, Gao X, Wei L. Long Noncoding RNA NRAV Promotes Respiratory Syncytial Virus Replication 38 by Targeting the MicroRNA miR-509-3p/Rab5c Axis To Regulate Vesicle Transportation. J Virol 2020; 94 [PMID: 32102886 DOI: 10.1128/JVI.00113-20]
- Ouyang J, Zhu X, Chen Y, Wei H, Chen Q, Chi X, Qi B, Zhang L, Zhao Y, Gao GF, Wang G, Chen JL. NRAV, a long noncoding RNA, 39 modulates antiviral responses through suppression of interferon-stimulated gene transcription. Cell Host Microbe 2014; 16: 616-626 [PMID: 25525793 DOI: 10.1016/j.chom.2014.10.001]
- Wang Q, Tang Y, Ge Y, Zhang S, Zheng M. Long non-coding RNA NRAV enhances proliferation and invasion of hepatocellular carcinoma 40 cells by modulating the Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway. Bioengineered 2022; 13: 10026-10037 [PMID: 35436415 DOI: 10.1080/21655979.2022.2062977]
- Chen C, Su N, Li G, Shen Y, Duan X. Long non-coding RNA TMCC1-AS1 predicts poor prognosis and accelerates epithelial-mesenchymal 41 transition in liver cancer. Oncol Lett 2021; 22: 773 [PMID: 34589152 DOI: 10.3892/ol.2021.13034]

WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

WŰ

# World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 943-955

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.943

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

## Quality of life after pancreatic surgery

Shi-Zhen Li, Ting-Ting Zhen, Yi Wu, Min Wang, Ting-Ting Qin, Hang Zhang, Ren-Yi Qin

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

#### Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

## Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Gul S, India

Received: December 1, 2023 Peer-review started: December 1, 2023 First decision: December 18, 2023 Revised: December 29, 2023 Accepted: January 31, 2024 Article in press: January 31, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



Shi-Zhen Li, Ting-Ting Zhen, Yi Wu, Min Wang, Ting-Ting Qin, Hang Zhang, Ren-Yi Qin, Department of Biliary-Pancreatic Surgery, Affiliated Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan 430030, Hubei Province, China

Corresponding author: Ren-Yi Qin, FACS, PhD, Chief Doctor, Department of Biliary-Pancreatic Surgery, Affiliated Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, No. 1095 Jiefang Avenue, Wuhan 430030, Hubei Province, China. ryqin@tjh.tjmu.edu.cn

## Abstract

## BACKGROUND

Pancreatic surgery is challenging owing to the anatomical characteristics of the pancreas. Increasing attention has been paid to changes in quality of life (QOL) after pancreatic surgery.

## AIM

To summarize and analyze current research results on QOL after pancreatic surgery.

## **METHODS**

A systematic search of the literature available on PubMed and EMBASE was performed in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses guidelines. Relevant studies were identified by screening the references of retrieved articles. Studies on patients' QOL after pancreatic surgery published after January 1, 2012, were included. These included prospective and retrospective studies on patients' QOL after several types of pancreatic surgeries. The results of these primary studies were summarized inductively.

## RESULTS

A total of 45 articles were included in the study, of which 13 were related to pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD), seven to duodenum-preserving pancreatic head resection (DPPHR), nine to distal pancreatectomy (DP), two to central pancreatectomy (CP), and 14 to total pancreatectomy (TP). Some studies showed that 3-6 months were needed for QOL recovery after PD, whereas others showed that 6-12 months was more accurate. Although TP and PD had similar influences on QOL, patients needed longer to recover to preoperative or baseline levels after TP. The QOL was better after DPPHR than PD. However, the superiority of the QOL between patients who underwent CP and PD remains controversial. The decrease in exocrine and endocrine functions postoperatively was the main factor affecting the QOL. Minimally invasive surgery could improve patients' QOL in the early



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

stages after PD and DP; however, the long-term effect remains unclear.

## CONCLUSION

The procedure among PD, DP, CP, and TP with a superior postoperative QOL is controversial. The long-term benefits of minimally invasive versus open surgeries remain unclear. Further prospective trials are warranted.

**Key Words:** Quality of life; Pancreaticoduodenectomy; Duodenum-preserving pancreatic head resection; Distal pancreatectomy; Central pancreatectomy; Total pancreatectomy

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** This review summarizes and analyzes current research results on quality of life (QOL) after pancreatic surgery. The article covers the discussion and analysis of the QOL of various pancreatic surgeries. Which kind of surgical procedure has better QOL is controversial. The long-term benefits on QOL of minimally invasive surgery over open surgery are controversial.

Citation: Li SZ, Zhen TT, Wu Y, Wang M, Qin TT, Zhang H, Qin RY. Quality of life after pancreatic surgery. *World J Gastroenterol* 2024; 30(8): 943-955

**URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/943.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.943

## INTRODUCTION

The pancreas, located in the retroperitoneum, is a glandular organ with endocrine and exocrine functions. It can be divided into four main parts: Head, neck, body, and tail. Pancreatic surgery can be divided into pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD), duodenum-preserving pancreatic head resection (DPPHR), distal pancreatectomy (DP), central pancreatectomy (CP), and total pancreatectomy (TP). Pancreatic surgery is challenging due to the organ's complex anatomical structure, peripheral vascularity, and intractable postoperative complications. Following the standardization of surgical steps and improvements in relevant medical techniques and surgical instruments, the safety of pancreatic surgery has significantly improved. Perioperative morbidity, mortality, and other related indicators have become more acceptable. However, owing to the organ's essential role in digestion, absorption, and blood glucose regulation, changes in the quality of life (QOL) of patients after pancreatic surgery have attracted the attention of surgeons.

More patients with non-malignant pancreatic diseases are willing to undergo surgical treatment because of the acceptable safety. In this case, from the perspective of the patient postoperatively, the significance of rehabilitation reflects the traditional perioperative outcome and QOL[1]. The QOL is a new concept that extends beyond health. Although there is no consensus on its conception[2], we can consider it a multi-dimensional architecture that incorporates objective and individual subjective views of aspects of one's physical, psychological, and social well-being[3-5]. It includes evaluating physical health, and many subscales, such as emotion, job, culture, family, sociability, economy, cognition, happiness, sex, and some symptoms[6]. Since people have realized the importance of QOL, many QOL scales have emerged, including the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-C30, European Quality of Life 5-dimension, 36-item Short, *etc.* However, it is challenging to follow up on patients' QOL once they are discharged from the hospital. Consequently, most relevant studies had small sample sizes or lacked long-term follow-up results. Moreover, a summary of studies on QOL after pancreatic surgery is lacking.

This study assessed the QOL in patients who underwent PD, DPPHR, DP, CP and TP. We conducted this study to describe the existing findings on the QOL after pancreatic surgery to make it easier for surgeons and patients to decide on a surgical approach. In addition, we attempted to identify controversial results to encourage further targeted research.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Search strategy

This systematic review was conducted using PubMed and EMBASE databases, according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses guideline[7]. Two authors (Li and Zhen) independently screened the articles after removing duplicates. Our search algorithm combined the terms: (1) "Pancreatic surgery" OR "pancreat-oduodenectomy" OR "duodenum-preserving pancreatic head resection" OR "distal pancreatectomy" OR "central pancre-atectomy" OR "total pancreatectomy"; and (2) "Quality of life". Only articles written in English were included. The references of retrieved articles were screened for any relevant articles.

Raishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

## Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria: Articles involving the QOL of patients who underwent PD, DPPHR, DP, CP, and TP were included. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Articles not within the scope of interest of this review; (2) Overlapping patient data; (3) Articles not published in English; and (4) Articles published before January 1, 2012.

## RESULTS

## Literature search

The search results are shown in Figure 1. A total of 1515 potential studies were identified: 1313 from PubMed, 190 from EMABASE, and 12 additional references through a manual search. After excluding duplicates, 1453 articles were left. However, after screening titles and abstracts, 872 articles were excluded because they were outside the scope of this review. We also excluded article that were inaccessible (n = 127). A total of 454 full-text articles were collected, of which 312 were excluded for language (n = 11), not addressing the QOL after PD, DPPHR, DP, CP, or TP (n = 301), or being published before January 1, 2012 (n = 97). After the selection process, 45 clinical studies were included. The 45 articles included 13 on PD, seven on DPPHR, nine on DP, two on CP, and 14 on TP.

## Study characteristics for PD

Thirteen studies, including three randomized controlled trials (RCTs), four prospective observational studies, and six retrospective studies on PD were assessed. Six studies focused on perioperative QOL in patients with PD. Two RCTs and one retrospective study reported postoperative QOL changes after two years (Table 1). Some studies demonstrated that patients' QOL significantly diminished within one month post-operatively and nearly recovered to preoperative or baseline levels at three months after PD regardless of the pathology type[8-11], others reported that six months even one year was a more accurate period[12-14]. For long-term survivors, gastrointestinal symptoms such as bloating and indigestion are factors that affect their long-term QOL, and some of these symptoms are caused by pancreatic exocrine insufficiency after PD instead of post-operative complications[15,16]. Studies have reported that nearly half of the survivors required pancrelipase after PD[9,17,18]. Pancrelipase can improve nutritional status; however, its capacity to improve QOL is controversial[9,13,19].

Most studies have demonstrated that no differences between pylorus-preserving PD (PPPD) and conventional PD overall mortality, morbidity, survival, and QOL[20-24]. Studies have also shown that preoperative body weight loss, impaired preoperative pancreatic exocrine function, longer operative time, intraoperative radiotherapy, pancreatic carcinoma, and postoperative diarrhea may result in delayed QOL recovery<sup>[25]</sup>.

Laparoscopic PD (LPD) could provide better QOL for patients with better functional status within six months postoperatively<sup>[26]</sup>. However, this advantage disappears after six months<sup>[27]</sup>.

## Study characteristics for DPPHR

Table 2 summarizes the results of the included articles on DPPHR. The sample sizes of the seven studies were 74, 80, 25, 40, 85, 17, and 16. Only one study examined the change in QOL within one year. One group of researchers reported that DPPHR and PD were comparatively effective in improving long-term QOL postoperatively [28-30]. Another group held that DPPHR could bring about better outcomes in the form of less frequent nausea, pain, and diarrhea, better physical status, working ability, and global QOL[31].

Studies have found that the Frey and the Berne approach had the advantages of shorter operation time and hospital stay duration compared to the Beger's. However, none showed any obvious difference in improving the patients' postoperative QOL[32-35].

## Study characteristics for DP

Nine studies included patients who underwent DP (Table 3). Two studies reported the perioperative QOL of patients who underwent DP, and seven mainly compared the differences between open and minimally invasive methods. Studies have shown that minimally invasive DP (MIDP) results in shorter hospital stays and functional recovery time compared to open DP (ODP)[36,37]. The MIDP group had better short-term QOL than the ODP group for up to 30 d postoperatively [38,39]. However, which is better for long-term QOL of > 1 year is controversial. During this period, some studies demonstrated no difference between MIDP and ODP[38,40], while others reported that MIDP could bring about better QOL for patients regarding physical, cognitive, social, and role functions, and symptoms, such as nausea, vomiting, and insomnia[41,42].

Laparoscopic spleen-preserving DP (LSPDP) and laparoscopic DP with splenectomy (LDPS) had similar perioperative outcomes[43]. Patients who underwent LSPDP had significantly better vitality than those who underwent LDPS, and were less likely to contract the common cold and flu[44,45].

The modified Appleby improved the ratio of R0 resection, relieved pain and improved patients' overall QOL[46].

#### Study characteristics for CP

Details of the two studies on CP with sample sizes of 36 and 42 are included in Table 3. Laparoscopic CP can help patients maintain better working and living conditions than open CP[47]. While comparing DP and PD, some researchers thought that CP showed a significant benefit in specific symptoms, such as loss of appetite, insomnia, nausea, and vomiting[48]. Others held different opinions that CP was associated with better pancreatic function but the same or even worse long-



Table 4 Autialas vatulariad fusus literatives us	and the second second	all the set life after a	
lanie i Articles retrieven trom literature re		ality of lite after l	nancreaticonilonenectomy
	porting que	anty of mo altor	sandreadoadaticotoniy

Ref.	Year	Country	Study design	Relevant patients	Total patients	Moments of assessment	Operation type	Questionnaires
Chan et al[12]	2012	Mexico	Prospective single- center study	37	37	PRE, 1, 3, 6 and 12 months	PD	SF-36
Gerstenhaber <i>et</i> al[11]	2013	Israel	Retrospective, single-center study	70	168	At discharge, 3, 6 and 12 months	PD	EORTC QLQ-C30
Rees et al[14]	2013	United Kingdom	Prospective single- center study	41	53	PRE, 6 wk, 3, 6, 12, 18 and 24 months	PD	EORTC QLQ-C30; EORTC QLQ-PAN26
Park et al[77]	2016	Korea	Retrospective, single-center study	10	15	10.5 (3, 18) yr	PPPD	EORTC QLQ-C30; EORTC QLQ-PAN26
Fong et al[9]	2017	United States	Retrospective, single-center study	245	305	9.1 (5.1, 21.2) yr postoperatively	PD	EQ-5D-5L; EORTC QLQ-C30
Laitinen <i>et al</i> [8]	2017	Finland	Prospective single- center study	47	47	PRE, 3, 6, 12, 18 and 24 months	PD	EORTC QLQ-C30; EORTC QLQ-PAN26
Heerkens <i>et al</i> [15]	2018	Netherlands	Prospective single- center study	118	137	1, 3, 6 and 12 months	PD	RAND-36; EORTC QLQ-C30; EORTC QLQ-PAN26
Diener et al[ <mark>80</mark> ]	2017	Germany	Multicenter, randomized controlled trial	226	250	24 months	PD and DPPHR	EORTC QLQ-C30; EORTC QLQ-PAN26
Allen <i>et al</i> [13]	2018	United States	Retrospective, global study	927	7605	2.0 (0.7, 4.3) yr	PD	SF-36; GSRS
Klaiber <i>et al</i> [ <mark>24</mark> ]	2020	Germany	Prospective, randomized controlled trial	96	188	PRE, 1 months, 34.3 (16, 57) months	PD and PPPD	EORTC QLQ-C30; EORTC QLQ-PAN26
Balduzzi et al [ <mark>16]</mark>	2020	Italy	Retrospective, single-center study	47	75	60 (12, 240) months	PD	Pancreatitis Quality of Life Instrument; DSMQ
Jung et al[ <mark>18</mark> ]	2022	South Korea	Retrospective, single-center study	122	122	12 months	PD	EORTC QLQ-C30; EORTC QLQ-PAN26
Qin et al[27]	2023	China	Prospective, randomized controlled trial	656	200	3 yr	PD	EQ-5D-3L

EORTC: European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer; PRE: Preoperative quality of life; PD: Pancreaticoduodenectomy; PPPD: Pyloruspreserving pancreaticoduodenectomy; DPPHR: Duodenum-preserving pancreatic head resection; SF-36: 36-item Short; EQ-5D: European Quality of Life 5dimension.

term QOL and significantly increased post-operative morbidity and risk than DP or PD[49,50].

## Study characteristics for TP

The two studies on TP were prospective observational studies (Table 4). Two articles showed the results of QOL within one year. It has been extensively verified that the perioperative and long-term outcomes of TP are comparable to those of PD regarding morbidity, mortality, survival rates, and QOL, regardless of patient age or tumor pathology[51-55]. One study demonstrated that the long-term post-operative QOL of patients who underwent TP was lower than that of the general population[56], however, more studies reported no significant differences[57,58]. Regarding pain relief, especially for most patients with narcotic-dependent, TP could alleviate pain largely such that half of the patients with chronic pancreatitis patients could be relieve from narcotics and return to normal life a year after surgery. However, it is a continuous improvement process. Over time, an increasing number of patients no longer required narcotics to control their abdominal pain[59-63]. More than half of the patients reported that their bowel habits had changed; therefore, they needed to take pancreatin[64-66]. A quarter to more than half of the patients, especially children, achieved insulin independence after islet cell autotransplantation (IAT)[67]. Although the insulin independence rate could decline over time, most patients could almost control their glycemic stability with an acceptable dose of insulin[60,61,68-70]. The stable control of glucose provides a more enjoyable life with better QOL for patients to have a normal social, work and study life [71].

Baishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Table 2 Articles retrieved from literature reporting quality of life after duodenum-preserving pancreatic head resection

Ref.	Year	Country	Study design	Relevant patients	Total patients	Moments of assessment	Operation type	Questionnaires
Bachmann <i>et</i> al[ <mark>33</mark> ]	2014	Germany	Randomized controlled trail	74	74	16 (14, 18) yr	DPPHR	EORTC QLQ-C30
Tan <i>et al</i> [ <mark>35</mark> ]	2016	China	Retrospective, single- center study	80	156	50 months	The Frey and modified Frey	EORTC QLQ-C30
Pothula <i>et al</i> [ <mark>81</mark> ]	2014	India	Prospective single- center study	25	25	PRE, 12 months	The Frey	SF-36
Klaiber <i>et al</i> [ <mark>32</mark> ]	2016	Germany	Prospective single- center study	40	65	129 (111, 137) months	The Beger and modified Beger	EORTC QLQ-C30; EORTC QLQ- PAN26
Keck et al[29]	2012	Germany	Prospective, randomized controlled trial	85	85	> 5 yr	The Frey and Beger	EORTC QLQ-C30
Fischer <i>et al</i> [ <mark>30</mark> ]	2015	United States	Retrospective, single- center study	17	45	40.7 (23.7, 53.7) months	DPPHR	EORTC QLQ-C30
Aimoto <i>et al</i> [82]	2013	Japan	Retrospective, single- center study	16	16	70.8 months for the Frey, 119.8 months for PPPD	The Frey and PPPD	EORTC QLQ-C30

EORTC: European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer; DPPHR: Duodenum-preserving pancreatic head resection; PPPD: Pyloruspreserving pancreaticoduodenectomy; PRE: Preoperative quality of life; SF-36: 36-item Short.



Figure 1 PRISMA flow diagram. QOL: Quality of life; PD: Pancreaticoduodenectomy; DPPHR: Duodenum-preserving pancreatic head resection; DP: Distal pancreatectomy; CP: Central pancreatectomy; TP: Total pancreatectomy.

## DISCUSSION

## PD

PD, developed by Kausch[72] and Whipple *et al*[73], is a major surgical procedure used to treat middle and lowersegment cancers of the common bile duct and the periampullary region. The safety of PD has improved significantly in recent years. The mortality rate of PD has decreased from > 50% to < 5%, and the incidence of surgical complications has also decreased significantly[74]. Under these circumstances, attention gradually shifted from safe hospital discharge to

#### Table 3 Articles retrieved from literature reporting quality of life after distal pancreatectomy and central pancreatectomy

Ref.	Year	Country	Study design	Relevant patients	Total patients	Moments of assessment	Operation type	Questionnaires
van Hilst et al[ <mark>38</mark> ]	2019	Netherlands	Prospective, randomized controlled trial	63	108	1 yr	ODP and LDP	EQ-5D; EORTC QLQ- C30; EORTC QLQ- PAN26
De Rooij et al[ <mark>36</mark> ]	2019	Netherlands	Multicenter, randomized controlled trial	108	111	From postoperative day 3 to 30	ODP and MIDP	EQ-5D-3L; EORTC QLQ-C30
Korrel <i>et al</i> [ <mark>40]</mark>	2021	Netherlands	Multicenter, randomized controlled trial	62	84	44 (39, 50) months	ODP and MIDP	EQ-5D; EORTC QLQ- C30; EORTC QLQ- PAN26
Zhang et al [ <mark>44</mark> ]	2021	China	Retrospective, single- center study	102	110	106 (62, 189) months	LSPDP and LDPS	SF-36
Ricci <i>et al</i> [ <mark>41</mark> ]	2015	Italy	Retrospective, single- center study	54	81	12 months	ODP and LDP	EORTC QLQ-C30
De Pastena et al[42]	2021	Italy	Multicenter, randomized controlled trial	79	152	52 months	LDP and RDP	EQ-5D; EORTC QLQ- C30
Choi <i>et al</i> [ <mark>45</mark> ]	2012	Korea	Retrospective, single- center study	61	72	23 (3, 76) months	LSPDP and LDPS	-
Braga et al [ <mark>39</mark> ]	2015	Italy	Retrospective, single- center study	100	170	1 and 3 months	LDP	SF-8
Kwon et al [43]	2016	Korea	Retrospective analysis of prospective gathered data, single-center	104	111	PRE, at discharge, 3, 6 and 12 months	LSPDP and LDPS	EORTC QLQ-C30
Zhang et al [ <mark>47</mark> ]	2017	China	Retrospective, single- center study	36	36	45 (4, 216) months	LCP and OCP	SF-36
Lv et al[50]	2018	China	Retrospective, single- center study	42	42	53 (21, 117) months	CP and DP	EORTC QLQ-C30

EORTC: European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer; ODP: Open distal pancreatectomy; LDP: Laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy; MIDP: Minimally invasive distal pancreatectomy; LSPDP: Laparoscopic spleen-preserving distal pancreatectomy; LDPS: Laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy with splenectomy; RDP: Robotic distal pancreatectomy; LCP: Laparoscopic central pancreatectomy; OCP: Open central pancreatectomy; PRE: Preoperative quality of life; SF-36: 36-item Short; EQ-5D: European Quality of Life 5-dimension.

the recovery of QOL. Therefore, an increasing number of studies have assessed the changes in patients' QOL after PD. However, these studies came from different countries with different demographic characteristics and almost always had small sample sizes, especially prospective studies. As shown in Table 1, seven of the studies had a sample size of < 100participants, and only one had a sample size of more than 300.

PPPD was first performed in 1943 by Watson[75] and was popularized by Traverso and Longmire[76]. Although the merits of PPPD versus classic PD are still debated, especially regarding perioperative risk, PPPD provides surgeons with another option[77]. Most studies have demonstrated that PPPD and PD have similar effects on patients' QOL. Factors leading to the delayed recovery of QOL, such as preoperative body weight loss and impaired preoperative pancreatic exocrine function, are currently being explored.

Traditionally, PD was performed openly. Since the first case described by Gagner and Pomp[78] in 1994, many surgeons have explored the advantages of LPD and open PD (OPD). Our previous multi-center, open-label, RCT proved that LPD was associated with a shorter length of stay, similar short-term morbidity, and mortality rates as OPD. Due to the better safety of LPD and the maturity of surgical techniques, an increasing number of surgeons are focusing on comparing the differences in QOL between LPD and OPD. LPD have a better QOL advantage than OPD in the first six months, however, our new study showed that this advantage disappears three years postoperatively [27]. However, owing to the difficulty in collecting data, most related research data are unrepresentative. Therefore, high-quality RCTs should be performed in the future.

#### DPPHR

PD was surgeons' first choice for benign or low-grade malignant lesions of the pancreatic head until the emergence of DPPHR. For these patients, since Beger et al<sup>[79]</sup> developed DPPHR in the early 1970s, another choice has emerged; with DPPHR, more organs are preserved, which could result in better endocrine and exocrine function postoperatively. Therefore, many studies have focused on prioritizing PD and DPPHR. Except for the perioperative parameters, whether DPPHR is superior to PD regarding QOL is still controversial[80]. Most researchers believe that DPPHR and PD relieve

WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Table 4 Articles retrieved from literature reporting quality of life after total pancreatectomy

Ref.	Year	Country	Study design	Relevant patients	Total patients	Moments of assessment	Operation type	Questionnaires
Wilson <i>et al</i> [ <mark>61</mark> ]	2014	United States	Retrospective, single- center study	112	166	At least 5 yr (60 to 132 months)	TPIAT	SF-36
Pulvirenti <i>et</i> al <mark>[54</mark> ]	2019	Italy and United States	Retrospective, multicenter study	94	329	63 (20, 109) months	TP	SF-36; EORTC QLQ-PAN26
Hartwig <i>et al</i> [57]	2015	Germany	Retrospective, single- center study	81	434	24, 48, 72, 96 and 120 months	TP	EORTC QLQ-C30; EORTC QLQ-PAN26
Chinnakotla et al <mark>[70]</mark>	2014	United States	Retrospective, single- center study	30	75	PRE, 3, 6, 12 months and annually post- operative	TPIAT for children	Rand-36
Stoop <i>et al</i> [ <mark>64</mark> ]	2020	Netherlands	Retrospective, single- center study	53	145	21 (13, 54) months	ТР	EORTC QLQ-C30; EORTC QLQ-PAN26; Problem Areas in Diabetes; Diabetes Treatment Satisfaction Questionnaire
Chinnakotla et al[ <mark>60</mark> ]	2014	United States	Retrospective analysis of prospective gathered data, single-center	80	484	3, 6, 12 and 24 months	TPIAT	RAND-36
Bellin <i>et al</i> [67]	2015	United States	Retrospective, single- center study	> 100	> 100	12, 24 and 36 months	TPIAT for children	SF-36
Wu et al <mark>[65</mark> ]	2016	China	Retrospective, single- center study	36	186	5.9 yr	TP	SF-36; Audit of Diabetes Dependent QoL; EORTC QLQ- PAN26
Watanabe et al <mark>[58]</mark>	2015	Japan	Retrospective, single- center study	25	44	21 (2, 222) months	TP	SF-36
Walsh <i>et al</i> [ <mark>62</mark> ]	2012	United States	Prospective single- center study	20	20	12 (6.75, 24) months	TPIAT	Visual Analogue Pain Scale; 20 Point Depression Anxiety Stress Scale; 10-point Pain Disability Index
Scholten <i>et al</i> [53]	2019	Netherlands	Retrospective, multicenter study	60	148	3 and 5 yr	TP	EQ-5D; EORTC QLQ-C30
Casadei <i>et al</i> [ <mark>56</mark> ]	2016	Italy	Prospective single- center study	119	257	TP 28 (18, 36) months, PD 27 (14, 27) months	TP and PD	EQ-5D-5L
Barbier <i>et al</i> [ <mark>66</mark> ]	2013	United States	Retrospective, single- center study	25	56	35 (4, 168) months	TP	EORTC QLQ-C30; EORTC QLQ-PAN26
Solomina <i>et</i> al[71]	2017	United States	Retrospective analysis of prospective gathered data, single-center	20	20	28 (2, 38) months	TPIAT	SF-36

TPIAT: Total pancreatectomy and islet cell auto-transplantation; PRE: Preoperative quality of life; EORTC: European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer; SF-36: 36-item Short; EQ-5D: European Quality of Life 5-dimension; TP: Total pancreatectomy.

obstruction of the pancreatic head, which was the cause of the symptoms. Therefore, they have no significant influence on long-term QOL postoperatively [28,29]. Another study also suggested that increased digestive tract reconstruction during PD surgery lead to lower exocrine function and worse QOL postoperatively[31]. However, this study had poor representativeness because of its smaller sample size and earlier publication time.

Modifications of the original Beger procedure appeared, such as those by Frey and Berne, as people realized its superiority[81,82]. Compared to the Beger, Frey and Berne were technically more straightforward. All patients maintained the same pancreatic volume and exocrine and endocrine functions. Therefore, they had advantages regarding operation time and duration of hospital stay but showed no noticeable difference in improving postoperative QOL[32-35]. In conclusion, surgeons can choose any of them based on their expertise and intraoperative findings. Owing to the shorter operation time and length of hospital stay, modifications to the original Beger procedure should be preferred.

## DP

DP is the standard surgical method for treating tumors of the pancreatic body or tail. Traditionally, it has been performed using an open approach. However, due to technological developments in laparoscopic and robotic instruments, MIDP is routinely performed by surgeons worldwide. Nearly all studies have demonstrated that MIDP can result in better QOL than ODP perioperatively. However, which is better in the long-term remains controversial. Larger sample sizes and more convincing studies have reported no long-term differences between MIDP and ODP[38,40].

While performing DP, the traditional approach is to remove the spleen because it is closely attached to the distal pancreas anatomically. As people realize the function of the spleen, an increasing number of surgeons are choosing to perform LSPDP for benign and low-malignancy tumors of the distal pancreas. Due to the preservation of the spleen in LSPDP, it is clear that LSPDP is superior to LDPS regarding QOL[44,45].

Appleby surgery was first performed in 1976 for the treatment of progressive carcinoma[83] of pancreatic body and tail. Owing to the difficulty of Appleby technology and the advent of neoadjuvant therapy, the number of Appleby surgeries is decreasing; therefore, there is a lack of relevant studies concerning QOL after Appleby.

## СР

Guillemin successfully performed CP by anastomosis to both pancreatic remnants with an omega-shaped jejunal loop in 1957[84]. Letton and Wilson[85] completed the procedure in two patients with pancreatic injury with a Roux-en-Y jejunal loop anastomosis to the tail and closure to the head remnant[85]. An increasing number of surgeons prefer to perform this procedure in cases where the lesion is limited to the pancreatic neck or body. A normal pancreas has significantly less parenchymal loss, which means that more pancreatic function can be retained. According to previous studies, functional recovery and mean QOL are comparable to those of a standard control population[48]. It is generally believed that patients who underwent CP have a better QOL, but a higher perioperative risk[47-50]. However, studies on the QOL after CP are lacking.

## TΡ

Since Rockey[86] performed the first TP in a patient with pancreatic cancer in 1942, some surgeons have attempted to perform the same procedure. However, owing to poor perioperative outcomes and QOL in the beginning, the feasibility of TP has been questioned. Many studies have been conducted to answer this question. The safety of TP has improved dramatically owing to mature surgical techniques and other factors. Impaired exocrine function is also one of the reasons why the feasibility of TP has been questioned. However, the optimization of pancreatin improved the patients' exocrine function. Another reason is the high risk of brittle diabetes. Many factors are associated with insulin independence, such as non-hereditary chronic pancreatitis, younger age, lower body surface area, and higher total islet equivalents. The pancreas is the only organ that produces insulin. Due to the removal of the entire pancreas, TP causes great damage to patients' ability to maintain stable blood sugar levels. To solve this problem, a new technology, the IAT, was first described in 1977. In IAT, islet cells are isolated from patients and transplanted into the portal vein. With the advent of pancreatin and IAT, the endocrine and exocrine functions of patients after TP have significantly improved[64-66]. It seems unlikely that TP can maintain or improve patients' QOL. However, this was only possible if the patient had preoperative endocrine and exocrine pancreatic dysfunction or chronic pain. TP improved the QOL of these patients to some extent. In conclusion, TP can be considered in selected patients with neoplasms involving the entire pancreas or refractory chronic pancreatitis, regardless of the age of patients and pathology of the neoplasms.

## CONCLUSION

Due to the importance of the endocrine and exocrine functions of the pancreas, surgeons have attempted to preserve normal pancreatic tissue and surrounding organs. Therefore, different surgical procedures have been developed depending on the location of the neoplasms. However, regardless of the procedure type, perioperative outcomes were generally acceptable. PD and TP had similar effects on patients' QOL. The time that patients needed to recover to the preoperative or baseline level was 3-6 months after PD, but longer after TP. At this stage, more than half of the patients still required pancreatin to relieve gastrointestinal symptoms. Most studies have demonstrated that PPPD has a similar influence on perioperative and long-term outcomes as PD. DPPHR could provide better QOL with less pain, nausea, and diarrhea symptoms, and better physical and working status. In addition, owing to the higher incidence of perioperative surgery is concerned, it seems that they could indeed produce better QOL in the early stages after PD and DP, but the long-term outcomes still need to be confirmed by more studies. In DP, preservation of the spleen can preserve the immunological function of the patients to defeat the usual virus.

This study has some shortcomings. We did not complete a systematic analysis of the data from previous studies, but only analyzed their conclusions. The scope of our study was not comprehensive enough, and some surgical procedures were not included. However, our goal was to provide directions for future research.

It is so big a project to collect data about patients' postoperative QOL levels that the majority of studies do not have enough cases. It is not easy to contact patients *via* e-mail or phone once they are discharged from hospital. This means that incomplete data are common, especially when collecting long-term outcomes. As shown in the table, the rate of loss to follow-up was high, and there was a lack of prospective studies, especially randomized controlled studies. We propose conducting well-designed prospective analyses to verify our results.

Raishideng® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

## **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Pancreatic surgery is challenging because of the anatomical characteristics of pancreas. With the progress of medical standards, the perioperative outcomes have been greatly improved these years. More and more attention has been paid to the changes of quality of life (QOL) after pancreatic surgery. There is a lack of summary of QOL after various kinds of pancreatic surgery. With the purpose of describing the results of existing researches concerning QOL of pancreatic surgery we conducted this study.

## **Research motivation**

Understanding which kind of pancreatic surgery has better QOL can provide some basis for clinical surgical decision.

## Research objectives

This review aimed to summarize and analyze current research results on QOL after pancreatic surgery including pancreaticoduodenectomy, duodenum-preserving pancreatic head resection, distal pancreatectomy, central pancreatectomy and total pancreatectomy after January 1, 2012. It provides some directions for future researches based on the results of the controversy over patients' QOL after surgery. And it also provides some basis for clinical surgical decision-making.

## Research methods

A systematic review was conducted in PubMed and EMBASE Database, according to Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses guideline. And references of the retrieved articles were screened for any relevant articles. We extracted the results of these articles and summarized them.

## Research results

This review summarizes and analyzes current research results on QOL after pancreatic surgery. The article covers the discussion and analysis of the QOL of various pancreatic surgery. Which kind of surgical procedure has better QOL is controversial. The long-term benefits on QOL of minimally invasive surgery over open surgery are controversial.

## Research conclusions

Comparison and summary of QOL in patients with different types of pancreatic surgery. We included not only the results of the same surgical procedure, but also the results between different procedures.

#### Research perspectives

More well-designed prospective analyses of patients' QOL after pancreatic surgery are needed.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We appreciate the efforts of all surgeons at the centers where the included articles originated. We are grateful to the patients who participated in this trial. We thank the editors and reviewers for their helpful feedback, which has improved this paper.

## FOOTNOTES

Co-corresponding authors: Hang Zhang and Ren-Yi Qin.

Author contributions: Li SZ, Zhang H, and Qin RY designed the research; Wu Y and Qin TT analyzed the data; Li SZ and Zhen TT wrote original draft; Wang M and Zhang H reviewed and edited the draft; All authors have read and approve the final manuscript.

Supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 82273442 and No. 82273438.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China



WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

ORCID number: Shi-Zhen Li 0009-0002-2965-3091; Yi Wu 0000-0002-8813-6687; Ren-Yi Qin 0000-0003-1654-1285.

S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yu HG

## REFERENCES

- 1 Rajabiyazdi F, Alam R, Pal A, Montanez J, Law S, Pecorelli N, Watanabe Y, Chiavegato LD, Falconi M, Hirano S, Mayo NE, Lee L, Feldman LS, Fiore JF Jr. Understanding the Meaning of Recovery to Patients Undergoing Abdominal Surgery. JAMA Surg 2021; 156: 758-765 [PMID: 33978692 DOI: 10.1001/jamasurg.2021.1557]
- Moons P, Budts W, De Geest S. Critique on the conceptualisation of quality of life: a review and evaluation of different conceptual 2 approaches. Int J Nurs Stud 2006; 43: 891-901 [PMID: 16696978 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2006.03.015]
- Panzini RG, Mosqueiro BP, Zimpel RR, Bandeira DR, Rocha NS, Fleck MP. Quality-of-life and spirituality. Int Rev Psychiatry 2017; 29: 263-3 282 [PMID: 28587554 DOI: 10.1080/09540261.2017.1285553]
- Carr AJ, Gibson B, Robinson PG. Measuring quality of life: Is quality of life determined by expectations or experience? BMJ 2001; 322: 4 1240-1243 [PMID: 11358783]
- 5 Henry M, Poyser T, Bampoe S. The surgical epidemic. Br J Hosp Med (Lond) 2017; 78: 612-615 [PMID: 29111808 DOI: 10.12968/hmed.2017.78.11.612]
- Rubin RR, Peyrot M. Quality of life and diabetes. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 1999; 15: 205-218 [PMID: 10441043 DOI: 6 10.1002/(sici)1520-7560(199905/06)15:3<205::aid-dmrr29>3.0.co;2-o]
- 7 Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, Clarke M, Devereaux PJ, Kleijnen J, Moher D. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. BMJ 2009; 339: b2700 [PMID: 19622552 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.b2700]
- Laitinen I, Sand J, Peromaa P, Nordback I, Laukkarinen J. Quality of life in patients with pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma undergoing 8 pancreaticoduodenectomy. Pancreatology 2017; 17: 445-450 [PMID: 28274687 DOI: 10.1016/j.pan.2017.02.013]
- Fong ZV, Alvino DM, Castillo CF, Nipp RD, Traeger LN, Ruddy M, Lubitz CC, Johnson CD, Chang DC, Warshaw AL, Lillemoe KD, 9 Ferrone CR. Health-related Quality of Life and Functional Outcomes in 5-year Survivors After Pancreaticoduodenectomy. Ann Surg 2017; 266: 685-692 [PMID: 28657944 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000002380]
- 10 Nieveen van Dijkum EJ, Kuhlmann KF, Terwee CB, Obertop H, de Haes JC, Gouma DJ. Quality of life after curative or palliative surgical treatment of pancreatic and periampullary carcinoma. Br J Surg 2005; 92: 471-477 [PMID: 15672431 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.4887]
- 11 Gerstenhaber F, Grossman J, Lubezky N, Itzkowitz E, Nachmany I, Sever R, Ben-Haim M, Nakache R, Klausner JM, Lahat G. Pancreaticoduodenectomy in elderly adults: is it justified in terms of mortality, long-term morbidity, and quality of life? J Am Geriatr Soc 2013; 61: 1351-1357 [PMID: 23865843 DOI: 10.1111/jgs.12360]
- Chan C, Franssen B, Domínguez I, Ramírez-Del Val A, Uscanga LF, Campuzano M. Impact on quality of life after pancreatoduodenectomy: a 12 prospective study comparing preoperative and postoperative scores. J Gastrointest Surg 2012; 16: 1341-1346 [PMID: 22547348 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-012-1898-2]
- Allen CJ, Yakoub D, Macedo FI, Dosch AR, Brosch J, Dudeja V, Ayala R, Merchant NB. Long-term Quality of Life and Gastrointestinal 13 Functional Outcomes After Pancreaticoduodenectomy. Ann Surg 2018; 268: 657-664 [PMID: 30199443 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000002962
- 14 Rees JR, Macefield RC, Blencowe NS, Alderson D, Finch-Jones MD, Blazeby JM. A prospective study of patient reported outcomes in pancreatic and peri-ampullary malignancy. World J Surg 2013; 37: 2443-2453 [PMID: 23716026 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-013-2104-8]
- Heerkens HD, van Berkel L, Tseng DSJ, Monninkhof EM, van Santvoort HC, Hagendoorn J, Borel Rinkes IHM, Lips IM, Intven M, 15 Molenaar IQ. Long-term health-related quality of life after pancreatic resection for malignancy in patients with and without severe postoperative complications. HPB (Oxford) 2018; 20: 188-195 [PMID: 29092792 DOI: 10.1016/j.hpb.2017.09.003]
- Balduzzi A, Marchegiani G, Andrianello S, Romeo F, Amodio A, De Pretis N, Zamboni G, Malleo G, Frulloni L, Salvia R, Bassi C. 16 Pancreaticoduodenectomy for paraduodenal pancreatitis is associated with a higher incidence of diabetes but a similar quality of life and pain control when compared to medical treatment. Pancreatology 2020; 20: 193-198 [PMID: 31952917 DOI: 10.1016/j.pan.2019.12.014]
- Fong ZV, Ferrone CR. ASO Author Reflections: Long-Term Impact of Pancreatoduodenectomy on Pancreas-Specific Quality of Life. Ann 17 Surg Oncol 2021; 28: 4225-4226 [PMID: 33759048 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-021-09859-2]
- 18 Jung W, Kim H, Kwon W, Jang JY. Atrophy of remnant pancreas after pancreatoduodenectomy: Risk factors and effects on quality of life, nutritional status, and pancreatic function. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci 2022; 29: 239-249 [PMID: 33773065 DOI: 10.1002/jhbp.949]
- Kim H, Yoon YS, Han Y, Kwon W, Kim SW, Han HS, Yoon DS, Park JS, Park SJ, Han SS, Lee SE, Choi SH, Han IW, Kim E, Jang JY. 19 Effects of Pancreatic Enzyme Replacement Therapy on Body Weight and Nutritional Assessments After Pancreatoduodenectomy in a Randomized Trial. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 18: 926-934.e4 [PMID: 31520730 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2019.08.061]
- Hüttner FJ, Fitzmaurice C, Schwarzer G, Seiler CM, Antes G, Büchler MW, Diener MK. Pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy (pp 20 Whipple) versus pancreaticoduodenectomy (classic Whipple) for surgical treatment of periampullary and pancreatic carcinoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016; 2: CD006053 [PMID: 26905229 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006053.pub6]
- 21 Diener MK, Heukaufer C, Schwarzer G, Seiler CM, Antes G, Buchler M, Knaebel HP. Pancreaticoduodenectomy (classic Whipple) versus pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy (pp Whipple) for surgical treatment of periampullary and pancreatic carcinoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2008; CD006053 [PMID: 18425935 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006053.pub2]
- 22 Diener MK, Knaebel HP, Heukaufer C, Antes G, Büchler MW, Seiler CM. A systematic review and meta-analysis of pylorus-preserving versus classical pancreaticoduodenectomy for surgical treatment of periampullary and pancreatic carcinoma. Ann Surg 2007; 245: 187-200 [PMID: 17245171 DOI: 10.1097/01.sla.0000242711.74502.a9]
- Seiler CA, Wagner M, Bachmann T, Redaelli CA, Schmied B, Uhl W, Friess H, Büchler MW. Randomized clinical trial of pylorus-preserving 23 duodenopancreatectomy versus classical Whipple resection-long term results. Br J Surg 2005; 92: 547-556 [PMID: 15800958 DOI:



10.1002/bjs.4881]

- 24 Klaiber U, Probst P, Hüttner FJ, Bruckner T, Strobel O, Diener MK, Mihaljevic AL, Büchler MW, Hackert T. Randomized Trial of Pylorus-Preserving vs. Pylorus-Resecting Pancreatoduodenectomy: Long-Term Morbidity and Quality of Life. J Gastrointest Surg 2020; 24: 341-352 [PMID: 30671796 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-018-04102-y]
- Ohtsuka T, Yamaguchi K, Chijiiwa K, Kinukawa N, Tanaka M. Quality of life after pylorus-preserving pancreatoduodenectomy. Am J Surg 25 2001; **182**: 230-236 [PMID: 11587683 DOI: 10.1016/s0002-9610(01)00709-7]
- Langan RC, Graham JA, Chin AB, Rubinstein AJ, Oza K, Nusbaum JA, Smirniotopoulos J, Kayser R, Jha R, Haddad N, Al-Kawas F, Carroll 26 J, Hanna J, Parker A, Al-Refaie WB, Johnson LB. Laparoscopic-assisted versus open pancreaticoduodenectomy: early favorable physical quality-of-life measures. Surgery 2014; 156: 379-384 [PMID: 24680859 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2014.03.018]
- 27 Qin T, Zhang H, Pan S, Liu J, Li D, Chen R, Huang X, Liu Y, Cheng W, Chen X, Zhao W, Li J, Tan Z, Huang H, Zhu F, Yu G, Zhou B, Zheng S, Tang Y, Ke J, Liu X, Chen B, Chen W, Ma H, Xu J, Lin R, Dong Y, Yu Y, Wang M, Qin R; Minimally Invasive Treatment Group in the Pancreatic Disease Branch of China's International Exchange and Promotion Association for Medicine and Healthcare (MITG-P-CPAM). Effect of Laparoscopic and Open Pancreatoduodenectomy for Pancreatic or Periampullary Tumors: Three-year Follow-up of a Randomized Clinical Trial. Ann Surg 2023 [PMID: 37965767 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000006149]
- Zheng Z, Xiang G, Tan C, Zhang H, Liu B, Gong J, Mai G, Liu X. Pancreaticoduodenectomy versus duodenum-preserving pancreatic head 28 resection for the treatment of chronic pancreatitis. Pancreas 2012; 41: 147-152 [PMID: 21775913 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e318221c91b]
- Keck T, Adam U, Makowiec F, Riediger H, Wellner U, Tittelbach-Helmrich D, Hopt UT. Short- and long-term results of duodenum 29 preservation versus resection for the management of chronic pancreatitis: a prospective, randomized study. Surgery 2012; 152: S95-S102 [PMID: 22906892 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2012.05.016]
- Fischer TD, Gutman DS, Warner EA, Trevino JG, Hughes SJ, Behrns KE. Local pancreatic head resection: the search for optimal indications 30 through quality of life assessments. Am J Surg 2015; 210: 417-423 [PMID: 26003202 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2014.12.049]
- Möbius C, Max D, Uhlmann D, Gumpp K, Behrbohm J, Horvath K, Hauss J, Witzigmann H. Five-year follow-up of a prospective non-31 randomised study comparing duodenum-preserving pancreatic head resection with classic Whipple procedure in the treatment of chronic pancreatitis. Langenbecks Arch Surg 2007; 392: 359-364 [PMID: 17375317 DOI: 10.1007/s00423-007-0175-4]
- 32 Klaiber U, Alldinger I, Probst P, Bruckner T, Contin P, Köninger J, Hackert T, Büchler MW, Diener MK. Duodenum-preserving pancreatic head resection: 10-year follow-up of a randomized controlled trial comparing the Beger procedure with the Berne modification. Surgery 2016; 160: 127-135 [PMID: 27106794 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2016.02.028]
- 33 Bachmann K, Tomkoetter L, Erbes J, Hofmann B, Reeh M, Perez D, Vashist Y, Bockhorn M, Izbicki JR, Mann O. Beger and Frey procedures for treatment of chronic pancreatitis: comparison of outcomes at 16-year follow-up. J Am Coll Surg 2014; 219: 208-216 [PMID: 24880955 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2014.03.040]
- Izbicki JR, Bloechle C, Knoefel WT, Kuechler T, Binmoeller KF, Broelsch CE. Duodenum-preserving resection of the head of the pancreas in 34 chronic pancreatitis. A prospective, randomized trial. Ann Surg 1995; 221: 350-358 [PMID: 7726670 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-199504000-00004
- 35 Tan CL, Zhang H, Yang M, Li SJ, Liu XB, Li KZ. Role of original and modified Frey's procedures in chronic pancreatitis. World J Gastroenterol 2016; 22: 10415-10423 [PMID: 28058022 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i47.10415]
- de Rooij T, van Hilst J, van Santvoort H, Boerma D, van den Boezem P, Daams F, van Dam R, Dejong C, van Duyn E, Dijkgraaf M, van Eijck 36 C, Festen S, Gerhards M, Groot Koerkamp B, de Hingh I, Kazemier G, Klaase J, de Kleine R, van Laarhoven C, Luyer M, Patijn G, Steenvoorde P, Suker M, Abu Hilal M, Busch O, Besselink M; Dutch Pancreatic Cancer Group. Minimally Invasive Versus Open Distal Pancreatectomy (LEOPARD): A Multicenter Patient-blinded Randomized Controlled Trial. Ann Surg 2019; 269: 2-9 [PMID: 30080726 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.000000000002979]
- Kooby DA, Gillespie T, Bentrem D, Nakeeb A, Schmidt MC, Merchant NB, Parikh AA, Martin RC 2nd, Scoggins CR, Ahmad S, Kim HJ, 37 Park J, Johnston F, Strouch MJ, Menze A, Rymer J, McClaine R, Strasberg SM, Talamonti MS, Staley CA, McMasters KM, Lowy AM, Byrd-Sellers J, Wood WC, Hawkins WG. Left-sided pancreatectomy: a multicenter comparison of laparoscopic and open approaches. Ann Surg 2008; 248: 438-446 [PMID: 18791364 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e318185a990]
- van Hilst J, Strating EA, de Rooij T, Daams F, Festen S, Groot Koerkamp B, Klaase JM, Luyer M, Dijkgraaf MG, Besselink MG; Dutch 38 Pancreatic Cancer Group and LEOPARD trial collaborators. Costs and quality of life in a randomized trial comparing minimally invasive and open distal pancreatectomy (LEOPARD trial). Br J Surg 2019; 106: 910-921 [PMID: 31012498 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.11147]
- Braga M, Pecorelli N, Ferrari D, Balzano G, Zuliani W, Castoldi R. Results of 100 consecutive laparoscopic distal pancreatectomies: 39 postoperative outcome, cost-benefit analysis, and quality of life assessment. Surg Endosc 2015; 29: 1871-1878 [PMID: 25294551 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-014-3879-x]
- Korrel M, Roelofs A, van Hilst J, Busch OR, Daams F, Festen S, Groot Koerkamp B, Klaase J, Luyer MD, van Oijen MG, Verdonck-de 40 Leeuw IM, Besselink MG; LEOPARD Trial Collaborators. Long-Term Quality of Life after Minimally Invasive vs Open Distal Pancreatectomy in the LEOPARD Randomized Trial. J Am Coll Surg 2021; 233: 730-739.e9 [PMID: 34530127 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2021.08.687]
- Ricci C, Casadei R, Taffurelli G, Bogoni S, D'Ambra M, Ingaldi C, Pagano N, Pacilio CA, Minni F. Laparoscopic Distal Pancreatectomy in 41 Benign or Premalignant Pancreatic Lesions: Is It Really More Cost-Effective than Open Approach? J Gastrointest Surg 2015; 19: 1415-1424 [PMID: 26001367 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-015-2841-0]
- 42 De Pastena M, Esposito A, Paiella S, Surci N, Montagnini G, Marchegiani G, Malleo G, Secchettin E, Casetti L, Ricci C, Landoni L, Bovo C, Bassi C, Salvia R. Cost-effectiveness and quality of life analysis of laparoscopic and robotic distal pancreatectomy: a propensity score-matched study. Surg Endosc 2021; 35: 1420-1428 [PMID: 32240383 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-020-07528-1]
- 43 Kwon W, Jang JY, Kim JH, Chang YR, Jung W, Kang MJ, Kim SW. An Analysis of Complications, Quality of Life, and Nutritional Index After Laparoscopic Distal Pancreatectomy with Regard to Spleen Preservation. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A 2016; 26: 335-342 [PMID: 26982249 DOI: 10.1089/lap.2015.0171]
- Zhang RC, Ma J, Mou YP, Yan JF, Zhou YC. Comparison of clinical outcomes and quality of life between laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy 44 with or without spleen preservation. Surg Endosc 2021; 35: 3412-3420 [PMID: 32632480 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-020-07783-2]
- Choi SH, Seo MA, Hwang HK, Kang CM, Lee WJ. Is it worthwhile to preserve adult spleen in laparoscopic distal pancreatectomy? 45 Perioperative and patient-reported outcome analysis. Surg Endosc 2012; 26: 3149-3156 [PMID: 22580876 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-012-2306-4]
- Shen Q, Jiang QF, Tian YW, Yu M, Jia JK, Xue HZ. Appleby operation for carcinoma of the body and tail of the pancreas. J Cancer Res Ther 46 2018; 14: S1019-S1023 [PMID: 30539839 DOI: 10.4103/0973-1482.199383]



- Zhang RC, Zhang B, Mou YP, Xu XW, Zhou YC, Huang CJ, Zhou JY, Jin WW, Lu C. Comparison of clinical outcomes and quality of life 47 between laparoscopic and open central pancreatectomy with pancreaticojejunostomy. Surg Endosc 2017; 31: 4756-4763 [PMID: 28424909 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-017-5552-7]
- Müller MW, Friess H, Kleeff J, Hinz U, Wente MN, Paramythiotis D, Berberat PO, Ceyhan GO, Büchler MW. Middle segmental pancreatic 48 resection: An option to treat benign pancreatic body lesions. Ann Surg 2006; 244: 909-18; discussion 918 [PMID: 17122616 DOI: 10.1097/01.sla.0000247970.43080.23]
- Ocuin LM, Sarmiento JM, Staley CA, Galloway JR, Johnson CD, Wood WC, Kooby DA. Comparison of central and extended left 49 pancreatectomy for lesions of the pancreatic neck. Ann Surg Oncol 2008; 15: 2096-2103 [PMID: 18521682 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-008-9987-x]
- Lv A, Qian HG, Qiu H, Wu JH, Hao CY. Is Central Pancreatectomy Truly Recommendable? A 9-Year Single-Center Experience. Dig Surg 50 2018; **35**: 532-538 [PMID: 29275422 DOI: 10.1159/000485806]
- 51 Müller MW, Friess H, Kleeff J, Dahmen R, Wagner M, Hinz U, Breisch-Girbig D, Ceyhan GO, Büchler MW. Is there still a role for total pancreatectomy? Ann Surg 2007; 246: 966-74; discussion 974 [PMID: 18043098]
- Reddy S, Wolfgang CL, Cameron JL, Eckhauser F, Choti MA, Schulick RD, Edil BH, Pawlik TM. Total pancreatectomy for pancreatic 52 adenocarcinoma: evaluation of morbidity and long-term survival. Ann Surg 2009; 250: 282-287 [PMID: 19638918 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181ae9f93]
- Scholten L, Latenstein AEJ, van Eijck C, Erdmann J, van der Harst E, Mieog JSD, Molenaar IQ, van Santvoort HC, DeVries JH, Besselink 53 MG; Dutch Pancreatic Cancer Group. Outcome and long-term quality of life after total pancreatectomy (PANORAMA): a nationwide cohort study. Surgery 2019; 166: 1017-1026 [PMID: 31500907 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2019.07.025]
- Pulvirenti A, Pea A, Rezaee N, Gasparini C, Malleo G, Weiss MJ, Cameron JL, Wolfgang CL, He J, Salvia R. Perioperative outcomes and 54 long-term quality of life after total pancreatectomy. Br J Surg 2019; 106: 1819-1828 [PMID: 31282569 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.11185]
- Scholten L, Stoop TF, Del Chiaro M, Busch OR, van Eijck C, Molenaar IQ, de Vries JH, Besselink MG; Dutch Pancreatic Cancer Group. 55 Systematic review of functional outcome and quality of life after total pancreatectomy. Br J Surg 2019; 106: 1735-1746 [PMID: 31502658 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.11296]
- Casadei R, Ricci C, Taffurelli G, Guariniello A, Di Gioia A, Di Marco M, Pagano N, Serra C, Calculli L, Santini D, Minni F. Is total 56 pancreatectomy as feasible, safe, efficacious, and cost-effective as pancreaticoduodenectomy? A single center, prospective, observational study. J Gastrointest Surg 2016; 20: 1595-1607 [PMID: 27418262 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-016-3201-4]
- Hartwig W, Gluth A, Hinz U, Bergmann F, Spronk PE, Hackert T, Werner J, Büchler MW. Total pancreatectomy for primary pancreatic 57 neoplasms: renaissance of an unpopular operation. Ann Surg 2015; 261: 537-546 [PMID: 24979606 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.000000000000791]
- Watanabe Y, Ohtsuka T, Matsunaga T, Kimura H, Tamura K, Ideno N, Aso T, Miyasaka Y, Ueda J, Takahata S, Igarashi H, Inoguchi T, Ito T, 58 Tanaka M. Long-term outcomes after total pancreatectomy: special reference to survivors' living conditions and quality of life. World J Surg 2015; **39**: 1231-1239 [PMID: 25582768 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-015-2948-1]
- Clayton HA, Davies JE, Pollard CA, White SA, Musto PP, Dennison AR. Pancreatectomy with islet autotransplantation for the treatment of 59 severe chronic pancreatitis: the first 40 patients at the leicester general hospital. Transplantation 2003; 76: 92-98 [PMID: 12865792 DOI: 10.1097/01.TP.0000054618.03927.70]
- Chinnakotla S, Radosevich DM, Dunn TB, Bellin MD, Freeman ML, Schwarzenberg SJ, Balamurugan AN, Wilhelm J, Bland B, Vickers SM, 60 Beilman GJ, Sutherland DE, Pruett TL. Long-term outcomes of total pancreatectomy and islet auto transplantation for hereditary/genetic pancreatitis. J Am Coll Surg 2014; 218: 530-543 [PMID: 24655839 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2013.12.037]
- Wilson GC, Sutton JM, Abbott DE, Smith MT, Lowy AM, Matthews JB, Rilo HL, Schmulewitz N, Salehi M, Choe K, Brunner J, Hanseman 61 DJ, Sussman JJ, Edwards MJ, Ahmad SA. Long-term outcomes after total pancreatectomy and islet cell autotransplantation: is it a durable operation? Ann Surg 2014; 260: 659-65; discussion 665 [PMID: 25203883 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000000920]
- 62 Walsh RM, Saavedra JR, Lentz G, Guerron AD, Scheman J, Stevens T, Trucco M, Bottino R, Hatipoglu B. Improved quality of life following total pancreatectomy and auto-islet transplantation for chronic pancreatitis. J Gastrointest Surg 2012; 16: 1469-1477 [PMID: 22673773 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-012-1914-6
- Morgan K, Owczarski SM, Borckardt J, Madan A, Nishimura M, Adams DB. Pain control and quality of life after pancreatectomy with islet 63 autotransplantation for chronic pancreatitis. J Gastrointest Surg 2012; 16: 129-33; discussion 133 [PMID: 22042566 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-011-1744-y]
- Stoop TF, Ateeb Z, Ghorbani P, Scholten L, Arnelo U, Besselink MG, Del Chiaro M. Impact of Endocrine and Exocrine Insufficiency on 64 Quality of Life After Total Pancreatectomy. Ann Surg Oncol 2020; 27: 587-596 [PMID: 31562603 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-019-07853-3]
- Wu W, Dodson R, Makary MA, Weiss MJ, Hirose K, Cameron JL, Ahuja N, Pawlik TM, Wolfgang CL, He J. A Contemporary Evaluation of 65 the Cause of Death and Long-Term Quality of Life After Total Pancreatectomy. World J Surg 2016; 40: 2513-2518 [PMID: 27177647 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-016-3552-8]
- Barbier L, Jamal W, Dokmak S, Aussilhou B, Corcos O, Ruszniewski P, Belghiti J, Sauvanet A. Impact of total pancreatectomy: short- and 66 long-term assessment. HPB (Oxford) 2013; 15: 882-892 [PMID: 23458647 DOI: 10.1111/hpb.12054]
- Bellin MD, Schwarzenberg SJ, Cook M, Sutherland DE, Chinnakotla S. Pediatric Autologous Islet Transplantation. Curr Diab Rep 2015; 15: 67 67 [PMID: 26275441 DOI: 10.1007/s11892-015-0639-9]
- Sutherland DE, Radosevich DM, Bellin MD, Hering BJ, Beilman GJ, Dunn TB, Chinnakotla S, Vickers SM, Bland B, Balamurugan AN, 68 Freeman ML, Pruett TL. Total pancreatectomy and islet autotransplantation for chronic pancreatitis. J Am Coll Surg 2012; 214: 409-24; discussion 424 [PMID: 22397977 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2011.12.040]
- 69 Bellin MD, Freeman ML, Schwarzenberg SJ, Dunn TB, Beilman GJ, Vickers SM, Chinnakotla S, Balamurugan AN, Hering BJ, Radosevich DM, Moran A, Sutherland DE. Quality of life improves for pediatric patients after total pancreatectomy and islet autotransplant for chronic pancreatitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011; 9: 793-799 [PMID: 21683160 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2011.04.024]
- Chinnakotla S, Bellin MD, Schwarzenberg SJ, Radosevich DM, Cook M, Dunn TB, Beilman GJ, Freeman ML, Balamurugan AN, Wilhelm J, 70 Bland B, Jimenez-Vega JM, Hering BJ, Vickers SM, Pruett TL, Sutherland DE. Total pancreatectomy and islet autotransplantation in children for chronic pancreatitis: indication, surgical techniques, postoperative management, and long-term outcomes. Ann Surg 2014; 260: 56-64 [PMID: 24509206 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.000000000000569]
- Solomina J, Gołębiewska J, Kijek MR, Kotukhov A, Bachul PJ, Basto L, Gołąb K, Konsur E, Cieply K, Fillman N, Wang LJ, Thomas CC, 71 Philipson LH, Tibudan M, Dębska-Ślizień A, Fung J, Gelrud A, Matthews JB, Witkowski P. Pain Control, Glucose Control, and Quality of Life in Patients With Chronic Pancreatitis After Total Pancreatectomy With Islet Autotransplantation: A Preliminary Report. Transplant Proc 2017; 49: 2333-2339 [PMID: 29198673 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2017.10.010]


- Kausch W. Das Carcinom der Papilla duodeni und seine radikale Entfernung. Beitr Klin Chir 1912; 78: 439-486 [DOI: 72 10.1515/9783110864731-008
- Whipple AO, Parsons WB, Mullins CR. Treatment of carcinoma of the ampulla of vater. Ann Surg 1935; 102: 763-779 [PMID: 17856666 73 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-193510000-00023]
- Balcom JH 4th, Rattner DW, Warshaw AL, Chang Y, Fernandez-del Castillo C. Ten-year experience with 733 pancreatic resections: changing 74 indications, older patients, and decreasing length of hospitalization. Arch Surg 2001; 136: 391-398 [PMID: 11296108 DOI: 10.1001/archsurg.136.4.391]
- Watson K. Carcinoma of ampulla of vater successful radical resection. Br J Surg 1944; 31: 368-373 [DOI: 10.1002/bjs.18003112406] 75
- Traverso LW, Longmire WP Jr. Preservation of the pylorus in pancreaticoduodenectomy. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1978; 146: 959-962 [PMID: 76 653575
- Park HH, Kim HY, Jung SE, Lee SC, Park KW. Long-term functional outcomes of PPPD in children--Nutritional status, pancreatic function, 77 GI function and QOL. J Pediatr Surg 2016; 51: 398-402 [PMID: 26382285 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2015.08.010]
- Gagner M, Pomp A. Laparoscopic pylorus-preserving pancreatoduodenectomy. Surg Endosc 1994; 8: 408-410 [PMID: 7915434 DOI: 78 10.1007/BF00642443]
- Beger HG, Krautzberger W, Bittner R, Büchler M, Limmer J. Duodenum-preserving resection of the head of the pancreas in patients with 79 severe chronic pancreatitis. Surgery 1985; 97: 467-473 [PMID: 3983823]
- Diener MK, Hüttner FJ, Kieser M, Knebel P, Dörr-Harim C, Distler M, Grützmann R, Wittel UA, Schirren R, Hau HM, Kleespies A, 80 Heidecke CD, Tomazic A, Halloran CM, Wilhelm TJ, Bahra M, Beckurts T, Börner T, Glanemann M, Steger U, Treitschke F, Staib L, Thelen K, Bruckner T, Mihaljevic AL, Werner J, Ulrich A, Hackert T, Büchler MW; ChroPac Trial Group. Partial pancreatoduodenectomy versus duodenum-preserving pancreatic head resection in chronic pancreatitis: the multicentre, randomised, controlled, double-blind ChroPac trial. Lancet 2017; 390: 1027-1037 [PMID: 28901935 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31960-8]
- Pothula Rajendra VK, Sivanpillay Mahadevan S, Parvathareddy SR, Nara BK, Gorlagunta Ramachandra M, Tripuraneni Venkata AC, 81 Bathalapalli JM, Gudi VP, Sampath T. Frey's pancreaticojejunostomy in tropical pancreatitis: assessment of quality of life. A prospective study. World J Surg 2014; 38: 3235-3247 [PMID: 25189439 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-014-2732-7]
- Aimoto T, Uchida E, Matsushita A, Kawano Y, Mizutani S, Kobayashi T. Long-term outcomes after Frey's procedure for chronic pancreatitis 82 with an inflammatory mass of the pancreatic head, with special reference to locoregional complications. J Nippon Med Sch 2013; 80: 148-154 [PMID: 23657068 DOI: 10.1272/jnms.80.148]
- Nimura Y. Experience of Appleby's operation for advanced carcinoma of the pancreatic body and tail. Shujutsu 1976; 30: 885-889 83
- Guillemin P, Bessot M. [Chronic calcifying pancreatitis in renal tuberculosis: pancreatojejunostomy using an original technic]. Mem Acad 84 Chir (Paris) 1957; 83: 869-871 [PMID: 13503655]
- Letton AH, Wilson JP. Traumatic severance of pancreas treated by Roux-Y anastomosis. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1959; 109: 473-478 [PMID: 85 144160871
- 86 Rockey EW. Total pancreatectomy for carcinoma: Case report. Ann Surg 1943; 118: 603-611 [PMID: 17858293 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-194310000-00008



WÛ

# World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 956-968

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.956

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

# Prevalence and clinical impact of sarcopenia in liver transplant recipients: A meta-analysis

Min-Jie Jiang, Mu-Chen Wu, Zhong-Hui Duan, Jing Wu, Xiao-Tong Xu, Juan Li, Qing-Hua Meng

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

# Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Dabbous H, Egypt

Received: October 16, 2023 Peer-review started: October 16, 2023 First decision: December 21, 2023

Revised: January 3, 2024 Accepted: February 1, 2024 Article in press: February 1, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



Min-Jie Jiang, Mu-Chen Wu, Jing Wu, Xiao-Tong Xu, Juan Li, Qing-Hua Meng, Department of Hepatology, Beijing You-An Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing 100069, China

Zhong-Hui Duan, Department of Emergency, Beijing You-An Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing 100069, China

Corresponding author: Qing-Hua Meng, MD, PhD, Doctor, Professor, Department of Hepatology, Beijing You-An Hospital, Capital Medical University, No. 8 Xitoutiao, Youanmen Wai, Fengtai District, Beijing 100069, China. meng qh0805@ccmu.edu.cn

# Abstract

# BACKGROUND

The prevalence of sarcopenia in patients undergoing liver transplantation (LT) remains to be determined partly because of different diagnostic criteria. Sarcopenia has recently been recognized as a new prognostic factor for predicting outcomes in LT candidates.

# AIM

To estimate the prevalence of sarcopenia and evaluate its clinical effect on LT candidates.

# **METHODS**

This systematic search was conducted in PubMed, Web of Science, Embase, and Cochrane Library for original English-language articles that investigated the prevalence and influence of sarcopenia in patients undergoing LT from database inception to November 30, 2022. Cohort studies of the definition of sarcopenia that estimate sarcopenia prevalence and evaluate its effect on clinical outcomes and the risk of mortality were included.

# RESULTS

Twenty-five studies involving 7760 patients undergoing LT were included. The pooled prevalence of sarcopenia in patients undergoing LT was 40.7% [95% confidence intervals (95%CI): 32.1-49.6]. The 1-, 3-, and 5-year cumulative probabilities of post-LT survival in patients with preoperative sarcopenia were all lower than those without sarcopenia (P < 0.05). Sarcopenia was associated with an increased risk of post-LT mortality in patients undergoing LT (adjusted hazard ratio: 1.58; 95% CI: 1.21–2.07). Patients with preoperative sarcopenia had a longer intensive care unit stay, a high risk ratio of sepsis, and serious post-LT complications than those without sarcopenia.



#### **CONCLUSION**

Sarcopenia is prevalent in a substantial proportion of patients undergoing LT and is strongly and independently associated with higher a risk of mortality risk.

Key Words: Sarcopenia; Liver transplantation; Mortality; Clinical outcomes

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** The prevalence and effect of sarcopenia on patients undergoing liver transplantation (LT) remains to be determined partly because of different diagnostic criteria. Twenty-five studies involving 7760 patients undergoing LT were included in this meta-analysis. The pooled prevalence of sarcopenia in patients undergoing LT was 40.7%. Sarcopenia was associated with an increased risk of post-LT mortality in patients undergoing LT.

Citation: Jiang MJ, Wu MC, Duan ZH, Wu J, Xu XT, Li J, Meng QH. Prevalence and clinical impact of sarcopenia in liver transplant recipients: A meta-analysis. World J Gastroenterol 2024; 30(8): 956-968 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/956.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.956

# INTRODUCTION

According to the Global Burden of Disease project, liver disease accounts for approximately 2 million deaths annually worldwide, including one million patients who died from complications of cirrhosis and one million patients who died from liver cancer and viral hepatitis[1]. Liver transplantation (LT) has become the standard treatment for patients with decompensated end-stage liver disease (ESLD)[2]. However, less than 10% of global organ transplantation needs are met at current rates of transplantation[1]. With the widespread shortage of human organs, rigorous selection of LT candidates is essential[3]. Therefore, choosing which patients are clinically suitable for LT is one of the hardest challenges for clinicians. Waiting-list mortality and post-LT survival are key determinant factors in waiting-list placement[3]. The model for ESLD (MELD) score is the most common tool used to predict outcomes in patients for LT[4]. Although the MELD score has a strong predictive value for pre-LT outcomes, it underestimates disease severity in approximately 15%-20% of patients with cirrhosis, leading to an inaccurate prediction of post-LT outcomes[4]. A common but often overlooked complication in patients with ESLD is malnutrition[5]. Undeniably, patients who are malnourished are more likely to suffer from adverse outcomes and have a high mortality risk[6,7]. Given the importance of nutritional status, an appropriate nutritional assessment must be established to determine the effect of nutritional status on patients undergoing LT.

Sarcopenia is a progressive and generalized loss of skeletal muscle mass, strength, and function and is a major component of malnutrition[8]. A previous study discovered that patients with cirrhosis have a high protein oxidation rate and a low carbohydrate oxidation rate, leading to an imbalance in skeletal muscle protein synthesis and breakdown[9]. Hepatocellular dysfunction and portosystemic shunting also result in biochemical and hormonal perturbations in patients with ESLD that contribute to sarcopenia[7]. The prevalence of sarcopenia in patients with ESLD ranges from 30% to 70%, depending on the liver disease etiology, disease stage, and diagnostic criteria[10]. Regardless of how sarcopenia is defined, it is a robust predictor of clinically relevant adverse outcomes, including poor quality of life, mortality in patients on the LT waitlist, longer stays in the hospital or intensive care unit, high incidence of infection following LT, and higher overall healthcare costs[11].

Over the past few years, sarcopenia has become a topic of prolific exploration in patients with ESLD[11]. A metaanalysis published in 2016 indicated that sarcopenia was associated with post-LT mortality; however, overlapping patients were included in this article<sup>[3]</sup>. Since then, several large and rigorously designed studies with long-term followup have been published. Considering the large variability in the prevalence of sarcopenia, the effect of sarcopenia on a broader range of clinically important LT-related outcomes remains unclear. Thus, this meta-analysis aimed to systematically evaluate the literature about patients who underwent LT to summarize the diagnostic criteria for sarcopenia, estimate its prevalence, and assess its effect on clinical outcomes.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

This meta-analysis was conducted based on the PRISMA checklist and was registered in PROSPERO (CRD42022379765).

#### Search strategy and Selection criteria

A systematic search was conducted in PubMed, Web of Science, Embase, and Cochrane Library for original Englishlanguage articles that investigated the prevalence and effect of sarcopenia on patients undergoing LT from database



inception to November 30, 2022. The search keywords and search strategies for all the included databases are shown in Supplementary Table 1. To find additional potential studies, the reference lists of the included articles were also manually searched. In addition, the study only included human studies.

The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Patients who underwent LT; (2) a definite diagnosis of sarcopenia based on either muscle mass or muscle function parameters; (3) studies that included the prevalence of sarcopenia in patients who underwent LT and clinical outcomes for post-LT patients; and (4) prospective or retrospective cohort studies. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Case reports or review articles; (2) unclear definition of sarcopenia; (3) studies that only examined the effect of sarcopenia on pre-LT patients or patients awaiting LT; (4) duplicate studies; and (5) studies with insufficient data or unclear study information. Two reviewers independently read the full text and screened the articles that met the inclusion and exclusion criteria. The discrepancies between reviewers regarding inclusion were settled through consensus or by consulting with third-party experts.

#### Data extraction and quality assessment

Data were independently extracted and coded from each included study by two researchers (Jiang MJ and Wu MC) using an Excel spreadsheet. The basic information gathered from the studies included in this analysis encompasses the first author, year of publication, study design, study location, age or sex distribution, total number of participants, definition of sarcopenia, crude prevalence of sarcopenia, clinical characteristics, including the etiology of liver disease, liver function, presence of hepatocellular carcinoma, follow-up duration, and relevant outcomes. The quality of the included studies was also scored by at least two authors (Jiang MJ, Wu MC, Duan ZH, and Xiao TX) independently using the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS; 9 items in total, out of 9 points)[12]. Disagreements were resolved by consensus or discussion with a third author (Wu J, Li J, and Meng QH).

#### Statistical analysis

The prevalence of sarcopenia was determined through a meta-analysis. Subgroup data were collected according to the method used to define sarcopenia, sex, region, etiology of liver disease, and severity of liver disease. The primary outcome of this meta-analysis was mortality risk in patients undergoing LT with sarcopenia. The effect of sarcopenia on the incidence of post-LT survival was evaluated using the pooled unadjusted hazard ratio (HR) or adjusted HR and 95% confidence intervals (95%CI). The 90-day, 1-year, 3-year, and 5-year cumulative mortality were also pooled for patients with and without sarcopenia using the Freeman-Tukey double arcsine transformation method<sup>[13]</sup>. Continuous outcome data evaluated using homogenous metrics (e.g., same test instrument) were summarized as weighted mean difference (WMD) and 95% CI. Dichotomous variables were tested using both risk ratios (RR) and 95% CI. Random-effects metaregression was used to test the difference between two groups. Sensitivity analysis was used to evaluate the stability of the model. Egger's and Begg's tests combined with the observation funnel plot were used to evaluate publication bias. Heterogeneity was statistically assessed using the I<sup>2</sup> measurement and Cochran's Q statistic. A random effects model was used if heterogeneity was high (P value of Q statistic  $\leq 0.1$  or  $l^2 \geq 50\%$ ). Stata 16 software was used for the meta-analysis. Two-sided P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# RESULTS

#### Characteristics of the included studies

A detailed flowchart of the literature search is shown in Figure 1. Of the 7573 records identified from four databases (PubMed, *n* = 1,042; EMBASE, *n* = 4312; Cochrane Library, *n* = 289; Web of Science, *n* = 1930), 1863 duplicates and 5408 ineligible titles/abstracts were excluded. Of the other 302 articles that underwent full-text review, 25 retrospective cohort studies with data on 7760 patients were included. The detailed characteristics of all the studies in this meta-analysis are summarized in Table 1. Overall, 10 of the 25 studies were from Asia, 6 from Europe, 5 from North America, and 2 from Africa. Only one study was from Australia, and one was a multicenter international study. The number of patients of the included studies ranged from 47 to 2816. The mean age of the patients ranged from 41.6 to 57.0 years among the included researches. All studies were rated high quality with an NOS score of  $\geq$  7 (Supplementary Table 2).

#### Diagnosis of sarcopenia

All the studies included in this meta-analysis used a low muscle mass as the basis of diagnosis. No studies have used low muscle strength or low physical performance as diagnostic criteria. Twenty-four studies used skeletal muscle area-based CT to diagnose sarcopenia, and only one study used dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) to assess sarcopenia. Fifteen studies reported the cross-sectional muscle area with the third lumbar-skeletal muscle index (L3-SMI), whereas the psoas muscle area or psoas muscle index (PMI) was reported in nine studies. Twenty-three studies used different diagnostic criteria based on sex. As the most used diagnostic method for sarcopenia, the cutoff values of L3-SMI ranged from 39.0-52.4 cm<sup>2</sup>/m<sup>2</sup> in men and from 28.9-42 cm<sup>2</sup>/m<sup>2</sup> in women. A summary of the diagnostic criteria used to assess sarcopenia in the included studies is presented in Table 1.

#### Prevalence of sarcopenia

The prevalence of sarcopenia was reported in 25 studies (n = 7760) and ranged from 11.0% to 78.3%, yielding a pooled prevalence of 40.7% (95%CI: 32.1-49.6; Figure 2A). Given the significant heterogeneity, subgroup analyses of sarcopenia rates were conducted for different definitions, sexes, regions, basic diseases, and Child-Pugh class (Table 2). The



	A1				
Table 1	Charac	teristics	of the incl	uded	studies
10010 1	onarao				otaaloo

Ref.	Country	Methods for measuring muscle mass	Definition of sarcopenia	Sample size ( <i>n</i> )	Mean age (yr)	Male (%)	HCC (%)	BMI (Kg/m²)	Follow-up time	NOS
Kumar <i>et al</i> [ <b>2</b> ], 2020	India	CT: L3-SMI	L3-SMI < 52.4 $\text{cm}^2/\text{m}^2$ for male and < 38.5 $\text{cm}^2/\text{m}^2$ for female	115	46.30 ± 10.20	90.4	-	$24.5 \pm 4.3$	90 d	7
Bhanji <i>et al</i> [ <mark>8</mark> ], 2019	United States	CT: L3-SMI	L3-SMI < 50 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> in men and < 39 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> in women	293	51.95 ± 11.00	70.3	30.4	27.51 ± 5.73	13	8
Shafaat <i>et al</i> [ <mark>26</mark> ], 2023	United States	CT: L3-SMI	L3-SMI < 50 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> in men, < 39 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> in women	454	57.00 ± 8.89	65.0	-	29.0 ± 5.7	11yr	9
Sim <i>et al</i> [27], 2022	Korea	CT: L3-SMI	L3-SMI < $39.9$ cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> in men, < $28.9$ cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> in women	2816	53.00 ± 7.41	75.0	52.8	$24.2 \pm 3.1$	7.8 yr	8
Prakash <i>et al</i> [ <mark>28</mark> ], 2022	India	CT: L4-PMTH	L4-PMTH < 1 mm/m for men and < 10.4 mm/m for women	51	46.40 ± 9.10	96.1	37.3	23.34 ± 5.1	-	7
Wu et al[ <mark>29</mark> ], 2021	Taiwan China	CT: L3-PMI	L3-PMI < $2.63 \text{ cm}^2/\text{m}^2$ for female	122	52.32 ± 7.98	55.0	24.6	24.83 ± 4.45	10 yr	8
Kuo et al <mark>[30]</mark> , 2019	United States	CT: L3-SMI	L3-SMI < 48 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> for men	126	53.00 ± 8.89	63.0	14.0	$28\pm6.67$	10.6 yr	8
Golse <i>et al</i> [31] 2017	France	CT: L3-4 PMA	L3-4 PMA < 1464 mm <sup>2</sup> in women and < 1561 mm <sup>2</sup> in men	256	5.003 ± 10.50	76.6	40.0	25.3 ± 10.5	8 yr	8
Beumer <i>et al</i> [ <mark>32</mark> ], 2022	Multicenter interna- tional study	CT: L3-SMI	L3-SMI < 37 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> for women with a BMI < 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> or 42 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> for women with a BMI > 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> , and < 45 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> for men with a BMI < 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> , or < 51 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> for men with a BMI > 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	528	57.00 ± 9.00	86.0	100.0	26.67 ± 5.02	5 yr	8
Pinto Dos Santos <i>et al</i> [33], 2020	Germany	CT: L3-PSMI	L3-PSMI < $18.6 \text{ cm}^2/\text{m}^2$	368	56.80 ± 9.70	69.3	44.6	25.2 ± 4.37	10 yr	7
Izumi <i>et al</i> [ <mark>34</mark> ], 2017	Japan	CT: L3-PMI	L3-PMI < 612.5 $\text{mm}^2/\text{m}^2$ in men and < 442.9 $\text{mm}^2/\text{m}^2$ in women	47	$54.00 \pm 10.00$	51.1	23.4	-	120 d	7
Hamaguchi <i>et al</i> [ <mark>35</mark> ], 2017	Japan	CT: L3-SMI	L3-SMI < 40.31 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> in men and < 30.88 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> in women	250	$54.00 \pm 14.07$	44.8	33.0	22.7 ± 3.63	5 yr	8
Irwin <i>et al</i> [ <mark>36</mark> ], 2021	South Africa	CT: L3-SMI	L3-SMI < 39 $\text{cm}^2/\text{m}^2$ for women and < 50 $\text{cm}^2/\text{m}^2$ for men	106	-	60.4	-	-	1 yr	9
Tan <i>et al</i> [14], 2022	China	CT: L3-PMI	L3-PMI < $6.25 \text{ cm}^2/\text{m}^2$ for man	70	41.60 ± 9.70	100.0	-	22.9 ± 2.9	10 yr	8
Masuda <i>et a</i> l[ <mark>37</mark> ], 2014	Japan	CT: L3-PMA	< 800 cm <sup>2</sup> for men and < 380 cm <sup>2</sup> for women	204	54.32 ± 9.60	50.49	-	$23.6\pm3.4$	8 yr	7
Miarka <i>et al</i> [ <mark>38</mark> ], 2021	Poland	CT: L3-SMI	L3-SMI < 50 $\text{cm}^2/\text{m}^2$ for men and 39 $\text{cm}^2/\text{m}^2$ for women	98	55.00 ± 8.00	76.5	26.5	$27 \pm 4$	1224 d	7

#### Jiang MJ et al. Sarcopenia in liver transplant recipients

Montano-Loza <i>et al</i> [39], 2014	Canada	CT: L3-SMI	L3-SMI $\leq$ 41 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> for women and $\leq$ 53 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> for men with a BMI $\geq$ 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> and L3 SMI $\leq$ 43 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> for patients with a BMI $\leq$ 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	248	$55.00 \pm 1.00$	68.0	39.0	27.19 ± 2.23	5 yr	9
Kalafateli et al <mark>[23]</mark> , 2017	United Kingdom	CT: L3-PMI	L3-PMI < 340 mm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> for men and < 264 mm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> for women	232	$54.00 \pm 12.00$	69.8	25.0	25 ± 6.43	1 yr	8
Czigany <i>et al</i> [40], 2020	Germany	CT: L3-SMI	L3-SMI < 50 $\text{cm}^2/\text{m}^2$ in men and < 39 $\text{cm}^2/\text{m}^2$ in women	225	$54.00 \pm 12.00$	66.7	28.0	27 ± 5	90 d	8
Hey et al[ <mark>41</mark> ], 2022	Australia	DEXA: APLM	APLM < 7.26 kg/m <sup>2</sup> for male and < 5.5 kg/m <sup>2</sup> for female	469	55.00 ± 10.59	72.1	26.0	-	1 yr	8
Lindqvist <i>et al</i> [ <mark>42</mark> ], 2019	Sweden	CT: L3-SMI	L3-SMI < 43 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> for men with BMI < 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> and < 53 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> for BMI > 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> and < 41 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> for women in all BMI ranges	53	$57.00 \pm 11.11$	69.8	52.8	25.1 ± 5.3	1 yr	8
Riccardo <i>et al</i> [43], 2019	Japan	CT: L3-SMI	L3-SMI < 42 $\text{cm}^2/\text{m}^2$ for men and L3-SMI < 38 $\text{cm}^2/\text{m}^2$ for women	138	$57.00 \pm 13$	56.5	-	$24.8\pm5$	10 yr	8
Andrea <i>et al</i> [21], 2013	United States	CT: L3-4 SMI	L3-4 SMI $\leq$ 38.5 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> for women and $\leq$ 52.4 cm <sup>2</sup> /m <sup>2</sup> for men	338	55.00 ± 10.00	65.9	-	28 ± 6	1021.2 d	9
Young <i>et al</i> [44], 2018	Korea	CT: L3-PMTH	L3-PMTH < 15.5 mm/m	92	53.33 ± 5.75	67.4	100.0	24.17 ± 2.81	36 months	8
Hassan et al[45], 2022	Egypt	CT: L3-SMI	L3-SMI < 52.4 $\text{cm}^2/\text{m}^2$ for male and < 38.5 $\text{cm}^2/\text{m}^2$ for female	61	48.70 ± 12.50	75,4	-	23.9 ± 3.9	6 months	7

HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; NOS: Newcastle-Ottawa Scale; L3: The caudal end of the third lumbar vertebra; L3-SMI: Third lumbar-skeletal muscle index; PMA: The Area of the Psoas Muscle; PMTH: The psoas muscle thickness to height ratio; PSMI: Paraspinal muscle index; APLM: Appendicular lean mass; PMI: Psoas muscle index.

subgroup analysis based on the definition of sarcopenia showed that the prevalence of sarcopenia was 41.5% (95%CI: 29.6–53.9) when defined by L3-SMI, 36.4% (95%CI: 16.2–59.5) by L3-PMI, and 41.5% (95%CI: 26.7–57.1) by other definitions. A subgroup analysis by sex was also performed, which revealed that male patients had a higher pooled prevalence of sarcopenia (43.3%, 95%CI: 31.1–55.9) than female patients (33.1%, 95%CI: 21.6–45.6). Moreover, 23 studies were analyzed by regional subgroup, and Africa had the highest pooled prevalence of sarcopenia among patients undergoing LT (57.6%, 95%CI: 50.0–65.1). Among the different primary liver diseases, patients with alcoholic liver disease had the highest prevalence of sarcopenia (52.2%, 95%CI: 36.2–68.2). Finally, the prevalence for patients with Child–Pugh class C (54.3%, 95%CI: 43.9–64.8) was higher than those with Child–Pugh class B (38.9%, 95%CI: 30.8–47.0) or A (30.4%, 95%CI: 26.0–35.0).

#### Cumulative post-LT survival in patients with and without sarcopenia

The 90-day, 1-year, 3-year, and 5-year cumulative probabilities of post-LT survival in patients with sarcopenia were 92.9% (95%CI: 88.9–96.9), 79.8% (95%CI: 72.8–86.8), 74.3% (95%CI: 68.0–80.5), and 63.6% (95%CI: 56.5–70.6), respectively (Supplementary Figures 1-4). By comparison, they were 96.5% (95%CI: 94.7–98.3), 92.7% (95%CI: 90.2–96.2), 93.4% (95%CI: 90.6–96.2), and 79.5% (95%CI: 73.2–85.8), respectively, in patients without sarcopenia (Supplementary Figures 1-4). The 1-, 3-, and 5-year cumulative probabilities of post-LT survival in patients with preoperative sarcopenia were all lower than those without preoperative sarcopenia (P < 0.05). However, regardless of whether patients had sarcopenia, no difference was found in the 90-day cumulative probabilities of survival post-LT (P = 0.289; Table 3).

Table 2 The pooled overall prevalence of sarcopenia in study subgroups										
Subgroup	Studies ( <i>n</i> )	Sarcopenia ( <i>n</i> )	Prevalence [% (95%Cl)]	₽ (%)	P value					
L3-SMI	15	1562	41.5 (29.6-53.9)	98.6	< 0.001 <sup>a</sup>					
L3-PMI	4	139	36.4 (16.2-59.5)	95.6	< 0.001 <sup>a</sup>					
Others	6	538	41.5 (26.7-57.1)	97.0	< 0.001 <sup>a</sup>					
Sex										
Male	17	1280	43.3 (31.1-55.9)	98.9	< 0.001 <sup>a</sup>					
Female	15	366	33.1 (21.6-45.6)	95.7	< 0.001 <sup>a</sup>					
World region										
Europe	6	458	37.7 (26.6-49.5)	94.0	< 0.001 <sup>a</sup>					
Asia	10	734	38.8 (23.3-55.5)	98.3	< 0.001 <sup>a</sup>					
North America	5	661	47.8 (33.4-62.4)	96.7	< 0.001 <sup>a</sup>					
Africa	2	96	57.6 (50.0-65.1)	0.0	< 0.001 <sup>a</sup>					
Disease types										
Viral	8	407	32.3 (18.9-47.2)	97.0	< 0.001 <sup>a</sup>					
ALD	11	477	52.2 (36.2-68.2)	96.8	< 0.001 <sup>a</sup>					
NAFLD	5	54	47.2 (25.7-68.6)	85.6	< 0.001 <sup>a</sup>					
AIH/PSC/PBC	4	141	33.6 (19.0-48.2)	63.5	0.042 <sup>a</sup>					
HCC	10	399	35.9 (18.6-53.2)	98.4	< 0.001 <sup>a</sup>					
Other	7	123	41.2 (22.6-59.8)	92.2	< 0.001 <sup>a</sup>					
Child-Pugh class										
А	4	121	30.4 (26.0-35.0)	44.6	0.144					
В	5	157	38.9 (30.8-47.0)	56.8	0.055					
С	7	446	54.3 (43.9-64.8)	88.2	< 0.001 <sup>a</sup>					

<sup>a</sup>P value < 0.05.

L3-SMI: Third lumbar-skeletal muscle index; L3-PMI: Third lumbar- psoas muscle index; ALD: Alcoholic liver disease; NAFLD: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; AIH: Autoimmune hepatitis; PSC: Primary sclerosing cholangitis; PBC: Primary biliary cholangitis; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma.

Table 3 Pooled 90 d and 1, 3, and 5-year cumulative survival probabilities in patients with and without sarcopenia									
Survival [% (95%Cl)]	With sarcopenia	Without sarcopenia	<i>P</i> value						
90-day	92.9 (88.9-96.9), 5 studies 422 patients	96.5 (94.7-98.3), 5 studies 891 patients	0.289						
1-year	79.8 (72.8-86.8), 10 studies 894 patients	92.7 (90.2-95.2), 10 studies 3475 patients	0.015 <sup>a</sup>						
3-year	74.3 (68.0-80.5) 4 studies 185 patients	93.4 (90.6-96.2) 4 studies 291 patients	0.003 <sup>a</sup>						
5-year	63.6 (56.5-70.6) 8 studies 730 patients	79.5 (73.2-85.8) 8 studies 1316 patients	0.006 <sup>a</sup>						

 $^{a}P$  value < 0.05.

The P value was produced using the random-effects meta-regression method.

# Association between sarcopenia and post-LT mortality

Based on univariate analysis of data from 9 studies (n = 4845), sarcopenia was associated with an increased risk of post-LT mortality, with a pooled unadjusted HR of 1.72 (95% CI: 1.33–2.24, P = 60.7%, P = 0.009; Supplementary Figure 5). In data from multivariate analysis (nine studies, n = 4430), sarcopenia was still significantly associated with increased post-LT mortality with a pooled adjusted HR of 1.58 (95% CI: 1.21–2.07, *P* = 54.4%, *P* = 0.025; Figure 2B).

# Impact of sarcopenia on clinical outcomes

Seven studies involving 1,369 patients reported data on the length of ICU stay that were available for meta-analysis.





Figure 1 Literature identification process.

Patients with preoperative sarcopenia had longer ICU stays than those without sarcopenia post-LT (WMD: 4.503, 95%CI: 2.218–6.788, P < 0.001) (Supplementary Figure 6). Six studies involving 1001 patients reported data on the length of stay (LOS) and were included in the meta-analysis. LOS was not different in patients with or without preoperative sarcopenia (WMD: 9.352, 95%CI: 2.557–15.261, P = 0.162; Supplementary Figure 7). Data from four studies involving 606 patients were available for meta-analysis of developing sepsis post-LT, showing that patients with preoperative sarcopenia had a higher risk of sepsis post-LT than those without sarcopenia (RR: 2.00, 95%CI: 1.143–3.503, P = 0.015; Supplementary Figure 8). Four studies involving 643 patients reported data of the Clavien–Dindo classification and were included in the meta-analysis. Patients with preoperative sarcopenia had a higher RR of serious postoperative complications (Clavien–Dindo classification  $\geq$  3) than those without preoperative sarcopenia (RR: 1.287, 95%CI: 1.05–1.583, P = 0.017; Supplementary Figure 9).

# Sensitivity analysis, meta-regression, and publication bias

Sensitivity analyses that excluded one study at a time and then pooled the remaining studies showed adjusted HRs ranging from 1.49 to 1.70, suggesting that our results were robust (Supplementary Figure 10). Meta-regression analyses showed no association of pooled adjusted HR with sample size (P = 0.819), percentage of male patients (P = 0.660), average follow-up time (P = 0.746), different regions (P = 0.786), diagnostic method (P = 0.553), and NOS (P = 0.865; Supplementary Table 3). The funnel plot was symmetrical (Figure 3). Egger's (P = 0.526) and Begg's (P = 0.348) tests suggested no significant statistical evidence of publication bias.

# DISCUSSION

LT is the only potential treatment for ESLD[14]. To increase the survival rates of LT candidates, preoperative risk assessment for risk is essential. Most patients with ESLD who undergo LT are physically deconditioned, with low functional capacity, malnutrition, sarcopenia, and frailty[10,15]. Sarcopenia is a common symptom of ESLD that strongly affects adverse outcomes and mortality in this population[11]. Although a meta-analysis also evaluated the association between skeletal muscle mass and mortality in patients with cirrhosis, studies of post-LT patients were excluded[5]. Another systematic review reported sarcopenia-impaired outcomes in patients awaiting or undergoing LT; many patients evaluated for LT but did not undergo LT were also included in this meta-analysis[3]. However, since then, a number of large, rigorously designed, and long-term follow-up studies have provided updated data. Therefore, in this study, a more comprehensive search was performed, a much larger pool of potential studies was screened, studies with overlapping cohorts and only waiting-LT patients were excluded, and a comprehensive range of subgroup and sensitivity analyses was performed to summarize the prevalence, post-LT survival, and outcomes of sarcopenia in patients who underwent LT.

A Study (year)	Sarcopenia	Total			ES (95%0	CI) Weight (%)
Shafaat 2022	136	454		1	0.300 (0.2	59, 0.343) 4.11
Ji-Hoon 2021	309	2816			0.110 (0.0	99, 0.122) 4.15
Kelika 2022	15	51		<u>.</u>	0.294 (0.1	87, 0.430) 3.79
Wu 2021	14	122 —	_	1	0.115 (0.0	70, 0.183) 3.99
Selena 2019	37	80	_		0.463 (0.3	57, 0.571) 3.91
Nicolas 2016	57	256		1	0.223 (0.1	76, 0.278) 4.08
Berend 2022	176	528		1	0.333 (0.2	94, 0.375) 4.12
Daniel 2019	184	368		i —	0.500 (0.4	49, 0.551) 4.10
Toshio 2016	30	47		i — —	0.638 (0.4	95, 0.760) 3.76
Yuhei 2016	53	250	_		0.212 (0.1	66, 0.267) 4.07
Natalie 2021	69	106		i —	0.651 (0.5	56, 0.735) 3.97
Tan 2021	38	70		i	0.543 (0.4	27, 0.654) 3.88
Vaibhaw 2019	55	115			0.478 (0.3	89, 0.569) 3.98
Toshiro 2013	96	204			0.471 (0.4	03, 0.539) 4.06
Maciej 2021	55	98		¦	0.561 (0.4	63, 0.655) 3.95
Aldo J 2014	112	248		<b>┼</b> ─ <b>■</b> ───	0.452 (0.3	91, 0.514) 4.07
Rahima A 2019	146	293		¦	0.498 (0.4	41, 0.555) 4.09
Maria 2017	57	232		1	0.246 (0.1	95, 0.305) 4.07
Zoltan 019	84	225		<u> </u>	0.373 (0.3	13, 0.438) 4.07
Catarina 2018	21	53			0.396 (0.2	76, 0.531) 3.80
Riccardo 2019	52	138		<u>1</u>	0.377 (0.3	00, 0.460) 4.01
Andrea 2013	230	338			0.680 (0.6	29, 0.728) 4.09
Young 2018	72	92		1	0.783 (0.6	88, 0.855) 3.94
Penelope 2022	114	469		1	0.243 (0.2	06, 0.284) 4.11
Elham 2022	27	61			0.443 (0.3	25, 0.567) 3.84
Overall (P = 98.17	7%, p = 0.000)				0.407 (0.3	21, 0.496) 100.00
B Study (vear)		0.1	 0.2 0.3 0.	I I I 4 0.5 0.6	I I 0.7 0.8 HB (95%CI	) Weight (%
Omid Shafaat (	2022)			_ <u>i</u>	1.60 (1.10	2 40) 16 00
li_Hoon Sim (2	021)				1.00 (1.10,	1.87) 10.00
Selena Z Kuo (	(2019)				4 39 (1 49	12 97) 4 97
Berend R. Beur	ner (2022)				1.45 (1.03.	2.05) 17.27
Yuhei Hamaque	chi (2016)				2.37 (1.40.	3.96) 12.72
Yifei Tan (2021	)				2.94 (1.04.	8.30) 5.30
Toshiro Masuda	, a (2013)				2.06 (1.01,	4.20) 9.01
Maciej Miarka (	2021)				0.82 (0.26,	2.56) 4.55
Rahima A. Bha	nji (2019)			<b>_</b>	0.66 (0.36,	1.20) 10.97
Overall, DL ( <i>l</i> <sup>2</sup>	= <b>54.4%</b> , <i>p</i> = 0	0.025)			1.58 (1.21,	2.07) 100.00
		0.625		1	1	

Figure 2 The prevalence and clinical impact of sarcopenia in patients underwent liver transplantation. A: The pooled overall prevalence of sarcopenia in patients underwent liver transplantation in the included studies; B: Forest plot for multivariate analysis assessing the association between sarcopenia and mortality risk.

As a major component of malnutrition, sarcopenia is a strong predictor of morbidity and mortality in patients with ESLD[16]. Despite the importance of sarcopenia, no consensus has been established regarding how to accurately measure and define sarcopenia in clinical settings[17]. The European Working Group on Sarcopenia defined sarcopenia as "a progressive and generalized skeletal muscle disorder associated with an increased likelihood of adverse outcomes including falls, fractures, disability, and mortality", combining both muscle mass and muscle strength or muscle



Figure 3 Funnel plot with 95% pseudo-confidence limits for all included studies.

performance[18]. In this study, 24 studies used skeletal muscle area measured by CT scans as the method to diagnose sarcopenia, and only one study used DEXA to assess sarcopenia. None of the included studies used low muscle strength or low physical performance as diagnostic criteria in this meta-analysis. While most working groups recommend considering both muscle mass and muscle function for the diagnosis of sarcopenia, most studies in patients with liver disease have investigated sarcopenia using measures of muscle mass alone[10,18,19]. Based on the available data on liver disease, some guidance developed a consensus definition for the operationalization of sarcopenia in liver disease as the phenotypic manifestation of loss of muscle mass alone[10,11]. In the future, muscle strength or physical performance should also be included in the diagnosis of sarcopenia, and consistent tests should be conducted to diagnose sarcopenia.

Owing to the varied definitions of sarcopenia, a wide range of the prevalence of sarcopenia in patients undergoing LT was reported[3]. In this meta-analysis, the overall pooled prevalence of sarcopenia for patients who underwent LT was 40.6%. In another meta-analysis, the prevalence of sarcopenia ranged from 22.2% to nearly 70% in patients undergoing LT or evaluated for LT[3]. A previous meta-analysis excluded post-LT patients, and sarcopenia affected 37.5% of patients with cirrhosis[5]. The etiology of liver disease has been associated with differences in the prevalence of sarcopenia[10,20]. Our finding is consistent with previous studies that have shown that patients with alcohol-associated liver disease (ALD) had a lower baseline muscle mass[20,21]. A previous study reported that sarcopenia is related to the severity of liver disease as estimated by the Child–Pugh class[22]. In another study, the muscle mass index was negatively correlated with the Child–Pugh score[16]. In this meta-analysis, patients with ALD and those in the Child–Pugh C class had the highest prevalence of sarcopenia of > 50%. Our study is in line with the results from a recent study that showed that sarcopenia is common in patients with ESLD and worsens with the progression of liver disease[16]. All studies that reported the prevalence of sarcopenia separately for different sexes included in this meta-analysis indicated a higher prevalence among men. Sex is believed as the most important factor influencing muscle mass in the general population[16]. Therefore, future studies to define sarcopenia are needed for clinical application with consideration of sex, age, ethnicity, and basic diseases.

The North American Expert Opinion Statement on Sarcopenia in LT recommends using sarcopenia to predict the prognosis of LT[11]. However, various clinical outcomes, such as overall mortality in evaluated patients, waitlist mortality in listed patients, post-LT mortality in patients undergoing LT, and short-term vs long-term outcomes, confound the comparison between published studies and the development of generalized definitions[11]. Our studies mainly focused on post-LT mortality and complications. From this meta-analysis, no difference in the 90-day cumulative probabilities of survival post-LT was found between patients with or without sarcopenia. However, the 1-, 3-, and 5-year cumulative probabilities of post-LT survival in patients with sarcopenia were all lower than those in patients without sarcopenia. In our meta-analysis, sarcopenia was associated with a pooled HR of 1.58 (95%CI: 1.21-2.07) for post-LT mortality similar to a prior meta-analysis with a pooled HR of 1.84 (95%CI: 1.11–3.05) for post-LT mortality[3]. Although multiple studies have shown sarcopenia to be associated with post-LT mortality[3,23,24], data reporting preoperative sarcopenia associated with adverse post-LT outcomes are limited. In this meta-analysis, patients with preoperative sarcopenia had longer ICU stays than those without sarcopenia post-LT. In addition, patients with preoperative sarcopenia had a higher RR of sepsis and serious post-LT complications than those without sarcopenia. This indicates that preoperative sarcopenia may play an important role in the clinical outcomes of patients undergoing LT. Given the lack of an objective metric of sarcopenia, some guidelines do not recommend using sarcopenia as a contraindication against LT [10,11]. However, sarcopenia may guide the decision about LT in an attempt to minimize liver-related complications and optimize overall patient recovery. Therefore, it is important to incorporate sarcopenia into the management and treatment of LT candidates to optimize nutrition and physical activity[25].

This study has several limitations. First, the wide inclusion criteria in this study generated significant heterogeneity that could not be explained. A random-effects model with subgroup analyses was used whenever possible to minimize the effect of heterogeneity. Subgroup analysis, meta-regression, and sensitivity analysis were used to identify the possible



sources of heterogeneity. Second, significant heterogeneity in the means of defining sarcopenia and the diagnostic criteria employed was noted among the included studies. Thus, future studies should build uniform cutoff thresholds based on ethnicity to assess sarcopenia. Third, the included articles and all diagnostic protocols lacked an assessment of muscle strength and physical performance. Future prospective studies using the criteria including muscle mass and muscle strength/physical performance must determine whether the predictive power is improved after employing a more comprehensive algorithm to diagnose sarcopenia. Fourth, the number of studies on some variables for clinical outcomes was limited, so the application and promotion of the combined results were also restricted to a certain extent. Fifth, the etiology of liver diseases is an important factor associated with mortality. However, we could not analyze the effect of liver disease etiology on our results because the HR in each study was not reported separately according to etiology. Finally, although the quality of the included studies was evaluated using the NOS statement entries during the search and screening processes, some subjectivity remained in the evaluation of the literature because of the lack of accepted quality evaluation criteria, which may lead to some selection bias in the included studies.

# CONCLUSION

This meta-analysis demonstrated that sarcopenia affects 40% of LT recipients. This study also showed that sarcopenia was associated with a 1.58-fold higher risk of post-LT mortality. Sarcopenia was also associated with long-term survival rates and adverse post-LT outcomes. Because of the high prevalence and adverse post-LT outcomes, sarcopenia should be considered a part of the initial evaluation of LT candidates. More future studies are needed are needed to incorporate sarcopenia or muscle mass index/function into a formal prognostic scale for LT patients.

# **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Liver transplantation (LT) has become the standard treatment for patients with end-stage liver disease (ESLD). With the widespread shortage of human organs, rigorous selection of LT candidates is essential. Over the past few years, sarcopenia has become a topic of prolific exploration in patients with ESLD. Sarcopenia has recently been recognized as a new prognostic factor for predicting outcomes in LT candidates. Therefore, this study aimed to estimate the prevalence of sarcopenia and evaluate its clinical effect on LT candidates.

#### Research motivation

As a major component of malnutrition, sarcopenia is a strong predictor of morbidity and mortality in patients with ESLD. However, the link between sarcopenia and LT candidates is not well studied.

#### Research objectives

This meta-analysis aimed to systematically evaluate the literature about patients who underwent LT to summarize the diagnostic criteria for sarcopenia, estimate its prevalence, and assess its effect on clinical outcomes.

#### Research methods

This systematic search was conducted in PubMed, Web of Science, EMBASE, and Cochrane Library for original Englishlanguage articles that investigated the prevalence and influence of sarcopenia on patients undergoing LT from database inception to November 30, 2022. The prevalence of sarcopenia was determined through a meta-analysis. The effect of sarcopenia on the incidence of post-LT survival was evaluated using the pooled unadjusted hazard ratio (HR) or adjusted HR and 95% confidence intervals.

#### Research results

Twenty-five studies involving 7760 patients undergoing LT were included. The pooled prevalence of sarcopenia in patients undergoing LT was 40.7%. The 1-, 3-, and 5-year cumulative probabilities of post-LT survival in patients with preoperative sarcopenia were all lower than those without sarcopenia (P < 0.05). Sarcopenia was associated with an increased risk of post-LT mortality in patients undergoing LT. Patients with preoperative sarcopenia had a longer intensive care unit stay, a high risk ratio of sepsis, and serious post-LT complications than those without sarcopenia.

#### Research conclusions

Sarcopenia is prevalent in a substantial proportion of patients undergoing LT. This study also showed that sarcopenia was associated with a 1.58-fold higher risk of post-LT mortality. Sarcopenia was also associated with long-term survival rates and adverse post-LT outcomes.

#### Research perspectives

Because of the high prevalence and adverse post-LT outcomes, sarcopenia should be considered a part of the initial evaluation of LT candidates. More studies are needed to incorporate sarcopenia into a formal prognostic scale for LT recipients.



# FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Min-Jie Jiang and Mu-Chen Wu.

Author contributions: Jiang MJ, Wu MC, and Meng QH conceived and designed the experiments; Jiang MJ, and Wu MC analyzed the data; Duan ZH, Wu J, Xu XT, and Li J collected the information; Jiang MJ and Wu MC wrote the paper; Meng QH reviewed and edited the paper; all authors contributed to preparing the manuscript and approved the contents. Jiang MJ and Wu MC contributed equally to this work as co-first authors. The reasons for designating Jiang MJ and Wu MC as co-first authors are twofold. First, the research was performed as a collaborative effort, and the designation of co-corresponding authorship accurately reflects the distribution of responsibilities and burdens associated with the time and effort required to complete the study and the resultant paper. This also ensures effective communication and management of post-submission matters, ultimately enhancing the paper's quality and reliability. Second, Jiang MJ and Wu MC contributed efforts of equal substance throughout the research process. The choice of these researchers as cocorresponding authors acknowledges and respects this equal contribution, while recognizing the spirit of teamwork and collaboration of this study. In summary, we believe that designating Jiang MJ and Wu MC as co-first authors of is fitting for our manuscript as it accurately reflects our team's collaborative spirit, equal contributions, and diversity.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors have no conflict of interest.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: This meta-analysis was conducted based on the PRISMA checklist and was registered in PROSPERO (CRD42022379765).

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

**ORCID** number: Min-Jie Jiang 0000-0001-6273-2635; Mu-Chen Wu 0000-0003-4683-2243; Zhong-Hui Duan 0000-0002-8455-0426; Jing Wu 0000-0003-1597-0387; Juan Li 0000-0002-8687-7115; Qing-Hua Meng 0000-0001-9967-6403.

S-Editor: Lin C L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

# REFERENCES

- 1 Asrani SK, Devarbhavi H, Eaton J, Kamath PS. Burden of liver diseases in the world. J Hepatol 2019; 70: 151-171 [PMID: 30266282 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.09.014]
- Kumar V, Benjamin J, Shasthry V, Subramanya Bharathy KG, Sinha PK, Kumar G, Pamecha V. Sarcopenia in Cirrhosis: Fallout on Liver 2 Transplantation. J Clin Exp Hepatol 2020; 10: 467-476 [PMID: 33029056 DOI: 10.1016/j.jceh.2019.12.003]
- van Vugt JL, Levolger S, de Bruin RW, van Rosmalen J, Metselaar HJ, IJzermans JN. Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Impact of 3 Computed Tomography-Assessed Skeletal Muscle Mass on Outcome in Patients Awaiting or Undergoing Liver Transplantation. Am J Transplant 2016; 16: 2277-2292 [PMID: 26813115 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.13732]
- van Vugt JLA, Alferink LJM, Buettner S, Gaspersz MP, Bot D, Darwish Murad S, Feshtali S, van Ooijen PMA, Polak WG, Porte RJ, van 4 Hoek B, van den Berg AP, Metselaar HJ, IJzermans JNM. A model including sarcopenia surpasses the MELD score in predicting waiting list mortality in cirrhotic liver transplant candidates: A competing risk analysis in a national cohort. J Hepatol 2018; 68: 707-714 [PMID: 29221886 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017.11.030]
- Tantai X, Liu Y, Yeo YH, Praktiknjo M, Mauro E, Hamaguchi Y, Engelmann C, Zhang P, Jeong JY, van Vugt JLA, Xiao H, Deng H, Gao X, 5 Ye Q, Zhang J, Yang L, Cai Y, Liu N, Li Z, Han T, Kaido T, Sohn JH, Strassburg C, Berg T, Trebicka J, Hsu YC, IJzermans JNM, Wang J, Su GL, Ji F, Nguyen MH. Effect of sarcopenia on survival in patients with cirrhosis: A meta-analysis. J Hepatol 2022; 76: 588-599 [PMID: 34785325 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.11.006]
- Sam J, Nguyen GC. Protein-calorie malnutrition as a prognostic indicator of mortality among patients hospitalized with cirrhosis and portal 6 hypertension. Liver Int 2009; 29: 1396-1402 [PMID: 19602136 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2009.02077.x]
- European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines on nutrition in chronic liver disease. J Hepatol 2019; 7 70: 172-193 [PMID: 30144956 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.06.024]
- Bhanji RA, Montano-Loza AJ, Watt KD. Sarcopenia in Cirrhosis: Looking Beyond the Skeletal Muscle Loss to See the Systemic Disease. 8 Hepatology 2019; 70: 2193-2203 [PMID: 31034656 DOI: 10.1002/hep.30686]
- Meng QH, Wang JH, Yu HW, Li J, Feng YM, Hou W, Zhang J, Zhang Q, Wang X, Liu Y. Resting energy expenditure and substrate 9 metabolism in Chinese patients with acute or chronic hepatitis B or liver cirrhosis. Intern Med 2010; 49: 2085-2091 [PMID: 20930434 DOI: 10.2169/internalmedicine.49.3967
- Lai JC, Tandon P, Bernal W, Tapper EB, Ekong U, Dasarathy S, Carey EJ. Malnutrition, Frailty, and Sarcopenia in Patients With Cirrhosis: 10 2021 Practice Guidance by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology 2021; 74: 1611-1644 [PMID: 34233031 DOI: 10.1002/hep.32049]
- Carey EJ, Lai JC, Sonnenday C, Tapper EB, Tandon P, Duarte-Rojo A, Dunn MA, Tsien C, Kallwitz ER, Ng V, Dasarathy S, Kappus M, 11 Bashir MR, Montano-Loza AJ. A North American Expert Opinion Statement on Sarcopenia in Liver Transplantation. Hepatology 2019; 70: 1816-1829 [PMID: 31220351 DOI: 10.1002/hep.30828]



- Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Rennie D, Moher D, Becker BJ, Sipe TA, Thacker SB. Meta-analysis of 12 observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA 2000; 283: 2008-2012 [PMID: 10789670 DOI: 10.1001/jama.283.15.2008]
- Nyaga VN, Arbyn M, Aerts M. Metaprop: a Stata command to perform meta-analysis of binomial data. Arch Public Health 2014; 72: 39 13 [PMID: 25810908 DOI: 10.1186/2049-3258-72-39]
- Tan Y, Duan T, Li B, Zhang B, Zhu Y, Yan K, Song J, Lv T, Yang J, Jiang L, Wen T, Yan L. Sarcopenia defined by psoas muscle index 14 independently predicts long-term survival after living donor liver transplantation in male recipients. Quant Imaging Med Surg 2022; 12: 215-228 [PMID: 34993073 DOI: 10.21037/qims-21-314]
- Pollok JM, Tinguely P, Berenguer M, Niemann CU, Raptis DA, Spiro M; ERAS40LT. org collaborative. Enhanced recovery for liver 15 transplantation: recommendations from the 2022 International Liver Transplantation Society consensus conference. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2023; 8: 81-94 [PMID: 36495912 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(22)00268-0]
- 16 Zeng X, Shi ZW, Yu JJ, Wang LF, Luo YY, Jin SM, Zhang LY, Tan W, Shi PM, Yu H, Zhang CQ, Xie WF. Sarcopenia as a prognostic predictor of liver cirrhosis: a multicentre study in China. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2021; 12: 1948-1958 [PMID: 34520115 DOI: 10.1002/icsm.12797]
- Cederholm T, Jensen GL, Correia MITD, Gonzalez MC, Fukushima R, Higashiguchi T, Baptista G, Barazzoni R, Blaauw R, Coats AJS, 17 Crivelli AN, Evans DC, Gramlich L, Fuchs-Tarlovsky V, Keller H, Llido L, Malone A, Mogensen KM, Morley JE, Muscaritoli M, Nyulasi I, Pirlich M, Pisprasert V, de van der Schueren MAE, Siltharm S, Singer P, Tappenden K, Velasco N, Waitzberg D, Yamwong P, Yu J, Van Gossum A, Compher C; GLIM Core Leadership Committee, GLIM Working Group. GLIM criteria for the diagnosis of malnutrition - A consensus report from the global clinical nutrition community. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2019; 10: 207-217 [PMID: 30920778 DOI: 10.1002/jcsm.12383]
- 18 Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Bahat G, Bauer J, Boirie Y, Bruyère O, Cederholm T, Cooper C, Landi F, Rolland Y, Sayer AA, Schneider SM, Sieber CC, Topinkova E, Vandewoude M, Visser M, Zamboni M; Writing Group for the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People 2 (EWGSOP2), and the Extended Group for EWGSOP2. Sarcopenia: revised European consensus on definition and diagnosis. Age Ageing 2019; **48**: 601 [PMID: 31081853 DOI: 10.1093/ageing/afz046]
- Chen LK, Woo J, Assantachai P, Auyeung TW, Chou MY, Iijima K, Jang HC, Kang L, Kim M, Kim S, Kojima T, Kuzuya M, Lee JSW, Lee 19 SY, Lee WJ, Lee Y, Liang CK, Lim JY, Lim WS, Peng LN, Sugimoto K, Tanaka T, Won CW, Yamada M, Zhang T, Akishita M, Arai H. Asian Working Group for Sarcopenia: 2019 Consensus Update on Sarcopenia Diagnosis and Treatment. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2020; 21: 300-307.e2 [PMID: 32033882 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamda.2019.12.012]
- Welch N, Dasarathy J, Runkana A, Penumatsa R, Bellar A, Reen J, Rotroff D, McCullough AJ, Dasarathy S. Continued muscle loss increases 20 mortality in cirrhosis: Impact of aetiology of liver disease. Liver Int 2020; 40: 1178-1188 [PMID: 31889396 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14358]
- 21 DiMartini A, Cruz RJ Jr, Dew MA, Myaskovsky L, Goodpaster B, Fox K, Kim KH, Fontes P. Muscle mass predicts outcomes following liver transplantation. Liver Transpl 2013; 19: 1172-1180 [PMID: 23960026 DOI: 10.1002/lt.23724]
- 22 Roongpisuthipong C, Sobhonslidsuk A, Nantiruj K, Songchitsomboon S. Nutritional assessment in various stages of liver cirrhosis. Nutrition 2001; 17: 761-765 [PMID: 11527674 DOI: 10.1016/s0899-9007(01)00626-8]
- Kalafateli M, Mantzoukis K, Choi Yau Y, Mohammad AO, Arora S, Rodrigues S, de Vos M, Papadimitriou K, Thorburn D, O'Beirne J, Patch 23 D, Pinzani M, Morgan MY, Agarwal B, Yu D, Burroughs AK, Tsochatzis EA. Malnutrition and sarcopenia predict post-liver transplantation outcomes independently of the Model for End-stage Liver Disease score. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2017; 8: 113-121 [PMID: 27239424 DOI: 10.1002/jcsm.12095]
- Kaido T, Ogawa K, Fujimoto Y, Ogura Y, Hata K, Ito T, Tomiyama K, Yagi S, Mori A, Uemoto S. Impact of sarcopenia on survival in 24 patients undergoing living donor liver transplantation. Am J Transplant 2013; 13: 1549-1556 [PMID: 23601159 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12221]
- 25 Waits SA, Englesbe MJ. Making Progress Toward Frailty Remediation in End-Stage Liver Disease. Transplantation 2016; 100: 2526 [PMID: 27861284 DOI: 10.1097/tp.000000000001473]
- Shafaat O, Liu Y, Jackson KR, Motter JD, Boyarsky BJ, Latif MA, Yuan F, Khalil A, King EA, Zaheer A, Summers RM, Segev DL, 26 McAdams-DeMarco M, Weiss CR. Association between Abdominal CT Measurements of Body Composition before Deceased Donor Liver Transplant with Posttransplant Outcomes. Radiology 2023; 306: e212403 [PMID: 36283115 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.212403]
- Sim JH, Kwon HM, Kim KW, Ko YS, Jun IG, Kim SH, Kim KS, Moon YJ, Song JG, Hwang GS. Associations of sarcopenia with graft failure 27 and mortality in patients undergoing living donor liver transplantation. Liver Transpl 2022; 28: 1345-1355 [PMID: 35243771 DOI: 10.1002/lt.26447]
- Prakash K, Sam AF, K N, Tandon N. Effect of Preoperative Sarcopenia, Malnutrition and Functional status on Postoperative Morbidity 28 Following Liver Transplantation. Prog Transplant 2022; 32: 345-350 [PMID: 36253720 DOI: 10.1177/15269248221132255]
- Wu MY, Lim WX, Cheng YF, Chang CD, Hsu HW, Lin CC, Chen CL, Chang WC, Yu CY, Tsang LL, Chuang YH, Ou HY. Sarcopenia 29 adversely impacts postoperative complications in living-donor liver transplantation recipients. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 19247 [PMID: 34584142 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-98399-6]
- Kuo SZ, Ahmad M, Dunn MA, Montano-Loza AJ, Carey EJ, Lin S, Moghe A, Chen HW, Ebadi M, Lai JC. Sarcopenia Predicts Post-30 transplant Mortality in Acutely III Men Undergoing Urgent Evaluation and Liver Transplantation. Transplantation 2019; 103: 2312-2317 [PMID: 30985575 DOI: 10.1097/TP.00000000002741]
- Golse N, Bucur PO, Ciacio O, Pittau G, Sa Cunha A, Adam R, Castaing D, Antonini T, Coilly A, Samuel D, Cherqui D, Vibert E. A new 31 definition of sarcopenia in patients with cirrhosis undergoing liver transplantation. Liver Transpl 2017; 23: 143-154 [PMID: 28061014 DOI: 10.1002/lt.24671]
- 32 Beumer BR, van Vugt JLA, Sapisochin G, Yoon P, Bongini M, Lu D, Xu X, De Simone P, Pintore L, Golse N, Nowosad M, Bennet W, Tsochatzis E, Koutli E, Abbassi F, Claasen MPAW, Merli M, O'Rourke J, Gambato M, Benito A, Majumdar A, Tan EK, Ebadi M, Montano-Loza AJ, Berenguer M, Metselaar HJ, Polak WG, Mazzaferro V, IJzermans JNM; Collaborators. Impact of muscle mass on survival of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma after liver transplantation beyond the Milan criteria. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2022; 13: 2373-2382 [PMID: 36622940 DOI: 10.1002/jcsm.13053]
- Pinto Dos Santos D, Kloeckner R, Koch S, Hoppe-Lotichius M, Zöller D, Toenges G, Kremer WM, Zimmermann T, Mittler J, Lang H, Düber 33 C, Galle PR, Weinmann A, Sprinzl MF. Sarcopenia as prognostic factor for survival after orthotopic liver transplantation. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; **32**: 626-634 [PMID: 31725030 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000001552]
- 34 Izumi T, Watanabe J, Tohyama T, Takada Y. Impact of psoas muscle index on short-term outcome after living donor liver transplantation. Turk J Gastroenterol 2016; 27: 382-388 [PMID: 27458855 DOI: 10.5152/tjg.2016.16201]



- Hamaguchi Y, Kaido T, Okumura S, Kobayashi A, Shirai H, Yagi S, Kamo N, Okajima H, Uemoto S. Impact of Skeletal Muscle Mass Index, 35 Intramuscular Adipose Tissue Content, and Visceral to Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue Area Ratio on Early Mortality of Living Donor Liver Transplantation. Transplantation 2017; 101: 565-574 [PMID: 27926595 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000001587]
- 36 Irwin NEA, Fabian J, Hari KR, Lorentz L, Mahomed A, Botha JF. Myosteatosis, the More Significant Predictor of Outcome: An Analysis of the Impact of Myosteatosis, Sarcopenia, and Sarcopenic Obesity on Liver Transplant Outcomes in Johannesburg, South Africa. Exp Clin Transplant 2021; 19: 948-955 [PMID: 34387151 DOI: 10.6002/ect.2021.0083]
- Masuda T, Shirabe K, Ikegami T, Harimoto N, Yoshizumi T, Soejima Y, Uchiyama H, Ikeda T, Baba H, Maehara Y. Sarcopenia is a 37 prognostic factor in living donor liver transplantation. Liver Transpl 2014; 20: 401-407 [PMID: 24357065 DOI: 10.1002/lt.23811]
- Miarka M, Gibiński K, Janik MK, Główczyńska R, Zając K, Pacho R, Raszeja-Wyszomirska J. Sarcopenia-The Impact on Physical Capacity 38 of Liver Transplant Patients. Life (Basel) 2021; 11 [PMID: 34440484 DOI: 10.3390/life11080740]
- Montano-Loza AJ, Meza-Junco J, Baracos VE, Prado CM, Ma M, Meeberg G, Beaumont C, Tandon P, Esfandiari N, Sawyer MB, Kneteman 39 N. Severe muscle depletion predicts postoperative length of stay but is not associated with survival after liver transplantation. Liver Transpl 2014; 20: 640-648 [PMID: 24678005 DOI: 10.1002/lt.23863]
- Czigany Z, Kramp W, Bednarsch J, van der Kroft G, Boecker J, Strnad P, Zimmermann M, Koek G, Neumann UP, Lurje G. Myosteatosis to 40 predict inferior perioperative outcome in patients undergoing orthotopic liver transplantation. Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 493-503 [PMID: 31448486 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15577]
- 41 Hey P, Hoermann R, Gow P, Hanrahan TP, Testro AG, Apostolov R, Sinclair M. Reduced upper limb lean mass on dual energy X-ray absorptiometry predicts adverse outcomes in male liver transplant recipients. World J Transplant 2022; 12: 120-130 [PMID: 35979539 DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v12.i6.120]
- Lindqvist C, Brismar TB, Majeed A, Wahlin S. Assessment of muscle mass depletion in chronic liver disease: Dual-energy x-ray 42 absorptiometry compared with computed tomography. Nutrition 2019; 61: 93-98 [PMID: 30703575 DOI: 10.1016/j.nut.2018.10.031]
- Pravisani R, Soyama A, Isola M, Sadykov N, Takatsuki M, Hidaka M, Adachi T, Ono S, Hara T, Hamada T, Baccarani U, Risaliti A, Eguchi 43 S. Chronological changes in skeletal muscle mass following living-donor liver transplantation: An analysis of the predictive factors for longterm post-transplant low muscularity. Clin Transplant 2019; 33: e13495 [PMID: 30773726 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.13495]
- 44 Kim YR, Park S, Han S, Ahn JH, Kim S, Sinn DH, Jeong WK, Ko JS, Gwak MS, Kim GS. Sarcopenia as a predictor of post-transplant tumor recurrence after living donor liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma beyond the Milan criteria. Sci Rep 2018; 8: 7157 [PMID: 29740069 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-018-25628-w]
- 45 Hassan EA, Makhlouf NA, Ibrahim ME, Dabbous HM, Salah MA, Aboalam HS, Mohamed MZ, Fadel BA, Salama MAR. Impact of Sarcopenia on Short-Term Complications and Survival After Liver Transplant. Exp Clin Transplant 2022; 20: 917-924 [PMID: 36409051 DOI: 10.6002/ect.2022.0293]



W U

# World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 969-983

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.969

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

SCIENTOMETRICS

# Bibliometrics analysis based on the Web of Science: Current trends and perspective of gastric organoid during 2010-2023

Kai-Lin Jiang, Yue-Bo Jia, Xue-Jiao Liu, Qing-Ling Jia, Li-Kun Guo, Xiang-Xiang Wang, Ke-Ming Yang, Chen-Heng Wu, Bei-Bei Liang, Jiang-Hong Ling

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

#### Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

# Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Mijwil MM, Iraq

Received: October 25, 2023 Peer-review started: October 25, 2023 First decision: December 21, 2023 Revised: January 2, 2024 Accepted: February 1, 2024 Article in press: February 1, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



Kai-Lin Jiang, Yue-Bo Jia, Xue-Jiao Liu, Qing-Ling Jia, Li-Kun Guo, Ke-Ming Yang, Chen-Heng Wu, Jiang-Hong Ling, Department of Gastroenterology, Shuguang Hospital Affiliated to Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Shanghai 200021, China

Kai-Lin Jiang, Laboratory of Cancer Biology, University of Oxford, Oxford OX37DQ, United Kingdom

Xiang-Xiang Wang, School of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Shanghai University of Chinese Medicine, Shanghai 200021, China

Bei-Bei Liang, Shanghai Key Laboratory of Molecular Imaging, Shanghai University of Medicine and Health Sciences, Shanghai 201318, China

Corresponding author: Jiang-Hong Ling, PhD, Professor, Department of Gastroenterology, Shuguang Hospital Affiliated to Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, No. 185 Pu'an Road, Huangpu District, Shanghai 200021, China. ljh18817424778@163.com

# Abstract

# BACKGROUND

Three-dimensional organoid culture systems have been established as a robust tool for elucidating mechanisms and performing drug efficacy testing. The use of gastric organoid models holds significant promise for advancing personalized medicine research. However, a comprehensive bibliometric review of this burgeoning field has not yet been published.

# AIM

To analyze and understand the development, impact, and direction of gastric organoid research using bibliometric methods using data from the Web of Science Core Collection (WoSCC) database.

# **METHODS**

This analysis encompassed literature pertaining to gastric organoids published between 2010 and 2023, as indexed in the WoSCC. CiteSpace and VOSviewer were used to depict network maps illustrating collaborations among authors, institutions and keywords related to gastric organoid. Citation, co-citation, and burst analysis methodologies were applied to assess the impact and progress of research.



# RESULTS

A total of 656 relevant studies were evaluated. The majority of research was published in gastroenterology-focused journals. Globally, Yana Zavros, Hans Clevers, James M Wells, Sina Bartfeld, and Chen Zheng were the 5 most productive authors, while Hans Clevers, Huch Meritxell, Johan H van Es, Marc Van de Wetering, and Sato Toshiro were the foremost influential scientists in this area. Institutions from the University Medical Center Utrecht, Netherlands Institute for Developmental Biology (Utrecht), and University of Cincinnati (Cincinnati, OH, United States) made the most significant contributions. Currently, gastric organoids are used mainly in studies investigating gastric cancer (GC), *Helicobacter pylori*-infective gastritis, with a focus on the mechanisms of GC, and drug screening tests.

# CONCLUSION

Key focus areas of research using gastric organoids include unraveling disease mechanisms and enhancing drug screening techniques. Major contributions from renowned academic institutions highlight this field's dynamic growth.

Key Words: Gastric organoid; Gastric disease; Bibliometrics analysis; Gastric cancer; Gastritis

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** This study highlights the pivotal role of organoid technology in gastric disease research, emphasizing its growth in publications and citations. Key contributions from leading researchers and institutions, particularly in understanding gastric cancer and *Helicobacter pylori*-infective gastritis, mark advances in the field. Focused on deciphering cancer mechanisms and improving drug screening, this area of exploration provides crucial insights for future gastroenterology research.

**Citation:** Jiang KL, Jia YB, Liu XJ, Jia QL, Guo LK, Wang XX, Yang KM, Wu CH, Liang BB, Ling JH. Bibliometrics analysis based on the Web of Science: Current trends and perspective of gastric organoid during 2010-2023. *World J Gastroenterol* 2024; 30(8): 969-983

**URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/969.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.969

# INTRODUCTION

The term "organoid" was first introduced as an anatomical diagnosis of tumors in a study of tumor mechanisms in 1946 [1]. Organoid generally refers to tissues or structures that are similar to organs used *in vitro* biology. A gastric organoid is a specific cluster of cells derived from gastric or pluripotent stem cells[2,3]. Gastric organoids are highly similar to gastric epithelial tissue in terms of cellular components, tissue architecture, and specific functions, and have corresponding functional characteristics, which enable the replication of gastric epithelial tissues *in vitro*[4]. Gastrointestinal organoid technology represents a technical revolution compared with conventional cell biology methods. In conventional cell culture, a single-cell clone is cultured in a two-dimensional environment. However, in gastric organoid culture, many cell clones from the stomach can be cultured in a three-dimensional (3D) environment exhibiting a higher degree of similarity to the *in vivo* microenvironment, thus providing a more accurate and physiologically pertinent model for study[5,6]. Gastric organoids cultured *in vitro*, especially those derived from human tissues, provide a new platform for the study of human gastric physiology and diseases[7]. Since Barkerfirst described a protocol using mouse leucine-rich repeat-containing G-protein coupled receptor 5+ (Lgr5+) gastric stem cells to construct gastric organoids in 2010, gastric organoids have attracted increasing attention in the field of digestive tract research[8].

In recent years, numerous living biobanks of tumor organoids have been established. For instance, a human gastric cancer (GC) organoid biobank encompasses 34 patients and 63 organoid lines, capturing the heterogeneity of tumor subtypes and enabling therapeutic screening[9]. These established organoid biobanks serve as biomaterial for human cancer research and personalized medicine. They have been widely used in fundamental research investigating gastric physiology and pathology, clinical areas, such as diagnostic processes, pharmacological screening and development, as well as gene therapy applications[10,11]. Hans Clevers from Utrecht University in the Netherlands is a pioneer in the field, having made significant contributions to the technology[12].

The Web of Science Core Collection (WoSCC) database houses many published academic studies. Because these publications are fragmented, strong conclusions from studies investigating gastric organoids should coherently bring research findings together. In the present study, we used bibliometric analysis to generate a network map of author(s), institution(s), keywords, and co-cited references derived from publications addressing gastric organoids. We then systematically analyzed the main topics based on the results of this analysis to build an in-depth and comprehensive understanding of research investigating gastric organoids.

Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Data collection

Literature sources included in this study were retrieved from the WoSCC database. The database was searched by combining the terms "organoid", "gastroid", "spheroid", "gastric", "gastritis", and "stomach". Studies published from 2010 up to September 2023 were searched to form the basis of data processing and analysis.

#### Data analysis

Data extracted from the studies retrieved in the literature search of the WoSCC database included author information, title, keywords, abstract, and references, and underwent preliminary screening. Quantitative variables were analyzed using spreadsheet software (Excel 2019, Microsoft Corporation, Redmond, WA, United States). Citespace version 6.1.R3, developed by Chen Chaomei, and VOSviewer version 1.68, developed by Nees Jan van Eck and Ludo Waltman, were used for scientific knowledge mapping and analysis[13,14]. VOSviewer 1.68 was used to calculate citations and publications of authors and institutions, and to depict the keyword network graph[15,16]. Citespace 6.1.R3 was used to calculate co-cite and citation frequencies, centrality, keyword bursts, references, as well as to depict a network graph of authors, institutions, and a timeline graph of keywords[17].

Citation analysis is a statistical method of illustrating the quantity of cited studies to identify patterns and measurement characteristics. Generally, the more often a study is cited, the greater its impact. Co-citation is when 2 studies are cited by  $\geq 1$  study at the same time, which indicates how closely the 2 studies are related [18,19]. Moreover, the greater the number of studies cited simultaneously, the closer the relationship between the two. Centrality is an indicator of the importance of a node in a network, and documents with high centrality are often the key hubs connecting two different domains. Evolution of a field of knowledge can be indicated by references with citation bursts. A burst is a keyword/citation reference that has received scholarly attention in a particular field. The timeline is presented as a blue bar, while the interval, when a topic is found to have a burst, is presented as a red section indicating the year it started, the year it ended, and the time of the burst. Higher intensity indicates a higher citation frequency.

Each circle on the network map represents an "individual", and the size of the circle represents the active degree and the number of publications of the keyword. The closer the distance between an "individual" and an "individual", the closer the relationship between them. The increased number of connected lines indicates the increased number of cocitations between the "individual" [14].

# RESULTS

#### General information

A total of 656 articles were retrieved in the literature search. The successful culture of gastric-like organs was first reported in 2010, and relevant research developed slowly and steadily in the ensuing years[8]. The number of publications and citations exhibited stable growth from 2010 to 2016 and then a sharp increase after 2017 (Figure 1A). Researchers discovered the great advantage of the organoid model in the past 5 years; therefore, relevant publications and citations have increased rapidly. Most articles have been high quality and were published in Gastroenterology, International Journal of Molecular Science, Cancers, Cellular and Molecular Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Nature Communications, Cancer Research, Cancer Science, and Gut (Figure 1B). These journals focus mainly on cancer and gastroenterological diseases.

#### Authors

A total of 474 investigators published research in this area, with 32 publishing > 5 studies. Yana Zavros, Hans Clevers, James M Wells, Sato Toshiro, and Koo Bon-kyoung were the 5 most productive authors. Hans Clevers, Huch Meritxell, Johan H van Es, Marc Van de Wetering, and Sato Toshiro were the 5 most popular scientists. Hans Clevers, Yana Zavros, and Richard Peek demonstrated high centrality (0.04). Most of the productive and influential investigators were from The Netherlands and the United States, mainly from the University Medical Center Utrecht (Utrecht, Netherlands) and the University of Cincinnati (Cincinnati, OH, United States), respectively. Table 1 summarizes the top 15 most cited researchers and their respective countries.

Hans Clevers, Sato Toshiro, Sina Bartfeld, N Barker, Huch Meritxel, and Marc van de Wetering established a close and vital cooperative network. HHN Yang worked closely with T Seldlitz, G Vlachogiannis worked closely with L Broutier, and another network was formed between S Takaishi and A Jemal. The co-authorship network diagram is presented in Figure 2A.

#### Institutions

A total of 314 institutions published research on this topic, and 54 published > 5 studies. The top 5 most-productive institutions in this context were the University of Cincinnati, Hiroshima University, University of Michigan (Ann Arbor, MI, United States), Vanderbilt University (Nashville, TN, United States), and the University Medical Center Utrecht. The top 5 most cited institutions were the University Medical Center Utrecht, the Netherlands Institute for Developmental Biology Utrecht, University of Cincinnati, University of Hong Kong, and the University of Michigan. The top 15 mostcited institutions, which were mostly from the Netherlands, United States, China, and Japan, are summarized in Table 2. The University of Cincinnati had the highest centrality (0.25), followed by the University Medical Center Utrecht (0.18).



#### Jiang KL et al. Bibliometrics analysis of gastric organoid

Table 1 Th	Table 1 The top 15 most cited scholars in gastric organoid field									
Rank	Author	Publications	Citations	Country	Centrality					
1	Clevers, Hans	30	5144	Netherland	0.08					
2	Huch, Meritxell	10	3987	German	0.04					
3	Van es, Johan	7	3244	Netherland	0.00					
4	Van de Wetering, Marc	6	3175	Netherland	0.00					
5	Sato, Toshiro	14	3141	Japan	0.08					
6	Stange, Daniel	12	1764	German	0.01					
7	Barker, Nick	13	1707	Netherland	0.03					
8	Koo, Bon-kyoung	15	1618	Netherland	0.25					
9	Bartfeld, Sina	13	1405	German	0.03					
10	Zavros, Yana	46	1312	United States	0.04					
11	Wells, James	22	1040	United States	0.01					
12	Spence, Jason	7	973	United States	0.00					
13	Peek, Richard	5	715	United States	0.05					
14	Schumacher, Michael	6	657	Japan	0.00					
15	Chen, Zheng	12	615	United States	0.03					

# Table 2 The top 15 most cited institutions in gastric organoid field

Rank	Institution	Country	Publications	Citations	Centrality
1	University Medical Center Utrecht	Netherland	19	5083	0.18
2	Netherlands Institute for Developmental Biology Utrecht	Netherland	8	3064	0.00
3	University of Cincinnati	United States	33	1451	0.25
4	University of Hong Kong	Hongkong, China	6	1148	0.08
5	University of Michigan	United States	22	1104	0.04
6	Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center	United States	16	999	0.07
7	Columbia University	United States	11	986	0.05
8	Vanderbilt University	United States	22	941	0.25
9	Stanford University	United States	11	881	0.02
10	Cambridge University	United Kingdom	7	758	0.08
11	Harvard University	United States	12	731	0.08
12	Shinshu University	Japan	17	625	0.07
13	Keio University	Japan	13	602	0.13
14	Nanjing med University	China	14	600	0.20
15	Miami University	United States	7	556	0.00

The United States had the most extensive cooperative network. The University of Cincinnati, Vanderbilt University, University of Michigan, and Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medicine Center formed the centers of each United Statescollaborating institution. Chinese and Japanese scientists contributed the most to research from Asian institutions. Nanjing University (Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, China), Sun Yat-sen University (Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, China), and Fudan University (Shanghai, China) played central roles in the Chinese institutional network of collaborations, radiating out to other institutions. Japanese institutions were dominated, in this context, by Hiroshima University (Hiroshima, Japan), with more collaborations with the University of Cincinnati and other Japanese and Korean institutions.

The University Medical Center Utrecht in the Netherlands has a network of collaborations with European institutions. A network diagram illustrating institutional collaboration is presented in Figure 2B.



Figure 1 Publication and citation trends in gastric organoid. A: The number of publications and citations per year from 2010 to 2023. The red bars represent the number of publications, and the green line indicates the number of citations, showing an overall upward trend in both metrics over the given period; B: Citations in different medical journals in a recent year, with each color-coded section corresponding to a different journal. The size of each section reflects the number of citations, and the number is provided within each, with *Gastroenterology* and *Cancers* being among the journals with the highest citation counts.

#### Keywords and hotspots for gastric organoids

VOSviewer was used to construct a keyword network graph. Based on the network analysis the high-frequency keywords of published articles were clustered into 4 categories. The orange area (cluster #1, "Gastric organoid formation") included the main terms related to gastric organoid construction such as stem cells, gastric epithelium, pyloric gland, and fundic gland. The green area (cluster #2, "Gastric cancer organoid formation") explored gastric organoid construction such as tumor stem cells, tumor proliferation and differentiation, and immunohistochemistry. The blue area (cluster #3, "Applications of gastric cancer organoids") occupied a large panel and described the application of organoids in GC therapeutic research, which indicated the study of tumor drug resistance, gene mutations, signaling pathways, and immunohistochemistry. It contains proteins such as WNT, kif11, and pi3k. Another interesting finding in these network diagrams is the red cluster, which is related to the application of organoids in gastritis (cluster #4, "Application of organoid in gastritis research"), including *Helicobacter pylori* (*H. pylori*) infection, inflammatory pathway activation, and cagA proteins (Figure 3). Many early studies investigating organoids focused on the formation and differentiation of GC organoids, whereas more recent studies focused on the treatment and mechanism of gastritis and GC.

After filtering out non-relevant and repetitive keywords, such as "expression" and "identification", the 20 most popular keywords in the field of gastric organoids were shortlisted and are summarized in Table 3. GC and *H. pylori*-

Baishidena® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 3 The 20 most popular keywords in the field of gastric organoids							
Keyword	Freq	Centrality					
Gastric cancer	177	0.06					
Stem cell	110	0.04					
Cancer stem cell	45	0.10					
Differentiation	41	0.06					
Helicobacter pylori	32	0.01					
Metastasis	30	0.19					
Proliferation	30	0.04					
Resistance	29	0.06					
Epithelial cell	27	0.16					
Self-renewal	26	0.11					
Apoptosis	22	0.07					
Progression	22	0.04					
Protein	20	0.03					
Progenitor cell	18	0.04					
Gene expression	18	0.05					
Chief cell	17	0.04					
Migration	16	0.01					
Chemotherapy	16	0.07					
Epithelial mesenchymal transition	14	0.02					
Mutation	15	0.03					

related gastritis were identified as the most prevalent diseases. Stem cells, cancer stem cells, epithelial cells, progenitor cells, and chief cells were identified as the main cellular "hotpot". Cellular events related to cancer development and progression, such as metastasis, proliferation, apoptosis, migration, epithelial-mesenchymal transition, and mutation have received more attention.

In addition, burst keywords were considered to be the indicators of emerging trends. Overall, it can be classified into 3 phases, beginning from 2010 to 2014 with high intensity in drug resistance, cancer stem cell, and self-renewal, followed by that from 2015 to 2020 with epithelium, carcinoma, epithelial-mesenchymal transition, *H. pylori*, inflammation, and regeneration year by year, and the third phase from 2020 until present with mutation, response, tumor microenvironment, and paclitaxel. Figure 4 depicts the keywords with the strongest citation bursts in this field.

The timeline view of the keywords in gastric organoid is presented in Figure 5. There were a total of 17 main research clusters incorporating gastric organoid applications. In addition, the typical labels in each cluster are reported in Table 4.

#### Co-cited references and references burst

A total of 492 references were co-cited, 11 of which were co-cited > 30 times. Table 5 summarizes the top 10 co-cited studies, and Figure 6 illustrates the main elements of these important studies investigating gastric organoids and the significant findings. McCracken *et al*[20] used human pluripotent stem cells to form gastric organoids by adding essential cellular factors [such as EGF, BMP4, WNT5a, and fibroblast growth factors (*e.g.*, FGF10)]. Bartfeld *et al*[6] used flow cytometry to sort 4 specific cell lines, pit mucous cells, gland mucous cells, chief cells, and enteroendocrine cells, and successfully cultured the corresponding organoid lines. Schlaermann *et al*[7] pioneered a culture protocol for the spheroid formation of the gastric corpus and body, which can be used as an *in vitro* model of *H. pylori* infection. Vlachogiannis *et al* [21] compared the responses of 21 patients with gastrointestinal tumors and patient-derived organoids (PDOs) to targeted drugs or chemotherapy and found that sensitivity and specificity to predict drug treatment for patients were 100% and 93%. Yan *et al*[9] established an organoid biobank and recorded differentially expressed genes between tumor organoids and paired tumor tissues. Seidlitz *et al*[22] and Nanki *et al*[23] demonstrated that human and mouse GC organoid models can mimic the typical human GC characteristics and altered signal pathways, demonstrating their potential role as biomarkers of treatment response.

Burst analysis displayed the minimum duration of the bursts as 1 year, although the longest was 5 years. Of these citations, 28% (7/25) of the bursts occurred before 2015, with 36% (9/25) of literature bursts in 2015 and 36% (9/25) after 2017[24]. Twelve percent (3/25) of the citation outbreaks occurred in the past 2 years. Of the top 25 references, the strongest citation burst (14.3) was for studies by Barker *et al*[25], with the longest citation burst. Barker *et al*[25] reported

Tab	le 4 The typical labels i	n each	cluster
No.	Cluster label	Year	Label
0	Stem cell	2015	Stem cell; cancer; differentiation; model; acid gastric cancer; signet ring carcinoma; matrix metalloproteinase; spdef; transcription factor; stem cell; regeneration; gastric cancer; progenitor; <i>in vitro</i> expansion
1	Mouse	2018	Gastric cancer; transcription factor; regeneration; tumor suppressor genes; identification <i>in vitro</i> ; expansion; liver; leptin deficiency; en-y gastric bypass; mouse; liver; infection; bariatric surgery; gastrointestinal cancer
2	Noncanonical nuclear factor-kappa B	2019	Gastric cancer; her2; capecitabine; open label; oxaliplatin drug screening; cancer organoids; precision medicine; Helicobacter pylori; living biobanks; cancer organoids; organoid; drug screenin; tptep1; secretion
3	Gastric cancer	2013	Gene; differentiation; receptor; lgr5; r spondin, gastric cancer; morphogenetic protein; epidermal growth factor receptor; <i>Helicobacter pylori</i> ; tissue engineering; tumor microenvironment; receptor; gastric intestinal metaplasia; gene; csc markers (6.04, 0.05)
4	Targeted therapy	2016	Gastric cancer; cancer stem cell; endothelial growth; mammary stem cell; gastric cancers, cancer stem cells; transla- tional research; tumor suppressor genes; gastric organoids; cancer microenvironment; abcg2; cancer stem cell; lgr4; acbp-3; cycle arrest
5	Polypeptide expression	2017	Cancer; progression; microenvironment; mmp 9; angiogenesis, gene expression; endoderm; gastrointestinal tract; mouse small intestine; gata4; gene expression; angiogenesis; epstein barr virus; toripalimab; mmp 9
6	Cell	2015	Goblet cell carcinoid; crypt cell adenocarcinoma; appendix; mucinous; neuroendocrine; amphophilic; crypt cell adenocarcinoma; appendix; amphophilic; mucinous; neuroendocrine
7	Expression	2012	Survival; tumor suppressor; her2; poor prognosis; amplification, organoids; stomach; chemotherapy; gastroids; proliferation; amplification; gastroids; myc; inactivation; conditional mouse model
8	Synthetic lethality	2019	Gastric cancer; gastric organoids; gland fission; gastric stem cells; mtor; mtor; gland fission; gastric stem cells; gastric organoids; gastric cancer
9	Autophagy	2014	Gastric cancer; <i>Helicobacter pylori</i> ; base excision repair; stomach neoplasms; gastric stem cells, nf kappa; trefoil protein; <i>Helicobacter pylori</i> ; robust model; atrophic gastritis; NF kappa b; <i>Helicobacter pylori</i> ; inflammation; antral epithelium; dynamic histology
10	Cancer organoids	2020	Gastric cancer; resistance; cancer; cetuximab; heterogeneity, cancer stem cell; lauren classification; mucin phenotype expression; cluster; transcription factor; gastric cancer; cd44; stomach; cancer stem cell; chemoresistance
11	Tumor microenvir- onment	2017	Gastric cancer; t-cell infiltration; recombinant protein; precision oncology; cancer model, stem cell; stomach; promote; cancer; gene expression; targeted therapy; self-renewa; promote; anti-egfr single domain antibody; cancer evolution
12	abcg 2	2012	Gastric cancer; cancer stem cells; <i>Helicobacter pylori</i> ; beta catenin; wound repair identification; stem cell; expression; inhibition; stomach; polypeptide expressing metaplasia; contribute; network; immune response; inhibition
13	Gene expression	2013	Gastric cancer; drug sensitivity; shaker; albumin-bound paclitaxel; stomach, breast cancer; model; growth; drug; identification; cell; breast cancer; growth; recombinant protein; irgd
14	Crypt cell adenocar- cinoma	2018	Expression; stomach; stem cell; identification; progenitor cell, gastric cancer; stem cells; cancer biology; beta- galactoside alpha; sialic acid; expression; identification; pathogenesis; metaplasia; progenitor cell
15	Amplification	2015	Gastric cancer; cell adhesion; cell matrix interaction; magnetic resonance imaging; hereditary diffuse gastric cancer, synthetic lethality; discoidin domain receptor; diffuse gastric cancer; magnetic resonance imaging; hereditary diffuse gastric cancer; synthetic lethality; hdgc; e cadherin; e-cadherin; chemoprevention
16	mTOR	2015	Gastric cancer; stem-like subtype; adult mouse; cluster; cathepsin c ovarian; shaker; dynamic; fluid; peritoneal; autophagy; hypoxia inducible factor 1 alpha; cancer; metastasis; fibroblasts

that single Lgr5+ stem cells generated gastric-like organs in vitro and that the WNT pathway promoted Lgr5+ stem cell transformation, thereby promoting gastric adenoma formation. The second-highest citation burst appeared in a study by Stange *et al*[19], with a burst strength of 11.39 from 2015 to 2017. Stange *et al*[19] reported that Troy+ cells at the gland base can generate all gland cells, which represents remarkable plasticity ability in the field of epithelial stem cell biology. Molecular characterization of gastric adenocarcinoma also demonstrated a citation burst from 2018 to 2019, with a strength of 10.83[26]. In the past 2 years, Steel et al[27] reported that patient tissues exhibited a response to combination drug therapy similar to PDOs and PDOs, which resembled the original patient's tissue gene mutation, which made a citation burst. Another review from Drost et al[28], which commented on current cancer organoid protocols and the method as a reliable model for cancer research also presented a burst. Figure 7 depicts the citation bursts for the 25 mostcited references.

# DISCUSSION

Professor Hans Clevers, a prolific scientist in the field of adult stem cells and organoid technology, identified Lgr5 as a marker of intestinal stem cells and established the first in vitro 3D organoid culture system for intestinal stem cells with his team. This pioneered the area of organoid research as a disease model for diagnostics, basic science, and preclinical

Zaishidena® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 5 The Top10 co-cited lite	erature			
Ref.	Title	Journal	Freq	Centrality
Bartfeld et al[6], 2015	<i>In vitro</i> expansion of human gastric epithelial stem cells and their responses to bacterial infection	Gastroenterology	50	0.10
Bray <i>et al</i> [24], 2018	Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries	CA Cancer J Clin	49	0.00
Yan <i>et al</i> [9], 2018	A Comprehensive Human Gastric Cancer Organoid Biobank Captures Tumor Subtype Heterogeneity and Enables Therapeutic Screening	Cell Stem Cell	45	0.05
Vlachogiannis et al[21], 2018	Patient-derived organoids model treatment response of metastatic gastrointestinal cancers	Science	43	0.06
Seidlitz et al[22], 2019	Human gastric cancer modelling using organoids	GUT	43	0.02
Schlaermann et al[7], 2016	A novel human gastric primary cell culture system for modelling <i>Helicobacter</i> pylori infection in vitro	GUT	37	0.09
Mccracken <i>et al</i> [20], 2014	Modelling human development and disease in pluripotent stem-cell-derived gastric organoids	Nature	35	0.05
Nanki <i>et al</i> [23], 2018	Divergent Routes toward Wnt and R-spondin Niche Independency during Human Gastric Carcinogenesis	Cell	32	0.07
Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network[ <mark>26]</mark> , 2014	Comprehensive molecular characterization of gastric adenocarcinoma	Nature	31	0.05
Stange <i>et al</i> [19], 2013	Differentiated Troy+ chief cells act as reserve stem cells to generate all lineages of the stomach epithelium	Cell	28	0.12

testing. Sato Toshiro exhibited the highest centrality among Asian researchers. He was a postdoctoral researcher in Hans Clevers' laboratory and was involved in the initial establishment of "mini-guts" in culture, after which he returned to Keio University (Tokyo, Japan) to focus on digestive tract organoids. The most predominant researchers were from the Clevers' laboratories, including Sina Bartfeld, Johan H Van es, Marc Van de Wetering, and Huch Meritxell[29-31].

The main institutions were those of the more influential authors, such as the University Medical Center Utrecht, University of Cincinnati, University of Michigan, and Keio University. The first research investigating gastrointestinal organoids establishment from the University of Cincinnati was in collaboration with Keio University, where Toshiro Sato worked[32]. Institutions in Europe, the United States, and Japan were more willing to form collaborative networks. Notably, Chinese institutions formed closer collaborations within the country than with external agencies. Chinese researchers are characterized by a lack of influence, which may be attributed to the lack of external collaboration(s), thus necessitating encouragement to form partnerships with institutions around the world[33,34].

The network diagram of keywords revealed that the study of gastric organoids is currently being applied to 2 diseases: *H. pylori*-infective gastritis and GC. The timeline and burst analysis of keywords reflect past research hotspots and possible future research trends. Based on changes in keywords in this field in this decade, research investigating gastric organoids has gradually shifted from the exploration of model building in the early years to basic research and clinical applications, with the main focus on the mechanism of GC and drug sensitivity testing. In addition, research investigating *H. pylori* has received attention. The gastric organoid is expected to become a stable and powerful preclinical model in the future.

The results of co-cited literature in this decade suggest a shift from the earliest attempts to successfully construct gastric-like organs to a greater focus on the establishment of gastric organ biobanks. Work by Barker *et al*[8,25] was the initiating study in this field, laying the foundation for culturing gastric glands in culture dishes and the culture protocol by Bartfeld *et al*[6], which has become the reference standard for most studies[22,23,35,36]. In clinical applications, isolating GC tissues from patients to establish an organoid sample bank requires high technical expertise[9]. In addition, current technology cannot acquire pure cancer organoids because PDOs are always mixed with healthy tissues[23]. These limitations are offset by many advantages, such as their 3D physiology and the ability to test patient tumor tissues over time to facilitate clinical decision making. Several studies have compared organoid and patient responses to chemotherapeutics and achieved encouraging results[9,22,23,27]. Studies investigating larger-population cohorts are needed to confirm the accuracy of the predictive value of organoids to antitumor drugs. Drug screening for tumor organoids is more likely to be used as a predictive model similar to antibiotic susceptibility testing. Until then, larger samples require diagnostic tests to determine their sensitivity and specificity. To achieve effective clinical translation, clinical research investigating tumor organoids should focus on improving the efficiency and accuracy of drug screening and reappearing the tumor characteristics of patients to the greatest extent. Although these challenges need to be addressed, the overall outlook for predicting clinical outcomes is promising[38,39].

There were some limitations to the present study. Because gastric organoid research is an emerging field, the literature base is still in its infancy; as such, results of bibliometric analyses are inevitably limited. Second, there are currently some frontier technologies in gastric organoids; however, bibliometrics cannot highlight them because they are too innovative and have not been cited enough. These include organoid-on-chips[40] and clustered regularly interspaced palindromic repeats (*i.e.*, "CRISPR")-associated protein 9-mediated base editing organoids. Jeong developed an innovative human

Baishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Network analysis of key scholars and institutions in gastric organoid research (2010-2023). A: Depicts the collaboration and citation network among key scholars in the field, where the size of the nodes represents the citation count, and the color gradient indicates the year of publication (from light for 2010 to dark for 2023); B: The network positioning and relationships of major research institutions, with node size and color coding similarly representing the volume of citations and the temporal progression of research.

Znishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Jiang KL et al. Bibliometrics analysis of gastric organoid



Figure 3 Keyword co-occurrence network in gastric organoid research. This visualization maps the interconnectivity of keywords within the gastric organoid literature, with node size indicating the frequency of keyword occurrence and edge thickness representing the strength of the keyword co-occurrence.

Top 20	keywords	with	the strongest	citation bursts
--------	----------	------	---------------	-----------------

Keywords	Year Str	ength Begi	n End	2010 - 2022
drug resistance	2010	2.29 <b>2010</b>	2014	
cancer stem cell	2010	2.63 <b>2013</b>	2014	_
self renewal	2010	2.47 <b>2013</b>	2014	_
epithelium	2010	2.69 <b>2014</b>	2017	_
induction	2010	2.79 <b>2015</b>	2018	_
carcinoma	2010	2.2 <b>2016</b>	2016	_
epithelial mesenchymal transition	2010	2.94 <b>2017</b>	2019	_
invasion	2010	2.81 <b>2018</b>	2018	_
helicobacter pylori	2010	2.42 <b>2018</b>	2020	_
survival	2010	2.38 <b>2018</b>	2020	_
inflammation	2010	2.22 <b>2018</b>	2019	_
regeneration	2010	2.94 <b>2019</b>	2020	_
mechanism	2010	2.81 <b>2019</b>	2020	
tissue	2010	2.52 <b>2019</b>	2020	
protein	2010	3 <b>2020</b>	2022	_
pathway	2010	2.95 <b>2020</b>	2022	
mutation	2010	2.71 <b>2021</b>	2022	_
response	2010	2.24 <b>2021</b>	2022	_
tumor microenvironment	2010	2.24 <b>2021</b>	2022	_
paclitaxel	2010	2.2 <b>2021</b>	2022	

Figure 4 Top 20 keywords with the strongest citation bursts. The bar chart highlights keywords that have experienced significant surges in citations over specific time periods, with the length and color of the bars indicating the duration and intensity of the citation bursts, respectively.

stomach microphysiological system-on-a-chip (hsMPS), which exhibits a significantly improved gastric mucosal barrier. This advancement results from integrating MPS technology with organoid structures. In this hsMPS model, epithelial cells obtained from human antral organoids are co-cultivated with primary gastric mesenchymal stromal cells, isolated from gastric tissues, in an environment with regulated fluid dynamics[41]. Chen *et al*[42] utilized CRISPR technology in GCOs to reveal that SOX9-marked gastric stem cells play a pivotal role in the malignant transformation process, with biased symmetric cell division being crucial for their malignancy, particularly in regulating symmetric cell division and influencing the expansion of GC cells. Finally, the latest culture method described by Eicher *et al*[43], who differentiated human pluripotent stem cells into three germ layers, neuroglial, mesenchymal, and epithelial precursors, and subsequently cultured organoids to overcome the limitation of the lack of non-epithelial cells in organoids.

Zaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 5 Timeline visualization of thematic evolution in gastric organoid research. This timeline graphically represents the evolution of research themes in the field of gastric organoids, with cluster size indicating the number of publications and connecting lines representing thematic shifts over time.



Figure 6 Milestone timeline in gastric organoid research. A chronological display of significant milestones in gastric organoid research, with each entry detailing a breakthrough and its impact on the field. PDO: Patient-derived organoids; GC: Gastric cancer; Hp: *Helicobacter pylori*; PSC: Pluripotent stem cell.

Raishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Top 25 references with the strongest citation bursts

References	Year	Strength Begin End	2010 - 2022
Barker N, 2010, CELL STEM CELL, V6, P25, DOI 10.1016/j.stem.2009.11.013, DOI	2010	14.3 <b>2010</b> 2015	
Sato T, 2009, NATURE, V459, P262, DOI 10.1038/nature07935, DOI	2009	5.87 <b>2010</b> 2014	
Takaishi S, 2009, STEM CELLS, V27, P1006, DOI 10.1002/stem.30, DOI	2009	7.39 <b>2012</b> 2014	_
Sato T, 2011, NATURE, V469, P415, DOI 10.1038/nature09637, DOI	2011	4.88 2012 2016	_
Huch M, 2013, NATURE, V494, P247, DOI 10.1038/nature11826, DOI	2013	4.15 2013 2016	_
Arnold K, 2011, CELL STEM CELL, V9, P317, DOI 10.1016/j.stem.2011.09.001, DOI	2011	4.02 2013 2016	_
Sato T, 2011, GASTROENTEROLOGY, V141, P1762, DOI 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.07.050, DOI	2011	6.47 <b>2014</b> 2016	_
Stange DE, 2013, CELL, V155, P357, DOI 10.1016/j.cell.2013.09.008, <u>DOI</u>	2013	11.39 2015 2017	_
Mccracken KW, 2014, NATURE, V516, P400, DOI 10.1038/nature13863, DOI	2014	9.25 <b>2015</b> 2019	_
Schwank G, 2013, CELL STEM CELL, V13, P653, DOI 10.1016/j.stem.2013.11.002, DOI	2013	6.22 <b>2015</b> 2017	_
Khurana SS, 2013, J BIOL CHEM, V288, P16085, DOI 10.1074/jbc.M112.445551, <u>DOI</u>	2013	4.78 2015 2017	_
Wang K, 2014, NAT GENET, V46, P573, DOI 10.1038/ng.2983, <u>DOI</u>	2014	4.72 <b>2015</b> 2019	_
Li XN, 2014, NAT MED, V20, P769, DOI 10.1038/nm.3585, <u>DOI</u>	2014	4.3 <b>2015</b> 2017	_
Yui SR, 2012, NAT MED, V18, P618, DOI 10.1038/nm.2695, <u>DOI</u>	2012	4.3 2015 2017	_
Mahe MAXIMEM, 2013, CURR PROTOC MOUSE BIOL, V3, P217, DOI 10.1002/9780470942390.mo130179, DOI	2013	4.01 2015 2018	_
Koo BK, 2012, NAT METHODS, V9, P81	2012	3.98 2015 2016	_
Bartfeld S, 2015, GASTROENTEROLOGY, V148, P126, DOI 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.09.042, DOI	2015	6.71 <b>2017</b> 2020	_
Van DEWETERINGM, 2015, CELL, V161, P933, DOI 10.1016/j.cell.2015.03.053, DOI	2015	5.86 2017 2020	_
Bertaux-skeirik N, 2015, PLOS PATHOG, V11, P0, DOI 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004663, DOI	2015	4.03 2017 2020	_
Bass AJ, 2014, NATURE, V513, P202, DOI 10.1038/nature13480, DOI	2014	10.83 2018 2019	_
Torre LA, 2015, CA-CANCER J CLIN, V65, P87, DOI 10.3322/caac.21262, DOI	2015	5.29 <b>2018</b> 2019	_
Ferlay J, 2015, INT J CANCER, V136, P0, DOI 10.1002/ijc.29210, <u>DOI</u>	2015	4.2 <b>2018</b> 2020	
Bray F, 2018, CA-CANCER J CLIN, V68, P394, DOI 10.3322/caac.21492, DOI	2018	9.44 <b>2020</b> 2022	_
Steele NG, 2019, CELL MOL GASTROENTER, V7, P161, DOI 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2018.09.008, DOI	2019	6.23 <b>2020</b> 2022	_
Drost J, 2018, NAT REV CANCER, V18, P407, DOI 10.1038/s41568-018-0007-6, DOI	2018	4.78 <b>2020</b> 2022	

Figure 7 Top 25 references with the strongest citation bursts. This list showcases the most influential publications in gastric organoid research, with the strength of the citation bursts providing a quantitative measure of their impact over the years indicated.

# CONCLUSION

Our study revealed a research area in continuous growth, highlighting a clear trend of increasing focus on GC and H. pylori-infective gastritis. The analysis demonstrated that gastric organoids, as a research platform, has made significant strides in decoding disease mechanisms, optimizing drug screening processes, and developing new therapeutic methods. By evaluating the increase in related publications, the rise in citation rates, and the shifts in keywords, we confirmed that gastric organoid research is an active and evolving branch within the field of gastroenterology. Significant academic contributions have come from top research institutions worldwide, particularly those in the Netherlands and the United States, which have led the way in advancing basic research and clinical applications. Additionally, the influence of individual researchers, such as Hans Clevers and Sato Toshiro, has highlighted the importance of personal contributions in driving scientific progress. Gastric organoid research has demonstrated its importance on multiple levels within gastroenterology and the broader field of biomedical science. It not only offers a platform that more accurately simulates the human physiological state but also opens new avenues for personalized medicine in the future. With technological advancements and methodological improvements, gastric organoid research is expected to continue as a focal point of biomedical innovation, particularly in understanding complex disease mechanisms and developing new treatment strategies.

# **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

This study conducts a comprehensive bibliometric analysis of gastric organoid research from 2010 to 2023, shedding light on its evolution and emerging trends.

#### Research motivation

To systematically map the progress and key developments in gastric organoid research, the study highlights the field's significance.

#### Research objectives

To analyze and understand the development, impact, and direction of gastric organoid research using bibliometric methods.

#### Research methods

Employed a combination of bibliometric tools and analytical techniques to assess publications and trends in gastric organoid research.

#### **Research results**

Identified key contributors and institutions in the field, highlighted the application of gastric organoids in studying



gastric cancer and Helicobacter pylori-related gastritis.

#### Research conclusions

The study underscores the critical role of gastric organoids in advancing our understanding of disease mechanisms and drug screening processes.

# Research perspectives

Future research should further explore the potential of gastric organoids in personalized medicine and enhance our comprehension of gastric diseases.

# FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Kai-Lin Jiang and Yue-Bo Jia.

Co-corresponding authors: Bei-Bei Liang and Jiang-Hong Ling.

Author contributions: Jiang KL and Jia YB contributed to study conception and design; Liu XJ and Yang KM contributed to data collection; Jiang KL contributed to draft manuscript and data analysis; Jia QL and Guo LK contributed to figure revision; Wang XX contributed to make significant revisions to the thesis; Wu CH and Ling JH contributed to fund; Liang BB and Ling JH contributed to approval of the final version and quality of the paper for publication.

Supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 82174309; National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 81973774; National Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine: 2019 Project of Building Evidence-Based Practice Capacity for TCM, No. ZZ13-042-2 and No. 2019XZZX-XH013; and Shuguang Hospital Siming Foundation Research Special Project, No. SGKJ-202304.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** All authors of this manuscript declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

**ORCID number:** Yue-Bo Jia 0000-0002-7419-9214; Jiang-Hong Ling 0000-0001-7550-9694.

S-Editor: Chen YL I-Editor A P-Editor: Cai YX

# REFERENCES

- Smith E, Cochrane WJ. CYSTIC ORGANOID TERATOMA: (Report of a Case). Can Med Assoc J 1946; 55: 151-152 [PMID: 20323870] 1
- Pompaiah M, Bartfeld S. Gastric Organoids: An Emerging Model System to Study Helicobacter pylori Pathogenesis. Curr Top Microbiol 2 Immunol 2017; 400: 149-168 [PMID: 28124153 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-50520-6\_7]
- Cheng L, Xie M, Qiao W, Song Y, Zhang Y, Geng Y, Xu W, Wang L, Wang Z, Huang K, Dong N, Sun Y. Generation and characterization of 3 cardiac valve endothelial-like cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Commun Biol 2021; 4: 1039 [PMID: 34489520 DOI: 10.1038/s42003-021-02571-7
- 4 Merker SR, Weitz J, Stange DE. Gastrointestinal organoids: How they gut it out. Dev Biol 2016; 420: 239-250 [PMID: 27521455 DOI: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2016.08.010]
- 5 Schumacher MA, Aihara E, Feng R, Engevik A, Shroyer NF, Ottemann KM, Worrell RT, Montrose MH, Shivdasani RA, Zavros Y. The use of murine-derived fundic organoids in studies of gastric physiology. J Physiol 2015; 593: 1809-1827 [PMID: 25605613 DOI: 10.1113/jphysiol.2014.283028
- Bartfeld S, Clevers H. Organoids as Model for Infectious Diseases: Culture of Human and Murine Stomach Organoids and Microinjection of 6 Helicobacter Pylori. J Vis Exp 2015 [PMID: 26650279 DOI: 10.3791/53359]
- 7 Schlaermann P, Toelle B, Berger H, Schmidt SC, Glanemann M, Ordemann J, Bartfeld S, Mollenkopf HJ, Meyer TF. A novel human gastric primary cell culture system for modelling Helicobacter pylori infection in vitro. Gut 2016; 65: 202-213 [PMID: 25539675 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-307949]
- Barker N, Clevers H. Leucine-rich repeat-containing G-protein-coupled receptors as markers of adult stem cells. Gastroenterology 2010; 138: 8 1681-1696 [PMID: 20417836 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.03.002]
- 9 Yan HHN, Siu HC, Law S, Ho SL, Yue SSK, Tsui WY, Chan D, Chan AS, Ma S, Lam KO, Bartfeld S, Man AHY, Lee BCH, Chan ASY, Wong JWH, Cheng PSW, Chan AKW, Zhang J, Shi J, Fan X, Kwong DLW, Mak TW, Yuen ST, Clevers H, Leung SY. A Comprehensive



Human Gastric Cancer Organoid Biobank Captures Tumor Subtype Heterogeneity and Enables Therapeutic Screening. Cell 2018; 23: 882-897.e11 [PMID: 30344100 DOI: 10.1016/j.stem.2018.09.016]

- 10 Ren X, Chen W, Yang Q, Li X, Xu L. Patient-derived cancer organoids for drug screening: Basic technology and clinical application. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 37: 1446-1454 [PMID: 35771719 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.15930]
- Pang MJ, Burclaff JR, Jin R, Adkins-Threats M, Osaki LH, Han Y, Mills JC, Miao ZF, Wang ZN. Gastric Organoids: Progress and Remaining 11 Challenges. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 13: 19-33 [PMID: 34547535 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2021.09.005]
- Puschhof J, Pleguezuelos-Manzano C, Clevers H. Organoids and organs-on-chips: Insights into human gut-microbe interactions. Cell Host 12 Microbe 2021; 29: 867-878 [PMID: 34111395 DOI: 10.1016/j.chom.2021.04.002]
- Pan X, Yan E, Cui M, Hua W. Examining the usage, citation, and diffusion patterns of bibliometric mapping software: a comparative study of 13 three tools. J Informetr 2018; 12: 481-493 [DOI: 10.1016/j.joi.2018.03.005]
- van Eck NJ, Waltman L. Software survey: VOSviewer, a computer program for bibliometric mapping. Scientometrics 2010; 84: 523-538 14 [PMID: 20585380 DOI: 10.1007/s11192-009-0146-3]
- Xie P. Study of international anticancer research trends via co-word and document co-citation visualization analysis. Scientometrics 2015; 105: 15 611-622 [DOI: 10.1007/s11192-015-1689-0]
- 16 Gao Y, Shi S, Ma W, Chen J, Cai Y, Ge L, Li L, Wu J, Tian J. Bibliometric analysis of global research on PD-1 and PD-L1 in the field of cancer. Int Immunopharmacol 2019; 72: 374-384 [PMID: 31030093 DOI: 10.1016/j.intimp.2019.03.045]
- Chen C. CiteSpace II: Detecting and Visualizing Emerging Trends and Transient Patterns in Scientific Literature. J Am Soc Inf Sci 2006; 57: 17 359-377 [DOI: 10.1002/asi.20317]
- Chen C. Searching for intellectual turning points: progressive knowledge domain visualization. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2004; 101 Suppl 1: 18 5303-5310 [PMID: 14724295 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0307513100]
- Stange DE, Koo BK, Huch M, Sibbel G, Basak O, Lyubimova A, Kujala P, Bartfeld S, Koster J, Geahlen JH, Peters PJ, van Es JH, van de 19 Wetering M, Mills JC, Clevers H. Differentiated Troy+ chief cells act as reserve stem cells to generate all lineages of the stomach epithelium. Cell 2013; 155: 357-368 [PMID: 24120136 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.09.008]
- 20 McCracken KW, Catá EM, Crawford CM, Sinagoga KL, Schumacher M, Rockich BE, Tsai YH, Mayhew CN, Spence JR, Zavros Y, Wells JM. Modelling human development and disease in pluripotent stem-cell-derived gastric organoids. Nature 2014; 516: 400-404 [PMID: 25363776 DOI: 10.1038/nature13863]
- Vlachogiannis G, Hedayat S, Vatsiou A, Jamin Y, Fernández-Mateos J, Khan K, Lampis A, Eason K, Huntingford I, Burke R, Rata M, Koh 21 DM, Tunariu N, Collins D, Hulkki-Wilson S, Ragulan C, Spiteri I, Moorcraft SY, Chau I, Rao S, Watkins D, Fotiadis N, Bali M, Darvish-Damavandi M, Lote H, Eltahir Z, Smyth EC, Begum R, Clarke PA, Hahne JC, Dowsett M, de Bono J, Workman P, Sadanandam A, Fassan M, Sansom OJ, Eccles S, Starling N, Braconi C, Sottoriva A, Robinson SP, Cunningham D, Valeri N. Patient-derived organoids model treatment response of metastatic gastrointestinal cancers. Science 2018; 359: 920-926 [PMID: 29472484 DOI: 10.1126/science.aao2774]
- 22 Seidlitz T, Merker SR, Rothe A, Zakrzewski F, von Neubeck C, Grützmann K, Sommer U, Schweitzer C, Schölch S, Uhlemann H, Gaebler AM, Werner K, Krause M, Baretton GB, Welsch T, Koo BK, Aust DE, Klink B, Weitz J, Stange DE. Human gastric cancer modelling using organoids. Gut 2019; 68: 207-217 [PMID: 29703791 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314549]
- 23 Nanki K, Toshimitsu K, Takano A, Fujii M, Shimokawa M, Ohta Y, Matano M, Seino T, Nishikori S, Ishikawa K, Kawasaki K, Togasaki K, Takahashi S, Sukawa Y, Ishida H, Sugimoto S, Kawakubo H, Kim J, Kitagawa Y, Sekine S, Koo BK, Kanai T, Sato T. Divergent Routes toward Wnt and R-spondin Niche Independency during Human Gastric Carcinogenesis. Cell 2018; 174: 856-869.e17 [PMID: 30096312 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.07.027
- 24 Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2018; 68: 394-424 [PMID: 30207593 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21492]
- 25 Barker N, Huch M, Kujala P, van de Wetering M, Snippert HJ, van Es JH, Sato T, Stange DE, Begthel H, van den Born M, Danenberg E, van den Brink S, Korving J, Abo A, Peters PJ, Wright N, Poulsom R, Clevers H. Lgr5(+ve) stem cells drive self-renewal in the stomach and build long-lived gastric units in vitro. Cell Stem Cell 2010; 6: 25-36 [PMID: 20085740 DOI: 10.1016/j.stem.2009.11.013]
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Comprehensive molecular characterization of gastric adenocarcinoma. Nature 2014; 513: 202-209 26 [PMID: 25079317 DOI: 10.1038/nature13480]
- Steele NG, Chakrabarti J, Wang J, Biesiada J, Holokai L, Chang J, Nowacki LM, Hawkins J, Mahe M, Sundaram N, Shroyer N, Medvedovic 27 M, Helmrath M, Ahmad S, Zavros Y. An Organoid-Based Preclinical Model of Human Gastric Cancer. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 7: 161-184 [PMID: 30522949 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2018.09.008]
- Drost J, Clevers H. Organoids in cancer research. Nat Rev Cancer 2018; 18: 407-418 [PMID: 29692415 DOI: 10.1038/s41568-018-0007-6] 28
- Bartfeld S. Realizing the potential of organoids-an interview with Hans Clevers. J Mol Med (Berl) 2021; 99: 443-447 [PMID: 33464358 DOI: 29 10.1007/s00109-020-02025-3
- 30 Lin L, DeMartino J, Wang D, van Son GJF, van der Linden R, Begthel H, Korving J, Andersson-Rolf A, van den Brink S, Lopez-Iglesias C, van de Wetering WJ, Balwierz A, Margaritis T, van de Wetering M, Peters PJ, Drost J, van Es JH, Clevers H. Unbiased transcription factor CRISPR screen identifies ZNF800 as master repressor of enteroendocrine differentiation. Science 2023; 382: 451-458 [PMID: 37883554 DOI: 10.1126/science.adi2246]
- Huch M, Bonfanti P, Boj SF, Sato T, Loomans CJ, van de Wetering M, Sojoodi M, Li VS, Schuijers J, Gracanin A, Ringnalda F, Begthel H, 31 Hamer K, Mulder J, van Es JH, de Koning E, Vries RG, Heimberg H, Clevers H. Unlimited in vitro expansion of adult bi-potent pancreas progenitors through the Lgr5/R-spondin axis. EMBO J 2013; 32: 2708-2721 [PMID: 24045232 DOI: 10.1038/emboj.2013.204]
- Mahe MM, Aihara E, Schumacher MA, Zavros Y, Montrose MH, Helmrath MA, Sato T, Shroyer NF. Establishment of Gastrointestinal 32 Epithelial Organoids. Curr Protoc Mouse Biol 2013; 3: 217-240 [PMID: 25105065 DOI: 10.1002/9780470942390.mo130179]
- Chen Z, Li Z, Soutto M, Wang W, Piazuelo MB, Zhu S, Guo Y, Maturana MJ, Corvalan AH, Chen X, Xu Z, El-Rifai WM. Integrated Analysis 33 of Mouse and Human Gastric Neoplasms Identifies Conserved microRNA Networks in Gastric Carcinogenesis. Gastroenterology 2019; 156: 1127-1139.e8 [PMID: 30502323 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.11.052]
- Chen W, Zhang J, Fu H, Hou X, Su Q, He Y, Yang D. KLF5 Is Activated by Gene Amplification in Gastric Cancer and Is Essential for Gastric 34 Cell Proliferation. Cells 2021; 10 [PMID: 33923166 DOI: 10.3390/cells10051002]
- Manieri E, Tie G, Malagola E, Seruggia D, Madha S, Maglieri A, Huang K, Fujiwara Y, Zhang K, Orkin SH, Wang TC, He R, McCarthy N, 35 Shivdasani RA. Role of PDGFRA(+) cells and a CD55(+) PDGFRA(Lo) fraction in the gastric mesenchymal niche. Nat Commun 2023; 14: 7978 [PMID: 38042929 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-023-43619-y]



- Kawasaki K, Toshimitsu K, Matano M, Fujita M, Fujii M, Togasaki K, Ebisudani T, Shimokawa M, Takano A, Takahashi S, Ohta Y, Nanki 36 K, Igarashi R, Ishimaru K, Ishida H, Sukawa Y, Sugimoto S, Saito Y, Maejima K, Sasagawa S, Lee H, Kim HG, Ha K, Hamamoto J, Fukunaga K, Maekawa A, Tanabe M, Ishihara S, Hamamoto Y, Yasuda H, Sekine S, Kudo A, Kitagawa Y, Kanai T, Nakagawa H, Sato T. An Organoid Biobank of Neuroendocrine Neoplasms Enables Genotype-Phenotype Mapping. Cell 2020; 183: 1420-1435.e21 [PMID: 33159857 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.10.023]
- 37 Kishimoto K, Iwasawa K, Sorel A, Ferran-Heredia C, Han L, Morimoto M, Wells JM, Takebe T, Zorn AM. Directed differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells into diverse organ-specific mesenchyme of the digestive and respiratory systems. Nat Protoc 2022; 17: 2699-2719 [PMID: 35978039 DOI: 10.1038/s41596-022-00733-3]
- 38 Tuveson D, Clevers H. Cancer modeling meets human organoid technology. Science 2019; 364: 952-955 [PMID: 31171691 DOI: 10.1126/science.aaw6985]
- Lau HCH, Kranenburg O, Xiao H, Yu J. Organoid models of gastrointestinal cancers in basic and translational research. Nat Rev 39 Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 17: 203-222 [PMID: 32099092 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-019-0255-2]
- Huh D, Matthews BD, Mammoto A, Montoya-Zavala M, Hsin HY, Ingber DE. Reconstituting organ-level lung functions on a chip. Science 40 2010; **328**: 1662-1668 [PMID: 20576885 DOI: 10.1126/science.1188302]
- Carvalho MR, Yan LP, Li B, Zhang CH, He YL, Reis RL, Oliveira JM. Gastrointestinal organs and organoids-on-a-chip: advances and 41 translation into the clinics. Biofabrication 2023; 15 [PMID: 37699408 DOI: 10.1088/1758-5090/acf8fb]
- Chen Q, Weng K, Lin M, Jiang M, Fang Y, Chung SSW, Huang X, Zhong Q, Liu Z, Huang Z, Lin J, Li P, El-Rifai W, Zaika A, Li H, Rustgi 42 AK, Nakagawa H, Abrams JA, Wang TC, Lu C, Huang C, Que J. SOX9 Modulates the Transformation of Gastric Stem Cells Through Biased Symmetric Cell Division. Gastroenterology 2023; 164: 1119-1136.e12 [PMID: 36740200 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2023.01.037]
- Eicher AK, Kechele DO, Sundaram N, Berns HM, Poling HM, Haines LE, Sanchez JG, Kishimoto K, Krishnamurthy M, Han L, Zorn AM, 43 Helmrath MA, Wells JM. Functional human gastrointestinal organoids can be engineered from three primary germ layers derived separately from pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 2022; 29: 36-51.e6 [PMID: 34856121 DOI: 10.1016/j.stem.2021.10.010]



W J

# World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 984-990

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.984

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

CASE REPORT

# Cronkhite-Canada syndrome with esophagus involvement and sixyear follow-up: A case report

# Yu-Chen Tang

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

# Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Piltcher-da-Silva R, Brazil

Received: September 28, 2023 Peer-review started: September 28, 2023 First decision: December 28, 2023

Revised: January 5, 2024 Accepted: January 25, 2024 Article in press: January 25, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



Yu-Chen Tang, Department of Endocrinology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Ningbo University, Ningbo 315000, Zhejiang Province, China

Corresponding author: Yu-Chen Tang, MD, Attending Doctor, Department of Endocrinology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Ningbo University, No. 59 Liuting Street, Ningbo 315000, Zhejiang Province, China. fyytangyuchen@nbu.edu.cn

# Abstract

# BACKGROUND

Cronkhite-Canada syndrome (CCS) is a rare, noninherited disease characterized by gastrointestinal polyposis with diarrhea and ectodermal abnormalities. CCS polyps are distributed through the whole digestive tract, and they are common in the stomach and colon but very uncommon in the esophagus.

# CASE SUMMARY

Here, we present a case of a 63-year-old man with skin hyperpigmentation accompanied by diarrhea, alopecia, and loss of his fingernails. Laboratory data indicated anemia, hypoalbuminemia, hypocalcemia, hypokalemia, and positive fecal occult blood. Endoscopy showed numerous polyps scattered throughout the digestive tract, including the esophagus. He was treated with nutritional support and glucocorticoids with remission of his symptoms.

# **CONCLUSION**

Comprehensive treatment led by hormonal therapy can result in partial or full remission of clinical symptoms. Treatment should be individualized for each patient according to their therapy response. Surveillance endoscopy is necessary for assessing mucosal disease activity and detecting malignant transformation.

Key Words: Cronkhite-Canada syndrome; Gastrointestinal polyposis; Hormonal therapy; Prognosis; Case report

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



**Core Tip:** Cronkhite-Canada syndrome is a rare, noninherited disease characterized by gastrointestinal polyposis with diarrhea and ectodermal abnormalities. We report a case of a 63-year-old man with numerous polyps scattered throughout the digestive tract, including the esophagus. Comprehensive corticosteroid treatment can result in partial or full remission of clinical symptoms.

Citation: Tang YC. Cronkhite-Canada syndrome with esophagus involvement and six-year follow-up: A case report. World J Gastroenterol 2024; 30(8): 984-990

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/984.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.984

# INTRODUCTION

First reported in 1955, Cronkhite-Canada syndrome (CCS), also known as polyposis pigmentation-alopecia-onycholrophia syndrome, is characterized by gastrointestinal polyposis with diarrhea and ectodermal abnormalities<sup>[1]</sup>. It is a rare, noninherited disease with an incidence of 1 in a million<sup>[2]</sup>. More than 500 cases have been reported worldwide, with most of the cases being reported in Asian countries<sup>[3]</sup>. Although the incidence of CCS is low, it is associated with high mortality, mainly because of the difficulty in diagnosis and delay in treatment[4]. The diagnosis of CCS is based on history, physical examination, endoscopic findings of gastrointestinal polyposis, and histopathology. Studies have suggested that corticosteroids and immunomodulators are the most effective treatments thus far [5,6]. Long-term surveillance is needed because of the relatively poor prognosis and the increased risk of intestinal malignancy[7].

# CASE PRESENTATION

#### Chief complaints

A 63-year-old male was admitted to our hospital with a two-month history of skin hyperpigmentation and one month of diarrhea.

# History of present illness

The patient complained of skin hyperpigmentation for two months and loose stool two to four times per day for one month. There was no associated blood in the stool, abdominal distension, nausea, vomiting, appetite loss, or weight loss. The abnormal skin pigmentation was unevenly distributed throughout the body, with the face and both sides of the hands mainly affected.

# History of past illness

Segmental resection of the small intestine was performed twenty-three years prior because of severe abdominal trauma. He was diagnosed with syphilis two years previously and treated with benzathine penicillin. Other medical records revealed bradycardia and varicose veins in the lower limbs.

#### Personal and family history

The patient has an 80-pack-year history and a 40-year history of drinking approximately 100 g of wine per day. There was no family history of gastrointestinal polyposis.

# Physical examination

On physical examination, he had alopecia, nail dystrophy (Figure 1), and hyperpigmentation of the skin, especially on his face and bilateral upper extremities (Figure 2).

#### Laboratory examinations

Laboratory tests revealed normal routine blood results (Table 1). The fecal occult blood test was positive (+), and Creactive protein was elevated. Serum albumin and serum total protein were decreased. The levels of serum potassium and calcium were also reduced. Bacterial culture of the stool found no salmonella, shigella, or fungus. Cortisol secretion rhythm, erythrocyte sedimentation rate, immunoglobulin, liver function tests, and other blood chemistry panels were normal. Electromyography suggested peripheral nerve damage (sensory fibers) in the upper and lower extremities.

#### Imaging examinations

A computer tomography scan of the abdomen showed a partially thickened gastric wall, enterostasis, and slightly enlarged inguinal lymph nodes.

The results of gastroscopy showed multiple polyp hyperplasia of the gastric body, gastric angle, gastric antrum, and descending part of the duodenum (Figure 3B and C). Granular apophyses below the dentate line were observed by the



#### Tang YC. Cronkhite-Canada syndrome

Table 1 Laboratory findings						
Parameters	Findings	Normal range	Remarks			
White blood cell count (/L)	$8.47 \times 10^{9}$	$(3.5-9.5) \times 10^9$	Normal			
Hemoglobin (g/L)	132	130-175	Normal			
Platelet count (/L)	$271 \times 10^{9}$	$(125-350) \times 10^9$	Normal			
C-reactive protein (mg/L)	51.5	0-8	High			
Fecal occult blood test	Positive	Negative	Positive			
Serum albumin (g/L)	36.2	40-55	Low			
Serum total protein (g/L)	63.3	65-85	Low			
Serum potassium (mmol/L)	3.1	3.5-5.3	Low			
Serum calcium (mmol/L)	1.86	2.11-2.52	Low			



Figure 1 Clinical presence of ectodermal abnormalities. A: Alopecia; B: Nail dystrophy.



Figure 2 Hyperpigmentation of the skin. A and B: It was most evident on his face (A) and bilateral upper extremities (B).

endoscopist, although they are not as evident in Figure 3A. The results of the colonoscopy showed that mucosa erosion and multiple apophyses with the appearance of polypuses were observed in the ileocecal valve, and numerous polyps were found in the whole colon, among which the largest polyp (4.0 cm) was found 20 cm from the anus (Figure 3D-F).

Histological examination of biopsy specimens obtained from the duodenal bulb was consistent with hyperplastic polyps, and biopsy specimens from the gastric antrum mucosa displayed moderate chronic mucosal inflammation, expansion of the glands, and mild intestinal metaplasia of the glandular epithelium (Figure 4A). Biopsy specimens obtained from the colon suggested tubular adenomas and low-grade intraepithelial neoplasia (Figure 4B).

# FINAL DIAGNOSIS

Given the diffuse polyps in the gastrointestinal tract and ectodermal abnormalities, along with the age of onset and family history, the final diagnosis of CCS was made.



Baishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Endoscopy results. A: Granular apophyses below the dentate line were observed by the endoscopist, although they were not so obvious; B and C: Gastroscopy showed multiple polyps hyperplasia of the stomach and the duodenum; D-F: Colonoscopy showed that mucosa erosion and multiple apophyses with the appearance of polypuses were observed in the ileocecal valve, and numerous polyps were found in the whole colon; G-I: The endoscopic findings showed no improvement at 6-year follow-up.



Figure 4 Histological examination of biopsy specimens obtained from duodenal bulb and the colon. A: Duodenal bulb; B: The colon. Haematoxylin and eosin staining (\* 10).

Baisbideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

# TREATMENT

The patient was treated with corticosteroids (oral administration of prednisone initiated at 40 mg/d), nutritional support including vitamins and compound amino acid injection 18AA-II, proton pump inhibitors, gastric mucosal protective agents, antidiarrheal drugs, and Bacillus licheniformis capsule to modulate intestinal flora.

# OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

The patient was followed up irregularly for approximately six years and had adhered to the advice provided by the chief physician. The symptoms of diarrhea, alopecia, nail dystrophy, and skin hyperpigmentation were relieved within one month (Figure 5). However, the endoscopic findings showed no improvement (Figure 3G-I). The fecal occult blood test remained positive, and his hemoglobin gradually dropped to 91 g/L (normal range, 130-175 g/L) in the following years. Due to the side effects of corticosteroids, he unfortunately developed osteonecrosis of the femoral head, and it was suggested that he undergo total hip arthroplasty. However, the patient refused the surgery, considering the operation risk and his health condition. In total, the patient developed an ileus twice: One was a colonic obstruction with a right inguinal hernia, and the other was a small bowel obstruction with a right inguinal hernia. Conservative therapy was applied, and further examinations, including colonoscopy, were advised to investigate any malignant transformation of the polyps. Nevertheless, the patient refused because he could not tolerate the endoscopy. The most severe complication was an infection of the cervical, oral, and maxillofacial spaces, and he was admitted to the intensive care unit. The patient recovered after catheter drainage of the abscess and other anti-inflammatory treatment. Since diagnosis, the dose of prednisone has been decreased gradually. It has remained at the minimum effective level (10 mg per day) to control the symptoms of diarrhea, alopecia, nail dystrophy, and hyperpigmentation. Although his anemia and malnutrition had not improved, he gained weight and survived a COVID-19 infection.

# DISCUSSION

CCS is a rare nonfamilial polyposis syndrome characterized by epithelial disorders in both the gastrointestinal tract and epidermis[8]. The etiology and pathogenesis are still unclear at present[9]. There is no consensus on the treatment of CCS [10]. In this study, we report a case with esophageal involvement and long-term outcomes to better understand CCS in Chinese patients.

There are no definitive criteria for diagnosing CCS, which usually depends on medical history, physical examination, endoscopic examination, and pathological results<sup>[11]</sup>. For our patient, who first went to the department of endocrinology, the differential diagnosis for the hyperpigmentation included primary adrenal insufficiency, POEMS syndrome, Peutz-Jegher syndrome (PJS), hemochromatosis and some connective tissue diseases. The hyperpigmentation of primary adrenal insufficiency is usually distributed throughout the body but can also be localized. In general, it is more obvious in exposed parts and portions of the skin that are easy to rub (such as the face, hand, palmprint, areola, and so on). The pigmentation of the tongue surface, buccal mucosa, lips, oral mucosa, gums, and cicatrix was also deepened but not distinct from normal skin. However, only a few studies described the hyperpigmentation in CCS, mainly as brownish changes with a clear boundary. Colored spots sometimes occur on the face, body, limbs, palms, soles of the foot, and oral mucosa<sup>[12]</sup>.

When there are multiple polyps in the gastrointestinal tract, CCS usually needs to be differentiated from PJS, juvenile polyposis syndrome, familial adenomatous polyposis, Turcot syndrome, Cowden syndrome, and other diseases. PJS is characterized by the association of gastrointestinal (GI) polyposis, mucocutaneous pigmentation, and cancer predisposition[13]. PJS-type hamartomatous polyps are most common in the small intestine but can also occur in the stomach, large bowel, and extraintestinal sites[14]. Mucocutaneous hyperpigmentation presents in childhood as dark blue to dark brown macules around the mouth, eyes, and nostrils, in the perianal area, and on the buccal mucosa. Hyperpigmented macules on the fingers are usually common<sup>[15]</sup>.

CCS polyps are distributed throughout the whole digestive tract, and they are common in the stomach and colon, less common in the small intestine and rectum, and uncommon in the esophagus[16]. In a Japanese nationwide survey, the esophagus was involved in 12.3% of cases, in contrast to prior reports[17]. However, in a retrospective study of 103 Chinese cases, the ratio was 4/103, much lower than the Japanese data[18]. Multiple changes, including but not limited to polyps, may occur in the esophagus, which might not be focused on except when there are polyps. As in our case, the endoscopist observed granular apophyses below the dentate line.

There is no consensus on the treatment of CCS, and it is still in the exploratory stage. Current medical therapies include corticosteroids, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, immunomodulators, proton pump inhibitors, H2-receptor antagonists, antibiotics, surgery, 5-aminosalicylate acid, antitumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  agents, eradication of *Helicobacter pylori*, nutritional support or a combination of these therapies<sup>[19]</sup>. Steroid therapy is the mainstay of medical treatment. A retrospective analysis confirmed that oral corticosteroid therapy (30-49 mg/d) appeared to be effective for active CCS, and in most circumstances, a slow reduction in dosage was suggested [17]. However, the long-term efficacy and side effects of low-dose corticosteroids still require observation. In both the Japanese nationwide survey and the largest singlecenter cohort of Chinese patients, nearly 40% of patients failed to achieve long-term clinical remission after corticosteroid administration, and relapse occurred during or after the cessation of corticosteroid use[17,18]. A proportion of patients were prescribed low-dose (5-10 mg/d) corticosteroids or immunosuppressants to counteract the tendency to relapse [19].





Figure 5 Improvement of the clinical symptoms. A-E: Hyperpigmentation of the skin, nail dystrophy, and alopecia were relieved at one-month (A), five months (B), and four years (C-E) follow-up.

In addition, the symptoms and endoscopic findings of CCS may have different hormonal responses [11]. For our patient, whose symptoms were relieved before the improvement in polyps after treatment, long-term endoscopy surveillance is needed to check the sensitivity to corticosteroids and to detect mucosal disease activity and any malignant transformation of polyps. Adverse events secondary to corticosteroid treatment were frequently reported in the medical records. Even though we tried to reduce the dosage from 10 mg/d to 5 mg/d and withdraw corticosteroids, the GI symptoms, hyperpigmentation, alopecia, and nail dystrophy relapsed. Despite the adverse effects of corticosteroids, they are still the most important therapy with the most clinical evidence and efficacy. The widespread use of corticosteroids may have contributed to the decrease in 5-year mortality from 55% to 16% and the general improvement of outcomes[4,18].

# CONCLUSION

CCS is a rare disease with major clinical features of gastrointestinal polyps, diarrhea, skin hyperpigmentation, alopecia, and nail atrophy. Comprehensive treatment led by corticosteroid therapy can result in partial or full remission of clinical symptoms. Treatment should be individualized for each patient according to their responses to the therapy. Surveillance endoscopy is necessary for assessing mucosal disease activity and detecting malignant transformation.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author would like to express the gratitude for the case. I also want to acknowledge the valuable support of Jie Dong, MD, from the Department of Gastroenterology, Zhejiang Province People's Hospital, and Jian-Ping Chu, Chief Doctor of our department, and everyone engaged in accomplishing this study.

# FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Tang YC contributed to data collection, case analysis and manuscript writing.

Supported by the Medical Health Science and Technology Project of Zhejiang Province, No. 2022KY1109; the Natural Science Foundation of Ningbo, No. 2022J204; and Ningbo Key Clinical Specialty (Endocrinology), No. 2022-B07.

Informed consent statement: Informed written consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this report and any accompanying images.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The author declare that they have no conflict of interest to disclose.



Baishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Yu-Chen Tang 0009-0006-4254-1907.

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YX

# REFERENCES

- Sweetser S, Alexander GL; Boardman LA. A case of Cronkhite-Canada syndrome presenting with adenomatous and inflammatory colon 1 polyps. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010; 7: 460-464 [PMID: 20628344 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2010.112]
- 2 Goto A. Cronkhite-Canada syndrome: epidemiological study of 110 cases reported in Japan. Nihon Geka Hokan 1995; 64: 3-14 [PMID: 8534187]
- Slavik T, Montgomery EA. Cronkhite-Canada syndrome six decades on: the many faces of an enigmatic disease. J Clin Pathol 2014; 67: 891-3 897 [PMID: 25004941 DOI: 10.1136/jclinpath-2014-202488]
- 4 Daniel ES, Ludwig SL, Lewin KJ, Ruprecht RM, Rajacich GM, Schwabe AD. The Cronkhite-Canada Syndrome. An analysis of clinical and pathologic features and therapy in 55 patients. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 1982; 61: 293-309 [PMID: 7109958]
- Cho W, Nam K, Bang KB, Shin HD, Shin JE. Cronkhite-Canada Syndrome Showing Good Early Response to Steroid Treatment. Korean J 5 Gastroenterol 2018; 71: 239-243 [PMID: 29684974 DOI: 10.4166/kjg.2018.71.4.239]
- Dore MP, Satta R, Murino A, Pes GM. Long-lasting remission in a case of Cronkhite-Canada syndrome. BMJ Case Rep 2018; 2018: 6 bcr2017223527 [PMID: 29739761 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2017-223527]
- Yashiro M, Kobayashi H, Kubo N, Nishiguchi Y, Wakasa K, Hirakawa K. Cronkhite-Canada syndrome containing colon cancer and serrated 7 adenoma lesions. Digestion 2004; 69: 57-62 [PMID: 14755154 DOI: 10.1159/000076560]
- Zhao R, Huang M, Banafea O, Zhao J, Cheng L, Zou K, Zhu L. Cronkhite-Canada syndrome: a rare case report and literature review. BMC 8 Gastroenterol 2016; 16: 23 [PMID: 26911542 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-016-0436-1]
- Ma M, Huang Y, Suo Z, Ma X. Cronkhite-Canada syndrome: A case report and review of the literature. Ann Med Surg (Lond) 2022; 81: 9 104090 [PMID: 36147170 DOI: 10.1016/j.amsu.2022.104090]
- Wu ZY, Sang LX, Chang B. Cronkhite-Canada syndrome: from clinical features to treatment. Gastroenterol Rep (Oxf) 2020; 8: 333-342 10 [PMID: 33163187 DOI: 10.1093/gastro/goaa058]
- 11 Wen XH, Wang L, Wang YX, Qian JM. Cronkhite-Canada syndrome: report of six cases and review of literature. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 7518-7522 [PMID: 24966624 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i23.7518]
- 12 She Q, Jiang JX, Si XM, Tian XY, Shi RH, Zhang GX. A severe course of Cronkhite-Canada syndrome and the review of clinical features and therapy in 49 Chinese patients. Turk J Gastroenterol 2013; 24: 277-285 [PMID: 24226722 DOI: 10.4318/tjg.2013.0527]
- Tacheci I, Kopacova M, Bures J. Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2021; 37: 245-254 [PMID: 33591027 DOI: 13 10.1097/MOG.000000000000718]
- Sandru F, Petca A, Dumitrascu MC, Petca RC, Carsote M. Peutz-Jeghers syndrome: Skin manifestations and endocrine anomalies (Review). 14 *Exp Ther Med* 2021; 22: 1387 [PMID: 34650635 DOI: 10.3892/etm.2021.10823]
- 15 McGarrity TJ, Amos CI, Baker MJ. Peutz-Jeghers Syndrome. 2001 Feb 23. In: GeneReviews® [Internet]. Seattle (WA): University of Washington, Seattle; 1993-2024 [PMID: 20301443]
- Sweetser S, Ahlquist DA, Osborn NK, Sanderson SO, Smyrk TC, Chari ST; Boardman LA. Clinicopathologic features and treatment 16 outcomes in Cronkhite-Canada syndrome: support for autoimmunity. Dig Dis Sci 2012; 57: 496-502 [PMID: 21881972 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-011-1874-9]
- Watanabe C, Komoto S, Tomita K, Hokari R, Tanaka M, Hirata I, Hibi T, Kaunitz JD, Miura S. Endoscopic and clinical evaluation of 17 treatment and prognosis of Cronkhite-Canada syndrome: a Japanese nationwide survey. J Gastroenterol 2016; 51: 327-336 [PMID: 26216651 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-015-1107-7]
- 18 Lu Y, Huang F, Wang Y, Zhou J, Zhao Q, Liu L. Clinical and Endoscopic Characteristics of Chinese Cronkhite-Canada Syndrome Patients: A Retrospective Study of 103 Cases. Dig Dis 2021; 39: 488-495 [PMID: 33440392 DOI: 10.1159/000514354]
- Liu S, You Y, Ruan G, Zhou L, Chen D, Wu D, Yan X, Zhang S, Zhou W, Li J, Qian J. The Long-Term Clinical and Endoscopic Outcomes of 19 Cronkhite-Canada Syndrome. Clin Transl Gastroenterol 2020; 11: e00167 [PMID: 32352683 DOI: 10.14309/ctg.00000000000167]
WJG

# World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2024 February 28; 30(8): 991-993

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.991

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

# Monitoring of hepatocellular carcinoma

### Imen Akkari, Hanen Jaziri

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

## Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Li LQ, China; Xing H, China

Received: October 3, 2023 Peer-review started: October 3. 2023

First decision: December 6, 2023 Revised: December 12, 2023 Accepted: February 1, 2024 Article in press: February 1, 2024 Published online: February 28, 2024



Imen Akkari, Department of Gastroenterology, University Hospital of Hached, University of Sousse, Faculty of Medicine of Sousse, Sousse 4000, Tunisia

Hanen Jaziri, Department of Gastroenterology, University Hospital of Sahloul, University of Sousse, Faculty of Medicine of Sousse, Sousse 4054, Tunisia

Corresponding author: Imen Akkari, MD, Associate Professor, Department of Gastroenterology, University Hospital of Hached, University of Sousse, Faculty of Medicine of Sousse, Rue Mohamed Karoui, Sousse 4000, Tunisia. imenakkaribm@gmail.com

## Abstract

Screening for hepatocellular carcinoma in patients at risk is an evidence-based approach; however, adherence to the monitoring protocol recommended by international guidelines is difficult. Hence, there is a need to use the best screening options and refine the selection of patients at risk in the future.

Key Words: Hepatocellular carcinoma; Cirrhosis; Risk factors; Surveillance; Imaging; Diagnosis

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Hepatocellular carcinoma is a public health problem, and the majority of cases occur in patients with cirrhosis. The screening method for this disease has been the subject of several studies. This Editorial discusses the study titled "Hepatocellular carcinoma surveillance: An evidence-based approach" that was published in World Journal of Gastroenterology in 2019.

Citation: Akkari I, Jaziri H. Monitoring of hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol 2024; 30(8): 991-993

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v30/i8/991.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v30.i8.991

## TO THE EDITOR

We read with great interest the article by Harris *et al*[1] on the surveillance of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). We agree with authors' insight that surveillance should be



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

performed in cirrhotic and high-risk hepatitis B patients to allow for earlier diagnosis of HCC; however, some issues need to be mentioned.

First, according to that study, the use of alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) in addition to ultrasound is thought to improve the sensitivity of HCC detection. Del Poggio et al[2] also recommend the use of AFP screening, as it guides the choice between the continuation of standard ultrasound or performing second-level imaging. However, this strategy is not recommended by European guidelines. The increased cost of screening is among the arguments against the addition of AFP[3]. On the other hand, it is well known that AFP has variable sensitivity and specificity according to its level, as altered levels can be noted without relationship to HCC and a high value has been reportedly observed in only 10%-20% of HCC cases in the initial stages [3,4]. Harris *et al*[1] cited another limitation of using this biomarker, namely the need to determine many thresholds depending on the sub-population.

Second, the use of other radiologic modalities for primary screening in obese persons and those with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease<sup>[1]</sup> seems to be very difficult to apply in real life. In addition to the radiation exposure that occurs with repeated computed tomography examinations, adherence to this screening program is also difficult as these imaging techniques are not easily accessible, particularly in developing countries. Contrast-enhanced ultrasound is a good surveillance option for patients at high risk for HCC[5]. Therefore, Harris et al[1] recommend the use of alternative imaging if the standard ultrasound is limited.

Third, Harris et al[1] reported that screening for HCC is underutilized in some demographics (non-Caucasian race and low socioeconomic status). In another study, < 2% of patients received guideline-concordant biannual HCC surveillance [6]. This deficiency in the screening program was detailed in the study by Del Poggio et al[2]. According to the authors, real-life implementation of screening programs is far from optimal; therefore, a new strategy was proposed to improve the detection of HCC by primary care physicians and involve performing surveillance in a subspecialist setting. The aim of this approach is to improve the results of real-life screening and reduce HCC mortality.

Finally, prediction models of patients at high risk for HCC[7] and artificial intelligence are emerging approaches in medicine that will be an important element in the management of liver diseases. These advances can be useful in screening patients at high risk for HCC development[8]. Refining the selection of patients at risk into sub-groups of very high, moderate, or low risk could improve HCC screening. The use of abdominal computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging or better contrast-enhanced ultrasound, could serve as alternative methods in the high-risk population.

In summary, rigorous biannual monitoring by standard ultrasound of at-risk patients remains the first-line screening method. Artificial intelligence protocols to predict the development of HCC in at-risk patients could contribute to the selection of patients at high risk requiring a particular monitoring protocol.

## FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Akkari I designed the report; Jaziri H read and agreed to the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Tunisia

**ORCID number:** Imen Akkari 0000-0002-7953-6873; Hanen Jaziri 0000-0001-5527-3872.

S-Editor: Li L L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Harris PS, Hansen RM, Gray ME, Massoud OI, McGuire BM, Shoreibah MG. Hepatocellular carcinoma surveillance: An evidence-based approach. World J Gastroenterol 2019; 25: 1550-1559 [PMID: 30983815 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i13.1550]
- Del Poggio P, Mazzoleni M, Lazzaroni S, D'Alessio A. Surveillance for hepatocellular carcinoma at the community level: Easier said than 2 done. World J Gastroenterol 2021; 27: 6180-6190 [PMID: 34712026 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v27.i37.6180]
- 3 European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: Management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2018; 69: 182-236 [PMID: 29628281 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.03.019]
- Pascual S, Miralles C, Bernabé JM, Irurzun J, Planells M. Surveillance and diagnosis of hepatocellular carcinoma: A systematic review. World 4 J Clin Cases 2019; 7: 2269-2286 [PMID: 31531321 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v7.i16.2269]
- Fetzer DT, Rodgers SK, Seow JH, Dawkins AA, Joshi G, Gabriel H, Kamaya A. Ultrasound Evaluation in Patients at Risk for Hepatocellular 5 Carcinoma. Radiol Clin North Am 2019; 57: 563-583 [PMID: 30928078 DOI: 10.1016/j.rcl.2019.01.004]



- Singal AG, Tiro J, Li X, Adams-Huet B, Chubak J. Hepatocellular Carcinoma Surveillance Among Patients With Cirrhosis in a Population-6 based Integrated Health Care Delivery System. J Clin Gastroenterol 2017; 51: 650-655 [PMID: 27870642 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.000000000000708]
- Guo J, Gao XS. Prediction models for development of hepatocellular carcinoma in chronic hepatitis B patients. World J Clin Cases 2021; 9: 7 3238-3251 [PMID: 34002133 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v9.i14.3238]
- Masuzaki R, Kanda T, Sasaki R, Matsumoto N, Nirei K, Ogawa M, Moriyama M. Application of artificial intelligence in hepatology: 8 Minireview. Artif Intell Gastroenterol 2020; 1: 5-11 [DOI: 10.35712/aig.v1.i1.5]





## Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: office@baishideng.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

